Liver Cancer in the Middle East

Brian <mark>I.</mark> Carr *Editor*



Liver Cancer in the Middle East

Brian I. Carr Editor

Liver Cancer in the Middle East



Editor Brian I. Carr Translational HCC Research Liver Transplantation Institute, Inonu University Malatya Turkey

ISBN 978-3-030-78736-3 ISBN 978-3-030-78737-0 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78737-0

The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

For my daughters: Ophira and Feridey

"Everything should be made as simple as possible, but not simpler."

- Albert Einstein

"Truth does not become more true by virtue of the fact that the entire world agrees with it, nor less so even if the whole world disagrees with it."

"The physician should not treat the disease, but the patient who is suffering from it."

- ben Maimon (Rambam)

"Scientific knowledge is in perpetual evolution; it finds itself changed from one day to the next."

"What we see changes what we know. What we know changes what we see."

- Jean Piaget

"The knowledge of anything, since all things have causes, is not acquired or complete until it is known by its causes."

- Ibn Sina (Avicenna)

"The easiest method of acquiring the habit of scholarship is through acquiring the ability to express oneself clearly in discussing and disputing scholarly problems. This is what clarifies their import and makes them understandable." - Ibn Khaldun

"We should not be ashamed to acknowledge truth from whatever source it comes to us. One must not be afraid of new ideas, no matter the source."

- Al-Kindi

"A hair divides the false and true; yes, and a single aleph were the clue-could you but find it- to the treasure house, and peradventure to the Master too."

- Omar Khayyam

"Judge a man by his questions, rather than his answers."

- Voltaire

Preface

Primary liver cancer is the fifth most common cause of cancer globally and the second most common cause of death from cancer. The ratio of death to incidence is about 0.9, since most patients who are diagnosed with it, die from it. The global burden of this disease is predominantly borne by less-developed countries and its causes are mainly known. The major cause is chronic infection with hepatitis B (HBV) and the majority of patients are in Asia. Although there are several types of primary liver cancer, approximately 90% are due to hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), and this book focuses exclusively on this.

The Middle East comprises many countries with a huge range in income per capita, national wealth and its distribution, as well as hygiene and its practices. The causes of HCC and especially the cofactors are also varied. Some countries, such as Egypt and Saudi Arabia, have a very high percent of HCV-based HCC, while others, such as Turkey, Iran, and Kuwait, have a high percentage HBV-based HCC. As in the Western world, obesity and its associated liver diseases is increasingly becoming a cause of morbidity and HCC in the Middle East. Much of the cause of HCC in the Middle East is preventable, as elsewhere, the major approaches being HBV neonatal vaccination and lifestyle changes for obesity prevention and horizontal transmission of hepatitis C (HCV). Unlike other parts of the globe, alcoholism is a lesser cause.

In much of medicine in general and in HCC in particular, the major approaches to decreasing the disease burden and thus mortality depend on prevention (when the causes are known, as for HCC), early diagnosis via surveillance of patients who are known to be at risk (cirrhosis from any cause), and treatment of limited stage tumors (as a result of early diagnosis). Unlike most other tumors, the vast majority of HCC patients actually have two diseases, namely their HCC and an underlying liver disease that was the precursor to the HCC development. Both diseases interact bidirectionally, the liver disease influences HCC incidence and severity, and the HCC growth impairs residual liver function. Thus, consideration of both these co-existent diseases and their severity necessarily informs rational individual patient management decisions.

There is a large body of knowledge about HCC causes, pathophysiological mechanisms, and associated biology and biochemistry. Despite all this, too many patients present for medical care when their disease is at an advanced stage, when surgical therapies (resection, ablation, liver transplantation) with curative intent are no longer feasible. The next series of therapeutic options consist of the loco-regional therapies, chemo-embolization (TACE), and radio-embolization (TARE), for non-metastatic disease patients. Thereafter come an increasing large choice of systemic therapy options, consisting of recently approved tyrosine kinase inhibitor drugs and immune checkpoint inhibitor drugs, both of which have recently been shown to greatly increase survival in this group of patients.

This book is divided into 4 parts. The first part (chapters "Biological Aspects of HCC", "Changing Etiology and Epidemiology of Human Liver Cancer", "Hepatocarcinogenesis Induced by Environmental Exposures in the Middle East", "Obesity and Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Epidemiology and Mechanisms", "Epidemiology of Hepatitis B Virus in the Middle East", "Hepatocellular Carcinoma in the United Arab Emirates", and "Overview of Clinical HCC and Its Management") considers the causes of HCC and clinical syndromes associated with HCC. The second part gives a descriptive overview of clinical HCC and describes the treatment modalities, with a chapter on treatment selection for individual patients, including settings where choices of therapies are less available (chapters "Cost-Effective Therapies for HCC: Resection and Ablation", "Transarterial Radioembolization in Hepatocellular Carcinoma", "Intra-arterial Chemotherapy and Transarterial Chemoembolization in Hepatocellular Carcinoma", "Radiotherapy for Hepatocellular Carcinoma", "Liver Transplantation in the Middle East", "Individual Patient Assessment and Therapy Decision-Making in a Live Donor-Based Liver Transplant Institute", and "Hepatocellular Cancer in Iran"). The third part gives a series of Middle Eastern country-specific chapters on local clinical HCC experience and practice (chapters "Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Kuwait", "Insights on Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Saudi Arabia", "Hepatitis C-Induced Hepatocellular Carcinoma in the Middle East", "Hepatocellular Carcinoma in the Middle East: An Overview", "Current HCC Clinical and Research in Egypt", "Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Turkey: A Review of Disease Epidemiology and Treatment Outcomes", "Targeting c-Met and AXL Crosstalk for the Treatment of Hepatocellular Carcinoma", "Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Morocco", "Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Lebanon and Its Association with Thalassemia", "An Overview of Hepatocellular Carcinoma (HCC) in Lebanon: A Focus on Hepatitis Band Thalassemia-Related HCC", "Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Pakistan: An Update", and "Future Directions"). A final part (chapter "The Need for Region-Wide HCC Collaborations" and 27) considers what the next needs are for our subject and proposed useful HCC collaborations across our region.

Malatya, Turkey March 2021 Brian I. Carr

Contents

Part I Medical Science	
Biological Aspects of HCC	3
Changing Etiology and Epidemiology of Human Liver Cancer 13 John D. Groopman	3
Hepatocarcinogenesis Induced by Environmental Exposuresin the Middle East31Pinar Erkekoglu and Suna Sabuncuoğlu	L
Obesity and Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Epidemiologyand Mechanisms67Hikmet Akkiz	7
Epidemiology of Hepatitis B Virus in the Middle East	l
Hepatocellular Carcinoma in the United Arab Emirates	l
Part II Clinical Section	
Overview of Clinical HCC and Its Management	L
Cost-Effective Therapies for HCC: Resection and Ablation	7
Transarterial Radioembolization in Hepatocellular Carcinoma 137 Ramazan Kutlu, Sinan Karatoprak, and Müge Otlu Karadağ	7
Intra-arterial Chemotherapy and Transarterial Chemoembolization in Hepatocellular Carcinoma 171 Huseyin Tugsan Balli and Kairgeldy Aikimbaev	l

Liver Transplantation in the Middle East
Individual Patient Assessment and Therapy Decision-Making in a Live Donor-Based Liver Transplant Institute
Part III Country-Specific
Hepatocellular Cancer in Iran. 229 Reza Malekzadeh and Hossein Poustchi
Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Kuwait
Insights on Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Saudi Arabia
Hepatitis C-Induced Hepatocellular Carcinoma in the Middle East
Hepatocellular Carcinoma in the Middle East: An Overview 299 Sanaa Kamal
Current HCC Clinical and Research in Egypt
Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Turkey: A Review of Disease Epidemiology and Treatment Outcomes
Targeting c-Met and AXL Crosstalk for the Treatmentof Hepatocellular Carcinoma333Yeliz Yılmaz, Tuğçe Batur, Peyda Korhan, Mehmet Öztürk,and Neşe Atabey
Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Morocco
Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Lebanon and Its Associationwith Thalassemia371Maher Malaeb, Ali T. Taher, and Ala I. Sharara
An Overview of Hepatocellular Carcinoma (HCC) in Lebanon: A Focus on Hepatitis B- and Thalassemia-Related HCC
Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Pakistan: An Update

Part IV The Future
Future Directions
The Need for Region-Wide HCC Collaborations
HCC in the Middle East
Index

Contributors

Kairgeldy Aikimbaev Radiology Department, Cukurova University Medical School, Adana, Adana, Turkey

Hikmet Akkiz The University of Çukurova, Medical Faculty, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Adana, Turkey

J. Albarrak Kuwait Cancer Control Centre, Shuwaikh, Kuwait

Said A. Al-Busafi Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Medicine, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, Sultan Qaboos University, Alkhoudh, Muscat, Sultanate of Oman

Mohammad Alfayez Faculty of Medicine, Umm Al-Qura University, Makkah, Saudi Arabia

Department of Oncology, King Abdullah Medical City, Makkah, Saudi Arabia

Khalid AlNaamani Internal Medicine, Armed Forces Hospital, Alkhoudh, Muscat, Sultanate of Oman

Mohammad Althubiti Clinical Biochemistry Department, Faculty of Medicine, Umm Al-Qura University, Makkah, Saudi Arabia

Oya M. Andacoglu International Liver Center, Istanbul, Turkey

Neşe Atabey Cancer Biology and Signaling Group, Basic and Translational Research Program, Izmir Biomedicine and Genome Center, Izmir, Turkey

Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Medicine, Izmir Tinaztepe University, Buca, Izmir, Turkey

Huseyin Tugsan Balli Radiology Department, Cukurova University Medical School, Adana, Adana, Turkey

Tuğçe Batur Cancer Mechanism and Theranostics Group, Technological Research Program, Izmir Biomedicine and Genome Center, Izmir, Turkey

Abu Bakar Hafeez Bhatti Department of Hepato-Pancreatico-Biliary Surgery and Liver Transplantation, Shifa International Hospital, Islamabad, Pakistan

Brian I. Carr Translational HCC Research, Liver Transplantation Institute, Inonu University, Malatya, Turkey Ramazan Donmez Yeditepe University, Istanbul, Turkey

Y. Abo Elseud Kuwait Cancer Control Centre, Shuwaikh, Kuwait

Pinar Erkekoglu Department of Toxicology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

Veysel Ersan Liver Transplantation Institute, Inonu University, Malatya, Turkey

Genco Gençdal Department of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, Koç University Medical School, Istanbul, Turkey

John D. Groopman Department of Environmental Health and Engineering, Bloomberg School of Public Health, Sidney Kimmel Comprehensive Cancer Center, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA

M. Jawad Hashim Department of Family Medicine, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, United Arab Emirates University, Al Ain, Abu Dhabi, UAE

Burak Isik Liver Transplantation Institute, Inonu University, Malatya, Turkey

Sanaa Kamal Ain Shams Faculty of Medicine, Cairo, Egypt

Müge Otlu Karadağ Department of Nuclear Medicine, Malatya Training and Research Hospital, Malatya, Turkey

Sinan Karatoprak Department of Radiology, Inonu University School of Medicine & Liver Transplantation Institute, Malatya, Turkey

Gulfaraz Khan Department of Medical Microbiology, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, United Arab Emirates University, Al Ain, Abu Dhabi, UAE

Peyda Korhan Cancer Biology and Signaling Group, Basic and Translational Research Program, Izmir Biomedicine and Genome Center, Izmir, Turkey

Ramazan Kutlu Department of Radiology, Inonu University School of Medicine & Liver Transplantation Institute, Malatya, Turkey

Dima Mahmoud Department of Radiation Oncology, American University of Beirut, Beirut, Lebanon

Maher Malaeb Divisions of Gastroenterology and Hematology-Oncology, Department of Internal Medicine, American University of Beirut Medical Center, Beirut, Lebanon

Reza Malekzadeh Digestive Oncology Research Center, Digestive Research Institute, Shariati Hospital, Tehran University of Medical Science, Tehran, Iran

Mohammed A. Mohammed Department of Radiation Oncology, American University of Beirut, Beirut, Lebanon

A. Mohanty Kuwait Cancer Control Centre, Shuwaikh, Kuwait

Mehmet Oztürk Cancer Mechanism and Theranostics Group, Technological Research Program, Izmir Biomedicine and Genome Center, Izmir, Turkey

Hossein Poustchi Digestive Oncology Research Center, Digestive Research Institute, Shariati Hospital, Tehran University of Medical Science, Tehran, Iran

Wafaa M. Rashed Research Department-Children's Cancer Hospital Egypt (CCHE), Cairo, Egypt

S. Sadaf Rizvi Department of Medical Microbiology, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, United Arab Emirates University, Al Ain, Abu Dhabi, UAE

Suna Sabuncuoğlu Department of Toxicology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

R. Salamah Kuwait Cancer Control Centre, Shuwaikh, Kuwait

A. Shaaban Kuwait Cancer Control Centre, Shuwaikh, Kuwait

Minia University Hospital, Clinical Oncology Department, Faculty of Medicine, Minia, Egypt

Ali Shamseddine Department of Internal Medicine, Hematology/Oncology Division, American University of Beirut, Beirut, Lebanon

Ala I. Sharara Divisions of Gastroenterology and Hematology-Oncology, Department of Internal Medicine, American University of Beirut Medical Center, Beirut, Lebanon

Ali T. Taher Department of Internal Medicine, Hematology/Oncology Division, American University of Beirut Medical Center, Beirut, Lebanon

Sally Temraz Department of Internal Medicine, Hematology/Oncology Division, American University of Beirut Medical Center, Beirut, Lebanon

Yaman Tokat International Liver Center, Istanbul, Turkey

Sezai Yilmaz Inonu University, School of Medicine, Liver Transplantation Institute, Malatya, Turkey

Yeliz Yılmaz Cancer Biology and Signaling Group, Basic and Translational Research Program, Izmir Biomedicine and Genome Center, Izmir, Turkey

Younes Cherradi Department of Medicine, Mohammed Vth Hospital-Sefrou, Sefrou, Morocco

Cihan Yurdaydin Department of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, Koç University Medical School, Istanbul, Turkey

Youssef Zeidan Department of Radiation Oncology, American University of Beirut, Beirut, Lebanon

Part I

Medical Science



Biological Aspects of HCC

Brian I. Carr

1 Etiology: Risk Factors for HCC and Presumptive Causes

The most common risk factors for developing HCC include cirrhosis from any cause, chronic hepatitis B or C viral infection, chronic alcohol consumption, fatty liver disease caused by obesity, and eating foods that have been contaminated by cancer-causing fungal toxins, as depicted in the list of cancer-causing and cancerpreventing substances of Table 1.

2 Biological Characteristics of Human HCC

The prognosis and management of HCC are influenced in most patients by the concurrence of two separate but related and interacting liver diseases, namely, hepatitis or cirrhosis from any cause and HCC. It is likely that each influences the other (i.e., cirrhosis is a precursor to most HCCs and growing HCC can destroy liver parenchyma and thus worsen liver function), and the selection of HCC therapy cannot take place without considering the limitations imposed by the concurrent liver disease. Thus, HCC is "a tale of two diseases."

3 Primary Drug Resistance to Cytotoxic Cancer Chemotherapeutic Agents

For most other cancers that have been studied, after a given number of chemotherapy treatments, the tumors can adapt and become resistant to the cytocidal actions of the cancer chemotherapy. This is called secondary or acquired resistance and is similar to the resistance seen in bacteria after exposure to antibiotics or in insects after exposure to insecticides. HCC is different in that it has primary resistance to a large array of toxins and most chemotherapeutics, without prior exposure to these agents. Work done several decades ago showed that cells that develop in a chronic toxic/carcinogenic milieu acquire a pandrug resistance phenotype (pleiotropic) as they develop cancers. This is called primary resistance. Thus, trying to overcome this resistance with high doses of chemotherapeutic agents, especially in the presence of chronic liver damage, is often futile at best and dangerous for the liver at worst. Perhaps this is why such a large number of cancer chemotherapy clinical trials failed to produce any meaningful survival advantage for patients with HCC and could usually only be done in selected patients.

B. I. Carr (🖂)

Translational HCC Research, Liver Transplantation Institute, Inonu University, Malatya, Turkey

Table 1	Substances	of	natural	origin	in	the	human	diet
that can	cause or prev	en	t cancer					

- A. Substances that can cause cancer (carcinogens)
 - 1. ^aAflatoxins fungal contamination of stored rice and grains; ochratoxin A
 - 2. Nitrosamines fried bacon, cured meats
 - 3. Hydrazines found in edible mushrooms (false morel)
 - 4. Safrole found in sassafras plant and black pepper. Oil of sassafras in "natural" sarsaparilla root beer is 75 % safrole
 - Pyrrolizidine alkaloids found in herbs, herbal teas, and occasionally in honey (e.g., senkirkine [coltsfoot], symphyline [comfrey])
 - 6. Estrogens from wheat germ, unpolished rice, forage crops
 - 7. Bracken fern carcinogen
 - 8. Methylazoxymethanol or cycasin (cycad plants)
 - 9. Carrageenan from red seaweeds
 - 10. Tannins from tea, wine, and plants
 - 11. Ethyl carbamate in some wines, whiskey, and beers
- B. Carcinogens from molds and bacteria in food
 - 1. Aflatoxins (Aspergillus flavus)
 - 2. Sterigmatocystin (Aspergillus versicolor)
 - Microcystins from Cyanobacteria in drinking water in China
- C. Tumor antagonists in the diet
 - 1. Selenium
 - 2. Coffee
 - 3. Antioxidants
 - Phytochemicals, including polyphenols (curcumin from turmeric; resveratrol from red wine)
 - Vitamins A, K, and D. Vitamin A analog (polyprenoic acid, an acyclic retinoid)
 - 6. Flavonols
 - 7. Fish consumption
 - 8. Vitamin K or polyprenoic acid (an acyclic retinoid analog of vitamin A)

^aOnly aflatoxins have strong epidemiologic evidence of association with human HCC. Reproduced with permission from © John Wiley and Sons, 2014; Carr (1985)

4 Vascular Characteristics

There are two different and unrelated vascular characteristics of HCC.

Vascularity: Firstly, it is one of the most vascular of tumors, and HCC has distinctive features on the arterial phase of computed tomography

(CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan images. Unlike other organs, approximately a large proportion of the oxygenated blood of the normal liver comes from the portal vein. In contrast, around 80% of oxygenated blood that feeds HCCs comes from arterial outgrowths from hepatic artery branches. This was noted 30 years ago in Japan to offer a potential means for delivering drugs/chemotherapy moderately selectively to the HCC by injecting them into the hepatic artery and thus minimizing the exposure of the underlying diseased liver to drug toxicities. However, the liver is only partially protected, because in cirrhosis there is often hepatic arterialvenous blood shunting and direct intrahepatic arteriovenous connections open up.

PVT: Secondly, HCC has the propensity to invade radicals of the portal vein and grow in its lumen. When the portal vein is occluded by HCC, a characteristic enlargement and vascular enhancement of the portal vein are seen on CT. This is called macrovascular portal venous invasion (PVT). By contrast, microvascular venous invasion is only seen on biopsy or in HCC pathology specimens from liver resection/ transplantation. Because the tumor cells are now in a vein, they can/do get carried by the blood stream around the circulation, with the increased possibility of forming distant metastases. Macrovascular invasion very often results in post-liver transplant recurrences and is thus considered a contraindication to transplantation surgery. Microvascular invasion does not seem to carry such a great risk. The reasons are unclear, as the cells are also within the venous lumen. Main branch PVT is considered to be a relative contraindication to trans-arterial chemoembolization (TACE), as HCC cells have blocked the portal vein and the TACE/chemoembolization therapy (transiently) blocks the artery, so the affected liver lobe loses its blood supply and can be severely damaged. Often, if only one of the two major portal vein branches is blocked by the tumor (branch PVT), then TACE therapy can still be safely given to the hepatic artery branches that feed the HCC.

5 HCC Growth Rates

HCCs have been reported to have a wide range of doubling times (growth rates), from 1 month to a year. Without repeated scans over several months, it is difficult to calculate the tumor growth rate of HCC in an individual patient. A newly diagnosed patient could have had a slow-growing 5 cm HCC for 3 years; but another patient with the same size tumor on the first clinic visit might have had only a 2 cm tumor 6 months ago and will thus have an aggressively behaving and rapidly growing HCC. On that first clinic visit, without the knowledge of prior scans, it would have been impossible to know the HCC growth rate. Thus, patients are heterogeneous with respect to their tumor biology, growth rates, and other characteristics. In fact, there is now evidence that HCCs change and evolve as they grow. If true, then a single baseline biopsy might be insufficient for rational patient management decisions, and multiple (liquid) biopsies over time may be a solution.

Size alone may not be so important, as many large HCCs with >8 cm diameter can arise in noncirrhotic liver and are thus quite resectable. Thus, although size is widely seen as a negative prognostic factor, it really depends on the clinical context. A study of platelets (a surrogate for cirrhosis) has shown that very large HCCs grow in a normal platelet environment (low or absent cirrhosis), whereas most patients with smaller and multifocal HCCs have thrombocytopenia. Thus, the cirrhotic and inflammatory context likely influences the ability of the liver to support the growth of an HCC to large size without liver failure due to parenchymal destruction.

Faster-growing tumors are often associated with several "satellite" lesions likely because they invade the surrounding liver. However, there is another mechanism for multifocality, as portal venous invasion by HCC is also a means for tumor spread within the liver (more common than distant metastases). This has significance for resection surgery, where up to 40% of patients have recurrence within 4 years after apparently curative surgery. Such recurrences are observed to be "early" within a few months or "late" after a year or more, which may have different causes. Early recurrence tends to be near the resection site and close to where the removed tumor was located; it is thought to be due to direct tumor extension from microscopic cells that could not have been seen at surgery or on the pre-resection scan. Late recurrences are often in other parts of the liver and may be new primary HCCs. These may occur in cirrhosis because there are millions of proliferating cirrhotic nodules, all being potentially premalignant, and eventually one or more of the nodules develop into new HCCs.

6 The Inflammatory Background

More than 80% of patients with HCC also have disease of the underlying liver that often profoundly affects HCC patient management choices. Most commonly HCC is associated with chronic inflammation (from HBV, HCV, or alcoholism, or their various combinations, or from obesity-associated liver disease), which may lead to cirrhosis, depending on the duration and intensity of the inflammation. Such inflammation may also lead to liver failure, for which only liver transplantation is an effective treatment. Depending on the severity of the underlying liver damage (inflammation/fibrosis/cirrhosis), the ability to perform resection or ablation therapies beyond that needed for a minimal size tumor could be thwarted by the risk of subsequent liver failure after the contemplated surgery. This can also be true for any potentially hepatotoxic medical therapy, such as regional cancer chemotherapy, TKIs, or ICIs. Since many chemotherapeutics also damage the bone marrow where granulocytes and platelets are produced, this combination can produce clinical toxicities. Furthermore, cirrhosis is often associated with bleeding tendencies from failure of the liver to produce sufficient coagulation proteins, in addition to low blood platelet counts thought to be due to splenic destruction of platelets from the back pressure resulting from liver fibrosis. In summary, the fragility of the underlying liver can limit the safety therapies of many other than liver transplantation.

7 HCC Microenvironment

For several decades, it has been thought that tumors arise because one or more growth pathway genes become mutated and are expressed or otherwise activated in a way that leads to excessive stimulation of the growth control pathways of the cell; this is known as the oncogene hypothesis. There is much experimental support for this hypothesis. However, in recent years, it has become clear that the activity of genes is often affected by other factors, either by controls on the gene involved (epigenetic factors), such as methylation, or by not yet well-understood factors in their microenvironment. Thus, both oxygenation and nutrients can affect how a given gene might behave within a cell, including oncogenes. Recent support for this "seed" (gene) and "soil" (cell environment) idea (a hypothesis originally developed for metastases by Stephen Paget (1889): "When a plant goes to seed, its seeds are carried in all directions; but they can only live and grow if they fall on congenial soil. ... While many researchers have been studying 'the seeds,' the properties of 'the soil' may reveal valuable insights into the metastatic peculiarities of cancer cases." Support for this idea has come from molecular clinical studies in which it has been found that the behavior of HCC can be predicted from knowledge of the pattern of genetic changes (molecular signature) to be found in the nontumorous part of the liver (microenvironment). This environmental influence may have relevance in at least two HCC circumstances:

- 1. Prediction of the behavior of an individual patient's tumor, such as the likelihood of recurrence after resection
- 2. The reason for an expected benefit of virus hepatitis therapy (of the "soil") as part of HCC therapy in chronic virus carriers

8 Tumor Microenvironment Systems

Immune and inflammatory mediators: interleukins, chemokines, reactive oxygen molecules, PDL-1 **Tumor angiogenesis/vascularization factors:** VEGF, PDGF, FGF, and TGF alpha

9 Tumor Microenvironmental Mediators

Cells: hepatic stellate cells, cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), lymphocytes, Kupffer cells, endothelial cells, platelets, tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), dendritic cells, stem/progenitor cells

10 Noncellular Components

Growth factors (EGF, TGF α , FGF, PDGF, VEGF, HGF, IGF), TGF β

Proteolytic enzymes: MMPs

Extracellular matrix proteins: laminins, integrins, heparan sulfate proteoglycans

Inflammatory cytokines: IL-6, IL-1, TNFa

11 Platelets and HCC Growth

A significant association has been found in HCC patients, between thrombocytosis and larger tumor volume, high AFP levels, and poor survival. By contrast, thrombocytopenia is also considered as a prognostic factor in HCC. Studies involving clinical parameters of patients with small or large HCCs have shown that along with other factors such as AFP, tumor size is correlated with platelet counts. HCCs associated with thrombocytosis are often found in noncirrhotic liver and tend to be larger-sized tumors. However, HCCs associated with thrombocytopenia are associated with small tumor size, lower blood albumin, and impaired liver function and a fibrotic background. The relationship between platelets and cancer cells is bidirectional, since tumor cells stimulate platelet aggregation, whereas platelets stimulate the growth of tumor cells and promote their metastasis through activation and secretion of several molecules. As tumor cells activate platelets, activated platelets in turn contribute to several steps of carcinogenesis. These include the secretions by platelet granules containing (1) growth factors (IGF-1, EGF, VEGF, HGF, transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), FGF, PDGF, etc.), (2) coagulation factors (prothrombin, fibrinogen, factor V, and factor VIII), (3) pro-angiogenic and anti-angiogenic factors (angiopoietin-1, angiostatin, etc.), (4) MMPs and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) (MMP-1, MMP-2, MMP-3, MMP-9, MT1-MMP, MMP-14, TIMP-1, and TIMP-2), (5) pro-inflammatory mediators (C-X-C motif chemokines, such as CXCL4, CXCL7, and CXCL12), and (6) immunologic molecules (C1 inhibitor and IgG) [12,21,70,71]. Recent data identifying the effects of platelet extracts on HCC cell lines have shown that platelets and platelet-derived factors increase cell proliferation, invasion, and migration, whereas they decrease apoptosis and cell AFP levels, through JNK signaling. Secretory platelet granules also trigger angiogenesis by cytokines VEGF, PDGF, TGF- β , IGF-1, and endostatin. Nevertheless, since tumor cells grow without new blood vessels up to 1–2 mm³, pro-angiogenic factor stimulation is necessary for tumor cells to grow further, which is also provided by platelets. Platelets help the tumor cells to adhere to the blood vessel wall through expressions of P-selectin (CD62P) and α IIb β 3 and enhance both intravasation and extravasation. The "education of platelets by tumor cells" is another recently described and potentially important observation. Studies show that platelets take up pro-angiogenic cytokines, proteins, and RNA which are secreted by tumor cells.

12 Growth Factor Receptors and their Inhibitors (TKIs)

Numerous cellular functions that include tumor cell differentiation, growth, apoptosis, and angiogenesis are mediated via signals from membranebound tyrosine kinase receptors. They include EGFR, IGFR, FGFR, Met (HGF receptor), VEGR, IGFR, and PDGFR and they transduce intracellular signals, often via the Ras/MEK/ ERK pathway to the nucleus, that often result in transcription factor activation. Two major kinase types are dysregulated in HCC, namely, the tyrosine kinases (TKs) and cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs), and they are each targets for the treatment of HCC via TKI inhibitors.

Some FDA-approved tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) drugs that inhibit signaling associated with the above growth receptors include sorafenib, lenvatinib, regorafenib, cabozantinib, and ramucirumab. Other drugs, such as bevacizumab, are antibodies that also target growth receptors.

13 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors (ICIs) and the Liver

The immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) are compounds that target the regulatory signals between T lymphocytes and target cells, as well as other immune cells. T lymphocytes recognize specific antigens on target cells through major histocompatibility complex (MHC) proteins through their T-cell receptors and can induce apoptosis of target cells.

Immune checkpoint proteins, including PD-1/ PD- L1 and cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4), suppress T-cell inflammatory activity to prohibit overactivation of the immune system and promote self-tolerance. Immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) suppress immune inhibition (suppress the suppressor) induced by PD-1/ PD-L1 or CTLA-4 and thereby reactivate T cells to promote their cytotoxicity to tumor cell targets.

ICIs thus prevent the association of programmed cell death protein-1 (PD1) with its ligands, programmed death ligand1 (PD-L1) and 2 (PD-L2), enhancing the T-cell response toward HCCs, and have recently come into clinical use for many tumor types, including HCC. When used in various combinations, recent clinical trials have shown that they greatly enhance HCC responses by shrinkage, with associated increase in patient survival. Examples include nivolumab, a monoclonal antibody against PD-1; pembrolizumab, also a humanized monoclonal antibody against PD-1; atezolizumab, a monoclonal antibody against cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4), a receptor that also functions as an immune checkpoint, to downregulate immune responses. The ICIs appear to have the possibility of enhancing the lifespan of many HCC patients and are perhaps the most exciting development in HCC work in the last 10 years, as of end-2020.

14 Clinically Useful HCC Serum Biomarkers

Alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) is a glycoprotein produced in the embryonic liver and a form of fetal albumin, the synthesis of which is turned off at birth. Hence, an older name is oncofetal antigen, which, like CEA and glypican-3, is resynthesized postnatally in some tumors. It is frequently used and inexpensive and is a simple blood test to perform, but its blood levels are elevated in only 50% of patients with HCC. AFP is not a sensitive enough marker for screening for small, new HCCs but is extremely useful if elevated, when monitoring the HCC response to therapy. The biological function of AFP is still speculative, though there is some evidence for its role in apoptosis. Since it is the fetal form of albumin and albumin has some growth control properties, it may be that AFP has a functional role in the loss of growth control which characterizes the HCC phenotype. Recently, more HCC-specific tests have come into general clinical practice, such as a glycosylated form of AFP (itself, a fetal form of albumin) called AFP-L3.

Des-gamma carboxy prothrombin (DCP) or protein induced by vitamin K absence (PIVKA-2) is an HCC blood biomarker, and US Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved kits for measuring it are readily available to clinical labs. Several studies have shown that elevated DCP is commonly elevated in the presence of portal vein thrombosis (PVT). The molecule is really interesting, as it is an immature form of the coagulation protein, prothrombin. The enzyme responsible for catalyzing the immature to the mature form of prothrombin has an absolute requirement for vitamin K. This highlights an important role for loss of vitamin K function in HCC development and suggests that some vitamin K-dependent protein or vitamin K itself might be important in HCC migration, given the association of DCP with PVT. Several attempts have been made to assess the value of high doses of vitamin K in suppressing DCP (it does) and thus suppressing clinical HCC growth. The experimental evidence is good, but the one big randomized clinical trial fell short.

A diagnostic model hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) has been proposed that incorporates the levels of each of the three biomarkers, AFP, AFP-L3%, and DCP, along with patient sex and age, into the gender, age, AFP-L3%, AFP, and DCP (GALAD) model, but awaits validation for screening.

Glypican-3 is another oncofetal glycoprotein that appears to have prognostic significance as an HCC serum biomarker and is being investigated both for imaging and as a potential target in HCC therapeutics.

15 Clinical Context Is Key

For all HCC parameters, context is key. For a newly presenting HCC patient, we normally do not know at what point the patient is on his/her disease trajectory. Thus, the total clinical context has to be understood to make rational patient management decisions. Tumor size alone is less important, unless we know about the presence of PVT or residual parenchymal liver function. That is why all modern classification systems employ parameters of both tumor aggressiveness (maximum tumor dimension, number of tumor nodules, presence of PVT, and often tumor biomarker levels), as well as liver function parameters. In this approach, two important papers showed that HCC microenvironmental factors may be as important as tumor factors, or more so. Hoshida et al. (2008) showed that gene-expression profiles of tumor tissue failed to yield a significant association with survival. In contrast, profiles of the surrounding nontumoral liver tissue were highly correlated with survival. Utsonomiya et al. (2010) showed that molecular signatures of noncancerous liver tissue can predict the risk for late recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma.

It has recently been shown that the high rates of recurrence after HCC resection can be significantly reduced by anti-hepatitis viral therapy. Thus, the viral-mediated inflammation must influence the HCC behavior. In summary, there are at least two types of molecular signatures (patterns of genetic changes) and clinical prognostic factors in HCC: those of the tumor and those of the underlying liver.

It has become increasingly clear in recent years that the behavior of a given HCC, and thus the treatment approaches for a patient with HCC, depends on more than just the clinically observed tumor characteristics. This was anticipated in the 1985 staging system of the Japanese hepatologist Kunio Okuda, who brought attention to the need to consider both tumor and liver characteristics in prognosis and therapy. More recently, this approach has been greatly expanded by advances in HCC biology, biochemistry, and molecular understanding. As a result, a fuller understanding of HCC behavior needs to consider genes and gene alterations, tumor stroma (the underlying tissues), tumor neovasculature (the growth of new blood vessels that is necessary to support the increasing mass of the growing tumor), inflammation, supporting liver parenchyma (cells in the liver that support the specialized hepatocytes), and gene/molecular signatures (patterns of genes and their expression through proteins). Although much of this is still in the research realm (at least for the vasculature, inflammation, and molecular signatures), there are rapidly advancing clinical applications. For example, new knowledge of the growth factors that encourage new blood vessel growth has led to the development of several new cancer drugs that target this vasculature, such as bevacizumab or sorafenib. Another example is the use of anti-hepatitis therapy to decrease HCC recurrences after successful tumor resection. The recognition of the importance of the inflammatory microenvironment has had two recent consequences. One is the use of HCC clinical inflammatory markers in patient prognostication. Examples include use of blood levels of C-reactive protein (CRP), Glasgow Index (CRP plus albumin), neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio (NLR), and platelet-lymphocyte ratio (PLR). A

second use is the finding that patients being treated with anti-inflammatory agents, such as aspirin for cardio-preventive purposes, seem to have lower incidence of some GI cancers, including HCC. These results point to the possibility of using aspirin or NSAIDs in HCC prevention, possibly as an adjunct to resection. As explained above in the section on HCC growth, absence of cirrhosis likely permits the growth of larger tumors. Counterintuitively, these may be easier to manage with better resultant prognosis, due to absence of the cirrhosis and associated inflammation, rendering hepatic resections safer.

16 Circulating Tumor Cells (Liquid Biopsy)

Precision oncology is becoming increasingly important in the diagnosis and management of patients with various cancers, and liquid biopsy has shown promise as a minimally invasive technique for diagnosis, detection of actionable (therapy) mutations, in the monitoring of tumor evolution and in making rational treatment decisions. Liquid biopsy depends on the observation that many patients with solid tumors shed tumor cells and tumor cell DNA (in addition to a vast amount of nontumor circulating DNA) or its fragments into their circulating blood.

There are several liquid biopsy analytes, including circulating tumor RNA, cell-free micro RNA, exosomes, circulating tumor cells (CTCs), and circulating tumor DNA (ctDNA). This approach permits the use of a minimally invasive means for obtaining clinically useful tumor information without invasive tissue biopsies. Furthermore, since they are based on peripheral blood samples, they can be repeated during the course of a patient's disease at the same time as other routine clinical bloods are drawn for standard tests. However, there is not yet a standardized platform for such testing. Despite this, several blood tests have already been FDAapproved as accompaniments to rational patient selection for several new molecularly targeting therapies, so far in non-HCC tumors. In addition to therapy, some uses of liquid biopsy include the potential for diagnosis or assessment of postsurgical residual disease and presence of micrometastases. For HCC, measurement of methylation profiles of ctDNA appears to be a promising surveillance tool. Given that AASLD and EASL guidelines do not recommend HCC biopsy for the diagnosis of most patients with a vascular liver mass in a cirrhotic liver, there is a dearth of HCC tissue to examine unless the tumor has been removed by resection or transplantation. Circulating tumor cells offer the potential for repetitive molecular analysis of HCCs over the course of an individual patient's disease.

Further Readings

- Ahn JC, Teng PC, Chen PJ, Posadas E, Tseng HR, Lu SC, Yang JD. Detection of circulating tumor cells and their implications as a biomarker for diagnosis, prognostication, and therapeutic monitoring in hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 2021;73:422–36.
- Akkiz H, Carr BI, Bag HG, Karaoğullarından U, et al. Serum levels of inflammatory markers CRP, ESR and albumin in relation to survival for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Int J Clin Pract. 2020;24:e13593. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcp.13593. Epub.
- Algra AM, Rothwell PM. Effects of regular aspirin on long-term cancer incidence and metastasis: a systematic comparison of evidence from observational studies versus randomised trials. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13:518–27.
- Bağırsakçı E, Şahin E, Atabey N, Erdal E, Guerra V, Carr BI. Role of albumin in growth inhibition in hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncology. 2017;93:136–42.
- Borsig L. The role of platelet activation in tumor metastasis. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2008;8:1247–55.
- Carr BI. Chemical carcinogens and inhibitors of carcinogenesis in the human diet. Cancer. 1985;55:218–24.
- Carr BI. Pleiotropic drug resistance in hepatocytes induced by carcinogens administered to rats. Cancer Res. 1987;47:5577–83.
- Carr BI, Guerra V. Hepatocellular carcinoma size: platelets, γ-glutamyl transpeptidase, and alkaline phosphatase. Oncology. 2013;85:153–9.
- Carr BI, Guerra V. Serum albumin levels in relation to tumor parameters in hepatocellular carcinoma patients. Int J Biol Markers. 2017;32(4):e391–6. https://doi. org/10.5301/ijbm.5000300. PMID: 28862714.
- Carr BI, Laishes BA. Carcinogen-induced drug resistance in hepatocytes. Cancer Res. 1981a;41:1715.
- Carr BI, Laishes BA. Resistance to the cytocidal effects of adriamycin is an early phenotypic change induced during hepatocarcinogenesis. Br J Cancer. 1981b;44:567–71.

- Carr BI, Wang Z, Wang M, Wei G. Differential effects of vitamin K1 on AFP and DCP levels in patients with unresectable HCC and in HCC cell lines. Dig Dis Sci. 2011;56:1876–83.
- Carr BI, Guerra V, Pancoska P. Thrombocytopenia in relation to tumor size in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncology. 2012;83:339–45.
- Carr BI, Cavallini A, D'Alessandro R, Refolo MG, Lippolis C, et al. Platelet extracts induce growth, migration and invasion in human hepatocellular carcinoma in vitro. BMC Cancer. 2014;14:43. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2407-14-43.
- Carr BI, Guerra V, Donghia R, Yilmaz S. Trends in tumor indices in relation to increased hepatocellular carcinoma size: evidence for tumor evolution as a function of growth. J Gastrointest Cancer. 2020a;51:1215–9.
- Carr BI, Akkiz H, Guerra V, Donghia R, Yalçın K, et al. Erythrocyte sedimentation rate and C-reactive protein are markers for tumor aggressiveness and survival in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. J Clin Trials. 2020b;10:1000428.
- Carr BI, Guerra V, Donghia R, et al. Changes in hepatocellular carcinoma aggressiveness characteristics with an increase in tumor diameter. Int J Biol Markers. 2021a:1724600821996372. https://doi. org/10.1177/1724600821996372. PMID: 33641486.
- Carr BI, Ince V, Bag HB, et al. CRP is a superior and prognostically significant biomarker for HCC patients treated by liver transplantation. Clin Pract. 2021b;18:1626–32.
- Chen VL, Xu D, Wicha MS, Lok AS, Parikh ND. Utility of liquid biopsy analysis in detection of hepatocellular carcinoma, determination of prognosis, and disease monitoring: a systematic review. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;18:2879–902.
- Chu KJ, Lai EC, Yao XP, et al. Vitamin analogues in chemoprevention of hepatocellular carcinoma after resection or ablation: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Asian J Surg. 2010;33:120–6.
- Farber E, et al. The resistance of putative pre-malignant liver cell populations to the acute cytotoxicity of hepatocarcinogens. Cancer Res. 1976;36:3879.
- Giuliante F, De Rose AM, Guerra V, Ardito F, Nuzzo G, Carr BI. Clinical characteristics and survival of European patients with resectable large hepatocellular carcinomas. J Gastrointest Cancer. 2013;44:329–35.
- Gotoh M, Nakatani T, Masuda T, et al. Prediction of invasive activities in hepatocellular carcinomas with special reference to alpha-fetoprotein and des-gamma-carboxyprothrombin. Jpn J Cl Oncol. 2003;33:522–6.
- Haddow A. Cellular inhibition and the origin of cancer. Acta Unio Concra Cancrom. 1938;3:342.
- Horino K, Beppu T, Kuroki H, et al. Glasgow prognostic score as a useful prognostic factor after hepatectomy for hepatocellular carcinoma. Int J Clin Oncol. 2013;18:829–38.
- Hoshida Y, Villanueva A, Kobayashi M, et al. Gene expression in fixed tissues and outcome in hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2008;359:1995–2004.

- Koike Y, Shiratori Y, Sato S, et al. Des-gamma-carboxy prothrombin as a useful predisposing factor for the development of portal venous invasion in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: a prospective analysis of 227 patients. Cancer. 2001;91:561–9.
- Leslie M. Cell biology. Beyond clotting: the powers of platelets. Science. 2010;328:562–4.
- Lippolis C, Refolo MG, D'Alessandro R, et al. Resistance to multikinase inhibitor actions mediated by insulin like growth factor-1. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2015;34:90.
- MacNider WB. The resistance of liver epithelium to injury by uranium following chloroform exposure. J. Pharm Expt Ther. 1936;56:373.
- Okuda K, Ohtsuki T, Obata H, Tomimatsu M, Okazaki N, Hasegawa H, Nakajima Y, Ohnishi K. Natural history of hepatocellular carcinoma and prognosis in relation to treatment. Study of 850 patients. Cancer. 1985;56:918–28.
- Otsuka M, Kato N, Shao RX, Hoshida Y, Ijichi H, et al. Vitamin K2 inhibits the growth and invasiveness of hepatocellular carcinoma cells via protein kinase A activation. Hepatology. 2004;40:243–51.
- Paget S. The distribution of secondary growths in cancer of the breast. 1889. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 1989;8:98–101.
- Pancoska P, Carr BI. Macro- and micro-environmental factors in clinical hepatocellular cancer. Semin Oncol. 2014;41:185–94.
- Peeraphatdit T, Wang J, Odenwald MA, Hu S, Hart J, Charlton MR. Hepatotoxicity from immune checkpoint inhibitors: a systematic review and management recommendation. Hepatology. 2020;72:315–29.
- Petrick JL, Sahasrabuddhe VV, Chat AT, et al. NSAID use and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma and intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: the liver cancer pooling project. Cancer Prev Res. 2015;8:1156–62.
- Qu C, Wang Y, Wang P, Chen K, Wang M. Detection of early-stage hepatocellular carcinoma in asymptomaticHBsAg-seropositive individuals by liquid biopsy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2019;116:6308–12.

- Refolo MG, D'Alessandro R, Lippolis C, Messa C, Carella N, et al. Modulation of Doxorubicin mediated growth inhibition of hepatocellular carcinoma cells by platelet lysates. Anti Cancer Agents Med Chem. 2014;14:1154–60.
- Riaz IB, Riaz H, Riaz T, et al. Role of vitamin K2 in preventing the recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma after curative treatment: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. BMC Gastroenterol. 2012;12:170.
- Singh S, Singh PP, Roberts LR, Sanchez W. Chemopreventive strategies in hepatocellular carcinoma. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2014;11:45–54.
- Sitia G, Aiolfi R, Di Luca P, et al. Antiplatelet therapy prevents hepatocellular carcinoma and improves survival in a mouse model of chronic HBV. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109:E2165–72.
- Suner A, Carr BI. PLR and NLR predict tumor size and survival in HCC patients. Ann Med Surg. 2020;58: 167–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amsu.2020.08.042.
- Utsunomiya T, Shimada M, Imura S, et al. Molecular signatures of noncancerous liver tissue can predict the risk for late recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gastroenterol. 2010;45:146–52.
- Von Felden J, Garcia-Lezana T, Schultze K, Losic B, Villanueuva A. Liquid biopsy in the clinical management of hepatocellular carcinoma. Gut. 2020;69:2025–34.
- Yilmaz Y, Erdal Y, Atabey N, Carr BI. Platelets, microenvironment and hepatocellular carcinoma: a review. Biochem Anal Biochem. 2016;5:2. https://doi. org/10.4172/2161-1009.1000281.
- Yoshida H, Shiratori Y, Kudo M, Shiina S, Mizuta T, et al. Effect of vitamin K2 on the recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 2011;54:532–40.
- Yu Y, Zhou XD, Liu YK, Ren N, Chen J, Zhao Y. Platelets promote the adhesion of human hepatoma cells with a highly metastatic potential to extracellular matrix protein: involvement of platelet P-selectin and GP IIb-IIIa. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2002;128:283–7.



Changing Etiology and Epidemiology of Human Liver Cancer

John D. Groopman

1 Introduction

Collectively liver cancer, including hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and cholangiocarcinoma, accounts for 8.2% of all reported cancer deaths in men and women, and it is the third/fourth most common cause of cancer mortality worldwide, tied with stomach cancer [1, 2]. Globally, the incidence rates and age of diagnosis of liver cancer vary enormously, and unfortunately the burden of this nearly always fatal disease is much greater in the less economically developed regions of Asia, Central America, and sub-Saharan Africa (Fig. 1) [3]. HCC, perhaps due to a changing pattern of risk factors, is also the most rapidly rising solid tumor in the USA and Central America and is overrepresented in minority communities, including African-Americans, Hispanic/Latino-Americans, Asianand Americans [4–6]. This increase in the USA may portend a resurgence of this disease in the more economically wealthy countries. Currently, there are more than 840,000 new cases of this nearly always fatal cancer each year and nearly 370,000 deaths annually in the People's Republic of China (PRC) alone [3]. The combined age-standardized rate of mortality from liver cancer for men and women worldwide was 8.5 per 100,000 in 2018 [1]. Further, there are striking sex differences in the age-standardized rate of liver cancer deaths for men and women which was 12.7 and 4.6 per 100,000 people in 2018, respectively. The countries that traditionally are considered as part of the Middle East span two World Health Organization (WHO) regions: Eastern Mediterranean and Europe. Of these countries, Egypt has the second highest age-standardized rate of mortality of liver cancer, 49.0 and 16.7 per 100,000 for men and women, respectively, in the world [1]. Indeed, this mortality rate is only exceeded globally by Mongolia, and the unique circumstances of this liver cancer burden will be discussed in the following sections. While Egypt has the largest population in the Middle East, the next six countries with populations ranging from 20 million to 80 million people (Yemen, Syria, Saudi Arabia, Iraq, and Turkey) all have agestandardized rates of liver cancer deaths for both men and women less than the global average (8.5 per 100,000 people), but as will be discussed later in this chapter, these statistics are likely to change in the next few decades.

For a cancer such as liver cancer that has such a poor prognosis, less than a 15% 5-year survival, the age of diagnosis has a major impact on society [7]. In contrast with most common cancers in the economically developed world where over 90% of cases are diagnosed after the age of 45, in many high-risk regions for liver cancer, onset begins to occur in both men and women by

J. D. Groopman (🖂)

Department of Environmental Health and Engineering, Bloomberg School of Public Health, Sidney Kimmel Comprehensive Cancer Center, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA e-mail: Jgroopm1@jhu.edu



Estimated age-standardized mortality rates (World) in 2018, liver, both sexes, all ages

Fig. 1 Age-standardized mortality of liver cancer in men and women worldwide [1, 2]

20 years of age and peaks between 40 and 49 years of age in men and between 50 and 59 years of age in women [8, 9]. This earlier onset of HCC might be attributable to exposures that are both substantial and persistent across the life span and starting early in life. As mentioned above, sex differences in liver cancer incidence have also been well described, and worldwide the number of cases among men was 596,000 and 244,000 among women in 2018 [1, 2, 7]. These human epidemiologic findings are also reflected in experimental animal data for one potent liver carcinogen linked to human HCC, aflatoxin, where male rats have been found to have an earlier onset and higher incidence of cancer compared to female animals [10]. Thus, the consistency of the experimental animal and human data points to the important role that environmental exposures play in sex differences in HCC risk.

This chapter will review the significant data that links exposures to specific environmental toxicants, host factors, and biological agents with the etiology of liver cancer and with a specific commentary for counties in the Middle East. The epidemiologic studies revealing these etiologic factors have been made possible by devising bio-

markers reflective of exposure, dose, and risk. The translation of these basic science findings to an understanding of the etiology of HCC has also provided guidance for the development of preventive interventions in high-risk populations. A number of these major investigations will be reviewed, to provide an overview of this very active field of research. Taken together, the etiology of many liver cancers diagnosed today is well understood, and when the underlying genetic diseases of hemochromatosis, alpha-1-antitrypsin deficiency, and copper overload disease are included, probably greater than 90-95% of the risk factors causing today's liver cancers have been identified [11-13]. With the emergence of fatty liver disease as a risk factor for liver cancer, a number of genetic risk factors have been identified including mutations in PNPLA3 that is more common in Hispanic populations [14, 15]. This knowledge base has been actively translated into effective screening tools, and prevention strategies that should continue if implemented effectively mitigate this cancer. Of great concern is the hypothesis that the emergence of new risk factors such as obesity and type 2 diabetes is changing the landscape of liver cancer etiology. With nearly 70% of the US population being

overweight or obese and over 400 million people worldwide being type 2 diabetic, there is an emergent likelihood of dramatically rising hepatic morbidity and mortality [16]. This problem is especially emergent in the countries of the Middle East where a majority of adults are now obese and the rates are rising [17].

1.1 Currently Identified Etiologic Agents for Liver Cancer

Prior prospective cohort studies conducted during several decades across many countries and populations have revealed the critical role that hepatitis B virus (HBV), hepatitis C virus (HCV), alcohol, and dietary aflatoxins play, often interacting with each other, in high-risk settings for liver cancer [6, 18]. The identification of these critical risk factors and others such as vinyl chloride and cigarette smoke has often been the result of developing validated biomarkers reflecting these exposure situations. Further, there have been a number of underlying genetic predispositions that have also been linked to increased liver cancer susceptibility.

1.2 The Promethean Liver

The liver has remarkable self-repair mechanisms that can lead to recovery at almost every stage of the progressive etiopathogenesis to cancer including fibrosis and cirrhosis. While Greek mythology poetically captured this biology in the stories of Prometheus, experimental studies have documented this remarkable repair and recovery process [19]. Rodents that undergo 70% partial hepatectomy recover a fully functioning liver within 2-4 weeks following surgery. Some studies from the 1960s demonstrated that rats could be subjected to biweekly partial hepatectomies for a year (20-25 surgeries) and still recover complete liver function [20, 21]. While not as dramatic, humans have also been found to have remarkable hepatic regrowth properties following injury or surgeries. In many respects, it is not surprising that the tissue which is the first line of response to the remarkably diverse number of compounds and nutrients absorbed from the gut into the portal vein would have this type of repair proficiency. A recent review has documented the recovery after several months from fatty liver disease and fibrosis in morbidly obese individuals following weight loss [22]. Thus, quantitative assessments of liver status through the use of biomarkers would be extremely valuable for designing interventions that facilitate this liver repair.

Biomarkers detected from blood samples have become important tools for cancer prevention and control. Many of these biomarkers fall under the rubric of the liquid biopsy. In the case of liver cancer diagnosis, α -fetoprotein (AFP) has been studied as an early diagnostic measurement since elevated levels are detected in patients having liver cancer. Unfortunately, AFP has not proven to be an effective early detection tool in a number of prevention investigations. Other tools such as FibroScan are capable of detecting relatively advanced but not early-stage liver disease [23]. Current liquid biopsy strategies have already been deployed for the early detection of tumor recurrence following initial therapeutic interventions. In a number of studies, mutant tumor suppressor and oncogenes known to have occurred in the primary tumor have been detected as DNA fragments in blood samples. Using the modern tools of nucleic acid detection, these mutant fragments can be readily measured. The analytical challenge of these strategies results from the relatively low number of these DNA fragments emerging in circulation, and this leads to the necessity of collecting large volumes (5-40 ml) of blood in order to have enough fragments of DNA measurement following PCR amplification. Hence, this technology is most applicable to the clinical setting and is not currently practicable for prospective cohort and other environmental exposure studies where much smaller volumes of blood were and are obtained from participants. Given the volumes of blood available in these investigations of healthy individuals, current strategies and technologies are focused on the more abundant proteins and their nucleophilic targets in circulation.

1.3 Hepatitis B Virus

In the case of identifying a role for HBV in liver cancer was the identification of a major biomarker the specific antigen (HBsAg) in blood samples partnered and grounded with cohort investigations [24]. Thus, one of the first breakthroughs in defining a biological agent in the etiology of this disease occurred with a series of studies describing a role for the hepatitis B virus (HBV) in HCC pathogenesis. Historically, a number of investigations found that chronic carriers of HBV, as indicated by sequential hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) positivity at 6-month intervals, were at increased risk of developing HCC [3, 25]. Further, the age of initial infection by this virus was directly related to the prevalence of the chronic carrier state and subsequent accelerated risk for HCC. Approximately 90% of HBV infections acquired in infancy or early childhood become chronic infections, whereas only 10% of infections acquired in adulthood become chronic, and less than 50% of chronic carriers progress to HCC [26–29]. The global burden of HBV infection varies widely, and historically China, Southeast Asia, and sub-Saharan Africa had some of the highest rates of chronic HBV infection in the world, with a population prevalence of over 10% [30]. The public health significance of HBV as a risk factor for HCC is staggering with the consideration that there are still, despite the availability of an effective preventive vaccine, over 400 million viral carriers and between 10% and 25% of these individuals are likely to develop HCC [18, 31, 32]. The biology, serology, mode of transmission, and epidemiology of this viral infection continue to be actively investigated and have been recently reviewed [24, 33, 34]. Collectively, this work directly led to the research that resulted in a vaccine effective against HBV. Indeed, this vaccine has been reported to reduce HCC incidence by up to 70% in a cohort of young vaccinated children in Taiwan that have been followed for up to 30 years [35–40].

Historically, many studies across the globe that explored the relationship between HBV infection and HCC calculated risk estimates ranging from 3 to 30 in case-control studies and from 5 to 148 in cohort studies [41]. For example, an early small hospital-based case-control study from northeast Thailand showed an adjusted odds ratio (OR) of 15.2 for the presence of HBsAg among HCC patients [42]. An adjusted OR of 13.5 was reported from a case-control study in the Gambia [30]. The risk of HCC among HBsAg-positive individuals in Korea from a prospective cohort study of government workers was 24.3 among men and 54.4 among women, adjusted for age, smoking, alcohol use, and diabetes [43]. A similar prospective study from Taiwan found men positive for HBsAg were 223 times more likely to develop HCC than men negative for HBsAg [28]. All of these investigations were grounded and successful because of the measurement of a validated biomarker of high sensitivity and specificity that tracked with the development and risk for HCC. Further, these studies benefited by the high-throughput for the measurement of this biomarker that in turn permitted the recruitment of large numbers of individuals facilitating sufficient power for the study.

The contribution of HBV to the pathogenesis of liver cancer is multifactorial and is complicated by the identification of mutant variants in HBV that modulate the carcinogenesis process [24]. The HBV genome encodes its essential genes with overlapping open-reading frames; therefore, a mutation in the HBV genome can alter the expression of multiple proteins. In many cases of HCC in China and Africa, a double mutation in the HBV genome, an adenine to thymine transversion at nucleotide 1762, and a guanine to adenine transition at nucleotide 1764 $(1762^{T}/1764^{A})$ have been found in tumors [44– 46]. This segment of the HBV genome contains an overlapping sequence for the base core promoter and the HBV X gene; therefore, the double mutation in codon 130 and 131 of the HBV X gene reported in human HCC is identical to the 1762 and 1764 nucleotide changes [47]. The increasing occurrence of these mutations has been also associated with the increasing severity of the HBV infection and cirrhosis [45, 46]. This acquired mutation following HBV integration into hepatocytes was originally characterized in

HBV e antigen-negative people [48]. The 1762^T/1764^A double mutation occurs more frequently in people infected with the genotype C strain of HBV, which is the most common genotype found in East Asian patients [49–51]. This double mutation tracks with an increased inflammatory response that becomes stronger as the progression of liver damage transits through chronic hepatitis and into a cirrhosis stage [52]. The underlying mechanism of the effects of HBV e antigen on the biology of inflammation and cirrhosis is still unclear, but there are substantial data that point to modulation of the immune surveillance system and immune tolerance in the presence and absence of this protein [52–54]. The 1762^T/1764^A double mutation has also been demonstrated to affect an increase in the rate of HBV genome synthesis in cellular models [55, 56]. In cellular studies, the $1762^{T}/1764^{A}$ double mutation increased the replication of the viral genome twofold, and in the case of some of rarer triple mutations, an eightfold increase in genome replication was found [54, 56]. A matched casecontrol investigation of 345 men who died of HCC and 625 controls were nested within a cohort of male hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) carriers from Qidong, China found the HBV 1762^T/1764^A over twice as frequently in cases (81%) as compared with controls. The matched preserving OR of 6.72 (95% CI: 4.66 to 9.68) strongly indicated that cases were significantly more probably than controls to have the mutation. Plasma levels of DNA harboring the HBV mutation were on average 15-fold higher in cases compared with controls (P < 0.001). Most strikingly, the level of the mutation in the 20 controls who later developed and died of HCC was on average 274-fold higher than controls who did not develop HCC. Thus, within this cohort of HBsAg carriers at high risk of developing HCC, individuals positive for the HBV 1762^T/1764^A mutation at enrollment were substantially more probably to subsequently develop HCC, with a higher concentration of the mutation in plasma enhancing predisposition for cancer development [57].

Collectively, over 50 years of biomedical research have unequivocally established a role

for HBV in the etiology of human liver cancer, and with the availability of an effective vaccine, the impact of this virus can be dramatically reduced. It will take many decades for this to occur because of the need to vaccinate children prior to infection that still occurs very early in life. To those individuals who become infected and therefore not eligible for vaccination, therapeutic drugs are being developed constantly. Hopefully, these therapeutic strategies will become both cost-effective and have minimal adverse effects to accelerate the elimination of HBV as a human carcinogen.

1.4 Aflatoxin

As shown earlier, HCC is among the leading causes of cancer death in most parts of the economically developing world with the unequal distribution of this disease depicted in Fig. 1 [4, 58]. Since the burden of HCC is also coincident with regions where aflatoxin exposure is high, many efforts starting over 50 years ago examined this possible association [59]. These initial studies were hindered by the lack of adequate data on aflatoxin intake, excretion and metabolism in people, the underlying susceptibility factors such as diet and viral exposure, as well as the incomplete statistics on worldwide cancer morbidity and mortality. Despite these deficiencies, early investigations did provide data illustrating that increasing HCC rates corresponded to increasing levels of dietary aflatoxin exposure [60]. The commodities most often found to be contaminated by aflatoxin were common human food staples including peanuts, cottonseed, maize, and rice [61]. The requirements for aflatoxin production are relatively nonspecific since molds can produce these toxins on almost any foodstuff and the final levels in the grain product can vary from micrograms to tens of milligrams [62]. Strikingly in a case of aflatoxin-related deaths in rural villages in Kenya, daily exposures were estimated to be over 50 milligrams [63]. Because contamination of foodstuffs is so heterogeneous, the measurement of human exposure to aflatoxin by sampling foodstuffs or by dietary questionnaires is extremely imprecise [64]. The development of aflatoxin-specific biomarkers based upon its metabolic activation and subsequent binding to nucleophilic sites in DNA and serum albumin has been validated and used to demonstrate a significant role for this dietary contaminate in HCC across many countries [65].

Many published case-control studies have examined the relation of aflatoxin exposure using various biomarkers and HCC. Compared with cohort studies, case-control studies are both costand time-effective. Unfortunately, case-control studies are often initiated long after exposure has occurred, and it cannot be assumed that the exposure has not appreciably changed over time. Additionally, such studies involve assumptions in the selection of controls, including that the disease state does not alter metabolism of aflatoxin. Thus, matching of cases and controls in a specific biomarker study is much more difficult than in a case-control study involving genetic markers [59]. Data obtained from cohort studies have the greatest power to determine a true relationship between an exposure and disease outcome because one starts with a healthy cohort, obtains biomarker samples, and then follows the cohort until significant numbers of cases are obtained. A nested study within the cohort can then be designed to match cases and controls. An advantage of this method is causation can be established (due to the longitudinal nature of cohort studies, there is no temporal ambiguity) and selection bias is minimized. A major disadvantage, however, is the time needed in follow-up (often years) to accrue the cases, especially for chronic diseases such as HCC. This disadvantage can be overcome in part by enrolling large numbers of people (often tens of thousands) to ensure case accrual at a reasonable rate.

Essential to the designation by IARC of the aflatoxins as a Group 1 known human carcinogen were two major cohort studies with aflatoxin biomarkers that have demonstrated the important role of this carcinogen in the etiology of HCC [66]. The first study, comprising more than 18,000 men in Shanghai, examined the interaction of HBV and aflatoxin biomarkers as independent and interactive risk factors for HCC. The nested case-control data revealed a statistically significant increase in the adjusted relative risk (RR) of 3.4 [95% CI: 1.1–10.0] for those HCC cases where urinary aflatoxin biomarkers were detected. For HBsAg-positive people, only the RR was 7 [95% CI: 2.2–22.4], but for individuals with both urinary aflatoxins and positive HBsAg status, the RR was 59 [95% CI: 16.6–212.0] [67, 68]. These results strongly support a causal relationship between the presence of the chemical-and viral-specific biomarkers and the risk of HCC.

A subsequent cohort study in Taiwan has substantially confirmed the results from the Shanghai investigation. Wang et al. [69] examined HCC cases and controls nested within a cohort and found that in HBV-infected people, there was an adjusted odds ratio of 2.8 for detectable compared with non-detectable aflatoxin-albumin adducts and 5.5 for high compared with low levels of aflatoxin metabolites in urine. In a follow-up study, there was a dose-response relationship between urinary aflatoxin metabolite levels and risk of HCC in chronic HBV carriers. Similar to the Shanghai study, the HCC risk associated with AFB₁ exposure was more striking among the HBV carriers with detectable aflatoxin-DNA adducts in urine. The use of aflatoxin biomarkers as efficacy endpoints in primary prevention trials in West Africa has been reported [70]. This study assessed postharvest measures to restrict aflatoxin contamination of groundnut crops. Six hundred people were monitored, and in control villages, mean aflatoxin-albumin concentration increased postharvest (from 5.5 pg/mg [95% CI 4.7-6.1] immediately after harvest to 18.7 pg/mg [17.0-20.6] 5 months later). By contrast, mean aflatoxin-albumin concentration in intervention villages after 5 months of groundnut storage was much the same as that immediately postharvest (7.2 pg/mg [6.2-8.4] vs. 8.0 pg/mg [7.0–9.2]). At 5 months, mean adduct concentration in intervention villages was less than 50% of that in control villages (8.0 pg/mg [7.2–9.2] vs. 18.7 pg/mg [17.0–20.6], *p* < 0.0001). Thus, primary prevention maybe an effective means to reduce HCC burden, especially in areas where single foodstuffs such a groundnuts are major components of the diet.

Recent data utilizing the cancer registry in Qidong, China, has provided some very exciting insights into the role of aflatoxin in liver cancer. Utilizing the availability of serum samples collected over a 30-year period, aflatoxin exposure patterns have been documented. In China, major agricultural reforms in the 1980s led to diminished maize consumption, a major source of aflatoxin contamination. The population-based cancer registry in Qidong, China, has documented a more than 50% reduction in HCC mortality rates occurring across birth cohorts from the 1960s to the 1980s for Qidongese less than 35 years of age although all were born before universal vaccination of newborns. Median levels of the aflatoxin biomarker decreased from 19.3 pg/ mg albumin in 1989 to undetectable (<0.5 pg/ mg) by 2012. A population attributable benefit of 65% for reduced PLC mortality was estimated from a government-facilitated switch of dietary staple from maize to rice; 83% of this benefit was in those infected with HBV. Food policy reforms in China thus resulted in a dramatic decrease in aflatoxin exposure, which, independent of HBV vaccination, reduced liver cancer risk [71]. Now that an extensive HBV vaccine coverage is in place, this augurs even greater risk reductions in the future [72].

Biomarker development in HCC has been further advanced by the molecular biological studies on the TP53 tumor suppressor gene, the most common mutated gene detected in human cancer [73, 74]. Many studies of *p53* mutations in HCC occurring in populations exposed to high levels of dietary aflatoxin have found high frequencies of guanine to thymine transversions, with clustering at codon 249 [75, 76]. In contrast, no mutations at codon 249 were found in p53 in HCC from Japan and other areas where there was little exposure to aflatoxin [77, 78]. The occurrence of this specific mutation has been mechanistically associated with AFB₁ exposure in experimental models including bacteria [79] and through demonstration that aflatoxin-8,9-epoxide could bind to codon 249 of p53 in a DNA plasmid in vitro [80]. Mutational analysis of the p53 gene in human HepG2 cells and hepatocytes exposed to AFB₁ found preferential induction of the transversion of guanine to thymine in the third position of codon 249 [81] [82, 83]. In summary, studies of the prevalence of codon 249 mutations in HCC cases from patients in areas of high or low exposure to aflatoxin suggest that a G-T transition at the third base is associated with aflatoxin exposure, and in vitro and mutagenesis data would seem to support this hypothesis [84].

The remarkable increase in the throughput and cost-effectiveness of DNA sequencing has propelled the analysis of mutations in DNA from tumors at every organ site. When these data are combined with new bioinformatics tools, there has been a revolution in the determination of mutational signatures found in human cancer [85, 86]. Data from a variety of studies have explored these mutational signatures in liver cancer and has revealed a number of insights that are consistent with the etiologic factors that have been identified from epidemiologic studies [87]. Experimental models have also demonstrated a consistency between aflatoxin exposure and a unique set of mutational signatures and liver tumors [88, 89]. With the further development of these technologies, the opportunity for using this mutational signature data for the early detection of liver cancer is an evident opportunity in the near future.

1.5 Hepatitis C Virus

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) is a positive strand RNA virus, and its linkage to liver cancer has been extensively reviewed [90]. People who are chronically infected by HCV represent the high-risk group for its carcinogenic impact. There are upward of 75 million people worldwide who are infected with HCV, and this is primarily due to blood-borne transmission especially among intravenous drug users or in medical situations where insufficient sterilization and handling of needles have occurred. For HCV, the detection in blood of the HCV nucleic acid became an essential biomarker for risk reduction and prevention [91]. From a historic perspective, an HCV-specific test only became available in the early 1990s, and prior to this technology, the attributable etiologic

factor was designated as non-A non-B hepatitis, especially in hepatic cancers diagnosed in Japan [92, 93]. Over the past 25 years, an appreciation for the role of the hepatitis C virus (HCV) has also emerged, and this is undoubtedly contributing to HCC being the most rapidly rising solid tumor in the USA and Japan [94]. Detailed knowledge of the etiology of HCC has spurred many mechanistic studies to understand the pathogenesis of this nearly always-fatal disease [95–97].

As described above, Egypt, the country with the largest population in the Middle East, suffers from the second highest level of liver cancer mortality in the world. Much of this devastating impact is attributable to the extraordinarily high level, in some regions of the country approaching 30% of the population, who have become chronically infected with HCV [98]. This unfortunate circumstance is in large part due to an intervention program that was developed to treat schistosomiasis, an endemic disease in many parts of Egypt. The treatment protocol involved injection of a therapeutic agent for the eradication of the schistosome, and unfortunately many of these injections were done using non-disposable needles and syringes. Since the tests for HCV had yet to be developed during the time of these therapeutic interventions, a large fraction of treated patients unfortunately became infected with the HCV virus. Now decades later, the manifest outcome of chronic HCV infection has led to a dramatic increase in liver cancer incidence and mortality. Hopefully, with the development and certification of new therapeutic drugs that can cure many HCV infections, the impact of this iatrogenic disaster can be blunted in the future.

Similar to the successes that have been attained using high activity antiretroviral therapy toward the HIV virus, basic science research has discovered a number of strategies for impacting HCV infections through the inhibition of its replication process. Over the past decade, this is led to a dramatic increase in the cure of individuals chronically infected with HCV. Many clinical trials and studies spanning different populations have demonstrated the efficacy of these directacting antiviral (DAA) agents toward HCV [99]. A challenge to the public health community will be finding and applying the resources necessary for the tens of millions of infected individuals often living in low-resource countries. With these, curative therapies costing thousands of US dollars and HIV implementation model that has been successful in Africa will need to be implemented. Fortunately, the successful development and deployment of some highly effective new drugs that cure HCV infection is a major advance and will hopefully diminish the role of this virus in liver cancer [100, 101].

1.6 Alcohol

Alcohol as a liver carcinogen required no specific biomarker since the prevalence of high alcohol consumption and alcoholic liver disease was easily diagnosed clinically during the early to midtwentieth century [102, 103]. Alcohol is a recognized human carcinogen and has been causally linked to HCC [102]. Alcoholic cirrhosis and heavy alcohol use have been repeatedly associated with an increase in HCC risk [104]. However, it is unclear if alcohol use in the absence of cirrhosis influences HCC development [105]. Several studies have demonstrated an increased risk of HCC up to fivefold with consumption of more than 80 g of alcohol per day or approximately six to seven drinks per day [104]. The risk of HCC ranges from borderline significant to doubled with chronic alcohol consumption of less than 80 g/day [104]. A synergism between alcohol and HBV and HCV infections has also been described [104, 106, 107]. One issue of importance given the growing association of liver cancer increases with obesity is the role that alcohol, as a basic carbohydrate, plays as a contributor to caloric intake. Further, the impact of alcohol as a carcinogen is likely due to one of its reactive metabolites, acetaldehyde [108].

1.7 Vinyl Chloride

A number of additional environmental exposures have been epidemiologically associated with HCC [66, 109]. Vinyl chloride exposure in occupational settings has been associated with the onset of HCC in workers, and there are the classic studies associating vinyl chloride exposure with angiosarcomas in the liver [110–112]. While vinyl chloride was characterized as a known human carcinogen decades ago, there were still worker exposures that led to this disease being diagnosed today [113]. Studies have reported a multiplicative interaction between vinyl chloride exposure in the workplace and alcohol consumption in the enhancement of HCC [114]. Finally, a synergistic interaction between vinyl chloride workplace exposure and HBV status has been reported in a cohort in Taiwan [115]. Significantly, worker exposure to vinyl chloride has been mitigated through the changing of manufacturing processes and the implementation of new safety protocols in the workplace.

1.8 Cigarette Smoke

Cigarette smoke has been associated and causally linked to many human cancer sites, and there has been a consistent number of studies that have found an association with liver cancer [116]. There are, however, been a number of studies that have not found an association between for tobacco and HCC risk [117]. Nonetheless, metaanalyses of tobacco exposure and cancer risk consistently show a risk for liver cancer and smoking [118, 119]. This has been recently reviewed by IARC [107] and more recently reviewed [120]. Collectively, these findings may reflect that active tobacco users have a compendium of other liver cancer risk factors that underlie these statistically significant results.

1.9 Estrogen-Progestogen

The role of sex steroid hormones in the development of HCC remains obscure; however, in some early studies, an increase risk of HCC was observed among users of the first and second generation of oral contraceptives [41, 121, 122]. Collectively, these hormonal-related increases in HCC were only observed in low-incident countries where exposures to the other major risk factors for this cancer were rare. This epidemiology has been reviewed by IARC in its compendium of monographs on human cancer risk [123].

1.10 Exposures to Radioactive Substances: Plutonium, Thorium-232, and Thorotrast

There have been a number of reports of both occupational and iatrogenic exposures to specific forms of radiation causing liver cancers. This has been observed among workers exposed to alpha-emitters such as plutonium [86]. In these circumstances, the ongoing exposure assessments required for these workers helped to define the dose of radiation, and ongoing health assessments facilitated disease diagnoses. Similar to this exposure and dose situation, the alpha-emitter Thorium-232 that historically was incorporated into an imaging product for the liver was subsequently shown to induce hepatocellular carcinoma in experimental models and in patients [124, 125]. These studies illustrate that high-quality exposure and health assessment can identify these etiologies, and in turn this accelerates preventive interventions.

1.11 Liver Fluke (Opisthorchis viverrini)

There have been a number of liver cancers that are uniquely diagnosed in specific regions of the world. For example, liver fluke has been associated with rare forms of cholangiocarcinoma and other liver cancers. This organism has been determined to be a carcinogen by the IARC evaluations and has been recently reviewed [126–128]. The specific mechanism of action underpinning how liver fluke causes these cancers remains to be elucidated especially since experimental models for this disease process are still needed. There are clear prevention strategies and therapeutic interventions that can be done to eradicate this exposure situation; however, in endemic regions in northeast Thailand, the cultural practices have made these interventions challenging.

2 Changing and Emergent Etiology of HCC

Both experimental models and human investigations have demonstrated a gradation in the increaspathologies ingly severe during the etiopathogenesis of liver cancer. The normal functioning liver transits through several distinct pathologies over the course of many years prior to the manifestation of hepatic cancer. These processes include nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), mild fibrosis, and cirrhosis [22, 23, 129]. Each stage of this progressive process can lead to more severe dysfunction such that at the time of the liver cancer diagnosis, upward of 95% of the liver has been functionally destroyed. Even with liver transplantation, patients having advanced liver disease fare poorly. Despite intensive research and development strategies over the last 20 years, a person diagnosed with liver cancer today has less than a 20% 5-year survival. This is among the poorest survival rates for any prominent cancer. It is hoped that the development of early detection strategies could identify people at stages of disease where interventions can be effective.

In addition to the association of HBV, HCV, alcohol, and other toxicants with HCC, in economically developed countries, the dramatic rise in overweight and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease has also been systematically related to increased HCC [22, 130-132]. Of major concern for the future is the role that obesity, diabetes, and general underlying fatty liver disease will play in the development of liver cancer [18, 133, 134]. The problem of obesity is especially of concern for countries through the Middle East since the population for many of these countries is currently young and the increase in obesity and related diseases is increasing dramatically [129, 135]. While the historic risk factors for liver cancer described above are addressed through a spectrum of prevention methods, these new etiologic factors portend an increasing trajectory in the incidence of this disease. Both therapeutic and pre-disease interventions will need to be deployed now to blunt the impact of these risk factors in the decades to come.

The identification of these emergent risk factors and their interactions will likely have to be determined from prospective cohort studies, where each person is effectively their own control. These studies are a powerful resource for the identification and validation of biomarkers having utility in chronic disease outcomes. Many of the success stories in cancer prevention and control emanate from data collected in these prospective cohort investigations. Unfortunately, in the case of chronic disease outcome such as cancer, individuals enrolled in these studies must be followed for decades, and this leads to a slow rate of discovery. Further, a sufficient number of individuals need to be enrolled in the investigations given the relatively low annual incident rates for even the most common cancers. Thus, if today we were to initiate a prospective cohort for liver cancer outcomes, given the current age-adjusted incidence rate of 10 per 100,000, a study encompassing tens of thousands of people followed for many years would be required. Fortunately, there are biologically interlocking prospective cohorts in place now that have samples and outcomes for the discovery and validation of biomarkers. It is highly likely that the emergent risk factors for liver cancer will be modifiable and intervenable.

2.1 Liquid Biopsy Opportunities

The development and validation of biomarkers for early detection of disease or for the identification of high-risk individuals is a major translational effort in cancer research. In the current era, many of the technologies being developed for measuring in blood are DNA fragments with mutations, epigenetic marks in DNA, whole shed cells, micro-RNAs, and proteins; all of these measurements are encompassed by the liquid biopsy umbrella [136]. Indeed, when these marker measurements are combined with medical imaging, occult tumors may be detected and decisions about benign or malignant lesions can be assessed [137]. Since the liver produces a substantial proportion of blood proteins and is highly vascularized, these liquid biopsy methods have been and will continue to be important

epidemiologic and clinical tools. For example, over the past several decades, *α*-fetoprotein was widely used as a HCC diagnostic marker in high-risk areas because of its ease of use and low cost [138]. Unfortunately, this marker suffers from low specificity due to its occurrence in diseases other than liver cancer. Moreover, no survival advantage is seen in populations when α -fetoprotein is used in large-scale screening [139]. Nonetheless as a proof of principle, these inadequacies have contributed to the need to identify other molecular biomarkers that are possibly more mechanistically associated with HCC development, including hypermethylation of the p16 gene, p15 gene, GSTP1 promoter regions, and codon 249 mutations in the p53 gene [140–143]. Results from investigations of p16, p15, GSTP1 promoter hypermethylation, and p53 mutations indicate that these markers are prevalent in HCC, but there is as of yet limited information on the temporality of these genetic changes prior to clinical diagnosis. Recent studies using combined DNA mutation detection, epigenetic marks, and specific plasma proteins may portend the development of a new liquid biopsy strategy for early detection of liver cancer [144].

Optimism for the liquid biopsy strategy in liver cancer has emerged from several studies demonstrating that DNA isolated from serum and plasma of cancer patients contains the same genetic aberrations as DNA isolated from an individual's tumor [145–147]. The process by which tumor DNA is released into circulating blood is unclear but may result from accelerated necrosis, apoptosis, or other processes [148]. While the detection of specific p53 mutations in liver tumors has provided insight into the etiology of certain liver cancers, the application of these specific mutations to the early detection of cancer offers great promise for prevention [149]. In a seminal report, Kirk et al. [150] reported the detection of codon 249 p53 mutations in the plasma of liver tumor patients from the Gambia; however, the mutational status of the tumors was not known. These authors also reported a small number of cirrhosis patients having this mutation, and the strong relation between cirrhosis and future development of HCC raised the possibility of this mutation being an early detection marker. Jackson et al. [146] used short oligonucleotide mass analysis (SOMA), in lieu of DNA sequencing, for analysis of specific p53 mutations in HCC samples and found concordance between tumor and shed DNA mutations in plasma.

The temporality of the detection of this mutation in plasma before and after the clinical diagnosis of HCC was facilitated by the availability of longitudinally collected plasma samples from a cohort of high-risk individuals in Qidong, PRC, that have been followed since 1992 [151]. The results showed that in samples collected prior to liver cancer diagnosis, a quarter of the plasma samples had detectable levels of the codon 249 mutation. The persistence of this pre-diagnosis marker was borderline statistically significant. The codon 249 mutation in p53 was detected in nearly half of all plasma samples following the diagnosis of HCC. Collectively these data suggest that nearly one-half of the potential patients with this marker can be detected at least 1 year and in one case 5 years prior to diagnosis.

In a pioneering effort using a novel internal standard plasmid, plasma concentrations of p53 codon 249-mutated DNA were quantified by SOMA in 89 hepatocellular carcinoma cases, 42 cirrhotic patients, and 131 non-liver disease control subjects, all from highly aflatoxin-exposed regions of the Gambia [152]. The hepatocellular carcinoma cases had higher median plasma concentrations of the p53 mutation (2800 copies/ mL; interquartile range: 500-11,000) compared with either cirrhotic (500 copies/mL; interquartile range: 500-2600) or control subjects (500 copies/mL; interquartile range: 500-2000). Levels of >10,000 copies of p 53 codon 249 mutation/mL plasma were also significantly associated with the diagnosis of HCC (odds ratio, 15; 95% confidence interval, 1.6-140) when compared with cirrhotic patients. Potential applications for the quantification of this alteration of DNA in plasma include estimation of long-term, cumulative aflatoxin exposure and selection of appropriate high-risk individuals for targeted intervention.

3 Summary

All liver cancers emerge from a slowly developing process involving progressive genetic insults and their resulting genomic changes. This process often takes decades to manifest which affords many windows of opportunity for prevention. The advances in modern DNA sequencing technologies have been used on a wide number of human liver cancers with a range of etiological factors that reveal a very complete picture of driver and passenger mutational changes in these tumors [87, 153, 154]. These data will hopefully form a foundation along with other molecular biomarkers for new therapies and early detection and screening methods. Further, as these sequencing methods become extended to characterize microRNAs and proteomic methods help characterize the molecular phenotype of liver cancers, these collective data will help define the preclinical period of tumor development. This will be very valuable for our mechanistic understanding of HCC during the up to 30 years after chronic infection with HBV, HCV, and/or aflatoxin and other exposures prior to clinical diagnosis. These studies may also reveal insights into chronic hepatitis and cirrhosis since 70-75% of all HCC is accompanied by cirrhosis [44, 155].

The molecular epidemiology investigations of aflatoxin, HBV, HCV, and liver cancer probably represent one of the most extensive data sets in the field of environmental carcinogenesis, and this work serves as a template for future studies of the role of other environmental agents in human diseases with chronic, multifactorial etiologies. The development of these biomarkers has been based upon the knowledge of the biochemistry and toxicology of aflatoxins gleaned from both experimental and human studies. These biomarkers have subsequently been utilized in experimental models to provide data on the modulation of these markers under different situations of disease risk. This systematic approach provides encouragement for design and successful implementation of preventive interventions. As the emergence of the new etiologic factors such as obesity and type 2 diabetes becomes more prevalent, particularly in the currently younger populations across the Middle East, the need for early detection and prevention will be critical to blunt this emerging epidemic.

Acknowledgments This work was supported in part by grants 5 P30 CA006973, R01 CA190610, R35 CA197222, and R21 CA239154 from the USPHS.

References

- Ferlay J, Ervik M, Lam F, Colombet M, Mery L, Piñeros M, et al. Global cancer observatory: cancer today. Int Agen Res Cancer; 2020. Available from: https://gco.iarc.fr/today. Accessed 21 Sept 2020.
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68(6):394–424.
- Wild CP, Weiderpass E, Stewart BW. World cancer report. 2020.
- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer. 2015;136(5):E359–86. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ijc.29210. Epub 2014 Oct 9
- El-Serag HB, Kanwal F. Epidemiology of hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States: where are we? Hepatology. 2014;60(5):1767–75. https://doi. org/10.1002/hep.27222. Epub 2014 Aug 25. 2014(– 1527–3350 (Electronic)):- 1767–75.
- McGlynn KA, Petrick JL, El-Serag HB. Epidemiology of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 2020;
- Arnold M, Abnet CC, Neale RE, Vignat J, Giovannucci EL, McGlynn KA, et al. Global burden of 5 major types of gastrointestinal cancer. Gastroenterology. 2020;159(1):335–49 e15.
- Chen JG, Zhu J, Parkin DM, Zhang YH, Lu JH, Zhu YR, et al. Trends in the incidence of cancer in Qidong, China, 1978–2002. Int J Cancer. 2006;119(6):1447–54.
- Vatanasapt V, Martin N, Sriplung H, Chindavijak K, Sontipong S, Sriamporn S, et al. Cancer incidence in Thailand, 1988–1991. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 1995;4:475–83.
- Wogan GN, Newberne PM. Dose-response characteristics of aflatoxin B1 carcinogenesis in the rat. Cancer Res. 1967;27(12):2370–6.
- Mitchell EL, Khan Z. Liver disease in alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency: current approaches and future directions. Curr Pathobiol Rep. 2017;5(3):243–52.
- Blonski W, Kotlyar DS, Forde KA. Non-viral causes of hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. 2010;16(29):3603–15.

- Bacon BR, Adams PC, Kowdley KV, Powell LW, Tavill AS. Diagnosis and management of hemochromatosis: 2011 practice guideline by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatology. 2011;54(1):328–43. https://doi. org/10.1002/hep.24330.
- Trépo E, Valenti L. Update on NAFLD genetics: from new variants to the clinic. J Hepatol. 2020;72(6):1196–209.
- Li JF, Zheng EQ, Xie M. Association between rs738409 polymorphism in patatin-like phospholipase domain-containing protein 3 (PNPLA3) gene and hepatocellular carcinoma susceptibility: evidence from case-control studies. Gene. 2019;685:143–8.
- Bluher M. Obesity: global epidemiology and pathogenesis. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2019;15(5):288–98.
- Jaacks LM, Vandevijvere S, Pan A, McGowan CJ, Wallace C, Imamura F, et al. The obesity transition: stages of the global epidemic. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2019;7(3):231–40.
- McGlynn KA, Petrick JL, London WT. Global epidemiology of hepatocellular carcinoma: an emphasis on demographic and regional variability. Clin Liver Dis. 2015;19(2):223–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cld.2015.01.001. Epub Feb 26.
- Chen KY, Shen X, Diehl AM. Prometheus revisited. J Clin Invest. 2018;128(6):2192–3.
- Simpson GE, Finckh ES. The pattern of regeneration of rat liver after repeated partial hepatectomies. J Pathol Bacteriol. 1963;86:361–70.
- Pound AW, McGuire LJ. Repeated partial hepatectomy as a promoting stimulus for carcinogenic response of liver to nitrosamines in rats. Br J Cancer. 1978;37(4):585–94.
- Sheka AC, Adeyi O, Thompson J, Hameed B, Crawford PA, Ikramuddin S. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: a review. JAMA. 2020;323(12):1175–83.
- Anstee QM, Reeves HL, Kotsiliti E, Govaere O, Heikenwalder M. From NASH to HCC: current concepts and future challenges. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;16(7):411–28.
- Xie Y, Hepatitis B. Virus-associated hepatocellular carcinoma. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2017;1018:11–21.
- 25. Kew MC. Hepatology: a centry of progress. Clin Liver Dis. 2000;4(1):257–68.
- 26. Hadziyannis S, Tabor E, Kaklamani E, Tzonou A, Stuver S, Tassopoulos N, et al. A case-control study of hepatitis B and C virus infections in the etiology of hepatocellular carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 1995;60:627–31.
- Kew MC. Epidemiology of hepatocellular carcinoma. Toxicology. 2002;181–182:35–8.
- Beasley RP, Hwang LY, Lin CC, Chien CS. Hepatocellular carcinoma and hepatitis B virus: a prospective study of 22, 707 men in Taiwan. Lancet. 1981;2(8256):1129–33.
- 29. Arbuthnot P, Capovilla A, Kew M. Putative role of hepatitis B virus X protein in hepatocarcinogenesis: effects on apoptosis, DNA repair, mitogen-

activated protein kinase and JAK/STAT pathways. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2000;15:375–68.

- Kirk GD, Bah E, Montesano R. Molecular epidemiology of human liver cancer: insights into etiology, pathogenesis and prevention from The Gambia, West Africa. Carcinogenesis. 2006;27(10):2070–82.
- Lee WM. Hepatitis B virus infection. N Engl J Med. 1997;337(24):1733–45.
- 32. Ming L, Thorgeirsson SS, Gail MH, Lu P, Harris CC, Wang N, et al. Dominant role of hepatitis B virus and cofactor role of aflatoxin in hepatocarcinogenesis in Qidong, China. Hepatology. 2002;36(5):1214–20.
- 33. Lok AS, McMahon BJ, Brown RS Jr, Wong JB, Ahmed AT, Farah W, et al. Antiviral therapy for chronic hepatitis B viral infection in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepatology. 2016;63(1):284–306. https://doi.org/10.1002/ hep.28280. Epub 2015 Nov 13.
- 34. Kao JH. Hepatitis B vaccination and prevention of hepatocellular carcinoma. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2015;29(6):907–17. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bpg.2015.09.011. Epub Sep 11.
- 35. Chang MH, Chen CJ, Lai MS, Hsu HM, Wu TC, Kong MS, et al. Universal hepatitis B vaccination in Taiwan and the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in children. N Engl J Med. 1997;336:1855–9.
- 36. Chen DS. Hepatocellular carcinoma in Taiwan. Hepatol Res. 2007;37 Suppl 2:S101–5.
- 37. Chang MH, Chen TH, Hsu HM, Wu TC, Kong MS, Liang DC, et al. Prevention of hepatocellular carcinoma by universal vaccination against hepatitis B virus: the effect and problems. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11(21):7953–7.
- Chiang CJ, Yang YW, Chen JD, You SL, Yang HI, Lee MH, et al. Significant reduction in end-stage liver diseases burden through the national viral hepatitis therapy program in Taiwan. Hepatology. 2015;61(4):1154–62.
- 39. Chien YC, Jan CF, Chiang CJ, Kuo HS, You SL, Chen CJ. Incomplete hepatitis B immunization, maternal carrier status, and increased risk of liver diseases: a 20-year cohort study of 3.8 million vaccinees. Hepatology. 2014;60(1):125–32.
- Chiang CJ, Yang YW, You SL, Lai MS, Chen CJ. Thirty-year outcomes of the national hepatitis B immunization program in Taiwan. JAMA. 2013;310(9):974–6.
- Bosch FX, Ribes J, Borras J. Epidemiology of primary liver cancer. Semin Liver Dis. 1999;19(3):271–85.
- Srivatanakul P, Parkin DM, Khlat M, Chenvidhya D, Chotiwan P, Insiripong S, et al. Liver cancer in Thailand. II. A case-control study of hepatocellular carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 1991;48:329–32.
- Jee SH, Ohrr H, Sull JW, Samet JM. Cigarette smoking, alcohol drinking, hepatitis B, and risk for hepatocellular carcinoma in Korea. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2004;96(24):1851–6.
- 44. Arbuthnot P, Kew M. Hepatitis B virus and hepatocellular carcinoma. Int J Exp Pathol. 2001;82:77–100.
- 45. Hou J, Lau GK, Cheng J, Cheng CC, Luo K, Carman WF. T1762/A1764 variants of the basal core promoter of hepatitis B virus: serological and clinical correlations in Chinese patients. Liver. 1999;19(5):411–7.
- 46. Baptista M, Kramvis A, Kew MC. High prevalence of 1762 T 1764 A mutations in the basic core promoter of hepatitis B virus isolated from black Africans with hepatocellular carcinoma compared with asymptomatic carriers. Hepatology. 1999;29:946–53.
- Hsia CC, Yuwen H, Tabor E. Hot-spot mutations in hepatitis B virus X gene in hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet. 1996;348:625–6.
- 48. Okamoto H, Tsuda F, Akahane Y, Sugai Y, Yoshiba M, Moriyama K, et al. Hepatitis B virus with mutations in the core promoter for an e antigen-negative phenotype in carriers with antibody to e antigen. J Virol. 1994;68(12):8102–10.
- 49. Yuen MF, Sablon E, Yuan HJ, Wong DKH, Hui CK, Wong BCY, et al. Significance of hepatitis B genotype in acute exacerbation, HBeAg seroconversion, cirrhosis-related complications, and hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 2003;37(3):562–7.
- Lindh M, Hannoun C, Dhillon AP, Norkrans G, Horal P. Core promoter mutations and genotypes in relation to viral replication and liver damage in East Asian hepatitis B virus carriers. J Infect Dis. 1999;179(4):775–82.
- 51. Cho SW, Shin YJ, Hahm KB, Jin JH, Kim YS, Kim JH, et al. Analysis of the precore and core promoter DNA sequence in liver tissues from patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. J Korean Med Sci. 1999;14:424–30.
- 52. Yotsuyanagi H, Hino K, Tomita E, Toyoda J, Yasuda K, Iino S. Precore and core promoter mutations, hepatitis B virus DNA levels and progressive liver injury in chronic hepatitis B. J Hepatol. 2002;37:355–63.
- Hadziyannis SJ, Vassilopoulos D. Hepatitis B e antigen-negative chronic hepatitis B. Hepatology. 2001;34(4):617–24.
- 54. Parekh S, Zoulim F, Ahn SH, Tsai A, Li J, Kawai S, et al. Genome replication, virion secretion, and e antigen expression of naturally occurring hepatitis B virus core promoter mutants. J Virol. 2003;77(12):6601–12.
- Tong S. Mechanism of HBV genome variability and replication of HBV mutants. J Clin Virol. 2005;34 Suppl 1:S134–8.
- Tong S, Kim KH, Chante C, Wands J, Li J. Hepatitis B virus e antigen variants. Int J Med Sci. 2005;2(1):2–7.
- 57. Munoz A, Chen JG, Egner PA, Marshall ML, Johnson JL, Schneider MF, et al. Predictive power of hepatitis B 1762T/1764A mutations in plasma for hepatocellular carcinoma risk in Qidong, China. Carcinogenesis. 2011;32(6):860–5.
- Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin. 2015;65(2):87–108. https://doi. org/10.3322/caac.21262. Epub 2015 Feb 4.

- Kensler TW, Roebuck BD, Wogan GN, Groopman JD. Aflatoxin: a 50 year odyssey of mechanistic and translational toxicology. Toxicol Sci. 2011;2010:3.
- Bosch FX, Muñoz N. Review. Prospects for epidemiological studies on hepatocellular cancer as a model for assessing viral and chemical interactions. IARC Sci Publ. 1988;89:427–38.
- Eaton DL, Groopman JD. The toxicology of aflatoxins: human health, veterinary, and agricultural significance. San Diego: Academic Press, Inc.; 1994.
- Ellis W, Smith JP, Simpson BK, Oldham JH. Aflatoxin in food: occurrence, biosynthesis, effects on organisms, detection and methods of control. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 1991;30:403–39.
- Probst C, Njapau H, Cotty PJ. Outbreak of an acute aflatoxicosis in Kenya in 2004: identification of the causal agent. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2007;73(8):2762–4.
- 64. Campbell AD, Whitaker TB, Pohland AE, Dickens JW, Park DL. Sampling, sample preparation, and sampling plans for foodstuffs for mycotoxin analysis. Pure Appl Chem. 1986;58(2):305–14.
- Kensler TW, Roebuck BD, Wogan GN, Groopman JD. Aflatoxin: a 50-year odyssey of mechanistic and translational toxicology. Toxicol Sci. 2011;120 Suppl 1:S28–48.
- 66. Chemical agents and related occupations. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum. 2012;100(Pt F):9–562.
- Ross RK, Yuan JM, Yu MC, Wogan GN, Qian GS, Tu JT, et al. Urinary aflatoxin biomarkers and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet. 1992;339(8799):943–6.
- 68. Qian GS, Ross RK, Yu MC, Yuan JM, Gao YT, Henderson BE, et al. A follow-up-study of urinary markers of aflatoxin exposure and liver-cancer risk in Shanghai, Peoples-Republic-of-China. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 1994;3(1):3–10.
- Wang LY, Hatch M, Chen CJ, Levin B, You SL, Lu SN, et al. Aflatoxin exposure and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in Taiwan. Int J Cancer. 1996;67(5):620–5.
- Turner PC, Sylla A, Gong YY, Sutcliffe AE, Hall AJ, Wild CP. Reduction in exposure to carcinogenic aflatoxin by postharvest intervention measures in West Africa: a community-based intervention study. Lancet. 2005;365:1950–6.
- Chen J, Zhu J, Wang G, Groopman JD, Kensler TW. Qidong: a crucible for studies on liver cancer etiology and prevention. Cancer Biol Med. 2019;16(1):24–37.
- 72. Chen JG, Egner PA, Ng D, Jacobson LP, Munoz A, Zhu Y-R, et al. Reduced aflatoxin exposure presages decline in liver cancer mortality in an endemic region of China. Cancer Prev Res. 2013;6(10):1038–45.
- 73. Greenblatt MS, Bennett WP, Hollstein M, Harris CC. Mutations in the p53 tumor suppressor gene: clues to cancer etiology and molecular pathogenesis. Cancer Res. 1994;54(18):4855–78.

- Harris CC. Multistep carcinogenesis. Jpn J Cancer Res. 1993;84(7).: inside front cover.
- Hsu IC, Metcalf RA, Sun T, Welsh JA, Wang NJ, Harris CC. Mutational hotspot in the p53 gene in human hepatocellular carcinomas. Nature. 1991;350(6317):427–8.
- 76. Bressac B, Kew M, Wands J, Ozturk M. Selective G to T mutations of p53 gene in hepatocellular carcinoma from southern Africa. Nature. 1991;350(6317):429–31.
- Aguilar F, Harris CC, Sun T, Hollstein M, Cerutti P. Geographic variation of p53 mutational profile in nonmalignant human liver. Science. 1994;264(5163):1317–9.
- Ozturk M. p53 mutation in hepatocellular carcinoma after aflatoxin exposure. Lancet. 1991;338(8779):1356–9.
- Foster PL, Eisenstadt E, Miller JH. Base substitution mutations induced by metabolically activated aflatoxin B1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1983;80(9):2695–8.
- Puisieux A, Lim S, Groopman J, Ozturk M. Selective targeting of p53 gene mutational hotspots in human cancers by etiologically defined carcinogens. Cancer Res. 1991;51(22):6185–9.
- Aguilar F, Hussain SP, Cerutti P. Aflatoxin B1 induces the transversion of G-->T in codon 249 of the p53 tumor suppressor gene in human hepatocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993;90(18):8586–90.
- 82. Denissenko MF, Koudriakova TB, Smith L, O'Connor TR, Riggs AD, Pfeifer GP. The p53 codon 249 mutational hotspot in hepatocellular carcinoma is not related to selective formation or persistence of aflatoxin B1 adducts. Oncogene. 1998;17(23):3007–14.
- Denissenko MF, Chen JX, Ms T, Pfeifer GP. Cytosine methylation determines hot spots of DNA damage in the human P 53 gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1997;94:3893–8.
- 84. Smela ME, Currier SS, Bailey EA, Essigmann JM. The chemistry and biology of aflatoxin B(1): from mutational spectrometry to carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis. 2001;22(4):535–45.
- Kucab JE, Zou X, Morganella S, Joel M, Nanda AS, Nagy E, et al. A compendium of mutational signatures of environmental agents. Cell. 2019;177(4):821–36 e16.
- 86. Goerlitz DS, Blancato J, Ramesh A, Islam M, Graham GT, Revina V, et al. Somatic mutation signatures in primary liver tumors of workers exposed to ionizing radiation. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):18199.
- 87. Schulze K, Imbeaud S, Letouze E, Alexandrov LB, Calderaro J, Rebouissou S, et al. Exome sequencing of hepatocellular carcinomas identifies new mutational signatures and potential therapeutic targets. Nat Genet. 2015;47(5):505–11.
- Chawanthayatham S, Valentine CC 3rd, Fedeles BI, Fox EJ, Loeb LA, Levine SS, et al. Mutational spectra of aflatoxin B1 in vivo establish biomarkers of

exposure for human hepatocellular carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2017;114(15):E3101–E9.

- Fedeles BI, Chawanthayatham S, Croy RG, Wogan GN, Essigmann JM. Early detection of the aflatoxin B1 mutational fingerprint: a diagnostic tool for liver cancer. Mol Cell Oncol. 2017;4(4):e1329693.
- Pradat P, Virlogeux V, Trépo E. Epidemiology and elimination of HCV-related liver disease. Viruses. 2018;10(10)
- Lohmann V, Bartenschlager R. Indelibly stamped by hepatitis C virus infection: persistent epigenetic signatures increasing liver cancer risk. Gastroenterology. 2019;156(8):2130–3.
- Mosley JW, Aach RD, Hollinger FB, Stevens CE, Barbosa LH, Nemo GJ, et al. Non-A, non-B hepatitis and antibody to hepatitis C virus. JAMA. 1990;263(1):77–8.
- Kuo G, Choo QL, Alter HJ, Gitnick GL, Redeker AG, Purcell RH, et al. An assay for circulating antibodies to a major etiologic virus of human non-A, non-B hepatitis. Science. 1989;244:362–4.
- 94. Tanaka V, Hanada K, Mizokami M, Yeo AET, Shih JWK, Gojobori T, et al. A comparison of the molecular clock of hepatitis C virus in the United States and Japan predicts that hepatocellular carcinoma incidence in the United States will increase over the next two decades. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2002;99(24):15584–9.
- Kensler TW, Qian GS, Chen JG, Groopman JD. Translational strategies for cancer prevention in liver. Nat Rev Cancer. 2003;3(5):321–9.
- Kensler TW, Egner PA, Wang JB, Zhu Y, Zhang BC, Lu PX, et al. Chemoprevention of hepatocellular carcinoma in aflatoxin endemic areas. Gastroenterology. 2004;127:S310–S8.
- Groopman JD, Kensler TW, Wild CP. Protective interventions to prevent aflatoxin-induced carcinogenesis in developing countries. Annu Rev Public Health. 2008;29:187–203.
- Elgharably A, Gomaa AI, Crossey MM, Norsworthy PJ, Waked I, Taylor-Robinson SD. Hepatitis C in Egypt – past, present, and future. Int J Gen Med. 2017;10:1–6.
- Manns MP, Buti M, Gane E, Pawlotsky JM, Razavi H, Terrault N, et al. Hepatitis C virus infection. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2017;3:17006.
- 100. Stasi C, Silvestri C, Voller F, Cipriani F. The epidemiological changes of HCV and HBV infections in the era of new antiviral therapies and the anti-HBV vaccine. J Infect Public Health. 2015;004
- 101. Barth H. Hepatitis C virus: is it time to say goodbye yet? Perspectives and challenges for the next decade. World J Hepatol. 2015;7(5):725–37. https:// doi.org/10.4254/wjh.v7.i5.725.
- 102. Seitz HK, Bataller R, Cortez-Pinto H, Gao B, Gual A, Lackner C, et al. Alcoholic liver disease. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2018;4(1):16.
- 103. Seitz HK, Stickel F. Risk factors and mechanisms of hepatocarcinogenesis with special empha-

sis on alcohol and oxidative stress. Biol Chem. 2006;387(4):349-60.

- 104. Morgan TR, Mandayam S, Jamal MM. Alcohol and hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2004;127(5 Suppl 1):S87–96.
- Fattovich G, Stroffolini T, Zagni I, Donato F. Hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhosis: incidence and risk factors. Gastroenterology. 2004;127(5 Suppl 1):S35–50.
- 106. Singal AK, Anand BS. Mechanisms of synergy between alcohol and hepatitis C virus. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2007;41(8):761–72.
- 107. Personal habits and indoor combustions. Volume 100 E. A review of human carcinogens. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum. 2012;100(Pt E):1–538.
- Cederbaum AI. Alcohol metabolism. Clin Liver Dis. 2012;16(4):667–85.
- 109. Yu MC, Yuan JM. Environmental factors and risk for hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2004;127(5 Suppl 1):S72–8.
- 110. Falk H, Creech JL Jr, Heath CW Jr, Johnson MN, Key MM. Hepatic disease among workers at a vinyl chloride polymerization plant. JAMA. 1974;230(1):59–63.
- Dragani TA, Zocchetti C. Occupational exposure to vinyl chloride and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Causes Control. 2008;
- 112. Forman D, Bennett B, Stafford J, Doll R. Exposure to vinyl chloride and angiosarcoma of the liver: a report of the register of cases. Br J Ind Med. 1985;42(11):750–3.
- 113. Fedeli U, Girardi P, Mastrangelo G. Occupational exposure to vinyl chloride and liver diseases. World J Gastroenterol. 2019;25(33):4885–91.
- 114. Mastrangelo G, Fedeli U, Fadda E, Valentini F, Agnesi R, Magarotto G, et al. Increased risk of hepatocellular carcinoma and liver cirrhosis in vinyl chloride workers: synergistic effect of occupational exposure with alcohol intake. Environ Health Perspect. 2004;112(11):1188–92.
- 115. Wong RH, Chen PC, Wang JD, Du CL, Cheng TJ. Interaction of vinyl chloride monomer exposure and hepatitis B viral infection on liver cancer. J Occ Med. 2003;45(4):379–83.
- 116. Pelucchi C, Gallus S, Garavello W, Bosetti C, La Vecchia C. Alcohol and tobacco use, and cancer risk for upper aerodigestive tract and liver. Eur J Cancer Prev. 2008;17(4):340–4.
- 117. Franceschi S, Montella M, Polesel J, La Vecchia C, Crispo A, Dal Maso L, et al. Hepatitis viruses, alcohol, and tobacco in the etiology of hepatocellular carcinoma in Italy. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2006;15(4):683–9.
- 118. Vineis P, Alavanja M, Buffler P, Fontham E, Franceschi S, Gao YT, et al. Tobacco and cancer: recent epidemiological evidence. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2004;96(2):99–106.
- 119. World Cancer Report 2014. Stewart BW, Wild CP, editors: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2014. 630 p.

- 120. Abdel-Rahman O, Helbling D, Schöb O, Eltobgy M, Mohamed H, Schmidt J, et al. Cigarette smoking as a risk factor for the development of and mortality from hepatocellular carcinoma: an updated systematic review of 81 epidemiological studies. J Evid Based Med. 2017;10(4):245–54.
- 121. Giannitrapani L, Soresi M, La Spada E, Cervello M, D'Alessandro N, Montalto G. Sex hormones and risk of liver tumor. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2006;1089:228–36.
- 122. Baird DT, Glasier AF. Hormonal contraception. N Engl J Med. 1993;328(21):1543–9.
- 123. Pharmaceuticals. Volume 100 A. A review of human carcinogens. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum. 2012;100(Pt A):1–401.
- 124. Ito Y, Kojiro M, Nakashima T, Mori T. Pathomorphologic characteristics of 102 cases of thorotrast-related hepatocellular carcinoma, cholangiocarcinoma, and hepatic angiosarcoma. Cancer. 1988;62(6):1153–62.
- Radiation. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum. 2012;100(Pt D):7–303.
- 126. Prueksapanich P, Piyachaturawat P, Aumpansub P, Ridtitid W, Chaiteerakij R, Rerknimitr R. Liver fluke-associated biliary tract cancer. Gut Liver. 2018;12(3):236–45.
- 127. Feng M, Cheng X. Parasite-associated cancers (blood flukes/liver flukes). Adv Exp Med Biol. 2017;1018:193–205. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-981-10-5765-6_12.
- 128. Pakharukova MY, Mordvinov VA. The liver fluke Opisthorchis felineus: biology, epidemiology and carcinogenic potential. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2016;110(1):28–36.
- 129. Younossi Z, Anstee QM, Marietti M, Hardy T, Henry L, Eslam M, et al. Global burden of NAFLD and NASH: trends, predictions, risk factors and prevention. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;15(1):11–20.
- 130. Takamatsu S, Noguchi N, Kudoh A, Nakamura N, Kawamura T, Teramoto K, et al. Influence of risk factors for metabolic syndrome and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease on the progression and prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepato-Gastroenterology. 2008;55(82–83):609–14.
- 131. Ohki T, Tateishi R, Sato T, Masuzaki R, Imamura J, Goto T, et al. Obesity is an independent risk factor for hepatocellular carcinoma development in chronic hepatitis C patients. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2008;6(4):459–64.
- 132. El-Serag HB. Epidemiology of hepatocellular carcinoma in USA. Hepatol Res. 2007;37 Suppl 2:S88–94.
- 133. Khan FZ, Perumpail RB, Wong RJ, Ahmed A. Advances in hepatocellular carcinoma: nonalcoholic steatohepatitis-related hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Hepatol. 2015;7(18):2155–61. https://doi.org/10.4254/wjh.v7.i18.2155.
- 134. Saran U, Humar B, Kolly P, Dufour JF. Hepatocellular carcinoma and lifestyles. J Hepatol. 2015;028

- 135. Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population-based measurement studies in 128-9 million children, adolescents, and adults. Lancet. 2017;390(10113):2627–42.
- Mattox AK, Bettegowda C, Zhou S, Papadopoulos N, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Applications of liquid biopsies for cancer. Sci Transl Med. 2019;11(507)
- 137. Lennon AM, Buchanan AH, Kinde I, Warren A, Honushefsky A, Cohain AT, et al. Feasibility of blood testing combined with PET-CT to screen for cancer and guide intervention. Science. 2020;369(6499)
- 138. Wong IHN, Lo YMD, Lai PBS, Johnson PJ. Relationship of p56 methylation status and serum a -fetoprotein concentration in hepatocellular carcinoma patients. Clin Chem. 2003;46(9):1420–2.
- 139. Chen Y, Michitaka K, Hatsubara H, Yamamoto K, Horike N, Onji M. Complete genome sequence of hepatitis B virus (HBV) from a patient with fulminant hepatitis without precore and core promoter mutations: comparison with HBV from a patient with acute hepatitis infected from the same infectious source. J Hepatol. 2003;38:84–90.
- 140. Wong IHN, Lo YMD, Zhang J, Liew CT, Ng MHL, Wong N, et al. Detection of aberrant p16 methylation in the plasma and serum of liver cancer patients. Cancer Res. 1999;59:71–3.
- 141. Wong N, Lai P, Pang E, Fung LF, Sheng Z, Wong V, et al. Genomic aberrations in human hepatcellular carcinomas of differing etiologies. ClinCancer Res. 2000;6:4000–9.
- 142. Shen L, Ahuja N, Shen Y, Habib NA, Toyota M, Rashid A, et al. DNA methylation and environmental exposure in human hepatocellular carcinoma. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2002;94(10):755–61.
- 143. Kirk GD, Lesi OA, Mendy M, Szymanska K, Whittle H, Goedert JJ, et al. 249(ser) TP53 mutation in plasma DNA, hepatitis B viral infection, and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncogene. 2005;24(38):5858–67.
- 144. Cohen JD, Li L, Wang Y, Thoburn C, Afsari B, Danilova L, et al. Detection and localization of sur-

gically resectable cancers with a multi-analyte blood test. Science. 2018;359(6378):926–30.

- Sidransky D. Emerging molecular markers of cancer. Nature. 2002;2:210–9.
- 146. Jackson PE, Qian GS, Friesen MD, Zhu YR, Lu P, Wang JB, et al. Specific p53 mutations detected in plasma and tumors of hepatocellular carcinoma patients by electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. Cancer Res. 2001;61(1):33–5.
- 147. Jen J, Wu L, Sidransky D. An overview on the isolation and analysis of circulating tumor DNA in plasma and serum. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2000;906:8–12.
- 148. Anker P, Mulcahy H, Chen XQ, Stroun M. Detection of circulating tumour DNA in the blood (plasma/ serum) of cancer patients. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 1999;18:65–73.
- 149. Sidransky D, Hollstein M. Clinical implications of the p53 gene. Ann Rev Med. 1996;47:285–301.
- 150. Kirk GD, Camus-Randon AM, Mendy M, Goedert JJ, Merle P, Trepo C, et al. Ser-249 p53 mutations in plasma DNA of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma from The Gambia. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2000;92(2):148–53.
- 151. Jackson PE, Kuang SY, Wang JB, Strickland PT, Munoz A, Kensler TW, et al. Prospective detection of codon 249 mutations in plasma of hepatocellular carcinoma patients. Carcinogenesis. 2003;24(10):1657–63.
- 152. Lleonart ME, Kirk GD, Villar S, Lesi OA, Dasgupta A, Goedert JJ, et al. Quantitative analysis of plasma TP53 249Ser-mutated DNA by electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2005;14(12):2956–62.
- Thorgeirsson SS, Lee JS, Grisham JW. Functional genomics of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 2006;43(2 Suppl 1):S145–50.
- 154. Chen VL, Sharma P. Role of biomarkers and biopsy in hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Liver Dis. 2020;24(4):577–90.
- Thorgeirsson SS, Grisham JW. Molecular pathogenesis of human hepatocellular carcinoma. Nat Genet. 2002;31:339–46.



Hepatocarcinogenesis Induced by Environmental Exposures in the Middle East

Pinar Erkekoglu and Suna Sabuncuoğlu

1 Introduction

The most severe complication of a chronic liver disease and the most common form of primary liver cancer is hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). More than 800,000 people are diagnosed with HCC each year in the world [1]. The general 5-year survival rate is 18%, compared to just 3% 40 years ago. However, if patients were diagnosed at an early stage, the 5-year survival rate is 33%. HCC accounts for approximately 700,000 deaths per year [1-4]. As most HCC cells show the biochemical and morphological features of normal hepatocytes, it is usually predicted that HCC occurs due to the malignant transformation of normal hepatocytes. However, a "stem cell" origin is also suggested by different researchers [5, 6].

HCC has etiologically a very complicated and multifactorial pathology. It has also been associated with exposure to chemical, physical, and biological carcinogens. HCC is also caused by different conditions, including chronic hepatitis and cirrhosis [5, 7]. Like many other solid tumors, several histological and functional changes as well as alterations in different biochemical pathways may lead to the activation of protooncogenes and downregulation of tumor suppressor genes in HCC [8]. Mutations of p53 gene and Kirsten rat sarcoma 2 viral oncogene homolog (KRAS) gene and integration of hepatitis B virus (HBV) DNA into the host genome are the well-known genetic alterations that can cause HCC in humans [9–12].

HCC is more prevalent among men compared to women. In men, 7.5% of all cancers are primary liver cancers, whereas 3.5% of all cancers among women are of liver origin. The genderspecific age-adjusted incident rate (AAIR) ratio ranges from 1.3 to 3.6 worldwide [2, 3, 13, 14]. There were an estimated 383,593 deaths among men and 164,961 deaths among women attributable to HCC for the year 2000, which is quite close to the HCC incidence during the same period [14]. However, the cases and deaths kept increasing through the years. Number of new cases in 2018 was 841,040, corresponding to 4.7% of all cancers. Number of deaths in the same year due to liver cancer was 781,631, which corresponds to 8.2% of the mortality caused by cancer. Age-standardized incidence and age-standardized mortality rate (ASMR) for liver cancer were 13.9 per 100,000 for men, 4.9 per 100,000 for women, and 8.5 per 100,000 individuals in 2018, respectively [15]. The most HCC encountered countries around the world are Mongolia, Laos, Vietnam, Egypt, and Gambia [16].

Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

B. I. Carr (ed.), Liver Cancer in the Middle East, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78737-0_3

P. Erkekoglu (🖂) · S. Sabuncuoğlu

Department of Toxicology, Faculty of Pharmacy,

e-mail: erkekp@hacettepe.edu.tr

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

2 Epidemiology of HCC in the Middle East

HCC is the third leading cause of cancer-related deaths, and >80% of HCC results in mortality in developing countries. On the other hand, >80% of the new HCC cases are from developing countries. Most of the new cases are suggested to be caused by an underlying viral pathology, particularly HBV or hepatitis C (HCV) [17].

In Middle East countries, liver cancer is a major concern among men, particularly in certain countries like Egypt and Saudi Arabia. Recent reports demonstrate that the incidence of HCC has increased sharply in the last 15–20 years, with a very high incidence in Egypt [18–21].

Egypt has the highest rate of HCC among other Middle East countries (27.37 per 100,000), ranking as the fourth country in the world. In men, the death rate of HCC is 41.94 per 100,000 while in women, it is 14.63. Qatar has the second highest death rate in the Middle East (8.80 per 100,000), ranking as the 45th country. Kuwait, on the other hand, has a death rate of 8.19 per 100,000, ranking as the 49th country [22]. Saudi Arabia is the 100th country around the world, with a rate of 5.5 per 100,000 [17]. HCV is suggested to have a major role in the epidemiology of HCC in Saudi Arabia. A study conducted in Saudi Arabia demonstrated that 23% of chronic liver disease patients carried HBV and 53% of HCV patients had chronic liver disease [23, 24]. In Iran, the prevalence of HCC was suggested to be ~3.1% in total HBV and HCV chronic carriers. The estimated annual incidence of HCC is 1.02 [95% confidence interval (CI): 0.5–1.8] [25]. HCC is a relatively rare cancer in Lebanon. It ranks as the 14th most common cancer among both males and females (with an age-standardized rate of 3.5 and 2.2 per 100.000, respectively) [26]. Results of studies conducted in Lebanon showed that most HCC patients had HBV-related liver cirrhosis, accounting for nearly two-thirds of the subjects followed by HCV and alcohol abuse [27]. In Jordan, HCC was associated with hepatitis D (HDV) as the prevalence of HDV was 23% in chronic liver disease patients and 67% in HCC patients. In contrast, none of HCC patients in Iran were positive for HDV infection [28].

In Turkey, the cancer incidence has been increasing over the years, and HBV infection was found to be the leading cause of HCC, followed by HCV infection and alcoholic liver disease [29]. HCC is the 11th most common type of cancer in males. It annually affects 2.1 per 100,000 males, while in females it is the 15th most common type of cancer, affecting 1.3 per 100,000 subjects. The rough rate of liver carcinoma in the Mediterranean region for males and females was 2.5 per 100,000 and 2.1 per 100,000, respectively [30]. HBV, HCV, and excessive alcohol intake were detected in 56%, 23.2%, and 15.9% of HCC patients, respectively [29]. Turkish However, in general, HCC is less prevalent in the Middle East compared to developed countries. This may be due to low consumption of alcoholic beverages in Middle East, possibly due to religious beliefs [30-32].

These data suggest that HCC is an important global public health problem. In spite of vaccination programs against HBV in many countries, the incidence and mortality from HCC is increasing, particularly in Western countries where the prevalence of HBV is low. Therefore, other than infections like HBV and HBC, environmental risk factors are contributing to the high incidence of HCC in many parts of the world, including the Middle East.

3 What Causes Hepatocarcinogenesis?

HCC is one of the few cancers with clearly defined major risk factors [26, 33-37]:

- Chronic viral hepatitis (HBV and HCV).
- Cirrhosis.
- Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD).
- Advanced hepatic fibrosis.
- Familial tendency to HCC.
- Certain inherited liver diseases (iron overload due to hemochromatosis and copper overload due to Wilson's disease).
- Rare diseases (tyrosinemia, α1-antitrypsin deficiency, porphyria cutanea tarda, glycogen storage diseases).
- Diabetes.

- Obesity.
- Environmental chemicals.

The population attributable risk estimates for liver cancer for each of these risk factors vary among countries. However, chronic infections with HBV and HCV are the most important reasons for HCC development on a global scale, together accounting for over 80% of liver cancer cases worldwide [38].

4 Environmental Hepatocarcinogenesis

Environmental carcinogens are chemical, physical, or biological agents that may lead to carcinogenesis. They may be present in the food, air, or water. The majority of human cancers result from exposure to different environmental carcinogens [39].

The mechanism of action of some of these agents is widely known, but the carcinogenic pathways or mechanisms of some of the agents present in our environment have yet to be fully defined. Toxicologists around the globe believe that current measures to mitigate our exposures are inadequate [39].

International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) classifies human carcinogens as [40]:

- 1. Group 1: carcinogenic to humans.
- 2. Group 2A: probably carcinogenic to humans.
- 3. Group 2B: possibly carcinogenic to humans.
- Group 3: not classifiable as to its carcinogenicity to humans.
- 5. Group 4: probably not carcinogenic to humans.

An agent is classified by IARC based on scientific evidence derived from human and experimental animal studies and from mechanistic and other relevant data [41, 42].

Environmental hepatocarcinogenesis is an important issue that should be taken seriously by all of the countries, particularly by developing countries like countries of Middle East region. Agents that are known or suspected to cause liver cancer are given in Table 1. Table 1Chemical, physical, and biological agentsknown/suspected to induce HCC in humans in the MiddleEast and their IARC classifications [45]

Clear evidence for HCC	IARC classification
Hepatitis B virus	Group 1: carcinogenic to humans
Hepatitis C virus	Group 1: carcinogenic to humans
Alcohol consumption	Group 1: carcinogenic to humans
Aflatoxin ingestion	Group 1: carcinogenic to humans
Tobacco smoke	Group 1: carcinogenic to humans
Oral contraceptives	Group 1: carcinogenic to humans
Thorium dioxide, thorium-232	Group 1: carcinogenic to humans
Plutonium	Group 1: carcinogenic to humans
Vinyl chloride	Group 1: carcinogenic to humans
Limited data for HCC	
Anabolic steroids	Group 2A: probably carcinogenic to humans
Arsenic and inorganic arsenic compounds	Group 1: carcinogenic to humans
Betel quid with tobacco	Group 1: carcinogenic to humans
Polychlorinated biphenyls	Group 2A: probably carcinogenic to humans
Trichloroethylene	Group 1: carcinogenic to humans
X- and γ -radiation	Group 1: carcinogenic to humans

HCC hepatocellular carcinoma, *IARC* International Agency for Research on Cancer

5 Environmental Hepatocarcinogenesis in the Middle East

HCC in the Middle is rising due to high exposure to:

- Aflatoxins.
- Alcohol consumption.
- Smoking and exposure to cigarette smoke.
- Heavy metals, particularly arsenic.
- Vinyl chloride.
 - Organic solvents.
 - Dioxins.

5.1 Aflatoxins

Aflatoxins were first discovered in the 1960s. Although aflatoxins have a low profile in the general population, they are well known by many scientists working in different branches of science. Aflatoxins are secondary metabolites of different Aspergillus species (e.g., Aspergillus flavus, Aspergillus parasitius, Aspergillus nomius). They mainly contaminate food and can appear in food chain because of fungal infection of crops. Contamination with different kinds of mycotoxin-producing fungi is both inevitable and unpreventable as these toxins contaminate food during growth, harvest, and/or storage. Several foodstuff (maize, wheat, barley, groundnuts, peanuts, spices, nuts, teas, coffees, milk, beef, and chicken) may contain high levels of different mycotoxins. The most favorable conditions for the production of mycotoxins are high humidity and high temperature [43–48]. The factors affecting aflatoxin production are given in Fig. 1. Human exposure to mycotoxins can be via three different ways: oral, dermal, and inhalation [49, 50]. Concentrations of AFs in final products can vary from <1 μ g/kg (1 ppb) to >12.000 μ g/kg (12 ppm) [51].

Aflatoxins can be categorized into four major types: aflatoxin B1 (AFB1), aflatoxin B2 (AFB2), aflatoxin G1 (AFG1), and aflatoxin G2 (AFG2). B forms give blue florescence, while G forms give green florescence in the presence of ultraviolet light. *Aspergillus flavus* produces AFB1 and AFB2, while two other species produce AFG1 and AFG2 [13]. On the other hand, aflatoxin M1 (AFM1) and aflatoxin M2 (AFM2) are AFB1 and AFB2 that are metabolites in animal's milk [45, 52–54]. These toxins have both acute and chronic effects, ranging from aflatoxicosis to cancer. Aflatoxins have been shown to be potent carcinogens, mutagens, and teratogens [55–57].

5.1.1 Aflatoxin B1

The International Agency for Research on Cancer classifies AFB1 as "carcinogenic to humans (Group I)." AFB1 is a procarcinogen [45]. In humans, cytochrome P450 enzymes (CYP450s) are responsible for the biotransformation of AFB1 [58, 59]. This particular aflatoxin is first biotransformed to aflatoxin-8,9-exo-epoxide and aflatoxin-8,9-endo-epoxide by CYP1A2 and CYP3A4 [16, 17]. Aflatoxin-8,9-exo-epoxide binds to DNA, and it causes the formation of pre-



Fig. 1 Factors affecting aflatoxin production

dominant 8,9-dihydro-8-(N⁷-guanyl)-9-hydroxy AFB1 adduct. Its pseudo-half-life is short. Later, stable imidazole ring-opened AFB1а formamidopyrimidine adduct is formed. This adduct can accumulate in the body for several days [60]. Animal experiments showed that formamidopyrimidine adduct could remain detectable for several weeks in rat liver [61, 62]. Individually or collectively, both of these adducts are genotoxic. They can both cause DNA single strand breaks (SSBs) and to a lesser amount of double strand breaks (DSBs). A weak and delayed accumulation of phosphorylated H2A histone family member X (phospho-H2AX) caused by AFB1 metabolites strongly suggests that AFB1induced DNA damage triggers the activation of ataxia telangiectasia mutated serine/threonine kinase (ATM) [63-65]. The epoxides can also interact with DNA and form a promutagenic and unstable aflatoxin-N7-guanine adduct [66]. It usually undergoes depurination and is excreted in the urine. However, it can react with serum albumin to form long-lived lysine adducts [67]. Epidemiological studies on populations consuming contaminated diets revealed that both rodents and humans form the same AFB1 metabolites as experimental animals. Subsequent dose-response studies as well as case studies performed on small groups of subjects in India, China, Malaysia, the Gambia, and Kenya evaluated both dietary AF intake and levels of urinary AF biomarkers [68-74]. AF-albumin adducts or AF-lysine adducts were determined in most of the studies [75-78].

The DNA damage caused by AFB1 metabolites is mainly repaired by nucleotide excision repair (NER) in mammalian cells [63, 79]. Other than DNA adducts, they also cause hepatic DNA base damage, particularly 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine (8-OHdG) lesions in rats [79–81].

The mechanisms underlying the DNA damage checkpoint responses to AFB1 are poorly understood. It was suggested that mammalians are unable to give proper checkpoint responses to genotoxic and mutagenic doses of AFB1. The ATM response to AFB1 exposure is not accompanied by the phosphorylation of three key proteins [Checkpoint kinase 1 (Chk1), Checkpoint

kinase 2 (Chk2) or p53], which are involved in the DNA damage checkpoint response [63-65]. The lack of Chk1 phosphorylation indicates that the ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3-related protein (ATR)/Chk1 pathway response is not activated in response to AFB1 metabolites [66]. The lack of Chk1 phosphorylation indicates that the ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3 related protein (ATR)/Chk1 pathway response is not activated response to AFB1 metabolites in [66]. Experiments performed in different cell lines show that although DNA adducts are formed and DNA breaks accumulate, the activation of the tumor suppressor gene p53 fails and cell cycle arrest and apoptotic mechanisms are not activated [63].

Phase I metabolites of AFB1 are detoxified by conjugation with glutathione (GSH), a reaction catalyzed by glutathione S-transferases (GSTs) [48]. The GST activity in humans is lower than rodents, and it suggests that humans are less capable of detoxifying aflatoxin-8,9-epoxides. The biotransformation of AFB1 is given in Fig. 2.

The principal target organ of AFB1 is the liver. It is suggested that AFB1 causes 5–28% of HCCs, particularly in developing countries. This particular aflatoxin leads to hotspot mutation of p53 gene at third base of codon 249. This mutation is caused by G... > T transversion, which in turn causes inactivation of p53 [63, 82, 83]. The detection of p53 mutation is used as a biomarker of both AFB1 exposure and HCC in humans [39, 40]. Literature also shows that AFB1 exposure can lead to both G... > T transversion and A... >T transition in the adjacent codons. In addition, it is also suggested that exposure to AFB1 can alter the activation of p53 in CYP450-expressing human lung cell lines [41]. The different effects of wild-type p53 and mutant p53 are given in Fig. 3.

Other than the alterations in nuclear DNA, AFB1 also attacks mitochondrial DNA, and this effect is suggested to be another underlying factor for the development of HCC, although the impact of mitochondrial gene alterations in the carcinogenic process is not clear yet [84, 85]. Moreover, AFB1 affects oxidative phosphorylation leading to ultrastructural alterations of mito-



Fig. 2 The biotransformation of AFB1. AFAR aflatoxin-aldehyde reductase, AFB1 aflatoxin B1, CYP3A4 cytochrome P450 3A4, GSTM1 glutathione S-transferase M1, Lys lysine



Fig. 3 The different effects of wild-type p53 and mutant p53. DSB double strand break, NER nucleotide excision repair

chondria [43–45]. AFB1 and other aflatoxins can also lead to mitochondria-directed apoptosis [48]. Although humans are prone to the mitochondrial effects of AFB1, rodents are suggested to be more resistant. For example, mouse liver is protected because of the impermeability of mitochondrial membrane to the toxin. In hamsters, it is a more complex process including both a permeability barrier and a possible scavenging system [47].

In humans, other than DNA adducts, antibodies to AFB1 are used as indicators of exposure [86]. Studies also suggest that aflatoxins lead to higher levels of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) production and serum lactate dehydrogenase activity [50]. Moreover, AFB1 exposure leads to a Reye-like syndrome, with symptoms like rhinorrhea, vomiting, sore throat, fever, respiratory disturbances like coughing, earache, convulsions, changes in muscle tonus and reflexes, abnormal mitochondrial structure and increases in mitochondrial enzymes (glutamicpyruvic transaminase and glutamicoxalacetic acid transaminase), structural alterations in the renal cortex, and liver enlargement [87–89].

 AFB1 is also suggested to cause suppression of the cell-mediated immune responses. AFB1 has been shown to induce thymic aplasia, reduce T-lymphocyte function and number, suppress phagocytic activity, and reduce complement activity [90–92].

6 AFB1-Related HCC in Middle East

As indicated above, environmental conditions such as temperature, humidity, and sunlight can favor the survival of mycotoxigenic fungi. The weather conditions in Middle East provide a good survival environment to Aspergillus flavus [93]. In the high-incidence countries of Asia and Africa, chronic HBV infection and AFB1 exposure are the major risk factors for HCC. Exceptionally, in Japan and Egypt, the most common risk factor for HCC is HCV infection [94]. However, other than HCV, the contamination rate of food in Egypt is also very high, and

therefore, aflatoxin exposure can be suggested as one of the underlying factors of the high prevalence of HCC in this country [93, 94].

Several studies have been performed on the aflatoxin content of different foodstuff in Egypt. Some of these studies observed high amounts of aflatoxin presence while some others did not. Agricultural products were investigated for the aflatoxin content by different researchers. For instance, 90% of hazelnuts (25.0-175.0 ppb), 82% of watermelon and peanut seeds, 35% of soybean (5.0-35.0 ppb), 40% of spices (>0.250 ppb), and 75% of walnuts (15.0-25.0 ppb) were found be positive for aflatoxin contamination [95–97]. A study conducted on 28 samples of dried date palm fruits collected from different shops distributed in Asyut Governorate, Upper Egypt, in 2016 showed that only 1 sample was contaminated with AFB1 (14.4 µg/kg) and AFB2 (2.44 µg/kg) [98]. Another study investigated the levels of AFB1 in corn, wheat, peanut, lupine "termis," white rice, cowpea "lobiya," fava bean, and brown rice. The results showed that AFB1 was present in 64.7%, 53%, 53%, 47%, 47%, 41%, 29.4%, and 29.4% of the samples, respectively [99].

A study on corn samples from Egypt showed that 48.1% of the samples were contaminated with different aflatoxins and the concentration order was AFG1 > AFG2 > AFB1 > AFB2 [100]. A study on maize and rice samples from Egypt showed that total aflatoxin levels detected were 9.75 μ g/kg in maize and 5.15 μ g/kg in rice [101]. Another study performed on coffee samples from Egypt showed that decaffeinated green coffee beans contained 24.29 µg/kg and roasted coffee beans contained 16.00 µg/kg of total aflatoxin [102]. A study conducted to investigate the natural co-occurrence of multiple toxic fungal and bacterial metabolites in sugarcane grass and juice showed that AFB1 was present in 48% of grass samples and in 58% of juice with a maximum concentration of 30.6 µg/kg and 2.10 µg/kg, respectively. Dietary exposure was assessed using a juice frequency questionnaire of adult inhabitants in Asyut City and revealed that males and females in winter and summer seasons had different levels of exposure to AFB1. The estimated seasonal exposure ranged from 0.20 to 0.40 ng/kg body weight (bw)/day in winter and from 0.38 to 0.90 ng/kg bw/day in summer [103].

Although AFM1 is the major aflatoxin, other aflatoxins can also be present in milk and dairy products. A study conducted on multiple mycotoxins [aflatoxins, ochratoxin A (OTA), and zearalenone] in 61 samples of maize and 17 commercial animal feed samples and of aflatoxin M1 (AFM1) in raw dairy milk samples (n = 20) collected from Asyut City in Upper Egypt showed that AFB1 was detected in both maize (n = 15) and feed (n = 8), with only one maize sample presenting a concentration above the maximum permissible level set by the Egyptian authorities. AFB2 was observed in six maize samples and in one feed sample, with a maximum value of 0.5 µg/kg [104].

Meat and meat products marketed in Egypt were also investigated for their aflatoxin content by different research groups. A study on 215 samples of fresh and processed meat products and 130 samples of spices used in the meat industry collected from different local companies in Cairo, Egypt, showed that processed meat products (beefburger, hotdog, kubeba, sausage, luncheon had higher amounts meat) of aflatoxin-producing fungi when compared with fresh and canned meat. Aspergillus flavus (24 isolates) and Aspergillus parasiticus (16 isolates) were the predominant aflatoxin-producing fungi isolated from both processed meat products and spices. Out of 150 samples of meat products and 100 samples of spices, AFB1 was detected in 5 samples of beef burger (8 µg/kg), 4 samples of black pepper (35 µg/kg), and 4 samples of white pepper (22 µg/kg). AFB1 (150 µg/kg) and AFB2 (25 µg/kg) were also found in one sample of kubeba. AFB1 and AFG1 were detected in two samples of turmeric and coriander [105]. A study on 50 meat products purchased from different supermarkets in Mansoura City, Egypt, showed that all the meat samples analyzed were contaminated with aflatoxins and OTA with mean values of 1.1 µg/kg. For beef luncheon and for beef burger, the total aflatoxin levels were $3.22 \,\mu g/kg$ and 4.55 µg/kg, respectively. None of the beef luncheon and burger samples exceeded the permissible limits set by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for total aflatoxin levels. However, 52% of beef luncheon and 36% beef burger samples had total aflatoxin levels above the Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations aflatoxin total (FAO AFT) permissible limit [106].

Other than studies on food, there are also a limited number of studies performing biological samples from Egypt. A pilot case-control study on limited number of sera samples of HCC patients from Egypt showed that aflatoxin-albumin adducts were detected in all of the controls (n = 24, geometric mean 9.0 pg/mg; range: 3.5-25.8 pg/mg) and in 7 HCC-positive individuals while 7 in 22 samples from HCC-positive cases had detectable aflatoxin-albumin adducts (geometric mean 2.6 pg/mg; range: non-detectable–32.8 pg/mg) [107].

It is well known than infants and young children are the most susceptible population to the toxic effects of aflatoxins. A study investigated aflatoxin exposure in Egyptian children (n = 50, 1–2.5 y) by assessing urinary AFM1, AFB1, AFB2, AFG1, and AFG2 levels. Total aflatoxins were present in the urinary samples of 38% of the Egyptian children [108]. A study performed in hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) or anti-HCV seropositive subjects and subjects with fatty liver disease used the univariate logistic regression analysis to determine the odds ratios (ORs) between the diseases and aflatoxin exposure. For HBsAg seropositive subjects, AFB1 OR was 6.2 while for anti-HCV antibodies seropositive subjects, AFB1 OR was 2.5. Multivariate logistic regression analysis for fatty liver showed that only anti-HCV antibody seropositivity had statistically significant OR in comparison with AFB1. The researchers concluded that AFB1 had a definite association with liver diseases [109].

A cross-sectional study conducted on sera from pregnant women showed that aflatoxinalbumin adducts were detected in 34 of 98 (35%) samples (geometric mean of positive samples = 4.9 pg AF-lys/mg albumin [95% CI = 4.1– 5.8 pg/mg]). Aflatoxin biomarkers were observed in 41% of the subjects. The frequency and level of these biomarkers in Egyptian women were

modest compared with known high-risk countries [110]. A study performed between January 2005 and January 2006 on 80 cases with HCC $(52.88 \pm 7.27 \text{ y})$ diagnosed in the Gastroenterology Center, Mansoura University, Egypt, and 20 healthy controls $(53.17 \pm 6.78 \text{ y}, 82.5\% \text{ male})$ showed that serum AFB1 levels were markedly higher in HCC patients vs. control (p < 0.0001). AFB1 levels were significantly higher in males when compared to females, and rural residents had higher AFB1 concentrations vs. urban residents (p < 0.05). Moreover, farmers had the highest AFB1 levels vs. other workers (p < 0.05, for all). HCV antibody was positive in 70% of the patients. The serum level of AFB1 was markedly higher in HCV-positive patients compared with HCV-negative patients. However, there was difference in the AFB1 levels of HBsAg-positive and HBsAg-negative patients. The serum level of AFB1 was significantly higher in patients with a tumor size >5 cm vs. with tumor size <5 cm. The serum level of AFB1 showed a statistically significant positive correlation with serum alanine transaminase (ALT) and alpha-fetoprotein levels. The researchers concluded that AFB1 exposure might have a crucial role in the occurrence of HCC in the north Nile Delta area and particularly among males, farmers, and rural residents and HCV, cirrhosis, and multifocal hepatoma patients [111].

A study that assessed the hepatic carcinogenicity of AFB1 in wheat handlers in Egypt showed that AFB1-albumin adducts and α -lfucosidase (AFU) levels were significantly higher among workers employed as bakers compared to mill workers and controls. Mill workers had higher levels of AFB1-albumin adducts vs. controls. In HCC cases, the researchers found a significant correlation between AFU and AFB1albumin adducts in bakers and between α -fetoprotein and AFB1-albumin adducts. Arginase was negatively correlated with AFB1albumin adducts in HCC cases, while AFB1albumin adducts were significantly and markedly correlated with the duration of exposure in bakers [112].

There are also several studies in Iran on the levels of AFB1 in different food. AFB1 and OTA

levels were measured in five pistachio cultivars collected from four sites of Iran. The highest mean concentrations of AFB1 and OTA were found in Ahmad Aghaei (4.33 and 2.19 ng/g, respectively) and Akbari (4.08 and 1.943 ng/g, respectively) cultivars from Rafsanjan, Iran. Even in the highest concentrations of AFB1 and OTA in analyzed samples, the levels of these mycotoxins were lower than the corresponding maximum limits set by the European Union (EU) authorities. The researchers suggested that consumption of pistachio cultivated in these regions did not pose any health risk concerning their mycotoxin content [113]. A study on aflatoxigenic fungi and aflatoxin contamination of 40 walnut samples from the Hamedan province, Iran, showed that Aspergillus (particularly Aspergillus flavus) is the most frequent genus among other fungi. AFG1 and AFB1 levels were 1.7-18.2 ng/g and 0-8.2 ng/g, respectively. A significant difference of aflatoxin contamination was observed between shielded and unshielded walnuts. The AFB1 levels in most of the walnut samples were not above the maximum tolerable limit (MTL) given by EU standard (*p* > 0.05) [114].

In a study conducted on 3356 pistachio nut samples from Iran, AFB1 was detected in 36.7% of the samples (5.9 (\pm 41.7 ng/g), while total aflatoxins were detected in 28.3% of the samples (7.3 \pm 53.2 ng/g). AFB1 levels in 11.8% of the samples were above the MTL levels (5 ng/g). Only 7.5% of samples had total aflatoxin levels above the MTL, and the mean total aflatoxin contamination levels were lower than MTL suggested by Iranian regulatory authorities and the proposed draft maximum level of Codex Committee on Food Additives and Contaminants for total aflatoxins (15 ng/g) [115].

The occurrence of total aflatoxin in 35 randomly selected samples of raw walnuts from Iranian supermarkets in Tehran was examined in a study. Total aflatoxin concentrations in the samples ranged from 0 to 112.8 ng/g. Of all samples, 74.3% were contaminated with aflatoxins, and 20.0% of these exceeded the MTL of 15 ng/g set by the Iranian Food Codex [116]. A study conducted on 58 watermelon seeds from Iran showed that AFB1 was present in 89.2% of the samples with an average level of 8.5 ng/g. The concentrations of AFB1 in 12 samples exceeded the MTL for AFB1 given by Iranian regulatory authorities (5 ng/g), and therefore 18.5% of all the samples was not suitable for human consumption [117]. In another study, 30 bean samples were analyzed for AFB1 contamination. Of all the samples, 16.67% contained AFB1 (>0.2 ng/g) [118]. A study performed in Iran on 65 rice samples revealed that AFB1 was present in 21.5% of the samples and its levels were below than the MTL suggested by Iranian Food Codex [119]. A study on 30 dried apricots and 15 prunes obtained from different parts of Iran showed that 30% of examined apricot samples and 13.33% of the prune samples contained AFB1 levels >0.2 ng/g [120].

A study on 48 commercial baby foods available in the Iranian market showed that 33 out of 48 samples (68.7%) were contaminated with AFB1 (median: 0.11 µg/kg; min-max: 2.602-15.15 µg/kg). The AFB1 levels in 39.6% of the samples were higher than the MTL established by the Iranian Food Codex for baby foods containing milk (0.5 µg/kg). The incidence of AFB1 in rice, wheat, and multigrain infant cereal samples were 90%, 25%, and 100%, respectively, whereas rice-based baby foods contained the highest levels of AFB1 [124]. In another study, the presence of AFB1 was investigated in 150 eggs and 50 chicken livers from the local market of Tabriz, Iran. In 72% of the liver and 58% of the egg samples, AFB1 contamination was observed ranging from 0.30 to 16.36 µg/kg [121].

Fewer studies on food and biological samples from other parts of Middle East are present in the literature. A study performed in Kuwait on milk samples showed that 6% of dairy milk was positive for AFM1, which is the main metabolite of AFB1 in milk [122]. A study from Qatar showed that 8.7% to 33% of the pistachios were contaminated with AFs (>20.0 ppb) [123]. A study performed in Doha, Qatar, on different food samples showed that AFB1 was present in 22% of the baby food (n = 67) samples [124]. Another study performed on nuts and spices showed that total aflatoxin levels were 534.15 ng/g and 371.6 ng/g, respectively. The researchers calculated the estimated daily intake (EDI) level using statistical data on average Qatari population. The results indicated Qatari population had high exposure to aflatoxins (with alarming values of margin of exposure) [125].

A study conducted in Saudi Arabia that included 90 bakers, 100 flour milling workers, and 100 controls with no exposure to flour dust found that both serum AFB1-albumin adducts and alkaline phosphatase (ALP) levels were significantly higher in bakers compared to milling workers (p < 0.0001, p = 0.05). There was significant positive correlation between serum AFB1 and ALT and AST levels in bakers. The researchers suggested that chronic occupational exposure to high concentrations of Aspergillus species in occupational environment might cause elevations in serum levels of AFB1 and liver enzymes in workers exposed to flour dust [126]. A prospective study on aflatoxin levels in umbilical cord blood from 201 women living in the United Arab Emirates (UAE) showed that aflatoxins were detected in 110 (54.7%) samples, 27 of which were positive for AFB1, 106 for AFM1, and 31 for AFM2. There was a significant negative correlation (p < 0.001) between birth weight and aflatoxin concentrations [127].

Although there are limited number of studies in Arab countries concerning the aflatoxin levels in foodstuff and biological samples, there are several studies performed in Turkey that focused on the levels of different mycotoxins, including aflatoxins in both foods and different biological samples. A study performed on the retail ground samples of 12 different types of seed, pulses, cereal flours, and starches showed the levels of aflatoxins ranged between 0.03 to 3.16 ppb. The percentage of contaminated samples for AFB1, AFB2, AFG1, and AFG2 were 64%, 60%, 72%, and 76%, respectively [128]. A study on 47 samples of corn collected from various street bazaars and market outlets in different regions of Turkey showed that aflatoxins were present in 53% of the samples and total aflatoxin levels ranged between 1.75 and 120.3 µg/kg. Total aflatoxin levels in these samples were above the acceptable limit of 10 μ g/kg in Turkey [47].

Dried fruits, vegetables, and nuts are commonly consumed in Turkey. A study examined 284 dried fig samples, collected from fields during drying and from warehouse and processing units in the Aegean region of Turkey in 1986, for aflatoxin contamination. AFB1, AFB2, and AFG1 were detected in 4%, 2%, and 2% of the samples, respectively, particularly in the lower grade of figs taken from the drying stage. The average aflatoxin levels in positive samples were estimated to be 112.3 ng/g for AFB1, 50.6 ng/g for AFB2, and 61.4 ng/g for AFG1 [129]. In another study, 300 samples of hazelnuts and dried figs from Turkey were analyzed for the presence of aflatoxins. Aflatoxins were not detected in shells of the hazelnuts, while six raw hazelnut kernel samples (12%) and five roasted hazelnut kernel samples (8.3%) contained aflatoxins ranging from 0.09 to 11.3 μ g/kg and from 0.17 to 11.2 µg/kg, respectively. Sixteen dried fig samples (12.3%) contained aflatoxins ranging from 0.1 to 28.2 μ g/kg with a mean value of 3.8 µg/kg. Three hazelnuts and six dried fig samples exceeded the European maximum limits (MLs; 5 μ g/kg for hazelnuts and 2 μ g/kg for dried figs) [130]. A study on 62 food samples from Istanbul, Turkey, measured the total aflatoxin and AFB1 levels. The total aflatoxin content in dried American cucumber, squash, tomato, okra, and saffron samples was found to be 1.7 µg/kg. AFB1 levels in five dried vegetables (red bell pepper, American cucumber, squash, tomato, and okra), two tea (linden and jasmine flower), and three spice samples (cardamom, galangal, and saffron) were found to be 1 µg/kg. Of the tested samples, 76% exceeded legal limits of total aflatoxins set by the Turkish Food Codex. The highest levels were determined in chestnut (232.9 μ g/kg), nutmeg (206.1 μ g/kg), and sumac (182.5 µg/kg) [131].

Spices are also highly consumed in Turkey, particularly in east and southeast regions. A study on 33 red pepper samples sold in open and sealed packages on different markets of Turkey showed that AFB1 content in the samples, according to daily consumption data, exceeded the limits set by the European Commission (EC) by almost 150% [132]. A study conducted to determine aflatoxin levels in 138 tarhana powder samples collected from bazaars in Istanbul showed that 32 out of 138 tarhana samples (23.2%) were found to be contaminated with total aflatoxins in the range of 0.7–16.8 μ g/kg, whereas 29 samples contained AFB1 ranging from 0.2 to 13.2 μ g/kg [133].

A study analyzed 180 red chili peppers (RCP) and berry samples (dried under sunlight and grinded) obtained from two different croplands of Gaziantep and Kahramanmaraş, Turkey, in August, September, and October for total aflatoxin and AFB1 contamination. AFB1 was present in 37 samples, and in these samples, total aflatoxin levels were higher than legal limits. The lowest amounts of total aflatoxin and AFB1 were obtained in August and the highest amounts in October. Statistical analysis showed that there were no significant differences (p > 0.05) between aflatoxin content of red chili pepper and berry samples for August, September, and October [134].

A study on 93 organic spices and 37 organic herbs randomly selected from organic markets and organic shops in Turkey showed that AFB1 was detected in 58 organic spice and 32 organic herb samples. Among organic spice samples, the maximum value was detected in cinnamon samples (53 µg/kg). AFB1 was not present in thyme samples. AFB1 levels of 41 organic spice samples were above the EU regulatory limit (5 µg/ kg). Among organic herb samples, the highest concentration of AFB1 (52.5 µg/kg) was detected in a rosehip sample. AFB1 levels of 21 organic herb samples were above the regulatory limits of the EU. The researchers suggested that strict measures should be taken to reduce the aflatoxin content of spice and herb samples [135].

A study on unpacked and packed ground red pepper (GRP) and pistachio nut samples obtained from different markets in Turkey from September 2008 to February 2009 showed that 17.1% (14/82) unpacked GRP samples had total aflatoxin levels above the legal limits. Both total aflatoxin and AFB1 were detected in 50.5% (48/95) of unpacked pistachio nuts with the contamination levels ranging from 0.007 to 7.72 ppb [136]. A study on 42 GRP samples that were randomly

collected from retail shops, supermarkets, open bazaars, and apiaries in Şanlıurfa, Turkey, examined the levels of AFB1, AFB2, AFG1, and AFG2. Total aflatoxin levels were <2.5 μ g/kg in 16 samples; 13 samples had total aflatoxin levels between 2.5 and 10 μ g/kg, while 13 samples had total aflatoxin levels higher than the tolerable limit (10 μ g/kg) given by the regulations of Turkish Food Codex and European Commission (EC) [137].

AFB1 levels were determined in 25 cacao hazelnut creams and 15 dried apricot samples randomly collected from traditional retail markets with insufficient chilling facilities in Bursa, Turkey. Mean AFB1 in the cacao hazelnut cream, dried apricot, and cheese were 1076.5 ± 194.4 ng/kg, 1441.3 ± 331.9 ng/kg, and 142.2 ± 18.7 ng/kg, respectively, and all were within the tolerable limits given in the Turkish Food Codex [138].

In a study performed on 63 infant formulas, follow-on formulas, and baby foods that were randomly collected from pharmacies and supermarkets in Ankara, Turkey, AFB1 and AFM1 levels were found in 87% and 36.5% of the samples, respectively. The AFB1 levels ranged between 0.10 and 6.04 ppb [139]. In another study, 3345 commercial Turkish foodstuffs supplied by producers for testing for their own purposes or for export certification were analyzed in Turkey. Foods were categorized as follows: (1) high-sugar products with nuts; (2) nuts and seeds; (3) spices; (4) grain; (5) cocoa products; (6) dried fruit and vegetables; (7) processed cereal products; (8) tea; and (9) baby food and infant formula. Of the 3345 samples, 94% contained AFB1 below the EU limit of 2 µg/kg for nuts, dried fruit, and cereals products. The researchers found that 6% of the 206 contaminated samples were mainly nuts and spices. For pistachios, 24%, 38%, and 42% of a total of 207, 182, and 24 samples tested for years 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively, were above 2 µg/kg, with 50 samples containing AFB1 at levels ranging from 10 to 477 µg/kg [140]. A study conducted in Turkey showed that 12.28% of the cheese were contaminated with aflatoxins, and hazelnuts and pistachios also had aflatoxin contamination (>4.0 ppb) [141].

Other than foods, there are also studies in Turkey conducted on human milk and sera. In one study, Turkish researchers determined the levels of AFM1 and AFB1 in breast milk samples collected from 75 mothers in Ankara, Turkey. AFM1 levels were between 60.90 and 299.99 ng/L, and AFB1 levels ranged between 94.50 and 4123.80 ng/L [142]. A study performed on serum samples from north and south regions of Turkey in different seasons showed that total aflatoxin concentrations in the Black Sea region was 1.33 ppb (min-max 0.15-3.38 ppb) and 0.90 ppb (min-max 0.18–2.48 ppb) for summer and winter, respectively. In the Mediterranean region, the mean serum concentration of total aflatoxin was determined as 0.55 ppb (range 0.04–1.72 ppb) for summer and 0.45 ppb (range 0.12-1.43 ppb) for winter. The total aflatoxin concentrations in serum samples were statistically higher in summer compared to winter for the two regions. The differences between the regions were statistically significant concerning all samples, with higher total aflatoxin concentrations in the Black Sea region. The researchers suggested that the Turkish citizens living in these two regions were continuously exposed to aflatoxins, particularly in the summer [143]. Another study performed by the same researchers in the Central Anatolia region of Turkey revealed that serum aflatoxin levels (n = 233) were 0.98 ± 0.10 and 0.94 ± 0.12 ng/ml and in males $1.35\ 0.17$ and 0.93 ± 0.11 ng/ml in summer and winter, respectively. The serum aflatoxin levels of male subjects were markedly higher than females (~38%). There was no significant seasonal change in AFG1, AFB1, and AFG2 concentrations in the whole population, except AFB2 [144].

A case-control study on chronic HBV-infected patients with or without cirrhosis and liver cancer determined the serum AFB1, AFB2, AFG1, and AFG2 concentrations in Balıkesir, Turkey. The mean AFB1 and total aflatoxin levels in patients without liver cancer and cirrhosis were markedly higher than control group. The mean AFB1 and total aflatoxin levels in patients with chronic hepatitis B and HCC were significantly higher than infected patients with or without cirrhosis. These results suggested that patients with chronic HBV infection who were exposed to aflatoxins were at increased risk for developing HCC. The authors suggested that the risk of HCC might be prevented by reducing consumption of contaminated foods [145].

7 How to Decrease and Control Aflatoxin Exposure in the Middle East

Several measures have been set to limit aflatoxin contamination in food. Throughout the world, over 100 nations have set MTLs as aflatoxins can lead to mutagenicity and carcinogenicity when populations are exposed to these mycotoxins. Many countries have also put import and export regulations [146–148]. In developed countries, these standards enable public health protection. However, whether these regulations are efficiently applied or not in Middle East is still a debate. Therefore, the measures that should be taken in the Middle East are listed below:

- 1. Subsistence farms should be put under more regulatory inspection, and their products should be monitored like in developed countries [149, 150].
- Maize, nuts, and spices are highly consumed in the Middle East countries. These products should be monitored closely. Governments should make spot investigations for the products, especially for those that are not sold without a package [151].
- 3. Although the Middle East countries produce different foodstuff (particularly maize, dried fruit, dried nuts, and spices) and export these products, they usually find their export markets severely jeopardized by strict aflatoxin standards. Therefore, these countries export foodstuff that are not contaminated by aflatoxins and keep the contaminated domestically. This creates a risk for the development of severe conditions, particularly HCC [152]. FAO (2004) reported that only 60 countries (including 15 African countries) have set MTLs for AFB1 or AFM1 in 2003. The MTLs

for AFB1 were 1–20 µg/kg (frequently 2 µg/ kg and 5 μ g/kg). With regard to AFM1, of the 60 countries, 22 had a limit of 0.5 µg/kg and 34 a limit of 0.05 µg/kg. The differences on AFB1 MTLs suggested by different national and regional food safety regulatory bodies clearly affect the export of the foodstuff. As EU countries have set more strict limits (2 µg/ kg for AFB1 and 4 μ g/kg for total aflatoxins), countries that have more stringent limits can export more easily, while the shipments of foodstuff from other countries are more subject to rejection along with additional costs [153]. Therefore, Middle East countries should set lower domestic limits for aflatoxins, particularly for AFB1.

- 4. The Middle East countries should use more sophisticated, affordable, and appropriate methods to determine the aflatoxin content of their foodstuff. In order to achieve this, the governments should supply adequate funding for better and specific laboratories nationwide to determine the aflatoxin content of the foodstuff that will be exported [153].
- 5. HBV and HCV infections are important risk factors for HCC. Moreover, HDV is also a risk factor for liver cancer, particularly in Jordan. Aflatoxin exposure along with these infections worsens the situation in the Middle East. Therefore, vaccination programs should be more efficient, and serious measures to prevent these diseases should be taken in the Middle East countries. Moreover, society should be informed for the transmission routes of hepatitis infections by education programs. and consciousness should be raised [154–156].

Figure 4 shows to how decrease and control HCC due to aflatoxin contamination in the Middle East.

A non-harmless level for aflatoxin exposure has not been identified yet. Due to climate change and increase in temperatures throughout the world, aflatoxins continue to be a health threat particularly for hot regions, like Middle East. Several regulations were imposed in Middle East countries. However, the prevalence of HCC is



Fig. 4 How to decrease and control HCC due to aflatoxin contamination in the Middle East

still rising in the world and particularly in Middle East countries like Egypt, and there are no easy and inexpensive methods to remove aflatoxins from foodstuff. Studies must continue in order to understand the biochemical and toxicological mechanism/s altered by aflatoxin exposure. A number of approaches have been used to determine aflatoxin exposure in human populations, including analysis of aflatoxin metabolites and aflatoxin-DNA or aflatoxin-protein adducts. These studies must also go on in order to determine a direct association between aflatoxin exposure and HCC. In addition, epidemiological studies must be conducted to measure the aflatoxin levels and aflatoxin adduct levels in HBV and HCV patients. Moreover, serious measures must be taken in the near future, in order to lower the aflatoxin exposure and HBV and HCV infections.

8 Alcohol Consumption

As shown in Table 1, alcohol is classified as a Group 1 carcinogen by IARC since 1988 [157]. Alcohol intake induces the development of HCC

among other certain types of cancer. Excessive alcohol consumption may cause fatty liver, acute/chronic hepatitis, and cirrhosis and eventually HCC. Chronic alcohol abuse may lead to three- to tenfold increase in the risk of HCC and may be the underlying factor of 15–30% of HCC cases [158].

9 Biotransformation of Ethanol

Some of the orally ingested alcohol does not enter the systemic circulation. The oxidation of ethanol includes a three-step process [159, 160]:

1. Firstly, ethanol is oxidized in the stomach by alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH) isoforms (i.e., σ ADH and class I and class III ADH). There is also first-pass metabolism (FPM) that modulates alcohol toxicity. The efficiency of FPM determines the bioavailability of ethanol. When fasted, ethanol passes into the duodenum from the stomach and this passage will minimize FPM. This is suggested to play a role in the higher blood alcohol concentra-

tions seen in the fasted state versus full stomach state. FPM is lower in alcoholics (particularly in females) vs. the whole population. This leads to a high level of blood alcohol concentration in women compared to men after an equal oral dose of ethanol intake. However, the liver is the main organ and therefore the target organ for alcohol, and in the liver most of the biotransformation of ethanol takes place by different isoforms of ADHs in the presence of NAD+. The biotransformation of ethanol by ADHs takes place in the cytosol. In the liver, ethanol is oxidized to acetaldehyde. After this reaction, stable or unstable acetaldehyde adducts can be formed. CYP2E1 also metabolizes a certain amount of ethanol in the microsomes, in the presence of NADPH. This reaction causes an increase in reactive oxygen species (ROS) formation. In alcoholics, CYP2E1 is induced leading to enhanced alcohol metabolism and metabolic tolerance which in turn causes promotion of further alcohol consumption. Moreover, in the peroxisomes, ethanol is metabolized by catalase. While catalase is metabolizing alcohol, it also detoxifies hydrogen peroxide to water.

- After the oxidation takes place, acetaldehyde is oxidized to acetic acid by aldehyde dehydrogenases (ALDHs) in the mitochondria, and this reaction is irreversible. Again, NAD+ is the cofactor and is reduced to NADH. This leads to an increase in the NADH/NAD+ ratio. Circulating levels of acetaldehyde are low under normal conditions.
- 3. After acetic acid then leaves the liver, it circulates to peripheral tissues where it is activated to acetyl-CoA, which is the key metabolite produced from all major nutrients (carbohydrates, fats, and excess proteins). Later, the carbon atoms from alcohol are used to produce the same products that are produced from the oxidation of the major nutrients. The products include carbon dioxide, fatty acids, ketone bodies, and cholesterol. Which one of these products to be formed is up to the energy state

of the organism. In addition, the nutritional and hormonal conditions are also effective.

The oxidative biotransformation of ethanol is summarized in Fig. 5.

Other than the oxidative biotransformation of ethanol, it can also undergo non-oxidative metabolism. It is minimal compared to oxidation. However, the by-products of non-oxidative metabolism pose pathological and diagnostic importance. The non-oxidative metabolism is suggested to have two pathways at least [160]:

- One of these pathways includes from the reaction of alcohol with fatty acids, and this reaction causes the formation of molecules called "fatty acid ethyl esters (FAEEs)." FAEEs are weak organic acids, which may have functional roles in humans. FAEEs can be detected in serum and in several other tissues after alcohol ingestion, and they can persist long after the elimination of alcohol. However, the roles of FAEEs in alcohol-induced tissue damage are still being investigated.
- 2. The other pathway leads to the formation of a phospholipid molecule named as "phosphatidyl ethanol."

The potential mechanisms of alcohol-induced liver carcinogenesis include [161–165]:

- Ethanol and its metabolite, acetaldehyde, can lead to increased intracellular ROS levels. In addition, in the presence of iron, ethanol causes the formation of hydroxyethyl radical, which in turn causes lipid peroxidation (particularly malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxynonenal formation) and/or protein oxidation. Moreover, ROS can lead to DNA damage.
- 2. Alcohol leads to the reduction of the levels of certain antioxidants, particularly mitochondrial and cytosolic glutathione.
- 3. An increase in NADH/NAD+ ratio causes alterations in the rate of metabolic reactions.



Fig. 5 The oxidative biotransformation of ethanol. ADH alcohol dehydrogenase, ALDH aldehyde dehydrogenase, CYP2E1 cytochrome P450 2E1

- 4. Ethanol can also lead to decreases in DNA repair, which in turn leads to genotoxicity.
- 5. Not all amino acids in all proteins are equally likely to interact with acetaldehyde, but the interaction of acetaldehyde with certain amino acids like lysine, cysteine, and some of a group of amino acids called "aromatic amino acids" causes the formation of acetaldehydeprotein adducts. Proteins found in the membranes of erythrocytes, lipoproteins, tubulin, hemoglobin, albumin, and collagen are suggested to be the target of acetaldehyde.
- 6. Ethanol also causes damage in the mitochondria.
- 7. Ethanol leads to hypoxia.
- 8. Ingestion of alcohol causes the activation of Kupffer cells.

9. The interruption of one-carbon metabolism by ethanol causes impaired methylation patterns and altered genetic expression.

The potential mechanisms of alcoholinduced liver carcinogenesis are summarized in Fig. 6.

All these mechanisms one by one or additively may lead to liver injury, enhanced fibrogenesis, and later cirrhosis. The development of liver cirrhosis may result in liver cancer [166–169]. The interaction of with other environmental carcinogens, like cigarette smoke, can accelerate the carcinogenic process. Moreover, as alcohol is a cocarcinogen, it exaggerates liver damage caused by HBV and/or HCV infection and leads to tumor progression [170].



Fig. 6 The potential mechanisms of alcohol-induced liver carcinogenesis

10 Alcohol-Related Hepatocarcinogenesis in the Middle East

Due to religious reasons, alcohol is banned or restricted in most of the Middle East countries, and alcohol consumption is lower than European countries (particularly compared to Russia) and the USA. In the Middle East, Turkey is suggested to have the highest alcohol consumption. In Turkey, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 2.8% in males and 0.2% in females among general population (15+ years) according to WHO report published in 2016. In the same report, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 25.9% in male drinkers and 6.9% in female drinkers. Total alcohol per capita was reported as 33.3 L for males and 11.9 L for females. Age-standardized death rate (ASDR) due to alcohol-related liver cirrhosis was 14.2 per 100,000 in males and 7.5 per 100,000 in females. The prevalence of alcohol use disorders was 8.1% in males and 2.5% in females, while in the same year, WHO European region's prevalence of alcohol use disorders was 8.8% in males and 3.7% in females [171]. In Turkey, beer is highly consumed (63.6%), followed by spirits (27.9%) and wine (8.6%) [172].

According to unofficial reports, the United Arab Emirates has the second most alcohol consumption with an average of 4.3 L per year followed by Sudan with an average of 2.7 L per year and Lebanon with an average of 2.4 L per year. These numbers are below the international average. However, when only drinkers from Middle East are taken into account, the average consumption is significantly higher than the world. A drinker in UAE is estimated to consume 32.8 L of alcohol per year, while in Sudan it is estimated that drinkers consume 24.1 L alcohol, followed by Lebanon with an estimation for drinkers of 23.9 L per year [173]. According to a WHO report published in 2016, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 9.1% in males and 1.1% in females among general population (15+ years) in UAE. In the same report, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 41.7% in male drinkers and 13.9% in female drinkers. Total alcohol per capita in drinkers was reported as 21.9 L for males and 11.9 L for females. ASDR concerning alcohol-related liver cirrhosis was 13.6 per 100.000 in males and 9.5 per 100,000 in females [173]. In UAE, spirits are highly consumed (86.7%), followed by beer (10.3%) and wine (2.9%) [172].

In Lebanon, an average of 1.2 L alcohol consumption in the general population is suggested by a WHO report in 2016. The prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 2.3% in males and 0.2% in females among general population (15+ years). In the same report, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 24.5% in male drinkers and 6.8% in female drinkers. Total alcohol per capita in drinkers was reported as 29.6 L for males and 10.7 L for females. ASDR concerning alcohol-related liver cirrhosis was 24.1 per 100,000 in males and 13.9 per 100,000 in females [174]. In UAE, spirits are highly consumed (52.4%), followed by wine (29.1%) and beer (18.2%) [172].

In Sudan, an accurate information is not present on the pattern of drinking. The recorded alcohol consumption was given as 1.56 L, while unrecorded alcohol consumption was suggested to be 1 L per year in a report by WHO in 2016. In the same report, alcohol use disorders was suggested to affect 0.54% of the males and 0.06% of the females [175]. In Sudan, other than sprits, wine, and beer, the general population seems to choose different local alcohol drinks (78.5%) followed by alcoholic spirits (13.5%) and beer (18.2%) [172].

In Israel, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 29% in males and 5.7% in females among general population (15+ years) according to WHO report published in 2016. In the same report, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 42.1% in male drinkers and 13.7% in female drinkers. Total alcohol per capita was reported as 9.3 L for males and 3.3 L for females. Agestandardized death rate (ASDR) due to alcoholrelated liver cirrhosis was 6.6 per 100,000 in males and 3.3 per 100,000 in females. The prevalence of alcohol use disorders was 9.8% in males and 2.1% in females while in the same year [176]. In Israel, alcoholic spirits a are highly consumed (49.5%), followed by beer (44%) and wine (6.2%) [172].

According to a WHO report in 2016, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 0% in both males and females among general population (15+ years) in Kuwait. In the same report, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 4.8% in male drinkers and 1.1% in female drinkers. Total alcohol per capita was reported as 1.1 L for males and 0.4 L for females. ASDR due to alcohol-related liver cirrhosis was 7.2 per 100,000 in males and 7.8 per 100,000 in females. The prevalence of alcohol use disorders was 0.6% in males and 0.1% in females while in the same year [177]. In Kuwait, beer is highly consumed (58.1%), followed by spirits (30.7%) and wine (10.8%) [172].

The WHO report in 2016 gives the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking as 28.8% in males and 5.3% in females among general population (15+ years) in Qatar. In the same report, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 55.3% in male drinkers and 20.9% in female drinkers. Total alcohol per capita was reported as 4.8 L for males and 1.7 L for females. Age-standardized death rate (ASDR) due to alcohol-related liver cirrhosis was 19.4 per 100,000 in males and 4.9 per 100,000 in females. The prevalence of alcohol use disorders was 0.4% in males and 0.1% in females while in the same year [178]. In Qatar, spirits are highly consumed (84.6%), followed by wine (13.9%) and beer (1.2%) [172].

In Libya, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 0% in males and females among general population (15+ years) according to WHO report published in 2016. In the same report, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 2.5% in male drinkers and 0.6% in female drinkers. Total alcohol per capita was reported as 9.3 L for males and 3.3 L for females. ASDR due to alcohol-related liver cirrhosis was 32.9 per 100,000 in males and 18.4 per 100,000 in females. The prevalence of alcohol use disorders was 0.5% in males and 0.1% in females while in the same year [179]. There is no data on which alcoholic beverage is consumed highly in Libya [172].

The WHO report in 2016 gives the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking a 3.3% in males and 0.3% in females among general population (15+ years) in Oman. In the same report, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 31.3% in male drinkers and 8.9% in female drinkers. Total alcohol per capita was reported as 9.9 L for males and 3.5 L for females. Age-standardized death rate (ASDR) due to alcohol-related liver cirrhosis was 13.2 per 100,000 in males and 9.5 per 100,000 in females. The prevalence of alcohol use disorders was 0.4% in males and 0.1% in females while in the same year [180]. In Oman, beer is highly consumed (54.6%), followed by spirits (42.2%) and wine (3.3%) [172].

In Egypt, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 1% in males and 0.1% in females among the general population (15+ years) according to WHO report published in 2016. In the same report, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 22.6% in male drinkers and 5.9% in female drinkers. Total alcohol per capita was reported as 17 L for males and 6.2 L for females. ASDR due to alcohol-related liver cirrhosis was 200.4 per 100,000 in males and 121.6 per 100,000 in females. The prevalence of alcohol use disorders was 2.6% in males and 0.2% in females while in the same year [181]. In Egypt, beer is highly consumed (53.8%), followed by spirits (40.3%) and wine (5.4%) [172].

In Jordan, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 1.1% in males and 0.1% in females among the general population (15+ years) according to WHO report published in 2016. In the same report, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 23.9% in male drinkers and 6.3% in female drinkers. Total alcohol per capita was reported as 28.9 L for males and 10.6 L for females. ASDR due to alcohol-related liver cirrhosis was 20.6 per 100,000 in males and 14.6 per 100,000 in females. The prevalence of alcohol use disorders was 0.7% in males and 0.1% in females while in the same year [182]. In Jordan, spirits is highly consumed (75.4%), followed by beer (22.4%) and wine (2.1%) [172].

The WHO report in 2016 gives the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking as 0.3% in males and 0% in females among the general population (15+ years) in Saudi Arabia. In the same report, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 3.6% in male drinkers and 0.8% in female drinkers. Total alcohol per capita was reported as 4.5 L for males and 1.6 L for females. ASDR due to alcohol-related liver cirrhosis was 31.9 per 100,000 in males and 21.8 per 100,000 in females. The prevalence of alcohol use disorders was 0.5% in males and 0.1% in females while in the same year [183]. In Saudi Arabia, spirits is highly consumed (97.9%), followed by wine (1.9%) [172].

In Afghanistan, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 0% in males and females among the general population (15+ years) according to WHO report published in 2016. In the same report, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 2.3% in male drinkers and 0.5% in female drinkers. Total alcohol per capita was reported as 37.9 L for males and 14.3 L for females. ASDR due to alcohol-related liver cirrhosis was 28.2 per 100,000 in males and 19.6 per 100,000 in females. The prevalence of alcohol use disorders was 0.6% in males and 0.1% in females while in the same year [184]. There is no data on which alcoholic beverage is consumed highly in Afghanistan [172].

The WHO report in 2016 gives the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking as 1.1% in males and 0.1% in females among the general population (15+ years) in Iraq. In the same report, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 24.5% in male drinkers and 6.5% in female drinkers. Total alcohol per capita was reported as 14.6 L for males and 5.4 L for females. ASDR due to alcohol-related liver cirrhosis was 9.5 per 100,000 in males and 5.2 per 100,000 in females. The prevalence of alcohol use disorders was 0.5% in males and 0.1% in females while in the same year [185]. In Iraq, beer is highly consumed (76.1%), followed by spirits (22.9%) and wine (1%) [172].

In Bahrain, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 3.8% in males and 0.4% in females among the general population (15+ years) according to WHO report published in 2016. In the same report, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 33% in male drinkers and 9.4% in female drinkers. Total alcohol per capita was reported as 24.5 L for males and 8.7 L for females. ASDR due to alcohol-related liver cirrhosis was 15 per 100,000 in males and 9.1 per 100,000 in females. The prevalence of alcohol use disorders was 2.3% in males and 0.3% in females while in the same year [186]. In Bahrain, spirits are highly consumed (57%), followed by beer (36.6%) and wine (5.3%) [172].

In Syrian Arab Republic, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 0.1% in males and 0% in females among the general population (15+ years) according to WHO report published in 2016. In the same report, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was 2.3% in male drinkers and 0.5% in female drinkers. Total alcohol per capita was reported as 17.3 L for males and 6.4 L for females. ASDR due to alcohol-related liver cirrhosis was 17.8 per 100,000 in males and 12.8 per 100,000 in females. The prevalence of alcohol use disorders was 1% in males and 0.1% in females while in the same year [187]. In Syria, spirits is highly consumed (63.5%), followed by wine (27.9%) and beer (8.5%) [172].

11 How to Decrease and Control Alcohol Intake in the Middle East

Although drinking also is forbidden or restricted due to the religious beliefs of most of the countries in the Middle East, alcohol consumption is not very low and can lead to serious health consequences. Therefore, serious measures must be taken in the future:

- People should not keep alcohol at home in order to avoid the consumption.
- Routine traffic checks must be conducted in the countries of Middle East.
- Governments should implement education programs for public and explain the health risks of alcohol consumption. Experts must give detailed information in social media and televisions.
- Cigarette smoking and alcohol consumption together cause an increase in the mortality due to HCC and other cancers. Therefore, citizens should be educated and awareness must be raised in the societies.

12 Smoking

Cigarette smoking is suggested to be one of the main causes of cancer-related deaths worldwide. Although it particularly causes lung cancer, it is also suggested to be related to primary liver cancer. Cigarette smoke includes over 4000 chemical substances, which have hazardous effects. Chronic and heavy smoking causes the development of pathogenesis of liver disease. It induces three major adverse effects on the liver [188]:

- Direct or indirect toxic effects.
- Immunological effects.
- Oncogenic effects.

Over 60 carcinogens have been identified in cigarette smoke, and smoking is suggested to be "carcinogenic to humans" by IARC [189]. Nitrosamines from smoke can cause gene mutations and/or DNA and protein adducts. Nicotine directly promotes cancer progression through the activation of different signaling pathways. Both of these substances facilitate cancer cell growth, angiogenesis, migration, and invasion [190]. On the other hand, several chemicals in tobacco smoke, including 4-aminobiphenyl and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), are metabolized into reactive carcinogens in the liver [191]. Smoking also increases the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines [interleukin 1 (IL-1), interleukin 6 (IL-6), and TNF- α] that may be further involved in liver cell injury. Because of smoking, it is possible to develop secondary polycythemia. In turn, increased red cell mass and turnover is observed. This phenomenon might be a contributing factor to secondary iron overload disease that promotes oxidative stress of hepatocytes. As smokingbased chemicals have an oncogenic potential, they can increase the risk of HCC in patients with viral hepatitis [188]. The mechanisms of cigarette smoke-induced carcinogenesis are summarized in Fig. 7.

The International Agency for Research on Cancer and the US Surgeon General have stated that studies show a link between tobacco smoking and liver cancer. However, HCC (75% of all liver cancers) and intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma (ICC, 12%), two dominant types of liver cancer, have been widely studied by the research studies. Furthermore, it is not clear that smoking and alcohol consumption together increase the risk of HCC and ICC. The main causes of HCC



Fig. 7 The mechanisms of cigarette smoke-induced carcinogenesis. AP1 activator protein 1, AKT protein kinase B, BER base excision repair, HCC hepatocellular carcinoma, PKC protein kinase A, PKC protein kinase C

are hepatitis B or C virus, alcohol consumption, obesity, diabetes, and smoking-induced oxidative stress and inflammation [192–194]. ICC has the risk factors such as cirrhosis, HBV/HCV, alcohol consumption, obesity, and diabetes. Nevertheless, the association between smoking and ICC is still unclear. According to the Surgeon General's report, the results are conflicting concerning the dose-response relationships between liver cancer and smoking intensity (number of cigarettes per day and duration) [192, 195].

Reviews of epidemiologic studies and metaanalysis studies on HCC suggested that smoking might be categorized as a risk factor for liver cancer; however, ORs were not very high [192, 195]. A meta-analysis has analyzed 38 cohort and 58 case-control studies in order to evaluate association between liver cancer and cigarette smoking. The increased risk among current smokers was consistent across different regions, study designs, study sample sizes, and publication periods. There was a positive correlation between doseresponse and the number of daily consumed cigarettes. Attributable risks for HCC associated with smoking were also determined. The attributable factors HBV and HCV infections were determined as 13% and 21%, respectively, whereas smoking carried an attributable risk of almost 50%. Although smoking conveys only a small increase in relative risk compared to viral infections, its attributable risk was found to be higher [191, 192, 196].

13 Smoking and Liver Cancer in the Middle East

Throughout the globe, China has the most tobacco users (300.8 million), followed by India (205.9 million), Russia (60.2% among men), and Bangladesh (27.9%, overall) [197].

Throughout the Middle East and North Africa, one common denominator, namely, water pipe (also named as shisha, nargile, or rengila) use, is rising among children and young women as water pipe is seen as less harmful, even though one session with the pipe can deliver many times the impact of a single cigarette. Some experts suggest that smoking water pipe is becoming an epidemic and at least 60% of 16–19-year-olds in the Middle East have tried the water pipe [198].

When we have brief look on the smoking status in different countries of the Middle East, Turkey is 1 of 15 countries worldwide with a heavy burden of tobacco-related diseases. WHO's report in 2013 standardized estimate of smoking prevalence and suggested that 25.4% of Turkey's adult population (35.7% of men and 9.9% of women) are daily tobacco smokers [199]. In the UAE, Dubai Health Centers stated that smoking among 12- to 16-year-olds was between 25% and 30%, considerably higher than the WHO estimate of 13.2% for boys between 13 and 15 years [198]. A cross-sectional study performed in the UAE on 6363 participants suggested that 505 (8.9%) participants had smoked cigarettes, 355 (6.3%) had smoked midwakh, 421 (7.4%) had smoked shisha, and 380 (6.4%) had smoked any other form of tobacco in the previous 30 days. The results showed that 818 (14.0%) adolescents were current smokers (occasional or daily use of at least one form of tobacco). Tobacco use was higher in men compared to women, regardless of age and form of tobacco. Cigarette smoking was popular among men, while shisha was the most smoked tobacco form in women [200].

Golestan Cohort Study has included 165 participants from northeastern Iran: 60 individuals were never users of any tobacco, 35 were using exclusive cigarette, 40 were using exclusive (78% daily) water pipe, and 30 were smoking exclusive smokeless tobacco (nass). Thirty-nine biomarkers of exposure have been evaluated. The results showed that environmental exposure from nontobacco sources also appeared to contribute to the presence of high levels of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) metabolites, which had adverse effects, including cancer [201].

In another study, which was also a part of Golestan Cohort Study, 50,045 adults (40–75 years) were recruited from northeastern Iran. This study intended to determine the association between different types of tobacco use and earlier deaths. According to the results, 17% of participants reported a history of cigarette smoking, 7.5% chewing tobacco (nass), and 1.1% smoking water pipe. With age, the use of cigarette and different tobacco products showed a decline. The study concluded that regular use of cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, and water pipe was associated with the risk of earlier death, particularly from cancer [202].

In a study from Lebanon, the researchers aimed to estimate the percentage of cancer due to environmental exposures and lifestyle. The results showed that smoking caused most cancer cases, and it caused 1800 new cancer cases by 2018. Percentage attributable risk factor was calculated for liver cancer as 23% and 16% for males and females, respectively [203].

A study from Saudi Arabia explored that the changing trends and patterns of HCC at King Faisal Specialist Hospital and Research Center made a comparative analysis with local, regional, and global trends. Temporal trends indicated a rising incidence of HCC from 2001 to 2014 in Saudi Arabia. It was stated that there were 323 cases in 2001 while 376 cases were diagnosed with HCC in 2015 as per Saudi Cancer Registry. The authors suggested that although there was an improvement in preventive measures, incidence rates of HCC increased in 10 years with a marked regional variation. It was specified that chronic infection with HBV and/or HCV, heavy alcohol consumption, obesity, diabetes, and tobacco smoking were the main factors for this escalation. The researchers concluded that early detection and diagnosis due to expanding healthcare delivery in the country could help to detect this increase [204].

14 How to Decrease and Control Tobacco Use in the Middle East

Smoking causes serious health problems in the Middle East countries. Although men are smoking more than women, the smoking rates among women are rising possibly due to the belief that water pipe smoking is not as harmful as cigarette smoking. Therefore, serious measures must be taken in the future:

- Governments should implement education programs for public and explain the health risks of tobacco use.
- Detailed information in social media and televisions must be given to the public.
- Adolescents must be warned against the serious health effects of smoking.
- Smoking in restaurants and cafes or in public transportation should be forbidden.
- Water pipes also cause serious health consequences as cigarettes. Therefore, awareness should be raised in public on the diseases and pathologies that may arise from water pipe smoking.

15 Rsenic

The metals in the environment are classified in three groups [205]:

- Essential (selenium, copper, and zinc).
- Probably essential (cobalt, nickel, and vanadium).
- Potentially toxic (arsenic, mercury, cadmium, lead, and aluminum).

Heavy metals (e.g., mercury, cadmium, arsenic, chromium, thallium, lead) are found extensively in the environment with a density greater than 5 g/cm³ [205].

Arsenic is a natural element that is found in rocks and soil, water, and air and in plants and animals. It is one of the most toxic metals present in the natural environment. The major exposure of humans to arsenic is from contamination of drinking water from natural geological sources rather than from mining, smelting, or agricultural sources. Arsenic is present in a variety of industrial products including cosmetics, paints, fungicides, insecticides, pesticides, herbicides, wood preservatives, and cotton desiccants [206, 207].

The World Health Organization (WHO) considered exposure to arsenic (particularly from drinking water) carcinogenic to humans. Chronic arsenic exposure is known to cause various types of cancers including cancers of the skin, bladder, lung, liver, and stomach [208–210]. Long-term exposure to inorganic arsenic through inhalation or drinking water ingestion is causally related to increased risk of cancer in the lung, skin, and bladder. Inorganic arsenic can also increase the risk of kidney, liver, and prostate cancers depending on chronic exposures [211]. The underlying mechanisms of hepatocarcinogenesis caused by arsenic are summarized in Fig. 8.



Fig. 8 The underlying mechanisms of hepatocarcinogenesis caused by arsenic. 5-hmC 5-hydroxymethylcytosine, miRNA microRNA, SAM S-adenosyl methionine, SCE sister chromatid exchange

16 Arsenic and Liver Cancer in the Middle East

A study from Simav Plain, Turkey, aimed to compare the deaths related to different arsenic levels in drinking water supplies during 2005-2010. Thus, a two-phase research was designed. Arsenic concentrations of groundwaters were determined in the range of 7.1-833.9 ppb. In the first phase research, public health surveys were conducted on 1003 villagers to determine the distribution of diseases. In the second phase, verbal autopsy surveys and official death records were used to investigate the causes of death. In total, 402 death cases were reported, and cardiovascular system diseases (44%) and cancers (15.2%) were found to be major causes of death. Cancers of the lung (44.3%), prostate (9.8%), colon (9.8%), and stomach (8.2%) were comparably higher in villages with high arsenic levels in drinking water supplies. Furthermore, the majority of cases of liver, bladder, and stomach cancers were also observed in villages with high arsenic levels [208-210].

In a comprehensive review, the researchers investigated the available 221 articles reporting contamination levels of arsenic and mercury in commonly consumed foods in Iran. The results showed that the highest contamination rates of arsenic and mercury were in rice and fish, respectively. It was stated that arsenic and mercury contents in Iranian foods could cause serious health concerns due to the consumption of high quantities of these heavy metals from the main foods [205].

In another meta-analysis on arsenic and lead in rice from many geographical areas in Iran, carcinogenic risk of these heavy metals was estimated for the consumers. The results of 21 carcinogenic risk assessment reports performed between 2008 and October 2017 suggested that the minimum and maximum incremental lifetime cancer risk (ILCR) of arsenic was higher in the 45-54 (4.53×10^{-2}) and 15-24 (5.50×10^{-2}) years' age group consumers while ILCR was higher in 45-54 (2.442×10^{-3}) and 15-24(2.96×10^{-3}) years' age group consumers for lead. The overall carcinogenesis risk of arsenic (4.864×10^{-2}) was 18.5 times higher than lead (2.623×10^{-3}) . All age group consumers were suggested to be at considerable carcinogenesis risk (ILCR>10⁻³) due to the consumption of arsenic- and lead-contaminated rice [212].

Another study performed in Iran evaluated lead, cadmium, arsenic, and mercury contamination in cosmetic products in both legal and contraband products. The results showed that while lead, mercury, and cadmium contents in the products did not exceed the acceptable limit of the Federal Office of Consumer Protection and Food Safety of Germany (BVL), the arsenic contents of lipsticks, eye shadows, and eyebrow pencils were significantly higher than the BVL standard. The researchers concluded that the contents of arsenic in contraband eye shadows and eyebrow pencils should be taken into serious consideration by the relevant authorities [213].

Studies on the arsenicosis cases in the Middle East and several studies in different developing countries showed that the endemic arsenicosis caused by high levels of arsenic in drinking water is the main reason for blackfoot disease. In a case-control study conducted to examine the clinical characteristics of HCC patients with blackfoot disease of southwestern Taiwan, 65 HCC cases (54 men and 11 women) with blackfoot disease were examined and the clinicopathological features compared with 130 HCC control patients without blackfoot disease. Characteristics such as hepatitis viral infection status, liver function, histological findings, computed tomography scan characteristics, and patient survival were determined. The results showed no differences between HCC patients or their tumors, from study and control areas. However, the researchers observed that artesian well water contains high concentrations of arsenic in southwestern Taiwan and the mortality caused by HCC shows a doseresponse increase by concentration of arsenic in the well water [214]. A study from Peru aimed to assess the extent of arsenic contamination of groundwater and surface water. For this purpose, 151 water samples were collected from 12 districts of Peru, and arsenic concentrations were measured in the laboratory using inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS). In

86% (96/111) of the groundwater samples, arsenic concentrations were higher than 10 μ g/L which is the concentration guideline given by the WHO for drinking water. In 56% (62/111) of the samples, the mean concentration was 54.5 μ g/L (range: 0.1–93.1). In the Juliaca and Caracoto districts, in 96% (27/28) of groundwater samples, arsenic was above the WHO guideline. The arsenic concentrations in water samples from the Rímac River running through Lima were exceeding the WHO limit [215].

In a study from Mashhad, Iran, drinking water samples were assessed for probable health risk (noncarcinogenic and carcinogenic risk) for adults and children. Arsenic and other toxic heavy metals (lead, nickel, chromium, and mercury) were determined. The main heavy metal exposure routes for Mashhad residents were suggested to be from drinking water and dermal contact. The results of the study showed that the daily heavy metal intake via water consumption was four to ten times higher than dermal contact. The health risk assessment of heavy metals was evaluated based on daily intake and exposure through dermal absorption and ingestion of drinking water by using hazard quotient (HQ), hazard index (HI), and lifetime cancer risk (CR). The chemical analysis and testing were conducted on 140 water samples. The results of the HQ values of arsenic and heavy metals for combined routes were below the safety level (HQ < 1) for adults, while the HI for children were higher than the safety limit in some stations. Similarly, chromium levels had the highest average contribution of HI of the total heavy metals (55–71.2%) for adult and children population. The average values of total carcinogenic risk (TCR) for the metals by exposure from drinking water for adults and children were 7.38 \times 10^{-5} and 1.33×10^{-4} , respectively. For dermal exposure, the noncarcinogenic and carcinogenic risk level for arsenic and heavy metals were both higher than the American Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) risk management criterion. On the other hand, the CR total for children and adults was at borderline or higher than the safety level of US EPA risk, and these results suggested that there was a probability of carcinogenic risk

for the children and adults due to the intake of the carcinogenic heavy metals by via both ingestion and dermal route [216].

Arsenic distribution in well water has been investigated by a US Agency for International Development (USAID) Middle East Research Cooperation (MERC)-funded project. This study initiated a study that investigates the distribution of arsenic in toenails from arsenic-exposed residents through drinking water. Researchers also have collaborated with Duke Comprehensive Cancer Center and the University of California (UNC) School of Public Health for conducting interdisciplinary research in order to investigate the exposure of arsenic in Union County where the arsenic levels in private wells are very high. It has been specified by the continuous study group that the interface between inorganic isotope geochemistry and traditional epidemiological research could provide a very unique methodology for elucidating the impact of environmental hazards on human health. Preliminary results showed a significant correlation between arsenic in nails and drinking water [217].

A study conducted in Al-Kharj geothermal fields of Saudi Arabia aimed to evaluate the arsenic distribution and associated hydrogeochemical parameters in 27 randomly selected boreholes representing aquifers. Arsenic was detected at all sites, with 92.5% of boreholes yielding concentrations above the WHO permissible limit of 10 µg/L. The maximum concentration was determined as 122 µg/L. Sixty-seven percent of the total composition of the groundwater types were mainly Ca+2-Mg+2-Cl- and Na+-Cl-. The main source of arsenic release as geothermal in nature was evaluated by principal component analysis (PCA). The PCA yielded five components, which accounted for 44.1%, 17.0%, 10.1%, 08.4%, and 06.5% of the total variance. The first component had positive loadings for arsenic and boron along with other hydrogeochemical parameters. The data indicated that the primary sources of arsenic mobilization were derived from regional geothermal systems and weathering of minerals. The rest of the principal components showed reductive dissolution of iron oxyhydroxides as a possible mechanism. Spatial evaluation of the PCA results

indicated that this secondary mechanism of arsenic mobilization might be active and correlated positively with total organic carbon. The aquifers were contaminated to a high degree with organic carbon ranging from 0.57 mg/L to 21.42 mg/L and showed high concentrations ranging from 8.05 mg/L to 248.2 mg/L [218].

In a study from Pakistan, arsenic concentrations were measured in drinking water samples. A total of 4547 drinking water samples were collected from 11 different districts in Punjab province of Pakistan. The variation in arsenic concentrations was very high. Average arsenic concentrations from all districts range from 6 to 12 ng/ml, with an overall average value of 8.5 ± 1.6 ng/ml which was found within the WHO recommended limit of 10 ng/ml [219].

As arsenic can cause several health problems, including cancers of the liver and skin, authorities in the Middle East should highly be concerned about the arsenic levels in Middle East. Although some studies suggest that arsenic concentration in water is not in the recommended limits given by local or global authorities, some suggest the opposite. It is known that in developing countries, well water is highly used in rural areas and arsenic or other heavy metals contaminate the water, which is also used as drinking water in these areas. Therefore, governments should routinely monitor the arsenic content of drinking water and should apply necessary restrictions.

17 Vinyl Chloride

Vinyl chloride monomer (VCM) is a synthetic gas mostly used in the manufacture of polyvinyl chloride (PVC). PVC is a widely used material in plastics. Occupational exposure to VCM is very common, especially in the VCM/PVC production and processing industry [220].

The results of a follow-up study on autoclave workers confirmed that the highest exposures to VCM caused almost tenfold increased risk of HCC compared to workers with low or no exposure [220]. Since the mid-1970s, it is known that occupational exposure to VCM causes the development of angiosarcoma of the liver [221]. VCM is suggested to be a major risk factor for HCC, and in 2007, IARC listed VCM as human carcinogen [222]. The biotransformation and genotoxic effects of VCM are summarized in Fig. 9.

18 Vinyl Chloride and Liver Cancer in the Middle East

There is very limited data on VCM exposure in Middle East although the exposure is suggested to be high, particularly in plastic manufacturing plants. A study performed in Iran evaluated 43 VCM workers who had undergone regular medical evaluation in the last 3 years. No instance of liver dysfunction or angiosarcoma was discovered. The Iranian Standards Institute reviewed the occupational health data and local conditions for VCM provisionally and later set a threshold limit value (TLV)-time weighed average (TWA) of 25 ppm for 8 h in 1976. However, the researchers suggested that such precautionary measures should be revised and improved according to available data as VCM could cause HCC and other liver-related disorders after long periods of workplace exposure [223].

In a study from Kuwait's major power station (Doha West Power Station), spatial distribution of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) was assessed. The researcher collected 24-hour integrated ambient air samples in canisters from ten locations of the stations. According to the results, VCM concentrations were the highest among the other halogenated compounds. It was concluded that halogenated VOC compounds were the dominant group of air contaminants in Kuwait [224].

19 Other Chemicals

Exposure to organic solvents (halogenated, cyclic, aromatic, or aliphatic hydrocarbons, ketones, amines, esters, alcohols, aldehydes, and ethers) is also associated with biliary duct and liver cancers [225]. Persistent organic pollutants, including dioxins, are another group of chemicals



Fig. 9 The biotransformation and genotoxic effects of vinyl chloride. $\varepsilon A \ 1-N^6$ -ethenoadenine, $\varepsilon C \ 3-N^4$ -ethenocytosine, 70EG 7-(2-oxyethyl)guanine, N², 3- $\varepsilon G \ N^2$, 3-ethenoguanine

that are suggested to induce liver pathologies (e.g., fatty liver diseases, cancer) [226].

20 Conclusion

The population attributable risk estimates for liver cancer for each of these risk factors varies among countries in Middle East. Major risk factors of HCC mainly include chronic viral hepatitis, aflatoxin exposure, alcohol consumption, smoking, exposure to inorganic arsenic through drinking water, VCM exposure, and exposure to different organic solvents. On the other hand, oral contraceptives, iron overload, advanced hepatic fibrosis, chlorinated hydrocarbons, radioactive compounds, nitrosamines, oral contraceptives, endogenous hormones, male gender, and genetics are also important risk factors [23, 191].

One or more causative agents can be identified in most HCC cases. Furthermore, HCC can generally be viewed as a complication of cirrhosis, and the incidence is highest when the factors causing liver injury and inflammation (hepatitis) continue to operate. Although chronic HBV infection and chronic HCV infection are the most important risk factors for HCC worldwide, environmental exposures (i.e., high aflatoxin exposure) can lead to HCC. Synergistic and/or additive effects between aflatoxins and viral hepatitis infections mav enhance the risk of HCC. Additional studies that show the interactions between aflatoxins and HBV/HCV infections must be performed to predict possible in vivo effects. In addition, it can also be suggested that the possible presence of more than one mycotoxin in different foodstuff might also raise the risk of non-expected effects and possibly HCC in humans.

Aflatoxin and viral hepatitis risk management strategies need to be taken into account as an option to find a solution for HCC in the Middle East region. Scientific knowledge and improved techniques for harvesting, handling, and storage will reduce or help to eliminate the contamination problem of aflatoxins. Therefore, starting from the farmers, awareness should be raised. Foods and spices should be routinely monitored for the presence of aflatoxins before production and process and prior to consumption. Surveillance on food contaminants including aflatoxins should be conducted by related ministries continuously. Governments must implement necessary measures to ensure that food not complying with the maximum levels of aflatoxins is not marketed in the Middle East and that foods that are not compliable with the country's standards should be eliminated. Governments and professional organizations should develop different education programs on both aflatoxin exposures. Such measures can also decrease the economic loss of the countries due to high aflatoxin content of foods.

Smoking and alcohol are addictions that must be eliminated from the whole world. However, due to physiological and financial problems in Middle East, cigarette use and alcohol consumption are increasing, particularly in the new generation. Due to the cigarette smoking, passive smoking, and ethanol consumption, the incidence of cancers of the lung and liver are rising in the Middle East. Children should be educated starting from primary school for the unwanted health effects and consequences of these addictions. To solve this problem, Middle East countries must implement serious measures. For instance in Turkey, public intoxication and driving under the influence have very high fines. Smoking in cafes and restaurants in inner doors was restricted.

Arsenic contamination in water has been of concern of many governments for decades. Arsenic is one of the important causes of HCC and other types of cancer. However, this problem is still claiming the lives of many in the Middle East as water sources are scarce and serious cleaning procedures are not present in many countries of the region. Therefore, governments must convey financial sources to supply clean and drinkable water to their citizens, and regulatory authorities should investigate the water continuously.

Workplace exposures are always serious underlying causes of different types of cancers. VCM is a known human carcinogen that particularly causes liver tumors and angiosarcomas. Workplace investigations, especially in VCM-producing plants, should be performed frequently and liver parameters should be checked routinely. Middle East countries should perform routine air pollution assessments and particularly check VCM levels in the ambient air.

In conclusion, Middle East countries should implement serious measures for the prevention of HCC-causing factors. The air, water, and food quality should be checked routinely, and citizens should be educated by different governmental and professional programs to avoid consuming food with high aflatoxin content, cigarette use, and alcohol consumption. Moreover, workplaces should be under serious inspection in order to prevent workplace exposures.

References

- 1. Available from: https://www.cancer.org/cancer/ liver-cancer/about/what-is-key-statistics.html.
- Kirk GD, Bah E, Montesano R. Molecular epidemiology of human liver cancer: insights into etiology, pathogenesis and prevention from the Gambia, West Africa. Carcinogenesis. 2006;27(10):2070–82.
- Parkin DM, Bray F, Devesa S. Cancer burden in the year 2000. The global picture. Eur J Cancer. 2001;37:4–66.
- Raoul J-L Natural history of hepatocellular carcinoma and current treatment options. Seminars in nuclear medicine; 2008: Elsevier.
- Okuda K. Hepatocellular carcinoma: recent progress. Hepatology. 1992;15(5):948–63.
- Sell S. Cellular origin of cancer: dedifferentiation or stem cell maturation arrest? Environ Health Perspect. 1993;101(suppl 5):15–26.
- Palmer Beasley R, Lin CC, Chien CS, Chen CJ, Hwang LY. Geographic distribution of HBsAg carriers in China. Hepatology. 1982;2(5):5538–6S.
- Unsal H, Yakicier C, Marcais C, Kew M, Volkmann M, Zentgraf H, et al. Genetic heterogeneity of hepatocellular carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1994;91(2):822–6.
- Bressac B, Kew M, Wands J, Ozturk M. Selective G to T mutations of p53 gene in hepatocel-

lular carcinoma from southern Africa. Nature. 1991;350(6317):429–31.

- Wr R, Coetzee GA, Olumi AF, Jones PA. 5-Methylcytosine as an endogenous mutagen in the human LDL receptor and p53 genes. Science. 1990;249(4974):1288–90.
- Hsu I, Metcalf R, Sun T, Welsh J, Wang N, Harris C. Mutational hot spot in the p53 gene in human hepatocellular carcinomas. Nature. 1991;350(6317):427–8.
- Hollstein M, Sidransky D, Vogelstein B, Harris CC. p53 mutations in human cancers. Science. 1991;253(5015):49–53.
- Ferlay J. GLOBOCAN 2000. Cancer incidence, mortality and prevalence worldwide, version 1.0. IARC cancerbase. 2001.
- Bosch FX, Ribes J, Cléries R, Díaz M. Epidemiology of hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Liver Dis. 2005;9(2):191–211.
- International Agency for Research on Cancer. Liver. Source: Globacan. Available from: https://gco.iarc. fr/today/data/factsheets/cancers/11-Liver-fact-sheet. pdf.
- 16. Available from: https://www.worldlifeexpectancy. com/cause-of-death/liver-cancer/by-country/.
- Parkin DM. The global health burden of infectionassociated cancers in the year 2002. Int J Cancer. 2006;118(12):3030–44.
- Bruix J, Sherman M, Llovet JM, Beaugrand M, Lencioni R, Burroughs AK, et al. Clinical management of hepatocellular carcinoma. Conclusions of the Barcelona-2000 EASL conference. J Hepatol. 2001;35(3):421–30.
- El-Serag HB. Hepatocellular carcinoma: an epidemiologic view. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2002;35(5):S72–S8.
- Velázquez RF, Rodríguez M, Navascués CA, Linares A, Pérez R, Sotorríos NG, et al. Prospective analysis of risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with liver cirrhosis. Hepatology. 2003;37(3):520–7.
- 21. C. CANCERDATABASES IN THEARABWORLD.
- 22. Available from: https://www.worldlifeexpectancy. com/middle-east/liver-cancer-cause-of-death.
- Poustchi H, Sepanlou SG, Esmaili S, Mehrabi N, Ansarymoghadam A. Hepatocellular carcinoma in the world and the middle East. Middle East J Dig Dis. 2010;2(1):31.
- Fakeeh M, Zaki AM. Hepatitis C: prevalence and common genotypes among ethnic groups in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1999;61(6):889–92.
- 25. Fani A, Fani I, Eshrati B, Samadian P, Fani P, GHORISHI Y. screening for hepatocellular carcinoma in chronic carriers of hepatitis B and C in markazi province, iran. 2007.
- 26. Shamseddine A, Sibai A-M, Gehchan N, Rahal B, El-Saghir N, Ghosn M, et al. Cancer incidence in postwar Lebanon: findings from the first national

population-based registry, 1998. Ann Epidemiol. 2004;14(9):663–8.

- 27. Yaghi C, Sharara A, Rassam P, Moucari R, Honein K, Boujaoude J, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma in Lebanon: Etiology and prognostic factors associated with short-term survival. World J Gastroenterol. 2006;12(22):3575.
- Abbas Z, Abbas M, Abbas S, Shazi L. Hepatitis D and hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Hepatol. 2015;7(5):777.
- Uzunalimoğlu Ö, Yurdaydin C, Çetinkaya H, Bozkaya H, Şahin T, Çolakoğlu S, et al. Risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma in Turkey. Dig Dis Sci. 2001;46(5):1022–8.
- Okuda K, Tabor E. Liver cancer. Churchill Livingstone; 1997.
- 31. Salim EI, Moore MA, Al-Lawati JA, Al-Sayyad J, Bazawir A, Bener A, et al. Cancer epidemiology and control in the Arab world-past, present and future. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2009;10(1):3–16.
- 32. Lehman EM, Soliman AS, Ismail K, Hablas A, Seifeldin IA, Ramadan M, et al. Patterns of hepatocellular carcinoma incidence in Egypt from a population-based cancer registry. Hepatol Res. 2008;38(5):465–73.
- Chen CJ, Chen C, Wu M, Kuo T-L. Cancer potential in liver, lung, bladder and kidney due to ingested inorganic arsenic in drinking water. Br J Cancer. 1992;66(5):888–92.
- Neuberger J, Forman D, Doll R, Williams R. Oral contraceptives and hepatocellular carcinoma. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed). 1986;292(6532):1355–7.
- Palmer JR, Rosenberg L, Kaufman DW, warshauer ME, Stolley P, Shapiro S. Oral contraceptive use and liver cancer. Am J Epidemiol. 1989;130(5):878–82.
- Mandishona E, MacPhail AP, Gordeuk VR, Kedda MA, Paterson AC, Rouault TA, et al. Dietary iron overload as a risk factor for hepatocellular carcinoma in Black Africans. Hepatology. 1998;27(6):1563–6.
- Available from: https://www.cancer.org/cancer/ liver-cancer/causes-risks-prevention/risk-factors. html.
- Bosch FX, Ribes J, Borràs J, editors. Epidemiology of primary liver cancer. Seminars in liver disease. Thieme Medical Publishers, Inc; 1999.
- Belpomme D, Irigaray P, Hardell L, Clapp R, Montagnier L, Epstein S, et al. The multitude and diversity of environmental carcinogens. Environ Res. 2007;105(3):414–29.
- https://monographs.iarc.fr/agents-classifiedby-the-iarc.
- Cancer IAfRo. Preamble to the IARC Monographs. Scientific Review and Evaluation http://monographs. iarc.fr/ENG/Preamble/currentbscientificintro0706. php Published. 2006.
- 42. https://monographs.iarc.fr/list-of-classifications.
- Shephard GS. Aflatoxin analysis at the beginning of the twenty-first century. Anal Bioanal Chem. 2009;395(5):1215–24.

- 44. Shephard GS. Determination of mycotoxins in human foods. Chem Soc Rev. 2008;37(11):2468–77.
- 45. Organization WH, Cancer IAfRo. Some naturally occurring substances: food items and constituents, heterocyclic aromatic amines and mycotoxins. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risk Chem Hum. 1993;56
- 46. Giray B, Girgin G, Engin AB, Aydın S, Sahin G. Aflatoxin levels in wheat samples consumed in some regions of Turkey. Food Control. 2007;18(1):23–9.
- 47. Giray B, Atasayar S, Sahin G. Determination of ochratoxin A and total aflatoxin levels in corn samples from Turkey by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Mycotoxin Res. 2009;25(2):113–6.
- Kensler TW, Roebuck BD, Wogan GN, Groopman JD. Aflatoxin: a 50-year odyssey of mechanistic and translational toxicology. Toxicol Sci. 2011;120(suppl_1):S28–48.
- Erkekoğlu P, Şahin G, Baydar T. A special focus on mycotoxin contamination in baby foods: their presence and regulations. FABAD J Pharm Sci. 2008;33:51–66.
- Kew MC. Aflatoxins as a cause of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gastrointest Liver Dis. 2013;22(3)
- Probst C, Njapau H, Cotty PJ. Outbreak of an acute aflatoxicosis in Kenya in 2004: identification of the causal agent. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2007;73(8):2762–4.
- Matsuda Y, Wakai T, Kubota M, Osawa M, Sanpei A, Fujimaki S. Mycotoxins are conventional and novel risk biomarkers for hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol: WJG. 2013;19(17):2587.
- Woloshuk CP, Shim W-B. Aflatoxins, fumonisins, and trichothecenes: a convergence of knowledge. FEMS Microbiol Rev. 2013;37(1):94–109.
- Bryden WL. Mycotoxins in the food chain: human health implications. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. 2007;16(S1):95–101.
- Poirier MC. Chemical-induced DNA damage and human cancer risk. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004;4(8):630–7.
- Kotsonis FN, Burdock GA. Food toxicology. In: Casarett and Doull's toxicology: the basic science of poisons; 2008. p. 1191–236.
- Gross-Steinmeyer K, Eaton DL. Dietary modulation of the biotransformation and genotoxicity of aflatoxin B1. Toxicology. 2012;299(2–3):69–79.
- Friedman M, Rasooly R. Review of the inhibition of biological activities of food-related selected toxins by natural compounds. Toxins. 2013;5(4):743–75.
- Ueng Y-F, Shimada T, Yamazaki H, Guengerich FP. Oxidation of aflatoxin B1 by bacterial recombinant human cytochrome P450 enzymes. Chem Res Toxicol. 1995;8(2):218–25.
- 60. Wild CP, Gong YY. Mycotoxins and human disease: a largely ignored global health issue. Carcinogenesis. 2010;31(1):71–82.
- 61. Croy RG, Wogan GN. Temporal patterns of covalent DNA adducts in rat liver after single

and multiple doses of aflatoxin B1. Cancer Res. 1981;41(1):197–203.

- 62. Smela ME, Hamm ML, Henderson PT, Harris CM, Harris TM, Essigmann JM. The aflatoxin B1 formamidopyrimidine adduct plays a major role in causing the types of mutations observed in human hepatocellular carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2002;99(10):6655–60.
- 63. Gursoy-Yuzugullu O, Yuzugullu H, Yilmaz M, Ozturk M. Aflatoxin genotoxicity is associated with a defective DNA damage response bypassing p53 activation. Liver Int. 2011;31(4):561–71.
- 64. Sancar A, Lindsey-Boltz LA, Ünsal-Kaçmaz K, Linn S. Molecular mechanisms of mammalian DNA repair and the DNA damage checkpoints. Annu Rev Biochem. 2004;73(1):39–85.
- 65. Burma S, Chen BP, Murphy M, Kurimasa A, Chen DJ. ATM phosphorylates histone H2AX in response to DNA double-strand breaks. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(45):42462–7.
- Bennett RA, Essigmann JM, Wogan GN. Excretion of an aflatoxin-guanine adduct in the urine of aflatoxin B1-treated rats. Cancer Res. 1981;41(2):650–4.
- 67. Sabbioni G, Skipper PL, Büchi G, Tannenbaum SR. Isolation and characterization of the major serum albumin adduct formed by aflatoxin B 1 in vivo in rats. Carcinogenesis. 1987;8(6):819–24.
- Bhat R, Krishnamachari K. Follow-up study of aflatoxic hepatitis in parts of western India. Indian J Med Res. 1977;66(1):55–8.
- 69. Wang J-S, Huang T, Su J, Liang F, Wei Z, Liang Y, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma and aflatoxin exposure in Zhuqing village, Fusui county, People's Republic of China. Cancer Epidemiol Prevent Biomarkers. 2001;10(2):143–6.
- Akhter I, Gupta A. Viral hepatitis with special reference to hepatitis B virus infection in India: an overview. J Indian Med Assoc. 2013;111(2):121–2. 6
- Shepard DS, Undurraga EA, Halasa YA. Economic and disease burden of dengue in Southeast Asia. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2013;7(2):e2055.
- Karoney MJ, Siika AM. Hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection in Africa: a review. Pan African Med J. 2013;14(1)
- Paterson RR, Lima N. Toxicology of mycotoxins. Molecular, clinical and environmental toxicology. Springer; 2010. p. 31–63.
- 74. Moudgil V, Redhu D, Dhanda S, Singh J. A review of molecular mechanisms in the development of hepatocellular carcinoma by aflatoxin and hepatitis B and C viruses. J Environ Pathol Toxicol Oncol. 2013;32(2)
- 75. Chen C-H, Wang M-H, Wang J-H, Hung C-H, Hu T-H, Lee S-C, et al. Aflatoxin exposure and hepatitis C virus in advanced liver disease in a hepatitis C virus–endemic area in Taiwan. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2007;77(4):747–52.
- 76. Johnson NM, Qian G, Xu L, Tietze D, Marroquin-Cardona A, Robinson A, et al. Aflatoxin and PAH exposure biomarkers in a US population with a high

incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma. Sci Total Environ. 2010;408(23):6027–31.

- 77. Leong Y-H, Rosma A, Latiff AA, Izzah AN. Associations of serum aflatoxin B1–lysine adduct level with socio-demographic factors and aflatoxins intake from nuts and related nut products in Malaysia. Int J Hyg Environ Health. 2012;215(3):368–72.
- Wild CP, Hudson GJ, Sabbioni G, Chapot B, Hall AJ, Wogan GN, et al. Dietary intake of aflatoxins and the level of albumin-bound aflatoxin in peripheral blood in the Gambia, West Africa. Cancer Epidemiol Prev Biomarkers. 1992;1(3):229–34.
- Bedard LL, Massey TE. Aflatoxin B1-induced DNA damage and its repair. Cancer Lett. 2006;241(2):174–83.
- Shen H-M, Ong C-N, Lee B-L, Shi C-Y. Aflatoxin B1-induced 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine formation in rat hepatic DNA. Carcinogenesis. 1995;16(2):419–22.
- Wang J-S, Groopman JD. DNA damage by mycotoxins. Mutat Res. 1999;424(1–2):167–81.
- Olivier M, Hussain SP. Caron dFC, Hainaut P, Harris CC. TP53 mutation spectra and load: a tool for generating hypotheses on the etiology of cancer. IARC Sci Publ. 2004;157:247.
- Farazi PA, Depinho RA. The genetic and environmental basis of hepatocellular carcinoma. Discov Med. 2009;6(35):182–6.
- Sajan MP, Satav JG, Bhattacharya RK. Alteration of energy-linked functions in rat hepatic mitochondria following aflatoxin B1 administration. J Biochem Toxicol. 1996;11(5):235–41.
- Pasupathy K, Krishna M, Bhattacharya RK. Alterations of phosphatidylinositol signal transduction pathway in hepatic mitochondria following aflatoxin B1 administration. Indian J Exp Biol. 1999;37(9):876–80.
- Yardim N, Mollahaliloglu S. The situation of cancer in Turkey and evaluation of its coherence with international indicators. Cancer Control Turkey. 2006:111–28.
- Shanks ET, Statkiewicz WR, Llwelleyn GC, Dashek WV. Tissue distribution and hepatic ultrastructural effects of aflatoxin B1 in Japanese quail. Pol Arch Weter. 1986;26(1–2):117–31.
- Rainbow L, Maxwell SM, Hendrickse RG. Ultrastructural changes in murine lymphocytes induced by aflatoxin B1. Mycopathologia. 1994;125(1):33–9.
- Obasi SC. Effects of scopoletin and aflatoxin B1 on bovine hepatic mitochondrial respiratory complexes, 2: a-ketoglutarate cytochrome c and succinate cytochrome c reductases. Z Naturforsch C J Biosci. 2001;56(3–4):278–82.
- Pier A. Immunomodulation in aflatoxicosis. Diagnosis of mycotoxicoses. Springer; 1986. p. 143–8.
- Reddy R, Taylor M, Sharma R. Studies of immune function of CD-1 mice exposed to aflatoxin B1. Toxicology. 1987;43(2):123–32.

- RichardJ J, Thurston J, Pier A. Effects of mycotoxins on immunity. In: Rosenberg P, editor. Toxins: animal, plant and microbial, vol. 19. New York; 1987. p. 801–17.
- Paterson RRM, Lima N. How will climate change affect mycotoxins in food? Food Res Int. 2010;43(7):1902–14.
- 94. Franceschi S, Montella M, Polesel J, La Vecchia C, Crispo A, Dal Maso L, et al. Hepatitis viruses, alcohol, and tobacco in the etiology of hepatocellular carcinoma in Italy. Cancer Epidemiol Prev Biomarkers. 2006;15(4):683–9.
- Abdel-Hafez A, Saber SM. Mycoflora and mycotoxin of hazelnut (Corylus avellana L.) and walnut (Juglans regia L.) seeds in Egypt. Zentralbl Mikrobiol. 1993;148(2):137–47.
- Selim MI, Popendorf W, Ibrahim MS, Sharkawy SE, Kashory ESE. Anatoxin B1 in common Egyptian foods. J AOAC Int. 1996;79(5):1124–9.
- El-Kady I, Youssef M. Survey of mycoflora and mycotoxins in Egyptian soybean seeds. J Basic Microbiol. 1993;33(6):371–8.
- Abdallah MF, Krska R, Sulyok M. Occurrence of ochratoxins, fumonisin B2, aflatoxins (B1 and B2), and other secondary fungal metabolites in dried date palm fruits from Egypt: a mini-survey. J Food Sci. 2018;83(2):559–64.
- 99. Hifnawy M, Mangoud AM, Eissa MH, Edin EN, Mostafa Y, Abouel-Magd Y, et al. 8-The role of aflatoxin-contaminated food materials and hcv in developing hepatocellular carcinoma in Sharkia Governorate, Egypt. Journal-Egyptian Society Of Parasitology. 2004;34(1; SUPP):479–88.
- 100. Aly SE. Distribution of aflatoxins in product and by-products during glucose production from contaminated corn. Food Nahrung. 2002;46(5):341–4.
- 101. Madbouly AK, Ibrahim MI, Sehab AF, Abdel-Wahhab MA. Co-occurrence of mycoflora, aflatoxins and fumonisins in maize and rice seeds from markets of different districts in Cairo, Egypt. Food Addit Contam B. 2012;5(2):112–20.
- Soliman K. Incidence, level, and behavior of aflatoxins during coffee bean roasting and decaffeination. J Agric Food Chem. 2002;50(25):7477–81.
- 103. Abdallah MF, Krska R, Sulyok M. Mycotoxin contamination in sugarcane grass and juice: first report on detection of multiple mycotoxins and exposure assessment for aflatoxins B1 and G1 in humans. Toxins. 2016;8(11):343.
- 104. Abdallah MF, Girgin G, Baydar T. Mycotoxin detection in maize, commercial feed, and raw dairy milk samples from Assiut City, Egypt. Vet Sci. 2019;6(2):57.
- 105. Aziz NH, Youssef YA. Occurrence of aflatoxins and aflatoxin-producing moulds in fresh and processed meat in Egypt. Food Addit Contam. 1991;8(3):321–31.
- 106. Abd-Elghany SM, Sallam KI. Rapid determination of total aflatoxins and ochratoxins A in meat prod-

ucts by immuno-affinity fluorimetry. Food Chem. 2015;179:253-6.

- 107. Turner PC, Loffredo C, Kafrawy SE, Ezzat S, Eissa SAL, Daly ME, et al. Pilot survey of aflatoxin–albumin adducts in sera from Egypt. Food Addit Contam. 2008;25(5):583–7.
- 108. Polychronaki N, Wild CP, Mykkänen H, Amra H, Abdel-Wahhab M, Sylla A, et al. Urinary biomarkers of aflatoxin exposure in young children from Egypt and Guinea. Food Chem Toxicol. 2008;46(2):519–26.
- 109. Sayed HA, El Ayyat A, El Dusoki H, Zoheiry M, Mohamed S, Hassan M, et al. A cross sectional study of hepatitis B, C, some trace elements, heavy metals, aflatoxin B1 and schistosomiasis in a rural population, Egypt. J Egypt Public Health Assoc. 2005;80(3):4.
- 110. Piekkola S, Turner P, Abdel-Hamid M, Ezzat S, El-Daly M, El-Kafrawy S, et al. Characterisation of aflatoxin and deoxynivalenol exposure among pregnant Egyptian women. Food Addit Contam A. 2012;29(6):962–71.
- 111. Abdel-Wahab M, Mostafa M, Sabry M, El-Farrash M, Yousef T. Aflatoxins as a risk factor for hepatocellular carcinoma in Egypt, Mansoura Gastroenterology Center study. Hepatogastroenterology. 2008;55(86–87):1754.
- 112. Saad-Hussein A, Taha MM, Beshir S, Shahy EM, Shaheen W, Elhamshary M. Carcinogenic effects of aflatoxin B1 among wheat handlers. Int J Occup Environ Health. 2014;20(3):215–9.
- 113. Taghizadeh SF, Rezaee R, Davarynejad G, Asili J, Nemati SH, Goumenou M, et al. Risk assessment of exposure to aflatoxin B1 and ochratoxin A through consumption of different Pistachio (Pistacia vera L.) cultivars collected from four geographical regions of Iran. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol. 2018;61:61–6.
- 114. Habibipour R, Tamandegani PR, Farmany A. Monitoring of aflatoxin G1, B1, G2, and B2 occurrence in some samples of walnut. Environ Monit Assess. 2016;188(12):669.
- 115. Cheraghali A, Yazdanpanah H, Doraki N, Abouhossain G, Hassibi M, Ali-Abadi S, et al. Incidence of aflatoxins in Iran pistachio nuts. Food Chem Toxicol. 2007;45(5):812–6.
- 116. Nejad MI, Farahani A. Aflatoxin in raw walnut kernels marketed in Tehran, Iran. Food Addit Contam B. 2012;5(1):8–10.
- 117. Feizy J, Beheshti H, Fakoor Janati S, Khoshbakht FN. Survey of aflatoxins in watermelon seeds from Iran using immunoaffinity column cleanup and HPLC with fluorescence detection. Food Addit Contam B. 2011;4(2):106–9.
- 118. Janati SSF, Beheshti HR, Fahim NK, Feizy J. Aflatoxins and ochratoxinin A in bean from Iran. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol. 2011;87(2):194–7.
- 119. Nazari F, Sulyok M, Yazdanpanah H, Kobarfard F, Krska R. A survey of mycotoxins in domestic rice in Iran by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. Toxicol Mech Methods. 2014;24(1):37–41.

- 120. Janati SSF, Beheshti HR, Asadi M, Mihanparast S, Feizy J. Preliminary survey of aflatoxins and ochratoxin A in dried fruits from Iran. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol. 2012;88(3):391–5.
- 121. Amirkhizi B, Arefhosseini SR, Ansarin M, Nemati M. Aflatoxin B1 in eggs and chicken livers by dispersive liquid–liquid microextraction and HPLC. Food Addit Contam B. 2015;8(4):245–9.
- 122. Ivastava V Sr, Bu-Abbas A, Al-Johar W, Al-Mufti S, Siddiqui M. Aflatoxin M 1 contamination in commercial samples of milk and dairy products in Kuwait. Food Addit Contam. 2001;18(11):993–7.
- 123. Abdulkadar A, Al-Ali A, Al-Jedah JH. Occurrence of aflatoxin in commodities imported into Qatar, 1997–2000. Food Addit Contam. 2002;19(7):666–70.
- 124. Ul Hassan Z, Al Thani R, Atia FA, Al Meer S, Migheli Q, Jaoua S. Co-occurrence of mycotoxins in commercial formula milk and cereal-based baby food on the Qatar market. Food Addit Contam B. 2018;11(3):191–7.
- 125. Al Jabir M, Barcaru A, Latiff A, Jaganjac M, Ramadan G, Horvatovich P. Dietary exposure of the Qatari population to food mycotoxins and reflections on the regulation limits. Toxicol Rep. 2019;6:975–82.
- 126. Saad-Hussein A, Taha M, Fadl N, Awad A, Mahdy-Abdallah H, Moubarz G, et al. Effects of airborne Aspergillus on serum aflatoxin B1 and liver enzymes in workers handling wheat flour. Hum Exp Toxicol. 2016;35(1):3–9.
- 127. Abdulrazzaq YM, Osman N, Ibrahim A. Fetal exposure to aflatoxins in the United Arab Emirates. Ann Trop Paediatr. 2002;22(1):3–9.
- 128. Baydar T, Engin AB, Girgin G, Aydin S, Sahin G. Aflatoxin and ochratoxin in various types of commonly consumed retail ground samples in Ankara, Turkey. Ann Agric Environ Med. 2005;12(2):193–7.
- 129. Boyacioglu D, Gönül M. Survey of aflatoxin contamination of dried figs grown in Turkey in 1986. Food Addit Contam. 1990;7(2):235–7.
- Kabak B. Aflatoxins in hazelnuts and dried figs: occurrence and exposure assessment. Food Chem. 2016;211:8–16.
- Hacıbekiroğlu I, Kolak U. Aflatoxins in various food from Istanbul, Turkey. Food Addit Contam B. 2013;6(4):260–4.
- 132. Kilic S, Cam IB, Tongur T, Kilic M. Health risk assessment of exposure to heavy metals and aflatoxins via dietary intake of dried red pepper from marketplaces in Antalya, Southern Turkey. J Food Sci. 2018;83(10):2675–81.
- 133. Colak H, Hampikyan H, Bingol EB, Cetin O, Akhan M, Turgay SI. Determination of mould and aflatoxin contamination in tarhana, a Turkish fermented food. Sci World J. 2012;2012
- 134. Özkan A, Bindak R, Erkmen O. Aflatoxin B1 and aflatoxins in ground red chilli pepper after drying. Food Addit Contam B. 2015;8(3):227–33.
- 135. Tosun H, Arslan R. Determination of aflatoxin B1 levels in organic spices and herbs. Sci World J. 2013;2013
- 136. Set E, Erkmen O. The aflatoxin contamination of ground red pepper and pistachio nuts sold in Turkey. Food Chem Toxicol. 2010;48(8–9):2532–7.
- 137. Karaaslan M, Arslanğray Y. Aflatoxins B 1, B 2, G 1, and G 2 contamination in ground red peppers commercialized in Sanliurfa, Turkey. Environ Monit Assess. 2015;187(4):184.
- Günsen U, Büyükyörük I. Aflatoxins in retail food products in Bursa, Turkey. Vet Hum Toxicol. 2002;44(5):289–90.
- 139. Baydar T, Erkekoglu P, Sipahi H, Sahin G. Aflatoxin B~ 1, M~ 1 and ochratoxin A levels in infant formulae and baby foods marketed in Ankara, Turkey. J Food Drug Anal. 2007;15(1):89.
- 140. Ulca P, Evcimen M, Senyuva H. Surveys of aflatoxin B1 contamination of retail Turkish foods and of products intended for export between 2007 and 2009. Food Addit Contam B. 2010;3(2):120–5.
- 141. Oruc H, Sonal S. Determination of aflatoxin M1 levels in cheese and milk consumed in Bursa, Turkey. Vet Human Toxicol. 2001;43(5):292–3.
- 142. Gürbay A, Sabuncuoğlu SA, Girgin G, Şahin G, Yiğit Ş, Yurdakök M, et al. Exposure of newborns to aflatoxin M1 and B1 from mothers' breast milk in Ankara, Turkey. Food Chem Toxicol. 2010;48(1):314–9.
- 143. Aydin S, Sabuncuoglu S, Erkekoglu P, Şahin G, Giray BK. Serum aflatoxin levels of the healthy adult population living in the north and south regions of Turkey. Public Health Nutr. 2014;17(11):2496–504.
- 144. Sabuncuoglu S, Erkekoglu P, Aydin S, Şahin G, Kocer-Gumusel B. The effects of season and gender on the serum aflatoxins and ochratoxin A levels of healthy adult subjects from the Central Anatolia Region, Turkey. Eur J Nutr. 2015;54(4):629–38.
- 145. Aydın M, Aydın S, Bacanlı M, Başaran N. Aflatoxin levels in chronic hepatitis B patients with cirrhosis or hepatocellular carcinoma in B alıkesir, T urkey. J Viral Hepat. 2015;22(11):926–35.
- 146. Schuppan D, Afdhal NH. Liver cirrhosis. Lancet. 2008;371(9615):838–51.
- 147. Vandercammen G, Seifarth K. New EU Aflatoxin levels and sampling plan. USDA foreign agricultural service Global agricultural information network Gain report. 2010 (E50018).
- 148. Candlish A, Pearson S, Aidoo K, Smith J, Kell B, Irvine H. A survey o f ethnic foods for microbial quality and aflatoxin content. Food Addit Contam. 2001;18:129–36.
- 149. The Regulation Stating a Change in the Regulation of the Turkish Food Codex.
- 150. Williams JH, Phillips TD, Jolly PE, Stiles JK, Jolly CM, Aggarwal D. Human aflatoxicosis in developing countries: a review of toxicology, exposure, potential health consequences, and interventions. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004;80(5):1106–22.

- 151. Strosnider H, Azziz-Baumgartner E, Banziger M, Bhat RV, Breiman R, Brune M-N, et al. Workgroup report: public health strategies for reducing aflatoxin exposure in developing countries. Environ Health Perspect. 2006;114(12):1898–903.
- 152. Shephard GS. Impact of mycotoxins on human health in developing countries. Food Addit Contam. 2008;25(2):146–51.
- Available from: https://aflasafe.com/wp-content/ uploads/pdf/TPP-8-Aflatoxin-Standards-for-Food. pdf.
- Allain J-P, Opare-Sem O. Screening and diagnosis of HBV in low-income and middle-income countries. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016;13(11):643–53.
- 155. Fallahian F, Najafi A. Epidemiology of hepatitis C in the Middle East. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2011;22(1):1.
- 156. Toukan AU, Al-Kandari S. The role of hepatitis D virus in liver disease in the Middle East. Prog Clin Biol Res. 1991;364:63–8.
- 157. Cancer IAfRo. Alcohol drinking. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum. 1988;44
- Chuang S-C, Lee Y-CA, Wu G-J, Straif K, Hashibe M. Alcohol consumption and liver cancer risk: a meta-analysis. Cancer Causes Control. 2015;26(9):1205–31.
- Cederbaum AI. Alcohol metabolism. Clin Liver Dis. 2012;16(4):667–85.
- 160. Zakhari S. Overview: how is alcohol metabolized by the body? Alcohol Res Health. 2006;29(4):245.
- 161. Ogunwobi OO, Harricharran T, Huaman J, Galuza A, Odumuwagun O, Tan Y, et al. Mechanisms of hepatocellular carcinoma progression. World J Gastroenterol. 2019;25(19):2279.
- 162. Wang Z, Li Z, Ye Y, Xie L, Li W. Oxidative stress and liver cancer: etiology and therapeutic targets. Oxidative Med Cell Longev. 2016;2016
- 163. Ceni E, Mello T, Galli A. Pathogenesis of alcoholic liver disease: role of oxidative metabolism. World J Gastroenterol: WJG. 2014;20(47):17756.
- 164. Baraona E, Lieber CS. Effects of ethanol on lipid metabolism. J Lipid Res. 1979;20(3):289–315.
- 165. Kourkoumpetis T, Sood G. Pathogenesis of alcoholic liver disease: an update. Clin Liver Dis. 2019;23(1):71–80.
- 166. Testino G. The burden of cancer attributable to alcohol consumption. Maedica. 2011;6(4):313.
- Cancer IAfRo. Personal habits and indoor combustions: a review of human carcinogens. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum. 2012;100(Part E):1–598.
- 168. Stickel F, Schuppan D, Hahn E, Seitz H. Cocarcinogenic effects of alcohol in hepatocarcinogenesis. Gut. 2002;51(1):132–9.
- 169. Singal AK, Anand BS. Mechanisms of synergy between alcohol and hepatitis C virus. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2007;41(8):761–72.
- 170. Seitz HK, Matsuzaki S, Yokoyama A, Homann N, Väkeväinen S, Wang XD. Alcohol and cancer. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2001;25:137S–43S.

- 171. WHO Substance Abuse Publications. Turkey. Available from: https://www.who.int/substance_ abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/profiles/ tur.pdf?ua=1.
- 172. WHO Substance Abuse Publications. Available from: https://www.who.int/substance_abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/msb_gsr_2014_3. pdf?ua=1WHO.
- 173. Available from: https://www.who.int/substance_ abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/profiles/ are.pdf?ua=1.
- 174. WHO Substance Abuse Publications. Lebanon. 2016. Available from: https://www.who.int/substance_abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/ profiles/lbn.pdf?ua=1.
- 175. WHO Substance Abuse Publications. Sudan. 2016. Available from: https://www.who.int/substance_ abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/profiles/2011/sdn.pdf?ua=1.
- 176. WHO Substance Abuse Publications. Israel. 2016. Available from: https://www.who.int/substance_ abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/profiles/ isr.pdf?ua=1.
- 177. WHO Substance Abuse Publications. Kuwait. 2016. Available from: https://www.who.int/substance_ abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/profiles/ kwt.pdf?ua=1.
- 178. WHO Substance Abuse Publications. Qatar. 2016. Available from: https://www.who.int/substance_ abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/profiles/ qat.pdf?ua=1.
- 179. WHO Substance Abuse Publications. Libya. 2016. Available from: https://www.who.int/substance_ abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/profiles/ lby.pdf?ua=1.
- WHO Substance Abuse Publications. Oman. 2016. Available from: https://www.who.int/substance_ abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/profiles/ omn.pdf?ua=1.
- WHO Substance Abuse Publications. Egypt. 2016. Available from: https://www.who.int/substance_ abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/profiles/ egy.pdf?ua=1.
- WHO Substance Abuse Publications. Jordan. 2016. Available from: https://www.who.int/substance_ abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/profiles/ jor.pdf?ua=1.
- WHO Substance Abuse Publications. Saudi Arabia. 2016. Available from: http://tdr.who.int/substance_ abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/profiles/ sau.pdf.
- 184. WHO Substance Abuse Publications. Afghanistan. 2016. Available from: https://www.who.int/substance_abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/ profiles/afg.pdf?ua=1.
- 185. WHO Substance Abuse Publications. Iraq. 2016. Available from: https://www.who.int/substance_ abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/profiles/ irq.pdf?ua=1.

- 186. WHO Substance Abuse Publications. bahrain. 2016. Available from: https://www.who.int/substance_ abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/profiles/ bhr.pdf?ua=1.
- 187. WHO Substance Abuse Publications. Syria. 2016. Available from: https://www.who.int/substance_ abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/profiles/ syr.pdf?ua=1.
- El-Zayadi A-R. Heavy smoking and liver. World J Gastroenterol: WJG. 2006;12(38):6098.
- 189. Hoffmann D, Hoffmann I, El-Bayoumy K. The less harmful cigarette: a controversial issue. A tribute to Ernst L. Wynder. Chem Res Toxicol. 2001;14(7):767–90.
- Xue J, Yang S, Seng S. Mechanisms of cancer induction by tobacco-specific NNK and NNN. Cancers. 2014;6(2):1138–56.
- 191. Santella RM, Wu H-C. Environmental exposures and hepatocellular carcinoma. J Clin Transl Hepatol. 2013;1(2):138.
- 192. Petrick JL, Campbell PT, Koshiol J, Thistle JE, Andreotti G, Beane-Freeman LE, et al. Tobacco, alcohol use and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma and intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: the Liver Cancer Pooling Project. Br J Cancer. 2018;118(7):1005–12.
- 193. Palmer WC, Patel T. Are common factors involved in the pathogenesis of primary liver cancers? A meta-analysis of risk factors for intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma. J Hepatol. 2012;57(1):69–76.
- 194. Campbell PT, Newton CC, Freedman ND, Koshiol J, Alavanja MC, Freeman LEB, et al. Body mass index, waist circumference, diabetes, and risk of liver cancer for US adults. Cancer Res. 2016;76(20):6076–83.
- 195. Lin L, Yan L, Liu Y, Qu C, Ni J, Li H. The burden and trends of primary liver cancer caused by specific etiologies from 1990 to 2017 at the global, regional, national, age, and sex level results from the global burden of disease study. Liver Cancer. 2017;2020:1–20.
- 196. Lee Y-CA, Cohet C, Yang Y-C, Stayner L, Hashibe M, Straif K. Meta-analysis of epidemiologic studies on cigarette smoking and liver cancer. Int J Epidemiol. 2009;38(6):1497–511.
- 197. World's Largest Tobacco Use Study Shows Vast Scope of Tobacco Epidemic and Urgent Need for Countries to Act Statement of Matthew L. Myers, President, Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids. Available from: https://www.tobaccofreekids.org/ press-releases/2012.
- 198. Economist Intellegince Unit. Tomorrow's regular customers? Stamping out tobacco use in the Middle East and Africa. Available from: http://graphics.eiu. com/upload/pfizer_tobacco%20in%20MEA_WEB. pdf.
- 199. Tobacco Free İnitiative. Tobacco Control in Turkey. Available from: https://www.who.int/tobacco/about/ partners/bloomberg/tur/en/.
- Siddiqua A, Dghaim R, Barakat-Haddad C. Sociodemographic predictors of tobacco smok-

ing among expatriate and national adolescents in the United Arab Emirates. Eastern Mediterr Health Journal. 2018;24(3)

- 201. Etemadi A, Poustchi H, Chang CM, Blount BC, Calafat AM, Wang L, et al. Urinary biomarkers of carcinogenic exposure among cigarette, waterpipe, and smokeless tobacco users and never users of tobacco in the Golestan cohort study. Cancer Epidemiol Prev Biomarkers. 2019;28(2):337–47.
- 202. Etemadi A, Khademi H, Kamangar F, Freedman ND, Abnet CC, Brennan P, et al. Hazards of cigarettes, smokeless tobacco and waterpipe in a Middle Eastern Population: a Cohort Study of 50 000 individuals from Iran. Tob Control. 2017;26(6):674–82.
- 203. Charafeddine MA, Olson SH, Mukherji D, Temraz SN, Abou-Alfa GK, Shamseddine AI. Proportion of cancer in a Middle eastern country attributable to established risk factors. BMC Cancer. 2017;17(1):337.
- 204. Hussain F, Anjum S, Alrshoud N, Mehmood A, Bazarbashi S, Hussain AN, et al. Trends and patterns of primary hepatic carcinoma in Saudi Arabia. Gulf J Oncolog. 2019;1(31):41–51.
- 205. Hashempour-Baltork F, Hosseini H, Houshiarrad A, Esmaeili M. Contamination of foods with arsenic and mercury in Iran: a comprehensive review. Environ Sci Pollut Res. 2019:1–15.
- 206. Bhattacharya P, Jacks G, Ahmed K, Routh J, Khan A. Arsenic in groundwater of the Bengal Delta Plain aquifers in Bangladesh. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol. 2002;69(4):538–45.
- Ratnaike RN. Acute and chronic arsenic toxicity. Postgrad Med J. 2003;79(933):391–6.
- Tapio S, Schofield P, Adelmann C, Atkinson M, Bard J, Bijwaard H, et al. Grosche B. Arsenic in the aetiology of cancer. Mutat Res. 2006;612:215–46.
- Humans IWGotEoCRt, Organization WH, Cancer IAfRo. Some drinking-water disinfectants and contaminants, including arsenic: IARC; 2004.
- 210. Gunduz O, Bakar C, Simsek C, Baba A, Elci A, Gurleyuk H, et al. Statistical analysis of causes of death (2005–2010) in villages of Simav Plain, Turkey, with high arsenic levels in drinking water supplies. Arch Environ Occup Health. 2015;70(1):35–46.
- 211. Yorifuji T, Tsuda T, Doi H, Grandjean P. Cancer excess after arsenic exposure from contaminated milk powder. Environ Health Prev Med. 2011;16(3):164–70.
- 212. Fakhri Y, Bjørklund G, Bandpei AM, Chirumbolo S, Keramati H, Pouya RH, et al. Concentrations of arsenic and lead in rice (Oryza sativa L.) in Iran: a systematic review and carcinogenic risk assessment. Food Chem Toxicol. 2018;113:267–77.
- 213. Saadatzadeh A, Afzalan S, Zadehdabagh R, Tishezan L, Najafi N, Seyedtabib M, et al. Determination of heavy metals (lead, cadmium, arsenic, and mercury)

in authorized and unauthorized cosmetics. Cutan Ocul Toxicol. 2019;38(3):207–11.

- 214. Lu S-N, Chow N-H, Wu W-C, Chang T-T, Huang W-S, Chen S-C, et al. Characteristics of hepatocellular carcinoma in a high arsenicism area in Taiwan: a case–control study. J Occup Environ Med. 2004;46(5):437–41.
- 215. George CM, Sima L, Arias M, Mihalic J, Cabrera LZ, Danz D, et al. Arsenic exposure in drinking water: an unrecognized health threat in Peru. Bull World Health Organ. 2014;92:565–72.
- 216. Alidadi H, Sany SBT, Oftadeh BZG, Mohamad T, Shamszade H, Fakhari M. Health risk assessments of arsenic and toxic heavy metal exposure in drinking water in Northeast Iran. Environ Health Prev Med. 2019;24(1):59.
- 217. Available from: https://sites.nicholas.duke.edu/ avnervengosh/research/water-and-health/.
- 218. Al-Farraj AS, Al-Wabel MI, El-Saeid MH, El-Naggar AH, Ahmed Z. Evaluation of groundwater for arsenic contamination using hydrogeochemical properties and multivariate statistical methods in Saudi Arabia. J Chem. 2013;2013
- Toor I, Tahir S. Study of arsenic concentration levels in Pakistani drinking water. Polish J Environ Stud. 2009;18(5)
- 220. Gennaro V, Ceppi M, Crosignani P, Montanaro F. Reanalysis of updated mortality among vinyl and polyvinyl chloride workers: confirmation of historical evidence and new findings. BMC Public Health. 2008;8(1):21.
- 221. Groopman JD. Environmental carcinogens and risk for human liver cancer. Hepatocellular carcinoma. Springer; 2016. p. 25–41.
- 222. IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. 1, 3-butadiene, ethylene oxide and vinyl halides (vinyl fluoride, vinyl chloride and vinyl bromide), vol. 97. IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans; 2008. p. 3.
- Aryanpur J. Vinyl chloride: its impact on occupational medicine practice in Iran. J Occupat Med. 1977;19(10):689–92.
- 224. Ramadan A. Assessment of spatial variation of ambient volatile organic compound levels at a power station in Kuwait. J Air Waste Manage Assoc. 2017;67(11):1170–9.
- 225. Ledda C, Loreto C, Zammit C, Marconi A, Fago L, Matera S, et al. Non-infective occupational risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma: a review. Mol Med Rep. 2017;15(2):511–33.
- 226. Wahlang B, Jin J, Beier JI, Hardesty JE, Daly EF, Schnegelberger RD, et al. Mechanisms of environmental contributions to fatty liver disease. Curr Environ Health Rep. 2019;6(3):80–94.



Melanocortin 4 receptor

Obesity and Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Epidemiology and Mechanisms

Mc4r

Hikmet Akkiz

Abbreviations

		MDSCs	Myeloid-derived suppressor
ATG	Autophagy-related protein		cells
BMI	Body mass index	NAFLD	Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease
CAFs	Cancer-associated fibroblasts	NASH CRN	Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis
CD	Choline deficiency		Clinical Research Network
CDAA	Choline-deficient and amino	NASH	Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis
	acid defined C	NCD	Noncommunicable disease
CREB-H	Cyclic-adenosine monophos-	NIDDK	National Institute of Diabetes
	phate responsive element-		and Digestive and Kidney
	binding protein-H		Disease
CTGF	Connective tissue growth factor	OPN	Osteopontin
DCA	Deoxycholic acid	PAMPs	Pathogen-associated molecular
DCs	Dendritic cells		patterns
eIF2	Eukaryotic initiation factor 2	PAT	Perilipin,adipophilin,T1p47
FTO gene	Fat mass and obesity-associated	PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
	gene	PNPLA3	Patatin-like phospholipase
FXR	Farnesoid X receptor		domain-containing 3
GWAS	Genome-wide association	Pomc	Pro-opiomelanocortin
	studies	PPAR-gamma	Peroxisome proliferator-
HCC	Hepatocellular carcinoma		activated receptor gamma
JAK/STAT	Janus kinase/activator of tran-	RANTES	Regulated upon activation
	scription pathway		normal T cell expressed and
LCA	Lithocholic acid		secreted
lep	Leptin	SNPs	Single-nucleotide
lepr	Leptin receptor		polymorphisms
MAMPs	Microbial-associated molecular	SREBP	Sterol regulatory element-
	patterns		binding protein
		T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
H. Akkız (🖂)		TCPTP	T-cell protein tyrosine
The University of Çukurova, Medical Faculty,			phosphatase
Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology,		TERT	Telomerase reverse
e-mail: hakkiz@superonline.com			transcriptase

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

B. I. Carr (ed.), Liver Cancer in the Middle East, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78737-0_4

TGFB	Transforming growth factor		
	beta		
TLR-4	Toll-like receptor-4		
TM6SF2	Transmembrane 6 superfamily		
	member 2		
TZD	Thiazolidinedione		
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth		
	factor		
WHO	World Health Organization		

1 Introduction

Noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) that include cardiovascular diseases, cancer, and diabetes mellitus are responsible for >70% of early deaths worldwide. NCD represents the leading cause of mortality and premature disability [1, 2]. The WHO considers obesity to be excessive fat accumulation that causes many diseases. Obesity is diagnosed at a BMI >30 kg/m² [1], and obesity has significant impact on a variety of tissues including the vascular bed [3]. However, the impact of obesity varies widely among subjects even with a similar degree of body mass index (BMI). Genetic and other factors including gender, age, ethnicity, cardiorespiratory fitness, and the body fat distribution may play a role in the development of obesity [1]. Recent studies showed that the metabolic impact of obesity on nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) may also vary among patients with a similar BMI [1, 4, 5]. Obesity is associated with decreased life expectancy. Depending on the severity of obesity and comorbid disorders, obesity may decrease life expectancy by 5–20 years [3, 6]. Obesity is also associated with an increased risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), NAFLD, cardiovascular diseases (such as hypertension and myocardial infarction), osteoarthritis, Alzheimer's disease, and some cancers such as those of the breast, liver, and colon [1, 3, 6]. In addition, obesity may decrease quality of life and promote unemployment, lower productivity, and encourage social disadvantages [1, 3]. For example, osteoarthritis, a common complication of obesity, often leads to disability and early retirement [1].

It is clear that the fundamental cause of obesity is an energy imbalance between the caloric intake and energy expenditure [1, 3, 6]. Obesity develops as a result of low physical activity, sedentary lifestyle, and the overconsumption highenergy foods [1, 3]. Several factors including socioeconomic status, environment, personal behaviors, and genotype-phenotype interactions affect food intake, nutrient turnover, thermogenesis, and lipid utilization of fatty acid [1, 6]. The World Obesity Federation and other organizations including the American and Canadian Medical Associations have identified obesity to be a chronic progressive disease [7]. Reducing the obesity prevalence is among the primary goals of the WHO [7]. The WHO targets a halting of obesity prevalence to 2011 level [1]. The meeting of UN General Assembly on the prevention and control of NCD which has been held on September 2011, highlighted the importance of reducing unhealthy diet and physical inactivity in the development and prevention of NCD [8].

To determine the obesity, different methods have been used including assessment based on anthropometry, bioelectrical impedance analysis, densitometry, and imaging-based methods. Body mass index (BMI) is the most commonly used tool to determine obesity [1, 3, 6]. BMI grossly estimates adiposity and identifies overweight and obesity based on the weight of the individual expressed in kilograms (kg) and divided by the square of the height in meters (m²) [3]. According to the WHO classification, undernutrition is defined as BMI <18.5 kg/m², normal weight as BMI 18.5–24.9 kg/m², overweight as BMI 25–29.9 kg/m², obesity as BMI >30 kg/m², and morbid obesity as BMI >40 kg/m² [3]. BMI could be complemented by measuring waist circumference to discriminate between subcutaneous obesity and visceral obesity [3]. It has been shown that low hip fat may protect against diseases; the ratio of waist-to-hip circumferences and the waist-to-height ratio have also been proposed to refine risk assessment. However, BMI is a most commonly used tool to determine the obesity worldwide [3].

Different approaches and treatments at the individual level have been developed over the last

two decades. Dietary education and control, physical activity programs, pharmacotherapy, and bariatric surgery have been recommended to patients. Bariatric surgery has been found to be associated with metabolic improvements including halting or reversing the progression of T2DM independent of weight loss, but adverse effects have also been reported [9]. Currently, 39% of world population is obese or overweight despite efforts to halt the progress of the epidemy [1, 3]. The economic burden of obesity is approximately US 2 trillion. To halt the epidemic, individualized treatment modalities such as precision lifestyle modifications should be complemented with wider population-based approaches and solutions [1, 3]. Currently, researchers started genotype and phenotype analysis in approximately one million obese people in the UK and the USA. In addition, public health strategies have been applied such as taxation to reduce unhealthy fats and added sugar consumption and personalized precision nutrition approaches.

2 Epidemiology of Obesity

During the past 50 years, the prevalence of obesity has increased dramatically worldwide and reached pandemic levels. Researchers from the NCD Risk Factors Collaboration have published a report that explains the causes of the obesity to reach pandemic levels in the past 50 years [1, 10].

The WHO reported that more than 2.1 billion adults were overweight or obese worldwide in 2014. Among them, 1.5 billion were overweight and 640 million were obese [11]. The estimated age-standardized prevalence, of obesity in 2014 was 10.8% among adult men and 14.9% among adult women [1, 10]. These data demonstrated that female gender has been associated with higher risk of obesity. Overweight is more frequent among men [10]. However, according to the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013, the prevalence of obesity and overweight was similar to men and women, to be >36% in both genders [12]. Studies published in the USA have demonstrated that African Americans have a higher prevalence of morbid obesity than other ethnicities [13]. Asian populations have lower BMI than white individuals; however, they have been frequently found to be associated with visceral fat deposition. These features make Asian populations more susceptible to developing type 2 diabetes mellitus at lower BMI levels than white individuals [3, 14].

Between 1980 and 2008, the global agestandardized mean for BMI increased by 0.4 (in men) and 0.5 kg/m² (in women) per decade [15]. Between 1975 and 2014, the prevalence of obesity increased from 3.2% to 10.8% in adult men and from 6.4% to 14.9% in adult women [12]. In 2014, 0.64% of men and 1.6% of women had morbid obesity. Between 1975 and 2014, BMI has not changed in adults in North Korea;, however, some countries in sub-Saharan Africa had an obesity prevalence of >30% at the same period [16]. BMI and obesity prevalence dynamics change between countries. Like America and Europe, in many countries, the number of overweight or obese adults has been found to be greater than the number of normal-weight adults [16] (Fig. 1). The rate of BMI increase has been slowing down since 2000 in high-income and some middle-income countries both in children and in adult [1, 16]. It is considered that the adverse consequences of obesity will pose greater threats for public health than hunger or malnutrition [3]. In 2013–2014, the worldwide number of children and adolescents (2–19 years of age) who are obese has been estimated to be 110 million. This number has increased exponentially since Furthermore, 1980 [3]. estimated agestandardized prevalence of obesity in 2014 has been found to be 5% among children [12]. Crossnational analysis of trends in overweight and obesity for both boys and girls (11-15 years of age) in North America and in Europe from 2002 to 2010 has demonstrated a stabilization in overweight prevalence;, however, overall rates of overweight in many countries have been found to be high [3]. Childhood obesity is associated with metabolic complications and chronic disease in adulthood [17].

The prevalence of NAFLD in the general population of North America has been estimated to be approximately 24%. Conversely, the prevalence of NAFLD in South America is 32% [4, 18].



Fig. 1 Countries with the highest adult prevalence rate of overweight and obesity

The prevalence of NAFLD varies among countries depending on obesity. The lowest prevalence of NAFLD has been reported from Peru where obesity prevalence has been found to be only 15% [4, 9]. Other factors such as genetic factors can contribute to the prevalence and outcomes of NAFLD. A study demonstrated that Hispanics of Mexican origin had higher prevalence of NAFLD (33%) than Hispanics of Dominican origin (16%) [9]. The prevalence of NAFLD has been estimated to be 20–30% in the European Union [18]. Approximately 3% of NAFLD patients have been found to be associated with NASH. The prevalence of NAFLD varies among European countries. In Western Europe, the prevalence of NAFLD by ultrasound has been found to be higher (25–30%) than Eastern Europe (20–22%) [4, 8] (Fig. 2). Risk factors for NAFLD (obesity and T2DM) are increasing in Europe. NAFLD prevalence in Asia varies from 15% to 40% and NASH ranges from 2% to 3% [4]. The prevalence of NAFLD in India increased from 28% in 2015 to 31% in 2016. The prevalence of NAFLD in China has been increasing from 3.8% in 1995 to 43.65% in 2015 among Shanghai adults [4]. Lean NAFLD is more common in Asian countries than

in western countries. The prevalence of NAFLD in adult population is increasing in the Middle East and in Turkey. A recent meta-analysis suggested that prevalence of NAFLD in the Middle East is 31.79% [18]. Data from Iran suggest that 33.9% of population have NAFLD [18]. A crosssectional population-based study including 352 individuals from Israel suggests a prevalence of 30% for NAFLD detected by ultrasound. Another cross-sectional study including 483 individuals from Iran demonstrated a 39.3% prevalence of NAFLD. In addition to data from Israel and Iran, NAFLD prevalence is increasing in Turkey. In a recent unpublished epidemiological study conducted in 113,239 healthy individuals in Turkey, the overall prevalence of NAFLD has been found to be 48.3%. The prevalence was higher in those older than 50, in males, and in those with BMI >25 kg/m². A rapidly increasing prevalence of NAFLD in Turkey has been found to be associated with the epidemic of obesity and T2DM in this region [4]. There is a significant paucity of data from the rest of the Middle East. However, the rates of obesity and T2DM in the Middle East are quickly increasing. There are few studies on the epidemiology of NAFLD from Africa. A



Fig. 2 Hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhotic and noncirrhotic (adenoma-carcinoma sequence) livers. Most hepatocellular carcinoma develop in cirrhotic liver. Molecular alterations can be detected in dysplastic nodules and early HCC. TERT promoter mutations are the first and most common genetic changes in the hepatocarcinogenesis. TP53 and CTNNB1 mutations develop relatively early in

meta-analysis reported the prevalence of NAFLD in Africa to be 13.48% [18].

3 Risk Factors for Obesity

There have been two major drivers of obesity: overeating and sedentary lifestyle. A small daily positive energy balance may provide significant contribution to cumulative weight gain. However, the pathogenesis of obesity is considered to be more complex [3].

Relevant epidemiological approaches such as integrated bioinformatics system analysis, can be used to better understand the causes of obesity, including the intricate interplay between behavioral, environmental, physiological, genetic, social, and economic factors [19]. Body size preference may lead to the development of obesity [1]. Until the beginning of the last century, hepatocarcinogenesis. As the process progresses, additional molecular alterations are acquired, including focal DNA amplifications and deletions and DNA methylation of promoter regions. In hepatic adenoma, CTNNB1 mutations are associated with an increased risk of malignant transformation. TERT promoter mutations occur later in hepatic adenoma-related HCC than in cirrhosis

obesity has been thought to be a symbol of beauty, health, and wealth [1]. During periods of famine, being overweight was a protective factor. In some societies, being obese or overweight provides an advantage to a person for marriage. Obesity has been believed to make people more attractive. In some countries such as the Pacific Islands, a large body size is thought attractive [1]. Among Japanese, obesity develops more rapidly, where social norms favor a small body. The increase in the obesity prevalence started in developed countries in the 1970s, followed by developing countries and more recently by some low-income countries [20]. In Brazil and other developing countries, obesity prevalence typically increases first in people with higher economic status in urban areas, and then the obesity prevalence started increasing in groups of lower socioeconomic status living in rural areas [1, 20].

Since the early 2000s in some developed countries, including France, Norway, Denmark, Sweden, the USA, Japan, and Australia, the prevalence of childhood overweight and obesity has been slowing down [16]. The stable childhood obesity prevalence in developed countries could show that the incidence of new obesity cases continues to be at the same high level or less likely that the duration of obesity has been shortened [1]. However, the great heterogeneity in obesity prevalence between and within countries cannot be explained by only economic situation. Ethnic and other factors may play a role in the obesity prevalence. Obesity prevalence ranges from <5%in countries such as Vietnam, Bangladesh, Laos, and Japan to >50% in Polynesian and Micronesian Islands such as Nauru, Tonga, and Samoa. The significant differences of obesity prevalence between societies indicate the relevance of individual genetic and environmental factors in the development of obesity [16].

As mentioned above, there have been relevant differences between countries in obesity prevalence. There are two key questions regarding obesity: even under same economic situation, why the frequency of obesity varies and how known factors affect certain groups of society differently [1]. Large regional differences in obesity prevalence have been observed in Germany ranging from 29% in cities in northwestern Germany to >29% in Saxony-Anhalt [21]. These regional differences may be related to differences in socioeconomic status, high economic disparity between cities and rural areas, and differences in some measures of sedentary and eating behavior [1, 21]. Regional differences in obesity prevalence have also been reported from the USA. While the lowest rates are in countries of west and northeast, highest prevalence of obesity is observed in the south [22]. In this study, ethnicity, physician density, poverty, unemployment, number of food restaurants per 1000 people and access to supermarket, living in small-town settings, community characteristics such as cultural norm- and values-related diet, physical activity, and ideal weight and body image unique to particular regions or demographic groups have been shown to be associated with obesity outcomes

[22]. Economic differences within the society may have a role in the heterogeneity in obesity prevalence and obesity burden [1, 22]. Paradoxically, in the USA, obesity is highly associated with poor black Americans. They eat cheap highly calorific foods at the fast-food chains.

Local environment affects obesity prevalence. Even within a city, significant regional differences in obesity prevalence can occur. In the city of Kiel located in western Germany, obesity has been found to be more prevalent in neighborhoods with increased frequency of overweight and obese parents, overweight siblings, parental smoking, single parenthood, low socioeconomic status, low physical activity in boys, and high media consumption in girls [1, 23]. The local environment may significantly modulate the risk of developing obesity at the individual level. Environment density of fast-food chains, food cultures, transport systems, walkability of the neighborhoods, and active recreation opportunities have been considered to be relevant obesogenic moderators that can have a great influence on obesity in the local and country context [1, 10]. In China, rapid urbanization and increasing number of people using motorized forms of transportation can be some of the main causes of the obesity pandemic [24]. The role of the neighborhood relationships in the development of obesity was investigated in a social experiment [25]. The prevalence of morbid obesity can be reduced by migration of families from the environment with a high obesity prevalence and rich area to a wealthier area. This finding suggest that local microenvironment factors modulate the individual obesity risk [1, 25].

Food marketing including foods or beverages containing high fat and sugar modulates the behavior of children. During advertisements, children consume more energy-dense foods and beverages [26]. Increased food intake as a result of food advertisements may be related to genetic factor in children. Children carrying a high-risk single-nucleotide polymorphism in the fat mass and obesity-associated gene are more sensitive to food marketing than wild-type allele carriers [27]. Among genes that account for BMI variability, obesity-associated gene was the strongest genetic

factor associated with obesity [27]. Several studies have indicated that carriers with obesity-associated gene risk alleles might have decreased satiety responsiveness and excess energy consumption [27, 28]. These data also support a central role of the brain in the modulation of food intake [29]. There have been several potential drivers of obesity pandemic. Unfortunately, we live in obesogenic environments that affect our behavior and lifestyle choices. The obesity prevalence has increased dramatically during the last 50 years worldwide. The pandemic level of obesity is the result of a reduction in home cooking, greater reliance on convenience foods, reduced physical activity, computer-based working, a growing habit of snack consumption, and more persuasive food marketing. In addition, the food industry targets to maximize profits and promotes large portions [30].

The westernization of lifestyle has been considered to be key driver of obesity. That lifestyles lead to obesity more rapidly and to increase in obesity prevalence in populations that do not have time to adapt to these changes. The obesity prevalence is much lower in Pima Indians living in Mexico than in those living in the USA (Arizona). This finding suggests that even in genetically related populations, environmental factors are major determinants in the development of obesity [31]. Another example showing the relevance of environmental factors is, people from Nigeria living in the USA have 20-25% higher mean BMI than the average BMI of Nigerian men and women living in Nigeria [32]. The increase in obesity prevalence has been observed in middle-income countries in which changes in environment and behavior occurred particularly rapidly. For example, obesity prevalence in Jamaica increased more rapidly between 1995 and 2005 than the USA and Nigeria [33]. The relevant difference in obesity prevalence between countries indicates an influence of the local environmental factors on key drivers of obesity pandemic [34]. Changes in the global food system combined with sedentary behaviors are considered to be main factors causing the increase in the obesity prevalence worldwide over the past 50 years [1, 3, 31–33].

Currently, people living in Pacific Islands such as Nauru and the Cook Islands have the highest obesity prevalence in the world [12, 16]. Obesity occurred rapidly in Nauru and Cook Islands in the second half of the past century [12, 16]. Several factors including genetic predisposition, their geographic location, and their lack of capacity to produce sufficient food supplies for own market have been implicated to promote the high susceptibility to emerging obesity in these people [35]. In addition, small, closely networking island societies may be more susceptible to social changes, global markets, and food marketing which may have facilitated the rapid social changes. These changes have been clearly observed in Pacific Islands [36]. Studies conducted on people living in Nauru and Cook Islands have demonstrated that obesity may develop when rapid social changes are introduced to populations with a high degree of interdependence. Obesity prevalence in Cuba declined during the economic crisis that happened in the early 1990s. This finding suggests that obesity is not primarily a product of individual choice and independence [37].

In developed countries, the technical revolution of the past century with mechanization, new modes of transportation, and computerization caused a decrease in energy demands [20]. However, these changes had already started at the beginning of 1900s, whereas the dramatic increase in obesity prevalence emerged from the 1970s onward [1, 38]. Therefore, it was hypothesized that in the most developed countries, energy balance at the population level is characterized by an energy flipping point [20]. In developed countries, this flipping points emerged at the time when the food supply for refined carbohydrates and fats markedly increased between the 1960s and 1970s [39]. In the first half of the past century, decreasing energy expenditure was paralleled by decreasing energy intake despite stable or decreasing energy demands [20]. The availability of cheap and plentiful foods is also reflected by a progressive increase in food waste. However, food supply and food waste data may provide only indirect evidence for the hypothesis that the global system is the main driver of the obesity pandemic [1]. Environmental and social mechanisms contributing to a continuous decline in energy demands might also contribute to a switch in a populations' energy balance. Changes in body weight of children predicted from increased US food energy supply between the 1970s and 2000s were identical to the measured individual weight gain during that period [1, 38].

Genetic and epigenetic factors may have an important role in the development of obesity. Up to 70% of the interindividual variation in body weight variability may be due to genetic differences between individuals [3]. Genes that determine the susceptibility to obesity can provide information on pathophysiological mechanisms that regulate body weight and fat distribution [3]. Study on monogenic obesity has provided relevant information on biology of obesity in the general population [3]. The molecular mapping of mutations causing monogenic obesity in mice has been one of the first strategies to detect genes that control body weight [3]. The findings of these approaches are the finding of the genesencoding leptin (Lep) and its receptor (Lepr), the melanocortin 4 receptor (Mc4r) and pro -opiomelanocortin (Pomc) affect body weight through in the central nerveous system [40]. Mutations in these genes lead to monogenic obesity. Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have identified >300 genetic loci for obesity trait. GWAS discovered a common noncoding variant in FTO locus that showed significant association with obesity risk [41]. Studies demonstrated that the FTO locus may regulate the expression of nearby RPGR1P11 or distant IRX3-IRX-5 to influence body weight by regulating appetite, thermogenesis, adipocyte browning, and epigenetic mechanisms related to obesity [42]. Additional GWAS have identified genetic loci associated with adiposity traits, BMI, and waistto-hip ratio [3, 42].

Epigenetic mechanisms including DNA methylation, histone modification, and noncoding RNAs that modulate gene expression without changing the DNA sequence are sensitive to external factors such as diet and physical activity. Additionally, internal factors such as hormones and genetic factors may affect epigenetic mechanisms [1, 3]. Epigenetic processes are cell, time, and tissue specific. Therefore, it is extremely difficult to study the role of epigenetic mechanisms in some disease. This situation is particularly true for obesity. The role of epigenetics in obesity has been studied mostly in biological models [43]. Sons born to women who were starved during the first half of pregnancy during the Dutch famine have been at a significantly higher risk of developing obesity than comparable subjects. This was later found to be related to epigenetic modifications [44]. Nutritional deprivation of pregnant mothers can have lasting nongenetic effects on body weight of the next generation. Although the methylation of the gene encoding hypoxiainducible transcription factor 3A (HITF3A) has been considered to be associated with higher BMI, this association was found to be the consequence and not the cause of higher BMI [45]. However, HIF system comprises a key part in energy expenditure and obesity [46]. Two epigenetic studies, involving 10,000 and 7800 individuals, respectively, identified large numbers of DNA methylation loci associated with BMI [47].

4 Adipose Tissue Dysfunction, Insulin Resistance, and Inflammation

Many factors such as adipocyte number, adipocyte size, the overall hormonal microenvironment, and cross talk with other cell types within the adipose tissue bed affect adipocyte function [6]. Fat cells derive from multipotent mesenchymal stem cells that develop into adipoblasts and then to preadipose cells [6]. Maturation is directly related to a complex signal system. Upregulation by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR-gamma) is essential. Other transcription factors such as sterol regulatory elementbinding protein 1c, CCAAT-enhancer binding proteins, and bone morphogenetic proteins contribute to this process [6]. These transcription factors provide adipocytes significant plasticity and a relevant ability to adapt to overfeeding by means of hypertrophy and hyperplasia. Therefore, adipose tissue might be considered primarily to be protective tissue that prevents excessive exposure of other organs to fatty acids [6].

The first adaptation in adults to prevent systemic lipotoxicity from the excess calories is hypertrophy. The hypertrophy is followed by a longer-term compensatory mechanism involving fat cell replication (hyperplasia), the predominant mechanism in childhood obesity [48]. Hypertrophic adipocytes develop a gene expression pattern and produce adipokines in foam cells, the fat-loaded activated macrophages that are found in arterial plaques [6, 48, 49]. Protection from excess calories and triglyceride accumulation in the liver, muscle, and pancreatic beta cells requires an extraordinary adaptation by adipocytes that involves activation of several inflammatory pathways [6, 48-50]. The studies demonstrated that the most important pathways in obesity are the NFkB pathway in which free fatty acids (FFAs) activate Toll-like receptor (TLR)-4 in macrophages and adipocytes, the c-Jun N terminal kinase/activator protein 1 pathway, where insulin signaling is inhibited in the presence of tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-alpha, the cyclic-adenosine monophosphate responsive element-binding protein H (CREB-H) pathway, which promotes the secretion of acute-phase proteins such as C-reactive protein and generation of reactive oxygen species, and the Janus kinase (JAK)/signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) pathway. Excess fatty acids, reactive oxygen species, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and lipid by-products such as diacylglycerol and ceramide activate these pathways, and the pathways are inhibited by adiponectin and thiazolidinediones (TZDs) [51].

Many studies demonstrated that there is a close relationship between hypertrophic insulin resistance and lipotoxicity-induced steatohepatitis. Adipocytes represent only approximately 70% of the total adipose mass [6, 52]. The other components of adipose tissue are endothelial cells, pericytes, fibroblasts, early mesenchymal cells, preadipocytes, and macrophages that play a relevant role in autocrine-paracrine regulation of fat metabolism [6, 52, 53]. Adipocytes and the stromal vascular fraction produce hormones, complement factors, cytokines such as TNF-a,

interleukins (Ils), chemokines including monocyte chemoattractant protein 1, enzymes, and peptides known collectively to be adipokines that were previously believed to be secreted only by macrophages [52, 53]. Adipokines include growth factors such as insulin-like growth factor I, transforming growth factor-B, bone morphogenetic proteins, and angiogenic hypoxia-inducible factor 1a and vascular epithelial growth factor [6, 54]. Adipocytes also produce some hormones that regulate glucose and lipid metabolism including angiotensin II, estrogens, glucocorticoids, PPARs, leptin, visfatin, resistin, and retinol-binding protein [6, 54]. Decreased secretion of adiponectin in obesity changes lipid metabolism and insulin sensitivity in the liver. Administration of recombinant adiponectin to adiponectin-deficient obese mice fed high-fat diet dramatically induces hepatomegaly, steatosis, and inflammation. However, ob/ob mice overexpressing adiponectin have been rescued from insulin resistance and diabetes despite a pathological expansion in adipose tissue [54]. In NASH, decreased secretion of adiponectin may promote steatohepatitis and fibrosis. Reducing insulin resistance in the adipose tissue and increasing plasma adiponectin level by TZDs improve lipotoxicity and steatohepatitis in NASH patients [55].

Macrophages have been demonstrated to be key cellular drivers in the onset and progression of NASH. Macrophages are key players of the innate immune system and in the liver comprise Kupffer cells and recruited monocyte-derived macrophages. Liver-resident macrophages play a central role in NASH progression [6, 56].

Understanding the biological and environmental factors that drive the progression to NASH and HCC is fundamentally to the development of robust methods for diagnosis, risk stratification, and therapy. The recent epidemic of chronic liver disease is related to the burden of NAFLD, paralleling the worldwide increase of obesity. It is generally believed that adipose tissue insulin resistance plays a pivotal role in the onset and progression of NAFLD [6, 56]. Briefly, weight gain leads to expansion of adipose tissue and recruitment of macrophages through the secretion of various chemo- and cytokines [6, 56]. Inflamed and dysfunctional adipose tissue actively releases free FFAs into the bloodstream;, promotes lipotoxicity in the liver, muscle, and pancreas; and contributes to systemic inflammation [6, 56]. In normal liver, resident macrophages or Kupffer cells (KCs) play important roles through cross talk with the different cell types and particularly with hepatocytes. The pro-inflammatory polarization of hepatic macrophages is considered a hallmark of progressive disease in the liver of NASH patients and an attractive therapeutic target [6]. Hepatic lipid accumulation facilitates pro-inflammatory KC polarization possibly as a consequence of FFA excess or signals from surrounding steatotic hepatocytes, such as histidine-rich glycoprotein extracellular vesicles or damaged-associated molecular pattern [6]. More recently, data derived from animal models and in vitro studies suggest that both pro-inflammatory KCs and recruited hepatic macrophages contribute to decreased hepatic insulin sensitivity by inhibiting insulin signaling and activating hepatic glucose production [56].

Macrophages are an important component of adipose tissue. Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1, macrophage inhibitory factor, and necrotic fat cells are powerful stimulants for adipose tissue macrophage recruitment [6, 56]. Activation of adipose tissue macrophages plays a pivotal role in adipocyte dysfunction, adipose tissue insulin resistance, release of excess FFAs into the circulation, and ectopic fat deposition in the liver [6, 57]. There are two types of macrophages: M1 macrophages play a key role in humoral immunity and response to common pathogens that secrete large amounts of pro-inflammatory cytokines including TNF-a, nitric oxide synthase, C-C chemokine receptor 2 and IL-12, M2 macrophages are considered to be tumor associated phynotype that have anti-inflammatory role in the adipose tissue [6, 57]. An increased number of M1 macrophages have been detected in animal fed a high-fat diet and human obesity. Kupffer cells are considered to be adipose tissue macrophages in the liver. Recent studies have identified the dual role of macrophages in the development HCC. In nonalcoholic steatohepatitis mouse model, in which endoplasmic reticulum stress was enhanced in hepatocytes, infiltrating macrophages not only produced TNFa which was associated with enhanced lipogenesis, but more importantly TNF receptor 1 signaling on hepatocytes was promoted and resulted in tumor growth [57]. M1 macrophages differentiate into M2 macrophages in patients with chronic liver disease. Experimental depletion of Kupffer cells prevents high fat-induced and alcohol-induced hepatic steatosis and inflammation in rodents [57]. Adipose tissue macrophage activation develops before Kupffer cell activation. When C57BL/6 mice are fed a high-fat diet, macrophage activation and gene expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-1B, IL-1R, TNF-a, and TGFB occur quickly in adipose tissue, and animals develop steatohepatitis [57]. M1 macrophage liver infiltration and steatohepatitis develop weeks after adipose tissue dysregulation. Given together, M1/M2 Kupffer cell imbalance is critical to the pathogenesis of NASH and HCC [57].

Adipose tissue consists of adipocytes, macrophages, and other immune cells that have a relevant role in the autocrine-paracrine regulation of adipocytes. In obesity, activation of macrophages promotes the development of dysfunctional, insulin-resistant adipocytes that release excessive amounts of FFAs and cause insulin resistance and lipoapoptosis in the liver, muscle, and pancreatic beta cells. Accumulation of triglyceride-derived toxic lipid metabolites activates inflammatory pathways within hepatocytes and Kupffer cells and other immune cells. Activation of hepatic stellate cells leads to cirrhosis. PPAR-gamma is detected in many cells including adipocytes, hepatocytes, and hepatic stellate cells as well as macrophages and immune cells infiltrating adipose tissue and liver that may be targeted by PPAR-g agonist during TZD treatment in patients with NASH [6].

5 The Molecular Mechanisms of Obesity-Related Hepatocellular Carcinoma

HCC incidence has dramatically increased over the past two decades. The rising incidence of HCC has paralleled an increased prevalence of obesity. Obesity promotes the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines leading to accumulation of free fatty acids in hepatocytes [58, 59]. This increase has mirrored worsening of the obesity epidemic that affected worldwide. As the rates of obesity continue to rise, NAFLD has become the most common form of chronic liver diseases. One meta-analysis, collecting data from 45 imaging studies, reported an estimated NAFLD prevalence in the global population at 25.24% with a consistent rise in the past decade from 15% in 2005 to 25% in 2010 [58, 60]. NAFLD is strongly associated with metabolic syndrome (obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, and hypertension). The prevalence of NAFLD is, therefore, dramatically increased in these patient groups. NASH and HCC also increase with a number of metabolic risk factors a patient exhibits [18, 60]. Data highlighting that HCC develops on the NASH background came during the early 1990s. A study from the USA has demonstrated the yearly cumulative incidence of HCC to be 2.6% in patients with NASH-associated cirrhosis compared with 4% in patients with HCV-related cirrhosis [60]. A large US healthcare study found NAFD or NASH to be the most common risk factor for HCC, and NAFLD-related HCC has been recognized to be an emerging indication for liver transplantation [60].

A retrospective study from Korea monitoring 25,947 individuals over an period of 7.5 years reported that NAFLD patients showed a higher HCC incidence than patients without NAFLD (23.1 versus 0.9 per 100, 000 person years). A high NAFLD fibrosis has been associated with the development of HCC [61]. The annual incidence rate of HCC in Japanese patients with NAFLD was similar to that previously reported for the USA, ranging from 0.043% to 0.0627%. In Europe, in countries with high HCV-related HCC incidence, such as Italy or Spain, the prevalence of NAFLD-related HCC has been found to be less noticeable [61]. Conversely, in the UK where the prevalence of viral hepatitis was low and consequently HCC incidence was historically low, a drastic increase in incidence has been noted. NAFLD-associated HCC was documented to be a year-on-year increase [61]. This pattern

has also been observed in other studies with the prevalence of NAFLD-related HCC increasing from 2.6% to 19.5% in a French cohort of patients who underwent resection. Some studies reported that survival in patients with NAFLD-related HCC is lower (25.5 months) than that of patients with HCV-related HCC (33.7 months) [61]. Data suggest that precirrhotic NAFLD might confer an increased risk for HCC, independent of cirrhosis NAFLD-associated HCC may exhibit atypical clinical pattern. A large healthcare study suggested that only 46% of patients with NAFLD-/ NASH-associated HCC have underlying cirrhosis. Piscaglia et al. have published a prospective multicenter prospective study including patients with NAFLD-related HCC and suggested that NAFLD-associated HCC is more often detected at a later tumor stage and could develop in the absence of cirrhosis but the patients have similar survival rate compared to HCV-related HCC patients [62]. The research group reported that 46.2% of NAFLD-related HCC developed on a noncirrhotic background. Conversely, 97.2% of HCV-related HCC occur in cirrhotic liver. Similar findings have been reported in a German and a Japanese study in which 41.7% and 49% of NAFLD-related HCC patients developed in a noncirrhotic liver, respectively [61].

Several factors underlie the development of HCC. Although currently viral hepatitis is the major risk factor for the development of HCC, they will soon be replaced by obesity and ethanol consumption, both of which cause hepatic steatosis. According to a recent Centers for Disease Control and Prevention report, the incidence of HCC continues to grow at an alarming yearly rate of 2-3%, in part due to the obesity epidemic. There have been considerable efforts to understand how NAFLD and NASH drive HCC development. NASH is unique as it includes chronic hepatitis, necroinflammation, and a metabolic disease. Hepatic lipid accumulation leads to metabolic reprogramming, which is characterized by a combination of cellular metabolic alterations and an accumulation of toxic metabolites that contribute the development of hepatocarcinogenesis. Moreover, NASH underlie a dramatically versatile and dynamic inflammatory microenviNAFLD is a chronic liver disease associated with obesity, insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes mellitus, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and metabolic syndrome [4]. Race and ethnicity can also be considered a risk for NAFLD [18]. A highest prevalence of NAFLD was observed in Hispanics, followed by non-Hispanic white individuals, and the lowest prevalence was observed in African American [18]. The prevalence of lean NAFLD in the USA was reported to be 7%, whereas the prevalence of lean NAFLD in rural areas of some Asian countries ranges from 25% to 30% [18]. NASH is the histological subtype of NAFLD that leads to liver fibrosis, cirrhosis, liver failure, and HCC. The course of progression can take many

years (Fig. 3). Researchers found that 30% of patients with NAFLD and NASH had progressive fibrosis [4, 18]. However, 20% with NASH showed regression over 2.2-13.8 years. These rates of progression and regression can be influenced by a number of genetic and environmental factors [4]. NAFLD is also associated with extrahepatic manifestations that can increase its burden [18]. Gold standard method for NASH diagnosis is histological assessment of liver tissue. The Brunt system was the first histological assessment system proposed to categorize the morphological features of NASH for grading and staging the disease [63]. Perisinusoidal/pericellular fibrosis was recognized as the earliest stage of fibrosis, with subsequent progression to periportal fibrosis, bridging fibrosis, and cirrhosis [63]. The new scoring system, developed and validated by the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Disease



Fig. 3 The pathophysiological states of NAFLD and HCC. Sedentary lifestyle and high ccloric intak emay lead to the development nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) and

eventually hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Annual HCC incidence depending on the disease state (with or without cirrhosis) can vary from 2.4% to 12.8%.

(NIDDK, sponsored NASH CRN Pathology Committee), is currently the most recognized system for scoring NAFLD in clinical trials and experimental studies [63–65].

The studies demonstrated that HCC can develop in the noncirrhotic liver in patients with NAFLD or NASH. In a French cohort study, HCC patients with metabolic syndrome demonstrated mild or no fibrosis in most cases, and HCCs have been found to be well differentiated (28% vs. 64.5%) [66]. In Japanese studies, cirrhosis has not been detected in 38% of 292 NASH-related HCC patients [67]. Prior studies have shown a relationship between obesity and HCC, but have not controlled consistently for well-known risk factors. The pathological process in HCC is hepatocyte death followed by compensatory regeneration and then cell proliferation which may promote tumor growth. A pathophysiologic relationship between obesity, the presence of NASH, and HCC has also been suggested previously. Researchers published a case-control study investigating the impact of early-age obesity on the risk of developing HCC from a large, referral-based cancer center [68]. The researchers used questionnaires to identify common risk factors for the development of HCC and to identify past obesity. Statistical analysis revealed a significant association between early-age obesity and the onset of HCC. This study has investigated obesity as lifelong risk factor for eventual development of HCC, a challenging area with confounding variables. The study has the advantage of a large population and the ability to control for many risk factors for HCC, and the findings are consistent with a growing clinical impression that obesity imparts a substantial risk of HCC. The major limitation regarding the study has been the limited data on the effect of occult cirrhosis on the outcome. This is a challenging issue, as cirrhosis, an established risk factor for HCC, may be present without overt manifestations, probably through silent progression of NASH for which obese patients are at substantial risk [69]. The key question is whether obesity can cause HCC without underlying NASH-related liver injury. Despite this limitation, this study is the first study of this size to control specifically for other known risk factors for HCC. The study is the first study to suggest a temporal relationship between past obesity and the occurrence of future HCC.

Previous studies have implicated the presence of diabetes as a risk factor for development of HCC. Increased insulin resistance has been shown to affect tumor growth in HCC. However, obesity and insulin resistance may not explain whole mechanisms playing a role in hepatocarcinogenesis (Fig. 4). High-sugar diet in mice has



Global Perspectives on Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease and Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis

Fig. 4 Global prevalence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease

been found to be more tumorigenic than high-fat diet. Another study showed that a combination of high-sugar and high-fat diet in mice led to progressive NASH and increased risk for developing HCC. One of the important findings of the study was lower adiponectin levels which have shown an inverse relationship to the development of HCC. Inverse association between adiponectin levels and PNPLA3 gene polymorphism has also been reported. PNPLA3 gene polymorphism has been found to be associated with development of HCC. PNPLA3 gene polymorphisms are considered to inhibit the secretion of very-low-density lipoprotein of hepatocytes [69]. PAT proteins (perilipin, adipophilin, TIP47) are phospholipid membrane-associated proteins on intracellular lipid droplets that regulate insulin-mediated access to stored hydrophobic triglyceride, regulate movement of the droplet within cell, regulate autophagy, and are increased in steatotic hepatocytes. The PAT proteins have also changed expression in different tumor types, such as HCC. Genetic changes in the PAT proteins have been associated with type 2 diabetes and obesity and may inhibit the ability of the lipid droplet to be autophagocytozed [69]. Recently, a study demonstrated that alteration of intracellular lipid droplet metabolism through the GTPase, Rab7, may impact lipid droplet breakdown, a mechanism that has similar implications in the pathogenesis of fatty liver disease as well as hepatocarcinogenesis. These overlapping pathophysiological mechanisms support the argument for increased risk of HCC in patients with obesity and insulin resistance [69].

Obesity drives STAT-1-dependent NASH and STAT-3-dependent HCC. Grohmannn et al. have shown that the oxidative hepatic microenvironment in obesity activates the STAT-1 and STAT-3 phosphatase T-cell protein tyrosine phosphatase (TCPTP) and increases STAT-1 and STAT-3 signaling [70]. TCPTP deletion in hepatocytes promoted T-cell recruitment and ensuing NASH and fibrosis as well as HCC in obese C57BL/6 mice that normally do not develop NASH or HCC. Attenuating the enhanced STAT-1 signaling prevented T-cell recruitment and NASH and fibrosis but did not prevent HCC. Conversely, correcting STAT-3 signaling prevented HCC without affecting NASH and fibrosis. TCPTP deletion in hepatocytes also markedly accelerated HCC in mice treated with a chemical carcinogen that pro-

motes HCC without NASH and fibrosis [70].

Early mouse studies demonstrated that diet and genetic obesity enhance carcinogen-induced HCC through inflammation-related mechanisms. These studies have not replicated the pathophysiology of NASH-driven HCC, most of which is not associated with carcinogen exposure. Traditionally, NASH-related mouse studies had been based on the use of a hepatotoxic diet including methionine- and choline-deficient (MCD) or choline-deficient and amino aciddefined (CDAA) diets, which cause fat accumulation, hepatocyte death, and inflammation but result in substantial weight loss rather than obesity [71, 72]. Different novel mouse models have been reported to explain the molecular mechanisms that may have pivotal role in hepatocarcinogenesis. Although findings from these models contributed to our understanding of the pathophysiology of NAFLD- and NASH-related HCC, modeling NAFLD and NASH in mice has to be interpreted with care [61]. A recent improvement in modeling NASH is to combine choline deficiency (CD) with a high-fat diet (HFD) leading to weight gain and NASH-like pathology but a rather low rate (25%) of HCC progression [73]. Much more efficient NASH-to-HCC progression (85%) has been achieved by feeding MUP-uPA transgenic mice, which exhibit elevated liver ER stress, with HFD [74].

The liver has vital metabolic secretory and excretory functions in order for whole-body homeostasis. Hepatocytes, the main cells of the liver, are substantially secretory cells responsible for the assembly and secretion of very-lowdensity lipoprotein (VLDL) and for the synthesis of plasma proteins including albumin, a-1 antitrypsin, apolipoproteins, and coagulation factors. Hepatocytes are responsible for lipogenesis, cholesterol biosynthesis, and glucose and xenobiotic metabolism [5]. Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) in hepatocytes is the main cellular compartment that has critical functions in secretory and transmembrane protein folding, calcium homeostasis, and lipid biogenesis. ER is involved in NAFLD pathogenesis through the activation of ER stress signaling. However, many factors including hyperlipidemia, inflammation, and viruses can contribute to the dysregulation of hepatic lipid metabolism and liver disease through impairing hepatocyte ER homeostasis. The ER engages unfolded protein response (UPR) pathway to control hepatic protein and lipid homeostasis. UPR decreases the secretory protein load, enhances ER protein folding, and increases clearance capacity by promoting autophagy and ER-associated degradation [5].

Activation of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress has been clearly shown to contribute to liver steatosis and NASH [58]. However, the role of ER stress signaling in the development and progression of HCC is much less documented. NAFLD progresses to NASH in response to elevated ER stress. Nakagawa et al. report a novel mechanism in carcinogenesis in which the activation of ER stress signals plays a synergistic role with high diet-induced steatohepatitis to promote the development of HCC [74]. The researchers used the major urinary protein-urokinase plasminogen activator (MUP-uPA) transgenic mouse model to investigate ER stress in hepatocytes. The MUP-uPA transgene induces overexpression of the UPA protein, which accumulates in the hepatocyte ER, leading to ER stress and liver lesions in mice. The researchers observed that the MUP-uPA mice fed with a HFD exhibited greater liver damage, inflammatory infiltration, and increased lipogenesis compared to their control low-fat diet counterparts [3, 74]. In addition, MUP-uPA mice on HFD quickly developed NASH that led to HCC over time. ER stress increases lipogenesis through SREBP activation, oxidative stress, and susceptibility to lipotoxic cell death. The role of ATF6, a major ER stressactivated transcription factor involved in HCC development, should be investigated.

Nakagawa et al. suggested that several mechanisms related ER stress and hypernutrition could work together to develop HCC. These potential mechanisms are HFD-induced SREBP1 activation in MUP-uPA mice, probably enhancing lipogenesis and increasing the degree of hepatic steatosis and, increasing ROS production by ER and steatosis in hepatocytes, Er, and oxidative stress-mediated increase in hepatocyte sensitivity to lipotoxicity and cell death., Pro-inflammatory cytokine expression from activated macrophages which stimulate hepatocyte proliferation and expand HCC progenitors, changes in ER stress activation kinetics and intensities which could lead to hepatocyte transformation [3, 74].

Ma et al. investigated the role of adaptive immunity in progression of NAFLD/NASH to HCC. These researchers used multiple NAFLD/ NASH models and human clinical samples, and most of the work has been conducted using Myc-ON transgenic mice in which Myc expression is selectively induced in hepatocytes. When given MCD, these mice exhibited steatohepatitis, fibrosis, and hepatic insulin resistance and developed liver cancer more readily than Myc-ON mice maintained on low-fat diet [75]. A caveat of this approach is that both MCD and CDAA diets cause weight loss and extensive liver damage and may not represent the most accurate NASH model. It was previously shown that CD4⁺ T cells inhibit initiation of oncogene-driven HCC, through immune surveillance of senescent hepatocytes [75]. Ma et al. showed that release of linoleic acid (LA) by fat-laden hepatocytes and its subsequent uptake by liver resident CD4⁺ T cells, which oxidize LA in their mitochondria, resulted in endogenous reactive oxygen species (ROS) production and self-inflicted cell death [75]. Incubation of CD8+ and CD4+ T cells with different fatty acid confirmed that CD4⁺ cells are more susceptible to LA-induced cell deaths than CD8⁺ cells, but other than greater CD4⁺ mitochondrial mass, the basis for these differences is not completely clear. The researchers analyzed different CD4⁺ T-cell subsets and found that total Foxp3⁺ CD4⁺ regulatory T-cell (Treg) number had decreased but the frequency Rorgt⁺CD4⁺ T cells had increased, resulting in a remaining CD4⁺ population producing high amounts of IFNg and IL-17. Together with previous reports of HCC suppression by CD4⁺ T cells, the new findings suggest that hepatic steatosis drives liver tumorigenesis through suppression of antitumor immunity [71, 72].



Fig. 5 ER stress in Steatohepatitis-Induced Hepatocarcinogenesis. (a) MUP-uPA mice although exhibiting ER stress in the liver, did not develop HCC. On high fat diet (HFD), C57BL/6 mice developed steatosis and HCC. Finally, HFD applied to MUP-uPA mice led to a more penetran HCC phenotype than in wild-type animals. (b) Qualitative representation of the intensity of ER stress observed in the models. MUP-uPA mice led to prolonged and reinforced ER throughout the experimental pipeline,

NAFLD progresses to NASH and HCC in response to elevated ER stress. The onset of simple steatosis requires elevated de novo lipogenesis, and accumulation of hepatocyte-free cholesterol triggers progression to NASH and HCC [76]. It has been shown that caspase-2, which is elevated in NASH, controls the buildup of hepatic-free cholesterol and triglycerides by activating sterol regulatory elementbinding proteins (SREBP) in a manner refractory to feedback inhibition. ER stress and TNF induce caspase-2 that controls NASH development. Caspase-2 exerts its pathogenic effect through proteolytic activation of S1P. Caspase-2 ablation or pharmacological inhibition prevents diet-induced steatosis and

thus correalting ER stress intensity with HCC outcome. (c) Qualitative representation of the relevance of ER stress signaling component upon HFD. The IRE arm of the UPR appears to play a significant role in steatosis-induced HCC, because the phosphorilation of IRE1 and the activation of JNK are incerased and 25% of RIDD targets impact lipid methobolism. The activation of SREBP1 also represents an important factor activated upon ER stress taht stimulates lipogenesis. and enhances the steatotic/steatohepatitic phenotype

NASH progression in ER stress mice. Caspase-2 controls adipose tissue expansion and energy expenditure. Caspase-2 also drives SREB cleavage and lipogenic gene expression. The researchers showed that caspase-2 inhibition prevents NASH and HCC in mice [76, 77] (Fig. 5).

NAFLD promotes hepatocellular carcinoma through direct and indirect effects on hepatocytes. The liver is the central organ controlling lipid metabolism and homeostasis. Fatty acids are the most commonly stored and circulating form of energy. Triglycerides, the most common form of fat in foods, are also the most common nontoxic form of fatty acids. The liver synthesizes triglycerides using FFAs and glycerol, which are often obtained from digestion of dietary fat and secrete them into circulation in the form of lipoproteins to provide lipids to other organs. Hepatocyte ballooning caused by accumulation of lipid droplets, is a hallmark of NAFLD. The majority of the accumulated lipids in NAFLD liver are in the form of triglycerides, but triglycerides are generally considered as inert and do not directly cause cell damage or inflammation.

Elevated levels of oxidative DNA damage and abnormal methylation of tumor suppressor genes in the livers of NAFLD patients have been reported. Oxidative DNA damage in the liver of NASH patients has been found to be higher than in patients with other liver diseases. Additionally, more severe oxidative DNA damage has been demonstrated in hepatocytes of patients with NASH and HCC than in those with NASH without HCC.

Oxidative stress is a relevant factor in developing HCC in patients with NASH. Oxidative stress develops as a result of either excessive production of ROS from dysfunctional mitochondria or reduced antioxidant defenses including superoxide dismutase (SOD) and glutathione peroxidase. The contribution of ROS to lipid accumulation and NASH progression in animal models has been described. RS has been suggested to be an independent risk factor for NASH [78]. Impairment of antioxidant cellular mechanisms can lead to an increase in differentiated metabolic pathways related to fatty acid metabolism. This process results in the accumulation of non-metabolized fatty acids and the general disruption of hepatic fatty acid homeostasis that eventually leads to hepatic steatosis and metabolic stress. ROS generation in lipid-rich environment causes lipid peroxidation and release of highly reactive aldehydic derivatives such as 4-HNE and malondialdehyde (MDA) which can cause DNA damage and contribute to malign transformation [79]. Additionally, increased ROS has been detected along as the diseases progress from NASH to HCC. Although it has been suggested that ROS-induced DNA damage leads to HCC, there has not been sufficient evidence on this subject [80]. Excess fatty acid accumulation leads to de novo lipogenesis and b-oxidation that promotes ROS production. The combination of oxidative damage and a proliferative response may promote carcinogenesis. In mouse models, at the early stage of hepatocarcinogenesis, oncogene activation leads to DNA damage and to genomic instability. The Ras-MAPK pathway is dysregulated by multiple mechanisms in HCC [61].

Overexpression of unconventional prefoldin RBP5 interaction has been demonstrated to promote cancer cell survival. In human HCC cell lines or human HCC samples, increased hepatic URI expression causes DNA damage at early stages of hepatocarcinogenesis through the inhibition of enzymes involved in NAD metabolism. It has been shown that HFD-fed mice with hepatic overexpression of URI develop NASH and hepatic DNA damage. In the same study, it was also reported that elevated URI expression in HCC samples correlated with elevated IL-17A expression. Therefore, URI-IL-17A pathway has been suggested to affect NASH-induced HCC. DNA damage in chronic liver disease has been found to be associated with elevated levels of apoptosis and replication which was triggered by caspase 8. Caspase 8 is a relevant protein to mediate efficient proliferation-associated and replication-associated DNA damage in chronic liver damage as found in NASH [81].

Tumor microenvironment plays a key role in the onset and progression of HCC. NASH is a progressive, inflammatory form of NAFLD. HCC may develop in NASH with or without cirrhosis. The HCC tumor microenvironment (TME) is a dynamic ecosystem which includes cancer cells, the cytokines, extracellular matrix, and immune cell subsets.

The immune characteristics of HCC have been established to be a strong suppressor feature. Protumorigenic immune response which mediated through different immunosuppressive cell subsets, cytokines, and signaling plays a key role in the escape of HCC cell from the immune system. In addition, a weak antitumor immunity also contributes to tumor tolerance and progression. Myeloidderived suppressor cells (MDSC) are increased in pathological conditions and upregulate expression of immune suppressive factors such as arginase and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS). Some tumorassociated cytokines including G-CSF, GM-CSF, and VEGF were shown to induce MDSC infiltration [82]. In addition, local hypoxia plays a key role in in MDSC accumulation in HCC. The MDSCs in fibrotic HCC tissue have been found to be associated with reduced tumor infiltrating lymphocytes.

Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) are significant components of the microenvironment in HCC and associated with a poor prognosis of patients with HCC. TAM expression and density can be determined by immunohistochemical. There is strong relationship between TAM density and clinicopathological features and clinical outcomes [83]. Low number of CD86+ TAMs and high number of CD206+ TAMs have been found to be significantly associated with invasive tumor phenotypes and with worse clinical outcomes. TAMs develop from monocytes to functional macrophages and acquire immunosuppressive functions at each stage of its differentiation to maintain tumor microenvironment. Yang et al. demonstrated that tumor cell-derived Wnt ligand stimulates M2 to transduce the polarization of TAMs through Wnt/B-catenin pathway which results in immunosuppression in HCC. Two polarizing phenotypes, M1 and M2, are extremely plastic in response to complex stimuli. M2 phenotype, to be considered as TAM, stimulates tumor onset, progression, and metastasis. HCCderived cytokines, such as IL-4, IL-13, CSF-1, CCL2, and CXCL12, and connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) promote TAM differentiation from CCR2⁺ inflammatory monocytes. Osteopontin (OPN) expressed by HCC cells has a positive association with PD-L1 expression in HCC. In addition, it facilitates alternative activation and migration of TAMs through CSF1-CSFR pathway [84]. TAMs can produce angiogenic factors, such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), and transforming growth factor beta (TGFB). TAMs also promote angiogenesis by expressing matrix metalloproteinase. Cross talk between TAMs and MDSCs leads to decreased production of IL-6 and, IL-12 and, downexpression of MHCII and elevated production of IL-10, a strong inhibitory mediator that impairs downstream CD8⁺ T-cell and NK-cell cytotoxicity. TAM-derived IL-10 increases intratumoral Foxp3⁺ Tregs. TAMs in peritumoral stroma of HCC may secrete multiple key pro-inflammatory cytokines such as II-1B, IL-6, and IL-23 and contribute to the expansion of CD4+ T helper 17 cells (Th17) which suppress antitumor immunity by

overexpressing several activation markers such as PD-1, CTLA-4, and GITR [81].

Tumor-associated neutrophils (TANs) affect tumor biological behaviors depending on their polarization, either antitumoral (N1) and protumoral (N2) phenotypes. In some solid tumors, it has been reported that TAN infiltration correlated with tumor progression, which can be considered to be a predictor for monitoring patients receiving anti-PD-1/PD-L1 immunotherapy [81, 84, 85]. TANs mainly suppress antitumor activity through interacting with CD8⁺ T cells including CD8⁺ T-cell apoptosis. Loss of hypoxia associated factors, such as HAF, results in inappropriate HIF-1 activation and overproduction of downstream HIF-1 dependent chemokines, RANTES, HIF-1/RANTES upregulation accumulates TANs infiltration, which is associated with NASH related HCC initiation and progression. Cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) have pivotal roles both in HCC cell growth and metastasis. CAFs promote the proliferation, invasion, and metastasis of tumors through secreting various growth factors and cytokines. In 15 HCC patients who underwent hepatic resection, Mano et al. found that BMP4, a regulator of CAF functions, activates hepatic fibroblasts to acquire the ability to secrete cytokines and enhance the invasiveness of cancer cells. CAFs inactivate NK cells and can recruit regulatory dendritic cells (DCs) through IL-6-mediated STAT3 activation and educate them to obtain a tolerogenic phenotype and upregulate Treg production. Briefly, CAFs play an important role in the development and progression of HCC cells [81, 84–86].

6 Modifiers of NAFLD and HCC

Single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) have been shown to be associated with NAFLD and HCC. SNPs in the genes encoding patatin-like phospholipase domain containing 3 (PNPLA3; rs738409 c444C > G), p.I148M, and transmembrane 6 superfamily member 2 (TM6SF2; rs58542926 c.449 C > T, p.E167K) have been found to be significantly associated with the severity of NASH, cirrhosis, and HCC [61]. The PNPLA3 polymorphism has been reported to impair mobilization of triglycerides from hepatic lipid droplets. TM6SF2 SNP blocks mobilization of pre-VLDL particles. Several studies have shown that patients carrying the PNPLA3 polymorphism have more than threefold increased risk for HCC. A high prevalence of PNPLA3 gene polymorphism in Hispanics has been proposed to contribute to the high prevalence of NAFLD. PNPLA3 rs738409 GG genotype is more common in Asian patients with NAFLD without metabolic syndrome. Because GG genotype is more common in Asians than Caucasians, this may explain why the two populations have similar prevalence of NAFLD although Asians have a lower metabolic burden [18]. In a retrospective Japanese study, both advanced fibrosis stage (F3 or F4) and PNPLA3 I148M polymorphism have been found to be strong predictors of NAFLD-associated HCC development (HR 24.4 and 6.36, respectively) [87]. European studies including 100 patients with NAFLD and HCC compared with 275 patients with NAFLD who don't have HCC, have shown that PNPLA3 is an independent risk factor for HCC development. Age, gender, BMI, T2DM, and the presence of advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis have been found to be other risk factor for HCC [88]. Whether TM6SF2 rs58542926 polymorphism is independent risk factor for the development of HCC remains largely unknown [89]. Some studies found a weak association between TM6SF2 polymorphism and the risk of HCC. Studies that related patients with alcoholic liver disease demonstrated a relationship between TM6SF2 rs58542926 variant carriage and HCC risk [90]. More recently, MBOAT1 gene rs641738 polymorphism has been shown to be associated with HCC risk in noncirrhotic UK-Italian cohort [91]. Mutations in telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) promoter are first and the most common mutations in hepatocarcinogenesis. TERT promoter mutation can be detected in premalignant HCC lesions and in low- or high-grade dysplastic nodules. TERT promoter mutations have been considered to be earliest drivers of hepatocarcinogenesis [92]. TERT promoter mutation is commonly associated with B-catenin mutation in HCC.

Dietary habits, alcohol, physical activity, and socioeconomic factors have been considered to be relevant environmental factors for NAFLD and HCC. In a study including 13 individuals feeding with high-calorie fast food-based meals, elevated serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels and increases in steatosis have been found within 4 weeks [93]. Several studies demonstrate that patients with NAFLD tend to adopt unhealthy eating habits, processed food, and food with high fructose levels and/or high fat content [94]. High intake of carbohydrates such as fructose, is considered to be related to NASH progression [95].

6.1 Intestinal Microbiota and Bile Acid Signaling

Dysbiosis, quantitative and qualitative changes of intestinal microbial composition, has a relevant impact on liver disease. Intestinal dysbiosis and increased intestinal permeability lead to translocation of microorganisms, and the microbial products including cell wall components (endotoxin, B-glucan) and DNA together are referred to as microbial-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs) or pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) [96]. Immune receptors on liver cells (such as Kupffer cells and hepatic stellate cells) and intestinal lamina propria recognize these patterns which initiate and maintain inflammatory cascades that ultimately lead to liver damage and fibrosis. This damage can progress from cirrhosis to HCC [97]. Several studies suggested the potential role of the gut microbiota in developing of NASH, but the clear relationship between gut microbiota and NASH was not able to indicate yet. Ponziani et al. investigated the association between intestinal microbiota and HCC in 21 patients with NAFLD-related cirrhosis and HCC, 20 patients with NAFLD-related cirrhosis without HCC, and 20 healthy individuals [98]. The researchers reported an increased intestine permeability in patients with cirrhosis and HCC compared with cirrhotic patients. The authors have revealed the difference between two groups through increases in lipopolysaccharides and zonulin-1 plasma level compared to healthy

control. Ponziani et al. found that proinflammatory mediators such as IL-8, IL-13, chemokine (C-C motif), ligand 3 (CCL3), CCL4, and CCL5 have been significantly increased in the presence of HCC. The researchers also found a positive association between pro-inflammatory mediators and the levels of circulating myeloidderived suppressor cells (MDSCs). MDSCs are bone morrow-derived cells that have diagnostic and prognostic significance in HCC patients. They found that patients with cirrhosis had a lower gut microbial diversity compared to control, independent of the presence of HCC [98].

A study showed that NASH patients have intestinal dysbiosis. In addition, the bacterial families Prevotella and Enterobacteriaceae were increased in patients with obesity and NASH when compared with healthy group [61]. In another study, NASH patients showed decreased counts of Bacteroidetes and of Clostridium leptum when compared to healthy control. The gut microbiota has a role in controlling the composition of bile acids. Bile acids such as cholic acid and chenodeoxycholic acid (CDCA) are important molecules and are synthesized from cholesterol in hepatocytes. Their synthesis is regulated by the farnesoid X receptor (FXR). FXR, a bile acid-activated nuclear receptor, is a regulator of metabolism;, in addition to roles in bile acid homeostasis, it is involved in immune responses, lipid and glucose homeostasis, and insulin signaling [99]. It has been shown that modulation of FXR signaling has beneficial effects on the development of obesity. The gut microbiota has been shown to promote obesity with an increase liver steatosis through systemic FXR signaling.

An association between HCC and altered bile acid metabolism has been found in human and mouse studies. High levels of bile acids, such as deoxycholic acid (DCA) and lithocholic acid (LCA) in the liver, can induce hepatocyte DNA damage, cell death, and inflammation, promoting hepatocarcinogenesis [100]. A study that used immunohistochemical and mutational analysis in 11 young children with HCC reported a potential link between progressive familial intrahepatic cholestasis and HCC. A mutation in the gene encoding bile acid export pomp, ABCB11, has been found in 10 of 11 patients [101]. Understanding the role of FXR signaling in the context of a metabolic syndrome, NASH and NASH-related HCC will contribute to the management of the diseases.

6.2 Autophagy and HCC

Autophagy is the liposome-dependent catabolic process that regulates the degradation of cytoplasmic proteins and organelles [102]. This process is dependent on autophagy-related (ATG) proteins and can occur in a selective manner by tagging cargos with specific molecular markers such as ubiquitin [103]. In NAFLD, the excess accumulate of triglyceride and FFAs suppresses the onset of autophagy via activation of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) and the suppression of serine/threonine-protein kinase ULK1 activity, leading to increased hepatic oxidative stress [104]. Hepatocytes activate the p62-KEAP1-NRF2 pathway in which phosphorylated p62, an autophagy substrate and adaptor, disrupts the cytoplasmic binding of KEAP1 to NRF2 [105]. The process promotes the expression of prosurvival genes such as glutathione S-transferase and thioredoxin reductase. When the antioxidant capacity of the hepatocytes is exceeded, DNA damage and oxidation develop due to excessive lipid accumulation or impaired autophagy, ultimately resulting in cell death [106].

Previously, KEAP1-NRF2 pathway has been considered as tumor protective in mice. However, the mutations in NFE2L2 gene that encodes NRF2 and KEAP1 are found in 3-6% and 2-8% of HCCs, respectively [107]. In the diethylnitrosamine (DEN) and 2-acetylaminofluorene rat HCC model, Nrf2 or Keap1 mutations occur in 71% of premalignant lesions and in 78.6% of early HCCs. These data have demonstrated the importance of the KEAP1-NRF2 pathway in early-onset events in hepatocarcinogenesis [61]. NRF2 was shown to promote HCC cell proliferation and the expression of biliary or hepatic progenitor marker cytokeratin 19 [76]. Cytokeratin 19 has been found to be associated with metastasis, microvascular invasion, early recurrence, poor overall survival, chemoresistance, and cancer stem cell features [76]. p62 plays key role in NRF2 activation and MYC oncogene stabilization which is a major regulator of stemness in cancer, and protects HCC-initiating cells from oxidative stress-induced death [108]. Activation of KEAP1-NRF2 pathway protects cancer cells from harmful effects of ROS and oxidative stress, and disruption of ATG7 and beclin1 helps cells to escape an apoptotic-independent cell death. Therefore, dysregulation of autophagy contributes to the pathogenesis of HCC.

Inflammatory immune response may be associated with ER stress-induced DNA damage and liver cancer in NAFLD patients. Under normal condition, steatosis is not a driver of HCC and needs chronic necroinflammation as a cofactor to drive hepatocarcinogenesis. This effect has been first shown in MUP-uPA mice in which hepatocyte ER stress is induced by plasminogen activator expression and combined with HFD [73]. TNF expressing from inflammatory macrophages, which accumulated in the livers of MUPuPA mice in response to hepatocyte ER stress, results in NASH and HCC development. Liver samples obtained from NASH patients are characterized by elevated phosphorylation of eukaryotic initiation factor 2 (eIF2) [109].

References

- Blüher M. Obesity; global epidemiology and pathogenesis. Nat Rev Immunol. 2019;15:288–98.
- Gonzalez-Muniesa P, Martinez-Gonzalez MA, Hu FB, et al. Obesity. Nat Rev Dis Primer. 2017;3:17034.
 Fontaine KR, Redden DT, Wang C, et al. Years of life lost due to obesity. JAMA. 2003;289:187–93.
- Maurel M, Samali A, Chevet E. Endoplasmic reticulum stress; at the crossroads of inflammation and metabolism in hepatocellular carcinoma development. Cancer Cell. 2014;26:301–2.
- Younossi Z, Tacke F, Arrese M, et al. Global perspective on nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology. 2019;69:2672–82.
- Lebeaupin C, Vallee D, Hazari Y, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum stress signaling and the pathogenesis of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Hepatol. 2018;69:927–47.
- Cusi K. Role of obesity and lipotoxicity in the development of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis; pathophysiology and clinical implications. Gastroenterology. 2012;142:711–25.

- Bray GA, et al. Obesity:a chronic relapsing progressive disease process. A position statement of the World Obesity Federation. Obes Rev. 2017;18:715–23.
- World Health Organization. Political Declaration of the high level meeting of the general assembly on the prevention and control non-communucable disease; 2011.
- Urdampilleta A, Gonzalez-Muniesa P, Portillo MP, et al. Usefulness of combining intermittent hypoxia and physical exercise in the treatment of obesity. J Pysiol Biochem. 2012;68:289–304.
- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC). Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016; a pooled analysis of 2416 population -based measurement studies in 128.9 million children, adolescents and adults. Lancet. 2017;390:2627–42.
- World Heath Organization. Obesity and overweight; 2015.
- Ng M, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Diasease Study. Lancet. 2014;384:766–81.
- Yang L, Colditz GA. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States, 2007–2012. JAMA Intern Med. 2015;175:1412–3.
- 14. Nazare J, et al. Ethnic influences on the relations between abdominal subcutaneous and visseral adiposity, liver fat, and cardiometabolic risk profile: the international Study of Prediction of Intraabdominal Adiposity and its Relationship with Cardiometabolic Risk/Intra-Abdominal Adiposity. Am J Clin Nutr. 2012;96:714–26.
- 15. Finucane MM, et al. National, regional, and global trends in body mass index since 1980: systematic analysis of health examination survey and epidemiological studies with 960 country-years and 9.1 million participants. Lancet. 2011;377:557–67.
- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC). Trends in adult body-mass index in 200 countries from 1975 to 2014; a pooled analysis of 1698 population – based measurement studies with 19.2 million participants. Lancet. 2016;387:1377–96.
- 17. Koletzko B, Symonds ME, Olsen SF. Programming research; where are we and where do we go from here? Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;94:2036S–43S.
- Younossi ZM, Koening AB, Abdelatif D, et al. Global epidemiology of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease -meta-analytic assessment of prevalence, incidence and outcomes. Hepatology. 2016;64:73–84.
- Bhupathiraju SN, Hu FB. Epidemiology of obesity and diabetes and their cardiovascular complications. Crit Res. 2016;118:1723–35.
- Swinburn BA, et al. The global obesity pandemic shaped by global drivers and local environments. Lancet. 2011;378:804–14.
- 21. Hauner H, et al. Overweight, obesity, and high waist circumference; regional differences in preva-

lence in primary medical care. Dtsch Arzteble. 2008;105:827–33.

- Myers CA, et al. Regional dysparities in obesity prevalence in the United States; a spatial rejime analysis. Obesity. 2015;23:481–7.
- Pladita-Danielzik S, et al. Determinants of the prevalence and incidence of overweight in children and adolescents. Public Health Nutr. 2010;13:1870–81.
- Bell AC, Ge K, Popkin BM. The road to obesity or the path to prevention; motorized transportation and obesity in China. Obes Res. 2002;10:277–83.
- Ludwig J, et al. Neighborhoods, obesity, and diabetes – a randomized social experiment. N Engl J Med. 2011;365:1509–19.
- 26. Sadeghirad B, Duhaney T, Motaghipisheh S, et al. Influence of unhealthy food and beverage marketing on children's dietary intake and preference: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. Obes Rev. 2016;17:945–59.
- Gilbert-Diamond D, et al. Television food advertisement exposure and FTO rs9939609 genotype in relation to excess consumption in children. Int J Obes. 2017;41:23–9.
- Wardle J, et al. Obesity associated genetic variation in FTO is associated with diminished satiety. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008;93:3640–3.
- Hess M, et al. The fat mass and obesity associated gene (fto) regulates activity of the dopaminergic midbrain circuitry. Nat Neurosci. 2013;16:1042–8.
- Chan RS, Woo J. Prevention of overweight and obesity: how effective is the currenet public health approache. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2010;7:765–83.
- Husean WC, et al. Analysis Type 2 diabetes and obesity genetic variants in Mexican Pima Indians: marked allelic differentiation among Amerindians at HLA. Ann Hum Genet. 2018;82:287–99.
- 32. Schultz LO, et al. Effects of traditional and Western environments on prevalence of type 2 diabetes in Pima Indians in Mexico and the US. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:1866–71.
- 33. Rotimi CN, et al. Distribution of anthropometric variables and the prevalence of obesity in populations of West African origin: the International Collaborative Study on Hypertension in Blacks. Obes Res. 1995;3:95–105.
- 34. Hu FB, Li TY, Colditz GA, et al. Television watching and other sedentary behaviors in relation to risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus in women. JAMA. 2003;289:1785–179.
- Ulijaszek SJ, et al. Increasing body size among adult Cook islanders between 1966 and 1996. Ann Hum Biol. 2001;28:363–73.
- Snowdon W, Thow AM. Trade policy and obesity prevention: challenges and innovation in the Pacific islands. Obes Rev. 2013;14:150–8.
- Mclennan AK, Ulijaszek SJ. Obesity emergence in the Pasific islands; why understanding colonial history and social change is important. Public Health Nutr. 2015;18:1499–505.
- Swinburn B, Sacks G, Ravussin E. Increased food energy supply is more than sufficient to explain

the US epidemic of obesity. Am J Clin Nutr. 2009;90:1453–6.

- 39. Carden TJ, Carr TP. Food availability of glucose and fat, but not fructose, increased in the U.S between 1970 and 2009; analysis of the USDA food availability data system. Nutr J. 2013;12:130.
- Meyers MG, Leibel RL. Lessons from rodent models of obesity. In: Endotext [Internet]. South Dartmouth, MA: MDText.com, Inc.; 2000.
- 41. van der Klaauw AA, Farooqi. The hunger genes: pathways to obesity. Cell. 2015;161:119–32.
- 42. Frayling TM, et al. A common variant in the FTO gene is associated with body mass index predisposes to childhood and adult obesity. Science. 2007;316:889–94.
- Loche E, Ozanne SE. Early nutrition, epigenetics and cardiovascular diseases. Opin Lipidol. 2016;27:449–58.
- Ravelli GP, Stein ZA, Susser M. Obesity in young men after famine exposure in utero and early infancy. N Engl J Med. 1976;295:349–53.
- Heijmans BT, et al. Persistent epigenetic differences associated with prenatal exposure to famine humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:17046–9.
- Dick KJ, et al. DNA methilation and body mass index; a genome-wide analysis. Lancet. 2014;383:1990–8.
- 47. Mendelson MM, et al. Association of body mass index with DNA methylation and gene expression in blood cells and relations to cardiometabolic diasease: a Mendelian randomization approach. PLoS Med. 2017;14:e1002215.
- Leftero MI, Lazar MA. New developments in adipogenesis. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2009;20:107–14.
- Lumeng CN, Saltiel AR. Inflammatory links between obesity and metabolic disease. J Clin Invest. 2011;121:2111–7.
- Yuan M, Konstantopoulos N, Lee J, et al. Reversal of obesity-and diet-induced insulin resistance with salicylates or targeted disruption of IkkB. Science. 2001;293:1673–7.
- Holland WL, Bikman BT, Wang LP, et al. Lipidinduced insulin resistance mediated by the proinflammatory receptor TLR requires saturated fatty acid-induced ceramide biosynthesis in mice. J Clin Invest. 2011;121:1858–70.
- 52. Halberg N, Wemsteddt-Asterholm I, Scherer PE. The adipocyte as an endocrine cell. Endocrinol Metab Clin N Am. 2008;37:753–68.
- Rutkowski JM, Davis KE, Scherer PE. Mechanisms of obesity and related pathologies: the macroand microcirculation of adipose tissue. FEBS J. 2009;276:5738–46.
- 54. Xu A, Wang Y, Keshaw H, et al. The fat-derived hormone adiponectin alleviates alcoholic and nonalcoholic fatty liver diseases in mice. J Clin Invest. 2003;112:91–100.
- 55. Polyzos SA, kountouras J, Zavos C, et al. The role of adiponectin in the pathogenesis and treatment of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2010;12:365–83.
- 56. Rosso C, Kazankov K, Younes R, et al. Crosstalk between adipose tissue insulin resistance and liver

macrophages in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Hepatol. 2019;71:1012–21.

- 57. Galun E. Liver inflammation and cancer: the role of tissue microenvironment in generating the tumorpromoting niche (TPN) in the development of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 2016;63:354–6.
- Starley BQ, Calcagno JC, Sa H. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and hepatocellular carcinoma; a weighty connection. Hepatology. 2020;51:1820–32.
- Febbraio MA, Reibe S, Shalapor S, et al. Preclinical models for studying NASG-driven hepatocellular carcinoma; how useful are they? Cell Methab. 2018;29:18–25.
- Xu W, Yu J. Obesity and hepatocellular carcinoma. Liver Pathophysiol. 2017;
- Anstee QM, Reeves HL, Kotsiliti E, et al. From NASH to HCC; current concepts and future challenges. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;16:411–28.
- 62. Piscaglia F, Svegliati-Baroni G, Barchetti A, et al. Clinical pattern of hepatocellular carcinoma in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; a multicenter prospective study. Hepatology. 2016;63:827–38.
- Soon G, We A. Updates in the quantitative assessment of liver fibrosis for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: histological perspective. Clin Mol Hepatol. 2020;19:1–9.
- Schwabe RF, Tobas I, Pajuani UB. Mechanisms of fibrosis development in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Gastroenterology. 2020;158:1913–23.
- 65. Tariq T, Deasi AP. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: making the diagnosis. Clin Liver Dis. 2020;16:53–7.
- 66. Paradis V, Zalinsky S, Chelbi E, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with metabolic syndrome often develop without significant liver fibrosis; a pathological analysis. Hepatology. 2009;49:851–9.
- 67. Tokushige K, Hashimoto E, Horie Y, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma in Japanese patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, alcoholic liver disease, and chronic liver disease of unknown etiology; report of the nationwide survey. J Gastroenterol. 2011;46:1230–7.
- Hassan MM, Abdel-Wahab R, Kaseb A, et al. Obesity early in adulthood increases risk but does not affect outcomes of hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2015;149:119–29.
- Henry ZH, Caldwell SH. Obesity and hepatocellular carcinoma; a complex relationship. Gastroenterology. 2015;149:18–9.
- Grahmann M, Wiede F, Dodd G, et al. Obesity drives STAT-1-dependent NASH and STAT-3-dependent HCC. Cell. 2018;175:1289–308.
- Shalapour S, Karin M. Fatty acid-induced T cell loss greases liver carcinogenesis. Cell. 2016;23:759–61.
- 72. Wolf MJ, Adili J, Piotrowitz K, et al. Metabolic activation of intrahepatic CD8 T cells and NKT cells causes nonalcoholic steatohepatitis nd liver cancer via cross-talk with hepatocytes. Cancer Cell. 2014;26(4):549–64.
- Nakagawa H, Umemera A, Tonoguchi K, et al. ER stress cooperates with hypernutrition to trigger TNFdependent spontenous HCC development. Cancer Cell. 2014;26(3):331–43.

- Ma C, Zhang Q, Greten T. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease promotes hepatocellular carcinoma through direct and indirect effects on hepatocytes. FEBS J. 2018;285:752–62.
- Kim JY, Garcia-Carbonell R, Yamachika S, et al. ER stress drives lipogenesis and steatohepatitis via caspase-2 activation of S1P. Cell. 2018;175:133–45.
- 76. Kim H, et al. Human hepatocellular carcinoma with stemness-related marker expression; keratin 19 expression and a poor prognosis. Hepatology. 2011;54:1707–17.
- Kathirvel E, Chen P, Morgan K, et al. Oxidative stress and regulation anti-oxidant enzymes in cytochrome P4502E1 transgenic mouse model of non-alcoholic fatty liver. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2010;25:1136–43.
- Sutti S, Jindal A, Locatelli I, et al. Adaptive immune responses triggered by oxidative stress contribute to hepatic inflammation in NASH. Hepatology. 2014;59:886–97.
- Granhi CR. Oxidative stress and hepatic stellate cells; a paradoxical relationship. Trends Cell Mol Biol. 2012;7:1–10.
- Boege Y, Malehmir M, Healy ME, et al. A dual role of caspase-8 in triggering and sensing proliferation-associated DNA damage, a key determinant of liver cancer development. Cancer Cell. 2017;32(3):342–59.
- 81. Fu Y, Liu S, Zeng S, et al. From Bench to bed; the tumor immune microenvironment and current immunotherapeutic strategies for hepatocellular carcinoma. J Exp Clin Can Res. 2019;38:1–21.
- 82. Lu C, Rong D, Zhang B, et al. Current perspective on the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment in hepatocellular carcinoma; challenges and opportunities. BMC Mol Cancer. 2019;18:1–12.
- Zhao H, Chen Q, Alam A, et al. The role of osteopontin in the progression of solid organ tumour. Cell Death Dis. 2018;9:356.
- 84. Kurebayashi Y, Ojima H, Tsujikawa H, et al. Landscape of immune microenvironment in hepatocellular carcinoma and its additional impact on histological and molecular classification. Hepatology. 2018;68:1025–41.
- 85. Critelli R, Milosa F, Faillaci F, et al. Microenvironment inflammatory infiltrate drives growth speed and outcome of hepatocellular carcinoma; a prospective clinical study. Cell Death Dis. 2017;8
- Motz GT, Coukos G. The parallel lives of angiogenesis and immunosuppression; cancer and other tales. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11:702–11.
- 87. Seko Y, et al. Development of hepatocellular carcinoma in Japanese patients with biopsy-proven nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; association between PNPLA3 genotype and hepatocarcinogenesis/fibrosis progression. Hepatol Res. 2017;47:1083–92.
- 88. Liu YL, et al. Carriage of the PNPLA3 rs738409 C>G polymorphism confers an increased risk of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease – associated hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2014;61:75–81.

- Liu Y, et al. TM6SF2 rs58542926 influences hepatic fibrosis progression in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Nat Commun. 2014;5:4309.
- 90. Stickel F, et al. Genetic variants in PNPLA3 and TM6SF2 predispose to the development of hepatocellular carcinoma in individuals with alcohol-related cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2018;113:1475–83.
- Donati B, et al. MBOAT7 rs 641758 variant and hepatocellular carcinomain non-cirrhotic individuals. Sci Rep. 2017;7:4492.
- Zucman-Rossi J, Villanueva A, Nault JC, Liovet JM. Genetic landscape and biomarkers of hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2015;149:1226–59.
- Kechagles S, et al. Fast-food-based hyperalimentation can induce rapid and profound elevation of serum alanine aminotransferase in healthy subjects. Gut. 2008;57:649–54.
- Lesile I, et al. Survey of health status, nutrition and geography of food selection of chronic liver disease patients. Ann Hepatol. 2014;13:533–40.
- Rietman A, Suluik D, Feskens E, et al. Associations between dietary factors and markers of NAFLD in general Dutch adult population. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2018;72:117–23.
- Tripathi A, Debelius J, Brenner DA, et al. The gutliver axis and the intersection with the microbiome. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;15:397–410.
- 97. Csak T, et al. Fatty acid and endotoxine activate inflammasomes in mouse hepatocytes that release danger signals to stimulate immune cells. Hepatology. 2011;54:133–44.
- Ponziani FR, Bhoori S, Castelli C, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma is associated with gut microbiota profile and inflammation in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology. 2019;69:107–20.

- 99. Tremaroli V, et al. Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and vertical banded gastroplasty induce long term changes on the human gut microbiome contributing to fat mass regulation. Cell Metab. 2015:228–38.
- Jansen P, et al. Endogeneous bile acids as carcinogens. J Hepatol. 2007;47:434–5.
- 101. Kniselly AS, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma in 10 children under the five years of age with bile salt export pomp deficiency. Hepatology. 2006;44:478–86.
- 102. Pieifer U, et al. Inverted diurnal rhythm of cellular autopagy in liver cells of rats fed a single dailly meal. Virchows Arch B Cell Pathol. 1972;10:1–3.
- Khaminets A, Behl C, Dikic I. Ubiquitin-dependent and independent signals in selective autophagy. Trends Cell Biol. 2016;26:6–16.
- 104. Kim J, Kundu M, Violet B, et al. AMPK and mTOR regulate autophagy through direct phosphorylation of Ulk1. Nat Cell Biol. 2011;13:132–41.
- Ichimura Y, et al. Phosphorylation of p62 activates the Keap1 – Nrf2 pathway during selective autophagy. Mol Cell. 2013;51:618–31.
- 106. Tanaka S, et al. Rubicon inhibits autophagy and accelerates hepatocyte apoptosis and lipid accumulation in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in mice. Hepatology. 2016;64:1994–2014.
- 107. Ramos-Gomez M, et al. Sensitivity to carcinogenesis is increased and chemoprotective efficacy of enzyme inducers is lost innrf2 transcription factor-deficient mice. Proct Natl Acad Sci USA. 2001;98:3410–5.
- Xu L, et al. p62/SOSTM1 enhances breast cancer stem-like properties by stabilizing MYCmRNA. Oncogene. 2017;36:304–17.
- Puri P, et al. Activation and dysregulation of the unfolded protein response in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Gastroenterology. 2008;134:568–76.



Epidemiology of Hepatitis B Virus in the Middle East

Genco Gençdal and Cihan Yurdaydin

Abbreviations

CDC	Centers for Disease Control
CHB	Chronic hepatitis B
HBV	Hepatitis B virus
UN	United Nations
USA	United States of America
WHO	World Health Organization

Hepatitis B (HBV) is one of the most common causes of liver cancer and liver cirrhosis. It is estimated that around 2 billion people are infected with HBV and nearly 300 million people have chronic hepatitis B (CHB). Approximately 850,000 people die each year from complications of HBV infection such as liver cancer and liver failure. According to a 2016 report from the World Health Organization (WHO), 27 million people (10.5% of hepatitis B patients) were aware of their infection, and only 4.5 million (16.7%) of those diagnosed were receiving treatment [1–4]. HBV prevalence varies from country to country depending on geographical location.

Studies on prevalence and incidence of a disease may have important health-related implications for the countries or regions where such studies have been performed as based on those studies health strategies can be developed which at the end may benefit the patients in that country or region. A very good example is the successful campaign against hepatitis C in a low-income country such as Egypt which recently culminated in successfully screening 50 million people for HCV [5]. Once a country with the highest hepatitis C virus (HCV) prevalence in the world (estimated as 10%), this prevalence has greatly decreased, thanks to a very effective collaboration of physicians and epidemiologists with government officials [6, 7] leading to immensely successful negotiations with the biomedical industry with consequent drastic price cuts for Egyptian HCV patients, the aim of which is the eradication of HCV in Egypt [5] which appears now to be a realistic goal. A total of 2.2 million people (4.6%) were found seropositive for HCV, and out of whom close to 70% were further tested and more than one million people or 92% of viremic patients (76% of the tested population) already underwent successful treatment with a sustained virologic response rate of 98% [5].

On the other hand, epidemiological studies in a particular region may have effects far beyond the region. Studies on HBV need to be approached as such. Some high endemic countries for HBV of the recent past have converted themselves to less endemic areas, thanks to the introduction of universal hepatitis B vaccination [8, 9]. China and Taiwan are good examples [8, 10]. Others, such as sub-Saharan African countries, continue

G. Gençdal · C. Yurdaydin (🖂)

Department of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, Koç University Medical School, Istanbul, Turkey e-mail: ggencdal@kuh.ku.edu.tr; cyurdaydin@ku. edu.tr

to be highly endemic. The reason for these local figures to have universal appeal is the increasing immigration of people. The route is mainly from low-income countries to rich countries such as European countries, the USA, Canada, and Australia (Table 1) [11, 12]. In this context, this review deals mostly with a politically unstable and troubled area which contributed to the migration crisis recently in Europe.

The Middle East is mostly made up of developing countries with suboptimal healthcare infrastructure. Given the political instability and the horror of war affecting this area of the world directly or indirectly, reliable data on epidemiology is in general difficult to obtain. In such areas, exploring HBV prevalence in blood donors is attractive because they are based on a large num-

 Table 1
 Estimated number of international migrants according to the UN as of 2017 and migrants as the percentage of the total population in industrialized countries

Major area, region, or	Number of international migrants (thousands)		Migrants as percentage of total population	
country	2000	2017	2000	2017
World	172.604	257.715	2.8	3.4
High-income countries	100.405	164.847	9.6	14.1
Middle- income countries	64.042	81.440	1.4	1.4
Low-income countries	7.733	10.915	1.8	1.6
West Europe				
Sweden	1.004	1.748	11.3	17.6
UK	4.730	8.842	8.0	13.4
Germany	8.893	12.165	11.0	14.8
France	6.279	7.903	10.5	12.2
Spain	1.657	5.947	4.1	12.8
Italy	2.122	5.907	3.7	10.0
Netherlands	1.566	2.057	9.8	12.7
Switzerland	1.571	2.506	21.9	29.6
North America				
USA	34.814	49.777	12.3	15.3
Canada	5.512	7.861	17.9	21.5
Oceania				
Australia	4.386	7.036	23.0	28.8
Asia				
China	508	1.000	0.0	0.1

Adapted from United Nations, International Migration Report 2017 [12] ber of individuals and the numbers obtained are reliable. Data obtained from blood donor studies can be considered acceptable indicators of the HBV burden in these countries provided it is understood that these prevalence data may underestimate the real problem because at least in some areas high-risk groups for HBV are rejected from blood donation without pretransfusion blood screening for hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) [13].

In this chapter, we have tried to provide the reader with available data from basically all Middle Eastern countries, and we will provide those data with a country-specific perspective.

Turkey

1

In 1998, the national vaccination program was launched in Turkey. With this program, risk groups and infants started to be vaccinated. Turkey before the vaccination program was considered a country with higher intermediate endemicity (5–8%) for HBV [8]. The Turkish Ministry of Health declared the incidence of hepatitis B infection to be 8.26 by 2002 and 4.2 by 2010 per 100,000 people [14]. According to the study of 22 blood centers, which included the results of 6.24 million donors between 1989 and 2004, the prevalence of HBsAg among blood donors peaked in 1991 (5.2%) and then gradually and consistently declined to 2.1% in 2004 [15]. In a population-based, cross-sectional, national study using random sampling, conducted between 2009 and 2010, HBsAg positivity was found to be 4.0% [16]. This prevalence may have decreased further in recent years. However, the effect of international migration is not considered in this scenario. Migrants accounted for only 2% of the Turkish population in the year 2000. The Syrian war led to a surge in international immigration with close to five million refugees now located in Turkey. Migrants' share in the population has therefore increased drastically and as of 2017 accounts for 6% of the Turkish population [12]. In this context, an important study needs mentioning. In this study from 2017, Kose et al. reported among Syrian refugee children aged

0–18 an alarming 4.2% HBsAg positivity rate [15]. The good news is that in the very same year, the Turkish Ministry of Health, with support from UNICEF, the WHO, and local nongovernmental organizations, conducted a mass country-wide vaccination campaign, at which HBV vaccine was included, to more than 400,000 refugees and migrant children [17, 18]. Turkey has been providing to each Syrian refugee the same health insurance opportunities as Turkish citizens. The drugs used in the treatment of chronic HBV in Turkey are fully covered by public health insurance. HBV genotype in Turkey is exclusively genotype D [19].

2 Saudi Arabia

Despite the national neonatal vaccination program that started in 1989, HBV continues to be a major health problem in Saudi Arabia. Recent studies conducted in Saudi Arabia show that the HBV prevalence is approximately 1.3–3.5%. HBV genotype is mainly D. Due to the impact of the vaccination program, HBV prevalence in the younger population (<30 years of age) is lower than in the older population. It is estimated that the prevalence of HBsAg in the Saudi population over the age of 40 is between 3% and 6% [8, 20, 21].

Some studies on high-risk populations such as intravenous drug users and HIV-positive patients have shown a much higher rate of HBV infection [22, 23]. In a new study, it was reported that the number of CHB patients over 60 years old in Saudi Arabia in 2015 was higher than in 2010 and 2012. More importantly, the rate of patients with comorbidities such as cirrhosis and HCC in the CHB population in 2015 was higher than in 2010 and 2012. In Saudi Arabia, although the overall prevalence of HBV may have decreased significantly, CHB complications will increase significantly in the next 20 years due to the aging of individuals infected before the vaccination program [24]. According to a United Nations (UN) report, it is estimated that the proportion of the immigrant population in Saudi Arabia represents 37% of the total population as of 2017

 Table 2
 Estimated number of international migrants according to the UN as of 2017 and migrants as the percentage of the total population in countries of the Middle East

	Number of international migrants (thousands)		Migrants as percentage of total population	
Country	2000	2017	2000	2017
Turkey	1.281	4.882	2.0	6.0
Saudi Arabia	5.263	12.185	25.3	37.0
Yemen	143	384	0.8	1.4
Iraq	211	367	0.9	1.0
Iran	2.804	2.699	4.2	3.3
Jordan	1.928	3.234	37.8	33.3
Israel	1.851	1.962	30.8	23.6
Lebanon	693	1.939	21.4	31.9
UAE	2.447	8.313	77.6	88.4
Kuwait	1.128	3.123	55.0	75.5
Oman	624	2.073	27.5	44.7
Bahrain	239	723	36.0	48.4
Qatar	360	1.721	60.7	65.2

Adapted from United Nations, International Migration Report 2017 [12]

UAE United Arab Emirates

(Table 2). These immigrants are mainly workers from Asian or non-Asian countries. Data on this immigrant population is scarce. According to one study, only 43% had been vaccinated against HBV [25]. The antiviral agents commonly used as first-line treatment of CHB in Saudi Arabia are tenofovir disoproxil fumarate and entecavir [26].

3 Yemen

Yemen is a hyperendemic country for HBV. The prevalence of HBV in Yemen is reported to be 12–18.5%, and most studies to determine prevalence have been conducted in tertiary healthcare centers and include hospitalized patients with acute or chronic hepatitis or blood donors. As these populations are known to be highly selected, such studies may not reflect the true prevalence in the population [27–32]. The mode of transmission of HBV in Yemen has not been adequately clarified but is likely to be horizontal. History of blood transfusion, advanced age, male gender, and healthcare personnel are stated as risk factors. In Yemen, vaccination against HBV was ini-

tiated in 1999, and its coverage reportedly increased to 87% in 2008 [33–37]. Recent political unrest may have had a negative impact.

4 Iraq

HBV infection in Iraq has declined in the past few decades. Hepatitis B among blood donors was reported as 3.6% in 1973, 4.1% in 1984, and less than 1% in the 1990s. It has been suggested that this decrease is the result of prevention and control programs adopted by the state, such as safe blood transfusion and safe injections, in addition to the initiation of the vaccination program [38]. In Baghdad, the prevalence of HBsAg in blood donors was 0.6%, higher in men (0.8%)than in women (0.5%). It has been reported to be 0.7% among all blood donors in Babylon province. In various studies, the prevalence of HBsAg in Najaf province was reported as 0.6% and in Karbala as 3.5%. HBV prevalence in the latter region has steadily increased since 2011, due to high migration to Karbala during attacks of the self-declared Islamic state of Iraq from some northern cities of Iraq [38, 39].

5 Syria

Hepatitis B vaccine was added to the national vaccination program in 1993 in Syria. Genotype D is common. Home births are still common in the country, and there are no estimates of children who received the first hepatitis B vaccine within 24 hours of birth. In early 2002, HBsAg positivity was reported to be 5.3% and 10.8% in drug users and sex workers, respectively, in Syria. In 2004, in a study involving 3168 people, the rate of HBsAg positivity was found to be 5.6%. In the same study, it was reported that there is a distinct regional difference, with hepatitis B seroprevalence being 10.5% and 10.6% in the north of the country (Aleppo) and in the east of the country (Hasshat), respectively. In a retrospective study involving 11,015 Syrian pregnant women with a mean age of $25 \pm 6:02$ between January 2012 and January 2018, 1.1% HBsAg seropositivity was reported [40, 41]. It has to be added that the war in Syria with its consequences has likely had its toll also on the health infrastructure with less compliance to routine childhood vaccinations as pointed out already in the study of Syrian refugee children in Turkey [15]. It would be not surprising to see the same trend in Syrian children who did not leave the country.

6 Lebanon

The current status of hepatitis B infection in Lebanon is not well known due to the lack of sufficient published studies on the subject. When the studies conducted since 1972 are examined, it is seen that most of these studies were carried out by the virology and biochemistry departments of some hospitals. These studies are related to certain areas and specific groups of individuals and cannot be generalized to the whole population. According to data in these studies, the prevalence of hepatitis B has been reported from less than 2% to more than 3% in Lebanon [42–46]. Genotype D is common. HBV prevalence in the general population is estimated to have declined following the inclusion of the neonatal hepatitis B vaccination program in the Lebanese vaccination schedule in 1998. According to 2007 WHO data, the frequency of hepatitis B was estimated between 1.6 and 2.2%. In a study involving 6 Lebanese provinces and 31,147 people from January 2011 to December 2012, 542 (1.74%) were identified with HBV. HBV exposure was reported to be higher in South and Nabatiyeh (1.9%) compared to those from Beirut (0.73%). These results have been attributed to inadequate sanitation, low socioeconomic status, extended family size, and high migration rates from high endemic areas such as African countries. In 2016, HbsAg positivity was found to be 1.6% in a study involving 3769 hemodialysis patients. [47–49]. Lebanon is another country hosting a large community of immigrants (32% of the general population). The HBsAg prevalence in this group is expected to be higher than in the native population, but data in this group is lacking.

7 Israel

The HBV vaccination program in Israel has been carried out since 1992. In various studies conducted in Israel, 1.5–7% Hbsag positivity has been reported in the adult population. It has been reported that the HBV incidence has decreased to 0.5/100,000 in 2015. The HBV prevalence is estimated to be 0.96% recently. A recent large study showed that 868,714 people (22.6%) were exposed to HBV, while 15,258 people were HBsAg positive (1.75%). In this study, the prevalence of HBV in the Arab population was higher than in the Jewish population (2.98% and 0.76%, respectively). Genotype D is common [50–54].

8 Iran

In Iran, the national vaccination program against HBV infection started in 1993. According to the reports of the WHO in 2001 and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) in 2005, prevalence of CHB infection among the people of Iran was between 2% and 7%. This wide range of prevalence was mainly due to variance in prevalence rates among different geographical regions in Iran as a consequence of different socioeconomic level in addition to traditions and cultures. HBV infection prevalence in the general population of Iran has been reported as 2.9% (95% CI: 2.5-3.4%) before 2010 and as 1.3% (95% CI: 0.9-1%) after 2010. The HBV vaccine has effectively reduced the incidence of new cases in the country. In Iran, according to a recent metaanalysis, the prevalence of hepatitis B was reported to be 2%. The prevalence of hepatitis B in blood donors in Iran has been reported to be approximately 0.58% [8, 55-59].

9 Qatar

HBsAg screening in the State of Qatar started in 1983. There are very few published studies that address the prevalence of hepatitis markers in blood donors or in the general population. In a retrospective cohort study covering the years 2002–2006, it was reported that the HBV prevalence in Qatar was 4.7%. Another study in blood donors reported a HBsAg positivity of 0.9%. Qatar is home to a significant number of expatriates that make up more than 80% of its residents, most of which come from countries suffering from poor health systems in Asia and Africa. In a study published between 2010 and 2014 on the epidemiology of hepatitis B in Qatar, most cases were reported in non-Qatarians (89.4%) over 5 years [60–62].

10 Jordan

The prevalence of HBV before vaccination in Jordan has been reported as 9.9%. In 1995, the HBV vaccine was integrated into the childhood vaccination program. There has been a fourfold decrease in HBV prevalence over the last 30 years, indicating the successful implementation of this program. In the Polaris study, the estimated prevalence of HBV in Jordan in 2016 was reported to be 2.4%. In two separate studies, HBsAg positivity in hemodialysis patients was detected as 4% and 5.6% in 2003 and 2006, respectively [63–67]. These studies do not take into account the effect of migration which is an important problem of this country. According to the UN, Jordan is hosting some three million refugees and hence is home to the second largest refugee population. Overall, one-third of the population are immigrants.

11 UAE

To date, no prevalence estimates have been made for the general population of the United Arab Emirates. A previous report showed that the prevalence of HBsAg among young adults admitted to police college in Abu Dhabi was 0.3%. In addition, in a study of 2000 pregnant women aged 15–45, the HBV prevalence was found to be 1.5%. In a recent study, HBsAg positivity was detected in 2.15% of patients of a dental hospital [68–70]. The vast majority (88%) of people living in the UAE are foreigners who came for work.

12 Kuwait

Studies estimate the prevalence of HBV carriers to be 1% in the general population. However, this prevalence is higher (3.5%) among blood donors born abroad [8, 71]. It is important to add that Kuwait is one of the countries with a very large foreign-born population – 75% of the general population consist of non-Kuwaitis [12].

13 Oman

Before the introduction of vaccination in Oman, the prevalence of CHB virus infection was estimated at 2–7%. In a 2005 study, HBsAg seroprevalence was 2.3% among students born before the national hepatitis B vaccination program and 0.7% among students born after introduction of the vaccination program. A study evaluating the effect of vaccination efficiency and scope revealed that 15 years after the initiation of HBV vaccination in newborns, the prevalence of CHB in children fell from 2.3% to 0.5% [72, 73]. As in many countries in this area, nearly half of the population (45%) is foreign born.

14 Bahrain

The prevalence of HBV infection in Bahrain from 2000 to 2010 was 0.58%. However, the prevalence of infection has been reported to be significantly higher in patients who have undergone dental procedures and surgical operations and among citizens born abroad [73, 74]. HBV genotype has been reported as genotype D in 61% to be followed by genotype A in 10% [75]. In Bahrain, similar to Oman, 48% are foreign born.

15 Conclusions

Epidemiology of HBV is a dynamic process everywhere, even more so in the Middle East for several reasons; the richer countries in the area such as the UAE, Qatar, Oman, Kuwait and

Bahrain, Israel, and Saudi Arabia contain a large cohort of immigrants (Table 2). In the UAE, Qatar and Kuwait natives represent a minority in their own country, and in countries such as Bahrain and Oman, there is an even split between natives and foreigners. In these areas, the impact of foreign born on HBsAg prevalence in the country is obvious. This needs to be addressed in the respective countries, and health strategies including screening, vaccination, and treatment have to be implemented. Poorer countries such as Iraq, Syria, Lebanon, Jordan, and Yemen have to deal with direct and indirect consequences of political instability such as civil war and sudden surge of refugees. Effective preventive strategies such as infant vaccination may be interrupted under these circumstances. Data provided in this text based on scant available studies should be approached with caution as they may not hold true in the long run. The concern here is that the downward trend in HBV prevalence reported here (Table 3) also for the Middle East may change. For the rich countries of the West facing a continuous wave of immigrants, adaptation of health strategies accordingly is warranted. However, no country has so far adopted a policy of screening of immigrants or refugees for hepatitis viruses despite the recommendation of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention in the

 Table 3
 Estimated HBsAg prevalence rates in countries

 of the Middle East and the year universal vaccination had
 started in those countries

		Year of the start of
	General	universal vaccination
	population (%)	against HBV
Turkey	2–3	1998
Saudi Arabia	1.5–3	1989
Yemen	>8	1999
Iraq	1	1993
Syria	3–4	1993
Iran	1–2	1993
Jordan	2–3	1995
Israel	1–2	1992
Lebanon	1	1998
UAE	2	1993
Kuwait	1–2	1990
Oman	1	1990
Bahrain	<1	1993
Qatar	1–2	1989

USA that all immigrants originating from countries with an HBV seroprevalence greater than 2% should be screened for CHB infection and vaccinated if found to be susceptible [76]. Further, several studies suggest that screening individuals coming from a country with a HBV prevalence of 1% is cost-effective [77, 78].

References

- World Health Organization. Global Hepatitis Report 2017. http://www.who.int/hepatitis/publications/ global-hepatitis-report2017/en/. Accessed 6 Feb 2018.
- European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: Management of chronic hepatitis B virus infection. J Hepatol. 2012;57:167–85.
- https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/ detail/hepatitis-b. 1 Jan 2020.
- Ferenci P, Fried M, LaBrecque D, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma: a global perspective. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2010;44:239–45.
- Waked I, Esmat G, Elsharkawy A, et al. Screening and treatment program to eradicate HCV in Egypt. N Engl J Med. 2020;382:1166–26.
- El-Zanaty and Associates. Egypt health issues survey 2015. Rockville, MD: Ministry of Health and Population, ICF International, October 2015.
- Waked I, Doss W, El-Sayed MH, et al. The current and future disease burden of chronic hepatitis C virus infection in Egypt. Arab J Gastroenterol. 2014;15:45–52.
- Schweitzer A, Horn J, Mikolajczyk RT, et al. Estimation of worldwide prevalence of chronic hepatitis B virüs infection: a systemic review of data published between 1965 and 2013. Lancet. 2015;386:1546–55.
- Ott JJ, Horn J, Krause G, Mikolajczyk RT. Time trends of chronic HBV infection over prior decades: a global analysis. J Hepatol. 2017;66:48–54.
- Ni YH, Chang MH, Jan CF, et al. Continuing decrease in hepatitis B virus infection 30 years after initiation of infant vaccination program in Taiwan. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016;14:1324–30.
- Toy M, Ahishali E, Yurdaydin C. Hepatitis delta virus epidemiology in the industrialized world. AIDS Rev. 2020;22:203–12.
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division (2017). International Migration Report 2017: Highlights (ST/ESA/ SER.A/404).
- Akyildiz M, Ahishali E, Zeybel M, Yurdaydin C. Regional epidemiology, burden, and management of hepatitis B in the Middle East. Clin Liver Dis (Hoboken). 2020;14:212–4.

- The Ministry of Health of Turkey. Health Statistics Yearbook 2010. Available at: http://www.saglik.gov. tr/TR/dosya/1-72577/h/saglikistatistikleriyilligi2010. pdf
- Kose S, Odemis I, Celik D, et al. Hepatitis A, B, C and HIV seroprevalence among Syrian refugee children admitted to outpatient clinics. Infez Med. 2017;25:339–43.
- Tozun N, Ozdogan O, Cakaloglu Y, et al. Seroprevalence of hepatitis B and C virus infections and risk factors in Turkey: a fieldwork TURHEP study. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2015;21:1020–6.
- WHO Regional Office for Europe. Delivery of Immunization Services for Refugees and Migrants (Technical Guidance on Refugee and Migrant Health). Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2019.
- Ozekmekci M, Ark Yildirim C, Komsuoglu A. The integration of Syrian refugee doctors into Turkish health system: a case of good practice in the field of refugee employment. Arc Health Sci Res. 2020;7:87–94.
- Bozdayi AM, Aslan N, Bozdayi G, et al. Molecular epidemiology of hepatitis B, C and D viruses in Turkish patients. Arch Virol. 2004;149:2115–29.
- Aljumah AA, Babatin M, Hashim A, Abaalkhail F, Bassil N, Safwat M, Sanai FM. Hepatitis B care pathway in Saudi Arabia: current situation, gaps and actions. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2019;25:73–80.
- Alswaidi FM, Memish ZA, Al-Hakeem RF, Atlam SA. Saudi Arabian expatriate worker fitnessscreening programme: a review of 14 years of data. East Mediterr Health J. 2013;19:664–70.
- Alhuraiji A, Alaraj A, Alghamdi S, Alrbiaan A, Alrajhi AA. Viral hepatitis B and C in HIV-infected patients in Saudi Arabia. Ann Saudi Med. 2014;34:207–10.
- Alzahrani AJ, Dela Cruz DM, Obeid OE, Bukhari HA, Al-Qahtani AA, Al-Ahdal MN. Molecular detection of hepatitis B, hepatitis C, and torque teno viruses in drug users in Saudi Arabia. J Med Virol. 2009;81:1343–7.
- 24. Sanai FM, Alghamdi H, Alswat KA, Babatin MA, Ismail MH, Alhamoudi WK, Alalwan AM, Dahlan Y, et al. Greater prevalence of comorbidities with increasing age: cross-sectional analysis of chronic hepatitis B patients in Saudi Arabia. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2019;25(3):194–200.
- Khan AS, Al-Sweilem M, Akturk Z. Knowledge of of hepatitis B and vaccination status of some expatriate ethnic groups of blue-collar workers in northern Saudi Arabia. J Family Commun Med. 2008;15:77–83.
- SOLID. Systematic Observatory Liver Diseases Registry 2018. Available from: www.solid-registry. com/home.html.
- Qirbi N, Hall AJ. Epidemiology of hepatitis B virus infection in the Middle East. East Mediterr Health J. 2001;7:1034–45.
- Andre F. Hepatitis B epidemiology in Asia, the Middle East and Africa. Vaccine. 2000;18(Suppl. 1):S20–2.

- Al-Moslih MI, Al-Huraibi MA. Prevalence of hepatitis C virüs among patients with liver disease in the Republic of Yemen. East Mediterr Health J. 2001;7:771–8.
- Al-Nassiri KA, Raja'a YA. Hepatitis B infection in Yemenis in Sana'a: pattern and risk factors. East Mediterr Health J. 2001;7:147–52.
- Haidar NA. Prevalence of hepatitis B and hepatitis C in blood donors and high risk groups in Hajjah, Yemen Republic. Saudi Med J. 2002;23:1090–4.
- 32. Sallam TA, Tong CY, Cuevas LE, Raja'a YA, Othman AM, Al-Kharsa KR. Prevalence of blood-borne viral hepatitis in different communities in Yemen. Epidemiol Infect. 2003;131:771–5.
- 33. Abdel Raheem SM, Abou-Lohum TS, el-Didy H, el-Eriani H, Mansour S, Hafez AS. Hepatitis B infection in Sana'a city, Republic of Yemen. Prevalence among pregnant women and materno-foetal transmission. J Egypt Public Health Assoc. 1991;66(5, 6):491–503.
- 34. Al-Shamahy H. Prevalence of hepatitis B surface antigen and risk factors of HBV infection in a sample of healthy mothers and their infants in Sana'a, Yemen. Ann Saudi Med. 2000;20:464–6.
- Shidrawi R, Al-Huraibi AA, Al-Haimi MA, Dayton R, Murray-Lyon IM. Seroprevalence of markers of viral hepatitis in Yemeni healthcare workers. J Med Virol. 2004;73:562–5.
- Bawazir AA, Parry CM, Hart CA, Sallam TA, Beeching N, Cuevas LE. Seroepidemiology and risk factors of hepatitis B virus in Aden, Yemen. J Infect Public Health. 2011;4:48–54.
- WHO country page. Yemen reported immunization coverage. http://apps.who.int/immunizationmonitoring/en/globalsummary/timeseries/tscoverage bycountry.cfm?C=YEM.
- Al-Juboury AWF, Salih HA, Al-Assadi MK, et al. Seroprevalance of hepatitis B and C among blood donors in Babylon Governorate- Iraq. Med J Babylon. 2010;7:1–2.
- Mahmood AK, Addose SA, Salih HA, et al. Seroprevalence of HBs ag and Anti HCV positive blood donors in Najaf governorate. Iraqi J Commun Med. 2001;14:29–33.
- Bashour H, Muhjazi G. Hepatitis B and C in the Syrian Arab Republic: a review. East Mediterr Health J. 2016;22(4):267–73.
- 41. Antaki N, Haffar S, Ali Deeb S, et al. High prevalence of HBV genotype D in Syria and the clinical characteristics of hepatitis B e antigen-negative chronic hepatitis B. Epidemiol Infect. 2010;138(1):40–4.
- Abou RA, Abou KS, Saba J, W. Ammar W. Epidemiology of hepatitis B and hepatitis C in Lebanon. Arab J Gastroenterol. 2016;17(1):29–33.
- Hatem J. The role of the laboratory in the surveillance of viral diseases in Lebanon. Lebanese Med J. 1972;25:151–65.
- 44. Nassar NT, Alami SY, Nasrahah SM, Aham CK. The prevalence of hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) among students and blood donors at the American

University of Beirut (AUB). Johns Hopkins Med J. 1976;139:45–8.

- Nassar NT. Epidemiology and prevention of hepatitis B. Lebanese Med J. 2001;49:40–2.
- 46. Nabulsi MM, Khalil AM, Farah AE, Araj GF. Prevalence of hepatitis B surfaceantigen in pregnant Lebanese women. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1997;58:243–4.
- 47. Nabulsi MM, Araj GF, Nuwayhid I, Ramadan M, Ariss M. Prevalence of hepatitis B infection markers in Lebanese children: the need for an expended programme on immunization. Epidemiol Infect. 2001;126:285–9.
- Saab BR, Nassar NT, Musharrafieh U, Araj GF, Khogali M. Prevalence of hepatitis B in a presumably healthy Lebanese population. Lebanese Med J. 2007;55(1):11–4.
- Nabulsi MM, El Saleeby CM, Araj GF. Lebanese hepatitis B collaborative studygroup. The current status of hepatitis B in Lebanon. Lebanese Med J. 2003;51:64–70.
- Hatzakis A, Van Damme P, Alcorn K, et al. The state of hepatitis B and C in the Mediterranean and Balkan countries: report from a summit conference. J Viral Hepat. 2013;20:1–20.
- Shirazi R, Ram D, Rakovsky A, et al. Characterization of hepatitis B and delta coinfection in Israel. BMC Infect Dis. 2018;18(1):97.
- Goldshtein I, Fernandes G, Karasik A, Rajpathak S, Chodick G. The incidence of liver complications in Israel. Value Health. 2017;20(9):A632.
- 53. Israel Ministry of Health. Vaccination Guidelines. Jerusalem: Israel Ministry of Health; 2016. Hebrew. Available from https://www.health.gov.il/Subjects/ pregnancy/Childbirth/Vaccination_of_infants/Pages/ hepatitis_B.aspx.
- 54. Madihi S, Syed H, Lazar F, Zyad A, Benani A. A systematic review of the current hepatitis B viral infection and hepatocellular carcinoma situation in mediterranean countries. Biomed Res Int. 2020, 2020:7027169. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/7027169. eCollection 2020.
- 55. Mohammadi Z, Keshtkar A, Eghtesad S, Jeddian A, Pourfatholah AA, Maghsudlu M, et al. Epidemiological profile of hepatitis B virus infection in Iran in the past 25 years; a systematic review and meta-analysis of general population studies. Middle East J Dig Dis. 2016;8(1):5–18. https://doi.org/10.15171/mejdd.2016.01.
- 56. Salehi-Vaziri M, Sadeghi F, Almasi Hashiani A, Gholami Fesharaki M, Alavian SM. Hepatitis B virus infection in the general population of Iran: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepat Mon. 2016;16(4):e35577. https://doi.org/10.5812/ hepatmon.35577.
- 57. Mast EE, Margolis HS, Fiore AE, et al. A comprehensiveimmunization strategy to eliminate transmission of hepatitisB virus infection in the United States: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) part 1: immuniza-

tion of infants, children, and adolescents. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2005;54:1–31.

- 58. World Health Organization. Introduction of hepatitis B vaccine into childhood immunization services: management guidelines, including information for health workers and parents. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2001.
- 59. Mohaghegh Shelmani H, Karayiannis P, Ashtari S, et al. Demographic changes of hepatitis B virus infection in Iran for the last two decades. Gastroenterol Hepatol Bed Bench. 2017;10:S38–43.9.
- 60. Fawzi Z, Al Hilali A, Al Malki A, Al Matawa H, Yousef B, Ali Bin Ali A, Al Mansour S. Survey of hepatitis markers among donors in the State of Qatar. Qatar Med J. 2007;16:47–50.
- 61. Al Romaihi HE, Ganesan N, Farag EA, Smatti MK, Nasrallah GK, Himatt SM, et al. Demographics and epidemiology of hepatitis B in the State of Qatar: a five-year surveillance-based incidence study. Pathogens. 2019;8(2):68. https://doi.org/10.3390/ pathogens8020068.
- Bener A, Al-Kaabi S, Derbala M, Al-Marri A, Rikabi A. The epidemiology of viralhepatitis in Qatar. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2009;20(2):300–6.
- Toukan AU, Sharaiha ZK, Abu-el-Rub OA, et al. The epidemiology of hepatitis B virus among family members in the Middle East. Am J Epidemiol. 1990;132(2):220–32.
- Polaris Oservatory Collaborators. Global prevalence, treatment, and prevention of hepatitis B virus infection in 2016: a modelling study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;3(6):383–403.
- 65. Al-Gani FA. Prevalence of HBV, HCV and HIV-1, 2 infections among blood donors in Prince Rashed Ben Al-Hassan hospital in North region of Jordan. Int J Biol Med Res. 2011;2(4):912–6.
- 66. Batieha A, Abdallah S, Maghaireh M, et al. Epidemiology and cost of haemodialysis in Jordan. East Mediterr Health J. 2007;13(3):654–63. Hamoudi W, Jedallah K. National protocol for hepatitis B and C. 2016. Available at: https://www. academia.edu/28874489/The_Hashemite_Kingdom_ of_Jordan_Ministry_of_Health_National_Protocol_ for_Hepatitis_B_and_C_2016.
- Al Hijazat M, Ajlouni YM. Hepatitis B infection among patients receiving chronic hemodialysis at the Royal Medical Services in Jordan. Saudi J Kidney Dis Trans. 2008;19(2):260.
- 68. Al Awaidy S, Abu-Elyazeed R, Al Hosani H, Al Mulla A, Al Busaiedy S, Al Amiry A, et al. Sero-

epidemiology of hepatitis B infection in pregnant women in Oman, Qatar and the United Arab Emirates. J Infect. 2006;52(3):202–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jinf.2005.05.006.

- 69. Fakhry S. Prevalence of hepatitis B virus (HBV) and hepatitis C virus (HCV) in young adults in United Arab Emirates (UAE). In: AASLD; 2011. p. 12864.
- Al-Amad SH. Prevalence of hepatitis B, C, and HIV among patients attending a teaching dental hospital. A 7-year retrospective study from the United Arab Emirates. Saudi Med J. 2018;39(5):500–5. https://doi. org/10.15537/smj.2018.5.22116.
- 71. Siddique I, Chowdhury RI, Al-Hamdan S, of viral et al. Prevalence markers among blood donors first-time Arab in Kuwait. 2005;45(12):1973-80. Transfusion. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1537-2995.2005.00635.x.
- 72. Al Awaidy ST, Bawikar SP, Al Busaidy SS, Al Mahrouqi S, Al Baqlani S, ObaidaniI A, et al. Progress toward elimination of hepatitis B virus transmission in Oman: impact of hepatitis B vaccination. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2013;89(4):811–5. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.13-0333.
- 73. Al Awaidy ST, Ezzikouri S. Moving towards hepatitis B elimination in Gulf Health Council states: from commitment to action. J Infect Public Health. 2020;13(2):221–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jiph.2019.08.004. Epub 2019 Aug 21.
- 74. Janahi EM. Prevalence and risk factors of hepatitis B virus infection in Bahrain, 2000 through 2010. PLoS One. 2014;9(2):e87599. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087599.
- 75. Janahi EM, Ilyas Z, Al Othman E, et al. Hepatitis B virüs genotypes in the kingdom of Bahrain: prevalence, gender distribution and impact on hepatic biomarkers. Medicina (Kaunas). 2019;55(10):622. https://doi.org/10.3390/medicina55100622.
- Weinbaum CM, Williams I, Mast EE, Wang SA, Finelli L, et al. Recommendations for identification and public health management of persons with chronic hepatitis B virus infection. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2008;57:1–20.
- Hutton DW, Tan D, So SK, Brandeau ML. Costeffectiveness of screening and vaccinating Asian and Pacific Islander adults for hepatitis B. Ann Intern Med. 2007;147:460–9.
- Eckman MH, Kaiser TE, Sherman KE. The costeffectiveness of screening for chronic hepatitis B infection in the United States. Clin Infect Dis. 2011;52:1294–306.


Hepatocellular Carcinoma in the United Arab Emirates

M. Jawad Hashim, S. Sadaf Rizvi, and Gulfaraz Khan

1 Demographics of UAE

The United Arab Emirates, often referred simply to as The Emirates, is a federation of seven states, namely, Abu Dhabi, Dubai, Sharjah, Ajman, Fujairah, Ras Al Khaimah, and Umm Al Quwain. Over the last 20 years, UAE has witnessed a population boom, increasing by over three times [1]. The current UAE population is estimated to be 9.8 million, and approximately 70% of whom live in Dubai and Abu Dhabi. Expatriates account for more than 80% of the total population [2]. Due to the large proportion of single expatriate workforce, mostly from the Indian subcontinent, UAE has a very unusual gender and age distribution; males constitute over 70% of the population, and more than 65% are in the 25-54-year age range [1]. This demographic group has elevated rates of HCC risk factors such as obesity, chronic viral hepatitis, and alcohol intake.

M. J. Hashim

S. S. Rizvi · G. Khan (⊠) Department of Medical Microbiology, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, United Arab Emirates University, Al Ain, Abu Dhabi, UAE e-mail: srizvi@uaeu.ac.ae; g_khan@uaeu.ac.ae

2 Epidemiology of Liver Cancer in the UAE

Cancer is the third leading cause of death in the UAE, after cardiovascular diseases and traffic injuries [3]. Like many other countries around the world, the incidence of cancer is growing in the UAE. Recognizing this health problem, the UAE government has included cancer as one of the key performance indicators in its National Health Agenda to assess the nation's healthcare goals [4]. The UAE National Cancer Registry (NCR) reported a cumulative total of 3818 new cancer cases from January 1 to December 31, 2014 [3]. More recent estimates indicate that this number has risen to 4707 new cases, with 56% occurring in females [5]. The top 5 most frequent cancers in UAE were breast, colorectal, thyroid, prostate, and leukemia [5].

In terms of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), the UAE has a small but rising burden of this malignancy (Fig. 1a, b). This trend may reflect the increasing rates of obesity, alcohol use, and population aging. Within the Middle East North Africa (MENA) region, UAE has moved up in ranks from 17th highest incidence rate three decades ago to the 13th position recently [6]. The gradually increasing number of cases of hepatocellular carcinoma will place additional demands on the healthcare system, especially for clinical oncology services. The UAE NCR recorded 68 cases in 2014 [3]. Although the rise is concern-

Department of Family Medicine, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, United Arab Emirates University, Al Ain, Abu Dhabi, UAE e-mail: jhashim@uaeu.ac.ae

ing, the overall burden is low at about 220 new cases in 2019.

Age-standardized rates (which adjust for changes in underlying population) show a stabilization of the number of cases (Fig. 1c, d). This implies that the apparent rise in the total number of cases is partly due to changes in population structure such as aging. The annual incidence of 2.37 cases per 100,000 is lower than the global average (6.9 cases per 100,000) and markedly lower than Egypt (14 cases), Japan (36.5 cases), and South Korea (38 new cases annually per 100,000 population). Moreover, the incidence in UAE is also lower than neighboring countries such as Saudi Arabia and Qatar. Overall, the burden of HCC is relatively low in the UAE.



Fig. 1 Burden of liver cancer in the United Arab Emirates, 1990 to 2019, based on Global Burden of Disease 2019 data [6]. (a) Total number of new HCC cases per year in the UAE. (b) Total deaths due to HCC per year in the

UAE. (c) Age-adjusted incidence rate (new cases per 100,000 standardized population). (d) Age-adjusted mortality rate (deaths per 100,000 standardized population)



Fig. 1 (continued)

3 Risk Factors for Hepatocellular Carcinoma in the UAE

The main risk factors for HCC in the UAE have been chronic infections with hepatitis B and C viruses, accounting for 74% of all HCC cases (Fig. 2). Although both HBV and HCV target the liver, the two viruses are very different. HBV is a small, enveloped, partially double-stranded DNA (3.2 kb) virus belonging to the *Hepadnaviridae* family. HCV on the other hand is an enveloped single-stranded RNA (9.6 kb) virus belonging to the *Flaviviridae* family. Both viruses are primarily transmitted via exposure to infected blood or body fluids through sexual contact and sharing contaminated needles. In terms of seroprevalence, certain regions appear to have higher burden compared to others. For example, HBV is particularly prevalent in Africa and Western Pacific regions, while high prevalence of HCV has been noted in the European and Eastern Mediterranean regions



Fig. 2 Relative contribution of different causes of liver cancer incidence in (a) the UAE, (b) Middle East North Africa region, and (c) global [6]

[7]. It is expected that the burden of viral-associated HCC will decrease in the future, as vaccination and antiviral treatments become standard practice. However, this reduction may well be overshadowed by the alarming increase in other HCC-associated risk factors, notably diabetes and obesity. Within the last 50 years, both of these risk factors have more than tripled [8, 9]. This has been particularly evident in the Gulf region. Although both diabetes and obesity are associated with cancer, the causal association is particularly strong for HCC. Indeed, it is estimated that these two risk factors independently contribute to approximately 25% of all HCC cases [10].

Rates of liver cancer attributable to hepatitis B virus in the UAE are lower than most western

countries such as Spain, Portugal, the UK, and the USA [6]. Vaccination at birth for hepatitis B is close to universal coverage due to a legislated mandate and federal funding. There is 98% coverage for the third dose of hepatitis B vaccine among children in the UAE [11]. The effect of universal vaccination is likely to further decrease the role of this risk factor for HCC within the UAE. All expatriate residents in the UAE are periodically screened for hepatitis B (along with other infectious diseases such as HIV) for their visa renewal. Among citizens, the rates are decreasing. For instance, about 1.5% of local pregnant women are positive for hepatitis B (HBsAg) [12].

Hepatitis C (anti-HCV) prevalence is also fairly low in the UAE at 0.1%, comparable to developed nations [13]. The rates are reported to be higher among resident expatriate workers from neighboring countries [14]. HCC attributable to chronic hepatitis C is considerably lower in the UAE compared to western countries such as France, Germany, the UK, and the USA [6]. For example, the incidence of liver cancer due to hepatitis C in the UAE is 0.5 cases annually per 100,000, while the corresponding rate is 6.2 cases in Spain. Screening for hepatitis C in the UAE meets international standards in clinical laboratories and for blood transfusion. As most healthcare workers are internationally trained and experienced, awareness of blood-borne transmission and infection control measures is well established and strictly implemented, thus minimizing the transmission of the virus by these routes. Similarly, transmission of HCV via injecting drugs does not appear to be a dominant contributor to HCV seroprevalence in this region [15].

Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, which includes nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), is rising rapidly as a risk factor in the UAE [16]. The current prevalence of NASH (4.1% of adult population) is expected to more than double over the next decade [17]. This is likely due to rapid changes in social lifestyle from a nomadic existence and labor-intensive fishing to affluent world-class amenities. Sedentariness and a calorie-rich diet have led to rising rates of obesity and diabetes in both citizens and expatriates [18].

Alcohol is an important risk factor for HCC. In some countries, notably in the Eastern European region, alcohol is estimated to contribute to more than 50% of all HCC cases. Recent estimates for MENA region show that alcohol-associated HCC cases are on the rise in some of the countries, namely, Qatar, Turkey, and Egypt [19]. Unfortunately, no published data is available on the contribution of alcohol in the development of HCC in the UAE. Similarly, aflatoxin is also a well-known causative risk factor for HCC [20, 21]. Foods with high levels of aflatoxin have been reported from a number of countries [20]. However, once again little or no reliable data is available on the impact of aflatoxin on HCC in the UAE. A study published over 20 years ago reported that some foods in the UAE may contain aflatoxin [22], which could lead to exposure of neonates from maternal ingestion of aflatoxincontaining food [23].

4 Clinical Features of Liver Cancer in the UAE

Age of presentation in the UAE starts in the 40s and peaks in the 80- to 90-year-old age group (Fig. 3). Males are more commonly affected than females. In the UAE, the male to female ratio for HCC incidence is 2.7:1. This is higher than the global average of 2.3:1. At older ages (80+ years), the male to female ratio tends to be closer to 2:1. Furthermore, males have a markedly higher risk of dying from HCC than females [14].

High-income Middle Eastern countries, such as the UAE, have a greater proportion of hepatitis B- than hepatitis C-associated HCC. These countries have generally lower rates of liver cancer compared to low-income neighboring nations. There is a paucity of clinical research data on liver cancer from the Middle East region. Thus, it is difficult to compare HCC stage at diagnosis, treatment, and survival rates in the UAE with other countries. Regionally, HCC tends to be an aggressive malignancy that is often diagnosed at a late stage with associated poor survival [24]. Even with liver transplantation, recurrence rates can be 10% within 2 years [25].



Fig. 3 Age distribution of new cases of liver cancer in the UAE in 2019 [6]

5 Health Issues Facing UAE and Its Healthcare System

It is pertinent to view HCC in the context of diseases prevalent in the UAE and the challenges faced by its healthcare system. UAE is a rapidly developing country which is transitioning from reliance on petrochemicals to a more diverse, knowledge-based economy. Dubai and Abu Dhabi have become world centers for trade, finance, travel, and tourism. With rising affluence and lifestyle change, there is increasing consumption of highly processed foods and hepatotoxic substances such as alcohol, leading to metabolic steatohepatitis.

The leading causes of death in the UAE are ischemic heart disease, road injuries, stroke, chronic kidney disease, and diabetes. Malignancies are ranked lower, and among neoplasms, liver cancer ranks at 12th place [6]. This is much lower than global trends, where liver cancer consistently ranks amongst the top 5 leading causes of cancer death [26, 27]. According to the UAE official cancer registry, the top 5 leading causes of cancer death in the country are breast, lung, colorectal, leukemia, and stomach [3].

Cancer care in UAE, like all other aspects of the healthcare sector, has witnessed enormous transformation over the last couple of decades. Developments have occurred throughout the entire spectrum of the specialty, including diagnosis, screening, early detection, prevention, palliative care, and management. Major cancer care centers are located in urban regions such as Abu Dhabi, Dubai, and Sharjah. These tertiary care hospitals provide advanced world-class clinical services including endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), trans-arterial chemoembolization (TACE), and minimally invasive and robotic hepatobiliary surgery. Systemic chemotherapy is available for advanced HCC. In 2018, the first liver transplantation in the UAE was performed at Cleveland Clinic Abu Dhabi [28]. Posttransplantation care and expertise is available for recipients travelling from abroad. Palliative care and visiting home nursing are increasing in capacity with growing demand as the population ages in the UAE.

6 Policy Recommendations

Key public health messages for liver cancer prevention may be potentially useful. Avoiding alcohol consumption, limiting processed foods that are rich in fat and simple sugars, increasing physical activity, vaccinating against hepatitis B, and avoiding reuse of medical sharps should be emphasized. Due to the diversity of people living in the UAE (more than 200 nationalities), culturally appropriate, multilingual approaches to health promotion are essential. Risk factors such as chronic hepatitis and alcoholism are higher among expatriate workers in the UAE [29].

More aggressive case finding for chronic hepatitis C may be useful toward reducing HCC. With the availability of effective oral antiviral regimens for hepatitis C, universal access to this lifesaving treatment should be pursued.

Among healthcare workers, refresher training, systems processes, and strict enforcement of infection control measures may be useful. Recognition and accreditation may provide additional incentives. Exposure to hepatitis C virus occurs in high-risk groups, often linked to medical care. In particular, disinfection protocols are critical for medical instruments used in intravenous access, vascular procedures, endoscopy, surgery, and dentistry. Immunity against hepatitis B among healthcare workers should be assessed as booster series may be needed [29]. Immunity from childhood hepatitis B vaccination wanes to 50% among UAE medical students [30].

Finally, it is worth mentioning that the UAE government heavily subsidizes healthcare for both its citizens and expatriates. Many patients with HCC in the UAE receive advanced cancer care, including chemotherapy and oncologic surgery, free of cost.

References

- United Arab Emirates Profile [Internet]. Our world in data. 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 28]. Available from: https://ourworldindata.org/search?q=united+arab+em irates.
- Blair I, Sharif AA. Population structure and the burden of disease in the United Arab Emirates. J Epidemiol Glob Health. 2012;2(2):61–71.

- 3. Cancer Incidence in United Arab Emirates Annual Report of the UAE - National Cancer Registry - 2014 [Internet]. [cited 2020 Oct 29]. Available from: https:// www.mohap.gov.ae/Files/MOH_OpenData/520/ UAE%20Cancer%20Registry%20Report%20 2014_En.pdf.
- Al-Shamsi H, Darr H, Abu-Gheida I, Ansari J, McManus MC, Jaafar H, et al. The state of cancer care in the United Arab Emirates in 2020: challenges and recommendations, a report by the United Arab Emirates oncology task force. Gulf J Oncolog. 2020;1(32):71–87.
- Cancer today-IARC/WHO [Internet]. [cited 2020 Nov 10]. Available from: http://gco.iarc.fr/today/home.
- Institute of Health Metrics and Evaluation, University of Washington, Seattle. Global burden of disease [Internet]. GBD Results. 2019. Available from: http:// ghdx.healthdata.org/gbd-results-tool
- WHO. Global Hepatitis Programme. Global hepatitis report, 2017 [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2020 Nov 10]. Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstr eam/10665/255016/1/9789241565455-eng.pdf?ua=1.
- Ogurtsova K, da Rocha Fernandes JD, Huang Y, Linnenkamp U, Guariguata L, Cho NH, et al. IDF diabetes atlas: global estimates for the prevalence of diabetes for 2015 and 2040. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2017;128:40–50.
- 9. WHO. Obesity and overweight [Internet]. [cited 2020 Nov 11]. Available from: https:// www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ obesity-and-overweight.
- Pearson-Stuttard J, Zhou B, Kontis V, Bentham J, Gunter MJ, Ezzati M. Worldwide burden of cancer attributable to diabetes and high body-mass index: a comparative risk assessment. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2018;6(6):e6–15.
- 11. United Arab Emirates Immunization Profile [Internet]. WHO vaccine-preventable diseases: monitoring system. 2020 global summary. World Health Organization; 2020. Available from: https://apps.who. int/immunization_monitoring/globalsummary/countr ies?countrycriteria[country][]=ARE.
- 12. Al Awaidy S, Abu-Elyazeed R, Al Hosani H, Al Mulla A, Al Busaiedy S, Al Amiry A, et al. Seroepidemiology of hepatitis B infection in pregnant women in Oman, Qatar and the United Arab Emirates. J Infect. 2006;52(3):202–6.
- Chaabna K, Cheema S, Abraham A, Alrouh H, Lowenfels AB, Maisonneuve P, et al. Systematic overview of hepatitis C infection in the Middle East and North Africa. World J Gastroenterol. 2018;24(27):3038–54.
- Khan G, Hashim MJ. Burden of virus-associated liver cancer in the Arab world, 1990-2010. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2015;16(1):265–70.
- Mohamoud YA, Riome S, Abu-Raddad LJ. Epidemiology of hepatitis C virus in the Arabian gulf countries: systematic review and meta-analysis of prevalence. Int J Infect Dis. 2016;46:116–25.
- Alswat K, Aljumah AA, Sanai FM, Abaalkhail F, Alghamdi M, Al Hamoudi WK, et al. Nonalcoholic

fatty liver disease burden - Saudi Arabia and United Arab Emirates, 2017-2030. Saudi J Gastroenterol Off J Saudi Gastroenterol Assoc. 2018;24(4):211–9.

- Sanai FM, Abaalkhail F, Hasan F, Farooqi MH, Nahdi NA, Younossi ZM. Management of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in the Middle East. World J Gastroenterol. 2020;26(25):3528–41.
- 18. Shah SM, Loney T, Dhaheri SA, Vatanparast H, Elbarazi I, Agarwal M, et al. Association between acculturation, obesity and cardiovascular risk factors among male south Asian migrants in the United Arab Emirates--a cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health. 2015;15:204.
- Sharafi H, Alavian SM. The rising threat of hepatocellular carcinoma in the Middle East and North Africa region: results from global burden of disease study 2017. Clin Liver Dis. 2020;14(6):219–23.
- Rushing BR, Selim MI. Aflatoxin B1: a review on metabolism, toxicity, occurrence in food, occupational exposure, and detoxification methods. Food Chem Toxicol. 2019;124:81–100.
- Ross RK, Yu MC, Henderson BE, Yuan J-M, Qian G-S, Tu J-T, et al. Urinary aflatoxin biomarkers and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet. 1992;339(8799):943–6.
- Osman N, Abdelgadir A, Moss M, Bener A. Aflatoxin contamination of rice in the United Arab Emirates. Mycotoxin Res. 1999;15(1):39–44.
- Abdulrazzaq YM, Osman N, Ibrahim A. Fetal exposure to aflatoxins in the United Arab Emirates. Ann Trop Paediatr. 2002;22(1):3–9.
- 24. Hafeez Bhatti AB, Dar FS, Waheed A, Shafique K, Sultan F, Shah NH. Hepatocellular carcinoma in

Pakistan: National trends and global perspective. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2016;2016:5942306.

- Bhatti ABH, Dar FS, Qureshi AI, Khan NY, Zia HH, Haider S, et al. Living donor liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma: a single-center experience from Pakistan. J Clin Exp Hepatol. 2019;9(6):704–9.
- 26. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68(6):394–424.
- 27. Fitzmaurice C, Abate D, Abbasi N, Abbastabar H, Abd-Allah F, Abdel-Rahman O, et al. Global, regional, and national cancer incidence, mortality, years of life lost, years lived with disability, and disabilityadjusted life-years for 29 cancer groups, 1990 to 2017: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study. JAMA Oncol. 2019;5(12):1749–68.
- Kumar S, Miller CM, Hashimoto K, Quintini C, Pinna A. Liver transplantation in the United Arab Emirates: initial two-year experience. Transplantation. 2020;104(S3):S534.
- 29. Al-Amad SH. Prevalence of hepatitis B, C, and HIV among patients attending a teaching dental hospital. A 7-year retrospective study from the United Arab Emirates. Saudi Med J. 2018;39(5):500–5.
- 30. Sheek-Hussein M, Hashmey R, Alsuwaidi AR, Al Maskari F, Amiri L, Souid A-K. Seroprevalence of measles, mumps, rubella, varicella-zoster and hepatitis A-C in Emirati medical students. BMC Public Health. 2012;12:1047.

Part II

Clinical Section



Overview of Clinical HCC and Its Management

Brian I. Carr

1 Clinical Risk Factors

Risk factors for developing HCC in patients with cirrhosis include older age, male gender, and severity of compensated cirrhosis, independent of etiology or cause of the cirrhosis (most commonly from hepatitis B virus [HBV], hepatitis C virus [HCV], or alcoholism). Mixed infection with HBV and HCV, HCV and HIV, or HBV plus alcohol greatly increases the HCC risk as well.

Common clinical diseases associated with an increased risk for developing HCC:

- Cirrhosis from any cause.
- HBV or HCV chronic infection.
- Alcohol chronic consumption.
- NASH/NAFLD (nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, typically from obesity).
- Aflatoxin B₁- or other mycotoxincontaminated foods.

Less common diseases associated with an increased risk for developing HCC:

- Primary biliary cirrhosis.
- Hemochromatosis (increased iron).
- α_1 Antitrypsin deficiency,
- Glycogen storage diseases (rare metabolic diseases).

- Citrullinemia (rare metabolic disease).
- Porphyria cutanea tarda (rare metabolic disease).
- Hereditary tyrosinemia (rare metabolic disease).
- Tyrosinemia type I (rare metabolic disease).
- Wilson's disease (increased copper).
- Autoimmune hepatitis.
- Alagille syndrome of infants.

Patients with any of the diseases that predispose them to HCC can be exposed to a variety of additional factors that increase their risk for HCC, including diet, alcohol, and possibly obesity. In the Middle East, both HBV and HCV feature as prominent causes, with HBV high in Turkish HCC patients and HCV high in Egyptian HCC patients.

The leading cause of HCC in Asia and sub-Saharan Africa is hepatitis B infection. Patients have a higher risk of developing HCC if they have hepatitis B infection and are alcoholics or have hepatitis B infection and are exposed to fungal toxins.

The leading cause of HCC in Japan, Western Europe, and the USA is cirrhosis that is caused by hepatitis C. People can get hepatitis C through contaminated blood transfusions, syringes, and needles or drug abuse. It is thought that the rate of HCC development is approximately 2% yearly for chronic HBV cirrhotic patients and 3–8% per year for chronic HCV cirrhotic patients.

B. I. Carr (🖂)

Translational HCC Research, Liver Transplantation Institute, Inonu University, Malatya, Turkey

Increasingly, a sedentary lifestyle and accompanying obesity, which has developed into epidemic proportions, is coming to be regarded as a major source of disease and mortality from its associated diseases, including HCC. A chapter has been devoted to this increasingly important topic (H. Akkiz).

Cirrhosis can typically take 10-15 years to develop after hepatitis viral infection is established, and HCC typically develops after an additional 10 years or more of cirrhosis. Cirrhosis is thus a premalignant disease. Many patients may die of liver failure from their cirrhosis without developing HCC. Conversely, many patients with cirrhosis can receive curative liver transplants without developing HCC. In general, HCC incidence appears to track portal pressure (one measure of this is reflected in thrombocytopenia, a surrogate marker). Cirrhosis occurs in about 10-15% of alcoholics, of whom about 15-20% develop HCC at a rate of 3-4% per annum. Alcohol is not a direct carcinogen, but HCC likely develops as a consequence of alcoholinduced oxidative stress (reactive oxygen species), which then affects downstream cellular lipids, proteins, DNA, and cell signaling pathways. Reactive oxygen species are also thought to be important in iron and copper accumulation disorders as well as in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), resulting from fatty liver disease.

The current obesity epidemic is associated with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), which requires liver biopsy for diagnosis and may also lead to a symptomless form of cirrhosis. NASH is distinct from the usually harmless fatty liver by being associated with liver inflammation. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) may or may not be associated with NASH. NAFLD is associated with metabolic syndrome and diabetes mellitus type 2, which in turn can be associated with HCC.

2 Epidemiology

The major cause of HCC in Asia (where HCC is globally most prevalent) and sub-Saharan Africa is chronic HBV. There are over 300 mil-

lion HBV carriers worldwide who may develop HCC with or without the development of the intermediate step of cirrhosis, unlike HCV in Western countries, where cirrhosis is a necessary intermediate step. The conversion rate for chronic HBV carriers to HCC is thought to be approximately 2-3% per annum. HBV is a DNA-binding virus and may directly influence gene function. The incidence of HCC is lower in alcoholic cirrhosis, NASH, and hereditary hemochromatosis. In China, Southeast Asia, and sub-Saharan Africa, aflatoxin B₁ is the most potent naturally occurring liver chemical carcinogen known (a group 1 carcinogen) and is a fungal product that contaminates stored rice, peanuts, ground nuts, and maize and is an important cause of HCC. The carcinogen is produced by the carcinogenic fungi Aspergillus flavus and Aspergillus parasiticus. Concomitant HBV plus alcohol and HBV plus aflatoxin B_1 exposure are thought to substantially increase the HCC risk; less is known of aflatoxin B_1 combinations with HCV.

The major risk factor for developing HCC in Japan, Western Europe, and the USA is HCVmediated cirrhosis, mainly from transfusion with contaminated blood or use of contaminated syringes or needles through medical or recreational drug use. The mechanism of HCVmediated carcinogenesis is complex and it does not bind to DNA like HBV. It is thought that the risk for HCC development in HCV-based cirrhosis is approximately 3–5% per year. HCV seems to relate to HCC mainly via the development of cirrhosis, and the risk seems proportional to the severity and duration of the HCV-induced hepatic inflammation and fibrosis that are part of the resulting cirrhosis. Studies involving outbreaks of HCV from contaminated blood transfusions have indicated that it takes decades to develop HCC. However, now that donors and their blood in blood banks are screened for HCV, it is thought that HCV infections will sharply decrease over the next 30 years. Evidence of this trend is already clearly available in Japan.

Globally, HCC is now the fifth most common type of cancer and the third most common cause of death from cancer. The reason for this discrepancy is due to the fact that a high proportion of patients die from this disease (overall ratio of mortality to incidence is about 0.9). The number of new HCC cases varies from country to country. Asian and sub-Saharan African countries have more new cases of HCC than Western countries. This difference is probably due to how each population is exposed to different risk factors. Examples of these risk factors include having hepatitis or eating food that is contaminated by fungal toxins. Generally, men have a higher rate of HCC than women. This may be due to increased tobacco smoking and alcohol consumption in males, which are both risk factors for developing HCC.

The cause of the gender discrepancy in HCC arising from cirrhosis (>80% of HCC cases) is unclear for viral causes. However, for chemical causes, such as aflatoxin B_1 contamination of foods, animal studies have shown that male rodent livers are better able to metabolize the carcinogen to its DNA-reactive and thus carcinogenic form.

There are about 750,000 new global cases annually; it is the fifth most common cancer in males and the seventh most common in females. There is a male predominance in incidence, varying from 9:1 male/female to 2:1 male/female cases, depending on the country, except in lowcirrhosis Western countries where the ratio approaches 1:1.

Most HCC cases worldwide occur in developing countries. The world's highest incidence rates are found in Eastern Asia, followed by Southeast Asia and then Central Africa. Southern Europe has moderately high rates, as do Central America and Polynesia. Low rates occur in Western Europe, the USA, and South America, with the lowest being in Northern Europe, Australia/New Zealand, and South-Central Asia. The large global variation is thought to be due to differences in exposure to causative factors, such as hepatitis virus or carcinogen contamination of foodstuffs, but not to ethnicity. Supporting this, studies of migrant populations, such as Japanese or Jews living in various locales, show changes in HCC incidence in the same ethnic group, but living in different locations.

3 Prevention: Primary, Secondary, and Tertiary

Many risk factors for developing HCC can be prevented. There are three types of prevention: primary, secondary, and tertiary prevention.

• Primary prevention consists of reducing the chance of developing HCC.

Examples of primary prevention include destroying contaminated food, vaccinating neonates against hepatitis B, and screening blood at blood banks for hepatitis C. Currently, the most important is screening pregnant women for hepatitis B and vaccinating newborns against hepatitis B.

Destroying aflatoxin B_1 -contaminated, spoiled foodstuffs is simple in theory but can result in a major financial burden to farmers in impoverished regions in rural China or Africa where it is most common. Prevention of the *Aspergillus* mold from growing in the first place, by storing grains, such as peanuts in refrigerated silos, is likely the most effective preventive measure in these areas but requires capital outlay for refrigeration in these farming communities.

The near-universal neonatal vaccination against HBV is already showing dramatic decreases in both HBV and the resulting HCC in children and adolescents in those areas with a high incidence of HBV. This approach is likely to cause a huge decrease in Asian HCC in the coming decades.

The elimination of HCV-contaminated blood in blood banks in Europe and Asia is expected to contribute to a major decrease in HCV infection, although recreational drug abuse remains a problem.

• Secondary prevention means that the patient has risk factors and attempts to prevent HCC from developing. Examples of secondary prevention include treating patients who have chronic hepatitis B or C infections with antiviral therapy and counseling to reduce alcohol consumption.

Once HBV infection has taken place, viral treatment strategies are needed and

114

have become increasingly effective in recent years in decreasing the blood-viral load (sustained virological response). It is expected that this will interfere with the development of cirrhosis and minimize the development of HCC. Although the data are preliminary, evidence has been published from meta-analyses of the effectiveness of HBV therapy. The treatment of chronic HCV infection, with resulting undetectable HCV blood levels, has recently been shown to greatly diminish HCC incidence rates. For both patients with chronic HBV or chronic HCV, a treatment-induced sustained virological response has been found in several studies to reduce the HCC incidence rate by >50%. It remains to be determined if this will be true of patients with HCV who also have cirrhosis.

Since alcohol consumption is a lifestyle choice and a contributor to HCC development, it would seem that alcohol counseling might be effective in either alcohol consumers or for alcohol consumers who are also HBV or HCV carriers, but the effects of an intervention are likely to be greater when undertaken at younger age or at earlier phases of the hepatitis. Cigarette smoking is a significant HCC cofactor, and the same principles apply here as for chronic alcohol overconsumption.

 Tertiary prevention involves the new and effective therapies that can suppress hepatitis in patients who have had their HCC surgically treated, but in whom the etiological factors are still active (HBV, HCV, alcohol). Tertiary prevention became available in recent years and has resulted in major decreases in HCC recurrence rates in areas where HBV therapies have been introduced on a wide scale. This is a major recent public health advance. It is unclear that HCV therapies can decrease HCC recurrences, as HBV therapies seem to do.

4 Surveillance

Screening for HCC is possible because there are several known risk factors and causes, and thus a large percent of patients who are at risk for HCC development can be identified. The earlier a cancer is detected by screening in general, the sooner and more effectively it can be treated. Furthermore, evidence is beginning to show that patients with HCC who are treated earlier, as a result of surveillance, have longer survival rates, at least for HBV-based HCC patients.

Screening for HCC usually involves an abdominal ultrasound scan. This can determine if there is a tumor, its size estimated, and possibly its growth after repeated scans. Abdominal ultrasound scans should be performed approximately every 6 months for patients at risk for developing HCC, such as those with cirrhosis from any cause or subsets of chronic HBV carriers. Screening can also include the cheap serum biomarker test for alpha-fetoprotein (AFP). Unfortunately, it is not elevated in over 50% of small HCCs – just when a serum biomarker screening test is most needed. Other serum biomarkers have also not yet been shown to be cost-effective in screening.

5 Diagnosis

An HCC diagnosis can be made with dynamic contrast-enhanced computed tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or by contrast-enhanced abdominal ultrasound (US). If the lesion demonstrates specific imaging characteristics of vascularity with washout, a diagnosis of HCC can be made radiographically, obviating the need for a biopsy.

6 Diagnostic Approach

Lesions <1 cm are too small to be definitively diagnosed by further imaging or biopsy. They

should be monitored at short intervals of 3-6 months for about 2 years. If the lesion disappears or remains 1 cm, the patient may return to routine surveillance at 6-month intervals. If the lesion grows beyond 1 cm, or if a new ≥ 1 cm lesion develops, or if the AFP level is rising, a CT or MRI is obtained.

Lesions ≥ 1 cm are evaluated by contrastenhanced CT or MRI. Biopsy for histologic confirmation is not typically regarded as necessary if the lesion fulfills typical imaging criteria for HCC.

Typical HCC imaging features are defined as arterial phase hyperenhancement of the suspected nodule on scan, with washout in the portal venous, delayed, or hepatobiliary phases.

A resection or ablation procedure will anyway provide biopsy confirmation at the time of the procedure. When an initial imaging modality cannot provide a diagnosis with confidence, a different imaging modality seems reasonable as a follow-up.

Although the need for biopsy has become less compelling, based on recent guidelines, as practicing oncologists, we prefer core biopsy proof of HCC. Furthermore, as molecular testing for prognostic and therapeutic subset identification becomes more accepted and useful, biopsy will be needed, just as it is for management of other solid tumors. Biopsy proof is certainly obtained for suspicious vascular liver masses without evidence of cirrhosis. Given the importance of the HCCsurrounding liver for prognostic molecular signatures (chapter "Biological Aspects of HCC"), we are also including biopsy of the non-HCC liver in our biobank collection for future studies.

All patients have a scan of the chest and abdomen, to identify the extent of the HCC and the HCC aggressiveness characteristics of maximum tumor dimension, number of tumor foci, and presence of PVT. Blood tests include hepatitis B and C markers, HCC serum biomarker, AFP and DCP levels, complete blood count and differential count and PT, liver function tests of total bilirubin, ALT, AST, ALKP, GGT, albumin, creatinine, as well as CRP and ESR levels. Calculation is made of BMI, NLR, PLR, and Glasgow Index.

7 Staging Systems for HCC

Staging is important both for prognosis and therapy selection. Several systems are in use, but their common agenda is to take into account both liver disease severity and tumor aggressiveness factors of maximum tumor size, multifocality, and PVT.

The Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer (BCLC) staging system includes factors for tumor stage, degree of liver function, and performance status of the patient and has been endorsed by EASL and AASLD. However, it includes fairly limited treatment recommendations. Korean, Japanese, and Chinese systems have been proposed, which may in part reflect there different HCC populations.

For all our patients, minimum workup includes a high-quality CT scan or MRI of the chest and abdomen with contrast liver images, together with tests for hepatitis B and C, complete blood count, and liver function tests, to include GGT (especially helpful in that 50% of patients with low AFP levels), as well as serum AFP and DCP levels. BMI is also assessed and we routinely add inflammation markers CRP (together with albumin, for the Glasgow Index) and ESR and compute NLR and PLR for prognosis evaluation.

Following diagnosis, a multidisciplinary setting is usually considered appropriate for discussing the disease extent and treatment options. Especially in clinical trial settings, a psychological evaluation is used for quality of life assessment, as well as for liver transplant donors and recipients.

e for cirrho	osis grade					
	1 point		2 points		3 points	
	<35		35-50		>50	
	>35		28–35		<28	
	<1.7		1.71-2.30		>2.30	
	None		Mild		Moderate/severe	
	None		Mild		Severe	
	Class A		Class B		Class C	
	5-6 points		7–9 points		10-15 points	
	100%; 1-year survival		80%: 1-year survival		45%: 1-year survival	
stems						
0 points			1 point		2 points	
(i) Tumor number Single			Multiple		-	
Hepatic replacement by tumor <50%			<50%		>50%	
А			В		С	
	<400		≥400		-	
s (PVT)	No		Yes		-	
l						
umor extent ^a Ascites		Albumin (g/L)		Bilirubin (mg/dL)		
<50	+	-	≤3	<3	≥3	<3
(-)	(+)	(-)	(+)	(-)	(+)	(-)
	stems mor s (PVT) <50 (-)	e for cirrhosis grade 1 point <35 >35 <1.7 None None Class A 5–6 points 100%; 1-year sur stems 0 points Single mor <50% A <400 s (PVT) No	e for cirrhosis grade 1 point 35 >35 <1.7 None None Class A 5-6 points 100%; 1-year surval stems 0 points Single mor <50% A <400 s (PVT) No <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% A <50% (-) (-)	e for cirrhosis grade 1 point 2 points <35 35–50 >35 28–35 <1.7 1.71–2.30 None Mild None Mild Class A Class B 5–6 points 7–9 points 100%; 1-year survival 80%: 1-year sur stems 0 points 1 point Single Multiple mor $<50\%$ $<50\%$ 1 point Single Multiple mor $<50\%$ $<50\%$ $<50\%$ A B <400 $\leq 50\%$ $<50\%$ A B <400 ≤ 400 ≤ 400 $\leq (PVT)$ No Yes	e for cirrhosis grade $ \begin{array}{c c c c c c } 1 & point & 2 & points \\ \hline	e for cirrhosis grade $\begin{array}{c c c c c c } 1 & point & 2 & points & 3 & points \\ \hline

CLIP stages (sum of points): CLIP 0, 0 points; CLIP 1, one point; Clip 2, two points; CLIP 3, three points Okuda stages: stage 1, all negative; stage 2, 1 or 2 (+); stage 3, 3 or 4 (+)

^aExtent of liver occupied by tumor; CLIP Cancer of the Liver Italian Program

(3) BCLC stagin	ng
Stage 0: very early	CP A; single nodule <2 cm; PS 0–1
Stage A: early	CP A-B; 1 nodule or 2–3 nodules <3 cm; PS 0–1
Stage B: intermediate	CP A-B; multinodular; PS 0–1
Stage C: advanced	CP A-B; PVT or N1 or M1; PS 0–2
Stage D: terminal	CP C; any T, N, or M; PS >2

CP Child-Pugh score, PS ECOG performance status, N1 lymph node involvement, T tumor size, M1 metastasis

Predictions of the BCLC classification:

- (a) Early-stage HCC patients (stage 0 and A) may benefit from potentially curative treatments (liver transplant, resection, radiofrequency ablation).
- (b) Intermediate-stage (stage B) or advancedstage (stage C) patients may benefit from TACE, RFA, or systemic TKI or ICI therapies.
- (c) End-stage disease (stage D) patients are offered supportive care and palliation.

8 **HCC Clinical Biomarkers** in Circulating Blood

Alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) is a glycoprotein produced in the embryonic liver and a form of fetal albumin, the synthesis of which is turned off at birth. Hence, an older name is oncofetal antigen, which, like CEA and glypican-3, is resynthesized in some tumors in adult life. It is frequently used and inexpensive and is a simple blood test to perform but is elevated in only 50% of patients with HCC. AFP is not a sensitive marker for screening for small HCCs but is extremely useful if elevated, when it can be used to follow the response of an individual patient to therapy or to see if therapy fails. It is also beneficial when used after surgery, resection, or ablation for tracking the possibility of recurrence, again, only in those patients in whom it was initially elevated at baseline. However, its use as a screening tool in surveillance is limited, when the search for small HCCs is the goal.

Recently, more HCC-specific tests have come into general clinical practice, such as a glycosylated form of AFP (itself, a fetal form of albumin) called AFP-L3.

Des-gamma carboxy prothrombin (DCP) or protein induced by vitamin K absence (PIVKA-2) is an HCC-secreted biomarker, and US Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved kits for measuring both AFP-L3 and DCP are readily available to clinical labs. Several studies have shown that elevated DCP is common in the presence of portal vein thrombosis (PVT). The molecule is really interesting, as it is an immature form of the coagulation protein, prothrombin. The enzyme responsible for catalyzing the immature to the mature form of prothrombin has an absolute requirement for vitamin K.

A diagnostic model has been proposed that incorporates the levels of each of the three biomarkers, AFP, AFP-L3%, and DCP, along with patient sex and age, into the Gender, Age, AFP-L3%, AFP, and DCP (GALAD) model, but awaits validation for screening.

Glypican-3 is another oncofetal glycoprotein that appears to have prognostic significance as an HCC serum biomarker and is being investigated both for use in imaging and as a potential target in HCC therapeutics.

None of these markers alone or together have yet been shown to be cost-effective for surveillance though.

9 Therapies for HCC

The aims of therapy for HCC, as with other solid tumors of patients, is to firstly improve quality of life and secondly to improve lifespan or survival time. In all of oncology, the patient's medical personnel must strike a balance between the objective of increasing survival as compared to untreated patients on the one hand and, on the other hand, to consider the availability, side effects (toxicities), risks, and costs of the intended approaches. In this section, a general overview of best treatments for the appropriate stage of the disease will be considered, but in chapter "Transarterial Radioembolization in Hepatocellular Carcinoma", consideration will also be given to reasonable therapies to offer to HCC patients in less well-developed countries.

Overall, the complexities of patient decisionmaking, involving as they do, treatment of the underlying liver disease and how it affects both medical and surgical treatment choices, are best done in a multimodality setting. This normally requires the following specialities to be represented in the discussion: diagnostic radiology, interventional radiology, liver surgery, medical oncology, hepatology, and usually, pathology and psychosocial services. We have found that this provides an optimum environment for therapy decision-making and therapy sequencing, as well as identifying the personal needs of the individual patient to be able to cope with the needed treatments that are being suggested. Quite often, there is more than one reasonable approach to an individual's HCC and associated liver pathologies and comorbidities.

10 Therapies with Curative Intent: Injection, Ablation, Resection, and Liver Transplantation

Survival after the diagnosis of almost all solid tumors is typically best if the total identified tumor mass can be completely removed. This is most readily achieved for small HCCs (usually \leq 3 cm diameter in a minimally cirrhotic or noncirrhotic liver). The tumor size constraints are typically due to the functional reserve of the underlying diseased liver, as well as the proximity of the tumor to major hepatic blood and bile vessels. *Percutaneous injection of ethanol* (PEI) or *acetic acid* is a time-honored, cheap, and easily performed procedure, requiring only a syringe and needle and an ultrasound machine to guide the needle placement, as well as the cheap agent to be injected. It has generally been supplanted by the other ablation techniques. However, it may be very useful for a resource-poor region. Typically, two to three small satellite lesions can also be treated this way, with repeat treatments every few months, as dictated by tumor growth or recurrence found on radiological follow-up. Patient tolerance is typically very good.

PEI has generally been superseded by *radio-frequency ablation* (RFA) or *microwave ablation* (MWA) procedures, which can be performed nonoperatively (percutaneously) or at open surgery. Excellent tumor necrosis can be obtained for small tumors and with minimal patient toxicities. Several studies have shown that even better tumor control can be achieved by combining RFA with TACE. Other forms of local ablation, such as hypothermia or hyperthermia, have fallen into disuse.

For all but minimal tumors, hepatic resection, involving various amounts of resected liver, depending on the size of the tumor and extent of the underlying liver disease, has been the standard of care for decades, where applicable. Multiple satellites can be removed at the same time, and often resection can be combined with RFA to distant liver nodules. Increasingly, hepatic resection is being done laparoscopically, by experienced surgeons. Major hepatic resections can be used only for patients with excellent liver function, Child-Pugh (CP) class A without portal hypertension or elevated bilirubin. The reason is that such resection depends on liver regeneration postsurgery, which is compromised by chronic liver disease. Limited resection can be used in the presence of CPA or B7 cirrhosis and sometimes even in the presence of tumor invasion of a bile duct or portal vein, though not the main trunk. Up to 50% 5-year recurrence rates are reported in large numbers of centers, with very low operative mortality (see chapter of Cost effective therapies B. Isik).

Liver transplantation differs from all the other HCC treatments in that it can cure two diseases simultaneously, namely, both the HCC and the underlying liver disease, usually cirrhosis. Using the well-established Milan criteria of a single HCC nodule not >5 cm or up to three nodules, not >3 cm, approximately 75% survival rates are typical, which is similar to transplantation survival rates for noncancerous liver diseases. Recently, several centers have shown similar survival rates for slightly larger HCCs. Regardless of size, the results are much poorer when macroscopic PVT is present that is observed radiologically. Many patients also have microscopic PVT that is usually found on pathological examination of the explanted liver. Survival rates are not as great for these patients but still much superior to the survival of patients with macroscopic PVT. More recently it has become apparent that patients with high pretransplant serum AFP levels also have poorer survival and this has now become part of the selection process for patients awaiting liver transplantation. Exact AFP cutoff levels have not yet been agreed upon, although the range of 500-1000 ng of AFP/mL seems to offer useful cutoff guidance. Even with the most restrictive criteria for liver transplantation, between 10-15% of patients have HCC recurrence within 5 years, often in the lung and to a lesser extent in the new liver. Due to the persistent loss of patients in the variable and sometimes long months of waiting for a cadaveric donor, some centers now offer live donor liver transplantation (LDLT), which does not involve several months of waiting and therefore no loss of patients on the transplant list. As centers evaluate extending the Milan criteria to more advanced tumors, which then require downstaging for tumor control, even LDLT transplant recipients often require several months of waiting while their HCCs are brought under control (downstaged).

11 Management of HCC Patients with Tumors Not Suitable for PEI, Ablation, Resection, or Liver Transplantation

This group constitutes the majority of diagnosed HCC patients. Even the practitioners of transplantation, resection and ablation (PEI, RFA, MWA) usually do not think of these therapies as curative, although some use the phrase "curative intent." The thinking is that if all visible tumors which have been seen on CAT scan are removed, then the patient (or a subset of patients) might be cured. Although theoretically possible, this is often unlikely. Considerations of tumor biology, explained earlier in this chapter, indicate the reasons. HCC typically arises on a liver that is chronically diseased from HBV or HCV or alcoholism or dietary aflatoxin consumption or, as recently recognized, from obesity/metabolic syndrome. Any of these etiologies lead in most patients to a degree of cirrhosis, which is regarded as a key intermediate step between cause and HCC development. This process usually takes upward of 10 years, although the degree of cirrhosis is clearly linked to the probability of subsequent HCC development. Thus, in a cirrhotic liver, there may be millions of cirrhotic nodules, and many of them can be premalignant and eventually develop into HCC. Thus, it is only a matter of time before a patient with cirrhosis develops either liver failure, or HCC, or both. Therefore, after resection or ablation, there are multiple other residual cirrhotic liver nodules that are in the process of developing into HCC. This likely explains the high levels of recurrences postsurgical resection. This, however, does not explain recurrences post liver transplantation. For that, it is necessary to learn about how tumors of other organs spread, such as breast cancer to the liver, lung, and bone. The concept of circulating tumor cell micrometastasis was developed to explain this, which has received recent experimental support from evidence in patients with a variety of tumors, including HCC. In these patients, circulating tumor cells (CTC) in the blood have been found, as well as circulating tumor DNA (ctDNA) fragments. Consistent with this is the observation that a proportion of HCC patients during the 5 years after liver transplantation for HCC develop lung metastases. Their origins are thought to be from circulating tumor cells in the bloodstream.

As with any aspect of HCC therapy, considerations of both tumor properties (maximum tumor diameter, number of tumor nodules, portal vein invasion and thrombosis [PVT], and serum levels of tumor markers, especially AFP) need to be taken into account, as each has prognostic implications. However, unlike most other tumors, patients with HCC usually have a second potentially lifethreatening disease, namely, hepatitis or cirrhosis, and the extent of the resulting liver damage has a major impact on the choice of which therapy might be safe. The indications and contraindications for liver transplantation, resection, or ablation are given in the chapters of S. Yilmaz and B. Ishik.

12 Trans-arterial Chemoembolization or TACE for HCC Confined to the Liver

The majority of HCCs are unsuitable for the above therapies at the time of diagnosis, because of the presence of portal hypertension, poor liver function, tumor multifocality, portal vein tumor thrombosis (PVT), extrahepatic tumor spread, old age, or comorbidities, and thus they are BCLC stages B, C, or D.

TACE has been the most commonly used nonsurgical treatment modality for these patients, if they are nonmetastatic, and has been the standard of care for intermediate stage HCC patients, BCLC B. The principle upon which it is based is that while the portal vein is the predominant supplier of oxygenated blood to the liver, the hepatic artery supplies over 80% of the oxygenated blood to the HCC (but not to other tumor types in the liver). Any therapeutic agent that is injected into the hepatic arterial branch feeding the HCC will thus be relatively selective in targeting the HCC and will to a considerable extent spare the underlying liver parenchyma. Thus, through a needle placed percutaneously into the inguinal artery in the groin, a catheter is threaded into the arterial system and then into the liver (chapter by R. Kutlu) and to the hepatic arterial branch that feeds the tumor to be treated. High concentrations of cytotoxic cancer chemotherapy drug(s) can in this way be injected into the artery feeding the tumor. Usually, embolizing particles are also injected. This embolization has two purposes. By slowing down the hepatic arterial blood flow, it has been shown that increased amounts of cancer

chemotherapeutic agent are thereby taken up by the tumor. Additionally, some measure of tumor necrosis is achieved by injection of the embolizing particles. In addition to TACE, trans-arterial embolization, which uses only embolic materials, and hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy (HAIC), which uses only antitumor chemotherapeutic agents, has each been used as treatment modalities. The chemotherapy drugs most commonly used are doxorubicin, cisplatin, or a combination of doxorubicin and cisplatin plus mitomycin C. However, there is little clinical trial evidence to support the choice of one of another nor the optimal dose of any of these drugs. This author prefers cisplatin over doxorubicin, due to its safety in cirrhosis, in which a high proportion of patients have portal hypertension-associated baseline thrombocytopenia. In recent years, doxorubicin-based drug-eluting beads have been tried, but they do not seem to be superior to bland embolization. The procedure can be repeated on a schedule of every 6-12 weeks, or on demand, when there is evidence of residual vascular tumor, increasing tumor mass or new nodules, or rising serum AFP levels. The main toxicities are liverrelated or transient abdominal pain from the embolization (post-embolization syndrome). A range of 30–70% response rates has been reported. However, modern evidence on survival advantage is largely lacking. The special case of presence of PVT deserves mention, as it is present in 30-40% of HCC patients. It was considered as a relative contraindication to TACE in the past, since TACE can damage the hepatic artery and PVT occludes the portal vein. However, in experienced hands, this still seems to be a moderately safe procedure, even in the presence of branch but not main stem PVT (see chapter of Trans-arterial chemotherapy and chemo-embolization T. Balli).

13 Trans-arterial Radio-Embolization or TARE for HCC Confined to the Liver

TARE has gained increased traction in recent years, due to its relative safety and effectiveness in patients who have PVT and its lesser toxicity profile compared to TACE. It consists of the intrahepatic arterial injection of glass or resin microparticles (Therasphere or SirSpheres) that have radioactive 90Ytrium as part of their structure (so it cannot be separated from the particle). It is a pure beta emitter, with a 64-hour half-life (background radiation levels are reached by 10 days; it decays to stable 90 zirconium)) and a maximum path length of 1 cm (so the medical staff or patient family cannot get irradiated from it after injection into the patient). It seems to give higher tumor response rates compared to systemic sorafenib, but not to enhanced survival. Nor are there comparative head to head studies of the two commercial products. Likewise, there are few phase III randomizations of TACE versus TARE results. However, some recent comparisons of TACE versus TARE show similar survival results and costs, on a 1-year perspective. Post TARE toxicity is mainly fatigue and post-embolization pain is generally absent. However, post-TARE liver toxicity, including increased levels of serum bilirubin, can occur in about 25% of patients, often non-transiently. In some centers, TARE has become a standard for locoregional therapy in place of TACE (see chapter of Transarterial radio-embolization R. Kutlu). Therasphere was approved by FDA in April 2021 for HCC therapy.

14 PVT Therapy

The presence of PVT is a major therapeutic challenge, especially since many patients have poor liver function. Several radiation approaches have been taken. TARE has been shown to be safe and can be effective in this setting, using either Therasphere or SirSpheres. However, external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) is looking increasingly attractive, either with intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT) or stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT). Furthermore, TACE combined with EBRT has been shown to result in superior survival in patients with PVT. Recently, PVT therapy with SBRT and downstaging of the primary tumor followed by liver transplantation have resulted in prolonged post liver transplant survivals.

15 Treatment of Metastatic HCC or Patients Who Have Progressed on TACE or TARE: Systemic Therapies

First line This subject is rapidly changing, with new recommendations every 12 months or so at this moment. The discussion below and recommendations must therefore be considered tentative and subject to change. The main nonsurgical treatments for advanced and nonmetastatic HCC confined to the liver are TACE and TARE. For metastatic HCC or for patients who have already received and failed to respond to TACE or TARE or who have main branch PVT, systemic therapies are the mainstay of treatment. At the time of writing, three therapies are considered as a firstline therapy after TACE or TARE or in TACE-/ TARE-ineligible patients and who have Child-Pugh class A cirrhosis as well as ECOG performance status 0-1. They include the current first choice in first line, which is combination of atezolizumab (Tecentriq) plus bevacizumab (Avastin), which was approved in 2020, and then, for patients who are intolerant to the component drugs of this combination, either sorafenib (Nexavar, approved in 2007) or lenvatinib (Lenvima, approved in 2018). For patients who have failed/progressed on combination atezolizumab plus bevacizumab, there are several TKI choices for second-line therapy. They include lenvatinib, sorafenib, regorafenib, or cabozantinib or ramucirumab for patients with serum AFP levels \geq 400 ng/mL. For those patients who received lenvatinib or sorafenib as first-line therapy and then progressed, reasonable choices for the second line of therapy include atezolizumab plus bevacizumab, cabozantinib, regorafenib, or ramucirumab for those patients with serum AFP levels $\geq 400 \text{ ng/mL}$.

Multiple combinations of either immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI) or ICIs plus TKIs are in progress and thus may supplant sorafenib or lenvatinib in the first line post TACE/ TARE. Furthermore, as the response rates of these combinations continue to improve and approach the responses seen with either TACE or TARE therapy, these two locoregional therapies might even be supplanted in the future by the newer systemic therapies, using ICI or ICI/TKI combinations, which seem to have both higher responses and survival than sorafenib in comparison trials and higher survival than has been reported for TACE or TARE, without direct comparison trials. Current trials that appear promising include the combination of cabozantinib plus atezolizumab, as well as the combination of two ICIs, nivolumab and ipilimumab, durvalumab plus tremelimumab, as well as combination pembrolizumab plus lenvatinib.

There is a decades-long history of systemic chemotherapy for HCC, almost entirely without survival advantage, when tested in prospective, randomized clinical trials. This approach has therefore been mainly abandoned, especially since the approval of oral sorafenib, a tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI). That was the first FDAapproved drug that was not a cytotoxic agent but was developed as an inhibitor of the Raf-1 protein and thus of its downstream signaling mediators, MEK and ERK. It also has multiple other targets, including vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 (VEGFR-2), platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR), and c-kit. It was FDA-approved based on the phase III SHARP trial (published in 2008), in which median overall survival for sorafenib was a statistically significant 10.7 months versus 7.9 months for placebo. A confirmatory phase III trial in Asian patients also showed significant median overall survival advantage for sorafenib of 6.5 months versus 4.2 months in the placebo group. Thus, in Asian patients, survival in the sorafenib arm of the trial was worse than in the western placebo arm of the SHARP trial. Several other findings were of note in the SHARP results. Partial responses were only 2%, while 70% of both sorafenib and placebo patients had stable disease. Furthermore, responses were higher in patients who had HCV as compared with those who had HBV. There was a dissociation between a significantly improved survival (if only10 weeks) for sorafenib and extremely low response rates (compared to TACE and TARE). Perhaps this means that for TKIs, which do not function

primarily by killing HCC cells, unlike cytotoxic chemotherapy, but rather by modulating their growth, stable disease may be an important end point in its own right. If so, this requires a major shift in our thinking about end points for medical therapies for HCC. Furthermore, the sorafenib toxicities were considerable, with a high percentage of patients having clinically meaningful tiredness and lethargy, as well as hand-foot syndrome, skin rash, hypertension, hoarseness, anorexia, weight loss, constipation, and alopecia. In addition, the SHARP trial did not demonstrate an improvement in quality of life for sorafenib versus placebo.

The REFLECT trial was a phase III noninferiority study in previously untreated metastatic or unresectable HCC patients, comparing lenvatinib to sorafenib. The median overall survival was 13.6 months for lenvatinib and 12.3 months for sorafenib. Based upon these results and its toxicity profile, lenvatinib was preferred by many to sorafenib in the first line.

However, everything has changed again with the superior responses and survival results of the IMBrave150 phase III trial, in which previously untreated HCC patients were randomized to receive the combination of atezolizumab (Tecentriq, an ICI) plus bevacizumab (Avastin, a monoclonal antibody targeting angiogenesis) versus sorafenib (Nexavar). Objective response rates were 27.3% of patients in the combination arm versus 11.9% for the sorafenib arm. In addition, 5.5% of patients in the combination had complete responses (disappearance of HCC) compared to none for sorafenib. The overall survival was 19.2 months for the atezolizumab plus bevacizumab combination arm versus 13.4 months for the sorafenib arm. Furthermore, the quality of life was also improved in the combination arm, with many patients continuing to work. The FDA has just given a breakthrough therapy designation for the combination of lenvatinib (Lenvima, a TKI) plus pembrolizumab (Keytruda, an ICI), which gave an ORR of 46% and OS of 22 months. A phase III study is ongoing. Multiple other TKI plus ICI combination trials are underway.

16 Therapies for Patients Who Failed Sorafenib

Second line regorafenib, cabozantinib, ramucirumab, nivolumab, pembrolizumab, nivolumab plus ipilimumab.

Until 2020, there were two approved first-line (or post TACE/TARE) therapies, namely, sorafenib and lenvatinib, and six second-line FDA-approved therapies for sorafenib intolerance or failure. They were regorafenib (TKI), cabozantinib (TKI), ramucirumab (TKI), nivolumab (ICI), pembrolizumab (ICI), and nivolumab plus ipilimumab (ICIs) (Checkmate 040 study). However, at the time of this writing (March 2021), combination atezolizumab plus bevacizumab has been approved in the first line and is so superior to the other agents that current standard of practice is to use it first in the first line. This has changed thinking about best choice in the second line – another first-line TKI or one of the second-line therapies? This so-called sequencing algorithm is currently being evaluated, based upon multiple factors including individual patient tolerance to TKIs, AFP level (ramucirumab was approved for patients with elevated AFP; REACH-2 trial).

Currently, multiple clinical trials are in progress, combining PD-1 and CTLA-4 inhibitors with various ICIs and/or TKIs, as well as combinations of ICIs with TACE or TARE.

17 Combination Systemic or Regional Therapies Combined with Surgery: Bridge to Transplant, Downstaging for Transplant, and Adjuvant (Posttransplant or Resection)

Bridge to transplant The variable long waiting lists in some liver transplant centers mean that some patients who qualify for a cadaveric liver transplant (within Milan criteria) can nevertheless drop out of the transplant wait list if their

HCC grows sufficiently during the months of waiting. Considerable effort is currently expended on keeping the HCCs of these patients from growing and thus preventing a disqualification of the patient from receiving a cadaveric liver transplant. Both locoregional therapies and systemic therapies appear to be suitable in this "bridge to transplant" context.

Downstaging Many patients have HCCs that are larger than permitted by the Milan criteria for cadaveric liver transplantation but who have good liver function and thus the possibility of therapymediated tumor shrinkage or downstaging, so that their tumors then might decrease to within transplant criteria. Due to a higher response rate, TACE or TARE are currently used in this situation, but as the newer ICI-containing combinations induce responses above 30% of patients, they may in the future supplant locoregional therapies in this setting. Furthermore, as various centers expand the size of tumors that they are willing to transplant, the combination of neoadjuvant therapy plus transplantation may increase the posttransplant survival of these patients, by bringing the tumors under pretransplant control.

Adjuvant therapies postsurgery After potentially curative hepatic resection, approximately 50% or more of patients develop recurrences in the residual liver within 5 years of resection. This is unsurprising from knowledge of the biology, since the whole of a cirrhotic liver is potentially capable of generating new HCCs in the post-resection parenchyma or capable of being invaded by HCC cells via microscopic portal vein invasion from the resected primary HCC. This is an important unmet need in HCC therapy. Multiple trials using chemotherapy have failed to decrease recurrences, as did the sorafenib in the STORM trial. Nevertheless, at least two studies showed a post-resection survival benefit for hepatic arterial delivery of ¹³¹I-Lipiodol (gamma radiation emission) therapy.

PVT There have also been multiple publications on the treatment of PVT with various forms of radiation (external beam and SBRT, among others) in the neoadjuvant setting, prior to resection or live donor liver transplantation (LDLT) for HCC, or as a means of shrinking a tumor sufficiently away from a main vessel to enable safe surgery (see chapter of Radiotherapy for HCC A. Shamseddine).

18 Hepatitis Therapy and HCC

Neonatal vaccination against HBV is a great modern public health triumph in gradually eliminating HBV-based HCC: primary HCC prevention. There is no equivalent HCV vaccine. HCC incidence in untreated HCV patients is directly related to the stage of fibrosis and cirrhosis. Direct-acting antiviral agents (DAAs) can cause a >90% decrease in HCV viral load and a decrease, but not an elimination, in HCC incidence rates, especially in patients without cirrhosis. This is an important example of secondary HCC prevention. There are several reports of a more aggressive HCC phenotype (increased AFP and PVT) in those DAA-treated patients who do develop HCC. Furthermore, the timing of DAA treatment in patients who already have HCC is controversial and should likely be deferred till after HCC treatment. Furthermore, the effects of DAA therapy on time to recurrence post HCC treatment and the aggressiveness of recurrences are currently unclear.

There has been a two decades-long decline in HBV-based cirrhosis and HCC incidence in HBV patients who were treated with nucleos(t)ide analogs. However, it requires prolonged treatments and does not result in a cure, due to the persistence of covalently closed circular HBV DNA. In contrast to HCV patients with HCC, patients with HBV-based HCC are advised to be treated with nucleoside analogs before their HCC treatments, to prevent further liver injury and reduce the risk of HCC recurrence after HCC treatments (tertiary prevention). In addition, nucleos(t)ide analog treatments seem to increase survival even in nonsurgically treatable HCC patients.

Conclusions HCC patients typically have two diseases, the tumor and the underlying liver, which likely have bidirectional influences.

Multiple factors impact the therapeutic approach in an individual patient, including the extent of the liver damage and the site and aggressiveness characteristics (maximum tumor size, number of tumor nodules, presence and extent of PVT). The most reasonable practical approach is the multidisciplinary tumor board that best includes interacting surgeons, oncologists, diagnostic radiologists, interventional radiologists, radiation oncologists, hepatologists, nursing, palliative care team, and psychosocial support colleagues, as well as representatives from the tumor registry and clinical research.

Further Reading

- 2018 Korean Liver Cancer Association–National Cancer Center Korea practice guidelines for the management of hepatocellular carcinoma. Gut Liver. 2019;13:227–99.
- Amesur NB, Zajko AB, Carr BI. Chemo-embolization for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma with different sizes of embolization particles. Dig Dis Sci. 2008;53:1400–4.
- Bağırsakçı E, Şahin E, Atabey N, Erdal E, Guerra V, Carr BI. Role of albumin in growth inhibition in hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncology. 2017;93:136–42.
- Brown KT, Do RK, Gonen M, et al. Randomized trial of hepatic artery embolization for hepatocellular carcinoma using doxorubicin-eluting microspheres compared with embolization with microspheres alone. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:2046–53.
- Bruix J, Takayama T, Mazzaferro V, Chau GY, Yang J et al, STORM investigators. Adjuvant sorafenib for hepatocellular carcinoma after resection or ablation (STORM): a phase 3, randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:1344–54.
- Cabibbo G, Celsa C, Enea M, et al. Optimizing sequential systemic therapies for advanced hepatocellular carcinoma: a decision analysis. Cancers (Basel). 2020;12:2132. https://doi.org/10.3390/ cancers12082132.
- Carr BI. Understanding liver cancer: a tale of two diseases. Springer Healthcare; 2014. ISBN: 978-1-910315-01-9.
- Carr BI 3rd, editor. Hepatocellular carcinoma: diagnosis and treatment. Springer Press; 2016. ISBN 978-3-319-34212-2. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-34214-6.
- Carr BI, Dvorchik I. Effects of cisplatin dose intensity on response and survival for patients with unresectable and untransplantable hepatocellular carcinoma:

an analysis of 57 patients. Gan To Kagaku Ryoho. 2000;27 Suppl 2:432–5. PMID: 10895191.

- Carr BI, Guerra V. Serum albumin levels in relation to tumor parameters in hepatocellular carcinoma patients. Int J Biol Markers. 2017;32(4):e391–6. https://doi.org/10.5301/ijbm.5000300. PMID: 28862714.
- Carr BI, Irish W, Federle MP. Chemoembolization for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with or without portal vein thrombosis. Hepato-Gastroenterology. 2010a;57:1375–81.
- Carr BI, Kondragunta V, Buch SC, Branch RA. Therapeutic equivalence in survival for hepatic arterial chemoembolization and yttrium 90 microsphere treatments in unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: a two-cohort study. Cancer. 2010b;116:1305–14.
- Carr BI, Bron K, Swanson DP. Prospective randomized trial of hepatic artery chemotherapy with cisplatin and doxorubicin, with or without lipiodol in the treatment of advanced stage hepatocellular carcinoma. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2011;45(9):e87–91. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCG.0b013e31820fb274.
- Carr BI, Guerra V, Donghia R. Portal vein thrombosis and markers of inflammation in hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gastrointest Cancer. 2020a;51:1141–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12029-020-00489-7. PMID: 32851544.
- Carr BI, Ince V, Bag HG, Ersan V, Usta S, Yilmaz S. Microscopic vascular invasion by hepatocellular carcinoma in liver transplant patients. Clin Pract (Lond). 2020b;17(3):1497–505. PMID: 33343877.
- 16. Casadei Gardini A, Tamburini E, Iñarrairaegui M, Frassineti GL, Sangro B. Radioembolization versus chemoembolization for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. Onco Targets Ther. 2018;11:7315–21.
- Chen ZH, Hong YF, Lin J, Li X, Wu DH, et al. Validation and ranking of seven staging systems of hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncol Lett. 2017;14:705–14.
- Chen L-T, Martinelli E, Cheng A-L, Pentheroudakis G, et al. Pan-Asian adapted ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for the management of patients with intermediate and advanced/relapsed hepatocellular carcinoma: a TOS–ESMO initiative endorsed by CSCO, ISMPO, JSMO, KSMO, MOS and SSO. Ann Oncol. 2020;31:334–51.
- Cheng AL, Kang YK, Chen Z, et al. Efficacy and safety of sorafenib in patients in the Asia- Pacific region with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma: a phase III randomised, double-blind, placebo- controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10:25–34.
- 20. Cho YY, Lee M, Kim HC, Chung JW, Kim YH, et al. Radioembolization is a safe and effective treatment for hepatocellular carcinoma with portal vein thrombosis: a propensity score analysis. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0154986. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0154986. eCollection 2016. PMID: 27149067.

- Chu KJ, Lai EC, Yao XP, et al. Vitamin analogues in chemoprevention of hepatocellular carcinoma after resection or ablation: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Asian J Surg. 2010;33:120–6.
- 22. Chung GE, Lee JH, Kim HY, et al. Transarterial chemoembolization can be safely performed in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma invading the main portal vein and may improve the overall survival. Radiology. 2011;258:627–34.
- Couto OF, Dvorchik I, Carr BI. Causes of death in patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. Dig Dis Sci. 2007;52:3285–9.
- EASL clinical practice guidelines: management of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2018;69:182–236.
- Ebied OM, Federle MP, Carr BI, Pealer KM, Li W, Amesur N, Zajko A. Evaluation of responses to chemoembolization in patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer. 2003;97:1042–50.
- 26. FDA grants accelerated approval to nivolumab and ipilimumab combination for hepatocellular carcinoma. FDA. Updated 11 Mar 2020. Accessed 23 Nov 2020. https://www.fda.gov/drugs/ resources-information-approved-drugs/fda-grantsaccelerated-approval-nivolumab-and-ipilimumabcombination-hepatocellular-carcinoma
- Feld JJ, Krassenburg LAP. What comes first: treatment of viral hepatitis or liver cancer? Dig Dis Sci. 2019;64:1041–9.
- Finn RS, Qin S, Ikeda M, et al. Atezolizumab plus bevacizumab in unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2020;382:1894–905.
- Georgiades CS, Hong K, D'Angelo M, Geschwind JF. Safety and efficacy of trans arterial chemoembolization in patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma and portal vein thrombosis. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2005;16:1653–9.
- Gotoh M, Nakatani T, Masuda T, et al. Prediction of invasive activities in hepatocellular carcinomas with special reference to alpha-fetoprotein and desgamma-carboxyprothrombin. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2003;33:522–6.
- Hong Y, Wu L-P, Ye F, Zhou Y-M. Adjuvant intrahepatic injection iodine-131-lipiodol improves prognosis of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma after resection: a meta-analysis. Indian J Surg. 2015;77:1227–32.
- Horino K, Beppu T, Kuroki H, et al. Glasgow prognostic score as a useful prognostic factor after hepatectomy for hepatocellular carcinoma. Int J Clin Oncol. 2013;18:829–38.
- 33. Ikeda M, Arai Y, Park SJ, et al. Prospective study of transcatheter arterial chemoembolization for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: an Asian cooperative study between Japan and Korea. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2013;24:490–500.
- 34. Im JH, Yoon SM, Park HC, et al. Radiotherapeutic strategies for hepatocellular carcinoma with portal vein tumour thrombosis in a hepatitis B endemic area. Liver Int. 2017;37:90–100.

- 35. Ince V, Carr BI, Bag HG, et al. Liver transplant for large hepatocellular carcinoma in Malatya: the role of gamma glutamyl transferase and alpha-fetoprotein, a retrospective cohort study. World J Gastrointest Surg. 2020;12(12):520–33. https://doi.org/10.4240/wjgs. v12.i12.520. PMID: 33437403.
- 36. Johnson PJPS, Cox TF, et al. The detection of hepatocellular carcinoma using a prospectively developed and validated model based on serological biomarkers. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2013;23:144–53.
- 37. Katyal S, Oliver JH, Peterson MS, Chang PJ, Baron RL, Carr BI. Prognostic significance of arterial phase CT for prediction of response to transcatheter arterial chemoembolization in unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: a retrospective analysis. Am J Roentgenol. 2000;175:1665–72.
- 38. Koike Y, Shiratori Y, Sato S, et al. Des-gammacarboxy prothrombin as a useful predisposing factor for the development of portal venous invasion in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: a prospective analysis of 227 patients. Cancer. 2001;91:561–9.
- 39. Kudo M, Finn RS, Qin S, et al. Lenvatinib versus sorafenib in first-line treatment of patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: a randomised phase 3 non-inferiority trial. Lancet. 2018;391:1163–73.
- 40. Kulik LM, Carr BI, Mulcahy MF, Lewandowski RJ, Atassi B, et al. Safety and efficacy of 90Y radiotherapy for hepatocellular carcinoma with and without portal vein thrombosis. Hepatology. 2008;47:71–81.
- 41. Lee TY, Hsu YC, Tseng HC, Yu SH, Lin JT, et al. Association of Daily Aspirin Therapy with Risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with chronic hepatitis B. JAMA Intern Med. 2019;179:633–40.
- 42. Lencioni R, de Baere T, Soulen MC, Rilling WS, Geschwind JF. Lipiodol trans arterial chemoembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review of efficacy and safety data. Hepatology. 2016;64:106–16.
- 43. Llovet JM, Real MI, Montana X, et al. Arterial embolisation or chemoembolisation versus symptomatic treatment in patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2002;359:1734–9.
- Llovet JM, Ricci S, Mazzaferro V, et al. Sorafenib in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2008;359:378–90.
- Lo CM, Ngan H, Tso WK, et al. Randomized controlled trial of trans arterial lipiodol chemoembolization for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 2002;35:1164–71.
- Maida M, Orlando E, Cammà C, Cabibbo G. Staging systems of hepatocellular carcinoma: a review of literature. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20:4141–50.
- 47. Omata M, Cheng AL, Kokudo N, Kudo M, Lee JM. Asia-Pacific clinical practice guidelines on the management of hepatocellular carcinoma: a 2017 update. Hepatol Int. 2017;11:317–70.
- Ozkan ZG, Poyanli A, Ucar A, Kuyumcu S, Akyuz F, et al. Favorable survival time provided with radioem-

bolization in hepatocellular carcinoma patients with and without portal vein thrombosis. Cancer Biother Radiopharm. 2015;30:132–8.

- Pleguezuelo M, Marelli L, Misseri M, Germani G, Calvaruso V, et al. TACE versus TAE as therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma. Expert Rev. Anticancer Ther. 2008;8:1623–41.
- 50. Riaz IB, Riaz H, Riaz T, et al. Role of vitamin K2 in preventing the recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma after curative treatment: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. BMC Gastroenterol. 2012;12:170.
- 51. Salem R, Gordon AC, Mouli S, Hickey R, Kallini J, et al. Y90 radioembolization significantly prolongs time to progression compared with chemoembolization in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2016;151:1155–63.
- 52. Salem R, Gabr A, Riaz A, Mora R, Ali R, et al. Institutional decision to adopt Y90 as primary treatment for hepatocellular carcinoma informed by a 1,000-patient 15-year experience. Hepatology. 2018;68:1429–40.
- 53. Singal AG, Kim JK, Kanwal D. AGA clinical practice update on interaction between oral direct-acting antivirals for chronic hepatitis C infection and hepatocellular carcinoma: expert review. Gastroenterology. 2019;156:2149–57.
- 54. Soin AS, Bhangui P, Kataria T, et al. Experience with LDLT in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and portal vein tumor thrombosis post downstaging. Transplantation. 2020;104:2334–45.
- Somma F, Stoia V, Serra N, D'Angelo R, Gatta G, Fiore F. Yttrium-90 trans-arterial radioembolization in advanced-stage HCC: the impact of portal vein thrombosis on survival. PLoS One. 2019;14:e0216935. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0216935. eCollection 2019. PMID: 31141552.
- 56. Song P, Cai Y, Tang H, Li C, Huang J. Clinical management of hepatocellular carcinoma worldwide: a

concise review and comparison of current guidelines from 2011 to 2017. Biosci Trends. 2017;11:389–98.

- 57. Steel JL, Eton DT, Cella D, Olek MC, Carr BI. Clinically meaningful changes in health-related quality of life in patients diagnosed with hepatobiliary carcinoma. Ann Oncol. 2006;17:304–12.
- Takayasu K, Arii S, Ikai I, et al. Prospective cohort study of trans arterial chemoembolization for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma in 8510 patients. Gastroenterology. 2006;131:461–9.
- Villanueva A. Hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2019;380:1450–62.
- Wang L, Xian Y, Yang Z. Comparison of 10 prognostic staging systems in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. J BUON. 2019;24:150–7.
- Xie B, Wang DH, Spechler SJ. Sorafenib for treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review. Dig Dis Sci. 2012;57:1122–9.
- 62. Xie L, Yin J, Xia R, Zhuang G. Cost-effectiveness of antiviral treatment after resection in hepatitis B virusrelated hepatocellular carcinoma patients with compensated cirrhosis. Hepatology. 2018;68:1476–86.
- Xie DY, Ren ZG, Zhou J, Fan J, Gao Q. 2019 Chinese clinical guidelines for the management of hepatocellular carcinoma: updates and insights. Hepatobiliary Surg Nutr. 2020;9:452–63.
- 64. Yoon SM, Ryoo BY, Lee SJ, et al. Efficacy and safety of trans arterial chemoembolization plus external beam radiotherapy vs sorafenib in hepatocellular carcinoma with macroscopic vascular invasion: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Oncol. 2018;4:661–9.
- 65. Zhang BH, Yang BH, Tang ZY. Randomized controlled trial of screening for hepatocellular carcinoma. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2004;130:417–22.
- 66. Zhu AX, Finn RS, Kang YK, et al. Serum alphafetoprotein and clinical outcomes in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma treated with ramucirumab. Br J Cancer. 2021; https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41416-021-01260-w.



Cost-Effective Therapies for HCC: Resection and Ablation

Veysel Ersan and Burak Isik

Abbreviations

AASLD	American Association for the Study
	of Liver Diseases
AFP	Alpha-fetoprotein
ALPPS	Associating liver partition and portal
	vein ligation for staged hepatectomy
BCLC	Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer
СТ	Computed tomography
EASL	European Association for the Study
	of the Liver
ECOG	Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group
HBV	Hepatitis B virus
HCC	Hepatocellular carcinoma
ICG	Indocyanine green clearance
MELD	Model for end-stage liver disease
MVI	Microvascular invasion
MWA	Microwave ablation
PEI	Percutaneous ethanol injection
RFA	Radiofrequency ablation
TACE	Transarterial chemoembolization
TNM	Tumor node metastasis
US	Ultrasound

1 Liver Resection for Hepatocellular Carcinoma

Therapeutic approaches in the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) involve tumor stage, liver function, tumor biology, and patient comorbidities. Decision of treatment option also depends on the capabilities of the center, familiarity of the physicians to the liver diseases, and budget of the social security system.

Surgical resection can be performed safely in patients with non-cirrhotic livers. These patients account for 5-10% of HCC in Western countries [1]. This incidence is 30–50% in Eastern Asia and majority of Africa where HBV is endemic [2, 3]. Major hepatic resection in these patients is associated with mortality and morbidity rates less than 4% and 33%, respectively, and 5-year overall survival of 50% [4-7]. Even re-resection of the recurrences in selected patients offers 5-year survival rate of 80% [8]. On the other hand, in one-third of patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in whom HCC developed, there will be no sign of cirrhosis, and postoperative complication rates are high in these patients with impaired liver regeneration [9–11]. Perhaps a biopsy to evaluate the liver parenchyma in the preoperative period may be suitable when imaging studies suggest possible steatosis.

Resection is also suitable in patients without clinically significant portal hypertension and in Child A class patients. Resectability decision of a

V. Ersan (⊠) · B. Isik

Liver Transplantation Institute, Inonu University, Malatya, Turkey

tumor needs precise evaluation. Recently perioperative mortality after resection in cirrhotic patients is reported to be under 5% [12–14]. In fact, it is not possible to standardize a resectability definition. Localization of the tumor and multinodularity are important anatomical points. AASLD guideline summarizes resectable HCC from variable references as those (i) minor hepatectomy with one to three unilobar lesions, with an upper size limit of 5 cm for single lesions and 3 cm for more than one lesion (some trials accept two lesions up to 4 cm), (ii) without radiographic evidence of extrahepatic disease or macrovascular invasion, and (iii) occurring in the setting of minimal or no portal hypertension and in the absence of synthetic dysfunction (Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer stage 0 or A) [15]. On the other hand, Roayaie et al. suggested that selection criteria for resection may be expanded with favorable outcomes [16]. EASL guidelines included patients with portal hypertension for minor hepatectomy if MELD score is <9 [17]. They also emphasized on liver decompensation with a 9% risk of mortality. Solitary tumor is associated with favorable prognosis where size is not a significant factor [18]. Major hepatectomy which is defined as resection of three or more Couinaud segments is achievable with no evidence of portal hypertension and with a MELD score <9 [19, 20]. However, the most important aspect is leaving an adequate hepatic remnant after resection which depends on the functional reservoir of the liver. Mostly the postoperative course after resection in patients with resectable tumors and without portal hypertension is uneventful, and 5-year survival rate is nearly 70% [1]. In patients with elevated bilirubin and portal hypertension with or without multifocal disease, 5-year survival rate is <30% whatever their Child-Pugh score is [21, 22]. Postoperative decompensation characterized by persistent jaundice and/or ascites beyond 3 months is seen in 10-12% of patients, and this condition is associated with mortality in the first year [19, 23–25]. The determinative factor for the dimension of tumor which can be resected is the functional capacity of the future remnant. As far as this capacity is enough, large resections, greater than three segments, can be performed safely. An indocyanine green clearance (ICG) test can estimate liver function. An ICG retention rate of 14% at 15 minutes is acceptable for major hepatectomy where 22% is enough for minor hepatectomy [18, 26]. Also more recently developed LiMAx® (Humedics, Berlin, Germany) test is a useful diagnostic test to predict postoperative failure risk [27].

The future liver remnant volume in patients without cirrhosis should be 25-30%, in patients after chemotherapy should be 30%, and in patients with evidence of cirrhosis should be 40% [28-31]. Although currently portal vein embolization is the first-line choice for small liver remnant, in 20-30% of the cases, resection cannot be performed due to insufficient hypertrophy, disease progression, and complications [32, 33]. Associating liver partition and portal vein ligation for staged hepatectomy (ALPPS) was introduced by Schnitzbauer et al. for future liver remnant hypertrophy in patients with advanced colorectal liver metastasis [34, 35]. Regenerative effect of ALPPS seems due to alterations in portal flow and systemic response to parenchymal transection inducing hepatocyte proliferation and remodeling [36]. How much regenerative response can be achieved in a fibrotic liver tissue may be questionable, but an animal model revealed an attenuated but present ALPPS-derived regeneration [37]. Although there are concerns about the feasibility of the procedure, in a review by Zhang et al., it was concluded that ALPPS is a safe and feasible approach to treat selected patients with unresectable HCC [38]. However patients with a model of end-stage liver disease (MELD) score of more than 10 revealed increase in mortality [39]. Careful selection of the patients to avoid liver failure, small for size syndrome, and perioperative 31% mortality rate are essential while patient is evaluated for ALPPS [29, 40, 41]. To induce the hypertrophy of future remnant liver, portal vein embolization has also been used [42]. Liver resection for HCC following portal vein embolization is a safe procedure with morbidity rates of 19-55% and mortality rates of 0-12% [32, 43-51]. The 5-year overall survival ranged from 44% to 72% in patients who underwent surgical resection for HCC after portal vein embolization. If portal vein embolization is combined with transarterial chemoembolization, the hypertrophy of the future remnant liver is greater because the arterial flow is also occluded [52].

Curative resection attempts for intermediate and advanced HCCs are controversial. Koh et al. reported a systematic review of 74 articles for intermediate and advanced Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer (BCLC) stage HCC [53]. Current guidelines don't propose surgical resection for these stages. However, Koh et al. revealed in this review that the median 5-year overall survival after resection for BCLC B is 38.9 (range: 10.0-57.0%) which is better than other treatment choices. The same study also demonstrated that median 5-year overall survival after liver resection for BCLC C cases is 20% which is poor. Surgical resection also seems as a good choice in this report for multifocal HCC with the median 5-year overall survival of 54.0% (range: 29.9-75.5%). In a review by Kim et al., the median 5-year overall survival rate was 65% after resection for HCC within "Milan criteria" including multifocal HCC [54]. Kokudo et al. evaluated the survival benefit of resection in HCC patients with portal vein tumor thrombosis [55]. They reported that as long as the thrombus is limited to the firstorder branch, resection is associated with longer survival than nonoperative approach. The survival benefit was not statistically significant in patients with thrombus invading the main trunk or contralateral branch.

Another group of patients are the ones with extrahepatic spread. Because the presence of extrahepatic disease is considered as a contraindication for surgical therapy, most of the patients treated for metastatic disease are previously resected or transplanted ones. Encouraging results have been obtained from metachronous extrahepatic metastasectomy. Extrahepatic metastasectomy after initial treatment which is transplantation or resection is associated with 20-month increase in median overall survival when compared to treatment of these patients with sorafenib alone [56]. Berger et al. reported 1-, 2-, and 5-year overall survival rates for extrahepatic metastasectomy as 77.4, 53.1, and 25.1%, respectively. Patients who underwent lung resections had better median overall survival compared to metastasectomy performed for other sites. In this same report, it was shown that patients with ≤ 2 metastases benefit from metastasectomy [56]. In a recent study, Yoh et al. reported their repeat surgery results for both intra- and extrahepatic recurrences [57]. They concluded that surgery for recurrent HCC may yield long-term survival for both intra- and extrahepatic recurrences in selected patients.

There is no consensus on the type of the resection to be performed. Anatomical or nonanatomical resections may be preferred. Makuuchi who introduced anatomical liver resections suggests this procedure to minimize the volume of noncancerous but cirrhotic liver to be resected with optimal outcomes [58]. Intrahepatic metastases occur from tumor cells carried via portal venous branches. Anatomical resection defined by Makuuchi et al. is resecting one or more segments by mapping the corresponding portal branch of the tumor [59]. Nonanatomical or limited resection is removal of the tumor with adequate tumor-free margins (Fig. 1). In a



Fig. 1 Nonanatomic resection of two HCC nodules in the cirrhotic liver

meta-analysis by Jiao et al., overall survival benefit at 3 and 5 years was superior and statistically significant in anatomical resection group [60]. Again statistically significant disease-free survival benefit from anatomical resection was gained at 1, 3, and 5 years. On the other hand, this same study suggests a subgroup of patients with poor liver reserve function who can benefit from nonanatomical resection. Tumor located at the liver margin, tumor diameter >5 cm, or multiple tumors in different hepatic segments should be removed nonanatomically but with adequate surgical margins. This suggestion is made for preservation of more remnant liver volume.

The recurrence rate after resection is about 70% at 5 years. The prognostic factors influencing this outcome are tumor differentiation, microand macrovascular invasion, and satellite nodules [18, 61]. Liver resection should be the treatment for resectable HCC with sufficient liver function in the regions where transplantation is not possible. The 5-year overall survival rates of 81.7%, 77.2%, 44%, and 28.2% for TNM stages I, II, IIIA, and IVA patients after resection, respectively, are reported by Fan et al. [18]. There is also limited data in the literature about 10-year survival after resection for HCC. Recently Linn et al. reported their results for actual 10-year survivors and 10-year recurrence-free survivors after liver resection [62]. Their actual 10-year overall survival rate was 31.5%, and the actual 10-year recurrence-free survival was 18.6%. They revealed that only age and absence of cirrhosis were the most important predictors of 10-year survival. They also showed their results with patients with unfavorable prognostic factors. They had patients who survived beyond 10 years with AFP >1000 ng/mL, ruptured HCC, and margins of <1 mm.

Liver resection is still an effective treatment option for HCC both in cirrhotic and noncirrhotic livers. Although liver transplantation is the definitive treatment for HCC and the underlying disease, the procedure needs a big teamwork and equipped hospital. Also the cost of the procedure is not standard with many variables from comorbidities of the patient to posttransplant follow-ups and complications. The guidelines have disparities about the resection of HCC for both single and multiple lesions. Careful patient selection for resection offers comparable overall survivals with transplantation for HCC patients.

2 Local Ablative Treatments: Percutaneous Ethanol Injection, Radiofrequency Ablation, and Microwave Ablation

HCC is the most common primary liver cancer. When all liver cancers are considered, the 5-year survival rate is below 20% [63]. Traditional treatment methods for HCC are surgical resection and liver transplantation. While the rates of local recurrence are reduced with surgical resection, liver transplantation may completely remove the tumor and also cure the underlying liver disease. For these reasons, the results of these treatments are better. However, a recent study showed that only less than 10% of HCC patients are eligible for surgical resection [16]. Patients who are not surgical candidates may benefit from locoregional treatments.

2.1 Percutaneous Ethanol Injection

Percutaneous ethanol injection (PEI) is one of the first described ablation therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) [64]. It is inexpensive and well-tolerated with few complications. PEI is performed with the guidance of ultrasound (US). This allows to perform precise targeting of the lesion, to administer sufficient amount of ethanol and real-time manipulation of the needle, and to control the ethanol distribution within the tissue.

HCC is a hypervascular tumor that mostly develops in the cirrhotic liver. Its hypervascularity helps homogeneous distribution of ethanol, and a relatively stiff cirrhotic liver keeps ethanol within the softer tumor. Ethanol causes cell dehydration and coagulation necrosis and also induces endothelial cell necrosis which triggers thrombosis of tumor vessels. All the features mentioned above make PEI an effective treatment option for HCC, especially in early stages. Best results for PEI can be achieved in single HCC lesions less than 3 cm in diameter.

PEI is used less frequently because of the widespread use of RFA and its better results. However, it can be used safely in patients who cannot reach other treatment options.

2.2 Radiofrequency Ablation

Radiofrequency ablation (RFA) is a highly effective, safe, and most commonly used thermal ablation therapy to date. It destroys tumor tissue with the heat generated by radiofrequency effect. This effect, which is achieved by using high-frequency (460-500 kHz) alternating current, is created with the help of a special needle inserted into the tumor tissue under US or CT guidance. When the tissue temperature reaches 60-100 °C, protein denaturation, sudden cell death, and coagulative necrosis of the tumor develop. In order to reduce local recurrence, 5–10 mm liver tissue around the tumor should be ablated as a safety margin to destroy possible adjacent micrometastases with the tumor tissue as well. This helps to reduce local recurrences.

Tumor size should be <4 cm to achieve complete cure, but best results are obtained in BCLC stage 0 HCCs. EASL guidelines recommend RFA therapy as the first-line treatment for very early-stage HCC (single tumor <2 cm) rather than surgical resection [65]. RFA can be used for single tumor <5 m or up to three tumors <3 cm without extrahepatic metastasis. The main purpose of using RFA in tumors larger than 5 cm is to reduce tumor size before chemotherapy or to relieve pain [66].

RFA treatment also has some limitations like charring around the electrodes which limits heat distribution and heat-sink effect if tumor is adjacent to vascular structures (>3 mm). Bile duct damage, liver failure, vascular damage, and liver abscess are the most common major complications of RFA [67, 68].

2.3 Microwave Ablation

Microwave ablation (MWA) uses needlelike probes that broadcast microwaves. These microwave-emitting needle probes are placed in the tumor tissue percutaneously, laparoscopically, or with open surgical technique. These microwaves (900-2400 MHZ) cause oscillation of water molecules in the soft tissue, and this vibration and molecular friction produce high amount of heat which causes coagulation necrosis and ablation of tumor. MWA provides higher intra-tumoral temperatures compared to RFA. While RFA causes conductive heating, MWA provides active heating and is less prone to heat-sink effect. Since multiple probes can be activated at the same time, the treatment of large or multiple tumors can be performed more rapidly, and no grounding is required since no electric current is used. Also, MWA is less painful than RFA.

HCC differs from other types of cancer in that the two severe diseases, cirrhosis and cancer, coexist. Therefore, its staging should be supported by other parameters that show the severity of the liver disease which have direct impact on mortality in these patients. BCLC staging system, which is most widely used, has been validated by different clinical studies and helps to determine treatment options according to stage of the cancer.

Basically, the main treatment options for HCC are liver transplantation and surgical resection. Best overall and disease-free survival rates are achieved with these treatments. However, the majority of HCC patients are not suitable for these treatments. While most patients are diagnosed in the advanced stages, some of the patients which are diagnosed in the early stages cannot be treated with these options for various reasons (comorbidities, portal hypertension, insufficient hepatic function, inability to tolerate general anesthesia, tumor location, etc.).

Patients with preserved liver function, excellent performance (ECOG 0), and tumor size <2 cm and without vascular invasion are classified as BCLC stage 0 and single tumor or two to three nodules ≤ 3 cm who are Child-Pugh score A or B are BCLC stage A. According to the BCLC classification, ablation therapies can be used for curative purposes for these groups of patients who are not candidate for surgery. RFA, which has less complication rate and is more cost-effective compared to surgical resection, provides good results as surgical resection especially in patients with stage 0. In a recent metaanalysis by Majumdar A et al., management of patients with very early- and early-stage HCC is analyzed. Although there was no significant difference in all-cause mortality between surgery and RFA, cancer-related mortality was lower in surgery group. Serious adverse events were higher in surgery group as expected. In patients not suitable for surgery, those treated with PEI had higher mortality rates at maximum followup than those treated with RFA [69]. Another network meta-analysis by Gui-Qi Zhu et al. evaluated 14 randomized controlled trials. Compared to surgical resection, PEI was associated with a significantly increased proportion of dead patients with small HCC, whereas RFA showed no significant effect on proportion of dead of these patients. Surgical resection was superior for overall and recurrence-free survival compared to ablative therapies but with more adverse events [70].

In a recent population-based study from Taiwan, Yun-Jau Chang et al. analyzed 4496 patients treated with either RFA or PEI. Patients treated with RFA had better overall survival, disease-free survival, and local recurrence-free survival at 3, 5, and 9 years than patients treated with PEI. Median overall survival and recurrence-free survival were 72.1 and 45.2 months in the RFA group, while 61.5 and 41.9 months in the PEI group, respectively [71].

In a study conducted in China, HCC patients with solitary tumor (2.1–5.0 cm) were divided into two groups. While resection was applied to one group, RFA and PEI combination (RFA was performed 3–5 min after PEI in the same session) was applied to the other group, and these patients were analyzed in terms of overall survival and disease-free survival. PEI-RFA combination therapy was found to be superior to resection in

terms of overall survival, disease-free survival, complication rates, length of hospital stay, and cost [72].

RFA can also be used in combination with transarterial chemoembolization (TACE). A meta-analysis of seven randomized controlled trials showed that RFA plus TACE significantly improved the survival rates of patients with HCC at 1 and 3 years compared to RFA alone. When subgroup analysis was performed according to tumor size, it was seen that this difference was more pronounced in HCCs larger than 3 cm for survival rates at 1, 3, and 5 years, and there was no significant difference between the two groups in tumors smaller than 3 cm [73]. This combination can be applied in two ways. When RFA is applied first, thermal damage is inflicted on the tissue in sublethal doses, and this increases the effect of chemotherapeutic agents by reducing the cellular resistance. When TACE is applied first, as the arterial flow of the parenchyma decreases, the heat-sink effect is reduced and RFA provides a more effective ablation in a larger area [74].

One of the important factors that make ablation treatments challenging is tumor localization. Especially, tumors close to the liver capsule, large vascular structures, intraabdominal organs, and diaphragm make application difficult which often leads to unsatisfactory ablation. To prevent this, different methods such as RFA application with laparoscopic or open surgical technique instead of percutaneous technique or creating artificial ascites have been tried. Zachary Makovich et al. analyzed HCC patients with tumors adjacent to large vascular structures or the diaphragm treated with MWA. When compared to the control group, it was found that the rates of local recurrence in these patients were statistically higher. Although the procedure-related complication rates were detected as 20.9% in the risky group and 10.9% in the control group, it was stated that those were not statistically significant. Median survival rates were also similar for both groups [75].

Microvascular invasion (MVI) is one of the prognostic factors for HCC but can only be detected by biopsy. Sunyoung Lee et al. investigated the effect of MVI on early recurrence after surgery or RFA treatment in patients with HCC smaller than 3 cm. Using laboratory and radiological data, they developed an MVI scoring formula and validated it. Early recurrence rates were found to be significantly higher in patients with high MVI risk scores and those treated with RFA. However, early recurrence was observed less frequently in high-risk patients treated with surgery [76].

One of the most important factors affecting overall survival in HCC patients is recurrence. Tumor recurrence may occur early (<2 years) or late (>2 years). Early recurrence is generally related to the biological features of the tumor. Late recurrence is considered to occur due to de novo carcinogenesis and likely emerging in another focus rather than the primary tumor. After RFA, early recurrence is usually encountered after inadequate ablation of the primary tumor or surrounding satellite foci. Studies about late recurrence after RFA are lacking. In a recent study by Yi Yang et al., the risk factors of late recurrence after RFA were investigated. Male gender, multiple tumors, and cirrhosis were found to be independent risk factors [77].

Ablation treatments are also an important option in patients with recurrence HCC. These treatments are good alternatives, especially when recurrence occurs in patients with reduced liver volume after surgical resection. Although there are studies in the literature that report that repetitive surgical resections give better results in these patients, there are also studies stating that there is no difference in comparisons with RFA. In a recent meta-analysis conducted by Junjie Liu et al., it was observed that there was no significant difference between RFA and recurrent surgical resection in patients with recurrent tumors within Milan criteria when 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival rates were compared. Surgical resection provides survival advantage when tumor size exceeds 5 cm [78].

There are certain treatment options for HCC that have been defined and standardized according to the stage of the disease. However, not every center or country has the chance to reach the most ideal treatment. This may be due to economic reasons or lack of qualified personnel. Ablation treatments provide overall survival rates close to surgical resection, with lower cost and less complication rates, especially in early-stage HCC. The severity of the underlying disease and the characteristics of the tumor are the most important factors affecting the success rate. These techniques can be used safely in selected patients.

References

- Marrero JA, Kulik LM, Sirlin CB, Zhu AX, Finn RS, Abecassis MM, et al. Diagnosis, staging, and management of hepatocellular carcinoma: 2018 practice guidance by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatology. 2018;68:723–50.
- Yang JD, Hainaut P, Gores GJ, Amadou A, Plymoth A, Roberts LR. A global view of hepatocellular carcinoma: trends, risk, prevention and management. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;16:589–604.
- 3. Yang JD, Mohamed EA, Aziz AOA, Shousha HI, Hashem MB, Nabeel MM, et al. Characteristics, management, and outcomes of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma in Africa: a multicountry observational study from the Africa Liver Cancer Consortium. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;2:103–11.
- Smoot RL, Nagorney DM, Chandan VS, Que FG, Schleck CD, Harmsen WS, et al. Resection of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients without cirrhosis. Br J Surg. 2011;98:697–703.
- Thelen A, Benckert C, Tautenhahn HM, Hau HM, Bartels M, Linnemann J, et al. Liver resection for hepatocellular carcinoma in patients without cirrhosis. Br J Surg. 2013;100:130–7.
- Lewis RH, Glazer ES, Bittenbinder DM, O'Brien T, Deneve JL, Shibata D, et al. Outcomes following resection of hepatocellular carcinoma in the absence of cirrhosis. J Gastrointest Cancer. 2019;50:808–15.
- Lang H, Sotiropoulos GC, Dömland M, Frühauf NR, Paul A, Hüsing J, et al. Liver resection for hepatocellular carcinoma in non-cirrhotic liver without underlying viral hepatitis. Br J Surg. 2005;92:198–202.
- Minagawa M, Makuuchi M, Takayama T, Kokudo N. Selection criteria for repeat hepatectomy in patients with recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma. Ann Surg. 2003;238:703–10.
- Allaire M, Dupont B, Nahon P, Ganne-Carrié N, Nault JC. Hepatocellular carcinoma: the impact of NAFLD. Curr Hepatol Rep. 2016;15:190–8.
- Pais R, Fartoux L, Goumard C, Scatton O, Wendum D, Rosmorduc O, et al. Temporal trends, clinical patterns and outcomes of NAFLD-related HCC in patients undergoing liver resection over a 20-year period. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2017;46:856–63.

- Allaire M, Goumard C, Lim C, Le Cleach A, Wagner M, Scatton O. New frontiers in liver resection for hepatocellular carcinoma. JHEP Rep. 2020;2:100134.
- Prodeau M, Drumez E, Duhamel A, Vibert E, Farges O, Lassailly G, et al. An ordinal model to predict the risk of symptomatic liver failure in patients with cirrhosis undergoing hepatectomy. J Hepatol. 2019;71:920–9.
- Xiangfei M, Yinzhe X, Yingwei P, Shichun L, Weidong D. Open versus laparoscopic hepatic resection for hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Surg Endosc. 2019;33:2396–418.
- Vibert E, Schwartz M, Olthoff KM. Advances in resection and transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2020;72:262–76.
- Heimbach JK, Kulik LM, Finn RS, Sirlin CB, Abecassis MM, Roberts LR, et al. AASLD guidelines for the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 2018;67:358–80.
- Roayaie S, Jibara G, Tabrizian P, Park JW, Yang J, Yan L, et al. The role of hepatic resection in the treatment of hepatocellular cancer. Hepatology. 2015;62:440–51.
- Angeli P, Bernardi M, Villanueva C, Francoz C, Mookerjee RP, Trebicka J, et al. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines for the management of patients with decompensated cirrhosis. J Hepatol. 2018;69:406–60.
- Fan ST, Mau Lo C, Poon RTP, Yeung C, Leung Liu C, Yuen WK, et al. Continuous improvement of survival outcomes of resection of hepatocellular carcinoma: a 20-year experience. Ann Surg. 2011;253:745–58.
- Citterio D, Facciorusso A, Sposito C, Rota R, Bhoori S, Mazzaferro V. Hierarchic interaction of factors associated with liver decompensation after resection for hepatocellular carcinoma. JAMA Surg. 2016;151:846–53.
- 20. Cucchetti A, Ercolani G, Vivarelli M, Cescon M, Ravaioll M, La Barba G, et al. Impact of model for end-stage liver disease (MELD) score on prognosis after hepatectomy for hepatocellular carcinoma on cirrhosis. Liver Transpl. 2006;12:966–71.
- Llovet JM, Fuster J, Bruix J. Intention-to-treat analysis of surgical treatment for early hepatocellular carcinoma: resection versus transplantation. Hepatology. 1999;30:1434–40.
- 22. Ishizawa T, Hasegawa K, Aoki T, Takahashi M, Inoue Y, Sano K, et al. Neither multiple tumors nor portal hypertension are surgical contraindications for hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2008;134:1908–16.
- 23. Bruix J, Castells A, Bosch J, Feu F, Fuster J, Garcia-Pagan JC, et al. Surgical resection of hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhotic patients: prognostic value of preoperative portal pressure. Gastroenterology. 1996;111:1018–22.
- 24. Le Roy B, Grégoire E, Cossé C, Serji B, Golse N, Adam R, et al. Indocyanine green retention rates at 15 min predicted hepatic decompensation in a western population. World J Surg. 2018;42:2570–8.

- Rajakannu M, Cherqui D, Ciacio O, Golse N, Pittau G, Allard MA, et al. Liver stiffness measurement by transient elastography predicts late posthepatectomy outcomes in patients undergoing resection for hepatocellular carcinoma. Surg (United States). 2017;162:766–74.
- 26. Fan ST. Liver functional reserve estimation: state of the art and relevance for local treatments: the Eastern perspective. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci. 2010;17:380–4.
- Stockmann M, Lock JF, Malinowski M, Niehues SM, Seehofer D, Neuhaus P. The LiMAx test: a new liver function test for predicting postoperative outcome in liver surgery. HPB. 2010;12:139–46.
- Zorzi D, Laurent A, Pawlik TM, Lauwers GY, Vauthey JN, Abdalla EK. Chemotherapy-associated hepatotoxicity and surgery for colorectal liver metastases. Br J Surg. 2007;94:274–86.
- Lünse S, Heidecke CD, Partecke LI. Current topics and perspectives in surgical management of hepatocellular carcinoma. In: Tirnitz-Parker JEE, editor. Hepatocellular Carcinoma [Internet]. Brisbane (AU): Codon Publications; 2019 Oct 24. Chapter 6. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ books/NBK549190/doi:10.15586/hepatocellularcarcinoma.2019.ch6.
- 30. Farges O, Belghiti J, Kianmanesh R, Regimbeau JM, Santoro R, Vilgrain V, et al. Portal vein embolization before right hepatectomy: prospective clinical trial. Ann Surg. 2003;237:208–17.
- Imamura H, Shimada R, Kubota M, Matsuyama Y, Nakayama A, Mlyagawa SI, et al. Preoperative portal vein embolization: an audit of 84 patients. Hepatology. 1999;29:1099–105.
- 32. Azoulay D, Castaing D, Krissat J, Smail A, Marin Hargreaves G, Lemoine A, et al. Percutaneous portal vein embolization increases the feasibility and safety of major liver resection for hepatocellular carcinoma in injured liver. Ann Surg. 2000;232:665–72.
- 33. Alvarez FA, Castaing D, Figueroa R, Allard MA, Golse N, Pittau G, et al. Natural history of portal vein embolization before liver resection: a 23-year analysis of intention-to-treat results. Surg (United States). 2018;163:1257–63.
- Olthof PB, Schnitzbauer AA, Schadde E. The HPB controversy of the decade: 2007–2017 – ten years of ALPPS. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2018;44:1624–7.
- 35. Schnitzbauer AA, Lang SA, Goessmann H, Nadalin S, Baumgart J, Farkas SA, et al. Right portal vein ligation combined with in situ splitting induces rapid left lateral liver lobe hypertrophy enabling 2-staged extended right hepatic resection in small-for-size settings. Ann Surg. 2012;255:405–14.
- 36. Moris D, Vernadakis S, Papalampros A, Vailas M, Dimitrokallis N, Petrou A, et al. Mechanistic insights of rapid liver regeneration after associating liver partition and portal vein ligation for stage hepatectomy. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22:7613–24.
- Yifan T, Ming X, Yifan W, Hanning Y, Guangyi J, Peijian Y, et al. Hepatic regeneration by associating

liver partition and portal vein ligation for staged hepatectomy (ALPPS) is feasible but attenuated in rat liver with thioacetamide-induced fibrosis. Surg (United States). 2019;165:345–52.

- 38. Zhang J, Huang H, Bian J, Sang X, Xu Y, Lu X, et al. Safety, feasibility, and efficacy of associating liver partition and portal vein ligation for staged hepatectomy in treating hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review. Ann Transl Med. 2020;8:1246.
- Schadde E, Raptis DA, Schnitzbauer AA, Ardiles V, Tschuor C, Lesurtel M, et al. Prediction of mortality after ALPPS Stage-1. Ann Surg. 2015 Nov;262(5):780–6.
- Ielpo B, Quijano Y, Vicente E. Pearls and pitfalls on ALPPS procedure: new complications in a new technique. Updat Surg. 2014;66:159–61.
- Daher S, Massarwa M, Benson AA, Khoury T. Current and future treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma: an updated comprehensive review. J Clin Transl Hepatol. 2018;6:69–78.
- Kawaguchi Y, Lillemoe HA, Vauthey JN. Dealing with an insufficient future liver remnant: portal vein embolization and two-stage hepatectomy. J Surg Oncol. 2019;119:594–603.
- 43. Tanaka H, Hirohashi K, Kubo S, Shuto T, Higaki I, Kinoshita H. Preoperative portal vein embolization improves prognosis after right hepatectomy for hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with impaired hepatic function. Br J Surg. 2000;87:879–82.
- 44. Wakabayashi H, Ishimura K, Okano K, Izuishi K, Karasawa Y, Goda F, et al. Is preoperative portal vein embolization effective in improving prognosis after major hepatic resection in patients with advanced-stage hepatocellular carcinoma? Cancer. 2001;92:2384–90.
- 45. Sugawara Y, Yamamoto J, Higashi H, Yamasaki S, Shimada K, Kosuge T, et al. Preoperative portal embolization in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Surg. 2002;26:105–10.
- 46. Seo DD, Lee HC, Jang MK, Min HJ, Kim KM, Lim YS, et al. Preoperative portal vein embolization and surgical resection in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and small future liver remnant volume: comparison with transarterial chemoembolization. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14:3501–9.
- 47. Palavecino M, Chun YS, Madoff DC, Zorzi D, Kishi Y, Kaseb AO, et al. Major hepatic resection for hepatocellular carcinoma with or without portal vein embolization: perioperative outcome and survival. Surgery. 2009;145:399–405.
- Shindoh J, Tzeng C-WD, Vauthey J-N. Portal vein embolization for hepatocellular carcinoma. Liver Cancer. 2012;1:159–67.
- 49. Siriwardana RC, Lo CM, Chan SC, Fan ST. Role of portal vein embolization in hepatocellular carcinoma management and its effect on recurrence: a casecontrol study. World J Surg. 2012;36:1640–6.
- Aoki T, Kubota K. Preoperative portal vein embolization for hepatocellular carcinoma: consensus and controversy. World J Hepatol. 2016;8:439–45.

- Kawaguchi Y, Lillemoe HA, Vauthey JN. Surgical resection: old dog, any new tricks? Clin Liver Dis. 2020;24:637–55.
- 52. Ogata S, Belghiti J, Farges O, Varma D, Sibert A, Vilgrain V. Sequential arterial and portal vein embolizations before right hepatectomy in patients with cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. Br J Surg. 2006;93:1091–8.
- 53. Koh YX, Tan HL, Lye WK, Kam JH, Chiow AKH, Tan SS, et al. Systematic review of the outcomes of surgical resection for intermediate and advanced Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer stage hepatocellular carcinoma: a critical appraisal of the evidence. World J Hepatol. 2018;10:433–47.
- 54. Lim KC, Chow PKH, Allen JC, Siddiqui FJ, Chan ESY, Tan SB. Systematic review of outcomes of liver resection for early hepatocellular carcinoma within the Milan criteria. Br J Surg. 2012;99:1622–9.
- 55. Kokudo T, Hasegawa K, Matsuyama Y, Takayama T, Izumi N, Kadoya M, et al. Survival benefit of liver resection for hepatocellular carcinoma associated with portal vein invasion. J Hepatol. 2016;65:938–43.
- Berger Y, Spivack JH, Heskel M, Aycart SN, Labow DM, Sarpel U. Extrahepatic metastasectomy for hepatocellular carcinoma: predictors of long-term survival. J Surg Oncol. 2016;114:469–74.
- Yoh T, Seo S, Taura K, Iguchi K, Ogiso S, Fukumitsu K, et al. Surgery for recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma. Ann Surg. 2021;273(4):792–9.
- Makuuchi M. Surgical treatment for HCC special reference to anatomical resection. Int J Surg. 2013;11 Suppl 1:S47–9.
- Makuuchi M, Hasegawa H, Yamazaki S. Ultrasonically guided subsegmentectomy. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1985;161:346–50.
- Jiao S, Li G, Zhang D, Xu Y, Liu J, Li G. Anatomic versus non-anatomic resection for hepatocellular carcinoma, do we have an answer? A meta-analysis. Int J Surg. 2020;80:243–55.
- Tabrizian P, Jibara G, Shrager B, Schwartz M, Roayaie S. Recurrence of hepatocellular cancer after resection: patterns, treatments, and prognosis. Ann Surg. 2015;261:947–55.
- 62. Le Linn Y, Chee MY, Koh YX, Teo JY, Cheow PC, Chow PKH, et al. Actual 10-year survivors and 10-year recurrence free survivors after primary liver resection for hepatocellular carcinoma in the 21st century: a single institution contemporary experience. J Surg Oncol. 2021;123:214–21.
- 63. Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, Miller D, Brest A, Yu M, Ruhl J, Tatalovich Z, Mariotto A, Lewis DR, Chen HS, Feuer EJ CK. SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975–2017, National Cancer Institute. [Internet]. SEER Cancer Stat. Rev. 1975–2017, Natl. Cancer Institute. Bethesda, MD, based Novemb. 2019 SEER data submission, posted to SEER web site. 2020. Available from: https://seer.cancer.gov/ csr/1975_2017/.
- Livraghi T, Festi D, Monti F, Salmi A, Vettori C. US-guided percutaneous alcohol injection of small

hepatic and abdominal tumors. Radiology. United States. 1986;161:309–12.

- 65. Galle PR, Forner A, Llovet JM, Mazzaferro V, Piscaglia F, Raoul JL, et al. EASL clinical practice guidelines: management of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol [Internet]. European Association for the Study of the Liver; 2018;69:182–236. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2018.03.019.
- Kessel D, Robertson I. Treating cancer. In: Interventional radiology: a survival guide. 4th ed. Elsevier Limited (Oxford): Oxford; 2017:246–65.
- 67. Jansen MC, Van Duijnhoven FH, Van Hillegersberg R, Rijken A, Van Coevorden F, Van Der Sijp J, et al. Adverse effects of radiofrequency ablation of liver tumours in the Netherlands. Br J Surg. 2005;92(10):1248–54.
- Kong WT, Zhang WW, Qiu YD, Zhou T, Qiu JL, Zhang W, et al. Major complications after radiofrequency ablation for liver tumors: analysis of 255 patients. World J Gastroenterol. 2009;15(21):2651–6.
- 69. Majumdar A, Roccarina D, Thorburn D, Davidson BR, Tsochatzis E, Gurusamy KS. Management of people with early- or very early-stage hepatocellular carcinoma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;3(3):CD011650.
- 70. Zhu GQ, Sun M, Liao WT, Yu WH, Zhou SL, Zhou ZJ, et al. Comparative efficacy and safety between ablative therapies or surgery for small hepatocellular carcinoma: a network meta-analysis. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol [Internet]. Taylor & Francis; 2018;12:935–45. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1 080/17474124.2018.1503531.
- 71. Chang YJ, Chen LJ, Chang YJ, Da Chen P. Population-based matching comparison between radiofrequency ablation and percutaneous ethanol or acetic acid injection for hepatocellular carcinoma. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2020;46:1703–10.

- 72. Chen S, Peng Z, Lin M, Chen Z, Hu W, Xie X, et al. Combined percutaneous radiofrequency ablation and ethanol injection versus hepatic resection for 2.1–5.0 cm solitary hepatocellular carcinoma: a retrospective comparative multicentre study. Eur Radiol. 2018;28:3651–60.
- 73. Lu Z, Wen F, Guo Q, Liang H, Mao X, Sun H. Radiofrequency ablation plus chemoembolization versus radiofrequency ablation alone for hepatocellular carcinoma: a meta-analysis of randomized-controlled trials. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013;25:187–94.
- 74. Iezzi R, Pompili M, Posa A, Coppola G, Gasbarrini A, Bonomo L. Combined locoregional treatment of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: state of the art. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22:1935–42.
- Makovich Z, Logemann JR, Chen L, Mhaskar R, Choi J, Parikh N, et al. Liver tumor ablation in difficult locations: microwave ablation of perivascular and subdiaphragmatic hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Imaging [Internet]. Elsevier Inc.; 2021;71:170–7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinimag.2020.11.010.
- 76. Lee S, Kang TW, Song KD, Lee MW, Rhim H, Lim HK, et al. Effect of microvascular invasion risk on early recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma after surgery and radiofrequency ablation. Ann Surg. 2021;273(3):564–71.
- 77. Yang Y, Chen Y, Ye F, Cao X, Xin Y, Wang Y, et al. Late recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma after radiofrequency ablation: a multicenter study of risk factors, patterns, and survival. Eur Radiol. European Radiology; 2021;31(5):3053–64.
- Liu J, Zhao J, Gu HAO, Zhu Z. Repeat hepatic resection VS radiofrequency ablation for the treatment of recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma: an updated meta-analysis. Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol. 2020:1–10.



Transarterial Radioembolization in Hepatocellular Carcinoma

Ramazan Kutlu, Sinan Karatoprak, and Müge Otlu Karadağ

1 Introduction

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is one of the deadliest cancers. It is the most common primary liver cancer, sixth most commonly diagnosed, and fourth cause of cancer-related mortality worldwide and represents about 75–85% of primary cancers [1, 2].

There are mainly three modes of treatment: (1) surgical treatments, e.g., resection and transplantation; (2) interventional oncologic liverdirected therapies (ablation, bland embolization, chemoembolization, radioembolization, etc.); and (3) systemic chemotherapy which is indicated for advanced stages [3]. Interventional oncology (IO) has a spectrum of treatment options for the treatment of HCC. In addition to the widely used and well-established IO procedures like radiofrequency ablation and transarterial chemoembolization (TACE), transarterial radioembolization (TARE) with Yttrium-90 (⁹⁰Y) is becoming an indispensable part of HCC management [4]. Despite these options, the prognosis is poor especially for advanced-stage patients that only one-third of them might benefit from

Department of Radiology, Inonu University School of Medicine & Liver Transplantation Institute, Malatya, Turkey e-mail: ramazan.kutlu@inonu.edu.tr

M. O. Karadağ Department of Nuclear Medicine, Malatya Training and Research Hospital, Malatya, Turkey curative therapies, in addition to the fact that underlying liver diseases predispose to new tumor formation [5].

Although majority of the patients are in intermediate or advanced stages at the time of presentation, therapeutic options are limited, but radioembolization with 90 Y, which is a form of localized brachytherapy, has an important role in all stages of HCC with curative intent to palliation [3, 6–8].

2 Radioembolization

The Liver has a dual blood supply, and about 95% of the tumoral blood supply is provided by hepatic artery which makes it possible to embolize the tumor and deliver higher concentration of chemotherapeutics or radiotherapeutics selectively to the liver tumors by avoiding systemic effects [5]. Due to the hypervascularity of hepatic tumors, radioembolization, which could be regarded as a form of brachytherapy, allows localized radiotherapy to liver tumors limiting the dose to the normal parenchyma (Fig. 1) [9, 10]. The isotope 90 Y, loaded to glass or resin microspheres, is the most commonly used isotope in TARE [11]. Downstaging the tumor for resection and transplantation; bridging to transplantation, palliation, and maximizing the survival; and intention to treat are the main goals of TARE [12].

R. Kutlu $(\boxtimes) \cdot S$. Karatoprak

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 B. I. Carr (ed.), *Liver Cancer in the Middle East*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78737-0_9


Fig. 1 Axial arterial (**a**), portal (**b**), and venous (**c**) phase CT images show 7×4 cm HCC lesion in segment 8. Proper hepatic artery DSA images (**d**, **e**) show a hypervascular tumor that has a dual supply from right anterior and posterior sectorial hepatic artery branches. Selective injection DSA images (**f**, **i**) and corresponding coronal (**g**, **j**) and axial (**h**, **k**) cone-beam CT images demonstrate dual

supply of the tumor. PET CT image (I) after administration of two vials of ⁹⁰Y embedded glass microspheres separately from each feeding artery shows total coverage of the lesion. Corresponding control axial CT images in all phases obtained 3 months after TARE show total necrosis of tumor



Fig. 1 (continued)

Hepatic arterial variations, flow dynamics, parenchymal reserve, tumoral arterial supply, device-related properties, and activity principles are among the main limiting factors from the point of optimal use of TARE [4]. Ionizing radiation causes unrepairable DNA breaks through prolonged exposure that in turn leads to cellular decompensation and apoptosis. The continuous brachytherapy exposure will also damage the cells in different phases of mitosis. TARE also may decrease the intratumoral pressure that helps to improve reoxygenation [4]. TARE has many advantages over other intra-arterial locoregional liver-directed therapies. It is usually an outpatient procedure and could be performed in cases with portal vein thrombosis or compromised portal vein blood flow, and postembolization symptoms are usually minimal. When

compared to TACE, TARE has improved time to progression though no significant difference in mortality [10, 13].

3 Radionuclides and Microspheres for TARE

The type of microspheres can be grouped based on the embedded radioactive isotope (⁹⁰Y or ¹⁶⁶Ho) or microsphere material (resin, glass, or poly-l-lactic acid). These microspheres all have different production processes, physical characteristics, and methods of use. The most important characteristics of the different microsphere types are summarized in Table 1. The comparative properties of the four radionuclides in use in microsphere labeling are given in Table 2.

Isotope	Yttrium-90 (90Y))	Holmium-166(166Ho)
Half-life	64.1 h		26.8 h
Decay product	Zirconium-90 (90	Zn)	Erbium-166 (166Er)
Radiation emission	β (max 2.28 MeV	V)	β (max 1.74 and 1.85 MeV) γ (max 81 and 1.38 keV)
Energy per activity	49.67 J/GBq		15.87 J/GBq
Tissue penetration	2.5 mm mean, 1	1 mm max	2.5 mm mean, 8.4 mm max
Imaging	PET (internal-pair production) SPECT (bremsstrahlung)		SPECT (γ-imaging) MRI
Material	Glass (ceramic)	Resin	PLLA
Product name	TheraSphere®	$SIR\text{-}Sphere \circledast$	QuiremSphere®
Size	20–30 µm	$32.5 \pm 5 \ \mu m$	20–50 µm
Density	3.3 g/cc	1.6 g/cc	1.4 g/cc
Spheres per vial	$1.2 - 8 \times 10^{6}$	$40-80\times10^6$	33×10^{6}
Specific activity per sphere	2500 Bq	40–70 Bq	450 Bq
Max activity per dose	20 GBq	3 GBq	15 GBq
Number of microspheres (for 3 GBq activity)	1.2-8 million	40 million	8–12.5 million
Surrogate particle/scout dose	99mTc-MAA	99mTc-MAA	^{99m} Tc-MAA/ ¹⁶⁶ Ho microspheres
Dosimetry method recommended by manufacturer	MIRD based	BSA method	MIRD based
Handling for dispensing	Not required	Required	Not required
Splitting one vial for two or more patients	Not possible	Possible	Not possible
Specific gravity	High	Low	Low
Embolic effect	Low	Moderate	Moderate

Table 1 ⁹⁰Y and ¹⁶⁶Ho loaded microsphere characteristics

Table 2 Radionuclides used for TARE

Radionuclide	Half-life (hours)	Form and probability of decay	Average/maximum beta emission (MeV)	Average/max range in tissue (mm)	Type of imaging
Y-90	64.2	β ⁺ positron	0.94/2.20	2.5/12	Bremsstrahlung Planar/SPECT PET
Re-188	17	β γ (155 keV)	0.76/2.12	3.8/11	Planar/SPECT
Ho-166	26.8	β γ (81 keV)	0.66/1.85	2.2/10.2	Planar/SPECT MRG
I-131	482.4 h (8.04 day)	β γ(364 keV)	0.192/0.61	0.8/3	Planar/SPECT MRG

3.1 ⁹⁰Y Microspheres

Radioactive ⁹⁰Y can be produced by neutron irradiation of stable Yttrium-89 (⁸⁹Y) or by chemical separation from the parent isotope Strontium-90 (⁹⁰Sr), a fusion product of uranium. ⁹⁰Y is a suitable radionuclide to treat cancer with an appropriate safety profile. It is a nearly pure (99.99%) β -emitter with a half-life of 64.1 hours and decays to stable Zirconium-90 (⁹⁰Zn). Maximum beta particle (β –) energy of 2.28 MeV results in an energy release of 49.67 J/GBq and penetration range in water or soft tissue of 2.5 mm (mean) and 11 mm maximum [10]. Imaging of the radiation emission from ⁹⁰Y is a challenge due to the absence of γ -radiation emission. SPECT images can only be acquired by the detection of bremsstrahlung, secondary γ -radiation produced by slowing of the beta particles in tissue, a modality with very limited spatial resolution. Actually, ⁹⁰Y has a minor branch to the first excited state of ⁹⁰Zn at 1.76 MeV (0+ -0+ transition). As a result, once in every 32 million (31.86 × 106) decays, an electron-positron (β - / β +) pair is created. This process is called internal-pair production and enables positron-emission detection with PET at high ⁹⁰Y activities [14].

3.1.1 Glass Microspheres

Glass ⁹⁰Y-microspheres (Therasphere®, Boston Scientific, Marlborough, MA, USA) are produced by incorporating ⁸⁹Y oxide into the glass matrix of the microsphere and subsequent activation by neutron bombardment in a nuclear reactor facility [15]. Glass ⁹⁰Y-microspheres have a relatively high density and a high specific activity per sphere (2500 Bq/sphere) compared with the other microsphere types. Therefore, to administer the same treatment activity, less glass microspheres need to be injected than resin microspheres. As a consequence, the embolic effect is much smaller during injection, so the entire treatment dose can be injected at once with a lower risk of stasis and particle reflux. The microembolic effect of glass microspheres is reported as a significant decrease in tumor enhancement in the cone-beam CT delayed phase images [16]. Main advantages of glass microspheres are no physical manipulation required and due to relatively low number of microspheres given, embolic effects are limited. Therefore, glass microspheres can be also used in patients with portal vein thrombosis; oxygenation is maintained in tumors, and objective responses induced by the irradiation are theoretically improved; and in nearly all cases, the target tissues receive more than 95% of the planned absorbed dose without reaching flow stasis. The specific gravity of glass microspheres is high compared to resin microspheres and may theoretically limit microsphere distribution. The difference in specific gravity is not reported to have a proven effect on clinical outcome [4, 10]. Specific activity is the approximate activity of each microsphere (glass 2500 Bq, resin 75 Bq per microsphere) and is an important factor for dose administration [4]. Moreover, to improve the uniformity of dose distribution within a lesion, the same activity can be injected choosing among different numbers of spheres (i.e., different initial activity) administered after different decay intervals. With crossfire effect, multiple

microspheres create lethal radiation exposure [10]. The low number of spheres may result in inadequate tumor coverage for very large tumors, although the number of spheres can be tailored to the needs by selecting a higher activity vial and by using it later after some degree of decay. With extended shelf-life method, it is possible to allow an increased number of glass microspheres (decayed to the second week of their allowable shelf-life) to be administered for the same planned absorbed dose, therefore allowing better tumoral distribution of the microspheres without causing additional adverse radiationrelated events [17]. So, increased embolic load and lowered activity per microsphere theoretically resulted in better tumor coverage and, hence, improved response rates [18].

3.1.2 Resin Microspheres

The production process of resin ⁹⁰Y-microspheres (SIR-Spheres®, Sirtex Medical Limited, North Sydney, Australia) is different; in this type of microsphere, ⁹⁰Y cations in solution are chemically incorporated onto the bland microsphere surface by binding to the carboxylic group of the acrylic polymer matrix [19, 20]. Resin microspheres have a much lower density than glass microspheres, which could potentially result in a more distal distribution in the tumor vasculature [21]. Furthermore, the relatively low specific activity requires injection of a higher number of microspheres, approximately 20-80 million. Since this involves a greater embolic effect, stasis of blood flow may occur during administration. Therefore, resin 90Y-microspheres must be administered carefully by hand injection in smaller aliquots, with intervening angiography to reevaluate pace of flow and degree of stasis. Glass and resin microspheres may be used in different or similar tumor types and disease extents, but it remains controversial how the differences distribution in patterns impact treatment efficacy.

The activity vial can be tailored for the patient in the nuclear medicine radiopharmacy if needed. Resin microsphere injection system allows direct monitoring of the treatment because the infusion is performed with alternating injections of sterile water and contrast medium. In theory, the lower specific gravity is in favor of a better suspension. Main limitation of resin microsphere is the 24 hours of shelf life of the device which is restricting clinical flexibility and patient scheduling. The need for human technical manipulation may result in methodological errors. Resin microspheres are more embolic which might lead to whole-dose delivery failure and transient hypoxia, limiting the effect of radiation.

The main difference between glass spheres and resin spheres is shown in Table 1. Major difference is the activity per sphere; in a glass sphere, activity is about 2500 Bq per sphere with respect to 50 Bq in resin sphere. Glass spheres offer vials between 3 and 20 GBq while resin spheres offer standard 3 GBq vials. Finally, for the same chosen activity, the higher number of resin spheres could provide more uniform dose distribution, with a higher biological effect (toxicity and efficacy). The influence of gravity of glass microsphere can quoted but never demonstrated on biodistribution [4, 22–26].

3.2 ¹⁶⁶Ho (Holmium-166) Microspheres

The isotope ¹⁶⁶Ho emits both high-energy β -radiation and low-energy γ -radiation. It has a shorter half-life than ⁹⁰Y (26.8 h) and decays with a relatively high dose rate to the stable element Erbium-166 (¹⁶⁶Er). ¹⁶⁶Ho emits β -radiation at two energy levels, maximum 1.74 MeV (48.7%) and 1.85 MeV (50%), with a maximum softtissue range of 8.4 mm. The resulting energy release is much lower (15.87 J/GBq) than with ⁹⁰Y; therefore, a larger administered treatment activity is required to achieve the same radiationabsorbed dose in liver tissue [27]. The biodistribution of ¹⁶⁶Ho microspheres can be visualized on SPECT, using the low-energy γ -radiation (81 keV, 6.2%; 1.38 keV, 0.93%), and with magnetic resonance imaging, utilizing the paramagnetic properties of ¹⁶⁶Ho [28]. Holmium microspheres that come with a special management system, unique dosing, and imaging possibecome available bilities have as well.

Additionally, a scout dose of ¹⁶⁶Ho microspheres can be used instead of 99mTc-macroaggragated albumin during the preparatory angiography procedure. Thus far, two prospective phase I and phase II clinical studies have been performed on ¹⁶⁶Ho radioembolization in a population of liver metastases from mixed origins. These studies showed that a mean whole-liver dose of 60 Gy is safe and induces tumor response [29, 30].

3.3 ¹⁸⁸Re-Lipiodol (Rhenium-188)

As a generator product, ¹⁸⁸Re has good availability. Unlike the ⁹⁰Y produced in the reactor, it can be obtained from the generator, providing a great advantage for ¹⁸⁸Re, and permits preparation of the ¹⁸⁸Re radiopharmaceutical "on demand" in any hospital radiopharmacy housing the generator. Since it is possible to obtain enough ¹⁸⁸Re from a generator for about 6 months, the production cost is lower when compared to ⁹⁰Y [31]. The physical characteristic is useful for clinical use: a short physical half-life of 16.9 h, high maximal beta energy of 2.1 MeV, and soft-tissue range around 10 mm maximum, similar to 90Y. The gamma-emission of 155 keV (15% abundance) allowed pre- and post-therapeutic scans for biodistribution studies and dosimetry [32]. Nowicki et al. investigated the feasibility of ¹⁸⁸Re treatment in patients with primary and metastatic liver tumors, and the median overall survival was 7.1 months; calculated progression-free survival is 5.1 months [33]. Although there are studies similar to this in the literature [34–36], ¹⁸⁸Re microsphere has not yet found widespread use as ⁹⁰Y microsphere.

3.4 ¹³¹I-Lipiodol (lodine-131 Lipiodol)

¹³¹I is a beta emitting radionuclide with a physical half-life of 8.04 days. The maximum and mean beta particle energies are 0.61 MeV and 0.192 MeV, respectively. Additionally, ¹³¹I emits a principal gamma photon of 364 keV (81% abundance) [37]. The beta radiation of ¹³¹I is

responsible for its therapeutic effects, while gamma radiation makes the distribution of the radiopharmaceutical visible.

Lipiodol is an ester of fatty acids derived from poppy seed oil which is used to diagnose and treat HCC. It was initially used as a radiological contrast medium and was found to have higher uptake in HCC, relative to normal liver tissue [38]. This compound contains an iodine¹²⁷ moiety, which can be exchanged for iodine¹³¹ (I¹³¹), to create a compound that delivers targeted, internal, beta, and gamma radiation. Early studies showed that I¹³¹ lipiodol could induce tumor necrosis and significantly prolong survival in inoperable patients [39]. Treatment with I¹³¹ lipiodol has been used since the 1990s as palliation for HCC, as it is well-tolerated with few complications or side effects [40, 41].

According to biodistribution data, more than 75% of the ¹³¹I-lipiodol stays following the arterial administration in the liver, and the remainder reaches the lungs. ¹³¹I-Lipiodol treatment was at least found effective as chemoembolization and is tolerated much better in the treatment of HCC with portal thrombosis and also as an adjuvant to surgery after the resection of HCCs. In the cases that severe liver dysfunction represents theoretic contraindication for radioembolization as well as for TACE, ¹³¹I-Lipiodol is an alternative therapy option especially in tumors smaller than 6 cm [42].

Although ¹³¹I-lipiodol therapy provides an economically viable alternative, long half-life (t1/2 = 8.04 days), low β -energy [E β max = 0.61 MeV (89.3%), 0.33 MeV (7.3%), 0.25 MeV (2.1%)], need for the isolation of patient post-therapy, and high nonspecific lung uptake, which drastically limits the administered dose, make it a less preferred clinical choice [32].

4 Dose and Activity

Dose and activity are two components related to the topic of dosimetry in microsphere therapy. Dose refers to the amount of energy of radiation that is taken up by the tissue within the body and is measured in gray (Gy). Activity refers to the amount of ionizing radiation and is measured in either curie (Ci) or becquerel (Bq). In microsphere treatment, the term dose (Gy) is used for desired radiation to be delivered to the tumor tissue in the liver, and the term activity (GBq) is used for radiation that is delivered to the target organ (i.e. liver) [43].

TARE naturally targets most tumors as a function of increased vascular density. Since the radiation source is attached to each microsphere, the radiation effects depend on the pattern of their accumulation within the tumor vasculature. This concept requires the distinction between the applied radioactivity and the final tissue exposure when planning a treatment dose as: The dose is the biological effect of radiation measured in gray (Gy) and depends on four factors [4]:

- Activity: Radioactive decay per unit of time is usually expressed as decrease per second or becquerel (Bq). Most TARE activities are implemented in the range of billions of decays per second or gigabecquerel (GBq).
- 2. Volume: the amount of tissue in which activity is located.
- Distribution: Variations in vascular compartments that affect the geographic accumulation of microspheres result in nonuniform irradiation patterns.
- 4. Radiation susceptibility: radiosensitivity and repair abilities of both tumor and normal parenchyma.

Therefore, activity (GBq) is only one factor in determining the dose (Gy), and the biological effects of TARE should not be overly simplified by assuming uniform distribution of activity within a target volume [44–46].

4.1 Determining Treatment Activity

After the patient is found suitable for treatment in the ⁹⁰Y microsphere treatment, the stage of determining the appropriate treatment activity is started. There are different methods that differ according to the type of radiomicro-

There are two commonly used methods to estimate the amount of activity delivered by ⁹⁰Y microspheres to patients using resin microspheres: a BSA model and a (two-compartment) partition model. An activity detection method generally used for glass microspheres and medical internal radiation dose (MIRD) is referred to as single partition model. Much confusion has arisen as the terms partition model (refers to a two-compartment partition in the use of resin microspheres) and MIRD partition (refers to a single-compartment model used with glass microspheres) have both been abbreviated to the partition model. It is important to notice that the partition model and MIRD partition represent distinct and different methods with significant differences in calculated activity [47, 48].

4.1.1 Empirical Methods

Empirical methods have been tested for resin spheres and are based on a broad estimate of tumor involvement (T) in the liver [tumor volume/(tumor + liver volumes)]. The first empirical method proposed for SIR-Spheres® is based only on T: The larger the tumor burden, the higher the recommended activity in increments of 0.5 GBq per 25% tumor burden.

Empiric Method Calculation

- Tumor <25% of the total mass of the liver by CT scan = use 2 GBq whole-liver delivery.
- Tumor >25% but <50% of liver mass by CT scan = use 2.5 GBq whole-liver delivery.
- Tumor >50% of liver mass by CT scan = 3 GBq for whole-liver delivery.

BSA

The second empirical method proposed for SIR-Spheres® incorporates body surface area (BSA, measured in square meters). Therefore, the activity to be administered is:

A(GBq) = (BSA - 0,2) + Tumor volume / Total liver volume.

$$BSA(m^2) = 0.20247 \times Height(m)^{0.725} \times Weight(kg)^{0.425}$$
.

Empirical methods are in use with reported objective responses and low incidence of toxicity. Nevertheless, this approach may intrinsically expose patients to the risk of unnecessary toxicity or tumor underdosage. It must be noted that these methods do not take into account the degree of tumor uptake. Therefore, dosimetric methods should be generally recommended.

The BSA method, to date, has been the most prospectively studied model due to its implementation in several randomized clinical trials [49]. It is also the most frequent method used in dosing resin microspheres. The BSA method generates a hypothetical volume of liver based on the body surface area with dose modulations for tumor burden, large lung shunt percentage, and poor liver function. The main benefit to the BSA method is a generally well-tolerated toxicity profile. The BSA method is otherwise limited by its lack of anatomic accuracy, disregard of preferential distribution, inability to calculate segmental administrations, and inflexibility to angiosomal demands. As such, some contemporary practices have abandoned the BSA method due to its aforementioned limitations.

The BSA model assumes a relationship between the physical size of the patient and ability to tolerate increasing dosage. The concept that larger patients (not necessarily with larger livers) are more tolerant to increased dosages of ⁹⁰Y has been shown in the literature [50].

The BSA model was also found to have a lower risk of liver toxicity than the empiric model in the aforementioned cohort of 680 patients treated with resin microspheres, where 21 of 28 cases of radiation-induced liver disease (RILD) occurred from a single center using the empirical model [51].

4.1.2 Partition Method

The purpose of the partition method is to give the maximum dose to the tumor, while the lowest possible dose is given to the liver parenchyma excluding the tumor. This method is based on MIRD theoretical foundations and takes into account tumor and nontumor liver tissue separately. The partition model equation uses patientspecific tumor and liver volumes, along with predetermined T:N from pretreatment 99mTc-MAA SPECT/CT and/or cone-beam CT (CBCT). Thus, this method represents the most tailored treatment planning algorithm, allowing for accurate estimation of absorbed dose to the tumor, nontarget liver tissue, and lungs. Prior research has shown that treatment planning with the partition model based on 99mTcMAA SPECT/CT can improve clinical outcomes [52].

Partition Model (Two-Compartment): With this method, SIRT activity calculations are based on the two-compartment model, which allows the amount of radiation delivered to the tumor to be more accurately optimized with an optimum dose of >120 Gy. A higher degree of compatibility is required to arrive at the derivation of equations for activity (and dose) for the lung, normal liver, and tumor. As a result, although this method is theoretically more robust, it has not been widely adopted.

A higher degree of complexity is required to arrive at the derivation of the equations relating to the activity (and dose) to the lung, normal liver, and tumor. As a result, this method, although theoretically more sound, has not been widely adopted [10, 53].

Clinical studies have shown that the background liver parenchyma in cirrhotic patients can tolerate up to 70 Gy of radiation without evidence of radiation-induced hepatitis. Based on this information, the two-compartment partition model was able to optimize the amount of transmitted activity to ensure that tumors receive the minimum amount of radiation needed to cause cellular destruction while protecting the background liver from exposure to excess radiation to minimize the risk of inducing radioembolization-induced liver disease (REILD) [10]. TARE treatment with glass microspheres (Thera-Sphere) uses a simplified singlecompartment MIRD model based on the size of the entire liver regardless of the amount of tumor burden with the following formula:

Activity GBq =
$$(D \times m) / 50$$

D is the dose administered in grays, and *m* is the mass in kilograms. Using this formula, it can be said that a dose of 50 Gy will be administered to 1 kg of tissue if 1 GBq of ⁹⁰Y is given. The dose given to the treated mass also depends on the percent residual activity (*R*) in the vial after treatment and the LSF, which is calculated beforehand. These factors are accounted for in the following formula:

$$D = A \times 50 \times (1 - \text{LSF}) \times (1 - R) / m$$

The MIRD method is a common model adopted for glass microsphere administration. It requires volumetric calculation of the targeted hepatic tissue and incorrectly assumes a uniform distribution of activity within the volume. Like BSA, the MIRD method does not differentiate the amount of radiation distributed into the tumor and liver parenchyma. While there is abundant safety data to support MIRD utilization with glass microspheres, the specific activity range of this product can vary by orders of magnitude by demand, and the authorized user should be aware of this potential [54].

A practical method based on the hepatopulmonary shunt ratio and liver lobe and/or segment volume and based on a simple internal dosimetric approach is widely used in routine practice to determine therapeutic activity in ⁹⁰Y glass microspheres. With the software developed to facilitate the calculation in determining the treatment dose, the treatment dose can be calculated practically by using the liver lobe volume where the patient will be treated and the hepatopulmonary shunt ratio obtained from the hepatic artery perfusion scintigraphy data. This software provides the capability to visualize prospective dose distribution and assess the absorbed dose delivered to the target lobe or the tumor and normal tissue. By allowing for pre- and posttreatment dosimetry, this software can help determine the effectiveness of a patient's ⁹⁰Y SIRT with confidence. It can be used to interactively tailor the absorbed dose per perfused volume by adjusting the injected activity. The software tools can be customized to a patient's specific tumor presentation and anatomy (personalized dosimetry) (TheraSphere ⁹⁰Y glass microspheres user's manual).

5 Posttreatment Bremsstrahlung and PET/CT Imaging

Imaging to assess microsphere distribution to the planned liver parenchyma to be sure that there is no nontarget distribution of them after TARE is necessary. Unintended activity leaks could lead to the development of severe complications [55–57].

Post-procedure imaging with bremsstrahlung SPECT and PET/CT can measure defining treatment response and nontarget site embolization. Since ⁹⁰Y is pure beta emitter, after being administered to the patient, the X-rays created by the Bremsstrahlung effect can be viewed under gamma camera. It is recommended that imaging be done within the first 24 hours after treatment. The ⁹⁰Y bremsstrahlung SPECT/CT is difficult to measure due to a photopic, collimator detector scattering and lack of septal penetration caused by high-energy bremsstrahlung photons. To quantify, it requires additional compensation that is not readily available in most commercial systems [58–60]. However, the image is still useful in qualitative comparison between delivered and planned deliveries and in controlling extrahepatic uptake [61].

⁹⁰Y PET/CT is another option for post-therapy imaging. Lhommel et al. [62] showed that imaging ⁹⁰Y microspheres with PET/CT was feasible, even with the low positron yield of 32 ppm per decay [63]. Studies have shown that time-offlight (TOF) information helps with quantifying the noisy ⁹⁰Y PET images [64, 65]. Thus, ⁹⁰Y post-therapy imaging is capable of providing the delivered activity distributions with a spatial resolution of a few mm. These can then be converted to absorbed doses, preferably using the voxellevel methods.

Finally, 90Y PET/CT is the most promising modality to replace bremsstrahlung SPECT/CT due to its superior qualitative and quantitative capability. It will play an important role in reorganizing the safety and efficiency profile of radioembolization.

5.1 Anatomy

Variant anatomy is common and reported to be seen in about 40% of population [12]. In order to avoid or at least minimize nontarget embolization of nontumor bearing liver tissue and extrahepatic organs during the TARE, proper knowledge of relevant anatomy is essential [10]. Therefore, a thorough understanding of normal liver anatomy and in particular arterial anatomy together with variations is essential for a successful radioembolization procedure. These variations could be determined before angiography by a properly performed CT examination. A special attention is required for replaced and accessory arteries. They could be the part of dual supply of a tumoral lesion.

In addition to hepatic arterial variations, there are also variations inside the tumor that alter the effectiveness of intra-arterial therapies. Contrast enhancement patterns and Tc-MAA deposition should be evaluated in order to predict intralesional radiation watershed areas that could be managed by increasing either the number of particles or activity [4].

Hepatic tumors are hypervascular and receive supply primarily from hepatic arteries and could also receive parasitic arterial supply from adjacent segments and neighboring organs. Inferior phrenic (Fig. 2), internal mammary (Fig. 3), intercostal, omental, cystic, and adrenal arteries should be evaluated as a potential route of blood supply to the tumors especially in the ones located near the surface of the liver or after intraarterial therapies [66]. Bare area of the liver is also a frequent site of parasitic supply from



Fig. 2 Selective right renal artery DSA image (**a**) shows right phrenic artery arising from right renal artery and tumoral supply to the right superior lateral part of tumor. Cone-beam CT coronal (**b**) and axial (**c**) images demon-

strate this supply. Control celiac injection DSA image (d) after embolization of right phrenic and also right gastric artery coil embolizations

extrahepatic arteries. Hepatic hilar peribiliary plexus could include numerous small vessels that could be unrecognizable during angiography and due to the progressive increase in intrahepatic arterial resistance which could reverse the hepatopetal flow to the hepatofugal flow resulting in nontarget embolization [67]. Therefore, measures for eliminating this hepatofugal flow should be taken.

In most of the cases, the cystic artery arises from right hepatic artery, and radioembolization could cause radiation-induced necrosis; therefore, whenever possible, microspheres should be given distal to the cystic artery origin, and if it is not possible, cystic artery could be embolized with Gelfoam on the day of radioembolization (Fig. 4) [68].

Although right gastric artery usually arises from proper hepatic artery, it has a high degree of variation. If microspheres pass through this artery, gastric necrosis, ulceration, and perforation could be seen. Therefore, embolization could be necessary (Fig. 5) [69]. Catheterization could be difficult for embolization, and sometimes embolization of this artery could be done through the left gastric artery [10].



Fig. 3 Selective right internal mammary artery injection (**a**) and coronal maximum intensity projection cone-beam CT image (**b**) shows tumoral blood supply to the left

medial superior part of the tumor. Control DSA image after superselective embolization with PVA particles shows cessation of blood supply to the tumor



Fig. 4 Selective right hepatic artery injection (**a**) shows multiple hypervascular tumors and cystic artery originating from the right posterior artery. For right lobar therapy, cys-

In every mapping angiography pancreaticoduodenal arcade should be examined in order to prevent inadvertent pancreatitis, duodenal ulceration, or perforation [10]. When performing embolization in this arcade with a rich collateral vascular network, the possibility of collateralization and recanalization should be considered.

Falciform artery usually arise from the left hepatic artery and could lead to the development of localized, midabdominal wall burning sensation that can last for days or weeks following inadvertent radioembolization. When necessary, it could be embolized or an ice pack could be

tic artery selectively catheterized (**b**) and embolized with Gelfoam just before infusion of 90 Y. Control right hepatic artery injection (**c**) shows embolization of cystic artery

placed on the abdomen in order to cause vaso-constriction [70].

Intrahepatic communications between segments provide collateral flow in cases where there is occlusion or compromise of branch hepatic arteries. This feature is used for redistribution and consolidation of flow to tumors, thereby reducing the number of catheter positioning [66]. Embolizations are performed to alter the flow hemodynamics to optimize the administration point of microspheres. It is usually performed during the mapping angiography, and it is better to check them at the day of radioembolization due to the possibility of collateral develop-



Fig. 5 Selective proper hepatic artery injection DSA image (**a**) shows bilobar disease. For truncal infusion, gastroduodenal artery coil embolized (**b**). Right gastric artery

ment and redistribution. If that is the case, additional embolizations might be required [10].

6 Mapping Angiography

Mapping angiography is performed to asses arterial supply of the tumor to be treated, to determine variant anatomy which could lead to nontarget embolization and embolize them, to consolidate and redistribute arterial supply of tumor to be treated which can also be done during radioembolization, and to calculate lung shunt fraction (LSF) and to simulate radioembo-

arising from proximal left hepatic artery superselectively catheterized (c) and embolized with coils (d)

lization by administering Tc MAA [4, 12]. The goal of radioembolization is to administer planned required dose to the tumor without damaging normal parenchyma and avoid nontargeted deposition of microspheres into important extrahepatic organs. In order to achieve these goals, hemodynamics of flow to the tumor can be modified by embolization of arteries to redistribute the intrahepatic collaterals to the tumor and to consolidate arteries to administer microspheres by simpler and safer route (Fig. 6) [10, 66, 71]. The assessment of preferential flow is important since it is the primary mechanism of microsphere distribution [4]. Preferential blood flow phenome-



Fig. 6 Selective left hepatic artery injection (**a**) shows collaterals to the left diaphragm and stomach. These collaterals are embolized with coils to prevent nontarget embolization (**b**) for truncal infusion (**c**)

non that generates nonuniform deposition, or compartmentalization, of an embolic substance, allows delivery of ⁹⁰Y carrying microspheres through the hepatic artery to the tumor [72]. Therefore, one of the reasons of performing mapping angiography is to asses flow dynamics and plan interventions (like embolizations, etc.) to change the dynamics to properly administer and distribute the required dose to the tumors.

In order to optimize vascular dynamics, various permanent and temporary embolization materials, like coils, microplugs, balloons, and Gelfoam, could be used with an intention to decrease nontarget embolization of microspheres and facilitate antegrade flow to the target arteries [10, 12].

MAA is used to asses splanchnic and pulmonary shunting [73]. The size of the albumin microspheres is between 30 and 50 μ m which is similar to that of glass or resin microspheres. Due to the density of MAA particles which is almost similar to that of resin microspheres, simulation is better for resin microspheres [74].

Systemic chemotherapies might affect the result of MAA study and eventually biodistribution of ⁹⁰Y microspheres. Also, they could increase the risk of liver toxicity [75]. Due to hypoxic effects of antiangiogenic drugs, they lead to poor uptake of 99 m Tc-MAA and in turn poor tumor targeting, and therefore they should be discontinued 8 weeks before mapping angiog-raphy [75, 76].

6.1 Shunt Reduction

HCC causes the development of functional arteriovenous shunts which is due to the vascular growth factors, neovascularity, complex process of angiogenesis, and the ongoing autonecrosis/ remodeling occurring within tumor microvasculature. Depending on the magnitude of these shunts, microspheres could enter the pulmonary circulation through these shunts causing pneumonitis and fibrosis [7, 10]. Hypervascularity, tumor thrombus in portal and hepatic veins, CT or angiographic findings of shunting to portal or hepatic veins, large tumor burden, and infiltrative disease are among the main risk factors for shunting [7].

If the lung shunt fraction is greater than 20%, there is the possibility of nontarget pulmonary radiation deposition and radiation pneumonitis. The dose of 30 Gy to the lungs is generally accepted as the upper limit of single session of TARE, and 50 Gy is the total upper limit of cumulative absorbed lung radiation dose of repeated TARE [75]. If the hepatopulmonary shunt fraction ratio (HPSFR) is in 10–15% and 15–20%, the activity is decreased by 20% and 40%, respectively. TARE is not performed if the HPSFR is greater than 20% [7, 77].

Shunt reduction procedures, like low-dose TARE, bland embolization, TACE with beads larger than 300 μ m, sorafenib administration, chemotherapy, hepatic vein balloon occlusion, variceal embolization, and segmental TARE, are employed in cases with elevated LSF [7, 77].

6.2 Patient Selection

The decision to select patients for radioembolization should be based on a multidisciplinary team that includes nuclear medicine specialists, hepatologists, medical oncologists, radiation oncologists, surgeons (experienced in liver trans-

Performance	Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) status ≤2
Life expectancy	Greater than 3 months
Purpose of procedure	Definitive, bridge to transplantation, palliative
Tumor biology or stage	Advanced-stage or aggressive tumor can be associated with poor prognoses
Liver reserve	Loss of functional liver reserve is associated with the prognosis and benefit of procedure
Hematological parameters	Granulocyte count $\geq 1.5 \times 10^{9}/L$, platelet $\geq 60 \times 10^{9}/L$
Renal function	Serum creatinine level <2.0 mg/dl
Liver function	Serum bilirubin level <2.0 mg/dl, liver function tests (aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase, alkaline phosphatase) should not be above five times of normal level
Tumor size	Tumor involving more than 70% of the liver or 50% of the liver with <3 mg/dl serum albumin level may have poor prognoses
Pulmonary function	Respiratory function tests should be normal
History of EBRT	Cumulative toxic dose should be regarded
Modified from [4	741

 Table 3
 Selection criteria for TARE

Modified from [4, 74]

plantation), and interventional radiologists [3]. Choosing the treatment modality for HCC depends on some factors such as tumor size, location, morphology (e.g., presence of portal venous invasion, etc.), accompanying comorbidities (e.g., underlying liver disease), and the presence or absence of extrahepatic disease [10]. Selection criteria for radioembolization procedure are summarized in Table 3.

6.3 Indications and Contraindications

The main indications for radioembolization therapy are reduction of size of intrahepatic tumors (downsizing), increasing future liver remnant (FLR) volume, bridging to liver transplantation for HCC, controlling the size of tumor and providing hypertrophy of FLR by radiation lobectomy before resection, delaying progression of advanced HCC (Fig. 7), palliation, and intent to cure [61]. Applicability in the setting of portal vein thrombosis or invasion, capacity for downstaging or bridging for liver transplantation, facilitation of liver resection by providing hypertrophy of FLR, and the lower incidence of postembolization syndrome are among the advantages of radioembolization [3, 78].

Contraindications of radioembolization are poor liver function (high bilirubin levels and elevated liver function tests, low serum albumin level), renal dysfunction, high lung shunt in mapping angiography, and extrahepatic disease except lymph nodes. Although the serum bilirubin level is required to be below 2 mg/dl, if the tumors can be treated superselectively, radioembolization could be applied to the patients with serum bilirubin levels up to 3 mg/dl. The indications and contraindications of radioembolization are shown in Table 4.

Care should be taken while performing TARE treatment to the patients with poor hepatic function. Total bilirubin is the most widely defined indicator of liver function, and the level of it is desired to be less than 2 mg/dl in patients receiving radioembolization treatment. In patients who undergo bilobar radioembolization therapy, less elevation of bilirubin levels should be a warning about the potential fulminant liver failure. However, patients with moderate hepatic failure can be treated if they are suitable for segmental therapy. Sudden changes from a chronic stable total bilirubin levels may cause sudden decompensation. At this situation, lab values should be rechecked within 10-14 days to assess whether this change is a normal fluctuation or represents a greater hazard [56]. Serum albumin levels provide valuable information for the hepatic function as well. Albumin will often reduce before the increase in total bilirubin, indicating worsening liver reserve and potential loss of liver function [12].

Not all of the HCC patients are eligible for resection or transplantation. Most of the patients are outside the established criteria for liver transplantation. Downstaging means making the patients eligible for resection or transplantation by reducing the size and the number of tumors and tumor marker levels. By this way, patient is brought within the established or expanded crite-



Fig. 7 Consecutive contrast-enhanced axial CT images (a-d) show huge tumor extending to the inferior vena cava. Selective right phrenic artery injection DSA image (e) shows significant tumoral blood supply. ⁹⁰Y infusion was performed from selectively catheterized replaced

right hepatic artery after embolization of right phrenic artery for consolidation (**f**). Post-TARE PET images (**g**–**i**) show ⁹⁰Y deposition in tumor. Corresponding control contrast-enhanced axial CT images (**j**–**m**) show significant necrosis and decrease in the dimensions of tumor

Indications for rac	lioembolization
Downsizing	For reducing the tumor size
Increasing FLR	Before liver resection, for increasing
	the volume of contralateral lobe
Control of	To prevent the increasing of tumor
tumors	size
Bridging to	Make suitable the lesions to
transplantation	transplant which are not suitable
To delay	For advanced-stage tumors
progression or	
palliation	
Patients with	Minimal embolic effect of
macrovascular	microspheres
invasion	
Contraindications	for radioembolization
contrainareations	101 Iudioenibolization
Poor laboratory	Serum bilirubin level >2 mg/dl,
Poor laboratory values	Serum bilirubin level >2 mg/dl, serum albumin level <2 mg/dl, liver
Poor laboratory values	Serum bilirubin level >2 mg/dl, serum albumin level <2 mg/dl, liver function tests (aspartate
Poor laboratory values	Serum bilirubin level >2 mg/dl, serum albumin level <2 mg/dl, liver function tests (aspartate aminotransferase, alanine
Poor laboratory values	Serum bilirubin level >2 mg/dl, serum albumin level <2 mg/dl, liver function tests (aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase, alkaline
Poor laboratory values	Serum bilirubin level >2 mg/dl, serum albumin level <2 mg/dl, liver function tests (aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase, alkaline phosphatase) above five times of
Poor laboratory values	Serum bilirubin level >2 mg/dl, serum albumin level <2 mg/dl, liver function tests (aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase, alkaline phosphatase) above five times of normal level
Poor laboratory values	Serum bilirubin level >2 mg/dl, serum albumin level <2 mg/dl, liver function tests (aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase, alkaline phosphatase) above five times of normal level Serum creatinine level >2 mg/dl
Poor laboratory values Renal dysfunction	Serum bilirubin level >2 mg/dl, serum albumin level <2 mg/dl, liver function tests (aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase, alkaline phosphatase) above five times of normal level Serum creatinine level >2 mg/dl
Poor laboratory values Renal dysfunction High lung shunt	Serum bilirubin level >2 mg/dl, serum albumin level <2 mg/dl, liver function tests (aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase, alkaline phosphatase) above five times of normal level Serum creatinine level >2 mg/dl >30 Gy in single session or >50 Gy
Poor laboratory values Renal dysfunction High lung shunt	Serum bilirubin level >2 mg/dl, serum albumin level <2 mg/dl, liver function tests (aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase, alkaline phosphatase) above five times of normal level Serum creatinine level >2 mg/dl >30 Gy in single session or >50 Gy in total
Poor laboratory values Renal dysfunction High lung shunt Extrahepatic	Serum bilirubin level >2 mg/dl, serum albumin level <2 mg/dl, liver function tests (aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase, alkaline phosphatase) above five times of normal level Serum creatinine level >2 mg/dl >30 Gy in single session or >50 Gy in total Except lymph nodes

 Table 4
 Indications and contraindications for TARE

ria (Fig. 8). Downstaging by itself is not the only determinant factor for transplantation. In order to understand the tumor biology, there is a need for "test of time" to assess the recurrence or progression of tumor or development of distant metastasis (Fig. 9). Therefore, there should be a "bridging" period until the transplantation whether from cadaveric or live donor [5]. UNOS (United Network for Organ Sharing) and OPTN Procurement and Transplantation (Organ Network) require a progression-free period of at least 6 months from the date of listing [79]. TARE has an important role in both downstaging and bridging. Prolonged response to ⁹⁰Y might be considered having favorable tumor biology and lower recurrence rates [2].

TARE with "curative intent" is usually used for BCLC A patients and solitary tumors with diameters less than 5 cm in unresectable HCC by radiation segmentectomy using higher doses of radiation focally to induce complete pathologic necrosis (Fig. 10) [80]. Radiation lobectomy is another concept for ipsilateral tumor treatment and causing contralateral future liver remnant volume hypertrophy and function similar to portal vein embolization but at a slower rate [81, 82].

Same-day procedure can be applied to some patients with difficult arterial access (such as stenosis, tortuosity, or dissection), with allergy to the contrast, or requiring general anesthesia. This procedure should not be applied to the patients with a low GFR number, vascular invasion, infiltrative tumors, and/or tumor burden more than 50%. Especially patients with macrovascular invasion are more likely to have high degree of lung shunts, so same-day procedure should be strongly avoided [3].

In the presence of recurrence after liver resection, radioembolization is a good alternative treatment option for many patients. However, prior resection may reduce the functional capacity of the liver and can increase the risk of toxicity. It is known that small total liver volume is an independent risk factor of REILD [83, 84]. Decreasing liver volume will cause the absorbed radiation dose to increase relatively and further increase the risk of REILD, too [85]. In spite of all these, in the published series, there is no clearly defined increase of risk for REILD. But in these studies, empiric dose reduction and subtotal liver remnant treatments were applied. In this situation, there is no consensus that the standard ⁹⁰Y dose and therapy may need to be changed after liver resection [86]. So, a conservative treatment strategy should be applied whenever possible. In this condition, postoperative liver volume changes should be taken into account when calculating the patient dose. The aim of the treatment should be keeping the dose of normal liver parenchyma lower than 50 Gy while delivering a therapeutic dose to the tumor [83].

Lobar therapy is more appropriate for multifocal large tumors. Peripherally located solitary tumors are best treated with segmental approach. Tumors in central segments could have dual blood supply from segmental branches from both hepatic arteries.

Portal vein thrombosis is generally accepted as a contraindication for TACE since it is a sign



Fig. 8 Axial T1W (**a**), T2W (**b**), and T1W contrastenhanced (**c**) and liver-specific contrast-enhanced (**d**) MRI images show an 8 cm HCC lesion in segment 7, 8, and 4. Celiac injection DSA image (**e**) shows tumoral blood supply from S4 and right hepatic artery. Selective S4 (**f**) and right hepatic (**g**) artery injection DSA images and cone-beam CT images (**h**, **i**) demonstrate blood supply from S4, S8, and S7 branches. Fusion Tc-MAA CT image (**j**) shows tumoral coverage. Planar image (**k**) shows the hepatopulmonary shunt ratio obtained from the hepatic artery perfusion scintigraphy data. Traces are drawn on radiological images to define the liver lobe volume, target volume of the lobe or segment, and tumor

where the patient will be treated (**l**). The absorbed dose delivered to the target lobe (**m**) and the absorbed dose delivered to the tumor (**n**) are calculated. Just before the radioembolization, S4 (**o**), S5, and S6 arteries (**p**, **q**) were embolized with Gelfoam selectively to redistribute and consolidate flow to the tumor. Post-TARE PET CT image (**r**) demonstrates complete coverage of tumor. Control coronal CT images (**s**–**u**) complete necrosis and decrease in diameter of the lesion over 6-month period. After downstaging, patient had live donor liver transplantation. Explant pictures (**v**, **y**) show cirrhotic liver and protruding necrotic tumor







Fig. 8 (continued)



Fig. 8 (continued)



Fig. 9 Axial contrast-enhanced images (a, b) show multifocal HCC in the right lobe. Corresponding axial contrast-enhanced CT images (c, d) 3 months after TARE demonstrate necrosis of lesions. Although the patient is

downstaged, metastatic lung nodules in both lungs (\mathbf{e}, \mathbf{f}) developed 5 months after TARE, and the patient was delisted from transplantation waiting list



Fig. 10 Axial arterial (a, d), portal (b, e), and venous (c, f) phase CT images at two different levels show an HCC lesion of 4 cm in diameter located in segment 8 with hypervascular nodular part and necrosis. There is also extension to the middle hepatic vein. Superselective injection into the tumoral feeding artery DSA image (g) and axial cone-beam CT image (h) demonstrate wedge-shaped perfusion of the tumor. Post ⁹⁰Y TARE with glass particle

PET CT image (i) shows complete coverage of tumor. Three months after TARE, corresponding axial CT images (j-0) at the same levels demonstrate complete necrosis of the tumor and regression of hepatic vein thrombosis. Coronal reformatted CT images before (**p**) and after (**q**) TARE show necrosis of the lesion and regression of the middle hepatic vein thrombus



Fig. 10 (continued)

of progressive disease of extensive tumor growth, extrahepatic spread, or progressive functional impairment [6]. Although TACE could be performed by multiple segmental therapies in selected patients, TARE, which has a minimal embolic effect and shown to have favorable response, is a safe alternative in portal vein thrombosis cases, and regression of portal vein thrombus is possible (Fig. 11) [9, 12, 81].

While repeat treatments in unilobar disease appears to be safe, for the bilobar repeat treatments, alternating therapies could be employed [12].

6.4 External Radiotherapy and SBRT

As the liver has low irradiation tolerance, conventional external radiotherapy has a limited place in the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Purpose of the use of external radiation therapy in HCC is mostly palliation of metastasis such as lymph node, bone, or soft tissue [87–89]. With the developments in technology and the use of three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy (3D-CRT), the use of radiation therapy especially in patients with unresectable HCC has increased. But, although using 3D-CRT, REILD is still a major complication. Especially, in specific locations such as dome of liver (due to radiation pneumonitis) or porta hepatis (due to the risk of major biliary and vascular damage), external beam radiotherapy has limitations [74].

While calculating the dose delivery, nontumoral tissue complications are an important parameter. To minimize the normal tissue complications, respiratory movement must be considered. Delivering the dose in fractions to the tumor may be useful in targeting the radioresistant and radiosensitive malignant cells at different sessions. But, more than one treatment is needed [90].

Due to the technological advances in imaging methods and planning of radiotherapy, stereotac-



Fig. 11 Contrast-enhanced axial (**a**), coronal (**b**), and oblique reformat (**c**) images show right lobe tumor compressing and invading the right portal vein. Corresponding

control contrast-enhanced images (**d**–**f**) show decrease in the size of the tumor and relive of right portal vein compression and improvement in invasion

tic body radiation therapy (SBRT) which delivers highly conformal radiation therapy with geometric precision has become possible. SBRT has become an effective treatment alternative for early and locally advanced HCC [91–93].

SBRT has recently been recognized as an effective treatment option for nonsurgical localized intrahepatic HCC and included in the 2019 National Comprehensive Cancer Network Guidelines and the practice guideline statement of the American Liver Disease Studies Association [94, 95].

SBRT is used for stabilization and regression in HCC patients as a primary treatment with increasing the median survivals from 11 to 25 months [96–98]. SBRT seems to be safe and efficacious local bridging therapy for patients with local or advanced HCC who are on the waiting list for LT. Also, it can be applied as a primary treatment and can be combined with other locoregional treatment modalities.

In these new techniques, toxic dose is delivered to the tumors while normal liver parenchyma is saved [99]. But, although these advanced targeting techniques are used, liver toxicity after treatment is still a major problem. So, radioembolization therapy after external radiotherapy should be performed carefully [100].

7 Complications of TARE

TARE is a relatively safe treatment procedure. While a small proportion of patients have experienced mild side effects such as self-limited exhaustion or abdominal pain, TARE is associated with low rates of serious complications. The complications associated with TARE can be divided into three major groups: extrahepatic, intrahepatic, and vascular complications.

7.1 Extrahepatic Complications

Extrahepatic complications of TARE (such as pulmonary, gastrointestinal, esophageal, or pancreatic complications) usually occur because of nontarget embolization and lung shunts which cause radiation-induced pneumonitis due to the high radiation dose to the lungs [101]. Collaterals

between hepatic artery and extrahepatic organs should be identified during mapping angiography and should be embolized prophylactically before TARE in order not to cause nontarget embolization.

7.1.1 Radiation-Induced Lung Disease

There is limited information about radiationinduced lung disease after radioembolization treatment. In a review of 515 patients by Kennedy et al., the incidence of RILD was found to be 4%. Of these, 75% was treated single session wholeliver therapy by using empirical dosimetry. In current practice, empirical dosimetry method is no longer used [51]. The effect of the microspheres on the lung parenchyma is due to arteriovenous shunts, which are commonly seen in HCC [102]. During radioembolization, some of the ⁹⁰Y passes to the lung because of these intratumoral arteriovenous shunts. Mapping angiography with 99mTechnetium MAA minimizes the risk of RILD by evaluating lung shunts and calculating treatment dose. The cases in the literature describe life-threatening disease which includes pathologically acute-subacute interstitial pneumonitis. In these patients, increasing dyspnea and restrictive lung disease developed in 1-6 months after radioembolization [103]. It is important to exclude the other reasons of dyspnea in patients who present with shortness of breath. There is no evidence-based treatment for RILD. Supportive treatment with oxygen supplementation and intravenous steroid can be performed [8].

7.1.2 Gastrointestinal Complications

Nontarget infusion of microspheres to the gastrointestinal organs might cause ulceration or perforation in these organs. In a review with 39 studies by Naymagon et al., mean incidence of gastric ulceration after radioembolization was found to be 4.8% [104]. Approximately 5 weeks after radioembolization, these patients experience abdominal pain, nausea, anorexia, and vomiting [105]. Ulceration of the stomach or duodenum which is induced by Yttrium-90 may not respond to medical therapy. So, surgery may be needed. To prevent radioembolization-associated ulceration, mapping angiography should be performed carefully and coil embolization should be done if necessary.

If the microspheres spread into the pancreatic vessels, radiation-induced pancreatitis may occur. This type of pancreatitis usually affects the head of the pancreas. This complication can be very painful for the patient and leads to a prolonged hospitalization, food restriction, and i.v. treatment.

Although it is theoretical, damage of attenuated radiation to the organs adjacent to the liver (such as the colon, duodenum, or stomach) may be possible as gastritis or enteritis. Another side effect of attenuated radiation may occur in the right hemithorax as pleural effusion [101].

7.1.3 Radiation-Induced Cholecystitis

Although it is rare, ⁹⁰Y carrying microspheres could enter into the cystic artery and perforators from the hepatic parenchyma or into the gastroduodenal artery branches that supply gallbladder and then cause mucosal injury and ischemia. In order to prevent radiation-induced cholecystitis, infusion distal to the cystic artery is advised. In cases where this is not possible due to necessary flow dynamics or anatomic location, prophylactic embolization, usually with temporary agents, could be employed. If radiation cholecystitis develops, most cases are followed conservatively. However, if there is perforation or emphysematous cholecystitis, then cholecystectomy or percutaneous cholecystostomy may be needed (Fig. 12) [101, 106, 107].

7.1.4 Bile Duct Complications

Intra- and extrahepatic biliary complications after TARE are associated with the embolic effect and necrosis of the biliary ducts due to radiation. Unlike normal liver parenchyma, the intrahepatic bile ducts have only single feeding artery which arises from the hepatic arterial branches as a vascular plexus (peribiliary capillary plexus) around the bile ducts. The diameter of the vessels in this plexus is the same as ⁹⁰Y embedded microspheres; therefore, after TARE, ischemia may develop in the bile ducts [108]. In a study with 327 patients who underwent TARE by Atassi



Fig. 12 Contrast-enhanced axial CT image (a) after TARE shows ascites and air in the gallbladder wall (emphysematous cholecystitis). Spot image (b) obtained after placement of percutaneous cholecystostomy shows

the drainage catheter and embolization coils in right phrenic artery. Control contrast-enhanced axial CT image (c) after removal of drainage catheter shows resolution of cholecystitis and ascites

et al., the rate of biliary sequelae was approximately 10%. Less than 2% of patients needed biliary interventions. The most common biliary complications were biliary stricture and necrosis. Most of biliary interventions employed for these complications are drainage of bilomas and abscesses and percutaneous cholecystostomy for radiation cholecystitis. Biliary necrosis was less common in patients with primary HCC than in patients with metastatic liver lesions. This may be due to the hypertrophy of the peribiliary vascular plexus and history of chemotherapy of patients with metastatic tumors [109]. Damage in the bile ducts can take several forms such as biloma cavities or dilatation of the bile ducts. The reason of the biloma cavities can be the necrosis of the peripheral bile ducts with leakage due to the damage of vascular plexus which supplies bile ducts [110, 111]. Treatment of biliary damage after radioembolization is usually conservative. Percutaneous drainage for bilomas or abscesses, balloon dilation, or stents for strictures can be applied. Surgery may be necessary in very rare cases.

7.1.5 Radioembolization-Induced Liver Disease (REILD)

Sangro et al. [50] first used the term of REILD which refers to a collection of symptoms resulting from progressive liver decompensation related to radioembolization. Findings of the REILD are jaundice, ascites, high serum bilirubin levels, and low serum albumin level, and incidence of it is nearly 5% [85]. REILD typically presents with patterns of sinusoidal obstruction as veno-occlusive disease. Supportive treatment is applied to these patients. While the syndrome can be self-limited, liver failure and death can be seen in serious cases [50].

All transarterial embolic therapies could cause liver toxicity that its degree of damage depends on many factors like dose, particle size, baseline liver reserve, and tumor to liver perfusion. The calculation of actual dose of normal liver parenchyma is difficult since microspheres distribute inhomogeneously. Functional liver reserve and regenerative function are the two main determinants of liver toxicity. Cirrhosis, previous chemotherapies and locoregional therapies, resection, etc. all affect the functional reserve and regenerative capacity. In almost all the patients that underwent radioembolization treatment with ⁹⁰Y, some degree of liver toxicity is seen.

Liver-dependent factors such as infiltrative type of HCC (volume of the tumor 50% of total liver volume), serum liver transaminases levels greater than five times the normal value, serum albumin level <3 g/dl, and total serum bilirubin level >2 mg/dl strongly associated with a 3-month mortality. The bilirubin level is the best indicator for REILD [10].

Although serious liver toxicity associated with radioembolization is rare, if it develops, it can be divided into early and late stages. Acute liver toxicity occurs in 2–16 weeks after treatment with no tumor progression or biliary obstruction [112].

Chronic toxicity can be seen in months or years after treatment. So, the rate of chronic toxicity is not known well yet. The mechanism of chronic toxicity is thought to be associated with radiation-induced fibrosis. It presents with atrophy of the liver and findings of portal hypertension [113, 114].

REILD is so rare after the first TARE therapy. If there is no lesion in the contralateral lobe, the second session can be tolerated as well. But the cumulative dose of the liver increases the risk, so prior whole-liver therapy is an important risk factor for REILD. If the tumoral lesions could be catheterized selectively, patients with large tumors can be treated safely even when they have other risk factors for toxicity [85]. Instead of whole-liver therapy, sequential lobar treatment can be performed to allow the contralateral lobe for regeneration with an interval of 4-6 weeks. However, caution should be exercised when considering sequential treatments because REILD may occur in 16 weeks after first procedure. So, the absence of clinical deterioration in 4–6 weeks after treatment should not be seen as conclusive evidence that additional therapy is safe [115].

For the mild cases, current standard of treatment includes diuretics and long-term high-dose steroids. For more serious and acute cases, longterm low-dose heparin, ursodeoxycholic acid, and pentoxifylline can be added to treatment [10].

7.1.6 Post Radioembolization Syndrome

In post radioembolization syndrome, symptoms such as fever, fatigue, nausea, vomiting, and anorexia are seen. The incidence of it has been defined as significantly less than the postembolization syndrome encountered after TACE. Post radioembolization syndrome is usually selflimited. Some patients may need symptomatic treatment and hospitalization. Single-dose steroids can be given preprocedurally [8].

7.2 Vascular Complications

TARE treatment has the same risks of vascular complications with other intra-arterial procedures. Hematoma or pseudoaneurysm at the access site or arterial dissections can be seen during therapy. The risk of vascular injury increases in patients who have previously received chemotherapy [18].

8 Radiologic Follow-Up

The aim of the follow up is the evaluation of the response or disease progression. Four-phase dynamic contrast-enhanced CT or multiphasic dynamic contrast-enhanced MRI is performed after 4–8 weeks following TARE procedure to evaluate the response to the therapy. To avoid the misinterpretation of reversible or transient findings, intervals of follow-up imaging is not performed earlier [56, 116]. The most common transient finding on follow-up CT images is reduced density at the site where microspheres accumulate. These findings are thought to be due to edema, congestion, or microinfarction in the treated areas [56]. After the first radiological study, patients are followed with scans every 3 months.

According to the guidelines of the World Health Organization (WHO) and the Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors (RECIST) group, the most important indicator of a successful treatment response is reduction in tumor size [117]. However, necrosis, cystic degeneration, hemorrhage, or edema can cause the increasing in tumor size. The European Association for the Study of the Liver (EASL) necrosis criteria are also used to evaluate necrosis that develops in tumors [118]. According to a recent study, use of combined size and necrosis criteria is more accurate than the use of size criteria alone in evaluating the response to ⁹⁰Y treatment [119]. Therefore, the indicators which can show tumor necrosis such as tumor vascularity, 18-fluorodeoxyglucose uptake on PET-CT, volume of tumor (viable tumor burden), diffusion weighted MRI, and serum tumor markers (serum AFP level) should be evaluated for tumor response. Functional MRI

may play a role in detecting tumor response earlier [120]. It may take 6–9 months to achieve maximum response (totally devascularization with no recurrence). Serial imaging together with laboratory examinations allows proper follow-up of treated patients for the response assessment. Follow-up imaging also helps to evaluate patients who were downstaged or in bridging period for the possible recurrences.

9 Conclusion

Interventional oncologic approaches broaden the treatment options for HCC. TARE is a safe and effective option for selected group of patients who are not suitable for surgery or other locoregional interventional treatments or patients with failed interventions. It has a proven effect in downstaging and bridging. TARE has an important role in every stage of HCC, and the technical developments and improvements in dose-related issues will positively affect the outcomes of patients with HCC.

References

- Singal AG, Lampertico P, Nahon P. Epidemiology and surveillance for hepatocellular carcinoma: new trends. J Hepatol. 2020;72(2):250–61.
- Tabone M, Calvo A, Russolillo N, Langella S, Carbonatto P, Lo Tesoriere R, et al. Downstaging unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma by radioembolization using 90-yttrium resin microspheres: a single center experience. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2020;11(1):84–90.
- Gabr A, Ali R, Al Asadi A, Mora R, Mouli S, Riaz A, et al. Technical aspects and practical approach toward same-day Y90 radioembolization in the management of hepatocellular carcinoma. Tech Vasc Interv Radiol. 2019;22(2):93–9.
- Toskich BB, Liu DM. Y90 radioembolization dosimetry: concepts for the interventional radiologist. Tech Vasc Interv Radiol. 2019;22(2):100–11.
- Kutlu R, Karatoprak S. Radioembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma in downstaging and bridging for liver transplantation. J Gastrointest Cancer. 2020;51(4):1157–64.
- Helmberger T. HCC. Radioembolization combined with other therapeutic local and systemic treatment. In: Bilbao JI, Reiser MF, editors. Liver radioembolization with 90Y microspheres. Medical radiology.

Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2013. p. 119–27.

- Schiro BJ, Amour ES, Harnain C, Gandhi RT. Management of high hepatopulmonary shunts in the setting of Y90 radioembolization. Tech Vasc Interv Radiol. 2019;22(2):58–62.
- Titano JJ, Kim E, Patel RS. Yttrium-90 complications: prevention and management. Tech Vasc Interv Radiol. 2019;22(2):87–92.
- Gabr A, Kallini JR, Salem R. Radioembolization for liver tumors. In: Jarnagin WR, editor. Blumgart's surgery of the liver, biliary tract and pancreas, 2-volume set. Elsevier; 2017. p. 1417–25.e2.
- Thakor AS, Eftekhari A, Lee EW, Klass D, Liu D. Hepatocellular carcinoma: radioembolization. In: Ganguli S, Gandhi RT, Faintuch S, editors. Practical guides in interventional radiology interventional oncology. New York: Thieme; 2016. p. 84–107.
- Lewandowski RJ, Riaz A, Ryu RK, Mulcahy MF, Sato KT, Kulik LM, et al. Optimization of radioembolic effect with extended-shelf-life yttrium-90 microspheres: results from a pilot study. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2009;20(12):1557–63.
- Klimkowski S, Baker JC, Brown DB. Red flags, pitfalls, and cautions in Y90 radiotherapy. Tech Vasc Interv Radiol. 2019;22(2):63–9.
- Zori AG, Ismael MN, Limaye AR, Firpi R, Morelli G, Soldevila-Pico C, et al. Locoregional therapy protocols with and without radioembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma as bridge to liver transplantation. Am J Clin Oncol. 2020;43(5):325–33.
- 14. D'Arienzo M. Emission of β+ particles via internal pair production in the 0+ – 0+ transition of 90Zr: historical background and current applications in nuclear medicine imaging. Atoms. 2013;1(1):2–12.
- Wollner I, Knutsen C, Smith P, Prieskorn D, Chrisp C, Andrews J, et al. Effects of hepatic arterial yttrium 90 glass microspheres in dogs. Cancer. 1988;61(7):1336–44.
- Pellerin O, Lin MD, Bhagat N, Shao WB, Geschwind JF. Can C-arm cone-beam CT detect a micro-embolic effect after TheraSphere radioembolization of neuroendocrine and carcinoid liver metastasis? Cancer Biother Radio. 2013;28(6):459–65.
- 17. Sangro B, Carpanese L, Cianni R, Golfieri R, Gasparini D, Ezzidin S, et al. European multicenter evaluation of survival for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) treated by radioembolization with 90y-labeled resin microspheres. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(15_suppl):4027.
- Riaz A, Lewandowski RJ, Kulik LM, Mulcahy MF, Sato KT, Ryu RK, et al. Complications following radioembolization with yttrium-90 microspheres: a comprehensive literature review. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2009;20(9):1121–30; quiz 31.
- Gulec SA, Siegel JA. Posttherapy radiation safety considerations in radiomicrosphere treatment with 90Y-microspheres. J Nucl Med. 2007;48(12):2080–6.
- 20. Giammarile F, Bodei L, Chiesa C, Flux G, Forrer F, Kraeber-Bodere F, et al. EANM procedure guideline for the treatment of liver cancer and liver metastases

with intra-arterial radioactive compounds. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2011;38(7):1393–406.

- Jernigan SR, Osborne JA, Mirek CJ, Buckner G. Selective internal radiation therapy: quantifying distal penetration and distribution of resin and glass microspheres in a surrogate arterial model. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2015;26(6):897–904 e2.
- 22. Gray B, Van Hazel G, Hope M, Burton M, Moroz P, Anderson J, et al. Randomised trial of SIR-Spheres plus chemotherapy vs. chemotherapy alone for treating patients with liver metastases from primary large bowel cancer. Ann Oncol. 2001;12(12):1711–20.
- Carr BI. Hepatic arterial 90Yttrium glass microspheres (Therasphere) for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: interim safety and survival data on 65 patients. Liver Transpl. 2004;10(2 Suppl 1):S107–10.
- 24. Van Hazel G, Blackwell A, Anderson J, Price D, Moroz P, Bower G, et al. Randomised phase 2 trial of SIR-spheres plus fluorouracil/leucovorin chemotherapy versus fluorouracil/leucovorin chemotherapy alone in advanced colorectal cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2004;88(2):78–85.
- 25. Sangro B, Bilbao JI, Boan J, Martinez-Cuesta A, Benito A, Rodriguez J, et al. Radioembolization using 90Y-resin microspheres for patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;66(3):792–800.
- 26. Garin E, Rolland Y, Boucher E, Ardisson V, Laffont S, Boudjema K, et al. First experience of hepatic radioembolization using microspheres labelled with yttrium-90 (TheraSphere): practical aspects concerning its implementation. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2010;37(3):453–61.
- Prince JF, Smits ML, Krijger GC, Zonnenberg BA, van den Bosch MA, Nijsen JF, et al. Radiation emission from patients treated with holmium-166 radioembolization. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2014;25(12):1956–63 e1.
- Smits ML, Elschot M, van den Bosch MA, van de Maat GH, van het Schip AD, Zonnenberg BA, et al. In vivo dosimetry based on SPECT and MR imaging of 166Ho-microspheres for treatment of liver malignancies. J Nucl Med. 2013;54(12):2093–100.
- 29. Smits ML, Nijsen JF, van den Bosch MA, Lam MG, Vente MA, Mali WP, et al. Holmium-166 radioembolisation in patients with unresectable, chemorefractory liver metastases (HEPAR trial): a phase 1, dose-escalation study. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(10):1025–34.
- Reinders MTM, Smits MLJ, van Roekel C, Braat A. Holmium-166 microsphere radioembolization of hepatic malignancies. Semin Nucl Med. 2019;49(3):237–43.
- Wunderlich G, Pinkert J, Andreeff M, Stintz M, Knapp FF Jr, Kropp J, et al. Preparation and biodistribution of rhenium-188 labeled albumin microspheres B 20: a promising new agent for radiotherapy. Appl Radiat Isot. 2000;52(1):63–8.
- 32. Mallia MB, Chirayil V, Dash A. Improved freezedried kit for the preparation of (188)ReN-DEDC/ lipiodol for the therapy of unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. Appl Radiat Isot. 2018;137:147–53.
- Nowicki ML, Cwikla JB, Sankowski AJ, Shcherbinin S, Grimmes J, Celler A, et al. Initial study of radio-

logical and clinical efficacy radioembolization using 188Re-human serum albumin (HSA) microspheres in patients with progressive, unresectable primary or secondary liver cancers. Med Sci Monit. 2014;20:1353–62.

- 34. Jeong JM, Kim YJ, Lee YS, Ko JI, Son M, Lee DS, et al. Lipiodol solution of a lipophilic agent, (188) Re-TDD, for the treatment of liver cancer. Nucl Med Biol. 2001;28(2):197–204.
- 35. Boschi A, Uccelli L, Duatti A, Colamussi P, Cittanti C, Filice A, et al. A kit formulation for the preparation of 188Re-lipiodol: preclinical studies and preliminary therapeutic evaluation in patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. Nucl Med Commun. 2004;25(7):691–9.
- 36. Kumar A, Srivastava DN, Chau TT, Long HD, Bal C, Chandra P, et al. Inoperable hepatocellular carcinoma: transarterial 188Re HDD-labeled iodized oil for treatment – prospective multicenter clinical trial. Radiology. 2007;243(2):509–19.
- 37. Raoul JL, Bourguet P, Bretagne JF, Duvauferrier R, Coornaert S, Darnault P, et al. Hepatic artery injection of I-131-labeled lipiodol. Part I. Biodistribution study results in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and liver metastases. Radiology. 1988;168(2):541–5.
- Park CH, Suh JH, Yoo HS, Lee JT, Kim DI. Evaluation of intrahepatic I-131 ethiodol on a patient with hepatocellular carcinoma. Therapeutic feasibility study. Clin Nucl Med. 1986;11(7):514–7.
- 39. Yoo HS, Lee JT, Kim KW, Kim BS, Choi HJ, Lee KS, et al. Nodular hepatocellular carcinoma. Treatment with subsegmental intraarterial injection of iodine 131-labeled iodized oil. Cancer. 1991;68(9):1878–84.
- 40. Kobayashi H, Hidaka H, Kajiya Y, Tanoue P, Inoue H, Ikeda K, et al. Treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma by transarterial injection of anticancer agents in iodized oil suspension or of radioactive iodized oil solution. Acta Radiol Diagn (Stockh). 1986;27(2):139–47.
- 41. Raoul JL, Guyader D, Bretagne JF, Duvauferrier R, Bourguet P, Bekhechi D, et al. Randomized controlled trial for hepatocellular carcinoma with portal vein thrombosis: intra-arterial iodine-131iodized oil versus medical support. J Nucl Med. 1994;35(11):1782–7.
- Ahmadzadehfar H, Sabet A, Wilhelm K, Biersack HJ, Risse J. Iodine-131-lipiodol therapy in hepatic tumours. Methods. 2011;55(3):246–52.
- Toohey RE, Stabin MG, Watson EE. The AAPM/ RSNA physics tutorial for residents: internal radiation dosimetry: principles and applications. Radiographics. 2000;20(2):533–46; quiz 1–2.
- 44. Fox RA, Klemp PF, Egan G, Mina LL, Burton MA, Gray BN. Dose distribution following selective internal radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1991;21(2):463–7.
- Liu DM, Westcott M, Garcia-Monacp R, Abraham R, Gandhi R. Down and dirty with dosimetry. Endovascular Today. 2016;15(9):70–6.
- 46. Spreafico C, Morosi C, Maccauro M, Romito R, Lanocita R, Civelli EM, et al. Intrahepatic flow redis-

tribution in patients treated with radioembolization. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2015;38(2):322–8.

- 47. Ho S, Lau WY, Leung TW, Chan M, Ngar YK, Johnson PJ, et al. Partition model for estimating radiation doses from yttrium-90 microspheres in treating hepatic tumours. Eur J Nucl Med. 1996;23(8):947–52.
- 48. Kennedy AS, Kleinstreuer C, Basciano CA, Dezarn WA. Computer modeling of yttrium-90-microsphere transport in the hepatic arterial tree to improve clinical outcomes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;76(2):631–7.
- 49. Wasan HS, Gibbs P, Sharma NK, Taieb J, Heinemann V, Ricke J, et al. First-line selective internal radiotherapy plus chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone in patients with liver metastases from colorectal cancer (FOXFIRE, SIRFLOX, and FOXFIRE-Global): a combined analysis of three multicentre, randomised, phase 3 trials. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(9):1159–71.
- Sangro B, Gil-Alzugaray B, Rodriguez J, Sola I, Martinez-Cuesta A, Viudez A, et al. Liver disease induced by radioembolization of liver tumors: description and possible risk factors. Cancer. 2008;112(7):1538–46.
- 51. Kennedy AS, McNeillie P, Dezarn WA, Nutting C, Sangro B, Wertman D, et al. Treatment parameters and outcome in 680 treatments of internal radiation with resin 90Y-microspheres for unresectable hepatic tumors. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2009;74(5):1494–500.
- Gulec SA, Mesoloras G, Stabin M. Dosimetric techniques in 90Y-microsphere therapy of liver cancer: the MIRD equations for dose calculations. J Nucl Med. 2006;47(7):1209–11.
- 53. Gandhi M, Choo SP, Thng CH, Tan SB, Low AS, Cheow PC, et al. Single administration of Selective Internal Radiation Therapy versus continuous treatment with sorafeNIB in locally advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (SIRveNIB): study protocol for a phase iii randomized controlled trial. BMC Cancer. 2016;16(1):856.
- Cremonesi M, Chiesa C, Strigari L, Ferrari M, Botta F, Guerriero F, et al. Radioembolization of hepatic lesions from a radiobiology and dosimetric perspective. Front Oncol. 2014;4:210.
- 55. Carretero C, Munoz-Navas M, Betes M, Angos R, Subtil JC, Fernandez-Urien I, et al. Gastroduodenal injury after radioembolization of hepatic tumors. Am J Gastroenterol. 2007;102(6):1216–20.
- 56. Kennedy A, Nag S, Salem R, Murthy R, McEwan AJ, Nutting C, et al. Recommendations for radioembolization of hepatic malignancies using yttrium-90 microsphere brachytherapy: a consensus panel report from the radioembolization brachytherapy oncology consortium. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;68(1):13–23.
- 57. Salem R, Thurston KG. Radioembolization with yttrium-90 microspheres: a state-of-the-art brachytherapy treatment for primary and secondary liver malignancies: part 3: comprehensive literature review and future direction. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2006;17(10):1571–93.

- Ahmadzadehfar H, Duan H, Haug AR, Walrand S, Hoffmann M. The role of SPECT/CT in radioembolization of liver tumours. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2014;41 Suppl 1:S115–24.
- 59. Dewaraja YK, Frey EC, Sgouros G, Brill AB, Roberson P, Zanzonico PB, et al. MIRD pamphlet No. 23: quantitative SPECT for patient-specific 3-dimensional dosimetry in internal radionuclide therapy. J Nucl Med. 2012;53(8):1310–25.
- 60. J OD. A review of 3D image-based dosimetry, technical considerations and emerging perspectives in (90)Y microsphere therapy. J Diagn Imaging Ther. 2015;2(2):1–34.
- Mikell JK, Dewaraja YK, Owen D. Transarterial radioembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma and hepatic metastases: clinical aspects and dosimetry models. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2020;30(1):68–76.
- 62. Lhommel R, Goffette P, Van den Eynde M, Jamar F, Pauwels S, Bilbao JI, et al. Yttrium-90 TOF PET scan demonstrates high-resolution biodistribution after liver SIRT. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2009;36(10):1696.
- 63. Selwyn RG, Nickles RJ, Thomadsen BR, DeWerd LA, Micka JA. A new internal pair production branching ratio of 90Y: the development of a non-destructive assay for 90Y and 90Sr. Appl Radiat Isot. 2007;65(3):318–27.
- 64. Carlier T, Willowson KP, Fourkal E, Bailey DL, Doss M, Conti M. (90)Y -PET imaging: exploring limitations and accuracy under conditions of low counts and high random fraction. Med Phys. 2015;42(7):4295–309.
- 65. Willowson KP, Tapner M, Team QI, Bailey DL. A multicentre comparison of quantitative (90)Y PET/CT for dosimetric purposes after radioembolization with resin microspheres : the QUEST Phantom Study. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2015;42(8):1202–22.
- 66. Shah RP, Sze DY. Radioembolization: identifying and managing anatomic variants. In: Bilbao JI, Reiser MF, editors. Liver Radioembolization with 90Y microspheres. Medical radiology. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2013. p. 41–52.
- 67. Samuelson SD, Louie JD, Sze DY. N-butyl cyanoacrylate glue embolization of arterial networks to facilitate hepatic arterial skeletonization before radioembolization. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2013;36(3):690–8.
- McWilliams JP, Kee ST, Loh CT, Lee EW, Liu DM. Prophylactic embolization of the cystic artery before radioembolization: feasibility, safety, and outcomes. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2011;34(4):786–92.
- 69. Inaba Y, Arai Y, Matsueda K, Takeuchi Y, Aramaki T. Right gastric artery embolization to prevent acute gastric mucosal lesions in patients undergoing repeat hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2001;12(8):957–63.
- Wang DS, Louie JD, Kothary N, Shah RP, Sze DY. Prophylactic topically applied ice to prevent cutaneous complications of nontarget chemoemboli-

zation and radioembolization. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2013;24(4):596–600.

- Bilbao JI, Garrastachu P, Herraiz MJ, Rodriguez M, Inarrairaegui M, Rodriguez J, et al. Safety and efficacy assessment of flow redistribution by occlusion of intrahepatic vessels prior to radioembolization in the treatment of liver tumors. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2010;33(3):523–31.
- Kim HC. Radioembolization for the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Mol Hepatol. 2017;23(2):109–14.
- Gates VL, Marshall KG, Salzig K, Williams M, Lewandowski RJ, Salem R. Outpatient single-session yttrium-90 glass microsphere radioembolization. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2014;25(2):266–70.
- 74. Liapi E, Geschwind JFH. Radioembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma. In: Mauro MA, Murphy K, Thomson KR, Venbrux AC, Morgan RA, editors. Image-guided interventions; Saunders/Elsevier Philadelphia, PA. 2014. p. 441–9.
- Arbizu J, Rodriguez-Fraile M, Martí-Climent JM, Domínguez-Prado I, Vigil C. Nuclear medicine procedures for treatment evaluation and administration. In: Bilbao JI, Reiser MF, editors. Liver radioembolization with 90Y microspheres. Medical radiology. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2013. p. 63–75.
- 76. Ahmadzadehfar H, Muckle M, Sabet A, Wilhelm K, Kuhl C, Biermann K, et al. The significance of bremsstrahlung SPECT/CT after yttrium-90 radio-embolization treatment in the prediction of extrahepatic side effects. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2012;39(2):309–15.
- Ward TJ, Tamrazi A, Lam MG, Louie JD, Kao PN, Shah RP, et al. Management of high hepatopulmonary shunting in patients undergoing hepatic radioembolization. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2015;26(12):1751–60.
- Kulik LM, Carr BI, Mulcahy MF, Lewandowski RJ, Atassi B, Ryu RK, et al. Safety and efficacy of 90Y radiotherapy for hepatocellular carcinoma with and without portal vein thrombosis. Hepatology. 2008;47(1):71–81.
- Lingiah VA, Niazi M, Olivo R, Paterno F, Guarrera JV, Pyrsopoulos NT. Liver transplantation beyond Milan criteria. J Clin Transl Hepatol. 2020;8(1):69–75.
- O'Leary C, Mahler M, Soulen MC. Curative-intent therapies in localized hepatocellular carcinoma. Curr Treat Options in Oncol. 2020;21(4):31.
- 81. Somma F, Stoia V, Serra N, D'Angelo R, Gatta G, Fiore F. Yttrium-90 trans-arterial radioembolization in advanced-stage HCC: the impact of portal vein thrombosis on survival. PLoS One. 2019;14(5):e0216935.
- Gabr A, Polineni P, Mouli SK, Riaz A, Lewandowski RJ, Salem R. Neoadjuvant radiation lobectomy as an alternative to portal vein embolization in hepatocellular carcinoma. Semin Nucl Med. 2019;49(3):197–203.
- Kessler J, Park JJ. Yttrium-90 radioembolization after local hepatic therapy: how prior treatments impact patient selection, dosing, and toxicity. Tech Vasc Interv Radiol. 2019;22(2):112–6.

- Zimmermann M, Schulze-Hagen M, Liebl M, Pedersoli F, Goerg F, Ulmer TF, et al. Safety and efficacy of Y-90 radioembolization after prior major hepatic resection. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2017;40(8):1206–12.
- Gil-Alzugaray B, Chopitea A, Inarrairaegui M, Bilbao JI, Rodriguez-Fraile M, Rodriguez J, et al. Prognostic factors and prevention of radioembolization-induced liver disease. Hepatology. 2013;57(3):1078–87.
- 86. Samim M, van Veenendaal LM, Braat M, van den Hoven AF, Van Hillegersberg R, Sangro B, et al. Recommendations for radioembolisation after liver surgery using yttrium-90 resin microspheres based on a survey of an international expert panel. Eur Radiol. 2017;27(12):4923–30.
- 87. Chen YX, Zeng ZC, Fan J, Tang ZY, Zhou J, Zeng MS, et al. Defining prognostic factors of survival after external beam radiotherapy treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma with lymph node metastases. Clin Transl Oncol. 2013;15(9):732–40.
- 88. He J, Zeng ZC, Tang ZY, Fan J, Zhou J, Zeng MS, et al. Clinical features and prognostic factors in patients with bone metastases from hepatocellular carcinoma receiving external beam radiotherapy. Cancer. 2009;115(12):2710–20.
- Zeng ZC, Tang ZY, Fan J, Zhou J, Qin LX, Ye SL, et al. Radiation therapy for adrenal gland metastases from hepatocellular carcinoma. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2005;35(2):61–7.
- Dawson LA, Normolle D, Balter JM, McGinn CJ, Lawrence TS, Ten Haken RK. Analysis of radiationinduced liver disease using the Lyman NTCP model. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2002;53(4):810–21.
- 91. Bujold A, Massey CA, Kim JJ, Brierley J, Cho C, Wong RK, et al. Sequential phase I and II trials of stereotactic body radiotherapy for locally advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(13):1631–9.
- 92. Culleton S, Jiang H, Haddad CR, Kim J, Brierley J, Brade A, et al. Outcomes following definitive stereotactic body radiotherapy for patients with Child-Pugh B or C hepatocellular carcinoma. Radiother Oncol. 2014;111(3):412–7.
- Sandroussi C, Dawson LA, Lee M, Guindi M, Fischer S, Ghanekar A, et al. Radiotherapy as a bridge to liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma. Transpl Int. 2010;23(3):299–306.
- 94. Marrero JA, Kulik LM, Sirlin CB, Zhu AX, Finn RS, Abecassis MM, et al. Diagnosis, staging, and management of hepatocellular carcinoma: 2018 practice guidance by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatology. 2018;68(2):723–50.
- Network NCC. Hepatobiliary cancers (Version 5.2020) 2020. Available from: https://www.nccn.org/ professionals/physician_gls/pdf/hepatobiliary.pdf.
- Hawkins MA, Dawson LA. Radiation therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma: from palliation to cure. Cancer. 2006;106(8):1653–63.
- 97. Mornex F, Girard N, Beziat C, Kubas A, Khodri M, Trepo C, et al. Feasibility and efficacy of high-dose

three-dimensional-conformal radiotherapy in cirrhotic patients with small-size hepatocellular carcinoma non-eligible for curative therapies – mature results of the French Phase II RTF-1 trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;66(4):1152–8.

- 98. Tse RV, Hawkins M, Lockwood G, Kim JJ, Cummings B, Knox J, et al. Phase I study of individualized stereotactic body radiotherapy for hepatocellular carcinoma and intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(4):657–64.
- 99. Dawson LA, Guha C. Hepatocellular carcinoma: radiation therapy. Cancer J. 2008;14(2):111–6.
- Kennedy AS. Radiation oncology approaches in liver malignancies. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book. 2014:e150–5.
- 101. Hoffmann RT, Diaz-Dorronsoro L, Bilbao JI. Complications and side effects. In: Bilbao JI, Reiser MF, editors. Liver radioembolization with 90Y microspheres. Medical radiology. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2013. p. 171–5.
- 102. Gaba RC, Vanmiddlesworth KA. Chemoembolic hepatopulmonary shunt reduction to allow safe yttrium-90 radioembolization lobectomy of hepatocellular carcinoma. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2012;35(6):1505–11.
- 103. Leung TW, Lau WY, Ho SK, Ward SC, Chow JH, Chan MS, et al. Radiation pneumonitis after selective internal radiation treatment with intraarterial 90yttrium-microspheres for inoperable hepatic tumors. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1995;33(4):919–24.
- 104. Naymagon S, Warner RR, Patel K, Harpaz N, Machac J, Weintraub JL, et al. Gastroduodenal ulceration associated with radioembolization for the treatment of hepatic tumors: an institutional experience and review of the literature. Dig Dis Sci. 2010;55(9):2450–8.
- 105. Rodriguez-Lago I, Carretero C, Herraiz M, Subtil JC, Betes M, Rodriguez-Fraile M, et al. Longterm follow-up study of gastroduodenal lesions after radioembolization of hepatic tumors. World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19(19):2935–40.
- 106. Kim HC, Chung JW, Lee W, Jae HJ, Park JH. Recognizing extrahepatic collateral vessels that supply hepatocellular carcinoma to avoid complications of transcatheter arterial chemoembolization. Radiographics. 2005;25 Suppl 1:S25–39.
- 107. Lewandowski RJ, Sato KT, Atassi B, Ryu RK, Nemcek AA Jr, Kulik L, et al. Radioembolization with 90Y microspheres: angiographic and technical considerations. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2007;30(4):571–92.
- Singh P, Anil G. Yttrium-90 radioembolization of liver tumors: what do the images tell us? Cancer Imaging. 2014;13(4):645–57.
- 109. Atassi B, Bangash AK, Lewandowski RJ, Ibrahim S, Kulik L, Mulcahy MF, et al. Biliary sequelae following radioembolization with Yttrium-90 microspheres. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2008;19(5):691–7.

- 110. Kobayashi S, Nakanuma Y, Terada T, Matsui O. Postmortem survey of bile duct necrosis and biloma in hepatocellular carcinoma after transcatheter arterial chemoembolization therapy: relevance to microvascular damages of peribiliary capillary plexus. Am J Gastroenterol. 1993;88(9):1410–5.
- 111. Sakamoto I, Iwanaga S, Nagaoki K, Matsuoka Y, Ashizawa K, Uetani M, et al. Intrahepatic biloma formation (bile duct necrosis) after transcatheter arterial chemoembolization. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2003;181(1):79–87.
- 112. Braat MN, van Erpecum KJ, Zonnenberg BA, van den Bosch MA, Lam MG. Radioembolizationinduced liver disease: a systematic review. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;29(2):144–52.
- 113. Jakobs TF, Saleem S, Atassi B, Reda E, Lewandowski RJ, Yaghmai V, et al. Fibrosis, portal hypertension, and hepatic volume changes induced by intra-arterial radiotherapy with 90yttrium microspheres. Dig Dis Sci. 2008;53(9):2556–63.
- 114. Nosher JL, Ohman-Strickland PA, Jabbour S, Narra V, Nosher B. Changes in liver and spleen volumes and liver function after radioembolization with yttrium-90 resin microspheres. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2011;22(12):1706–13.
- 115. Fernandez-Ros N, Inarrairaegui M, Paramo JA, Berasain C, Avila MA, Chopitea A, et al. Radioembolization of hepatocellular carcinoma activates liver regeneration, induces inflammation and endothelial stress and activates coagulation. Liver Int. 2015;35(5):1590–6.
- 116. Marn CS, Andrews JC, Francis IR, Hollett MD, Walker SC, Ensminger WD. Hepatic parenchymal changes after intraarterial Y-90 therapy: CT findings. Radiology. 1993;187(1):125–8.
- 117. Therasse P, Arbuck SG, Eisenhauer EA, Wanders J, Kaplan RS, Rubinstein L, et al. New guidelines to evaluate the response to treatment in solid tumors. European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer, National Cancer Institute of the United States, National Cancer Institute of Canada. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2000;92(3):205–16.
- 118. Bruix J, Sherman M, Llovet JM, Beaugrand M, Lencioni R, Burroughs AK, et al. Clinical management of hepatocellular carcinoma. Conclusions of the Barcelona-2000 EASL conference. European Association for the Study of the Liver. J Hepatol. 2001;35(3):421–30.
- 119. Riaz A, Kulik L, Lewandowski RJ, Ryu RK, Giakoumis Spear G, Mulcahy MF, et al. Radiologic-pathologic correlation of hepatocellular carcinoma treated with internal radiation using yttrium-90 microspheres. Hepatology. 2009;49(4):1185–93.
- 120. Rhee TK, Naik NK, Deng J, Atassi B, Mulcahy MF, Kulik LM, et al. Tumor response after yttrium-90 radioembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma: comparison of diffusion-weighted functional MR imaging with anatomic MR imaging. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2008;19(8):1180–6.



Intra-arterial Chemotherapy and Transarterial Chemoembolization in Hepatocellular Carcinoma

Huseyin Tugsan Balli and Kairgeldy Aikimbaev

1 Introduction

Transcatheter intra-arterial therapies are imageguided locoregional therapies mostly used in the interventional radiology for the treatment of patients with primary and metastatic tumours, most commonly localized in the liver [1]. These therapies include intra-arterial chemotherapy (IAC), transarterial embolization (TAE), transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) with or without drugeluting beads (DEBs), and radioembolization using embolic particles loaded with a radioisotope, most commonly Yttrium-90. The main goal of these therapies is to cause an ischemic/hypoxic environment and, consequently, coagulative necrosis in the tumour by delivering selectively chemotherapeutic drugs to the tumour-feeding arteries. The anticancer effect of all embolization procedures is based on terminal arterial blockade and subsequent tumour ischemia. IAC consists of intra-arterial infusion of the chemotherapeutic drugs by selective catheterization of the hepatic artery targeting the delivery of high concentrations of chemotherapeutic drugs directly to the tumour. TACE (with or without drug-eluting beads) combines targeted chemotherapeutic drug delivery with simultaneous embolization of the tumour-feeding artery. Transarterial radioembolization integrates delivery of internal radiation to the tumour

with minimal embolic effect unlike other embolization treatments. These therapies are accepted treatment modalities for providing survival benefit in selected patient populations. In this chapter, we describe the rationale behind of IAC, TAE, conventional transarterial chemoembolization (cTACE), and transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) with drug-eluting beads (DEBs) and provide a review of the existing medical literature. Transarterial radioembolization is beyond the scope of this chapter.

2 Intra-arterial Chemotherapy: Rationale and Overview

IAC is a minimally invasive percutaneous imageguided radiologic procedure with employing angiographic catheter as a conduit to achieve a higher local concentration of chemotherapeutic agents to the targeted unresectable tumour with fewer significant systemic side effects [2]. The rationale for regional chemotherapy is to maximize drug concentrations and tumour drug uptake in the target organ and minimize systemic toxicity [3]. For successful IAC, several important principles regarding tumour biology, drug pharmacology, and delivery systems must be fulfilled [4]. These concepts are that (1) locoregional delivery of chemotherapeutic agent leads to increased local concentration of the drug, (2) increased locoregional concentration of the drug leads to increased therapeutic response, and (3) locore-

H. T. Balli (🖂) · K. Aikimbaev

Radiology Department, Cukurova University Medical School, Adana, Adana, Turkey

gional drug delivery leads to decreased systemic exposure of the used drug. Several variations of this technique are available, and no standard protocol has been uniformly adopted. Many centres have differed in the choice and/or dose of the anticancer agents used, treatment end points, and the schedule and/or interval of retreatment.

3 Intra-arterial Chemotherapy: Clinical Evidence of Safety and Efficacy

The results of IAC have been studied most extensively in patients with colorectal cancer and unresectable liver metastases. The role of TAC outside of metastatic colorectal cancer has been less researched. Okusaka et al. [3] published findings of the randomized phase III trial comparing TAC and TACE for the treatment of patients with unresectable HCC. In this prospective 161-patient study, there was no significant difference when the median overall survival time was compared between these two therapies. IAC produced less tumour necrosis than TACE, particularly in tumours more than 3 cm. The important thing is that the Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer staging classification and treatment schedule [5], a worldwide used staging system for HCC management, does not include IAC in its algorithm of the treatment options for HCC. Also, the American Association for the Study of Liver Disease practice guidelines [6] did not recommend systemic or selective intra-arterial chemotherapy and warn not to use these treatment methods as standard of care. However, in Japan, TAC has traditionally been used to treat patients with advanced HCC with vascular invasion or multiple intrahepatic lesions or both [7].

4 Transarterial Embolization: An Overview

TAE (also known as bland embolization) is a minimally invasive image-guided procedure performed with the aim to restrict the tumour's blood supply by delivering particles which do not contain a chemotherapeutic or radioactive agent. In the context of treating an HCC tumour with TAE, polyvinyl alcohol particles or gelatin-based microspheres are used most commonly, although alcohol with ethiodized oil and gelatin sponge has also been described [8]. Deficiency of arterial flow results in an ischemic/hypoxic environment and, consequently, coagulative necrosis in the tumour. The embolic agent can also potentially incite a localized inflammatory reaction and focal angionecrosis [9]. The therapeutic end point of TAE is the stasis of flow in the arteries supplying the tumour with pruning of the distal branches of the treated artery. The targeted tumoral arterial supply is interrupted with an embolic agent, most commonly microparticles ranging from 40 to 120 μ m in size [10]. Depending on the disease distribution within the liver, the treatment approach can vary including lobar treatment for multifocal disease or targeted segmental treatment for unifocal disease [8]. The most common associated risk is that of postembolization syndrome, the severity and duration of which might be correlated with the degree of healthy tissue ischemia and underlying liver function [11]. The use of novel intraprocedural technologies such as cone-beam CT is utilized to ensure complete tumoral coverage while avoiding nontarget embolization [12]. TAE is reserved for nonsurgical candidates with liverdominant disease. Studies have demonstrated that HCC patients in stage B of the Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer staging classification system derive the most benefit from this procedure followed by stage C [13]. Patients in BCLC stage A may undergo TAE to maintain eligibility for transplantation per the Milan and University of California, San Francisco criteria [14]. The contraindications for TAE include decompensated cirrhosis (Child-Pugh B8 or higher), significantly reduced portal venous flow, creatinine clearance <30 mL/min, high tumour burden, severe comorbidities, untreated oesophageal varices, and elevated liver function markers [15].

5 Transarterial Embolization: Clinical Evidence of Safety and Efficacy

Llovet et al. [13] reported that TAE confers significant survival benefit compared to best supportive care. Tsochatzis et al. [14] published results from a meta-analysis of six randomized controlled trials comparing TACE with TAE, and none of them revealed significant differences in overall survival. Lee et al. [15] summarized evidence from three studies revealing no significant differences in 3-year survival rates, adverse events, or RECIST responses. Kluger et al. [16] found that TAE patients were significantly less likely to require retreatment before transplantation than TACE patients. Malagari et al. [17], in the prospective randomized comparison of chemoembolization with doxorubicin-eluting beads and bland embolization with Bead Block (Boston Scientific, Marlborough, MA) for HCC, found significant improvement in time-to-progression in the DEB-TACE group, but no change in overall survival.

Since induced ischemia from embolotherapy could be the dominant contributor to tumour cell death and bland embolization does spare the cost of chemotherapy and its toxicity profile, TAE should continue to be offered to appropriately selected patients.

6 Transarterial Chemoembolizations: An Overview

TACE is a minimally invasive image-guided procedure performed with the aim to restrict a tumour's blood supply. According to the Society of Interventional Radiology guidelines [18], chemoembolization is currently defined as the infusion of a mixture of chemotherapeutic agents with or without iodized oil, followed by embolization with particles. During TACE, embolic particles with or without chemotherapeutic drugs are injected through an angiographic catheter directly into a tumour-feeding artery. There are two main mechanisms enabling TACE in patients with

HCC. The carcinogenesis of HCC is a multistep process that leads to a gradual shift in tumour blood supply from predominantly portal to predominantly arterial circulation. Due to the predominately arterial feeding of HCC, transarterial embolization interrupts the tumour's blood supply and slows down or stops the growth of the tumour [19]. Additionally, targeted administration of chemotherapeutic agents allows delivery of a higher dose to the tumour's tissue while simultaneously reducing exposure for the liver parenchyma. After transarterial embolization, chemotherapeutic drugs are not washed out from the occluded tumour's vessels that results in a higher concentration of drugs within the tumour with a longer period of the exposure to the cytotoxic effect. An ischemic necrosis induced by embolization causes a failure of the transmembrane pump, resulting in a greater absorption of tumoricidal agents by the tumour cells. Thus, the concentration of the agents within the tumour can be 40 times greater than that of the surrounding normal liver parenchyma [20]. As a consequence of the above, TACE selectively targets the tumour while normal liver is relatively preserved. According to the Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer (BCLC) staging system [5], TACE is the first-line treatment for intermediate-stage disease, which includes asymptomatic patients with wellpreserved liver function and limited to liver large or multifocal tumours and without macrovascular invasion or extrahepatic spread. For these patients, TACE is recognized as a treatment with proven survival effect on survival [13, 21, 22]. The BCLC system also recommends a treatment migration concept in that TACE should be used in patients with early-stage HCC in whom the recommended treatments are not feasible or have failed [5]. The use of TACE was also supported by other staging systems such as the Chinese University Prognostic Index [23], the Hong Kong Liver Cancer staging system [24], and the Japanese Integrated Staging scoring system [25]. There are two TACE techniques [1, 26], namely conventional TACE (cTACE), which uses a mixture of a chemotherapeutic agent with Lipiodol, and TACE with DEBs (DEB-TACE) which will be reviewed further separately.

7 Critical Appraisal of Patient Selection for TACE

Patient selection is crucial for the success of TACE [26]. The exclusion of absolute contraindications should always be the first step in the assessment of patient suitability for TACE. Absolute and relative contraindications include features of decompensated liver disease, extensive bilobar tumour load and impaired integrity of the portal vein, as well as untreated large varices, huge tumour size, and severe comorbidities [27, 28]. However, patients with moderate to severe hepatic insufficiency can still be treated with TACE if embolization is performed segmentally or sub-segmentally, targeting a small volume of the liver. The presence of segmental or sub-segmental portal vein invasion is acceptable for cTACE if only injection of the drug/Lipiodol emulsion without particulate embolization is performed in the portion of the liver parenchyma deprived of portal venous flow and particulate embolization is delivered only into the tumour-feeding arteries. This approach ensures that non-tumoural liver tissue can still rely on adequate arterial flow [29].

Accepted absolute contraindications for TACE are summarized as follows [19, 26–28]:

- Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group [30] Patient Performance Status >1
- Decompensated liver cirrhosis (Child-Pugh class B, score >8) with jaundice, clinically significant hepatic encephalopathy, refractory to treatment ascites, and/or hepatorenal syndrome
- Impaired portal venous circulation due to portal vein thrombosis or high portal hypertension with hepatofugal blood flow
- Extensive tumour involving both lobes of the liver
- Main portal vein tumour thrombosis
- Untreatable intrahepatic arteriovenous fistula
- Impaired renal function
- Active systemic infection
- Uncorrectable bleeding disorder
- · Previous shock related to contrast media

Accepted relative contraindications for TACE are summarized as follows [19, 26–28]:

- Presence of oesophageal varices with high risk of bleeding
- Tumour larger than 10 cm
- Severe comorbidities
- Incompetent papilla with aerobilia
- Biliary dilatation

8 Conventional Transarterial Chemotherapy: An Overview

cTACE involves the imaging-guided intraarterial injection of a cytotoxic drug, such as cisplatin, doxorubicin, epirubicin, idarubicin, or mitomycin C, which is emulsified in the Lipiodol, into tumour-feeding artery thorough angiographic catheter. Lipiodol, also known as ethiodized oil, is a poppy-seed oil used by injection as a radiopaque contrast agent (Lipiodol® Ultra-Fluid; Guerbet, Villepinte, France). Intra-arterial injection of cytotoxic drug is followed by intra-arterial injection of an embolic agent, such as Gelfoam, polyvinyl alcohol, or acrylic copolymer gelatin particles [31]. During cTACE, Lipiodol carries and delivers chemotherapeutic agents to the tumour and causes embolization of the tumour microcirculation [32, 33]. cTACE is the current standard of care for large or multinodular tumours isolated to the liver for patients with preserved liver function and absence of portal vein invasion [34]. cTACE use has been reported in patients with more advanced HCC, such as microvascular or macrovascular invasion, or limited extrahepatic disease with adequately preserved hepatic function [35]. cTACE is also used in patients with early-stage HCC as a bridge to liver transplantation or for patients not eligible for liver transplantation, hepatic resection, and ablation [5]. cTACE is the recommended standard of care for the treatment of intermediate-stage HCC in most current international guidelines [34, 36]. A recent systematic review of cTACE efficacy that comprised a
total of 10,108 HCC patients found that the median overall survival was 19.4 months and that the 5-year survival rate was 32.4% [37]. Despite these facts, some important limitations remain. One of the issues of cTACE is the huge heterogeneity of the techniques and schedules used in clinical practice. Further differences exist with regard to the selectivity of TACE (lobar versus segmental versus super-selective), which has been reported to be an important determinant of procedure tolerance and efficacy [38]. To deal with these limitations, a worldwide expert panel published consensus technical recommendations in order to encourage cTACE standardization [29].

The most important recommendations of the worldwide expert panel [18] are summarized below:

- Eastern European Oncology Group [30] Patient Performance Status to be 0
- Multiphasic computed tomography (CT) or dynamic contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the liver as the preferred modalities for the treatment allocation
- Cone-beam CT use for the tumour visualization, targeting, and assessment of treatment completion
- Doxorubicin (50–75 mg/m²) or cisplatin (50– 100 mg/m²) as the most proven chemotherapeutic agent
- Preparing water-in-oil emulsion (aqueous chemotherapy droplets in internal phase and Lipiodol in continuous external phase) to improve tumour deposition
- Gelatine sponge use with 100–300 micronssized calibrated microspheres with the aim to occlude distal vessels with preservation of feeding segmental arteries
- Super-selective approach with microcatheter for treating a single tumour or small number of tumours
- Lipiodol opacification of the small arterioportal sinusoids as a predictive factor for tumour response and local recurrence [39]
- Assessing tumour viability using the mRE-CIST criteria [40]

• At least two cTACE procedures 2–8 weeks apart in order to ensure a presence or absence of the tumour response

9 Conventional TACE: Clinical Evidence of Safety and Efficacy

cTACE has been established as the standard treatment for intermediate-stage HCC without portal vein invasion in consequences of two randomized controlled trial studies, which used either doxorubicin [13] or cisplatin [21] mixed with Lipiodol. These studies represent the only level 1 evidence for intra-arterial therapies for HCC demonstrating the superiority of cTACE over best supportive care. Regarding the safety of cTACE, symptoms related to postembolization syndrome (fever, nausea, and abdominal pain) may be observed in up to 80% of patients and were generally mild, transient, and manageable. The most common complications included liver failure, cholecystitis, gastrointestinal bleeding, ascites, and encephalopathy. Treatment-related death rates varied between 0% and 6% [41]. It is less likely to see deteriorated quality of life after TACE [42]. A multicentre prospective Asian cooperative study on intermediate-stage HCC patients treated with cTACE reported a median survival time and 1and 2-year survival rates of 3.1 year and 89.6 and 75.0%, respectively [43]. cTACE has been reported in patients with more advanced HCC, such as macrovascular invasion or limited extrahepatic disease with adequately preserved hepatic function. In the prospective non-randomized study, HCC patients with segmental or subsegmental portal vein invasion were treated with cTACE or conservative care according to the patient's preference. The 12- and 24-month OS rates for the cTACE and conservative groups were 30.9%, 9.2%, and 3.8%, 0%, respectively (p < 0.001) [35]. In the USA, cTACE is also used in patients with early-stage HCC as a bridge to liver transplantation or when liver transplantation, hepatic resection, and image-guided ablation are not possible [44].

10 Transarterial Chemoembolization with Drug-Eluting Beads: An Overview

DEB-TACE, a different transarterial drug delivery technique, involves the intra-arterial injection of DEBs loaded with various types of chemotherapeutic agents [45]. DEBs are non-resorbable embolic microspheres loaded with a chemotherapeutic agent with the ability of slow drug release, which should ensure high local and low systemic drug concentrations. DEB-TACE was primarily developed to enhance the delivery of the chemotherapeutic agent while minimizing systemic toxicity and to provide a standardized embolizing effect. Commercialized DEBs are composed of various hydrophilic ionic polymers that can bind to anthracycline drugs via an ion exchange mechanism. Several microsphere diameters are available, ranging from 40 to 900 µm. The unique properties of these beads, and therefore of this transarterial drug delivery system, allow the fixing drug doses and the ability to release the chemotherapeutic agents in a sustained and controlled manner. Different microspheres are available for DEB-TACE. DC Bead (BTG International, London, UK) is a relatively new drug delivery embolization system comprising a range of hydrogel microspheres that are biocompatible, hydrophilic, non-resorbable, and precisely calibrated. DC Beads are available in four different ranges - H. T. Balli and K. Aikimbaev

70-150 µm, 100-300 µm, 300-500 µm, and 500-700 μ m – with drug loadings varying from 5 to hydrated beads. HepaSphere 45 mg/mL (MeritMedical, MA) is a biocompatible, nonresorbable, expandable, and loadable microsphere. The HepaSphere beads are available in a range of sizes: 30-60 µm, 50-100 µm, 100-150 µm, and 150-200 µm. TANDEM microspheres (CeloNova Biosciences/Boston Scientific, MA) (Fig. 1a-c) are non-resorbable polymethacrylate hydrogel that are available in three sizes: $40 \pm 10 \ \mu\text{m}$, $75 \pm 15 \ \mu\text{m}$, and $100 \pm 25 \ \mu\text{m}$. LifePearl (Terumo Corporation, Tokyo, Japan) are polyethylene glycol embolization microspheres that can be loaded with chemotherapeutic agents (such as doxorubicin, irinotecan, idarubicin, and epirubicin). LifePearl microspheres offer a wide range of drug loading options, enhanced suspension characteristics, and tight calibration. LifePearl microspheres are available in three sizes: $100 \pm 25 \,\mu\text{m}$, $200 \pm 50 \,\mu\text{m}$, and $400 \pm 50 \,\mu\text{m}$. DC Bead LUMI (BTG International, London, UK) (Fig. 2a-e) is radiopaque, biocompatible, non-resorbable hydrogel beads, produced from polyvinyl alcohol-like conventional DC Bead, but incorporating a tri-iodobenzyl radiopaque moiety with a covalent bond. DC Bead LUMI is designed to be inherently radiopaque and thus perfectly visible under X-ray-based imaging modalities, such as CT, cone-beam CT, and fluoroscopy. DC Bead LUMI is available in three size ranges: $70-150 \,\mu\text{m}$, 100-300 µm, and 300-500 µm.



Fig. 1 (a) T2-weighted magnetic resonance imaging demonstrated histologically proven hepatocellular carcinoma in the right lobe of the liver in 73-year-old female patient later treated with DEB-TACE using TANDEM 40 μ m microspheres loaded with doxorubicin. (b) Contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging demon-

strated hypervascular hepatocellular carcinoma in the same patient before treatment. (c) Contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging demonstrated avascular and shrunken tumour in the same patient 3 years after the treatment. These findings were evaluated as complete response according to mRECIST criteria



Fig. 2 (a) T2-weighted fat saturated magnetic resonance imaging demonstrated hepatocellular carcinoma in the right lobe of the liver in a 69-year-old male patient later treated with DEB-TACE using DC Bead LUMI 70–150 μ m microspheres loaded with doxorubicin. (b) Contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging demonstrated hypervascular hepatocellular carcinoma in the same patient before treatment. (c) Non-contrast computed tomography performed the day after the treatment with DC Bead LUMI demonstrated distribution of the radi-

11 Transarterial Chemoembolization with Drug-Eluting Beads: Clinical Evidence of Safety and Efficacy

Safety and efficacy of DEB-TACE have become the object of a number of studies. Generally, safety and efficacy of DEB-TACE were evaluated by the randomized European Precision V phase II trial in 212 patients with predominately intermediate-stage HCC [28], and a post hoc comparison showed a significant reduction in drug-related systemic and liver toxicity. Grosso et al. [46] published initial results of a multicentre trial that employed HepaSphere microspheres loaded with doxorubicin or epirubicin to treat 50 patients with unresectable HCC. The technical success was achieved in all cases, and no major opaque microspheres within the tumour in the same patient. (d) Non-contrast computed tomography performed 1 week after the treatment with DC Bead LUMI demonstrated distribution of the radiopaque microspheres within the tumour in the same patient. (e) Control contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging demonstrated avascular and shrunken tumour in the same patient 19 months after the treatment. These findings were evaluated as complete response according to mRECIST criteria

complications were experienced. The authors evaluated tumour response 1 and 6 months after the procedure, observing an objective response rate of 84 and 77.4%, respectively, at the first and second follow-up time points. Therefore, they concluded that DEB-TACE using HepaSphere is a feasible, effective, and safe procedure. Malagari et al. [47] reported similar promising midterm outcomes using doxorubicin-loaded DC beads as treatment of 3-10 cm HCCs in 71 patients. Overall survival at 12, 18, 24, and 30 months was 97.05%, 94.1%, 91.1%, and 88.2%, respectively. Sustained overall survival was seen in 66.2% of patients. Despite postembolization syndrome being observed in all patients, the rate of severe procedure-related complications was just 4.2%. Therefore, authors stated that DEB-TACE with DC Bead is an effective and safe procedure in the treatment of HCC with high rates of response and

midterm survival. Spreafico et al. [48] reported a study with the aim to evaluate the short-term safety and efficacy of the 70–150 μm DC BeadM1 loaded with doxorubicin in 45 patients with HCC undergoing DEB-TACE as a primary therapy or as a bridge to liver transplantation. The authors reported an OR rate of 77.7% and a grade 3/4 adverse event rate as low as 1.5%. Moreover, pathology demonstrated that 35% of the treated nodules presented a coagulative necrosis area larger than 90% of their volume. Thus, the authors concluded that DEB-TACE with DC BeadM1 is an effective and safe procedure, providing either tumour downstaging or necrosis. Two different prospective studies that investigated the potential role of DEB-TACE, experiencing the use of both HepaSphere 30-60 µm [49] and TANDEM [50], reported good response rates in both cases: the OR was 68.9% in the HepaSphere study and 61.3% in the TANDEM study. Recently, Greco et al. [51] achieved encouraging results in terms of tumour response using 40 µm Embozene TANDEM particles with overall response of 72.6%. Richter et al. [52] in the MIRACLE I prospective multicentre study reported similar results using 75 µm Embozene TANDEM particles with a higher overall response as 95%. Balli et al. [53] demonstrated that superselective DEB-TACE with doxorubicin-loaded beads sized 40-75 µm was an effective and safe treatment method with prolonged time-toprogression and progression-free survival in early and intermediate stages of HCC. An analysis concerning the particles size was performed by Prajapati et al. [54] who retrospectively compared the overall survival, efficacy, and safety of small (100-300 µm) and large (300-500 and 500-700 µm) DEB-TACE beads in two groups of patients with unresectable HCC. The authors found that the use of 100-300-µm-sized particles was linked with significantly higher survival rate and lower complications than the employment of 300-500 and 500-700-µm-sized DEBs. In another retrospective comparative study, Balli et al. [55] reported a higher response rates, prolonged overall survival, and progression-free survival after DEB-TACE performed with doxorubicin-loaded microspheres sized below 100 μ m than in above 100 μ m patient group. In conclusion, these findings underline that implementation of DEB-TACE may be further increased by the adoption of small particle sizes.

12 Comparison of Conventional Transarterial Chemoembolization and Transarterial Chemoembolization with Drug-Eluting Beads

Both cTACE and DEB-TACE have been considered as the standard treatment for unresectable HCC. DEB-TACE ensures the loaded chemotherapeutic agent slowly releases to achieve a lower systemic drug peak compared to cTACE [56]. DEB-TACE was expected to improve the performance of conventional cTACE. Two retrospective studies [57, 58] have suggested the superiority of DEB-TACE, whereas other comparative studies have not confirmed this superiority. Idilman et al. [59] reported that no differences in survival or side effects were observed between the cTACE and DEB-TACE in their retrospective study. In a large comparative study of Western HCC patients, Facciorusso et al. [60] demonstrated that drugeluting bead chemoembolization with 100-300 µm particles did not seem to improve survival in comparison with conventional chemoembolization, which in turn provided better tumour responses and time-to-progression. Moreover, the randomized controlled trial of DEB-TACE cTACE for HCC performed versus by PRECISION Italia Study Group [61] showed that adverse effect incidence and severity did not differ between the arms, except for post-procedural pain, more frequent and severe after cTACE (P < 0.001). The 1- and 2-year survival rates were 86.2% and 56.8% after DEB-TACE and 83.5% and 55.4% after cTACE (P = 0.949). Thus, the authors stated that DEB-TACE and the cTACE are equally effective and safe, with the only advantage of DEB-TACE being less postprocedural abdominal pain. Additionally, Karalli

et al. [62], in their retrospective real-life analysis, reported that DEB-TACE had better tolerability compared to cTACE, but overall survival did not differ between the two treatments. Zhang et al. [63] also demonstrated that compared to cTACE, DEB-TACE offered slightly better disease control rate and tolerability for HCC patients. However, DEB-TACE does not provide higher progression-free survival than cTACE.

Two meta-analyses [64, 65] and one systematic review [66] regarding comparability or superiority of cTACE and DEB-TACE were recently published. In the first meta-analysis performed by Facciorusso et al. [64], 4 randomized controlled trials and 8 observational studies with 1449 patients were evaluated. Non-significant trends in favour of DEB-TACE were observed as for 1-year (odds ratio: 0.76, 0.48-1.21, p = 0.25), 2-year (odds ratio: 0.68, 0.42–1.12, p = 0.13), and 3-year survival (odds ratio: 0.57, 0.32-1.01, p = 0.06). Meta-analysis of plotted hazard ratios confirmed this trend (hazard ratio: 0.86, 0.71-1.03, p = 0.10). Pooled data of objective response showed no significant difference between cTACE and DEB-TACE (odds ratio: 1.21, 0.69-2.12, p = 0.51). No statistically significant difference in adverse events was registered (odds ratio: 0.85, 0.60-1.20, p = 0.36). Based on these results, the authors stated that results of performed metaanalysis stand for a non-superiority of DEB-TACE with respect to cTACE in HCC patients. In the second meta-analysis regarding comparability of cTACE and DEB-TACE [65], no significant difference was found in overall response at 3, 6, 9, and 12 months, complete response, partial response, disease control rate, stable disease, overall survival, and complications between cTACE and DEB-TACE. The authors stated that DEB-TACE had similar therapeutic effects to those of cTACE. Furthermore, major complications in both therapies were similar; thus, the authors concluded that superiority of DEB-TACE over cTACE remains unclear, and further research with high-quality evidence is needed. However, in the recently published systematic review, Yang et al. [66] evaluated the effects of DEB-TACE, TARE, and cTACE in terms of overall survival,

tumour response, and complications. The authors found that DEB-TACE had a better overall survival at 1 year (p = 0.006), 2 years (p = 0.046), and 3 years (p = 0.035) when compared with cTACE.

In conclusion, despite the theoretical advantages of DEB-TACE over cTACE, it is still controversial as to whether DEB-TACE is superior to cTACE in terms of efficacy. However, it seems that DEB-TACE shows at least similar clinical outcomes and less adverse events than cTACE. Further organized prospective studies are required to identify combination strategies and to develop better treatment approaches for patients with HCC.

13 Future Directions: Transarterial Chemoembolization and Systemic Therapy Combination

TACE has been established as the most widely used therapeutic intervention for patients with intermediate-stage HCC. Despite level 1 evidence of survival benefit for TACE in BCLC stage B, it remains a palliative treatment. This may be explained by the hypoxic environment created by the TACE procedure, which can induce neoangiogenesis by stimulating vascular endothelial growth factor and other angiogenic pathways, promoting revascularization and growth of residual viable tumour [5, 67]. In an effort to address this problem, many studies have been conducted combining TACE with systemic anti-angiogenic agents, most commonly sorafenib (Nexavar; Bayer AG, Leverkusen, Germany), based on its proven activity against advanced HCC. The GIDEON trial [68] was an observational registry of 3202 patients with HCC of BCLCA, B, and C stages treated with sorafenib alone or in combination with TACE. Adverse events were reported in 2732 (85.3%) patients overall, with no notable differences in the incidence of adverse events, regardless of TACE treatment history. Overall survival was

12.7 months in prior TACE patients, 9.2 months in non-prior TACE patients, 21.6 months in concomitant TACE patients, and 9.7 months in nonconcomitant TACE patients. The authors stated that the combination of TACE with sorafenib appears to be a well-tolerated and viable therapeutic approach. The SPACE trial [69], a prospective randomized phase II trial in patients with BCLC stage B HCC, included 307 patients allocated randomly to DEB-TACE with sorafenib and DEB-TACE with placebo. There was no difference in TTP between the two arms (169 vs. 166 days in the sorafenib and placebo arms, respectively, p = 0.072). Overall the trial had a negative outcome with no impact on overall survival (p = 0.29). A further subgroup analysis from the SPACE trial suggested that patients with more advanced disease could benefit more than those with intermediate-stage disease [70]. In a phase III trial of TACE with sorafenib (TACE-2) [71], 313 patients were randomized to sorafenib or placebo with DEB-TACE 2-5 weeks later and additional TACE on demand. This trial reported no significant difference regarding a median progression-free survival (7.9 vs. 7.8 months in the sorafenib and placebo arms, respectively, p = 0.94) and median overall survival (21.1 and 19.7 months in the sorafenib and placebo groups, respectively, p = 0.57). In the phase III STAH trial [72], 169 patients were randomized to sorafenib alone or sorafenib combined with cTACE within 7-21 days of randomization. Compared with sorafenib alone, sorafenib combined with cTACE did not improve overall survival in patients with advanced HCC. However, sorafenib combined with cTACE significantly improved time-to-progression, progression-free survival, and tumour response rate. For combined treatment and sorafenib alone, median time-toprogression was 5.3 and 3.5 months, respectively (p = 0.003); median progression-free survival was 5.2 and 3.6 months, respectively (p = 0.01); and median overall survival was 12.8 and 10.8 months, respectively (p = 0.290). The authors stated that sorafenib alone remains the first-line standard of care for patients with advanced HCC. Kudo et al. [73], in the randomized, multicentre prospective TACTICS trial,

compared the efficacy and safety of TACE plus sorafenib with TACE alone using a newly established TACE-specific end point and pretreatment of sorafenib before initial TACE. Patients in the combination group received sorafenib 400 mg once daily for 2-3 weeks before TACE, followed by 800 mg once daily during on-demand cTACE sessions until time to untreatable progression, defined as untreatable tumour progression, transient deterioration to Child-Pugh C, or appearance of vascular invasion/extrahepatic spread. Median progression-free survival was significantly longer in the TACE plus sorafenib than in the TACE alone group (25.2 vs. 13.5 months; p = 0.006). Overall survival was not analysed because only 73.6% of overall survival events were reached. Median time to untreatable progression (26.7 vs. 20.6 months; p = 0.02) was also significantly longer in the TACE plus sorafenib group. Overall survival at 1 year and 2 years in TACE plus sorafenib group and TACE alone group were 96.2% and 82.7% and 77.2% and 64.6%, respectively. The authors stated that TACE plus sorafenib significantly improved progression-free survival over TACE alone in patients with unresectable HCC. Meta-analyses [74, 75] of TACE in combination with sorafenib have reported improved time-to-progression in patients with a combination; however, the addition of sorafenib failed to improve significantly in overall survival compared to TACE alone. In conclusion, a number of clinical trials inquiring addition of sorafenib to TACE did not demonstrate any significant improvement of overall survival due to addition of sorafenib to TACE for patients with intermediate-stage HCC.

Another systemic agent (bevacizumab; Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany) was tested in combination with TACE. Pinter et al. [76], in a randomized phase II study investigating the addition of bevacizumab to TACE, reported no evidence of increased efficacy assessed by radiological response rate. Smolka et al. [77], in the study comparing TACE + bevacizumab to TACE alone, reported that bevacizumab did not change quantitative tumour response to TACE. Briefly, the combination of TACE with anti-angiogenic drugs has been disappointing in terms of survival outcomes; however, due to potential safety, further studies are warranted in patients with advanced HCC.

14 Future Directions: Transarterial Chemoembolization and Immunotherapy Combination

A substantial body of evidence supports the development of immunotherapy to treat HCC. It is logical to combine TACE therapy with checkpoint inhibitors because the tumour burden will be less than in patients with advanced disease; checkpoint inhibitors will be administered in a immunogenic environment with probability of overcoming local tumour-mediated immune suppression; and both TACE and checkpoint inhibitors have been shown to stimulate immune responses against HCC [78]. Experiments in immunotherapy such immune checkpoint inhibitors are also underway. Several combination strategies of immunotherapies with thermal ablations and cryoablation were investigated in vitro and in animal models of HCC [79]. Recently, Marinelli et al. [80] investigated the safety of locoregional treatment (transarterial chemoembolization or Yttrium-90 transarterial radioembocombined with lization) nivolumab for intermediate and advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). The authors reported that during a median follow-up of 11.5 months (range, 1.8-35.1), no grade III/IV adverse events attributable to nivolumab were observed. In addition, there were no nivolumab-related deaths, and 30-day mortality after LRT was 0%. Thus, the authors demonstrate that locoregional treatment performed concomitantly with nivolumab immunotherapy had an acceptable safety profile in patients with intermediate and advanced HCC. In conclusion, current evidences suggest that the combination of systemic treatments and TACE seems to be a relatively safe option for treating patients with advanced disease. More studies are necessary to produce solid data over a longer follow-up period.

15 Current Implementation of Transarterial Chemoembolization in the Middle East Countries

We aimed to report a brief summary about the TACE implementation in the Middle East countries based on literature screening from PubMed. Indeed, it is not possible to describe all articles; thus, only newest investigations from the last 5 years were included into this brief literature review. Zaky et al. [81] evaluated the short-term outcome of the decision, taken by the multidisciplinary tumour board for the treatment of HCC patients with surgical resection, local ablative therapy, cTACE, and palliative supportive care. The authors found that the management of HCC was better performed through a multidisciplinary team decision, and cTACE has a success rate of 33.3%. El Sherbiny et al. [82] investigated changes in Doppler parameters of portal pressure after interventional management of HCC, including TACE, and reported improved portal hypertension parameters after TACE. The authors recommended Doppler ultrasound use as a reliable and effective method of evaluation of portal hypertension after TACE for HCC. Abdelmaksoud et al. [83] evaluated the prognostic factors and management in patients with HCC with portal vein thrombosis. The authors reported a significantly worse prognosis in patients with more than two tumours, abdominal lymphadenopathy, and serum bilirubin >2 mg/dL. Additionally, specific treatment significantly increased survival compared to patients left untreated (p = 0.027). Thus, TACE was considered as a promising procedure for unresectable portal vein thrombosisassociated HCCs. Abdelaziz et al. [84] studied a combined ablation techniques and assess survival benefit comparing TACE with radiofrequency versus TACE with microwave ablation techniques. A higher tendency to provide complete response rates after TACE with microwave ablation comparing with TACE with radiofrequency ablation was reported (p = 0.06). This was particularly evident with lesions sized 3-5 cm (p = 0.01). Rates of complications showed no significant difference between the groups. The

authors concluded that TACE with microwave ablation led to better response rates with tumours 3-5 cm, with no difference in survival rates. Moustafa et al. [85] reviewed the factors influencing the development of an extrahepatic collateral arterial blood supply to HCC and described a systematic approach to enhance the ability to predict the presence of extrahepatic collateral arteries. They also describe the proper technique for TACE of each extrahepatic collateral artery and how to avoid potential technique-related complications. Abdella et al. [86] assessed the outcomes after TACE in patients with segmental portal vein thrombosis regarding Child-Pugh classification, radiological response, and 1-year survival. TACE succeeded to achieve disease control in 93.3%, 86.3%, 57.7%, and 44.4% of patients after 1, 3, 6, and 12 months, respectively. Post-TACE liver decompensation occurred in the form of ascites in 30%, jaundice in 10%, and hepatic encephalopathy in 3.3% within 1 month of TACE. One-month survival after TACE was 100%, 3 months was 96.6%, 6 months was 86.6%, and 1 year was 60%. Mean overall survival of the included patients was 17 months (s.e. = 1.59). The authors concluded that TACE seems an alternative option for unrespectable HCC with portal vein thrombosis in patients with preserved liver function. Hassan et al. [87] evaluated the frequency of regulatory T cells and serum levels of IL-6 and IL-10 before and after TACE. HCC patients had a significantly higher level of IL-6 and IL-10 when compared to the control group (p = 0.0002, p < 0.0001), respectively. However, after treatment, there was an elevation in the levels of IL-6 and IL10 followed by a decrease to the baseline levels. Patients with large tumours (>5 cm) showed higher levels of both IL-6 and IL-10 than those with smaller tumours. Moreover, HCC patients showed a higher frequency of regulatory T cells in comparison with the controls (p = 0.002). No significant correlation was observed between the frequency of regulatory T cells and IL-10 before and after treatment (r = 0.38, p = 0.30). The authors concluded that HCC patients have significantly higher levels of IL-6 and IL-10 and a higher percentage of regulatory T cells than controls; the regulatory T-cell levels were altered after chemoembolization; and IL-6 have a potential in reflecting the patient's condition after treatment, thus helping in monitoring therapy. Khalid et al. [88] investigated the prognostic value of the albumin-bilirubin grade in patients undergoing TACE for unresectable HCC. The mean duration of survival at the last follow-up was of 12.1 ± 12.14 months (range 1-49). Univariate analysis showed serum albumin (p = 0.003), serum bilirubin (p = 0.018), Child-Pugh score (p = 0.019), albumin-bilirubin grade (p = 0.001), and presence of varices (p = 0.04) to be the main predictors of 6-month survival after TACE. On Cox analysis, only ALBI score (p = 0.038) showed statistical significant association. The authors concluded that albuminbilirubin grade may serve as a surrogate marker in predicting the prognosis of HCC patients undergoing TACE. Hassan et al. [89] evaluated the role of diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging in the detection of residual HCC after DEB-TACE. Diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging had a sensitivity of 77.1%, a specificity of 60.7%, a positive predictive value of 71.05%, and a negative predictive value of 68%. The difference between the malignant and benign groups' ADC variables was statistically significant (p < 0.003). The ROC curve showed that the area under the curve is C = 0.718 with SE = 0.069 and 95% confidence interval from 0.548 to 0.852. The authors concluded that diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging has limited diagnostic value in the assessment of viable tumour tissue after DEB-TACE in cases of HCC. Balli et al. [53] evaluated the effectiveness and safety of super-selective TACE with doxorubicin-loaded DEB sized 40-75 µm for HCC in early and intermediate stages according to BCLC staging system. Median follow-up was 22 months (range, 13-31), and 42 (93.3%) patients were followed up for more than 1 year. Overall complete response, partial response, and progressive disease rates were 53.3%, 33.3%, and 13.4% at 1 year and 22.2%, 26.7%, and 13.3% at 3 years, respectively. For target lesions, these rates were 60.0%, 26.7%, and 13.3% at 1 year and 28.9%, 6.7%, and 4.4% at 3 years, respectively. Median overall survival duration

was 24 months (95% CI, 20.9-31.9 months). At 1 year and 3 years, overall survival rates were 71.0% and 44.4%, respectively. The only statistically significant relationship with overall survival was presence of chronic liver disease, which worsened the overall survival rate (p = 0.031). Time-to-progression was 23 months (95% CI, 15.1-40.0), and progression-free survival was 28 months (95% CI, 6.2-39.8). Postembolization syndrome occurred in ten patients (22.2%). Transient grade I/II bilirubin and aminotransferase elevation was observed in 26 (57.7%) and 18 (40%) patients, respectively. The authors stated that super-selective DEB-TACE with doxorubicin-loaded beads sized 40-75 µm is an effective and safe treatment method with prolonged time-to-progression and progression-free survival in early and intermediate stages of HCC. Presence of chronic liver disease is the only significant factor that worsened overall survival ratios after DEB-TACE. Balli et al. [55] compared the efficacy and safety of superselective DEB-TACE with doxorubicin-loaded microspheres sized below and above 100 microns for treatment of HCC. Although statistically insignificant, median overall survival (19 months vs. 32 months, p = 0.190) and median progressionfree survival (13 months vs. 20 months (p = 0.574) were longer, and 1-3-year objective response rates (7.40% vs. 23.33%, p = 0.330) were higher in above-100-microns group than in below-100microns group, respectively. No mortality or major complications were observed. Grade I/II adverse events were detected in all patients. Transient elevations in liver function tests (grade III adverse events) were similar in both groups (3.57% vs. 3.33%; p = 0.980). The authors concluded that super-selective DEB-TACE with doxorubicin-loaded microspheres sized <100 microns is an effective and safe method for the HCC treatment. Objective response rates are higher and survival durations are longer after DEB-TACE is performed with doxorubicin-loaded microspheres sized below 100 microns. Farid et al. [90] measured serum vascular endothelial growth factor levels before and after cTACE versus DEB-TACE and evaluated its efficacy in predicting response to therapy and tumour recurrence. Vascular endothelial growth factor level was higher than baseline after cTACE (p < 0.001) and DEB-TACE (p = 0.004). It was also significantly higher in patients with progressive disease (p < 0.001). Vascular endothelial growth factor level at cutoff values of 97.3, 149.8, and 104.1 pg/mL could discriminate disease progression from treatment success with area under ROC curves of 0.806, 0.775, and 0.771, respectively. The sensitivity was 88.9%, 88.9%, and 77.8% and specificity was 62.5%, 64.6%, and 66.7%, respectively. However, no relation to tumour recurrence in complete response group could be detected after 1 year. The authors concluded that vascular endothelial growth factor serum levels may predict response to therapy in patients treated by DEB-TACE or cTACE, but it has no relation to tumour recurrence.

This brief literature review demonstrates that various technical, methodological, clinical, and prognostic aspects regarding TACE in HCC are under investigation in the Middle East countries.

References

- Lewandowski RJ, Geschwind JF, Liapi E, Salem R. Transcatheter intraarterial therapies: rationale and overview. Radiology. 2011;259(3):641–57. https:// doi.org/10.1148/radiol.11081489.
- Ganeshan A, Upponi S, Hon LQ, Warakaulle D, Uberoi R. Hepatic arterial infusion of chemotherapy: the role of diagnostic and interventional radiology. Ann Oncol. 2008;19(5):847–51. https://doi. org/10.1093/annonc/mdm528.
- Collins JM. Pharmacologic rationale for regional drug delivery. J Clin Oncol. 1984;2(5):498–504. https:// doi.org/10.1200/jco.1984.2.5.498.
- 4. Melendez FDH. Pharmacologic principles of regional therapy in the traetment of liver metastases or primary liver tumors. In: Interventional oncology: principles and practice. Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press; 2008.
- Forner A, Reig M, Bruix J. Hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet. 2018;391(10127):1301–14. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0140-6736(18)30010-2.
- Bruix J SM. In: AASLD practice guideline: management of hepatocellular carcinoma: an update. 2020. https://www.aasld.org/publications/practiceguidelines. Accessed 01.10.2020.
- 7. Yamashita T. Current status of hepatocellular carcinoma treatment in Japan: hepatic arterial infusion

chemotherapy. Clin Drug Investig. 2012;32 Suppl 2:15–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf03265493.

- Gaba RC, Lokken RP, Hickey RM, Lipnik AJ, Lewandowski RJ, Salem R, et al. Quality improvement guidelines for transarterial chemoembolization and embolization of hepatic malignancy. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2017;28(9):1210–23.e3. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jvir.2017.04.025.
- Vaidya S, Tozer KR, Chen J. An overview of embolic agents. Semin Intervent Radiol. 2008;25(3):204–15. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0028-1085930.
- Rand T, Loewe C, Schoder M, Schmook MT, Peck-Radosavljevic M, Kettenbach J, et al. Arterial embolization of unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma with use of microspheres, lipiodol, and cyanoacrylate. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2005;28(3):313–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00270-004-0153-y.
- Wigmore SJ, Redhead DN, Thomson BN, Currie EJ, Parks RW, Madhavan KK, et al. Postchemoembolisation syndrome-tumour necrosis or hepatocyte injury? Br J Cancer. 2003;89(8):1423– 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6601329.
- Cornelis FH, Borgheresi A, Petre EN, Santos E, Solomon SB, Brown K. Hepatic arterial embolization using cone beam CT with tumor feeding vessel detection software: impact on hepatocellular carcinoma response. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2018;41(1):104–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00270-017-1758-2.
- Llovet JM, Real MI, Montaña X, Planas R, Coll S, Aponte J, et al. Arterial embolisation or chemoembolisation versus symptomatic treatment in patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2002;359(9319):1734–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08649-X.
- Tsochatzis EA, Fatourou E, O'Beirne J, Meyer T, Burroughs AK. Transarterial chemoembolization and bland embolization for hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20(12):3069–77. https:// doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v20.i12.3069.
- Lee EW, Khan S. Recent advances in transarterial embolotherapies in the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Mol Hepatol. 2017;23(4):265–72. https://doi.org/10.3350/cmh.2017.0111.
- Kluger MD, Halazun KJ, Barroso RT, Fox AN, Olsen SK, Madoff DC, et al. Bland embolization versus chemoembolization of hepatocellular carcinoma before transplantation. Liver Transpl. 2014;20(5):536–43. https://doi.org/10.1002/lt.23846.
- Malagari K, Pomoni M, Kelekis A, Pomoni A, Dourakis S, Spyridopoulos T, et al. Prospective randomized comparison of chemoembolization with doxorubicin-eluting beads and bland embolization with BeadBlock for hepatocellular carcinoma. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2010;33(3):541–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00270-009-9750-0.
- Brown DB, Gould JE, Gervais DA, Goldberg SN, Murthy R, Millward SF, et al. Transcatheter therapy for hepatic malignancy: standardization of terminology and reporting criteria. J Vasc Interv Radiol.

2007;18(12):1469–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jvir.2007.08.027.

- Pesapane F, Nezami N, Patella F, Geschwind JF. New concepts in embolotherapy of HCC. Med Oncol (Northwood, London, England). 2017;34(4):58. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12032-017-0917-2.
- Kruskal JB, Hlatky L, Hahnfeldt P, Teramoto K, Stokes KR, Clouse ME. In vivo and in vitro analysis of the effectiveness of doxorubicin combined with temporary arterial occlusion in liver tumors. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 1993;4(6):741–7. https://doi. org/10.1016/s1051-0443(93)71965-x.
- Lo CM, Ngan H, Tso WK, Liu CL, Lam CM, Poon RT, et al. Randomized controlled trial of transarterial lipiodol chemoembolization for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology (Baltimore, Md). 2002;35(5):1164–71. https://doi.org/10.1053/ jhep.2002.33156.
- Llovet JM, Bruix J. Systematic review of randomized trials for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: chemoembolization improves survival. Hepatology. 2003;37(2):429–42. https://doi.org/10.1053/ jhep.2003.50047.
- 23. Chan SL, Mo FK, Johnson PJ, Liem GS, Chan TC, Poon MC, et al. Prospective validation of the Chinese University Prognostic Index and comparison with other staging systems for hepatocellular carcinoma in an Asian population. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011;26(2):340–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1746.2010.06329.x.
- 24. Yau T, Tang VY, Yao TJ, Fan ST, Lo CM, Poon RT. Development of Hong Kong Liver Cancer staging system with treatment stratification for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2014;146(7):1691–700.e3. https://doi.org/10.1053/j. gastro.2014.02.032.
- 25. Kokudo N, Hasegawa K, Akahane M, Igaki H, Izumi N, Ichida T, et al. Evidence-based clinical practice guidelines for hepatocellular carcinoma: the Japan Society of Hepatology 2013 update (3rd JSH-HCC guidelines). Hepatol Res. 2015;45(2) https://doi.org/10.1111/hepr.12464.
- Sieghart W, Hucke F, Peck-Radosavljevic M. Transarterial chemoembolization: modalities, indication, and patient selection. J Hepatol. 2015;62(5):1187–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhep.2015.02.010.
- Raoul JL, Sangro B, Forner A, Mazzaferro V, Piscaglia F, Bolondi L, et al. Evolving strategies for the management of intermediate-stage hepatocellular carcinoma: available evidence and expert opinion on the use of transarterial chemoembolization. Cancer Treat Rev. 2011;37(3):212–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ctrv.2010.07.006.
- Forner A, Gilabert M, Bruix J, Raoul JL. Treatment of intermediate-stage hepatocellular carcinoma. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2014;11(9):525–35. https://doi. org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2014.122.
- 29. de Baere T, Arai Y, Lencioni R, Geschwind JF, Rilling W, Salem R, et al. Treatment of liver

tumors with lipiodol tace: technical recommendations from experts opinion. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2016;39(3):334–43. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00270-015-1208-y.

- Oken MM, Creech RH, Tormey DC, Horton J, Davis TE, McFadden ET, et al. Toxicity and response criteria of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. Am J Clin Oncol. 1982;5(6):649–55.
- Coldwell DM, Stokes KR, Yakes WF. Embolotherapy: agents, clinical applications, and techniques. Radiographics. 1994;14(3):623–43. https://doi. org/10.1148/radiographics.14.3.8066276.
- Kan Z, Wright K, Wallace S. Ethiodized oil emulsions in hepatic microcirculation: in vivo microscopy in animal models. Acad Radiol. 1997;4(4):275–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1076-6332(97)80029-3.
- Kan Z, Wallace S. Sinusoidal embolization: impact of iodized oil on hepatic microcirculation. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 1994;5(6):881–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s1051-0443(94)71629-8.
- 34. EASL-EORTC Clinical Practice Guidelines: management of hepatocellular carcinoma. Eur J Cancer. 2012;48(5):599–641. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejca.2011.12.021.
- 35. Luo J, Guo RP, Lai EC, Zhang YJ, Lau WY, Chen MS, et al. Transarterial chemoembolization for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma with portal vein tumor thrombosis: a prospective comparative study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18(2):413–20. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-010-1321-8.
- Verslype C, Rosmorduc O, Rougier P. Hepatocellular carcinoma: ESMO-ESDO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2012;23 Suppl 7:vii41–8. https://doi. org/10.1093/annonc/mds225.
- Lencioni R, de Baere T, Soulen MC, Rilling WS, Geschwind JF. Lipiodol transarterial chemoembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review of efficacy and safety data. Hepatology (Baltimore, Md). 2016;64(1):106–16. https://doi.org/10.1002/ hep.28453.
- Bouvier A, Ozenne V, Aubé C, Boursier J, Vullierme MP, Thouveny F, et al. Transarterial chemoembolisation: effect of selectivity on tolerance, tumour response and survival. Eur Radiol. 2011;21(8):1719– 26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00330-011-2118-2.
- 39. Kim DY, Ryu HJ, Choi JY, Park JY, Lee DY, Kim BK, et al. Radiological response predicts survival following transarterial chemoembolisation in patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2012;35(11):1343–50. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2036.2012.05089.x.
- Llovet JM, Lencioni R. mRECIST for HCC: performance and novel refinements. J Hepatol. 2020;72(2):288–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhep.2019.09.026.
- 41. Boily G, Villeneuve JP, Lacoursière L, Chaudhury P, Couture F, Ouellet JF, et al. Transarterial embolization therapies for the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma: CEPO review and clinical recommenda-

tions. HPB (Oxford). 2015;17(1):52–65. https://doi. org/10.1111/hpb.12273.

- 42. Toro A, Pulvirenti E, Palermo F, Di Carlo I. Healthrelated quality of life in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma after hepatic resection, transcatheter arterial chemoembolization, radiofrequency ablation or no treatment. Surg Oncol. 2012;21(1):e23–30. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.suronc.2011.10.005.
- 43. Ikeda M, Arai Y, Park SJ, Takeuchi Y, Anai H, Kim JK, et al. Prospective study of transcatheter arterial chemoembolization for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: an Asian cooperative study between Japan and Korea. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2013;24(4):490–500. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvir.2013.01.003.
- 44. Pomfret EA, Washburn K, Wald C, Nalesnik MA, Douglas D, Russo M, et al. Report of a national conference on liver allocation in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States. Liver Transpl. 2010;16(3):262–78. https://doi.org/10.1002/lt.21999.
- 45. Hong K, Khwaja A, Liapi E, Torbenson MS, Georgiades CS, Geschwind JF. New intra-arterial drug delivery system for the treatment of liver cancer: preclinical assessment in a rabbit model of liver cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(8):2563–7. https://doi. org/10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-05-2225.
- 46. Grosso M, Vignali C, Quaretti P, Nicolini A, Melchiorre F, Gallarato G, et al. Transarterial chemoembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma with drug-eluting microspheres: preliminary results from an Italian multicentre study. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2008;31(6):1141–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00270-008-9409-2.
- 47. Malagari K, Alexopoulou E, Chatzimichail K, Hall B, Koskinas J, Ryan S, et al. Transcatheter chemoembolization in the treatment of HCC in patients not eligible for curative treatments: midterm results of doxorubicin-loaded DC bead. Abdom Imaging. 2008;33(5):512–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00261-007-9334-x.
- 48. Spreafico C, Cascella T, Facciorusso A, Sposito C, Rodolfo L, Morosi C, et al. Transarterial chemoembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma with a new generation of beads: clinical-radiological outcomes and safety profile. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2015;38(1):129–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00270-014-0907-0.
- Malagari K, Pomoni M, Moschouris H, Kelekis A, Charokopakis A, Bouma E, et al. Chemoembolization of hepatocellular carcinoma with HepaSphere 30-60 μm. Safety and efficacy study. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2014;37(1):165–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00270-013-0777-x.
- Malagari K, Kiakidis T, Pomoni M, Moschouris H, Emmanouil E, Spiridopoulos T, et al. Pharmacokinetics, safety, and efficacy of chemoembolization with doxorubicin-loaded tightly calibrated small microspheres in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2016;39(10):1379–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00270-016-1382-6.

- 51. Greco G, Cascella T, Facciorusso A, Nani R, Lanocita R, Morosi C, et al. Transarterial chemoembolization using 40 μm drug eluting beads for hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Radiol. 2017;9(5):245–52. https://doi.org/10.4329/wjr.v9.i5.245.
- 52. Richter G, Radeleff B, Stroszczynski C, Pereira P, Helmberger T, Barakat M, et al. Safety and feasibility of chemoembolization with doxorubicin-loaded small calibrated microspheres in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: results of the MIRACLE I prospective multicenter study. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2018;41(4):587–93. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00270-017-1839-2.
- Ballı HT, Aikimbaev K. Super-selective transarterial chemoembolization of hepatocellular carcinoma with doxorubicin-eluting beads sized 40-75 microns: assessment of efficacy and safety. Diagn Interv Radiol. 2020;26(5):482–7. https://doi.org/10.5152/ dir.2020.19410.
- 54. Prajapati HJ, Xing M, Spivey JR, Hanish SI, El-Rayes BF, Kauh JS, et al. Survival, efficacy, and safety of small versus large doxorubicin drugeluting beads TACE chemoembolization in patients with unresectable HCC. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2014;203(6):W706–14. https://doi.org/10.2214/ ajr.13.12308.
- 55. Balli H, Aksungur E, Khalatai B, Aikimbaev K. Super-selective transarterial chemoembolization with doxorubicin-loaded drug-eluting beads sized below and above 100 microns in hepatocellular carcinoma: a comparative study. J Belg Soc Radiol. 2019;103(1):47. https://doi.org/10.5334/jbsr.1841.
- 56. Varela M, Real MI, Burrel M, Forner A, Sala M, Brunet M, et al. Chemoembolization of hepatocellular carcinoma with drug eluting beads: efficacy and doxorubicin pharmacokinetics. J Hepatol. 2007;46(3):474–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2006.10.020.
- 57. Dhanasekaran R, Kooby DA, Staley CA, Kauh JS, Khanna V, Kim HS. Comparison of conventional transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) and chemoembolization with doxorubicin drug eluting beads (DEB) for unresectable hepatocelluar carcinoma (HCC). J Surg Oncol. 2010;101(6):476–80. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jso.21522.
- Song MJ, Chun HJ, Song DS, Kim HY, Yoo SH, Park CH, et al. Comparative study between doxorubicineluting beads and conventional transarterial chemoembolization for treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2012;57(6):1244–50. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2012.07.017.
- Idilman I, Peynircioğlu B, Cil BE, Doğanay Erdoğan B, Yalçın S, Bayraktar Y, et al. Transarterial chemoembolization for treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma: a single center experience. Turk J Gastroenterol. 2013;24(2):141–7. https://doi. org/10.4318/tjg.2013.0709.
- 60. Facciorusso A, Mariani L, Sposito C, Spreafico C, Bongini M, Morosi C, et al. Drug-eluting beads versus conventional chemoembolization for the treatment of unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. J

Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016;31(3):645–53. https:// doi.org/10.1111/jgh.13147.

- 61. Golfieri R, Giampalma E, Renzulli M, Cioni R, Bargellini I, Bartolozzi C, et al. Randomised controlled trial of doxorubicin-eluting beads vs conventional chemoembolisation for hepatocellular carcinoma. Br J Cancer. 2014;111(2):255–64. https:// doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2014.199.
- 62. Karalli A, Teiler J, Haji M, Seth E, Brismar TB, Wahlin S, et al. Comparison of lipiodol infusion and drug-eluting beads transarterial chemoembolization of hepatocellular carcinoma in a real-life setting. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2019;54(7):905–12. https:// doi.org/10.1080/00365521.2019.1632925.
- 63. Zhang ZS, Li HZ, Ma C, Xiao YD. Conventional versus drug-eluting beads chemoembolization for infiltrative hepatocellular carcinoma: a comparison of efficacy and safety. BMC Cancer. 2019;19(1):1162. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-019-6386-6.
- 64. Facciorusso A, Di Maso M, Muscatiello N. Drugeluting beads versus conventional chemoembolization for the treatment of unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: a meta-analysis. Dig Liver Dis. 2016;48(6):571–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. dld.2016.02.005.
- 65. Wang H, Cao C, Wei X, Shen K, Shu Y, Wan X, et al. A comparison between drug-eluting bead-transarterial chemoembolization and conventional transarterial chemoembolization in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: a meta-analysis of six randomized controlled trials. J Cancer Res Ther. 2020;16(2):243–9. https://doi.org/10.4103/jcrt.JCRT_504_19.
- 66. Yang B, Liang J, Qu Z, Yang F, Liao Z, Gou H. Transarterial strategies for the treatment of unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review. PLoS One. 2020;15(2):e0227475. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0227475.
- Fernández M, Semela D, Bruix J, Colle I, Pinzani M, Bosch J. Angiogenesis in liver disease. J Hepatol. 2009;50(3):604–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhep.2008.12.011.
- 68. Geschwind JF, Kudo M, Marrero JA, Venook AP, Chen XP, Bronowicki JP, et al. TACE treatment in patients with sorafenib-treated unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma in clinical practice: final analysis of GIDEON. Radiology. 2016;279(2):630–40. https:// doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2015150667.
- 69. Lencioni R, Llovet JM, Han G, Tak WY, Yang J, Guglielmi A, et al. Sorafenib or placebo plus TACE with doxorubicin-eluting beads for intermediate stage HCC: the SPACE trial. J Hepatol. 2016;64(5):1090–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2016.01.012.
- Gbolahan OB, Schacht MA, Beckley EW, LaRoche TP, O'Neil BH, Pyko M. Locoregional and systemic therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2017;8(2):215–28. https://doi.org/10.21037/ jgo.2017.03.13.
- 71. Meyer T, Fox R, Ma YT, Ross PJ, James MW, Sturgess R, et al. Sorafenib in combination with transarterial chemoembolisation in patients with unresectable

hepatocellular carcinoma (TACE 2): a randomised placebo-controlled, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;2(8):565–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253(17)30156-5.

- 72. Park JW, Kim YJ, Kim DY, Bae SH, Paik SW, Lee YJ, et al. Sorafenib with or without concurrent transarterial chemoembolization in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma: the phase III STAH trial. J Hepatol. 2019;70(4):684–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2018.11.029.
- 73. Kudo M, Ueshima K, Ikeda M, Torimura T, Tanabe N, Aikata H, et al. Randomised, multicentre prospective trial of transarterial chemoembolisation (TACE) plus sorafenib as compared with TACE alone in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: TACTICS trial. Gut. 2020;69(8):1492–501. https://doi.org/10.1136/ gutjnl-2019-318934.
- 74. Wang G, Liu Y, Zhou SF, Qiu P, Xu L, Wen P, et al. Sorafenib combined with transarterial chemoembolization in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: a meta-analysis and systematic review. Hepatol Int. 2016;10(3):501–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12072-015-9700-7.
- 75. Casadei Gardini A, Santini D, Aprile G, Silvestris N, Felli E, Foschi FG, et al. Antiangiogenic agents after first line and sorafenib plus chemoembolization: a systematic review. Oncotarget. 2017;8(39):66699– 708. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.19449.
- 76. Pinter M, Ulbrich G, Sieghart W, Kölblinger C, Reiberger T, Li S, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma: a phase II randomized controlled double-blind trial of transarterial chemoembolization in combination with biweekly intravenous administration of bevacizumab or a placebo1. Radiology. 2015;277(3):903–12. https://doi.org/10.1148/radio1.2015142140.
- 77. Smolka S, Chapiro J, Manzano W, Treilhard J, Reiner E, Deng Y, et al. The impact of antiangiogenic therapy combined with transarterial chemoembolization on enhancement based quantitative tumor response assessment in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Imaging. 2017;46:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. clinimag.2017.05.007.
- Palmer DH, Malagari K, Kulik LM. Role of locoregional therapies in the wake of systemic therapy. J Hepatol. 2020;72(2):277–87. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jhep.2019.09.023.
- 79. Slovak R, Ludwig JM, Gettinger SN, Herbst RS, Kim HS. Immuno-thermal ablations-boosting the anticancer immune response. J Immunother Cancer. 2017;5(1):78. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40425-017-0284-8.
- Marinelli B, Cedillo M, Pasik SD, Charles D, Murthy S, Patel RS, et al. Safety and efficacy of locoregional treatment during immunotherapy with nivolumab for hepatocellular carcinoma: a retrospective study of 41 interventions in 29 patients. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvir.2020.07.009.
- Zaky S, Makhlouf NA, Abdel Malek MO, Bakheet AA, Seif HM, Hamza HM, et al. Multidisciplinary decision making in the management of hepatocel-

lular carcinoma: a hospital-based study. Turk J Gastroenterol. 2015;26(6):498–505. https://doi. org/10.5152/tjg.2015.0158.

- El Sherbiny W, AbdelRahman A, Diasty M, Shaltout SW. Changes in Doppler parameters of portal pressure after interventional management of hepatocellular carcinoma. Abdom Radiol (New York). 2016;41(8):1532–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00261-016-0704-0.
- Abdelmaksoud AH, Mandooh S, Nabeel MM, Elbaz TM, Shousha HI, Monier A, et al. Portal vein thrombosis in unresectable hcc cases: a single center study of prognostic factors and management in 140 patients. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2017;18(1):183–8. https:// doi.org/10.22034/apjcp.2017.18.1.183.
- 84. Abdelaziz AO, Abdelmaksoud AH, Nabeel MM, Shousha HI, Cordie AA, Mahmoud Sh H, et al. Transarterial chemoembolization combined with either radiofrequency or microwave ablation in management of hepatocellular carcinoma. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2017;18(1):189–94. https://doi. org/10.22034/apjcp.2017.18.1.189.
- Moustafa AS, Abdel Aal AK, Ertel N, Saad N, DuBay D, Saddekni S. Chemoembolization of hepatocellular carcinoma with extrahepatic collateral blood supply: anatomic and technical considerations. Radiographics. 2017;37(3):963–77. https://doi. org/10.1148/rg.2017160122.
- 86. Abdella H, Shaker MK, Montasser IF, Sobhi M, Aly H, Sayed A, et al. Outcome of transarterial chemoembolization in Egyptian patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and branch portal vein thrombosis. Indian J Gastroenterol. 2018;37(2):127–32. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12664-018-0830-4.
- 87. Hassan EA, Ahmed EH, Nafee AM, El-Gafary N, Hetta HF, El-Mokhtar MA. Regulatory T cells, IL10 and IL6 in HCV related hepatocellular carcinoma after transarterial chemoembolization (TACE). Egypt J Immunol. 2019;26(1):69–78.
- Khalid MA, Achakzai IK, Hanif FM, Ahmed S, Majid Z, Luck NH. To determine the prognostic value of the albumin-bilirubin grade (ALBI) in patients underwent transarterial chemoembolization for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterol Hepatol Bed Bench. 2019;12(2):110–5.
- 89. Hassan AE, Mostafa RE, Nada A, Elazab MS, Awad AS, Hamed IM. Diagnostic accuracy of intermediate b-value diffusion-weighted imaging for detection of residual hepatocellular carcinoma following transarterial chemoembolization with drug-eluting beads. Indian J Radiol Imaging. 2019;29(2):195–200. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijri.IJRI_383_18.
- 90. Farid K, Elalfy H, Abo El-Khair SM, Elgamal H, Besheer T, Elmokadem A, et al. Prognostic value of vascular endothelial growth factor in both conventional and drug eluting beads transarterial chemoembolization for treatment of unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma in HCV patients. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/1747412 4.2020.1823215.



Radiotherapy for Hepatocellular Carcinoma

Dima Mahmoud, Mohammed A. Mohammed, Youssef Zeidan, and Ali Shamseddine

Abbreviations

Three-dimensional conformal radi-
ation therapy
Alcoholic liver disease
Biologically equivalent dose, alpha/
beta = 10
Cobalt Gray Equivalent
Child- Pugh
Complete response
Classical radiation-induced liver
disease
Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated
protein 4
Freedom from local progression
Global Burden of Disease
Hepatitis B virus
Hepatocellular carcinoma
Hepatitis C virus
Immune checkpoint inhibitor
Interleukin 6
Intensity-modulated radiation
therapy
Local control

D. Mahmoud · M. A. Mohammed · Y. Zeidan Department of Radiation Oncology, American University of Beirut, Beirut, Lebanon

A. Shamseddine (🖂)

mRECIST	Modified Response Evaluation
	Criteria in Solid Tumors
NASH	Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis
ncRILD	Nonclassical radiation-induced
	liver disease
NTCP	Normal tissue complication
	probability
ORR	Overall response rate
OS	Overall survival
PD-1	Programmed cell death protein-1
PD-L1	Programmed Cell Death-Ligand 1
PR	Partial response
RFA	Radiofrequency ablation
RILD	Radiation-induced liver disease
RTOG	Radiation Therapy Oncology Group
SBRT	Stereotactic body radiation therapy
TACE	Transcatheter arterial chemoem-
	bolization
TKIs	Tyrosine kinase inhibitors
TRST	Treatment-related severe toxicity
VMAT	Volumetric modulated arc therapy

1 Epidemiology and Risk Factors for Hepatocellular Carcinoma

1.1 Epidemiology

Liver cancer is the sixth most common cancer worldwide (reaching 4.7% of all cancers). It is the third most common cancer in Eastern

Department of Internal Medicine, Hematology/ Oncology Division, American University of Beirut, Beirut, Lebanon e-mail: as04@aub.edu.lb

Mediterranean countries and the most common cancer in Egypt (reaching 19.7%) [1–3]. Primary liver malignancies are the fourth most common cause of cancer deaths worldwide, the third most common cause of cancer deaths in Eastern Mediterranean countries, and the most common cause of cancer deaths in Egypt [1, 2].

The most common type of primary liver malignancies is hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) (75–80%) followed by cholangiocarcinoma (15–20%) [4]. HCC is three times more common in males than in females [5]. This difference can be attributed to differences in exposures to toxins and viral infections, as well as a possible protective effect of estrogen-mediated inhibition of IL-6 production that is more important in females [6].

1.2 Risk Factors for HCC

HCC is a result of chronic liver diseases. Chronic hepatitis B viral infection (HBV) and hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection are the most common causes, followed by nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), alcoholic liver disease (ALD), and exposure to dietary toxins such as aflatoxins and aristolochic acid.

Worldwide, HCV is the primary cause of HCC in North America, Europe, Japan, parts of Central Asia and northern Africa, and the Middle East, particularly Egypt [7, 8].

In the Middle East, a systematic review showed that HCC in cases from Iran, Lebanon, Turkey, and Yemen was mainly caused by HBV infection, while those of North African nations (Egypt, Tunisia, Morocco, Algeria, and Somalia), as well as Saudi Arabia, were mostly related to HCV infection. Egypt showed the highest rate of HCV infection among HCC cases, reaching 80% [9].

Data from the Global Burden of Disease (GBD) showed an increase in the incidence of HCV-related HCC by 16.1% in the Middle East and North Africa from 1990 to 2017, where Egypt showed the highest rate reaching 47.1% [10].

2 Management of HCC

The selection of the optimal treatment is complex and depends on multiple factors, including the location and extent of liver disease, the underlying liver function, and the physical status of the patient. Surgical management has shown the best survival outcomes, either by partial resection or via total hepatectomy with liver transplant.

2.1 Surgical Candidates

Partial hepatectomy is the treatment of choice in patients with good liver function, where lesions can be resected with negative margins, in the absence of portal hypertension or major vascular invasion, and acceptable remnant liver function. Patient with Child-Pugh (CP) score class A and selective cases of CP class B can be candidates for surgical resections, whereas CP class C is a contraindication. The 5-year overall survival (OS) is 61%, and the 5-year disease-free survival is 21% [11].

Liver transplant is the optimal treatment modality for patients who are candidates for surgery, presenting with unresectable tumors. Different selection criteria have been adopted and validated for the proper selection of patients who will undergo liver transplant. One of which is the Milan criteria (solitary lesion ≤ 5 cm or ≤ 3 lesions, all ≤ 3 cm), with 4-year OS after liver transplant reaching 85% [12]. An expansion of the Milan criteria has been conceived "Shanghai criteria" which includes the following parameters: solitary lesion ≤ 9 cm or ≤ 3 lesions with the largest ≤ 5 cm, a total tumor diameter ≤ 9 cm without macrovascular invasion, lymph node invasion, or extrahepatic metastasis. The use of Shanghai criteria yields a similar OS to the Milan criteria [13]. The adoption of liver transplant as a definitive treatment is not widely used in thirdworld countries (e.g., Middle East countries) mainly because of the paucity of donors.

2.2 Nonsurgical Candidates

In nonsurgical candidates, other local or systemic treatment modalities are utilized, taking into con-

sideration the liver function, the size and distribution of intrahepatic tumors, the vascular supply, and the patient's overall performance status. The choice of locoregional treatment falls into one of three categories: percutaneous ablation, transarterial embolization, or radiotherapy.

2.2.1 Locoregional Therapy

Percutaneous ablation uses high-energy electrical current or microwaves conducted into the tumor leading to tissue necrosis. Optimal outcomes are achieved in tumors <3 cm, that is distant from the major blood vessels, bile ducts, and abdominal organs, with a 5-year OS of 60.8% [14].

Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization (*TACE*) works through catheter based intraarterial injection of chemotherapeutic agents in the tumor followed by obstruction of a preselected hepatic artery branch that feeds the tumor inducing ischemic tumor necrosis. The stimulation of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) secretion increases vascular permeability and thus triggers higher intrahepatic chemotherapy deposition. TACE is ideal for patients with good performance status, normal liver function, and tumors smaller than 10 cm and in the absence of portal vein thrombosis (PVT). Prospective studies showed better survival with TACE when compared to best supportive care [15, 16].

2.2.2 Systemic Therapies

Historically, the use of the systemic chemotherapy treatment for HCC was limited because most patients who are not eligible for surgery or local therapy are also medically unfit to receive chemotherapy, and as such these patients were offered best supportive care.

Sorafenib Over the past few years, novel systemic treatments emerged including tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) and immune checkpoint inhibitor (ICPI). In 2008, sorafenib, an oral multikinase inhibitor, was approved as a first-line systemic treatment for advanced HCC, which was defined as no previous or disease progression after surgical or local therapy. Sorafenib improved median survival time from 8.9 months to 10.7 months [17].

Sorafenib and Chemotherapy The addition of chemotherapy [two chemotherapy protocols used (GEMOX or doxorubicin)] to sorafenib added no to minimal benefit with worse toxicity profile, and as such combination of sorafenib and chemotherapy is not recommended for treatment of HCC [18, 19].

Lenvatinib An oral multikinase inhibitor, was compared with sorafenib in a phase III noninferiority trial for patients with advanced HCC who didn't receive any previous treatment. Patients who received lenvatinib had a median survival of 13.6 months compared to 12.3 months in patients who received sorafenib, with similar side effect profile [20].

Regorafenib An oral multikinase inase inhibitor, was approved as a second-line treatment option for patients with HCC who progressed while receiving sorafenib. Regorafenib improved median survival from 7.8 to 10.6 months when compared to placebo in the RESORCE trial [21].

Atezolizumab and Bevacizumab Atezolizumab [an ICPI that targets programmed cell death protein-ligand 1 (PD-L1)] and bevacizumab [a vascular endothelial growth factor-A inhibitor (VEGF-A)] combination was compared with sorafenib for the treatment of advanced HCC. The combination showed improved median progression-free survival (PFS) (6.8 months vs. 4.3 months) and improved 12-months OS (from 54.6 to 67.2%). According to the hepatocellular carcinoma-specific mRECIST criteria, objective response rate was 33.2% for patients who received atezolizumab and bevacizumab compared with 13.3% for patients who received sorafenib, and also 18 (5.5%) of the patients who received the combination of atezolizumab and bevacizumab achieved complete response (CR) compared with none of the patients who received sorafenib [22]. As such, this combination has been approved as first-line treatment for advanced HCC.

Nivolumab [an ICPI that targets PD-1] monotherapy has been studied in a the phase II checkmate 040 trial that included patients with unresectable HCC who progressed on or were intolerant to sorafenib, with CP score A. Patients who didn't receive sorafenib and had no viral etiology had a 6-month OS of 89%, while patients who received or progressed on sorafenib had a 6-month OS of 75% and a median survival of 13.2 months. Based on these results, nivolumab (240 mg every 2 weeks) was approved as a second line of systemic treatment for HCC in 2017 [23].

Nivolumab and Ipilimumab The efficacy and safety of nivolumab and ipilimumab [an ICPI that targets cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4)] were investigated in another cohort of the checkmate 040 trial. The trial investigated three dosing protocols. Protocol A, in which patients received nivolumab 1 mg/kg plus ipilimumab 3 mg/kg, administered every 3 weeks for four doses followed by nivolumab 240 mg every 2 weeks achieved a 32% investigatorassessed objective response rate compared with 15% for nivolumab alone [24]. Combination of nivolumab and ipilimumab was approved by FDA as second-line treatment in 2020.

3 Radiotherapy for the Management of HCC

The utilization of radiotherapy as a treatment option for HCC has evolved over the last decades. Initially, external beam radiation therapy was used as a palliative treatment for patients with multiple liver metastases, where the whole liver was treated with low doses of radiation that offered local control (LC) only. A prospective RTOG study published in 1993, comparing whole liver doses of 27, 30, and 33 Gy, showed high rates of late radiation-induced liver disease (RILD) with the 33 Gy arm [25]. With the utilization of newer radiotherapy techniques (threedimensional conformal radiotherapy (3D-CRT) and intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT)), partial liver treatment has emerged as these techniques allow for the delivery of higher doses of radiation to targets within the liver while minimizing radiation dose delivered to normal surrounding liver tissue.

3.1 Radiotherapy Techniques

3.1.1 3D-CRT and IMRT

3D-CRT and IMRT utilize 3D images obtained by computed tomography to allow for target localization, target delineation, and avoidance of surrounding normal structures, such as the normal liver tissue. IMRT is more advanced than 3DCRT as it uses modulated beams that allow for more improved target coverage, more conformal radiation dose distribution, and better radiation dose sparing of critical normal structures. A study by Yoon et al. compared doses delivered by 3D-CRT and IMRT in addition to patient outcomes. Higher doses were delivered utilizing IMRT compared with 3D-CRT (62.5 vs. 53.1 Gy). IMRT also provided significantly higher 3-year OS (33.4 vs. 13.5%) and PFS (11.1 vs. 6.0%) as compared to 3D-CRT. The authors concluded that IMRT is associated with better outcomes and less toxicity as it allows for higher doses to be delivered to the target while meeting liver and other surrounding normal tissue constraints [26].

3.1.2 Stereotactic Body Radiation therapy (SBRT)

The use of SBRT for the treatment of unresectable HCC emerged over the last few years as it can safely deliver high conformal ablative doses in fewer fractions of radiation with minimal liver toxicity. SBRT uses multiple radiation beams to concentrate the converging beams on the target lesion, and as such minimal dose is delivered to the surrounding normal liver tissue. The use of SBRT requires advanced tumor tracking, image guidance, and breath monitoring while delivering the treatment to achieve the best outcomes and to minimize morbidity [27].

A wide range of doses and fractionations has been used. Yoon et al. published a retrospective study of 93 patients with small HCC lesions who received definitive radiotherapy using SBRT with doses ranging from 30 to 60 Gy in three to four fractions. Results showed a 1- and 3-year OS of 86% and 53.8%, respectively, size-dependent 3-year LC reaching 100% in ≤ 2 cm tumors, 93.3% in 2.1-3 cm lesions, and 76.3% in larger lesions [28]. Another study published in 2013 by Jang et al. that used a median dose of 51 Gy (range, 24-60 Gy) in three fractions showed a dosedependent response relation for LC and OS. The 2-year LC and OS reached 100% and 71%, respectively, for patients treated with doses higher than 54 Gy, and outcomes dropped to 64% and 30%, respectively, when doses less than 45 Gy were used [29]. Data from Michigan showed same outcomes after using SBRT or radiofrequency ablation (RFA) for primary liver cancer with freedom from local progression reaching >80% at 2 years for both, although the use of SBRT yielded better outcomes for lesions $\geq 2 \text{ cm} [30]$.

One retrospective study compared SBRT to TACE in 188 patients. Infield control (IFC) and OS were higher in the SBRT group (77.5% vs. 55.6%; P = 0.007, and 55.0% vs. 13.0%; P < 0.001, respectively). The benefit was seen in recurrent cases only, with no difference in newly diagnosed cases [31]. A systemic review of 16 studies, which included 973 patients with 1034 lesions, treated with SBRT with a median biologic effective dose (BED10) of 100 Gy (range 59.5–180 Gy), with a median tumor size of 2.3 cm, showed a LC of 94%, 92%, and 93% at 1, 2, and 3 years, respectively, and median OS of 90.9%, 67.5%, and 73.4% at 1, 2, and 3 years, respectively. Grade 3 and above were low (5.3%), with no associated treatment-related mortality [32]. Table 1 below summarizes some published trials of SBRT in HCC. A randomized phase III trial of radiofrequency ablation (RFA) versus SBRT (36-54 Gy in three fractions) in small HCC (<5 cm) is currently ongoing (NCT03898921).

3.1.3 Combination of TACE and Radiotherapy

TACE has been the most commonly used modality in treating unresectable HCC. SBRT has recently emerged as a new effective modality with encouraging outcomes. Local recurrence rates are still high, thus the idea of combining the two modalities together to increase LC. In 2018, Buckstein et al. published a retrospective study of 103 patients with unresectable HCC treated with TACE and SBRT, where almost half of the patients had planned SBRT after TACE, while the others received salvage SBRT within 2 years after TACE. On follow-up imaging, 62.1% had a CR and 26.3% had a partial response (PR). Higher rates of CR were achieved with planned TACE + SBRT (79.6% vs. 43.5%, P = 0.006). One-year OS was 70.8% for planned TACE-SBRT vs. 61.5% for salvage (P = 0.052) [35].

A meta-analysis compared combined TACE-SBRT to SBRT alone as first-line treatment for unresectable HCC and found better 5y OS (95% CI 1.01–2.04, p = 0.04) and disease control (95% CI 1.02–1.16, p = 0.02) rates in the combined group [36]. Another systematic review of 25 trials showed better survival in patients treated with combined modalities compared to patients treated with TACE alone, with a median survival of 13.5 months and 22.7 months, respectively [37]. In this review, combined treatment was associated with significant increase in incidence of gastroduodenal ulcers, as well as an increase in alanine aminotransferase level and total bilirubin levels.

A phase III trial compared radiotherapy plus TACE to sorafenib alone. The trial showed improved PFS rate at 24 weeks in the TACE-RT group (55.6% vs. 7.4%) and significantly better OS (55 vs. 43 weeks). Eleven percent of patients in the TACE-RT group underwent curative resection due to downstaging [38].

There is an ongoing phase III trial (USA) that is comparing LC at 1 year using TACE vs. TACE + SBRT (five fractions) as a bridge for liver transplant eligible patients (NCT03895359).

3.1.4 Proton Therapy

Proton therapy is characterized by a sharp rise and fall in energy absorption, known as the Bragg peak. It is appealing in HCC, since it allows to treat liver tumors with higher doses while limiting the dose to the healthy liver. Proton radiotherapy is also associated with a decreased risk of nonclassic radiation-induced liver disease. Studies investigating proton therapy for HCC are summarized in Table 2. An ongoing phase III study (USA) is comparing photon to proton therapy in locally recurrent or unresectable HCC with OS as primary outcome (NCT03186898).

Study (author et.al)	Study design	Population and size of lesions	Intervention	Median follow-up	Primary outcomes	Results
Takeda et al. 2016 [33]	Phase II	101 patients Solitary HCC <4 cm, not candidate for surgery or RFA Median size: 2.3 cm	SBRT 35–40 Gy in five fractions	41.7 months	LC	3-year LC: 96.3% 3-year liver- related cause- specific survival rate was 72.5%, OS: 66.7%
Shen et al. 2019 [31]	Retrospective	188 patients Medium-sized (3–8 cm)	SBRT vs. TACE	26.6 months	IFC and OS	3y IFC higher with SBRT (77.5% vs. 55.6%; P = 0.007) 3y OS higher with SBRT (55.0% vs. 13.0%; P < 0.001)
Wahl et al. 2016 [30]	Retrospective	Inoperable, nonmetastatic HCC, small lesions. Total of 224 patients Median tumor size in SBRT was 2.2 cm and 1.8 cm in RFA group	63 had SBRT (83 tumors) Median dose 30–50 Gy (four to five fractions) 161 had RFA (249 tumors)	13 months for SBRT and 20 months for RFA	Freedom from local progression (FFLP)	1 and 2y FFLP: RFA: 83.6% and 80.2%, respectively SBRT: 97.4% and 83.8%, respectively
Jang et al. 2020 [34]	Prospective, phase II	65 patients Unresectable HCC, <10 cm Median tumor size: 2.4 cm	45 to 60 Gy in three fractions	41 months	Treatment- related severe toxicity (TRST) at 1 year after SBRT	1y TRST was 3% One patient developed RILD at 1 month LC: 97% at 2 years and 95% at 3 years OS: 84% at 2 years and 76% at 3 years

Table 1 Select published studies of SBRT in HCC

Another phase III study (Taiwan) is comparing LC at 3 years using proton therapy vs. RFA in treatment-naïve, medium- to large-sized HCC (3–7 cm) (NCT02640924).

3.1.5 Radiotherapy and the Immune Response

Radiotherapy affects the tumor and its microenvironment, as well as the immune cells. Lymphocytes are the most radiosensitive cells, followed by myeloid cells. Tumor cells escape the immune system by changing the expression in MHC molecules. When cells are irradiated, even with sublethal doses, the phenotype of tumor cells changes as well as the gene expression, and cells are more susceptible for T-cellmediated immune response. New peptides are produced by the protein degradation triggered by radiation leading to an increased peptide pool. These peptides can be recognized by the resting T cells, leading to an antitumor immune attack [43]. Therefore, radiation is able to stimulate the innate and adaptive immune responses, thus improving local and distant tumor control [44].

3.1.6 Radiation and Immunotherapy

Multiple preclinical studies showed synergistic effects when combining radiotherapy with immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI) (e.g., PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors) because of pro-immunogenic properties of radiotherapy as well as the role of ICPI in overcoming radiation resistance [45–50]. These preclinical study results show strong evidence of the benefit of adding radiotherapy to immunotherapy in addition to multiple ongoing clinical trials evaluating the effect of combined treatments.

In the clinical settings, the role of combined immunotherapy with radiotherapy in liver cancer was shown in multiple retrospective studies. Chiang et al. published a case series of five patients with unresectable HCC treated with SBRT followed by anti-PD1 antibodies; two patients had CR, while three others had PR, with a median reduction of tumor diameter of 38.7% (range: 30.5–84.4%) and a 1-year control rate and OS of 100% each [44].

There is a phase II ongoing trial studying the effect of treating unresectable HCC with durvalumab, tremelimumab, and SBRT (24 Gy in three fractions), with overall response rate (ORR) as primary outcome (NCT03482102). Another ongoing phase I trial is studying the effect of SBRT followed by nivolumab or ipilimumab with nivolumab in unresectable HCC (NCT03203304). Several other prospective clinical trials are currently ongoing to evaluate the combined approach of radiotherapy and immunotherapy in HCC (Table 3).

3.1.7 Radiation Toxicity and Adverse Events

Radiotherapy has been proven to be an effective modality in treating primary liver cancers, but careful patient selection is essential in order to decrease potential side effects. The majority of patients presenting with HCC have cirrhosis, with a small, dysfunctional liver, whereby adding radiotherapy could risk further liver injury.

The most common acute side effects are fatigue and nausea.

RILD is the most paramount complication of radiotherapy to the liver, with a potential of progression to fibrosis, cirrhosis, and liver failure. It typically occurs 2–8 weeks after completion of RT, with nonspecific clinical manifestations.

Study (author et.al)	Study design and population	Intervention	Results
Nakayama et al. 2009 [39]	Retrospective study 318 patients with HCC (CP class A and B, \leq 3 tumor nodules)	Proton therapy Dose:55–79.2 cobalt Gy equivalent (CGE) in 10–35 fractions	1-year and 5-year OS rates were 90% and 45%, respectively Only 1.6% of patients experienced grade \geq 3 toxicity
Sanford et al. 2019 [40]	Retrospective 133 patients, nonmetastatic, unresectable HCC, radiation-naïve	Proton vs. photon therapy	Median OS higher in proton arm (31 vs 14 months) 2-year OS: 59.1% in the proton arm and 28.6% with photons, related to decreased post-treatment liver decompensation
Hata et al. 2006 [41]	Retrospective, 19 patients, CP class C	Proton therapy Total doses of 50–84 Gy (median dose 72 Gy) in 10 to 24 fractions (median 16 fractions)	1-year OS and PFS rates were 53% and 47% at 1 year, respectively.2-year OS and PFS rates were 42% each.
Bush et al. 2016 [42]	Prospective, randomized 69 patients, met Milan or San Francisco transplant criteria	TACE vs. proton (70.2 Gy in 15 daily fractions)	Pathologic CR after TACE/proton was $10\%/25\%$ Similar median survival of 30 months Trend for better 2-year LC (88% vs. 45% , $P = 0.06$) and PFS (48% vs. 31% , $P = 0.06$) favoring the proton beam treatment group

 Table 2
 Select studies of proton therapy for HCC

Clinical trial						Planned		Primary
number	Phase	Country	Status	Eligibility	Intervention	enrolment	Radiation dose	outcome
NCT03482102	Phase	USA	Recruiting	Locally advanced/unresectable	Tremelimumab + durvalumab +	70 participants	24 Gy in three	ORR
	Π			or metastatic disease	radiation		fractions	
NCT03203304	Phase I	USA	Active, not	Unresectable HCC	Arm 1: SBRT followed by	50 participants	40 Gy in five	Adverse
			recruiting		nivolumab		fractions	events

ORR

30 participants Five fractions

Arm 2: SBRT followed by

ipilimumab + nivolumab Pembrolizumab + SBRT

HCC showing progression after sorafenib Locally advanced or recurrent HCC

Canada Recruiting

NCT03316872

Recruiting

USA

NCT01730937

Phase II Phase III

OS

50 participants Five fractions

Sorafenib tosylate with or

without SBRT

C)	
i	-	5	
ì	4	4	
•	+	-	
	2	=	
•	÷	-	
	2	~	
	5	2	
	5	3	
	٤	3	
•	2	٢	
1	7	5	
	č	Ξ	
	Ξ	3	
	'n	=	
	F	=	
	¢	٦	
•		1	
1	ς	2	
	Ξ	Ξ	
	•	9	
	2	2	
	5	2	
	£	2	
	٩	3	
•	2	Ę	
	7	5	
:	F	Ξ	
Î	2	2	
	£	2	
•		4	
	ă	3	
	ž	1	
•	Ξ	Ξ	
•	÷	4	
	≿	=	
	ç	Ş	
	ς	د	
٩	+	2	
	ç	2	
	ç	ó	
	đ	2	
•	Ċ	5	
	Ξ	3	
1	5	5	
	-		
	č	-	
•	Ę	3	
	ç	2	
	2	ų	
	۶	۲	
	5	•	
	ŧ	5	
	đ	3	
1	1	2	
τ	ž	5	
		1	
	1	1	
	Q	2	
1	ć	5	
	a		
ļ	•		
f			

There are two types of RILD, classic RILD (cRILD) and nonclassic RILD (ncRILD). cRILD occurs in patients without underlying liver disease, commonly presenting with fatigue, abdominal tenderness, increased abdominal girth, hepatomegaly, anicteric ascites, and an elevation of alkaline phosphatase out of proportion to other liver enzymes. cRILD is a result of a venoocclusive disease with central vein thrombosis at the lobular level, causing retrograde congestion. This complication was more frequent in the era of old delivery techniques where a large volume of the liver was treated. With the development of the new delivery techniques with CT-guided images; conformal treatments such as SBRT, IMRT, and volumetric modulated arc therapy (VMAT); and respiratory control, the incidence of cRILD has decreased dramatically.

ncRILD is the most common type of RILD in the current era, affecting patients with underlying liver disease such as cirrhosis or chronic HBV infection. Patients present with jaundice, elevated serum transaminase (>5 upper limit of normal), or decompensated liver function. The pathophysiology is not clear, but it is believed to be a reactivation of hepatitis or altered regeneration of liver cells.

RILD is a diagnosis of exclusion after ruling out other viral causes of hepatitis. Imaging (magnetic resonance or computer tomography) might show changes in attenuation in a nonanatomic distribution. Liver biopsy is diagnostic.

The incidence of RILD has been correlated to baseline liver dysfunction or cirrhosis, hypofractionated treatment, concurrent chemotherapy, stage, and size of the treated lesion [51–53].

Partial liver tolerance to radiation has been described using the Lyman normal tissue complication probability (NTCP) model. The threshold for RILD is a mean liver dose of 30 Gy (2Gy/fraction), with a risk of 5% with dose of 32 Gy [52].

3.1.8 Liver Constraints for Primary Liver Cancer to Avoid RILD

Initial assessment of the liver function is essential before deciding on radiotherapy treatment espe-

cially that patients with primary liver malignancies most commonly have small cirrhotic livers, with large lesions. It is essential to deduct the tumor volume (nonfunctional cells) from the total liver volume.

Multiple dose constraints have been suggested in order to decrease the risk of adverse events. If the liver is treated with standard fractionation (2 Gy per fractions), it is important to keep the mean liver dose (liver minus gross tumor volume) below 28 Gy.

When using hypofractionated regimen, SBRT, in three or six fractions, mean liver dose should be kept below 13 Gy and 18 Gy, respectively [54, 55].

The most commonly used dose tolerance model for liver, when treating with three fractions of SBRT, is to have at least 700 mL of normal liver receiving \leq 15 Gy. This was extracted from a phase I study, where liver metastasis was treated with SBRT, with escalating doses from 36 to 60 Gy, in three fractions, and showed no grade 3 or higher hepatotoxicity [56].

Few studies evaluated the outcomes of RILD. A retrospective study showed that patients who developed early RILD (within 2 weeks from completing radiotherapy) had a high mortality rate reaching 61%.

4 Conclusion

With the improvement in radiation technology, including image guidance, breath control, dose escalation, and partial liver treatments, high LC rates were achieved with minimal toxicity to the intact liver and organs at risk. Current evidences support the use of SBRT as a curative modality for unresectable HCC.

The combination of radiotherapy and ICPI in HCC is promising, although the data is limited to preclinical trials and small case series. More randomized clinical trials are needed in the future that would define the best schemes of dose fractionation, the optimal timing for radiotherapy, as well as the best systemic treatment combinations.

References

- American Cancer Society | Cancer Facts & Statistics [Internet]. American Cancer Society|Cancer Facts & Statistics. [cited 2020 Oct 21]. Available from: http:// cancerstatisticscenter.cancer.org/.
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68(6):394–424.
- Kulhánová I, Bray F, Fadhil I, Al-Zahrani AS, El-Basmy A, Anwar WA, et al. Profile of cancer in the eastern Mediterranean region: the need for action. Cancer Epidemiol. 2017 Apr 1;47:125–32.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Hepatocellular carcinoma - United States, 2001–2006. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2010;59(17):517–20.
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2020. CA Cancer J Clin. 2020;70(1):7–30.
- Naugler WE, Sakurai T, Kim S, Maeda S, Kim K, Elsharkawy AM, et al. Gender disparity in liver cancer due to sex differences in MyD88-dependent IL-6 production. Science. 2007;317(5834):121–4.
- Park J-W, Chen M, Colombo M, Roberts LR, Schwartz M, Chen P-J, et al. Global patterns of hepatocellular carcinoma management from diagnosis to death: the BRIDGE study. Liver Int Off J Int Assoc Study Liver. 2015;35(9):2155–66.
- Yang JD, Mohamed EA, Aziz AOA, Shousha HI, Hashem MB, Nabeel MM, et al. Characteristics, management, and outcomes of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma in Africa: a multicountry observational study from the Africa liver Cancer consortium. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;2(2):103–11.
- Alavian SM, Haghbin H. Relative importance of hepatitis B and C viruses in hepatocellular carcinoma in EMRO countries and the Middle East: a systematic review. Hepat Mon. 2016;16(3):e35106.
- Sharafi H, Alavian SM. The rising threat of hepatocellular carcinoma in the Middle East and North Africa region: results from global burden of disease study 2017. Clin Liver Dis. 2019;14(6):219–23.
- 11. Torzilli G, Belghiti J, Kokudo N, Takayama T, Capussotti L, Nuzzo G, et al. A snapshot of the effective indications and results of surgery for hepatocellular carcinoma in tertiary referral centers: is it adherent to the EASL/AASLD recommendations?: an observational study of the HCC east-west study group. Ann Surg. 2013;257(5):929–37.
- Mazzaferro V, Regalia E, Doci R, Andreola S, Pulvirenti A, Bozzetti F, et al. Liver transplantation for the treatment of small hepatocellular carcinomas in patients with cirrhosis. N Engl J Med. 1996;334(11):693–9.
- Fan J, Yang G-S, Fu Z-R, Peng Z-H, Xia Q, Peng C-H, et al. Liver transplantation outcomes in 1,078 hepa-

tocellular carcinoma patients: a multi-center experience in Shanghai. China J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2009;135(10):1403–12.

- 14. Xu Q, Kobayashi S, Ye X, Meng X. Comparison of hepatic resection and radiofrequency ablation for small hepatocellular carcinoma: a meta-analysis of 16,103 patients. Sci Rep. 2014;4:7252.
- Llovet JM, Real MI, Montaña X, Planas R, Coll S, Aponte J, et al. Arterial embolisation or chemoembolisation versus symptomatic treatment in patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Lond Engl. 2002;359(9319):1734–9.
- Lo C-M, Ngan H, Tso W-K, Liu C-L, Lam C-M, Poon RT-P, et al. Randomized controlled trial of transarterial lipiodol chemoembolization for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2002;35(5):1164–71.
- Llovet JM, Ricci S, Mazzaferro V, Hilgard P, Gane E, Blanc J-F, et al. Sorafenib in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(4):378–90.
- Assenat E, Pageaux G-P, Thézenas S, Peron J-M, Bécouarn Y, Seitz J-F, et al. Sorafenib alone vs. sorafenib plus GEMOX as 1 st -line treatment for advanced HCC: the phase II randomised PRODIGE 10 trial. Br J Cancer. 2019;120(9):896–902.
- Abou-Alfa GK, Shi Q, Knox JJ, Kaubisch A, Niedzwiecki D, Posey J, et al. Assessment of treatment with Sorafenib plus doxorubicin vs Sorafenib alone in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma: phase 3 CALGB 80802 randomized clinical trial. JAMA Oncol. 2019;5
- Kudo M, Finn RS, Qin S, Han K-H, Ikeda K, Piscaglia F, et al. Lenvatinib versus sorafenib in first-line treatment of patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: a randomised phase 3 non-inferiority trial. Lancet. 2018;391(10126):1163–73.
- Bruix J, Qin S, Merle P, Granito A, Huang Y-H, Bodoky G, et al. Regorafenib for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma who progressed on sorafenib treatment (RESORCE): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2017;389(10064):56–66.
- Finn RS, Qin S, Ikeda M, Galle PR, Ducreux M, Kim T-Y, et al. Atezolizumab plus Bevacizumab in unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med Engl J Med. 2020;14:382.
- 23. El-Khoueiry AB, Sangro B, Yau T, Crocenzi TS, Kudo M, Hsu C, et al. Nivolumab in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (CheckMate 040): an open-label, non-comparative, phase 1/2 dose escalation and expansion trial. Lancet. 2017;389(10088):2492–502.
- 24. Yau T, Kang Y-K, Kim T-Y, El-Khoueiry AB, Santoro A, Sangro B, et al. Efficacy and safety of Nivolumab plus Ipilimumab in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma previously treated with Sorafenib: the CheckMate 040 randomized clinical trial. JAMA Oncol. 2020.
- Russell AH, Clyde C, Wasserman TH, Turner SS, Rotman M. Accelerated hyperfractionated hepatic

irradiation in the management of patients with liver metastases: results of the rtog dose escalating protocol. Int J Radiat Oncol. 1993;27(1):117–23.

- 26. Yoon HI, Lee IJ, Han K-H, Seong J. Improved oncologic outcomes with image-guided intensitymodulated radiation therapy using helical tomotherapy in locally advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2014;140(9):1595–605.
- 27. Kwon JH, Bae SH, Kim JY, Choi BO, Jang HS, Jang JW, et al. Long-term effect of stereotactic body radiation therapy for primary hepatocellular carcinoma ineligible for local ablation therapy or surgical resection. Stereotactic radiotherapy for liver cancer. BMC Cancer. 2010;10(1):475.
- Yoon SM, Lim Y-S, Park MJ, Kim SY, Cho B, Shim JH, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy as an alternative treatment for small hepatocellular carcinoma. PLoS One. 2013;8(11):e79854.
- 29. Jang WI, Kim M-S, Bae SH, Cho CK, Yoo HJ, Seo YS, et al. High-dose stereotactic body radiotherapy correlates increased local control and overall survival in patients with inoperable hepatocellular carcinoma. Radiat Oncol Lond Engl. 2013;8:250.
- Wahl DR, Stenmark MH, Tao Y, Pollom EL, Caoili EM, Lawrence TS, et al. Outcomes after stereotactic body radiotherapy or radiofrequency ablation for hepatocellular carcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 2015;34(5):452–9.
- 31. Shen P-C, Chang W-C, Lo C-H, Yang J-F, Lee M-S, Dai Y-H, et al. Comparison of stereotactic body radiation therapy and Transarterial chemoembolization for Unresectable medium-sized hepatocellular carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2019;105(2):307–18.
- 32. Dobrzycka M, Spychalski P, Rostkowska O, Wilczyński M, Kobiela P, Grąt M, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for early-stage hepatocellular carcinoma – a systematic review on outcome. Acta Oncol. 2019;58(12):1706–13.
- 33. Takeda A, Sanuki N, Tsurugai Y, Iwabuchi S, Matsunaga K, Ebinuma H, et al. Phase 2 study of stereotactic body radiotherapy and optional transarterial chemoembolization for solitary hepatocellular carcinoma not amenable to resection and radiofrequency ablation. Cancer. 2016;122(13):2041–9.
- 34. Jang WI, Bae SH, Kim M-S, Han CJ, Park SC, Kim SB, et al. A phase 2 multicenter study of stereotactic body radiotherapy for hepatocellular carcinoma: Safety and efficacy. Cancer. 2020;126(2):363–72.
- Buckstein M, Kim E, Fischman A, Blacksburg S, Facciuto M, Schwartz M, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy following transarterial chemoembolization for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2018;9(4):734–40.
- 36. Zhao J, Zeng L, Wu Q, Wang L, Lei J, Luo H, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy combined with Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization versus stereotactic body radiotherapy alone as the first-line treatment for Unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: a meta-analysis and systematic review. Chemotherapy. 2019;64(5–6):248–58.

- Huo YR, Eslick GD. Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization plus radiotherapy compared with chemoembolization alone for hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Oncol. 2015;1(6):756–65.
- 38. Yoon SM, Ryoo B-Y, Lee SJ, Kim JH, Shin JH, An JH, et al. Efficacy and safety of Transarterial chemoembolization plus external beam radiotherapy vs Sorafenib in hepatocellular carcinoma with macroscopic vascular invasion: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Oncol. 2018;4(5):661–9.
- Nakayama H, Sugahara S, Tokita M, Fukuda K, Mizumoto M, Abei M, Shoda J, Sakurai H, Tsuboi K, Tokuuye K. Proton beam therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer. 2009;115:5499–506.
- 40. Sanford NN, Pursley J, Noe B, Yeap BY, Goyal L, Clark JW, Allen JN, Blaszkowsky LS, Ryan DP, Ferrone CR, Tanabe KK, Qadan M, Crane CH, Koay EJ, Eyler C, DeLaney TF, Zhu AX, Wo JY, Grassberger C, Hong TS. Protons versus photons for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: liver decompensation and overall survival. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2019;105(1):64–72.
- 41. Hata M, Tokuuye K, Sugahara S, Fukumitsu N, Hashimoto T, Ohnishi K, Nemoto K, Ohara K, Matsuzaki Y, Akine Y. Strahlentherapie und. Onkologie. 2006;182(12):713–20.
- 42. Bush DA, Smith JC, Slater JD, Volk ML, Reeves ME, Cheng J, Grove R, de Vera ME. Randomized clinical trial comparing proton beam radiation therapy with transarterial chemoembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma: results of an interim analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;95(1):477–82.
- 43. Reits EA, Hodge JW, Herberts CA, Groothuis TA, Chakraborty M, Wansley EK, et al. Radiation modulates the peptide repertoire, enhances MHC class I expression, and induces successful antitumor immunotherapy. J Exp Med. 2006;203(5):1259–71.
- 44. Chiang C-L, Chan ACY, Chiu KWH, Kong FM. Combined stereotactic body radiotherapy and checkpoint inhibition in unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: a potential synergistic treatment strategy. Front Oncol. 2019;9:1157.
- Herrera FG, Bourhis J, Coukos G. Radiotherapy combination opportunities leveraging immunity for the next oncology practice. CA Cancer J Clin. 2017;67(1):65–85.
- 46. Sharabi AB, Lim M, DeWeese TL, Drake CG. Radiation and checkpoint blockade immunotherapy: radiosensitisation and potential mechanisms of synergy. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(13):e498–509.
- Kang J, Demaria S, Formenti S. Current clinical trials testing the combination of immunotherapy with radiotherapy. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:51.
- 48. Deng L, Liang H, Burnette B, Beckett M, Darga T, Weichselbaum RR, et al. Irradiation and anti-PD-L1 treatment synergistically promote antitumor immunity in mice. J Clin Invest. 2014;124(2):687–95.
- Demaria S, Kawashima N, Yang AM, Devitt ML, Babb JS, Allison JP, et al. Immune-mediated inhibi-

tion of metastases after treatment with local radiation and CTLA-4 blockade in a mouse model of breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res. 2005;11(2 Pt 1):728–34.

- Zeng J, See AP, Phallen J, Jackson CM, Belcaid Z, Ruzevick J, et al. Anti-PD-1 blockade and stereotactic radiation produce long-term survival in mice with intracranial gliomas. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;86(2):343–9.
- 51. Liang S-X, Zhu X-D, Xu Z-Y, Zhu J, Zhao J-D, Lu H-J, et al. Radiation-induced liver disease in threedimensional conformal radiation therapy for primary liver carcinoma: the risk factors and hepatic radiation tolerance. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;65(2):426–34.
- Dawson LA, Ten Haken RK. Partial volume tolerance of the liver to radiation. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2005;15(4):279–83.

- Shim SJ, Seong J, Lee IJ, Han KH, Chon CY, Ahn SH. Radiation-induced hepatic toxicity after radiotherapy combined with chemotherapy for hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatol Res. 2007;37(11):906–13.
- Pan CC, Kavanagh BD, Dawson LA, Li XA, Das SK, Miften M, et al. Radiation-associated liver injury. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;76(3 Suppl):S94–100.
- 55. Michel R, Françoise I, Laure P, Anouchka M, Guillaume P, Sylvain K. Dose to organ at risk and dose prescription in liver SBRT. Rep Pract Oncol Radiother. 2017;22(2):96–102.
- 56. Schefter TE, Kavanagh BD, Timmerman RD, Cardenes HR, Baron A, Gaspar LE. A phase I trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for liver metastases. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005;62(5):1371–8.



Liver Transplantation in the Middle East

Sezai Yilmaz

Abbreviations

DDLT	Deceased donor liver transplantation
HBV	Hepatitis B virus
HCC	Hepatocellular carcinoma
HCV	Hepatitis C virus
LDLT	Living donor liver transplantation
LT	Liver transplantation
MELD	Model for End-Stage Liver Disease
MESOT	Middle East Society of Organ
	Transplantation
SCOT	Saudi Center of Organ Transplantation
UAE	The United Arab Emirates

1 Liver Transplantation in the Middle East

Solid organ transplantation has been on a long rough road until the procedure was accepted as routine practice. It caused great exhaustion to the pioneers for they had to take down many obstacles before perfecting both the surgical technique and the postoperative immunosuppressive treatment protocols. From the beginning of the 1950s, the experimental models for transplantation have been established and successful. Although there

Inonu University, School of Medicine, Liver Transplantation Institute, Malatya, Turkey e-mail: sezai.yilmaz@inonu.edu.tr were seven unsuccessful attempt of clinical trials for liver transplantation (LT) from various centers, the first successful LT was performed by Starzl et al. in summer of 1967 with a 13-month survival in the posttransplant period [1].

There is no doubt that western countries pioneered this novel therapeutic modality, but currently 100,000 solid organ transplantations are being performed in many centers around the world, and currently, solid organ transplantation is the gold standard treatment especially for endstage liver and kidney failure. There are standardized organ allocation and immunosuppressive protocols in North America and many European and Asian countries (such as Japan and Korea). In the present chapter, I examine the effort of countries of the Middle East for solid organ transplantation. Some of these countries started solid organ transplantation programs as early as the western countries. However, the social and cultural structure of these societies somewhat limited the progression of this complex therapeutic modality. We will try to summarize evolution of LT in some of the countries that are a hallmark in the region.

1.1 Definition of the Middle East and Its Implications from a Historical Perspective

Middle East is defined as the land that is located in the southern and eastern border of the Mediterranean Sea which also includes some

S. Yilmaz (🖂)

North African countries (i.e., Tunisia, Algeria, and Morocco), the Arabian Peninsula, Cyprus, Iran, and the countries like Afghanistan and Pakistan. It is the region consisting of neighboring countries and covering the places where the Middle East, Asia, Europe, and Africa come very close to each other. The concept of the Middle East is based on the Eurocentric approach and is a concept that Britons began to use in the nineteenth century. In this definition, England and European countries are considered as the center; concepts such as East, Far East, Near East, and Middle East have been determined accordingly. From another point of view, Middle East is an arbitrary term used to describe a region in West Asia that extends to Egypt in North Africa. Currently the Middle East is considered to cover 18 countries (Fig. 1). Majority of the Middle Eastern countries (13 out of 18) are part of the Arab world. The most populous countries in the region are Egypt, Iran, and Turkey, while Saudi Arabia is the largest Middle Eastern country by area [2, 3].

It has been the center of civilization in the beginning of the century and once had been the leader in medicine, theoretical physics, mathematics, and nature sciences. Furthermore, this region was a pioneer in literature and arts as well [2, 3]. The Arabian Peninsula, after evolution of Islam until the Mongolian raid, was the center of

most advanced medicine in the world. During this time, Europe had succumbed to the dark ages and there were very few, if any, attempts for medical research. The first medical center in the Middle East started in Jundi Shapur (Ahvaz) in Iran before the advent of Islam. The most influential physician at the time was Al-Harith ibn Kaladah, who was Arabic in origin and was trained in Jundi Shapur. The teachings of this center were further influenced by the Greek philosophy of medicine due to the conquest of Alexander the Great [2–4]. In the Abbasid era Jundi Shapur continued to be the greatest center of medicine. Baghdad was the next city that evolved as the center of excellence in the medical sciences. Baghdad contributed to the training of physicians such as Rhazes and Avicenna (ibn Sina) who are considered to be the founders of modern pharmacy and medicine that have been thought for centuries in European medical training [2–4].

After the dissolution of the Abbasid empire, scientific advancements in the Arabic world came to a halt. Nevertheless, there were many Arab physicians that were scattered throughout Europe who contributed to modern medical teaching in European centers. One example is in Salerno pioneered by Constantine from Carthage who was an Arabic slave at the time and led the school of medicine in Italy. In addition, Spanish Arabs



Fig. 1 The middle east map

forced out of Andalusia that escaped to Montpellier in France also practiced and thought about medicine in Europe. All these scientists knew Arabic, Greek, and Latin and translated the works of Avicenna, Hippocrates, and many other influential scientists and contributed to medicine in Europe. The Renaissance came and resulted in the flourishing of modern science and the arts in Europe. Meanwhile, in the Arabic world, the first modern Middle Eastern medical school was established in 1827 in Cairo, Egypt, which was followed by Lebanon and Syria [2–4]. Therefore, the Middle East was the world leader in art and sciences for nearly a thousand years before the industrial revolution in Europe, which in turn caused a great leap in medicine in western countries built on the foundations formed by Greek, Persian, and Arabic scientists.

Currently, there are many scientists that are occupied in the western countries but have Lebanese and Arabic ancestry. One of these prominent scientists is Michael Ellis De Bakey, born in Louisiana from Lebanese American parents and who became one of the famous cardiovascular surgeons. Another influential scientist famous in the transplant community is Sir Peter Medawar, known for his studies on skin grafts and who is the first scientist to determine the rejection phenomenon in skin grafts transplanted between different subjects and was nominated for Nobel Prize in Medicine in 1960. He was also born to a British family of Lebanese origin [2–4]. These historical and prominent examples show us the potential of the region and the inclination of the people to achieve great advancements in the field of science.

1.2 Facts About Organ Donation in the Middle East

The estimated population is about 400 million. Furthermore, nearly 60% of the population in the Middle Eastern countries are younger than 25 years of age. It is a multinational (also racially very diverse) geographic location that harbors many religions. The Middle East has a diverse ethnicity and religious background. Islam is the

main religion in the Middle East. There are contradictory views among Islamic scholars and lawmakers on the legitimacy of organ donation from deceased donors. There are common features affecting organ transplantation in the Middle Eastern countries that include inadequate preventive medicine, uneven health infrastructure, poor awareness within medical community and lay public regarding the importance of organ donation and transplantation, and poor government support for organ transplantation. In addition, there is lack of team spirit among physician dealing with transplantation, lack of planning for organ procurement and transplant centers, and lack of effective health insurance [5-8]. In addition to all these factors, we should not forget religious factors that influence the necessary organizations in transplantation. The Amman declaration in 1986 was the first collective action to recognize brain death in Muslim countries [9]. This declaration paved the way for donation from deceased donors in the region. Following the declaration, LT, both from living liver donors and deceased liver donors, was started in several countries in the late 1980s. Turkey, Egypt, Iran, and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia are pioneers of LT in the Middle East. Their collaboration in the Middle East Society of Organ Transplantation (MESOT), despite political conflicts, has developed a platform for promotion of transplantation and specifically LT in the Middle East.

Majority of the grafts required for LT in developed western countries are obtained from cadaveric donors. However, in Asian and Middle Eastern countries, grafts obtained from living liver donors are abundantly used. According to 2018 data, organ donation rates per million people are listed as follows (Fig. 2): 1.1 in United Arab Emirates, 2.9 in Qatar, 3.7 in Saudi Arabia, 6.7 in Kuwait, 7 in Turkey, 11.4 in South Korea, 14.3 in Iran, 20.3 in Sweden, 21.2 in England, 30.7 in America, 32.6 in Portugal, and 43.6 in Spain. These results clearly show the perspective regarding organ donation of the countries.

There are many reasons behind these differences between West and East. Among these reasons, the most striking ones are the differences in religious beliefs, cultural values, and education Fig. 2 Worldwide

actual deceased organ

donation rates in 2018



system. Also, insufficient state funds and deficiencies in the legislation on brain death also contribute to this difference. In western countries, effective organ donation campaigns are organized at the national level, religious beliefs are not very effective on individuals' lifestyles, and awareness regarding organ donation that is a direct result of the education system are the major factors for higher deceased organ donation. On the other hand, in Asian countries, religious and cultural values are very influential on individuals' lives and decision-making process, and religious philosophies such as Buddhism, Taoism, Confucianism, Shintoism, Muslims, and Hinduism usually contradict cadaveric organ donation. The first modern fatwa on organ donation in the Muslim Middle Eastern countries was issued in 1966 by the Egyptian chief mufti. Later, in Malaysia (1969), Algeria (1972), Jordan (1977), Kuwait (1979), and Saudi Arabia (1982), the muftis issued fatwas on organ donation. The Islamic Fiqh Council of the Organization of the Islamic Council made decisions pointing out the importance of both live and cadaveric organ transplantation in its 1986 meeting. The first fatwa on organ transplantation and donation was published in 1980 in Turkey. In 1979, article 2238 entitled "Organ and Tissue Removal, Storage, Grafting, and Transplantation" was enacted. A while after the first law, in 1982, article 2594 was enacted on the use of organs and tissues of people who were irreversibly injured or died during accidents or natural disasters [10].

In a majority of the Muslim countries in the Middle East, fatwas that paved the way for organ donation were enacted more than half a century ago. The reason why these fatwas were not successful in increasing deceased organ donation in these countries where most of the people live according to religious rituals is still unclear. In our opinion, there are contradictions between the views reflected on the public and the official views of the muftis and other clergy or other possibility is due to the fact that there are ambiguities in the sociocultural structure of the people that are far beyond religious rituals.

Using a population estimate of around 83 million people, representing 95% of the sample size in Turkey, we have made two different national surveys. In the study conducted on religious officials, only 0.3% of 2350 clergymen stated that while they donated organs, 75.4% stated that they would not donate organs in the future. While 22% of the clergy stated that they would not donate organs due to their religious beliefs, 45.3% stated that there was no specific reason for not donating organs [11]. In a survey conducted on 3000 people representing the general population in Turkey, while 0.7% of the people viewed organ donation positively, 88.3% of them stated that they would not donate organs. While 28.5% of the general population stated that it was too early for organ donation, 17.9% were afraid of deterioration of body integrity, 11.5% were worried that their organs could be removed before death, and only 8.6% stated that they did not donate organs due to their religious beliefs [12]. In fact, when the responses of the participants in both studies are examined in detail and crosswise, it is clear that the most serious reason for not donating an organ is the individual's perception of the religious beliefs and sociocultural reasons.

2 Arab World and Commercial LT

The Arab world is composed of 22 countries in the League of Arab States founded in 1945. Thirteen of these countries are within the Middle East region. The first deceased donor liver transplantation (DDLT) in the Arab world was performed in 1990 at Riyadh Military Hospital in Saudi Arabia [13]. The first living donor liver transplantation (LDLT) was performed in 1991 at the National Liver Institute in Egypt [14]. Between 1990 and August 2013, 3804 LTs were performed in 11 Arab countries. Ninety-eight percent of these LTs were performed in Middle Eastern countries [15]. Unfortunately, five living donor deaths were reported in Egypt [16–20]. Only 20% of the transplants were DDLT. First meeting of the Pan Arab LT Society was held in Cairo in 2006. One of the main goals of the Pan Arab LT Society has been the creation and establishment of a Pan Arab LT Registry. It has held seven scientific congresses so far. However, upto-date information is still not available.

Patients who need LT in Middle East usually seek commercial transplantation. Patients from Arab countries are still traveling to foreign destinations to undergo LT with higher costs and inadequate postoperative care resulting in poor outcomes, which are known to be associated with commercial LT [21]. Liver donation from unrelated living donors is prohibited in some counties in the Middle East. However, unrelated living donors are major source of organ procurement in Middle Eastern countries. This has raised major ethical concerns based on informal reports on selling of livers from young health donors to elderly recipients. Relationship of living donor to recipient is an important concern throughout the region but especially in Egypt, considering the high poverty rates in the country and the fact that the largest percentage of LDLT is being performed by transplant centers in Egypt [22]. Consequently, the Egyptian parliament has recently enacted a law banning the sale of human organs and imposing restrictions on transplant operations for foreigners and stipulating jail sentences and fines for violation of the law. The absence of deceased organ donation in Egypt is troublesome but not from the perspective of the cultural barriers and the current political unrest [23].

In fact, patients from all over the world have begun to travel to China for organ transplantation. A combination of many factors, including easy accessibility, relatively low cost, short waiting time, and more liberal transplantation indications, has led a growing number of Saudi and Egyptian patients to seek LT in China. Only approximately 60 LTs are performed annually across all centers in Saudi Arabia. Suitable organ availability is significantly overwhelmed by the high number of patients on the waiting list which results in an increasing number of Saudi patients seeking LT abroad. In Egypt the situation is even more difficult, because transplants can only be performed from living donors. It is commonly stated that LT in China is quite affordable in comparison with the high cost of treatment in the USA and Europe. It is also possible to procure an organ in a relatively short time. Despite these attractive factors, the main growing concern is the uncertainty regarding the outcome. Between 2003 and 2007, 74 Middle Eastern patients had LT in China. Forty-six of them were Saudi and 28 were Egyptian. The waiting time in China prior

to receiving liver transplant ranged from 5 to 20 days, with a median of 14 days. Average waiting time in Saudi Arabia ranges from 1 to 1164 days, with a median of 15 weeks. Duration of stay in China in the posttransplant period ranged from 10 to 70 days, with a median of 50 days. In patients who underwent LT in China, diffuse biliary strictures complicated the posttransplant clinical course. Diffuse biliary strictures can be a result of ischemia from hepatic artery thrombosis or extended warm ischemia times during graft preservation. However, the likely cause of these diffuse strictures was prolonged warm ischemia injury to the donor liver during procurement since the hepatic arteries of almost all of these patients were patent. Therefore, these strictures were likely due to suboptimal procurement of organs [24–26].

3 LT in Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia is geographically the fifth largest state in Asia. It has a population of 32,775,000; age of most of the population is young (60% are below the age of 35 years), and approximately ten million resident are non-Saudi (mostly Middle Eastern and Asian). The per capita income is 20,812 US dollar, making the Saudi Arabia 38th in the world.

In Saudi Arabia, solid organ transplantation started in Riyadh Armed Forces Hospital in 1979. It was restricted to renal transplantation, and the foundations came from the establishment of the hemodialysis units or the patients with end-stage renal disease in 1971. After the transplant activities that started in the Riyadh Armed Forces Hospital, the National Kidney Foundation was established as a nonprofit organization to coordinate and register the hemodialysis activities and also organ allocation. Only after the approval statement of the Jurisprudence of Islamic Ulema did the transplant activities gained momentum, and in 1993, the National Kidney Foundation was reestablished as the Saudi Center of Organ Transplantation (SCOT). Responsibilities of SCOT are coordination of hemodialysis units and coordination of organ donation from deceased donor (mainly donation after brain death) [27, 28].

There is a high demand for LT in the Saudi Arabia because of the high burden of liver disease in the country. In the early 1980s, hepatitis B virus (HBV) was epidemic, with a prevalence rate of approximately 8.3%. This high prevalence rate led to an increase in the number of patients requiring LT for end-stage liver disease and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in subsequent decades. In 1989, the HBV vaccine was integrated into the expanded immunization program through which all newborn children throughout the country were vaccinated. This resulted in a significant reduction in the prevalence of the infection in the younger Saudi population which we expect will decrease the need for HBV-related LT. In addition, this decline was associated with a changing trend in the indication for LT from hepatic decompensation to HCC. The rate of LT for other indications including autoimmune and metabolic liver disease has been stable throughout the years. Progressive familial intrahepatic cholestasis and biliary atresia are the most common indications for LT among pediatric patients [27].

In the mid-2010s, the prevalence of hepatitis C virus (HCV) is approximately 1–2% with a predominance of genotype 4 infection, and HCV is currently the leading indication for LT. The indications for LT in Saudi Arabia are shifting from viral-induced liver disease to metabolic causes of end-stage liver diseases including obesity and hyperlipidemia which are extremely common in Saudi Arabia [29].

The need for LT in Saudi Arabia is estimated to be between 50 and 75 patients per million. Only 5–10% of the need is met by both LDLT and DDLT. Although transplantation from a nonrelative is allowed, it comprises less than 2% of the transplants that are performed, annually. Each LT center has its own LT waiting list. Waitlist priorities are based on Model for End-Stage Liver Disease (MELD) scores, and more recently, the MELD-Na scoring system was adopted as the prioritization tool. The cadaveric donation is low (approximately three per million people), though the potential to increase this number seems to be high. The SCOT is a well- recognized national organ donation agency that oversees the donation process in the Saudi Arabia; it collaborates with the LT programs and the donating hospitals in expanding deceased organ donation [15]. The deceased donors are primarily expatriates (who compromise 30% of the Saudi population) residing temporarily in Saudi Arabia. The government offers financial compensation as an expression of gratitude for families who donate. According to SCOT, this is an expression of gratitude for the altruistic donation [27]. There have been ethical concerns that the cash payment to next of kin of the donors provided by the Saudi government and administered through SCOT may result in coercion to donate. The healthcare system in Saudi Arabia is funded by the government. The transplant is free for Saudi citizens, including the subsequent medical care and immunosuppressive medication. All patients are cared for in the respective transplant centers for life, without any charge. Saudi Arabia also accepts patients from Gulf countries (viz., Kuwait, Bahrain, and the United Arab Emirates) and occasionally takes cadaveric donors. Non-Saudis living in Saudi Arabia are not eligible for LT unless they have a living related donor as a financial sponsor.

The liver discard rate has been unacceptably high. Fifty percent of the livers were rejected due to suboptimal donor management. The same is true for documentation; the brain death protocol is completed in only 60% of the cases. In Saudi Arabia, where 212 liver transplants were performed in 2016, approximately one-fourth of the transplants are from deceased donors [27]. Despite all efforts by SCOT, the Ministry of Health, and transplant centers, the donation rate and the procedures are far from optimal. Further efforts can be made to support donation logistics and to improve the quality of donated organs.

4 LT in Egypt

HCV prevalence among the 15–59 years age group in Egyptian population is estimated to be 14.7%. Accordingly, Egypt has the highest HCV prevalence in the world [30]. In Egypt, the sole source of liver grafts is from living donors up to fourth degree, as currently no legislation for deceased donor donation exists. DDLT is not yet implemented [31].

In Egypt, LDLT was performed in 1991 for the first time by the surgical team at the National Liver Institute, Menoufia University, with the help of Prof. Habib. The longest recipient survival was 11 months. This pioneer work led to efforts to pass a law legalizing cadaveric organ donation, culminating in the 1992 decree permitting cadaveric organs that were harvested from prisoners who had been sentenced to death. The surgical team at the National Cancer Institute, Cairo University, in 1992 performed two DDLT procedures, but unfortunately recipients died in the early postoperative period [32].

The regulations were enacted by the Egyptian Medical Syndicate. The programs started with the assistance and under-supervision of foreign (i.e., western) teams. The breakthrough was made in Dar Al-Fouad Hospital by initiating the LDLT program (August 2001), with the contributions of Prof. Tanaka, Kyoto University, Japan. This was followed by WadiEleneel Hospital (October 2001), National Liver Institute, Menoufia University (April 2003), and Maadi Armed Forces Hospital (September 2003). By that time, the number of centers performing LDLT (13 centers) increased, and altogether, 2500 procedures were performed and with associated improved results. Currently, there are 13 LDLT centers in Egypt, including 6 university centers, 2 military centers, 3 private centers, and 2 centers that belong to the Ministry of Health. The 93% of the patients who underwent liver transplant are adult and 7% are in the pediatric age group [32].

By the time LDLT developed and the number of cases increased, the Egyptian transplant surgeons start to face the problem of donor morbidity and mortality which leads to discussion about the law to accept the concept of brain death as a step to develop liver transplant from deceased donors. The law was raised in the Egyptian Parliament in an effort to pass the law, but it was very difficult at that time because there were many factors that influenced this concept. After the Declaration of Istanbul in 2008, the Egyptian Parliament approved the law in 2010. The main problem, from religious point of view, was the acceptance of the brain death concept. Many of Egyptian population believe that death occurs when the heart stops beating. So in case of clinical death with the heart still beating, they considered this victim still alive. In addition, it is believed that the humans are the product of God; therefore, how can you donate a part of your liver, which is not yours in the first place?

The potential number of donors for LDLT in Egypt is small, and this is mainly due to the high prevalence of HCV and schistosomiasis infection in seemingly healthy family members who are the potential donors for patients with end-stage liver disease. The law permits donation of the organs from up to third-degree relatives. Nonrelated living donation was accepted only when an independent ethical and legal committee approves that none of the patient's relatives are suitable as a right liver lobe donor. The legal age of consent for donation in Egypt is 18 years when the recipient is a parent, son, or daughter; otherwise, the lower age limit is raised up to 21 years.

Donor mortality rate is 1.66 per 1000 donors. This consisted of four donors [16–20]. The first one died 3 months after hepatectomy due to biliary leak followed by infection, septicemia, and multi-organ failure. The second one died 12 days after donation due to portal vein thrombosis. The third one was due to right subclavian artery injury during central line insertion, leading to massive right hemothorax. The fourth one died 1 month after donation due to hepatic insufficiency and hepatic failure. A major morbidity was also recorded due to hepatic insufficiency, and the donor needed LDLT that was performed 4 weeks after donation [32].

However, it is remarkably commendable that Prof. Kamel et al. at the University of El Shams in Cairo defined new criteria related to LT in HCC, with 5-year survival of more than 60% after LT in patients with HCC [33].

5 LT in Israel

The number of patients listed for LT has grown, but the number of deceased donors has remained constant, causing a lack of organs for LT in the world. This situation is especially true in Israel, which has a population of 6.5 million and is not a member of the European pool.

Organ transplantation is widely accepted as the best therapeutic and often lifesaving option for many patients with end-stage organ failure. However, in Israel as in many parts of the world, the number of patients awaiting transplantation continues to increase, far exceeding the number of organ donors. A significant number of patients die every year while on the waiting list. This first survey of its kind in Israel, summarizing trends in the demographic characteristics of deceased organ donors, revealed an aging donor pool with fewer male donors and fewer dying from head trauma. This resulted in changes in organ utilization, in particular increased utilization of organs from older liver and lung donors, stable utilization rates for kidneys, and a marked decrease in heart utilization [34].

The Israeli Parliament passed the regulatory law on organ transplant and brain death in 2008, and it was fully implemented in 2010. It was developed in order to aid three major challenges to organ procurement and transplantation in Israel: (1) confusion regarding determination of death, (2) organ trafficking and unethical/illegal transplant tourism, and (3) the critical dearth of transplantable organs [35–37].

The major objective of the law was to attempt to strengthen brain death diagnosis to satisfy both medical and religious needs. Unfortunately, brain death as a medical criterion for death is not uniformly accepted within the Israeli population, particularly among the ultraorthodox community. A second objective was to prevent transplant tourism as both an illegal and unethical means of patients seeking solid organ transplantation. This has proven to have been successful, as demonstrated by the marked decrease in transplant tourism over the last 10 years. This was partly accomplished by the reduction in financial disincentives to living organ donors. The state now reimburses the expenses associated with being a living donor. In fact, over the last decade, live donation rates have doubled [38].

Perhaps the most controversial part of the law was a priority structure, favoring access to

transplantation based on a point system. The highest priority was given to those whose firstdegree relatives were deceased organ donors or those who themselves had been a previous living donor. The next level of priority was given to those who choose to register as a donor. The last priority level is for individuals with firstdegree family members who have registered as donors. This is in the context of an opt-in system whereby donor families must still provide consent in order to proceed with the organ donation, regardless of registration status. Transplant surgeons argue that medical need alone should be the highest priority and that access to transplantation must not be based on a predetermined hierarchy [37, 38].

In the general population, the likelihood of requiring a lifesaving organ transplant is fivefold greater than the chance of being a deceased organ donor. This imbalance between supply and demand means that transplantation is highly dependent upon an adequate supply of both deceased and living organ donors [38]. In the studies conducted in Israel, the 1-year survival rate after liver transplants was reported as less than 75% [39–41]. There are efforts to improve these low survival rates.

6 LT in the United Arab Emirates

The United Arab Emirates (UAE) is an Arabian Gulf country located at the southeast end of the Arabian Peninsula with a population of about 9.3 million. It has made great strides in healthcare over the past several years and has among the highest life expectancy in the region. However, one of the key lacking areas of medical care in the country was the availability of solid organ transplantation. Collaborative efforts began a few years ago aiming to establish thoracic and abdominal solid organ transplantation from deceased donors in addition to continued development of the existing program on kidney transplantation from living donors. The UAE played an important role in efforts leading up to the declaration of Istanbul on organ trafficking and transplant tourism in 2008, the groundwork for which was laid in a steering committee meeting organized by the Transplantation Society and the International Society of Nephrology in Dubai in December 2007. This landmark declaration helped establish a framework of ethical principles to guide the practice of transplantation worldwide. The legal definition of brain death in the UAE was confirmed in May 2017, paving the way for deceased donor organ transplantation [42].

The Cleveland Clinic Foundation was instrumental in the accelerated path to establishment of a multi-organ transplant center at Cleveland Clinic Abu Dhabi. Cleveland Clinic Abu Dhabi, which began clinical operations in early 2015, was established as a partnership between Mubadala Healthcare, Abu Dhabi, and Cleveland Clinic Foundation in Cleveland, Ohio. A meticulous and thoughtful collaborative approach, which began with identifying key operational needs, resulted in the establishment of transplant services within 2.5 years with the establishment of Cleveland Clinic Abu Dhabi. The first multiorgan procurement and transplant from a braindead donor in the UAE occurred at Al Qassimi Hospital in Sharjah on July 15, 2017 [42]. Also noteworthy was a regional organ sharing agreement with SCOT that enabled the utilization of deceased donor grafts for potential recipients in Saudi Arabia while awaiting full operational readiness for thoracic and LT at Cleveland Clinic Abu Dhabi. The overall organ donation rate remains low in terms of the number of organs recovered (3.66) and transplanted (3.57) per donor.

Shortage of deceased donors remains one of the primary challenges facing the transplant community in the UAE. This mandated establishment of LDLT to complement ongoing efforts to improve DDLT. An extensive collaborative effort, with Cleveland Clinic's main campus in Cleveland, Ohio, resulted in the first successful LDLT in the UAE on July 29, 2018. Since that time, an additional 13 LDLTs were performed (overall: four right lobe and ten left lobe grafts) over the past year and a half [42].

7 LT in Lebanon

From 1998 to 2014, 21 LTs were performed at the American University of Beirut Medical Center. Of these, 15 were in adults and 6 in children. Of the 21 transplants, 5 were LDLT, 4 children, and 1 adult. Five deaths occurred after transplant at a median of 9 days. Most of the deaths occurred in the first years of the program. This may be due to the numerous initial difficulties related to structuring, organization, and postoperative management [43].

In Lebanon, LDLT program was started as an alternative source of organs for transplant. However, LDLT is particularly complex because of the associated financial and social issues. Political insecurity and periodic conflicts have had a major impact on organ transplant, including LT. Cultural and religious factors are also major obstacles, as countries in the Middle East issue laws that have to agree with Islamic teachings. Many religious edicts (fatwas) have been issued stating that it is permissible by Islamic teaching to perform deceased organ donations. These statements have had a significant positive impact on the number of transplants performed. However, the Arab cultures are still sensitive toward the issue of possible loss of dignity of the dying process in the process of organ procurement. This obstacle continues to hinder the progress in transplants in the region. Hence, more work needs to be done to improve the rate of deceased donor organ donation. A problem we face related to the organ shortage is the inability to obtain another organ quickly in the event of major postoperative complications. In other parts of the world, urgently listed patients receive a liver transplant in a very short period, whereas in our country such patients sometimes die awaiting an organ. The political and security instability in the region is a major contributing factor to the shortage of donated organs. Up until 2013, the donation rate was quite good and improving; however, the Syrian political conflict has led to a vast number of Syrian refugees to be displaced to Lebanon, many of them wounded and requiring immediate hospitalization. Moreover, security in Lebanon was also compromised during that same period. All of this resulted in an increase in hospital occupancy, and more attention was given to the trauma cases; hence, the focus on organ donors and organ transplant was decreased. Other problems are the lack of coordination in the region, limited support from governments and insurance companies, and public mistrust in the concept of organ transplantation [44, 45].

8 LT in Syria

By the beginning of 2011, the government of Syria was taking steps to initiate LT. For this purpose, efforts had included cooperation with wellknown Brazilian and Iranian liver transplant centers, where specialized teams were sent for training. However, the trainers from those countries could no longer visit Syria because of the war. Since 2011, the Syrian conflict has destroyed much of the country's infrastructure. A project to initiate liver transplant came to a halt because of complex reasons but mainly because foreign trainers could not visit Syria. The Syrian conflict has affected all aspects of organ transplant, paralyzing new projects and negatively affecting existing programs.

Despite these adverse conditions, recently, a few LTs have been performed from living related donors. Additionally, need for LT of the Syrians living in the north of Syria and Syrian refugees in Turkey is provided for by the Turkish government, free of charge [46, 47].

9 LT in Jordan

With the scarcity of DDLT in Jordan, LDLT remains the only viable option for patients with ESLD. The first liver transplantation in Jordan has been performed in June 2004 at King Hussein Medical Center (KHMC) in corporation with a Turkish team. In July 2009, the first LDLT was performed by Jordanian team without assistance. Since then and until 2018, 98 LDLTs and 13 DDLTs have been performed in Jordan [48].

10 LT in Qatar

There was a significant increase in the number of cases where patients had opted to have their transplant surgery abroad and returned with serious complications. These factors combined to play a key role in the need for a strategic plan to promote organ donation and further develop transplant services in Qatar. The plan addressed the problem of lack of organ donation. In order to promote organ donation in Qatar, it was developed as a unique model that later on became to be known as the Doha Donation Accord and gained international recognition as the best representation of international guidelines as well as in accord with Qatari laws and regulations. The Accord is a model that subscribes to the legislative, human, and religious aspects of donation.

In Qatar, the transplant activity started with renal transplantation 1986, but it did not flourish until 2009 when the Doha Donation Accord (DDA) was developed. The Doha Donation Accord was the first milestone in the development of Qatar transplant services. Hamad Medical Corporation, under the leadership of our Managing Director and through effective teamwork across all departments, has created and developed a transplant center that is a very attractive option for many patients who previously would have to go abroad for treatment.

The launch of the Qatar Center for Organ Transplantation (QCOT) was on November 27, 2011. During the ceremony, the United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS/USA) raised their flag in acknowledgment of the standard of excellence achieved by the Qatar center. Ten days after the launch of QCOT, HMC announced successful completion of the first liver transplant surgery in Qatar, with an excellent outcome for the recipient. Until 2019, four LDLTs and seven DDLTs have been performed in Qatar. The vision of QCOT is to become a regional center of excellence in multi-organ transplantation that brings to life HMC's vision of providing the highest standards of patient care, research, and education, supported by a wide international collaborative network [49, 50].
11 LT in Kuwait

Kuwait performed very limited number LT, but they were subsequently suspended because of logistical and technical reasons [15].

12 LT in Iraq

A program for LDLT has recently been developed in Iraq with a potential of performing 15 LDLTs per year [15].

13 LT in Oman

The LT program is in its beginning stages in Oman. The majority of the ESLD is due to congenital disorders such as familial intrahepatic cholestasis and cystic disease of the liver. This is due to the fact that consanguineous marriage rate is nearly 80% in Oman [51]. First LT (LDLT) is performed recently in October 2017 in an adult female with hepatocellular carcinoma; it was performed in Royal Hospital in Muscat [52]. There are many obstacles to be overcome by the Omani government in terms of organization and infrastructure that should precede before solid organ transplantation accelerates.

14 LT in Cyprus

There are two distinct races that occupy the Island of Cyprus. The Turkish Cyproid residents occupy the northern part of the island, and The Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus has shown great progress in education and has concentrated well-trained personnel to this region. The Greekoccupied area has very scarce centers that have an intent to perform organ transplantation, but the activities are very few and currently very negligible.

In the Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus, great effort is being made especially in the field of renal transplantation. The Human Cell, Tissue and Organ Transplant Related Rules Regulating Act was passed by the republic senate in 2014 [53], and many research is being performed to delineate the causes of end-stage renal disease among the Turkish population [54, 55]. Since the approval of Human Cell, Tissue and Organ Transplant Related Rules Regulating Act was approved, 25 renal transplantations have been performed. Eleven of the organs were procured from deceased donors, and 14 were living related renal transplantations. LT program has not started yet, but the procured organs such as the liver and heart were sent to the Republic of Turkey for successful transplantation [56, 57].

15 LT in Iran

In Iran, solid organ transplantation started in 1967 with renal transplantation. It was the first solid organ transplantation among countries of the Middle East [58]. Although this was the case, organ procurement and transplantation act was not established until 2000 [58]. A great progress in organ transplantation was obtained after the Supreme Religious Leader's recognition of the concept of brain death and organ donation from deceased donors (i.e., the fatwa or approval of the religious leadership). Transplantation of organs from the deceased donors increased exponentially [58-62]. The most controversial law that was adopted by the Iranian government to reduce the transplantations performed abroad was the approval of the compensated and regulated living unrelated donor renal transplant program approved in 1988. In this program, the living unrelated donors were compensated, and also the health insurance coverage was extended by the government and the third-party charity funds before and after the donation procedure [62]. Although it has been suggested that this approach eliminated the renal transplant waiting list, it may raise the concern of commercial organ transplantation despite the statement of the officials that every counter measure is taken [58, 60, 62]. Nevertheless, we believe the concept of altruistic donation both for deceased and living donors in organ and tissue transplantation and any form of compensation raises the ethical concerns in any scenario including the Iranian model.

Until this date, there is no established organ allocation system in Iran. There are seven zones in Iran and the organ procurement is strictly regulated; however, the allocation system of the procure organs is not very clear. The review by Malek-Hosseini et al. suggests that there is a steady supply of deceased donor organs to Shiraz Organ Transplant Center, but the activity of other centers in Iran is not very clear [62].

In the last 11 years, the etiology of end-stage liver disease has changed in Iran. Although HBVrelated liver disease is the most common etiology of liver failure (nearly 20%), it is decreasing since 2006 due to nationwide vaccination program that has been adopted in 1992 for neonates and 2005 for adults. Currently, the incidence of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (25%) and cholestatic disease (7%) is increasing among the patients in the waiting list. HCV seems to be the fifth most common cause of end-stage liver failure [60, 63].

First LT in Iran was performed in 1992. Since 1992, over 2000 LTs have been performed, and 90% of the organs were procured from deceased donors. The deceased donation increased after the approval of the senate of the law regulating the brain death and procurement and transplantation of the organs from the cadaveric donors in 2000. The deceased donation increase doubled (2.2–5.7 per million population) since 2009 in Iran, and living donor LT has stayed relatively stable [58, 60, 64–68].

16 LT in Turkey

By virtue of the personal efforts of Prof Haberal, the "Organ and Tissue Harvesting, Preservation, Inoculation, and Transplantation" Law no 2238 was enacted in 1979 in Turkey [69]. That law was composed of four chapters: general provisions, organ/tissue harvesting from a living donor, organ/tissue harvesting from a deceased donor, and punitive articles [10, 70]. That law was a well-designed one, and, to our knowledge, it was the world's second or third organ transplantation law. Later, the law no. 2594 on utilization of organs or tissues of persons severely and irreversibly injured or killed by accidents or natural disasters was enacted in 1982 [10, 70]. Following passage of laws no. 2238 and 2594, legal impediments on cadaveric tissue and organ transplantation have been eliminated. Thirty years after passage of these laws, however, the desired level of deceased organ procurement has not been achieved. One of the most significant reasons of this apparent failure was deep devotion to customs and religious beliefs regarding organ or tissue harvesting from dead corpses implementing desecration of the latter [10, 69, 70]. In an attempt to overcome this prejudice, the transplantation community applied to the Supreme Council of the Directorate of Religious Affairs to issue a fatwa for organ transplantation and Islamic rules. The Supreme Council issued a fatwa in 1980, stating that there are no restrictions in Holy Quran regarding organ transplantation and thus it would be permissible to make organ transplantation [69]. Currently, November 3-9th is celebrated as organ donation week, during which panels on organ transplantation are organized throughout the country. As social media networks have become widespread, campaigns for organ/ tissue/blood donation have acquired a new dimension. The Radio and Television Supreme Council has obliged all nationwide radio and TV channels to broadcast public service ads that highlight the importance of organ donation. Two separate studies have been conducted in 2006 and 2011 to study the reasons of negative attitude toward organ donation [11, 12]. Their results indicate that concerns related to organ mafia have been eliminated, but socioeconomic factors were still operational. The support of the Ministry of Health to the centers for solid organ transplantation, mainly LT, has remained quite limited until the early 2000s. Thus, most of the data on the LT procedures performed until 2011 have been collected from the centers performing this procedure. The organ transplantation policy of the Ministry of Health has become a national policy, and a separate unit named "Department of Organ, Tissue, Cell, and Dialysis Services" has been established within the body of the General Directorate for Treatment Services. This unit has written a software program titled "Turkish Organ and Tissue Information System." Functioning actively since January 2011, this software now includes information of both patients in the waiting list and those already transplanted [69].

The national organ sharing program was initiated in 1989 to coordinate national organ transplantation centers and fair allocation of deceased organ supply. Later, the Ministry of Health established the National Coordination Centers in 2001 for allocation of deceased donors [69]. Taking into account Turkey's geographical regions, population distribution, and transportation means, nine national coordination centers were established in nine big provinces. The remaining 72 provinces were subordinated to the nearest coordination center. The coordination centers present organs supplied by deceased donors first to urgent cases in their own region. In case of absence of any such candidate recipient, these centers provide organs for urgent cases in other regions [69]. To ensure proper functioning of the system, the Ministry of Health has prepared a directive titled "The National Organ and Tissue Transplantation Coordination System." In line with this directive, coordinatorships have been subjected to training on how the allocations would be done and which patients would be prioritized. Certain regulations have been put in place to regulate establishing and managing LT centers in Turkey. The Ministry of Health directive titled "Directive for Organ Transplantation Centers" should be complied with in order to establish a LT center in any hospital. LT centers in Turkey should perform a certain number of LT or harvesting procedures within a year. Centers unable to meet the specified number of such procedures first receive a warning from the council; they then lose their certificates when indicated by a failure of making improvements and fulfilling required specifications [10, 69, 70]. In Turkey, postgraduate training is required to operate a LT center. As such, it is required to work at least 2 years at a center performing more than 50 LT procedures a year or at least 1 year at a center performing more than 100 such procedures a year. It is equally acceptable to complete such training in Turkey or abroad [69].

16.1 History of LT in Turkey

The history of LT in Turkey starts in 1988. The first successful DDLT was performed by Prof. Haberal and his team [71] in 1988. The same team performed a successful segmentary (left lobe lateral segment) LDLT in a pediatric case in 1990 [72]. One month after that operation, a left lobe LDLT was performed in an adult patient for the first time in the world [73]. Haberal and his colleagues successfully transplanted a liver and a kidney harvested from a same living donor to an adult patient in the same session [10, 70, 71]. After Haberal had paved the way for LT, a number of Turkish surgeons began to be closely interested in LT. Prof. Sezai Yilmaz, by performing successful LTs in Inonu University, both made that institution one of the best transplantation centers around the globe and contributed to the foundation of a LT institute in Inonu University.

The history of LT in Turkey can be examined in three stages: the initial stage (1988–1996), the development stage (1997–2001), and the stage of rise and spread (2002–). This classification was made considering the number of LTs and centers performing these procedures. This classification scheme was first proposed by Prof. Sezai Yilmaz [69]. Apart from our apparent weakness in organ donation and deceased donor procurement, this classification points out that LT has gained momentum in Turkey since 2002 (Fig. 3).

16.2 The Current Status of LT in Turkey

As of October 2020, there are a total of 49 LT centers in Turkey. Twenty-three of these centers are state universities, 7 are foundation universities, 12 are private hospitals, and the remaining 7 are training and research hospitals of the Ministry of Health. Since the first LT performed in 1988, a total of 16,798 LT procedures have been carried out in Turkey. However, we could only access detailed data of the LT after January 2002. Between January 2002 and October 2020 which has been defined as the stage of rise and spread, 16,442 LT procedures were performed in total. In



Fig. 3 The number of liver transplantations in Turkey by years

11,841 (72%) of the transplantations, living liver donors were used while 4601 (28%) procedures employed deceased donors. The number of LTs in Turkey by year has been in Fig. 3. In 4440 (25%) of 17,735 brain death cases occurring between January 2011 and October 2020, the families gave permission for organ harvesting and use. Among 20,583 patients in the waiting list, 12,587 (62.5%) had the chance to have deceased or living donor LT. While the overall 1-year patient survival rate in the 2011, 2012, and 2013 was calculated as 71.4%, 78.1%, and 80.5%, respectively, the 1-year survival rate is 90% in 2019.

16.3 LT Societies in Turkey

The first society regarding the transplantation activities that was established was the Turkish Transplantation and Burn Foundation. It began publishing a journal entitled *Dialysis, Transplantation, and Burn* in 1983, the last issue of which was published in January 2009. The second society related to transplantation was the Middle East Dialysis and Organ Transplant Foundation. Founded in 1984, this society was renamed as the Middle East Society for Organ Transplantation (MESOT) in 1987. Since 1988, MESOT regularly organizes congresses every 2 years, and the official journal of MESOT is experimental and clinical transplantation which is published monthly. The third society for transplantation is the Turkish Transplantation Society. It was established in 1990; this society was affiliated by the Transplantation Society and MESOT. The fourth society is the Turkish Transplantation Centers Coordinators Association that was established in 1994 and supported by the work of 55 transplantation centers in Turkey (liver, kidney, heart). The fifth, and the last, society is the LT Society which was founded in 2005; it specifically addresses physicians dealing with LT. The society is active in social media, and the society addresses important points in transplantation online from the platform established in the website.

16.4 Prospects for the Future of LT in Turkey

Among grafts used for LT in Turkey, only onefourth are provided by deceased donors. This ratio is far below that of socioculturally developed western societies. The most effective way to broaden the deceased donor pool is to persuade public to donate organs when they are alive. This is because in countries like Turkey that have not completed their sociocultural development, it is not as easy as to ask relatives of deceased persons to donate their organs. An identification card should be provided to all donors that specify donated organs, blood group of the donor, and tissue specifications of the donor whenever possible. By this way, mourning family members will not have to give permission after death of the donor. To make organ donation more widespread, all physicians, nurses, and other ancillary healthcare staff should receive in-service training at least twice a year. In addition, meetings should be held in schools, colleges, dormitories, jails, large holdings, and social platforms under the supervision of transplantation coordinators to increase awareness of the importance of organ donation. Organ transplanted patients should be allowed to relay their experiences to public via these panels and meetings. Organ donation should definitely become an official state policy. Available organ transplantation societies in Turkey should not organize annual meetings engaged in activities only aimed at informing physicians, but these organizations should provide ordinary people with ample information about organ donation and transplantation via their webpages as well as social networks. They should also establish links in which healthy and diseased individuals may ask questions. The Ministry of Health should pool surgeons with postgraduate LT training and build more efficient and well-equipped centers instead of ones that performed in LT equipped centers in a few numbers annually.

Unfortunately, by now, there was no center studying on experimental studies about LT in Turkey. For the first time in Turkey, the "Research Center for Diseases and Transplantation of the Liver" was established in Inonu University Liver Transplant Institute in 2020. We already know that Prof. Starzl, to whom we express our gratitude, studied experimental solid organ transplantation models in a significant part of his career. Thus, the experimental research center with adequate technical equipment to study all aspects of LT (genetic, biological, pathological, ultrastructural, biochemical, and surgical) will make significant scientific advances in LT field. It should be kept in mind that LT had not improved to the survival in the world until the basic science experiments resulted in the development of cyclosporine and tacrolimus. Majority of the Nobel Prize nominations were given to the basic science research in the field of transplantation. Therefore, the future will start from the benches of the laboratories, and it will spread to the clinical application. For this reason, the transplant centers in Turkey should be prepared to form well-equipped research centers in order to tackle the current obstacles encountered in organ transplantation.

16.5 Simultaneous Five LDLTs in Turkey

LT, which was an experimental procedure five decades ago, is currently the gold standard treatment modality of end-stage liver disease. Together with the advancement in the immunosuppressive therapy, surgical techniques, and the patient care, survival following LT improved rapidly. A major challenge in LT field is the insufficient number of donors compared with the growing demand of transplant candidates. Many strategies to overcome the organ shortage have been developed including extended criteria donors and living donor LT. The adventure of LDLT, which started in the late 1980s, became the standard operation of LT centers after a decade. This was especially true for an Asian country because cadaveric donation is very scarce due to cultural problems. Similarly, the liver transplant centers in Turkey are performing LDLT with increasing frequency. Since LDLT provides equal or superior results for both chronic and acute liver failure, transplant surgeons are faced with an obligation to perform multiple LDLT procedures including both planned and emergency LDLT simultaneously. As a matter of fact, a few centers have published that they performed a very-high-volume liver transplants in 1 year in both adult and pediatric age groups

[74–76]. It is understood from these publications that these centers carry out more than one liver transplant per day. Today, high-volume transplant centers are defined as "the center of excellence" when they can achieve this low mortality. These centers are attraction centers for patients and physicians who will be trained in the field of LT. However, the important is to obtain sustainable performance. This is only possible with hard work. It is inevitable that these centers will be the focus of attention of the media.

Despite these advances in LDLT, many potential living donors cannot donate their organs to their relatives due to reasons such as blood group incompatibility and low graft weight and to a lesser extent due to immunologic problems such as pre-sensitization. "Swap" or liver paired exchange LT has been developed to provide more suitable organs to the recipients that would at most benefit from the transplanted graft. In this scenario, a suboptimal donor recipient pair swaps the organ to a suitable recipient and receives a more suitable graft in return. However, in order to overcome future ethical problems for the swapped donors and their matched nonrelatives, multiple LDLT procedures must be performed simultaneously in centers practicing "swap" LTs. Therefore, whole of the organizational schema, equipment and facilities need to be suitable for such transplant scenario.

Annually, 300 LTs are performed in our institute, and more than 3000 LTs have been performed since the beginning of our transplant program in 2002. More than 90% of these transplantations are LDLTs. In July 2018, we performed three simultaneous LDLTs on the same day under the supervision of Prof. Sukru Emre from Yale University in the USA, who is also a senior lecturer of our institute. Three simultaneous LDLTs were probably the first in the world. Until then, some days we had three, four, or even five LTs in different time periods on the same day. But not all of them were LDLTs; one or two of these could very well be DDLT. These multiple transplants were made due to emergency indications. In order for a liver transplant center to achieve these, it must have enough, highly experienced surgical and anesthesiology teams, facilities, and physical conditions including the operating room and intensive care units. Inonu University LT Institute physically includes 12 operating theaters, 3 intensive care units (each with a capacity of 12 patients), and 116 patient beds. In this institute, there are 25 liver transplant surgeons, 5 LT anesthesiologists, 5 intensive care specialists, 3 radiologists, 3 hepatologists, and 3 infectious disease specialists who are specialized in the care of transplant patients. These experiences and possibilities showed that we can do five simultaneous LDLTs. In June 2019, we performed five simultaneous LDLTs including one pediatric and four adult patients. All operations started at 8 a.m. and ended at 6:30 p.m. Donors and recipients were discharged without any problem on the 20th postoperative day at latest. After approximately 18 months of follow-up, all patients are healthy and alive.

Using an economic theory, Roth has managed to increase the spread of kidney donation, worldwide. This was a revolutionary development for patients with end-stage renal disease. The idea of a kidney swap won Alvin Roth the Nobel Prize for Economics in 2012. To date, dual cross-LDLT operations have been carried out in the world. However, Roth's invention is more advanced than binary swap kidneys. Roth received the Nobel Prize by suggesting triple swap kidney transplants. Simultaneous five LDLTs performed at our institute have been a rehearsal of at least triple or even five swap LDLTs that will be held for the first time in the world. Urgent transplant requirements of the patients and transplant scenarios such as swap LT can urge transplant centers to perform multiple simultaneous LTs. The transplant centers should be prepared and must be able to handle such challenging situations. This can only be achieved by experienced transplant centers with excellent equipment and advanced physical facilities.

17 Conclusions

What was once a myth soon became a reality. Thus, LT became the gold standard treatment modality in end-stage liver disease. Today many centers in the world perform this complex procedure. However, some regions are more advanced in terms of allocation of the organs and advancement of the procedure. However, in geographic locale such as the Middle East, where the population is undereducated and dictated by the traditional culture, it is not easy for an innovative technique such as LT to evolve. Nevertheless, there seems to be some spark in certain countries of the Middle East. LT is a must for every country. It should evolve and be propagated in every country in the world in order to help these unfortunate patients. In the Middle East, collaborations between countries who have adapted an efficient transplant program and the less developed ones would help to accelerate the propagation and standardization of this complex surgical technique. The collaboration should exist in every area including postoperative patient care and last but not the least in the area of research. The physicians in the field must not forget that advances in transplantology succeeded because of the tremendous research efforts of the scientists in the field. Therefore, the future will start from the bench of the laboratories and spread to the clinic.

References

- Starzl TE, Iwatsuki S, Van Thiel DH, Gartner JC, Zitelli BJ, Malatack JJ, Schade RR, Shaw BW Jr, Hakala TR, Rosenthal JT, Porter KA. Evolution of liver transplantation. Hepatology. 1982;2(5):614–36. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.1840020516.
- Middle East | History, Countries, & Facts | Britannica [Internet]. [cited 2020 Oct 11]. Available from: https:// www.britannica.com/place/Middle-East
- Middle East Facts | Idaho State University [Internet]. [cited 2020 Oct 11]. Available from: https://www. isu.edu/history/student-opportunities/class-projects/ middle-east-facts/
- Saudi Aramco World : Medicine From The Middle East [Internet]. [cited 2020 Oct 11]. Available from: https://archive.aramcoworld.com/issue/196901/medicine.from.the.middle.east.htm
- Shaheen FA, Souqiyyeh MZ. How to improve organ donation in the MESOT countries. Ann Transplant. 2004;9(1):19–21.
- Shaheen FAM, Souqiyyeh MZ. Improving transplantation programs and patient care. Transplant Proc. 2005;37(7):2909–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. transproceed.2005.07.008.

- Shaheen FA. Organ donation in the Middle East countries. Ethn Dis. 2009;19(1 Suppl 1):S1. -16-7
- Shaheen FA, Souqiyyeh MZ. Increasing organ donation rates from Muslim donors: lessons from a successful model. Transplant Proc. 2004;36(7):1878–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2004.08.090.
- Masri MA, Haberal MA, Shaheen FA, Stephan A, Ghods AJ, Al-Rohani M, Mousawi MA, Mohsin N, Abdallah TB, Bakr A, Rizvi AH. Middle East Society for Organ Transplantation (MESOT) transplant registry. Exp Clin Transplant. 2004;2(2):217–20.
- Moray G, Arslan G, Haberal M. The history of liver transplantation in Turkey. Exp Clin Transplant. 2014;12(Suppl 1):20–3. https://doi.org/10.6002/ ect.25liver.118.
- Akbulut S, Ozer A, Firinci B, Saritas H, Demyati K, Yilmaz S. Attitudes, knowledge levels and behaviors of Islamic religious officials about organ donation in Turkey: national survey study. World J Clin Cases. 2020;8(9):1620–31. https://doi.org/10.12998/wjcc. v8.i9.1620.
- Akbulut S, Ozer A, Gokce A, Demyati K, Saritas H, Yilmaz S. Attitudes, awareness, and knowledge levels of the Turkish adult population toward organ donation: study of a nationwide survey. World J Clin Cases. 2020;8(11):2235–45. https://doi.org/10.12998/ wjcc.v8.i11.2235.
- Jawdat M, Qattan N, Bassas A. al Karawi MA, Mohamed E, Khallil H. the first liver transplant in Saudi Arabia and the Arab world. Hepato-Gastroenterology. 1993;40(3):297–300.
- Habib NA, Higgs BD, Marwan I, el-Masry R, Helmi A, Saifi R, Abbas A, Abdel-Wohab F, Abaza A, Koensa H. Living-related liver transplantation in Africa. Int Surg. 1993;78(2):121–3.
- Khalaf H, Marwan I, Al-Sebayel M, El-Meteini M, Hosny A, Abdel-Wahab M, Amer K, El-Shobari M, Kamel R, Al-Qahtani M, Khan I, Bashir A, Hammoudi S, Smadi S, Khalife M, Faraj W, Bentabak K, Khalfallah T, Hassoun A, Bukrah A, Mustafa I. Status of liver transplantation in the Arab world. Transplantation. 2014;97(7):722–4. https://doi. org/10.1097/TP.000000000000062.
- Khalaf H, El-Meteini M, El-Sefi T, Hamza AF, El-Gazaz G, Saleh SM, Moustafa I, Gad H, Yosry A, El-Hussainy E, Khafaga M, Helmy A. Evolution of living donor liver transplantation in Egypt. Saudi Med J. 2005;26(9):1394–7.
- Yosry A, Esmat G, El-Serafy M, Omar A, Doss W, Said M, Abdel-Bary A, Hosny A, Marawan I, El-Malt O, Kamel RR, Hatata Y, Ghali A, Sabri H, Kamel S, El-Gbaly H, Tanaka K. Outcome of living donor liver transplantation for Egyptian patients with hepatitis C (genotype 4)-related cirrhosis. Transplant Proc. 2008;40(5):1481–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. transproceed.2008.03.085.
- El-Meteini M, Hamza A, Abdalaal A, Fathy M, Bahaa M, Mukhtar A, Abouelfetouh F, Mostafa I, Shaker M, Abdelwahab S, El-Dorry A, El-Monayeri M, Hobballah A, Sabry H. Biliary complications

including single-donor mortality: experience of 207 adult-to-adult living donor liver transplantations with right liver grafts. HPB (Oxford). 2010;12(2):109–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1477-2574.2009.00142.x.

- Salah T, Sultan AM, Fathy OM, Elshobary MM, Elghawalby NA, Sultan A, Yassen AM, Elsarraf WM, Elmorshedi M, Elsaadany MF, Shiha UA, Wahab MA. Outcome of right hepatectomy for living liver donors: a single Egyptian center experience. J Gastrointest Surg. 2012;16(6):1181–8. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11605-012-1851-4.
- Kamel E, Abdullah M, Hassanin A, Fayed N, Ahmed F, Soliman H, Hegazi O, El Salam YA, Khalil M, Yassen K, Marwan I, Tanaka K, Aboella K, Ibrahim T. Live donor hepatectomy for liver transplantation in Egypt: lessons learned. Saudi J Anaesth. 2012;6(3):234–41. https://doi.org/10.4103/1658-354X.101214.
- 21. Danovitch GM, Chapman J, Capron AM, Levin A, Abbud-Filho M, Al Mousawi M, Bennett W, Budiani-Saberi D, Couser W, Dittmer I, Jha V, Lavee J, Martin D, Masri M, Naicker S, Takahara S, Tibell A, Shaheen F, Anantharaman V, Delmonico FL. Organ trafficking and transplant tourism: the role of global professional ethical standards-the 2008 Declaration of Istanbul. Transplantation. 2013;95(11):1306–12. https://doi. org/10.1097/TP.0b013e318295ee7d.
- Lankarani KB, Hosseini SAM. The status of liver transplantation in the Middle East. Clin Liver Dis (Hoboken). 2020;14(6):215–8. https://doi. org/10.1002/cld.889.
- 23. Shaheen FA, Souqiyyeh MZ, Attar MB, al-Swailem AR. The Saudi Center for Organ Transplantation: an ideal model for Arabic countries to improve treatment of end-stage organ failure. Transplant Proc. 1996;28(1):247–9.
- El-Gazzaz GH, El-Elemi AH. Liver transplantation in Egypt from west to east. Transpl Res Risk Manag. 2010;2:41–6. https://doi.org/10.2147/TRRM.S8490.
- 25. Abdeldayem HM, Salama I, Soliman S, Gameel K, Gabal AA, El Ella KA, Helmy A. Patients seeking liver transplant turn to China: outcomes of 15 Egyptian patients who went to China for a deceased-donor liver transplant. Exp Clin Transplant. 2008;6(3):194–8.
- 26. Allam N, Al Saghier M, El Sheikh Y, Al Sofayan M, Khalaf H, Al Sebayel M, Helmy A, Kamel Y, Aljedai A, Abdel-Dayem H, Kenetman NM, Al Saghier A, Al Hamoudi W, Abdo AA. Clinical outcomes for Saudi and Egyptian patients receiving deceased donor liver transplantation in China. Am J Transplant. 2010;10(8):1834–41. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2010.03088.x.
- Al Sebayel M, Abaalkhail F, Al Abbad S, AlBahili H, Elsiesy H, Aleid M, Al-Hamoudi W. Liver transplantation in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Liver Transpl. 2017;23(10):1312–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/ lt.24803.
- Shaheen FA, Souqiyyeh MZ, Al-Swailem AR. Saudi center for organ transplantation: activities and achievements. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 1995;6(1):41–52.

- Alghamdi AS, Alghamdi M, Sanai FM, Alghamdi H, Aba-Alkhail F, Alswat K, Babatin M, Alqutub A, Altraif I, Alfaleh F. SASLT guidelines: update in treatment of hepatitis C virus infection. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2016;22(Suppl 2):25–57. https://doi.org/10.4103/1319-3767.188067.
- Abdeldayem HM, Allam NA, Salah E, Mostafa Aziz A, Kashkoush S, Adawy NM, Gad H, Helmy A. Moral and ethical issues in living-donor liver transplant in Egypt. Exp Clin Transplant. 2009;7(1):18–24.
- Makhlouf NA, Abdel-Monem SA, Farghaly AM, Helmy A. Attitude of upper Egypt health-care professionals toward living liver donation and transplantation. Prog Transplant. 2018;28(3):256–62. https://doi. org/10.1177/1526924818781565.
- Amer KE, Marwan I. Living donor liver transplantation in Egypt. Hepatobiliary Surg Nutr. 2016;5(2):98–106. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2304-3881.2015.10.03.
- 33. Kamel R, Hatata Y, Hosny K, Nabil A, El-Deen Abd-Allah A, Mostafa A, Abdel-Aal A, Elganzoury MZ, Elmalt O, Marwan I, Hosny A. Outcome of livingdonor liver transplant for hepatocellular carcinoma: 15-year single-center experience in Egypt. Exp Clin Transplant. 2017;15(Suppl 2):12–20. https://doi. org/10.6002/ect.TOND16.L5.
- Cohen J, Bistritz Y, Ashkenazi T. Deceased organ donor characteristics and organ utilization in Israel, 2004-2013. Isr Med Assoc J. 2015;17(6):365–9.
- 35. Zaltzman J. Ten years of Israel's organ transplant law: is it on the right track? Isr J Health Policy Res. 2018;7(1):45. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13584-018-0232-1.
- Gurman GM. Organ transplantation in Israel of 2007 reality and vision. Harefuah. 2008;147(5):417–21.
- Scott O, Jacobson E. Implementing presumed consent for organ donation in Israel: public, religious and ethical issues. Isr Med Assoc J. 2007;9(11):777–81.
- Ashkenazi T, Lavee J, Mor E. Organ donation in Israel--achievements and challenges. Transplantation. 2015;99(2):265–6. https://doi.org/10.1097/ TP.0000000000000591.
- Ben-Haim M, Nakache R, Klausner JM. [Hepatopancreato-biliary (HPB) surgery and abdominal organ transplantation, a defined subspecialty, integrated within the surgical division: professional, operative and educational aspects]. Harefuah. 2009;148(4):215–8.
- 40. Shouval DS, Mor E, Avitzur Y, Shamir R, Bar-Nathan N, Steinberg R, Schoenfeld T, Ben-Ari Z, Shapiro R. Living-related donor liver transplantation for children with fulminant hepatic failure in Israel. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2009;48(4):451–5. https://doi.org/10.1097/MPG.0b013e318196c379.
- 41. Ekka-Zohar A, Zitser-Gurevich Y, Mandel M, Weiss-Salz I, Nir S, Mor E, Richard N, Merhav H, Bruck R, Simchen E. Graft survival and its determinants: a 3 year national experience with liver transplantation in Israel. Isr Med Assoc J. 2006;8(6):400–5.
- 42. Kumar S, Sankari BR, Miller CM, Obaidli AAKA, Suri RM. Establishment of solid organ transplanta-

tion in the United Arab Emirates. Transplantation. 2020;104(4):659–63. https://doi.org/10.1097/ TP.000000000003030.

- Faraj WF, Deborah Mukherji D, Fakih H, Majzoub N, Khalife M. Liver transplantation in Lebanon: a hard lesson to learn. Ann Transplant. 2010;15(3):25–9.
- 44. Faraj W, Fakih H, Mukherji D, Khalife M. Organ donation after cardiac death in the Middle East. Transplant Proc. 2010;42(3):713–5. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2010.02.058.
- Faraj W, Haydar A, Nounou GE, Naaj AA, Khoury G, Jabbour S, Khalife M. Update on liver transplants in Lebanon. Prog Transplant. 2015;25(3):271–5. https:// doi.org/10.7182/pit2015810.
- 46. Saeed B. How did the war affect organ transplantation in Syria? Exp Clin Transplant. 2020;18(Suppl 1):19– 21. https://doi.org/10.6002/ect.TOND-TDTD2019. L23.
- 47. Saeed B, Derani R, Hajibrahim M, Roumani J, Al-Shaer MB, Saeed R, Damerli S, Al-Saadi R, Kayyal B, Haddad M. Volume of organ failure in Syria and obstacles to initiate a national cadaver donation program. Iran J Kidney Dis. 2008;2(2):65–71.
- 48. Ajarma KY, Al-Faouri AF, Abbadi AM, Alzu'bi AA, Al-Mnaizel T, Al-Jarrah R, Shnekat H, Asri L. Living - donor liver transplantation at king Hussein medical center: donor complications and outcome in the first 100 donors. J R Med Serv. 2016;23(3):20–7. https://doi.org/10.12816/0029069.
- 49. Khalaf H, Derballa M, Elmasry M, Khalil A, Yakoob R, Almohannadi M, Almaslamani M, Fadhil R, Al-Kaabi S, Al-Ansari A, Almaslamani Y. First liver transplant in Qatar: an evolving program facing many challenges. Exp Clin Transplant. 2013;11(5):423–5. https://doi.org/10.6002/ect.2013.0194.
- El-Shoubaki H, Bener A. Public knowledge and attitudes toward organ donation and transplantation: a cross-cultural study. Transplant Proc. 2005;37(5):1993–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. transproceed.2005.03.014.
- Al-Lawati TT, George M, Al-Lawati FA. Pattern of liver diseases in Oman. Ann Trop Paediatr. 2009;29(3):183–9. https://doi.org/10.1179/0272493 09X12467994693770.
- First Liver Transplantation Performed in Oman -Media Center Display Page - Ministry of Health [Internet]. [cited 2020 Oct 29]. Available from: https://www.moh.gov.om/en/-/%2D%2D-525.
- 53. Tasargol O, Deniz F, Celik O, Serger N, Koc M, Bedevi R, Onbasi S, Oygar D. Brain death and importance of preserving organs of brain-dead donors in intensive care unit. Cyprus J Med Sci. 2017;2:64–6. https://doi.org/10.5152/cjms.2018.288.
- Oren E, Dag GS. Determination of adherence to immunosuppressive drugs in renal transplant recipients in Turkish republic of northern Cyprus. J Educ Res Nurs. 2020;17:1–9. https://doi.org/10.5222/ HEAD.2020.42275.
- 55. Connor TM, Oygar DD, Gale DP, Steenkamp R, Nitsch D, Neild GH, Maxwell PH. Incidence of end-

stage renal disease in the Turkish-Cypriot population of northern Cyprus: a population based study. PLoS One. 2013;8(1):e54394. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0054394.

- 56. "Yepyeni Bir Hayat Bağışlamak: Organ Bağışı Hayat Kurtarır" – Dr. Suat GÜNSEL Girne Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Hastanesi [Internet]. [cited 2020 Oct 11]. Available from: http://hospital.kyrenia.edu.tr/ yepyeni-bir-hayat-bagislamak-organ-bagisi-hayatkurtarir/.
- KKTC'de 2014 yılında geçen yasadan bugüne 25 organ nakli gerçekleştirildi [Internet]. [cited 2020 Oct 11]. Available from: https://www.kibrispostasi.com/c77-SAGLIK_KISISEL_BAKIM/n252019-kktcde-2014yilinda-gecen-yasadan-bugune-25-organ-nakli-gercekle.
- Ghods AJ. The history of organ donation and transplantation in Iran. Exp Clin Transplant. 2014;12(Suppl 1):38–41.
- Larijani B, Zahedi F, Taheri E. Ethical and legal aspects of organ transplantation in Iran. Transplant Proc. 2004;36(5):1241–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. transproceed.2004.05.065.
- Saidi RF, Kazemaini SM, Malekzadeh R. Current challenges of liver transplantation in Iran. Middle East J Dig Dis. 2018;10(1):45–9. https://doi.org/10.15171/ mejdd.2017.90.
- Malek-Hosseini SA, Habibzadeh F, Nikeghbalian S. Shiraz organ transplant center: the largest liver transplant center in the world. Transplantation. 2019;103(8):1523–5. https://doi.org/10.1097/ TP.000000000002581.
- Ghods AJ, Savaj S. Iranian model of paid and regulated living-unrelated kidney donation. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2006;1(6):1136–45. https://doi.org/10.2215/ CJN.00700206.
- 63. Mohagheghi S, Khajehahmadi Z, Nikeghbalian S, Alavian SM, Doosti-Irani A, Khodadadi I, Karimi J, Sharafi H, Tavilani H. Changes in the distribution of etiologies of cirrhosis among patients referred for liver transplantation over 11 years in Iran. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;32(7):844–50. https:// doi.org/10.1097/MEG.000000000001590.
- 64. Bahador A, Salahi H, Nikeghbalian S, Dehghani SM, Kakaei F, Sabet B, Kazemi K, Rajaei E, Gholami S, Malek-Hosseini SA. Split liver transplantation in shiraz transplant center. Transplant Proc. 2009;41(7):2872–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. transproceed.2009.07.052.
- Tachopoulou OA, Vogt DP, Henderson JM, Baker M, Keys TF. Hepatic abscess after liver transplantation: 1990-2000. Transplantation. 2003;75(1):79–83. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007890-200301150-00014.
- 66. Bahador A, Salahi H, Nikeghbalian S, Dehghani SM, Dehghani M, Kakaei F, Kazemi K, Rajaei E, Gholami S, Malek-Hosseini SA. Pediatric liver transplantation in Iran: a 9-year experience. Transplant Proc. 2009;41(7):2864–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. transproceed.2009.07.046.
- 67. Nikeghbalian S, Nejatollahi SM, Salahi H, Bahador A, Dehghani SM, Kazemi K, Dehghani M, Kakaei

F, Ghaffaripour S, Sattari H, Gholami S, Anvari E, Malek-Hosseini SA. Experience of living donor liver transplantation in Iran: a single-center report. Transplant Proc. 2009;41(7):2868–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2009.07.009.

- 68. Pinho-Apezzato ML, Tannuri U, Tannuri AC, Mello ES, Lima F, Gibelli NE, Santos MM, Ayoub AA, Maksoud-Filho JG, Velhote MC, Silva MM, Andrade WC, Miyatani HT. Multiple clinical presentations of lymphoproliferative disorders in pediatric liver transplant recipients: a single-center experience. Transplant Proc. 2010;42(5):1763–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2010.01.077.
- Akbulut S, Yilmaz S. Liver transplantation in Turkey: historical review and future perspectives. Transplant Rev (Orlando). 2015;29(3):161–7. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.trre.2014.12.002.
- Karakayali H, Haberal M. The history and activities of transplantation in Turkey. Transplant Proc. 2005;37(7):2905–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. transproceed.2005.07.025.
- Haberal M. Transplantation in Turkey. Clin Transpl. 2013;Chapter 20:175–80.
- 72. Haberal M, Buyukpamukcu N, Telatar H, Bilgin N, Arslan G, Simsek H, Ekici E, Karamehmetoglu

M. Segmental living liver transplantation in children and adults. Transplant Proc. 1992;24(6):2687–9.

- 73. Haberal M, Bilgin N, Büyükpamukcu N, Tokyay R, Telatar H, Simsek H, Aslan G, Uzunalimoglu B, Ekici E, Besim A. Living donor hepatectomy in partial liver transplantation: surgical technique and results. Transplant Proc. 1993;25(2):1899–901.
- 74. Wong TC, Fung JYY, Cui TYS, Sin SL, Ma KW, She BWH, Chan ACY, Chok KSH, Dai JWC, Cheung TT, Lo CM. The risk of going small: lowering GRWR and overcoming small-for-size syndrome in adult living donor liver transplantation. Ann Surg. 2020 Mar 20. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.000000000003824.
- 75. Kim SH, Park GC, Hwang S, Ahn CS, Kim KH, Moon DB, Ha TY, Song GW, Jung DH, Cho HD, Kwon JH, Jung YK, Ha SM, Kang SH, Lee SG. Results of adult living donor liver transplantation with sixth-decade donors: a propensity score matching study in a highvolume institution. Ann Transplant. 2018;23:802–7. https://doi.org/10.12659/AOT.911550.
- 76. Hibi T, Wei Chieh AK, Chi-Yan Chan A, Bhangui P. Current status of liver transplantation in Asia. Int J Surg. 2020;82S:4–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2020.05.071.



Individual Patient Assessment and Therapy Decision-Making in a Live Donor-Based Liver Transplant Institute

Brian I. Carr, Sezai Yilmaz, Burak Isik, and Ramazan Kutlu

1 General Approach and Practical Decision-Making

Each newly diagnosed HCC patient will have an assessment of their hepatitis profiles, complete blood count, differential and prothrombin time and standard liver function tests, AFP levels, and CT scan of their chest and abdomen for assessment of tumor extent (maximum tumor diameter, number of hepatic tumor nodules and their location, presence and extent of PVT, assessment of liver contour for cirrhosis, and evaluation of indices of portal hypertension). For patients being considered for resection, an indocyanine green (ICG) test may be performed. For patients being considered for transplantation, an assessment of liver volume and search for a potential liver donor among the

B. I. Carr (🖂)

S. Yilmaz

Inonu University, School of Medicine, Liver Transplantation Institute, Malatya, Turkey e-mail: sezai.yilmaz@inonu.edu.tr

B. Isik

Liver Transplantation Institute, Inonu University, Malatya, Turkey

R. Kutlu

Department of Radiology, Inonu University School of Medicine & Liver Transplantation Institute, Malatya, Turkey e-mail: ramazan.kutlu@inonu.edu.tr patient family are conducted and then a psychosocial assessment of both patient and selected donor.

The patient is then presented to the weekly Liver Tumor Board for whole team assessment while, the all the radiological examinations are projected for all team members to examine. Colleagues present are liver transplant surgical team members - both donor and recipient teams - diagnostic and interventional radiologists, radiation oncologists, hepatologists, medical oncologist, pathologists, psychosocial assessment team, tumor registry, and notetaker. Sometimes a definitive decision cannot be made at a first presentation, and interventional radiological procedures (like image-guided biopsies, mapping angiography) or PET scan assessment of possible lymph nodes are needed.

For patients being considered for resection, an indocyanine green (ICG) test may be performed. For patients being considered for transplantation, an assessment of liver volume and search for a potential liver donor among the patient family are conducted and then a psychosocial assessment of both patient and selected donor.

Patients with BCLC stages 0 or A and very early or early-stage HCC are then assigned to liver resection, local ablation (RFA or MWA), or liver transplantation, depending on the detailed topography of the HCC in relation to major vascular or biliary structures and the functional liver reserve, as only liver transplantation can be potentially curative for limited extent HCC in the presence of uncertain or poor liver function. Ablation is quite suitable for patients without

Translational HCC Research, Liver Transplantation Institute, Inonu University, Malatya, Turkey

portal hypertension (absence of ascites, splenomegaly, or varices and without thrombocytopenia) and with one to two small lesions. We do fewer resections these days as we have a very active liver transplant program, mainly with liver donors, and many of our Middle Eastern families have large families, often with a choice of potential donors to evaluate for liver size appropriateness, blood group compatibility, and absence of psychosocial issues. However, some patients who have excellent liver function, have several unilobar liver lesions, or don't have a live donor can still be considered for liver resection.

The majority of our patients are in intermediate BCLC stage B with multifocal lesions or the subset of advanced stage C that has PVT, but without metastases. For intermediate stage B patients, we offer TACE or increasingly, TARE, because of the small number of treatment sessions needed and the low incidence of side effects, provided their serum total bilirubin levels are <3.0 mg/dL. For patients with major branch PVT and absence of extrahepatic metastases, we offer TARE, due to its safety in this situation, and may also consider SBRT in selected cases. In patients with main stem PVT, their bilirubin is often abnormal and TARE with SBRT or external beam XRT cannot be offered, but only supportive care.

Most of our patients have active chronic HBV infection and are placed throughout their HCC treatments on nucleos(t)ide analog HBV therapy, as it can improve liver function and likely also has an HCC effect. Patients with chronic HCV infection have a postponement of any directacting antiviral (DAA) HCV therapy that they are not already on, till after their HCC treatments.

Our decision-making needs to be flexible and responsive to the changing developments over the patient's disease course. Especially for patients who have beyond-Milan criteria, i.e., HCC nodules >5 cm diameter or multifocality or even branch PVT, a positive transplant decision can be made after a treatment-induced AFP decrease close to normal levels, a tumor shrinkage, or an opening of blood flow has occurred in a previously thrombosed branch PVT.

Therapies being offered to BCLC stage C subsets with normal serum bilirubin levels are on the cusp of changing. The high response rates being reported in the new (2020 and 2021) drug combinations that include immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs), which approach 30% partial responses or even more, are beginning to appear to challenge the responses seen after TACE or TARE therapies. Therefore, at the time of writing, FDAapproved combination bevacizumab (Avastin) plus atezolizumab (Tecentriq) appears to be the first choice in the first line of therapy for nonsurgical HCC patients with advanced stage HCC (BCLC stage C) but may also begin to be attractive for the management of stage B patients who up to now have been offered regional therapies.

At all times and for all disease stages, general medical principles apply, including the need to aggressively treat pain and nausea and offer psychosocial support, as a matter of course and good oncology care. There is no overestimating the importance of the multidisciplinary team in evaluating the changing patient needs over the course of each step in the evolution of the disease process.

2 Therapeutic Choices in Less Wealthy Regions of the Middle East

The Middle East comprises a wide range of countries and a huge range of wealth and provision of services for public medical care, together with some that through recent warfare or political turmoil have had infrastructure damage. Clearly, the best choices have to be made based upon expected patient benefit and availability of medicines and services. Almost everywhere, analgesia and hydration can be offered, as needed. We, in Turkey, are in an intermediate category, with public health services available to everyone, but not always with the most expensive newer medicines. We are fortunate to work in a very modern liver transplant institute with surgical skills on offer that are the equal to anywhere in the world. Other counties are less fortunate than we are. Nevertheless, hepatic resection surgery is typically available. In places where RFA or MWA is not on offer for smaller lesions, percutaneous

ethanol injection (PEI) and acetic acid have cheap components (needle, syringe, alcohol) available almost everywhere and depend only on ultrasound guidance for placement of the needle tip. In several advance countries, cadaveric liver transplantation was not available for many years due to brain death and other ethical and religious issues. Yet many of those countries offered sophisticated and highly competent resection surgery, including in the presence of major branch PVT, which might be treated differently elsewhere. In a fairly advanced country like Turkey, we can offer sorafenib, but the much better ICIs are not available yet through our state insurance. The SHARP trial of sorafenib, which occurred 12 years ago, opened the way to minor responses and a few weeks of extra survival, compared to the preceding era. Combination ICI therapy now seems to be doing that, compared to sorafenib. Thus, medicine and especially oncology advances incrementally, but in this new era of targeted drugs and precision oncology, the rate of progress is increasing. One problem with the newer agents is their high cost. None of them are yet curative, unlike antibiotics, and yet for most of us, a few extra months of life seem worthwhile.

Part III

Country-Specific



Hepatocellular Cancer in Iran

Reza Malekzadeh and Hossein Poustchi

HCC is the second leading cause of years of life lost globally due to cancer, which clearly shows the high disease burden of liver cancer [1]. The survival rate of liver cancers in Asia is reported to be lower than in Europe and North America [3]. An Iranian study demonstrated the mean survival rate of 12.1 months, which is dependent on the tumor size, involved lymph nodes, metastasis, combination therapy of surgery and chemotherapy, and hepatitis B and C coinfection [4].

1 Incidence

In Middle Eastern countries, the prevalence of this cancer is lower compared to sub-Saharan Africa and some Far East countries [1]. Except for Egypt which has a high incidence of HCC, other Middle Eastern countries have a low incidence of HCC [5]. Iran is the second most common country in the Middle East with primary liver cancer report according to the Global Cancer Observatory in the year 2020. This report has changed significantly compared to 2010, in which Iran had the lowest incidence of primary liver cancers in the Middle East with 1.4 and 1.9 per 100,000 persons in male and female, respectively [5] (Table 1). Table 1 depicts the relatively close burden of hepatic cancers via the mortality to incidence ratio (MIR) in various countries of the Middle East, showing a homogenous survival of HCC in the Middle Eastern countries.

By a glance at the prediction of hepatic cancer in the Middle East in 2040, it is obvious that the incidence will be doubled with a stronger increase in males in this region (Fig. 1).

Based on the most recent (2016) reported national population-based cancer registry in Iran (INPCR) during (2014-2016), 7403 liver cancer cases were registered in the INPCR in 3 years [6–8]. The overall ASR of liver cancer in Iran (2014–2016) was 3.3 per 100,000 person-years. While 77.6% of all cancers were diagnosed through microscopic verification (MV%), only 34.6% (2560 cases) of the liver cases were confirmed by pathology [6–8]. Misdiagnosis in the registration process (metastatic liver cancers which were registered as primary liver cancers) may explain a percentage of this reported incidence rate, which demonstrates a false high percentage in Iran. If we only consider the pathology-confirmed cases as the absolute liver cancers in Iran, then the new measured ASR would be 1.19 on the national scale with the maximum report in Ilam by 2.35 and the minimum report in Guilan by 0.63. Based on the 2016 INCPR report, HCC rank 13th among all cancers in Iran in pathology-confirmed cases (Table 2), suggesting that primary liver cancers are not among the 10 most common cancer in Iran [8].

R. Malekzadeh (🖂) · H. Poustchi

Digestive Oncology Research Center, Digestive Research Institute, Shariati Hospital, Tehran University of Medical Science, Tehran, Iran e-mail: malek@tums.ac.ir

There are several reasons for the low incidence of HCC in Iran. A high prevalence (>90%) of HBeAg negative HBV infection [9–11], com-

 Table 1
 Population-based
 Cancer
 Registry
 Data
 for

 Middle Eastern countries incidence and mortality rates for
 primary liver cancers per 100,000 persons in 2020
	Incidence rate ^a			Mortality	
Country	Male	Female	$Both^{\scriptscriptstyle b}$	rate ^a	MIR ^c
Egypt	45.9	22.7	34.1	32.5	0.95
Iran	7.5	6.1	6.8	6.4	0.94
State of	8.3	4.9	6.5	6.4	0.98
Palestine					
Turkey	7.6	3.5	5.3	5.1	0.96
Saudi Arabia	6.8	3.3	5.2	5.1	0.98
Yemen	7.1	3.5	5.1	5	0.98
Qatar	5.7	4	5	4.9	0.98
Kuwait	5.4	4.1	5	4.7	0.94
Cyprus	6.8	2.9	4.8	4.2	0.87
Oman	5.8	2.5	4.4	4.1	0.93
Tunisia	4.7	4	4.3	4	0.93
Bahrain	4	3.4	3.7	3.6	0.97
Iraq	3.6	2.9	3.3	3.2	0.96
Jordan	3.6	2.5	3	3	1
Israel	4.2	1.8	2.9	2.6	0.89
Syria	3.2	2.5	2.9	2.8	0.96
United Arab	2.8	3.2	2.9	2.8	0.96
Emirates					
Lebanon	2.5	2.1	2.3	2.2	0.95

^aThe rates are adjusted for the standard world population ^bThe incidences in both sexes are sorted from the most common to the least common

°MIR: mMortality to incidence ratio

prising almost 95% of HBV infection in Iran [12, 13], resulted in the decline of the incidence of HCC in HBV-related liver disease. Very low prevalence [14] of HCV (<0.4%), low alcohol consumption due to religious beliefs [15] are also important reasons for the low prevalence of HCC at the moment. Suboptimal medical care for the cirrhotic patient and their short survival are other contributing factors; these patients do not liver long enough with cirrhosis to develop cancer.

As was expected, the age-specific incidence rate increases with aging in both genders (Fig. 2) [6-8].

2 Etiology

2.1 Infections

Table 3 demonstrates the most common viral etiologies for HCC in the area; in Iran, HBV was reported as the main viral cause (Table 3)

Genotypes:

The most common genotypes of HBV and HCV are shown in Table 4. Although several studies reported genotype D as the most common genotype of HBV, a study in 2020 found genotypes B and F the most common ones in Iraq. However, the finding has not been confirmed by a larger sample size study yet. The most com-



Fig. 1 Estimated number of new hepatic cancers in 2040

		Number			ASR (pe	r 100,000 pe	rson-years)
Rank	Cancer site	Males	Females	Both genders	Males	Females	Both genders
1	Breast	248	13,787	14,035	0.63	33.62	17.12
2	Skin (nonmelanoma)	6821	4143	10,964	18.17	10.97	14.54
3	Colorectal	5386	4147	9533	14.4	10.82	12.58
4	Stomach	5184	2356	7540	13.85	6.09	9.92
5	Bladder	4876	1001	5877	13.11	2.59	7.79
6	Prostate	5650	-	5650	16.09	-	16.09
7	Thyroid	992	4151	5143	2.32	9.16	5.71
8	Leukemia	2349	1490	3839	6.25	4.04	5.14
9	Lung	2567	1001	3568	7.00	2.65	4.8
10	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	1853	1194	3047	4.76	2.99	3.87
11	Esophagus	1537	1211	2748	4.04	3.22	3.63
12	Brain	1541	1026	2567	3.84	2.57	3.21
13	Liver	545	343	888	1.48	0.90	1.19

Table 2 Liver cancer rank in Iran among all other cancers INPCR based on microscopic verification (2016) [8]



mon HCV genotypes in the Middle East were type 1 and 4. In 2020, Rezaee and colleagues found type 3a as the most common genotype in Iran [23], and they suggested the cause of a high level of 3a lies in the route of transmission. Type 3 is mostly transmitted with shared needles, while type 1 is transmitted among family members. However, this new finding in Iran suggests the probable change of dominant genotype in other countries in the area.

2.2 Non Alcoholic Fatty Liver and HCC

Following universal neonatal (1994) and adulthood vaccination against HBV (2008) and availability of very effective therapy for HBV and HCV in Iran, the incidence of infectious-related HCC has declined. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD)-related HCC among countries in the Middle East is rapidly increasing following the epidemic of obesity and metabolic syndrome in this region [38–40]. Over 24% of Iranians suffer from obesity, a result that is as high as American reports [41]. Several studies have demonstrated an association between metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes mellitus as well as obesity, with HCC, suggesting that NAFLD is playing a significant role in the rising incidence of HCC [42–44]. This finding along with the 30% prevalence of NAFLD among Iranian [15] suggests that in the near future, NAFLD-related liver cancers will become the most common cause of HCC [15, 45, 46]. The main pathogenesis is most likely insulin resistance, related

	Cause of HCC	
	Most	Least
Country	common	common
Egypt [16, 17]	HCV	HBV
Iran [5]	HBV	HCV
State of Palestine [18]	HBV	HCV
Turkey [17]	HBV	HCV
Saudi Arabia [17]	HCV	HBV
Yemen [17]	HBV	HCV
Qatar [19]	HCV	HBV
Kuwait [20]	HBV	HCV
Cyprus [20]	HCV	HBV
Oman [20]	HBV	HCV
Tunisia [21]	HCV	HBV
Bahrain [20]	HBV	HCV
Iraq [20]	HBV	HCV
Jordan [20]	HBV	HCV
Israel [20]	HCV	HBV
Syria [20]	HCV	HBV
United Arab Emirates	HBV	HCV
[20]		
Lebanon [22]	HBV	HCV

Table 3 Most common viral etiology for HCC

Table 4 Most common genotypes of	HBV and	1 HCV
----------------------------------	---------	-------

	HBV	HCV [23,
Country	[24–34]	35–37]
Egypt	D	4
Iran	D	1,3
State of Palestine	D	4
Turkey	D	1
Saudi Arabia	D	4
Yemen	D	No reliable data
Qatar	D	4
Kuwait	D	4
Cyprus	D	1
Oman	D	1
Tunisia	D	1
Bahrain	D	4
Iraq	В	4
Jordan	D	4
Israel	D	1
Syria	D	4
United Arab	D	1
Emirates		
Lebanon	D	1

adipokine changes, stimulation of insulin-like growth factor, and oxidative stress which are the consequence of steatosis and hepatic inflammation [45]. The estimated proportion of HCC attributed to NAFLD in Iran at present time is 25–30% [45]. A subset of individuals with NAFLD develops NASH, a more serious form of liver damage. Population-based studies that have used serum levels of aminotransferases as a surrogate marker for NASH suggest that 3% of Iranian adults (about 25% of those with NAFLD) have NASH [15]. However, several studies demonstrate that HCC could develop in NAFLD subjects even without preexisting cirrhosis by 15-50% of cases being diagnosed without cirrhosis, and majority of these cases had concomitant metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes [47]. Unfortunately, HCC associated with non-cirrhotic NAFLD is less likely to be detected during surveillance and thus is more likely to be more advanced when compared to HCC in cirrhosis patients [46].

Once HCC develops in NAFLD cirrhotic patients, survival appears to be shorter than patients with viral etiology background. This may be due to the older age of NAFLD cirrhotic patients (mean age of 73), and factors such as having larger tumors (due to late diagnosis), greater likelihood to have comorbid heart conditions, and less likelihood to be diagnosed by surveillance in comparison to viral hepatitis cirrhotic patients [48]. But in comparing the survival of cirrhotic and non-cirrhotic NAFLD patients, the expected remaining years are equivalent or better in non-cirrhotic NAFLD patients [46], likely due to preserved liver function. We should mention that patients with concomitant HBV infection and obesity are more likely to develop cirrhosis, thus at higher risk for HCC with poorer survival [49].

Baseline alpha-fetoprotein is an easily obtained serum marker and provides both prognostic and surveillance value for HCC patients in stage 3 liver fibrosis with HBV or HCV infection. Use of this biomarker is quite cost-effective for HCC surveillance [42].

3 Diagnosis

The availability of gastroenterologists and imaging medical facility including sonography, CT scan, and MRI in all provinces and big cities around the country along with clinical pathology laboratories made the diagnosis of HCC very feasible in Iran. Although a study in 2015 found the combination of MRI and DWI the most accurate diagnostic tool (94.79%) [50], ultrasonography is still utilized by some clinicians.

4 Treatment

Treatment by surgery, radiofrequency interventions, and liver transplant is also available in referral centers and is offered to Iranian patients with HCC. Approximately 20% of the patients are qualified for surgery. Most patients are being treated with radiofrequency or other ablation modalities, which have been shown to improve survival rates [51, 52]. Patients with cirrhosis and early HCC who are being diagnosed during screening are offered liver transplantation in Iran. The Shiraz Liver Transplant Center in Iran is one of the most active liver transplant centers in the Middle East region. HCC-related transplant have increased from 1% to 5.5% in Shiraz [54].

5 Prevention

The main strategy to reduce the burden of HCC is early diagnosis and treatment of chronic HBV and HCV viral hepatitis. Several studies in Iran have shown that even advanced fibrosis and early cirrhosis are reversible with effective therapy of the underlying viral infection [56, 72].

Two recent prospective studies demonstrated that statins can reduce the occurrence of HCC in patients infected by hepatitis B and C reported and show a positive role in decreasing the HCC risk in patients with NAFLD due to indirect effect on liver-related diseases [57–59].

A large pragmatic trial of polypill containing aspirin, statin, enalapril, and low-dose hydrochlorothiazide for prevention of cardiovascular disease (CVD) in an urban Iranian population with special focus on NASH has recently been completed and is expected to prevent HCC in addition to CVD in the near future [60]. Table 5 summarizes the strategies for preventing HCC.
 Table 5
 Strategies for prevention of HCC in Iran

1. Obesity management	Mediterranean diet Coffee consumption Adequate physical activity
2. Chemoprophylaxis	Treatment of the underlying viral hepatitis Aspirin use Statin use Antioxidant

6 HCC-Related Research Interests in Iran

Several studies on treatment of HBV and HCV for prevention and reversibility of advanced fibrosis and cirrhosis and large clinical trials for the elimination of HCV are among the most important contribution of Iranian reseachers. The clinical trial, named Enhancing Hepatitis C Linkage to Care (ENHANCE) aims to improve the HCV testing, linkage to care, and treatment of IV drug users in crowded cities of Iran. The pilot studies were conducted and showed the feasibility of this program [61–64].

Randomized controlled trials have shown that screening and prevention of HCC are feasible [65, 66]. We should consider it preventable cancer since the main etiologies of this cancer could be resolved. Effective HBV vaccination [67], concomitant with appropriate treatment of viral hepatitis, autoimmune hepatitis, NAFLD, and metabolic-related chronic liver diseases, can prevent cirrhosis and HCC [68–71].

References

- Akinyemiju T, et al. The Burden of Primary Liver Cancer and Underlying Etiologies From 1990 to 2015 at the Global, Regional, and National Level: Results From the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(12):1683–91.
- Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet. 2020;396(10258):1204–22.
- Hassanipour S, et al. The survival rate of hepatocellular carcinoma in Asian countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Excl J. 2020;19:108–30.

- Sarveazad A, et al. Predictors of 5 year survival rate in hepatocellular carcinoma patients. J Res Med Sci. 2019;24:86.
- Poustchi H, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma in the world and the middle East. Middle East J Dig Dis. 2010;2(1):31–41.
- Annual Report of Iranian National Population-Based Cancer Registry (2014). Ministry of Health and Medical Education. 2018.
- Annual Report of Iranian National Population-Based Cancer Registry (2015). Ministry of Health and Medical Education. 2019.
- Annual Report of Iranian National Population-Based Cancer Registry (2016). Ministry of Health and Medical Education. 2020.
- Global prevalence, treatment, and prevention of hepatitis B virus infection in 2016: a modelling study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;3(6):383–403.
- Merat S, et al. The prevalence of hepatitis B surface antigen and anti-hepatitis B core antibody in Iran: a population-based study. Arch Iran Med. 2009;12(3):225–31.
- Poustchi H, et al. Cohort profile: golestan hepatitis B cohort study- a prospective long term study in northern iran. Middle East J Dig Dis. 2014;6(4):186–94.
- Mohammadi Z, et al. Epidemiological profile of hepatitis B virus infection in Iran in the past 25 years; a systematic review and meta-analysis of general population studies. Middle East J Dig Dis. 2016;8(1):5–18.
- Mozhgani SH, et al. Molecular evolution and phylodynamics of hepatitis B virus infection circulating in Iran. Arch Virol. 2018;163(6):1479–88.
- Merat S, et al. Seroprevalence of hepatitis C virus: the first population-based study from Iran. Int J Infect Dis. 2010;14(Suppl 3):e113–6.
- Sohrabpour A, et al. prevalence of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis in Iran: a population based study. Middle East J Dig Dis. 2010;2(1):14–9.
- Rashed WM, et al. hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in Egypt: a comprehensive overview. J Egypt Natl Canc Inst. 2020;32(1):5.
- Alavian SM, Haghbin H. Relative importance of hepatitis B and C viruses in hepatocellular carcinoma in EMRO countries and the middle east: a systematic review. Hepat Mon. 2016;16(3):e35106.
- Ashtari S, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma in Asia: prevention strategy and planning. World J Hepatol. 2015;7(12):1708–17.
- Rasul K, Al-Azawi S, Chandra P. Hepatocellular carcinoma in Qatar. Gulf J Oncolog. 2013;1:70–5.
- Yapali S, Tozun N. Epidemiology and viral risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma in the eastern mediterranean countries. Hepatoma Res. 2018;4:24.
- Said Y, et al. Epidemiological, clinical and therapeutic features of hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhotic patients. Tunis Med. 2012;90(6):468–72.
- Yaghi C, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma in Lebanon: etiology and prognostic factors associated with short-term survival. World J Gastroenterol. 2006;12(22):3575–80.

- Rezaee N, Babaeekhou L, Ghane M. Hepatitis C virus in Iran; transmission routes, growth in 3a genotype distribution, and lack of liver marker relation with genotypes. J Res Med Sci. 2020;25:96.
- Haghshenas MR, Arabi M, Mousavi T. Hepatitis B genotypes in iran. Mater Sociomed. 2014;26(2):129–33.
- 25. Madihi S, et al. A systematic review of the current hepatitis B viral infection and hepatocellular carcinoma situation in Mediterranean Countries. Biomed Res Int. 2020;2020:7027169.
- 26. Al-Qahtani AA, et al. Molecular epidemiology, phylogenetic analysis and genotype distribution of hepatitis B virus in Saudi Arabia: predominance of genotype D1. Infect Genet Evol. 2020;77:104051.
- Nusair M, et al. Hepatitis B care pathway in Jordan: current situation, gaps and recommended actions. J Virus Erad. 2020;6(1):1–6.
- Antaki N, et al. High prevalence of HBV genotype D in Syria and the clinical characteristics of hepatitis B e antigen-negative chronic hepatitis B. Epidemiol Infect. 2010;138(1):40–4.
- 29. Mohsen R, Al-azzawi R, Ad'hiah A. Hepatitis B virus genotypes among chronic hepatitis B patients from Baghdad, Iraq and their impact on liver function. Gene Reports. 2019;17:100548.
- Janahi EM, et al. Hepatitis B virus genotypes in the kingdom of bahrain: prevalence, gender distribution and impact on hepatic biomarkers. Medicina (Kaunas). 2019:55(10).
- Al Baqlani SA, et al. Molecular epidemiology and genotyping of hepatitis B virus of HBsAg-positive patients in Oman. PLoS One. 2014;9(5):e97759.
- Arıkan A, et al. Molecular epidemiology of hepatitis B virus in Northern Cyprus. Mikrobiyol Bul. 2016;50(1):86–93.
- Sumer U, Sayan M. Molecular epidemiology of hepatitis B virus in Turkish cypriot. Pol J Microbiol. 2019;68(4):449–56.
- Sallam TA, William Tong CY. African links and hepatitis B virus genotypes in the republic of Yemen. J Med Virol. 2004;73(1):23–8.
- Mahmud S, et al. Hepatitis C virus genotypes in the Middle East and North Africa: distribution, diversity, and patterns. J Med Virol. 2018;90(1):131–41.
- Kartashev V, et al. New findings in HCV genotype distribution in selected West European, Russian and Israeli regions. J Clin Virol. 2016;81:82–9.
- 37. Ghaderi-Zefrehi H, et al. The distribution of hepatitis C virus genotypes in Middle Eastern Countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepat Mon. 2016;16(9):e40357.
- 38. Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population-based measurement studies in 128-9 million children, adolescents, and adults. Lancet. 2017;390(10113):2627–42.
- 39. Burden of obesity in the Eastern Mediterranean region: findings from the global burden of disease 2015 study. Int J Public Health. 2018;63(Suppl 1):165–76.

- 40. Bahrami H, et al. Obesity and hypertension in an Iranian cohort study; Iranian women experience higher rates of obesity and hypertension than American women. BMC Public Health. 2006;6:158.
- Rahmani A, et al. Investigation of the Prevalence of Obesity in Iran: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Study. Acta Med Iran. 2015;53(10):596–607.
- 42. Hughes DM, et al. Serum levels of α -fetoprotein increased more than 10 years before detection of hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2021;19(1):162–170.e4.
- Pourshams A, et al. Prevalence and etiology of persistently elevated alanine aminotransferase levels in healthy Iranian blood donors. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2005;20(2):229–33.
- 44. Ostovaneh MR, et al. Nonalcoholic fatty liver: the association with metabolic abnormalities, body mass index and central obesity--a population-based study. Metab Syndr Relat Disord. 2015;13(7):304–11.
- Huang DQ, El-Serag HB, Loomba R. Global epidemiology of NAFLD-related HCC: trends, predictions, risk factors and prevention. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020.
- 46. Lange N, Dufour JF. Changing epidemiology of HCC: how to screen and identify patients at risk? Dig Dis Sci. 2019;64(4):903–9.
- 47. Yang JD, et al. A global view of hepatocellular carcinoma: trends, risk, prevention and management. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;16(10):589–604.
- Younossi ZM, et al. Association of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in the United States from 2004 to 2009. Hepatology. 2015;62(6):1723–30.
- Besharat S, et al. Central obesity and advanced liver stiffness in hepatitis B: result from golestan hepatitis B Cohort study. Arch Iran Med. 2015;18(9):562–6.
- Jalli R, et al. Comparison of the accuracy of dwi and ultrasonography in screening hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with chronic liver disease. Iran J Radiol. 2015;12(1):e12708.
- Firouznia K, et al. Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization therapy for patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepat Mon. 2014;14(12):e25792.
- Ghanaati H, et al. Advances of interventional radiology in treatment of hepatobiliary diseases in Iran. Hepat Mon. 2011;11(7):507–10.
- Shamsaeefar A, et al. Predictors of tumor-free survival after liver transplant in patient with hepatocellular carcinoma. Exp Clin Transplant. 2015;13(Suppl 1):139–44.
- 54. Malek Hosseini SA, et al. Evolution of liver transplantation program in Shiraz. Iran Hepat Mon. 2017;17(11):e60745.
- Lankarani KB, Hosseini SAM. The status of liver transplantation in the Middle East. Clin Liver Dis (Hoboken). 2019;14(6):215–8.
- Malekzadeh R, et al. Reversibility of cirrhosis in chronic hepatitis B. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2004;2(4):344–7.

- 57. Tsan YT, et al. Statins and the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with hepatitis B virus infection. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(6):623–30.
- Eslami L, et al. Statins for non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013:(12):Cd008623.
- 59. Tsan YT, et al. Statins and the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with hepatitis C virus infection. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(12):1514–21.
- 60. Merat S, et al. PolyPill for prevention of cardiovascular disease in an urban Iranian population with special focus on nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: a pragmatic randomized controlled trial within a Cohort (PolyIran - Liver) - study protocol. Arch Iran Med. 2015;18(8):515–23.
- 61. The case for simplifying and using absolute targets for viral hepatitis elimination goals. J Viral Hepat. 2021;28(1):12–9.
- 62. Hariri S, et al. A simple risk-based strategy for hepatitis C virus screening among incarcerated people in a low- to middle-income setting. Harm Reduct J. 2020;17(1):56.
- 63. Alavi M, et al. An intervention to improve HCV testing, linkage to care, and treatment among people who use drugs in Tehran, Iran: The ENHANCE study. Int J Drug Policy. 2019;72:99–105.
- 64. Poustchi H, et al. The impact of illicit drug use on spontaneous hepatitis C clearance: experience from a large cohort population study. PLoS One. 2011;6(8):e23830.
- 65. Poustchi H, et al. Feasibility of conducting a randomized control trial for liver cancer screening: is a randomized controlled trial for liver cancer screening feasible or still needed? Hepatology. 2011;54(6):1998–2004.
- 66. Perry JF, et al. Current approaches to the diagnosis and management of hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Exp Med. 2005;5(1):1–13.
- Katoonizadeh A, et al. Immune responses to hepatitis B immunization 10-18 years after primary vaccination: a population-based cohort study. J Viral Hepat. 2016;23(10):805–11.
- 68. Merat S. SD1000: high sustained viral response rate in 1361 patients with hepatitis C genotypes 1, 2, 3, and 4 using a low-cost, fixed-dose combination tablet of generic Sofosbuvir and Daclatasvir: a multicenter, phase III clinical trial. Clin Infect Dis. 2020;70(10):2206–12.
- 69. Poustchi H, et al. The combination of sofosbuvir and daclatasvir is effective and safe in treating patients with hepatitis C and severe renal impairment. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;35(9):1590–4.
- Malekzadeh R, et al. Reversibility of cirrhosis in autoimmune hepatitis. Am J Med. 2004;117(2):125–9.
- Sohrabpour AA, Mohamadnejad M, Malekzadeh R. Review article: the reversibility of cirrhosis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2012;36(9):824–32.
- 72. Sohrabpour AA, et al. Review article: the reversibility of cirrhosis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2012;36(9):824–32.



Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Kuwait

A. Shaaban, R. Salamah, Y. Abo Elseud, A. Mohanty, and J. Albarrak

1 Introduction

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is the fifth most common cancer worldwide and the third most common cause of cancer mortality, with an estimated worldwide prevalence of 632,000 cases [1]. Data from the Arabian Gulf region indicates that liver cancer is the sixth most common cancer in the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) states, representing 5.2% of all cancers diagnosed between 1997 and 2007. Population-based cancer registry information distributed by Poustchi et al. proposed a yearly frequency of HCC per 100,000 in Kuwait of 8.1:3.6 for males and females. However, few studies addressed epidemiology and risk factors of hepatocellular carcinoma in this region. The fact that HCC incidence is not equally distributed throughout the world reflects the heterogeneous geographical distribution of the relevant environmental risk factors. Major differences in disease incidences exist among countries based on different etiologic factors of disease with more prevalence in the developing countries [2]. For example, the vast majority (>80%) of the cases of HCC occurs in

A. Shaaban (🖂)

Kuwait Cancer Control Centre, Shuwaikh, Kuwait

the Far East and in sub-Saharan Africa, mostly as a consequence of chronic infection with hepatitis B virus (HBV), where the age-standardized incidence rates range between 28.5 and 48.8 per 100,000 males and 11.6 and 14.6 per 100,000 females. Arabian Gulf areas represent a population of around 40 million with very large expatriate communities. In Kuwait, the number expatriates is more than nationals.

2 Environmental Risk Factors

Chronic infection with the hepatitis viruses and alcohol abuse are the most important environmental risk factors for HCC, since these are the relevant etiologic factors for cirrhosis too [3]. In Asia and Africa, the dominant risk factor of HCC is chronic **HBV** infection compared with other low-risk areas like North America and Europe, where HCV infection accounts for the large proportion of cases [4]. In Kuwait, there is limited evidence on the national prevalence of HBV; however, prevalence is expected to be higher in those >30 years of age born before the introduction of the HBV vaccination program. There is also limited data on the burden of HBV-related hepatocellular carcinoma in the country.

HCV Chronic HCV infection is a leading risk factor in the majority of the resource-rich countries [5]. A meta-analysis of 21 case-control studies showed a 17-fold increased risk of HCC in

Minia University Hospital, Clinical Oncology Department, Faculty of Medicine, Minia, Egypt

R. Salamah · Y. A. Elseud · A. Mohanty · J. Albarrak Kuwait Cancer Control Centre, Shuwaikh, Kuwait

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 B. I. Carr (ed.), *Liver Cancer in the Middle East*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78737-0_15

HCV-infected patients compared with HCVnegative controls. HCV increases HCC risk not only by both promoting cirrhosis but also by causing specific genetic lesions to the infected liver cells [6]. In Kuwait, according to study by Shaaban et al., the prevalence of HCV infection is around 40%.

Alcohol has no direct carcinogenic effects on the liver, but chronic consumption of more than 50 g of alcohol per day is associated with an increased risk of cirrhosis in both sexes [7]. In contrary to western societies where alcoholic intake plays a major role in cirrhosis and subsequent development of HCC, data from Kuwait suggest only prevalence of around 3%. An interpretation for this comes mainly from the conservative Islamic nature of Kuwait society where the authorities prohibit alcohol intake by law.

Aflatoxin, a mycotoxin produced by the *Aspergillus flavus* contaminating the foodstuffs stored in warm, dump condition, is a relevant contributor of HCC of regional importance, being associated with increased risk of HCC in HBV-infected persons in parts of Africa and Asia [8]. However, there is insufficient data to shed light on the extent of exposure to this risk factor in Kuwait.

3 Emerging Risk Factors

3.1 Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease [NASH Cirrhosis]

The association between NASH and HCC is strongly supported by case-control studies, but not by prospective studies [9]. However, clinical and epidemiological investigations, which link obesity and diabetes to HCC, support the role of NASH in HCC too. Diabetes mellitus is one of the main etiologic factors of nonalcoholic liver disease (NAFLD)/ fatty NASH. Cohort studies prospectively evaluating patients for extended time periods showed diabetes to be a significant risk factor for HCC and not vice versa and to parallel duration of follow-up [10]. The WHO estimated that there are six Arab countries in the Middle East and North

Africa which are among the ten countries in the world with the highest diabetes and prediabetes prevalence. According to the International Diabetes Federation in 2009, these countries are Saudi Arabia, Oman, Bahrain, Kuwait, UAE, and Egypt. In our study, more than one-third of our patients (40.5%) had diabetes as a risk factor for HCC at presentation.

Hemochromatosis Population studies showed a 1.7-fold increase in the incidence rates of HCC among individuals with hereditary hemochromatosis confirming preliminary observations in smaller studies in related population [11]. There is no data to shed light of impact of such risk factor on incidence of HCC in Kuwait. In conclusion, an increase in HCC incidence is expected in many areas of the world, including Kuwait, as a consequence of the accumulation of patients with cirrhosis due to virus hepatitis. HCV and diabetes mellitus are the main risk factors for HCC incidence among GCC citizens. Half of our patients were Egyptians, and those generally showed four times higher incidence for HCC between males to females compared to other Arab countries.

3.2 Manifestations

Patterns of manifestation – there is a range of clinical presentations for patients with HCC, from being asymptomatic to presenting with a life-threatening illness such as variceal hemorrhage [12]. Many patients who develop HCC have no symptoms specifically related to the tumor, especially for those who have been undergoing regular surveillance and have HCC detected at an early stage [13]. Symptomatic patients and patients with advanced lesions may present with mild to moderate upper abdominal pain, weight loss, early satiety, or a palpable mass in the upper abdomen [14–17].

Paraneoplastic syndromes – patients with HCC may occasionally develop a paraneoplastic syndrome that can manifest with the following features which (except for erythrocytosis) are generally associated with a poor prognosis [18]:

- Hypoglycemia hypoglycemia, which usually occurs in advanced HCC, is thought to result from the tumor's high metabolic needs. Less than 5 percent of tumors secrete insulin-like growth factor-II, which can cause severe, symptomatic hypoglycemia sometimes early in the course of the disease [12, 13].
- Erythrocytosis erythrocytosis in HCC is probably due to tumor secretion of erythropoietin (EPO) [19]. Although raised serum EPO levels may be present in up to 23 percent of patients with HCC, elevations in hemoglobin concentration or packed cell volume are uncommon, and most patients are anemic at diagnosis because of other effects of the tumor [20].
- Hypercalcemia hypercalcemia can be present in association with osteolytic metastases, but it may also be seen in the absence of bony metastasis due to secretion of parathyroid hormone-related protein [21].
- Diarrhea patients with HCC may infrequently present with intractable diarrhea and associated electrolyte disturbances (e.g., hyponatremia, hypokalemia, metabolic alkalosis) [22, 23].
- Cutaneous features although skin changes are rare in patients with HCC, several cutaneous manifestations have been described; however, none is specific for the diagnosis [24].

These include:

- May present with a variety of cutaneous findings (e.g., scaly, violaceous papules overlying bony prominences of the hands) and is associated with solid organ malignancies.
- Foliaceus is a superficial blistering disease similar to pemphigus vulgaris, except that it rarely involves the mucous membranes. Blisters often appear as shallow erosions associated with erythema, scale, and crust formation, and the appearance may resemble severe seborrheic dermatitis.
- Sign of Leser-Trélat refers to the sudden appearance of multiple seborrheic keratoses, often with an inflammatory base in association with skin tags and acanthosis nigricans.

 Rotunda, which is characterized by multiple, round or oval, sharply demarcated scaling patches, has been reported in South African black patients with HCC [25].

Other clinical presentations – the following clinical presentations may be seen in symptomatic patients with HCC:

- Intraperitoneal bleeding due to tumor rupture. Tumor rupture is often associated with sudden onset of severe abdominal pain with distension and an acute drop in the hemoglobin and hypotension and is most commonly diagnosed by abdominal imaging. Computed tomography (CT) of the abdomen typically demonstrates a liver mass and free intraperitoneal blood [26].
- Obstructive jaundice caused by invasion of the biliary tree and compression of the intrahepatic duct or, rarely, as a result of hemobilia.
- Fever developing in association with central tumor necrosis.
- Pyogenic liver abscess (very rare) [27].

Extrahepatic metastases – extrahepatic metastases are present at the time of diagnosis in approximately 10 to 15 percent of cases, and they are more common in patients with advanced stage primary tumors (>5 cm, large vessel vascular invasion). Extrahepatic metastases occur as a component of disease recurrence after locoregional therapy in approximately 5 to 25 percent of patients [28].

The most common sites of extrahepatic metastases are the lung, intra-abdominal lymph nodes, bone [29], and adrenal gland, in that order. Brain metastases are rare overall (0.2 to 2 percent), although a higher rate has been reported in patients who have already developed metastases elsewhere or with locally advanced HCC [29].

3.2.1 Diagnosis of HCC

Most HCC patients are often diagnosed in an advanced stage with poor prognosis, due to absence of specific symptoms in early stages and lack of early diagnostic markers [30]. The diagnosis of HCC can be difficult and often requires

the use of one or more imaging modalities. Ideally, tumors should be detected when they are $\leq 2 \text{ cm}$ in size so that all treatment options can be offered [31]. Some patients had incurable disease at the time of diagnosis [32]. In Kuwait, nearly half of the patient are at advanced stage at time of diagnosis with around 75% of our patient diagnosed based on characteristic CT scan finding.

3.2.2 Biomarkers

Alpha-fetoprotein Elevated serum AFP can also be seen in patients with chronic liver disease without HCC such as acute or chronic viral hepatitis, particularly in hepatitis C [33]. It is generally accepted that serum levels greater than 500 mcg/L in a high-risk patient are diagnostic of HCC (>400 ng/mL predicts for HCC with specificity greater than 95%) [34]. Patients with AFP levels >1000 mcg/L have an extremely high risk of recurrent disease following transplantation, irrespective of the tumor size [35]. AFP is elevated in 75% of cases. The level of elevation correlates inversely with prognosis. Around 25% of HCC cases in Kuwait have elevated AFP >400 at time of diagnosis.

4 Imaging Studies

4.1 Ultrasound

It is the modality of choice for HCC screening and surveillance because of its advantages and its high specificity that reaches over 90% for detecting HCC [36]. However, US sensitivity is limited in the background of cirrhosis and obesity and for detecting small HCC <20 mm [37]. It does not provide sufficient anatomic detail for planning surgical resection or ablation. A significant number of small lesions may not be detected with ultrasound screening (60% sensitive) [38]. US is also operator-dependent. Currently no alternative to US is appropriate for screening because of higher cost, radiation exposure (CT), and long exam times for CE-MRI (at least 30 min). Current practice guidelines do not advocate multiphasic CE-CT or CE-MRI for HCC surveillance. CEUS has the advantage over CT and MRI as it is less

costly and it allows a dynamic contrast evaluation. It has shown excellent sensitivity for detection of hypervascular lesions [39]. CEUS has the same limitations as conventional US, such as operator dependence, limited sensitivity in obese and cirrhotic patients and for small lesions, and limited detection of deep liver lesions [40].

4.2 Computerized Tomography

Triple-phase CT has been found to be highly accurate in the diagnosis and characterization of HCCs but, like US, may miss smaller lesions. Pooled estimates reveal a sensitivity of 68% and a specificity of 93% [41]. Classic CT findings of HCC include a hypervascular pattern with arterial enhancement and rapid washout during the portal venous phase [42]. Multiphasic CT for HCC diagnosis should include four phases: (1) non-contrast phase in order to detect hyperdense structures (such as hemorrhage or changes related to locoregional therapy); (2) late arterial phase, corresponding to the peak of tumor enhancement; (3) portal venous phase (60-70 s postinjection) corresponding to the peak of portal venous and parenchymal enhancement within the liver and the most adequate for venous evaluation; and (4) the delayed venous phase (180 s postinjection) which increases detection of tumor capsule [43]. In tumors with a size between 1 cm and 2 cm, MRI was shown to be superior over CT (sensitivity: 84% vs. 47% for 1–2 cm) [44].

4.3 Magnetic Resonance Imaging

MRI provides an excellent method for characterizing HCC without radiation and the need for iodinated contrast. Technologic improvements have reduced scanning time and improved the specificity of the study. Pooled analysis demonstrated a sensitivity of 81% and a specificity of 85% [45]. HCC demonstrates a variety of features on MRI, depending on the tumor architecture, grade, and amount of intra-tumoral fat and glycogen [46]. MRI sensitivity is excellent for lesions with a size ≥ 2 cm and 1–2 cm (100%) and 84% in a lesion-by-lesion analysis). However, sensitivity falls to 29-43% for lesions with a size <1 cm [47]. CT and MRI have both limited detection of well-differentiated and small HCCs. Furthermore, approximately 40% of HCC are not hypervascular during the arterial phase, including early HCC, infiltrative HCC, and some poorly differentiated HCC, and the presence of washout can be absent in approximately 40–60% of small HCC [48]. The benefits of contrast-enhanced studies must be balanced against the risks if any anatomic or functional renal impairment is possible. Iodinated contrast for CT may worsen renal failure, and gadolinium enhancement on MRI has been linked to a syndrome of severe systemic fibrosis in a patient with renal failure [49].

4.4 Other Imaging Modalities

Several studies have suggested a role for [18F] fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG)-PET scanning for the detection of primary HCCs, tumor staging, assessing response to therapy, and predicting prognosis as an adjunct to CT [50]. The sensitivity of PET in diagnosis of HCC was 55% compared with 90% for CT scanning, although only PET detected some tumors (including distant metastases). Well-differentiated and low-grade tumors had lower activity on PET [51]. FDG uptake has been shown to be a prognostic marker for poorly differentiated tumor, microvascular invasion, shorter recurrence-free survival after curative treatment, and short survival in case of palliative condition [52]. FDG-PET might be a useful imaging modality for identifying extrahepatic metastases, although sensitivity is limited for lesions 1 cm or smaller [53]. With the emergence of quantitative imaging, the use of PET/ MRI hybrid systems is promising [54]. Majority of hepatocellular carcinomas show high levels of PSMA expression on tumor vessels and on canalicular membrane of the tumor cells. Putative diagnostic, prognostic, and therapeutic value of PSMA in HCC warrants further clinically oriented investigations [55].

Biopsy

5

Biopsy is indicated in patients with HCCs that are larger than 2 cm with low AFP or in whom ablative treatment or transplant is contraindicated. Histological diagnosis via liver biopsy may, therefore, be necessary if HCC develops in a non-cirrhotic patient and if imaging studies are inconclusive for being compatible with HCC [56]. Liver biopsy is done under CT or US guidance with varying degrees of sensitivity (66–93%) based on tumor size, operator experience, and needle size) and 100% specificity and positive predictive value [57]. The most common complication of liver biopsy is pain that, including mild discomfort, is reported by up to 84% of patients [58]. Severe complications correlated to liver biopsies, including perforation of gallbladder, bile peritonitis, hemobilia, pneumothorax, or hemothorax, are extremely rare [59]. Severe bleeding is usually evident within 2-4 hours and occurs in 1 out of 2500-10,000 biopsies; nevertheless, late hemorrhage, most likely due to clot dissolution, cannot be neglected [60]. The most quoted study about seeding risk is a meta-analysis that showed a rate of 2.7% in 1340 biopsies [61]. Adding three more recent series to this metaanalysis would obtain much lower rates of seeding, even less than 1% [62]. Histopathological subtypes of HCC according to the WHO include steatohepatitic variant, clear cell variant. macrotrabecular-massive variant, scirrhous variant, chromophobe variant, fibrolamellar HCC (fibrolamellar carcinoma), neutrophil-rich variant, and lymphocyte-rich variant. It has been recently reported that intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma (iCCA) can be misdiagnosed as typical HCC in 4% of cases [63]. Given its rising incidence and poor prognosis, close attention is needed to differentiate iCCA from HCC [64].

Liquid Biopsy A liquid biopsy entails the analysis of tumor components released into the bloodstream [65]. Liquid biopsies could provide a valuable tool to overcome tumor heterogeneity, which is particularly pronounced in multifocal and advanced HCC, both at genomic and transcriptional levels [66].

6 Treatment of Hepatocellular Carcinoma

6.1 Liver Transplant and Hepatic Resection

Hepatic resection (HR) is a recommended approach for fit patients in whom Milan criteria for hepatic resection are fulfilled. It had a 5-year overall survival (OS) rate of 60-70%. Unfortunately, more than half of patients with primary HCC are diagnosed when their disease has reached the intermediate or advanced stages. Most of these patients developed multinodular tumors or macrovascular invasion. At a retrospective record of our patients in Kuwait, 61.2% of our patients demonstrated multifocal tumors at the time of diagnosis with liver resection only done in nine patients (8.3%). Additionally, 23.4% proved to have a macroscopic vascular invasion. This reflects the advanced nature of HCC in Kuwait society which limits many treatment options. Extrahepatic spread to the lymph nodes, lung, and bone is recorded in 21.6%, 9.9%, and 6.3% respectively.

7 Nonsurgical Treatment

A. Locoregional Therapies

Transarterial chemoembolization is an effective treatment for unresectable HCC patients with intermediate stage. However, it is contraindicated in those with decompensated cirrhosis, high tumor burden, tumor nodules ≥ 10 cm, and bile duct obstruction. In Kuwait, TACE services are offered widely through interventional radiology team bases at Amiri and Mubarak Hospital. Around 13% of HCC patients diagnosed between 2008 and 2017 received TACE to control their malignancy. TARE services are offered as well through Mubarak Hospital and Kuwait Cancer Control Center but in a narrow scale.

B. Ablation

Ablation leads to tumor tissue necrosis with 5-year survival between 38% and 60%. Ablative

therapy is indicated for HCC patients with small liver cancer, Child-Pugh class A or B, up to three tumors each 3 cm or smaller in diameter. Radiofrequency ablation is widely practiced in Kuwait. Between 2008 and 2017, around 8% of HCC patients were subjected to RFA. Microwave ablation is also offered but in a narrow scale.

C. Pharmacological Treatments.

1. First-Line Systemic Therapy Sorafenib.

Sorafenib is an oral multikinase inhibitor approved for unresectable HCC since 2007, based on SHARP and ORIENTAL trial. During sorafenib treatment, associated toxicities were observed, including gastrointestinal upset, anorexia, hand-foot skin reactions, and fatigue with an overall 30% occurrence of grade 3-4 severity events requiring permanent discontinuation in approximately 28% of treated patients. In our retrospective data for HCC patients, 35% received systemic treatment with sorafenib, and they showed a better median overall survival of 9 months compared to 1 month only for those who did not receive sorafenib. Around 17% of our HCC patients who have HCV as their viral etiology and received sorafenib showed a median overall survival of 7 months, compared to 16% HCC with nonviral etiology and who received sorafenib showing a median overall survival of 12 months. At current, the majority of our patients can get access to treatment through patient help fund programs.

8 Lenvatinib

Lenvatinib, an oral multikinase inhibitor, is a potent inhibitor of VEGFR1–3. Lenvatinib was approved based on recent open-label, phase III, multicenter, non-inferiority trial (REFLECT). This trial demonstrated lenvatinib was non-inferior to sorafenib in OS in unresectable HCC with mOS of 13.6 months for lenvatinib group versus 12.3 months in the sorafenib group. In Kuwait, our patients with Child-Pugh A can get access to lenvatinib free of charge if holding Kuwait nationality.

9 Nivolumab

Nivolumab is a programmed cell death protein-1 (PD-1) immune checkpoint inhibitor. CheckMate 040 suggested overall objective response rate (ORR) of 15%, with a disease control rate (DCR) of 58% and an OS of 15 months in patients with aHCC with or without chronic viral hepatitis were demonstrated. CheckMate 459, a randomized, multicenter phase III study of nivolumab vs. sorafenib as first-line treatment in patients with aHCC, failed to show OS superiority for nivolumab after follow-up of 22.8 month. In Kuwait, nivolumab is not used as first-line treatment for patient with aHCC.

10 Second-Line Systemic Therapy

10.1 Regorafenib

Regorafenib, an oral multikinase inhibitor, targets (VEGFR1-3, TIE2), angiogenic stromal (PDGFR-β, FGFR), and oncogenic receptor tyrosine kinases (KIT, RET, and RAF) [125]. RESORCE study, a randomized, double-blind, parallel-group, phase III trial, 573 HCC patients who tolerated sorafenib were randomly assigned in a 2:1 ratio to receive regorafenib (oral dose 160 mg daily during weeks 1-3 of each 4-week cycle) or matching placebo (once daily during weeks 1-3 of each 4-week cycle). The results showed overall survival benefit with a hazard ratio of 0.63 (95% CI, 0.50-0.79; one-sided P < 0.0001) and median survival of 10.6 months (95% CI, 9.1-12.1) for regorafenib versus 7.8 months for placebo that the survival benefits from regorafenib were superior to placebo.

10.2 Cabozantinib

Cabozantinib is an oral multiple tyrosine kinase receptor inhibitor with activity against VEGFR1– 3, MET, and AXL, and inhibition of c-MET and VEGFR decreases resistance of VEGFR inhibitor via c-MET axis. Based on phase III trial (CELESTIAL), randomized previously treated HCC patients to receive cabozantinib (60 mg once daily) or matching placebo, and the results showed the mOS was 10.2 months in the cabozantinib group and 8.0 months in the placebo group (HR for death, 0.76; 95% CI, 0.63 to 0.92; P = 0.005). Median PFS was 5.2 months in cabozantinib group and 1.9 months in placebo. This treatment is available in Kuwait as second line for HCC.

10.3 Ramucirumab

Ramucirumab is a recombinant IgG1 monoclonal antibody and VEGFR-2 antagonist approved for aHHC based on phase III trial (REACH), 565 patients were enrolled at second-line setting to receive ramucirumab with 8 mg/kg every 2 weeks, and 282 were assigned to receive placebo only. The result show improved mOS by 1.6 months for ramucirumab compared to placebo. Subgroup analysis showed that patients with elevated serum alpha fetoprotein (> 400 ng/ mL) achieved a better OS benefit from ramucirumab treatment compared with placebo. The mOS in ramucirumab group was 7.8 months, which was significantly greater than 4.2 months in placebo group. This was confirmed by a randomized. double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase III trial (REACH-2) study. This study suggested that second-line treatment with ramucirumab significantly improved overall survival in HCC patients with higher α -fetoprotein level of at least 400 ng/mL. Moreover in Kuwait, ramucirumab is available for Kuwaiti patients. Recently, non-Kuwaiti patients can get access to ramucirumab through patient help fund programs.

10.4 Pembrolizumab

Pembrolizumab is a PD-1 monoclonal antibody that was studied in advanced HCC. KEYNOTE-224, a nonrandomized, multicenter, open-label, phase II trial, proved the efficacy and safety of pembrolizumab in patients with aHCC previously treated with sorafenib. KEYNOTE-240, a randomized, double-blind, phase III, followed to confirm this finding. Unfortunately, the mOS was 13.9 months for pembrolizumab group versus 10.6 months in placebo group. The median PFS was 3 months versus 2.8 months for pembrolizumab versus placebo. It was showed that these differences did not reach statistical significance. As a result, this treatment is no more indicated in Kuwait.

References

- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Ervik M, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, et al. GLOBOCAN 2012: cancer incidence and mortality, version 1.1. IARC Cancer Base ed. Lyon: IARC; 2014.
- Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, Shibuya K, Aboyans V, et al. Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet. 2012;380(9859):2095–128.
- Global, regional, and national age-sex specific allcause and cause-specific mortality for 240 causes of death, 1990–2013: avsystematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet. 2015;385(9963):117–71.
- World Health Organization. Hepatitis B: Fact sheet No.204. 2015.
- Mohd HK, Groeger J, Flaxman AD, Wiersma ST. Global epidemiology of hepatitis C virus infection: new estimates of age-specific antibody to HCV seroprevalence. Hepatology. 2013;57(4):1333–42.
- Messina JP, Humphreys I, Flaxman A, Brown A, Cooke GS, Pybus OG, et al. Global distribution and prevalence of hepatitis C virus genotypes. Hepatology. 2015;61(1):77–87.
- IARC Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. Alcohol consumption and ethyl carbamate. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinogenic Risks Hum. 2010;96:3–1383.
- Yu MW, Lien JP, Chiu YH, Santella RM, Liaw YF, Chen CJ. Effect of aflatoxin metabolism and DNA adduct formation on hepatocellular carcinoma among chronic hepatitis B carriers in Taiwan. J Hepatol. 1997;27(2):320–30.
- Vernon G, Baranova A, Younossi ZM. Systematic review: the epidemiology and natural history of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in adults. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2011;34(3):274–85.
- Younossi ZM, Otgonsuren M, Henry L, Venkatesan C, Mishra A, Erario M, et al. Association of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in the United States from 2004 to 2009. Hepatology:2015.

- Fellows IW, Stewart M, Jeffcoate WJ, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma in primary haemochromatosis in the absence of cirrhosis. Gut. 1988;29:1603–6.
- Eastman RC, Carson RE, Orloff DG, et al. Glucose utilization in a patient with hepatoma and hypoglycemia. Assessment by a positron emission tomography. J Clin Invest. 1992;89:1958.
- Tietge UJ, Schöfl C, Ocran KW, et al. Hepatoma with severe non-islet cell tumor hypoglycemia. Am J Gastroenterol. 1998;93:997.
- Simmons OL, Feng Y, Parikh ND, Singal AG. Primary care provider practice patterns and barriers to hepatocellular carcinoma surveillance. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;17:766.
- Atkins D, Ross D, Kelley M. Acting in the face of uncertainty. Ann Intern Med. 2014;161:300.
- Kansagara D, Papak J, Pasha AS, et al. Screening for hepatocellular carcinoma in chronic liver disease: a systematic review. Ann Intern Med. 2014;161:261.
- Kew MC, Dos Santos HA, Sherlock S. Diagnosis of primary cancer of the liver. Br Med J. 1971;4:408.
- Luo JC, Hwang SJ, Wu JC, et al. Clinical characteristics and prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma patients with paraneoplastic syndromes. Hepatogastroenterology. 2002;49:1315.
- Sakisaka S, Watanabe M, Tateishi H, et al. Erythropoietin production in hepatocellular carcinoma cells associated with polycythemia: immunohistochemical evidence. Hepatology. 1993;18:1357.
- Kew MC, Fisher JW. Serum erythropoietin concentrations in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer. 1986;58:2485.
- Yen TC, Hwang SJ, Wang CC, et al. Hypercalcemia and parathyroid hormone-related protein in hepatocellular carcinoma. Liver. 1993;13:311.
- Bruix J, Castells A, Calvet X, et al. Diarrhea as a presenting symptom of hepatocellular carcinoma. Dig Dis Sci. 1990;35:681.
- Steiner E, Velt P, Gutierrez O, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma presenting with intractable diarrhea. A radiologic-pathologic correlation. Arch Surg. 1986;121:849.
- Gregory B, Ho VC. Cutaneous manifestations of gastrointestinal disorders. Part II. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1992;26:371.
- Berkowitz I, Hodkinson HJ, Kew MC, DiBisceglie AM. Pityriasis rotunda as a cutaneous marker of hepatocellular carcinoma: a comparison with its prevalence in other diseases. Br J Dermatol. 1989;120:545.
- Lin YT, Liu CJ, Chen TJ, et al. Pyogenic liver abscess as the initial manifestation of underlying hepatocellular carcinoma. Am J Med. 2011;124:1158.
- Uka K, Aikata H, Takaki S, et al. Clinical features and prognosis of patients with extrahepatic metastases from hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. 2007;13:414.
- Yuki K, Hirohashi S, Sakamoto M, et al. Growth and spread of hepatocellular carcinoma. A review of 240 consecutive autopsy cases. Cancer. 1990;66:2174.

- Yang Y, Nagano H, Ota H, et al. Patterns and clinicopathologic features of extrahepatic recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma after curative resection. Surgery. 2007;141:196.
- Kobayashi T, Aikata H, Kobayashi T, Ohdan H, Arihiro K, Chayama K. Patients with early recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma have poor prognosis. Hepatobil Pancreat Dis Inter. 2017;16(3):279–88.
- Simmons OL, Feng Y, Parikh ND, Singal AG. Primary care provider practice patterns and barriers to hepatocellular carcinoma surveillance. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;17:766.
- 32. Llovet JM, Fuster J, Bruix J, Barcelona-Clínic Liver Cancer Group. The Barcelona approach: diagnosis, staging, and treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Liver Transpl. 2004;10(2 Suppl 1):S115–20.
- Collier J, Sherman M. Screening for hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 1998;27:273.
- Wu JT. Serum alpha-fetoprotein and its lectin reactivity in liver diseases: a review. Ann Clin Lab Sci. 1990;20:98.
- 35. Pomfret EA, Washburn K, Wald C, Nalesnik MA, Douglas D, et al. Report of a national conference on liver allocation in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States. Liver Transpl. 2010;16:262.
- Bolondi L. Screening for hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhosis. J Hepatol. 2003;39(6):1076–84.
- 37. Kim SY, An J, Lim Y-S, Han S, Lee J-Y, Byun JH, et al. MRI with liver-specific contrast for surveillance of patients with cirrhosis at high risk of hepatocellular carcinoma. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(4):456–63.
- 38. Colli A, Fraquelli M, Casazza G, Massironi S, Colucci A, Conte D, et al. Accuracy of ultrasonography, spiral CT, magnetic resonance, and alpha-fetoprotein in diagnosing hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review. Am J Gastroenterol. 2006;101(3):513–23.
- 39. Takahashi M, Maruyama H, Shimada T, Kamezaki H, Sekimoto T, Kanai F, et al. Characterization of hepatic lesions (≤30 mm) with liver-specific contrast agents: a comparison between ultrasound and magnetic resonance imaging. Eur J Radiol. 2013;82(1):75–84.
- 40. Claudon M, Dietrich CF, Choi BI, Cosgrove DO, Kudo M, Nolsøe CP, et al. Guidelines and good clinical practice recommendations for Contrast Enhanced Ultrasound (CEUS) in the liver – update 2012: a WFUMB-EFSUMB initiative in cooperation with representatives of AFSUMB, AIUM, ASUM. FLAUS and ICUS. Ultrasound Med Biol. 2013;39(2):187–210.
- 41. Colli A, Fraquelli M, Casazza G, Massironi S, Colucci A, Conte D, et al. Accuracy of ultrasonography, spiral CT, magnetic resonance, and alpha-fetoprotein in diagnosing hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review. Am J Gastroenterol. 2006;101(3):513–23.
- Lencioni R, Cioni D, Della Pina C, Crocetti L, Bartolozzi C. Imaging diagnosis. Semin Liver Dis. 2005;25(2):162–70.

- Choi J-Y, Lee J-M, Sirlin CB. CT and MR imaging diagnosis and staging of hepatocellular carcinoma: part I. Development, growth, and spread: key pathologic and imaging aspects. Radiology. 2014;272(3):635–54.
- 44. Burrel M, Llovet JM, Ayuso C, Iglesias C, Sala M, Miquel R, et al. MRI angiography is superior to helical CT for detection of HCC prior to liver transplantation: an explant correlation. Hepatology. 2003;38(4):1034–42.
- Kulik LM, Mulcahy MF, Omary RA, Salem R. Emerging approaches in hepatocellular carcinoma. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2007;41(9):839–54.
- 46. Yang SH, Suh KS, Lee HW, Cho EH, Cho JY, et al. The role of (18)F-FDG-PET imaging for the selection of liver transplantation candidates among hepatocellular carcinoma patients. Liver Transpl. 2006;12:1655–60.
- Khan MA, Combs CS, Brunt EM, Lowe VJ, Wolverson MK, et al. Positron emission tomography scanning in the evaluation of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2000;32:792–7.
- Cho KJ, Choi NK, Shin MH, Chong AR. Clinical usefulness of FDG-PET in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma undergoing surgical resection. Ann Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg. 2017;21(4):194–8.
- Sugiyama M, Sakahara H, Torizuka T, Kanno T, Nakamura F, et al. 18F-FDG PET in the detection of extra- hepatic metastases from hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gastroenterol. 2004;39:961–8.
- 50. Sangiovanni A, Manini MA, Iavarone M, Romeo R, Forzenigo LV, Fraquelli M, et al. The diagnostic and economic impact of contrast imaging techniques in the diagnosis of small hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhosis. Gut. 2010;59(5):638–44.
- 51. Khan AS, Hussain HK, Johnson TD, Weadock WJ, Pelletier SJ, Marrero JA. Value of delayed hypointensity and delayed enhancing rim in magnetic resonance imaging diagnosis of small hepatocellular carcinoma in the cirrhotic liver. J Magn Reson Imaging: JMRI. 2010;32(2):360–6.
- Hectors S, Wagner M, Besa C, Huang W, Taouli B. Multiparametric FDG-PET/MRI of hepatocellular carcinoma: initial experience. Contrast Media Mol Imaging. 2018;2018:5638283.
- 53. Tolkach Y, Goltz D, Kremer A, Ahmadzadehfar H, Bergheim D, et al. Prostate-specific membrane antigen expression in hepatocellular carcinoma: potential use for prognosis and diagnostic imaging. Jun 25. 2019;10(41):4149–60.
- Di Tommaso L, Spadaccini M, Donadon M, Personeni N, Elamin A, Aghemo A, Lleo A, et al. Role of liver biopsy in hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. 2019;25(40):6041–52.
- 55. Caturelli E, Solmi L, Anti M, Fusilli S, Roselli P, Andriulli A, Fornari F, Del Vecchio BC, de Sio I. Ultrasound guided fine needle biopsy of early hepa-

tocellular carcinoma complicating liver cirrhosis: a multicentre study. Gut. 2004;53:1356–62.

- 56. Eisenberg E, Konopniki M, Veitsman E, Kramskay R, Gaitini D, Baruch Y. Prevalence and characteristics of pain induced by percutaneous liver biopsy. Anesth Analg. 2003;96:1392–6, table of contents.
- 57. Gilmore IT, Burroughs A, Murray-Lyon IM, Williams R, Jenkins D, Hopkins A. Indications, methods, and outcomes of percutaneous liver biopsy in England and Wales: an audit by the British Society of Gastroenterology and the Royal College of Physicians of London. Gut. 1995;36:437–41.
- Reichert CM, Weisenthal LM, Klein HG. Delayed hemorrhage after percutaneous liver biopsy. J Clin Gastroenterol. 1983;5:263–6.
- 59. Silva MA, Hegab B, Hyde C, Guo B, Buckels JA, Mirza DF. Needle track seeding following biopsy of liver lesions in the diagnosis of hepatocellular cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Gut. 2008;57:1592–6.
- Szpakowski JL, Drasin TE, Lyon LL. Rate of seeding with biopsies and ablations of hepatocellular carcinoma: a retrospective cohort study. Hepatol Commun. 2017;1:841–51.

- 61. Colli A, Fraquelli M, Casazza G, Massironi S, Colucci A, Conte D, et al. Accuracy of ultrasonography, spiral CT, magnetic resonance, and alpha-fetoprotein in diagnosing hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review. Am J Gastroenterol. 2006;101(3):513–23.
- Lencioni R, Cioni D, Della Pina C, Crocetti L, Bartolozzi C. Imaging diagnosis. Semin Liver Dis. 2005;25(2):162–70.
- 63. Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, Parkin DM, Forman D, Bray F. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer. 2015;136:E359–86.
- Patel T. Cholangiocarcinoma--controversies and challenges. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011;8:189–200.
- 65. Crowley E, Di Nicolantonio F, Loupakis F, Bardelli A. Liquid biopsy: monitoring cancer-genetics in the blood. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2013;10:472–84.
- 66. Xu LX, He MH, Dai ZH, Yu J, Wang JG, Li XC, Jiang BB, Ke ZF, Su TH, Peng ZW, Guo Y, Chen ZB, Chen SL, Peng S, Kuang M. Genomic and transcriptional heterogeneity of multifocal hepatocellular carcinoma. Ann Oncol. 2019.



Insights on Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Saudi Arabia

Mohammad Althubiti and Mohammad Alfayez

1 Background

HCC is one of the leading causes of cancerrelated mortality. It is ranked as the fifth most common cancer and the third leading cause of cancer death globally. HCC accounts for 7.5% and 3.5% of cancer types in men and women, respectively [1]. In areas where hepatitis C (HCV) and B (HBV) viruses are prevalent, the incidence of HCC increases after the age of 20 years and reaches a peak at around 50 years of age. However, in most western countries, the incidence of HCC reaches its peak at 75 years of age [2, 3]. In Saudi Arabia, HCC is the sixth and twelfth most common cancer in men and women, respectively [4]. The age-standardized incidence rate (ASIR) for liver cancer in Saudi Arabia is 4.5 per 100,000 people [5]. When this number is compared with the global incidence rate of 5.3 per 100,000, the incidence rate of liver cancer in Saudi Arabia is between the highest and lowest global rates. However, most patients diagnosed

M. Alfayez Faculty of Medicine, Umm Al-Qura University, Makkah, Saudi Arabia

Department of Oncology, King Abdullah Medical City, Makkah, Saudi Arabia e-mail: malfayez@nhs.net with HCC in Saudi Arabia are in the late stages with poor prognosis and a higher mortality rate compared with other countries where early detection is more common [6, 7]. Hence, a robust screening program for HCC in regions where HBV and HCV are endemic such as Saudi Arabia should be a priority for healthcare providers. In Saudi Arabia, a study on hepatitis B screening observed that 7% of the children tested were positive for hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) [8]. This has declined to less than 0.3% after introducing a compulsory vaccine for hepatitis A and B [9]. Due to the introduction of these compulsory vaccines, a lower prevalence of HBV is anticipated in the future. Other risk factors of HCC development, such as cirrhosis, obesity, aflatoxin B1, and others, also play an important role in the prevalence of the disease in Saudi Arabia.

2 Risk Factors for HCC in Saudi Arabia

2.1 Hepatitis B

Hepatitis B infection is considered the most important factor for HCC development in many countries. Globally, chronic hepatitis B causes more than half of HCC cases, with some regional differences, such as a high percentage of HCC caused by HBV in Korea [10].

M. Althubiti (🖂)

Clinical Biochemistry Department, Faculty of Medicine, Umm Al-Qura University, Makkah, Saudi Arabia e-mail: mathubiti@uqu.edu.sa

Many studies have investigated the epidemiological status of HBV in Saudi Arabia [11–17]; the prevalence of HBV infection in Saudi Arabia is slightly lower than the global prevalence [7]. A reduction in the prevalence of HBV has been noticed in the country over time, and thus, a low current rate is anticipated [18]. The estimation of HBV rate is mostly based on the findings of screening studies. However, these studies do not reflect the actual number, as some studies focused on high-risk groups such as IV addicts' abusers and human immunodeficiency virus-positive patients. A recent and more representative study in Saudi Arabia that included a large population of more than 70,000 participants who underwent premarital testing showed that the prevalence of HBV was 1.3 % [19].

Patients with chronic hepatitis B have a high risk of developing more serious diseases such as HCC [20]. In Saudi Arabia, the Systematic Observatory Liver Disease (SOLID) registry has data regarding the mortality from end-stage liver diseases [21]. Data has been collected from multiple centers around the country. One study showed that approximately 35% of HCC patients had HBV [22]. Other surveys found that 24–36% of HCC patients were HBV-positive [23].

In Arabic-speaking countries, the mortality of HBV-related HCC is doubled to more than 130% compared to the rest of the world between 1990 and 2010 [24]. A current study from the SOLID registry including screened persons between 2010 and 2015 concluded that HBV-positive people are still young, and the probability of developing HCC is very high in the future [25]. These findings suggest that there will be a rise in HCC cases in Saudi Arabia, while the prevalence of HBV will decrease. This high HBV prevalence was registered in the periods before the introduction of compulsory vaccines.

2.2 Hepatitis C

Hepatitis C is a major contributing factor for the development of HCC in developed countries. In Saudi Arabia, the prevalence of HCV infection is

not well-known. A screening program of donated blood suggested that the prevalence of HCV in blood donors is approximately 0.4-1.1% [26]. Premarital testing showed that the prevalence of HCV was 0.33% [27].

An important connection between the prevalence of HCV infection and HCC cases in Saudi Arabia has been suggested previously. A study reported that 74% of HCC cases were HCVpositive [28]. Another study found that approximately 40% of HCC cases were HCV-positive in the western region of the country [29]; however, this study included many ethnicities, which may not reflect the actual HCV status in the Saudi population. In a more recent study from Riyadh, 64% of the HCC cases had an HCV infection with very advanced cirrhosis [30].

Although HCV seems to play a major role in HCC development in Saudi Arabia, screening and treatment plans using oral direct-acting antiviral agents that provide cure rates of up to 90% in HCV patients may eradicate HCC in the future. The drugs are available through the "Saudi special access programs" at different prices [31]. Therefore, a strategic plan should be established in Saudi Arabia according to the World Health Organization plan to eradicate HCV by 2030.

2.3 Cirrhosis

Cirrhosis is considered to be one of the main risk factors of HCC development, regardless of the cause. A cohort study showed that 50–70% of cirrhotic patients died from HCC [32, 33]. Factors such as gender, sex, age, and the period of cirrhosis are associated with the risk of HCC development [34]. In Saudi Arabia, a study involving more than 200 patients with HCC found that cirrhosis was the main cause of HCC development [28]. In this study, 70% of the patients were male, 48% had hepatitis C, 31% had hepatitis B, and 21% had cryptogenic cirrhosis. Another recent study showed that cirrhosis was found in 80% of HCC cases [30]. The previous data are consistent with the global reported numbers.

2.4 Aflatoxin B1

Aflatoxin B1 (AFB1), derived from some fungal species, is one of the HCC development factors in some African and Asian countries [35]. It is believed that this toxin has carcinogenic effects on the liver of highly vulnerable people, such as those with chronic hepatitis [36]. Studies suggested that the effect of AFB1 on HCC development is secondary to genetic variations [37]. In Saudi Arabia, a study showed that AFB1 levels were detectable in 79% of patients with liver diseases of unknown etiology [38]. A high AFB1 level was found in 4% of processed meat products sold in Riyadh [39]. No similar studies were carried out in the other regions. No study has examined the exposure of HCC patients in Saudi Arabia to AFB1.

2.5 Other Risk Factors

Several studies have shown an association between fatty liver disorders and an increase in the chance of developing HCC in obese people [40, 41]. Furthermore, the risk of developing HCC is high in the presence of other factors such as hepatitis C and diabetes [42]. It has been assumed that the prevalence of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) in Saudi Arabia is 24% [43]. The number of diabetic patients in Saudi Arabia according to the International Diabetes Federation is more than 4 million. These cases represent approximately 20% of the population [44]. An increase in diabetes cases probably has an impact on many diseases such as HCC. In a study involving a Saudi population, 56% of HCC cases had diabetes, and 62% of the cases had both hepatitis C and diabetes [30]. These findings indicate that diabetes and obesity may play a role in the prevalence of HCC in Saudi Arabia.

Heavy alcohol consumption has been associated with an increasing incidence of HCC [45]. In Saudi Arabia, the role of alcohol consumption in HCC has been underestimated since its consumption is prohibited. However, this ban could encourage smuggling or the production of lowquality alcohol that could affect liver function. According to results from the Global Burden of Disease, 17% of the liver cancer cases in Saudi Arabia is as a result of alcohol consumption [7]. The role of alcohol in the prevalence of HCC in Saudi Arabia remains an area of potential future research.

3 Geographical, Gender, and Age Variations in HCC in Saudi Arabia

There is a variation in the incidence and mortality of HCC in different geographical locations in Saudi Arabia. According to the Saudi registry, in 2015, 376 liver cancer (LC) confirmed cases were reported, of which 77% were HCC cases. LC ranked 6th and 12th among Saudi men and women, respectively [46]. In addition, 72.9% of the cases were male, and 27.1% were female, with a maleto-female ratio of 2.6:1. The age-standardized rate (ASR) was 4 and 1.5 for males and females per 100,000, respectively. The case distribution in Saudi Arabia varied among the cities. Riyadh showed the highest ASR in which males accounted for 6.7 per 100,000, followed by the Eastern region and Tabouk that both registered an ASR of 4.6 per 100,000. The ASR in Najran and Makkah was 4.3 and 3.7 per 100,0000, respectively. For females, Riyadh also had the highest ASR (2.5 per 100,000), then the Eastern region (2.3 per 100,000), and Hail and Juof cities (2.1 per 100,000) [46]. The reason for this difference is unknown since the prevalence of HBV and HCV in these provinces is not high compared to other regions of the country [18, 47]. This could be caused by genetic variations or other confounding factors existing in the different regions of the country.

HCC in Saudi Arabia is more common in elderly people compared to youngers. For people of age 1–40 years, 40–50 years, 50–75 years, and older than 75 years, the confirmed HCC cases were in between 0.2 and 0.6%, 1.8 and 7%, 10 and 15%, and 27%, respectively, for the period between 2004 and 2014 [5]. These are compatible with falling of incidence of HCV and HBV in younger populations compared to older populations in the country.

4 Clinical Manifestations

The main features of HCC are right upper quadrant pain and weight loss. Other features such as weakness, ascites, and jaundice are nonspecific presentations of the disease. The features of HCC depend on the stage and presence of cirrhosis [48]. In Saudi Arabia, reported studies of HCC features in the country were not different from the documented features globally. A study in Saudi Arabia found that 91% of the patients presented with hepatomegaly, 76% complained of abdominal pain, 33% had splenomegaly, and 33% presented with abdominal swelling [49]. More than 90% of patients had abnormal liver function tests [50].

5 HCC Diagnosis

HCC diagnosis in Saudi Arabia, like elsewhere, includes a combination of radiological and laboinvestigations. ratory Various imaging approaches, specifically cross-sectional imaging, are important in HCC management. These facilities permit the detection, classification, and staging of HCC cases and the establishment of a suitable treatment and follow-up. In Saudi Arabia, clinical imaging modalities for HCC diagnosis are accessible and available in all tertiary care centers. In addition, trained radiologists are available in most government hospitals, but are few in private hospitals [48]. The majority of tertiary centers have adopted western guidelines for the diagnosis of HCC [46].

6 HCC Management

Management of HCC patients in Saudi Arabia is conducted using different approaches according to the Saudi guidelines for the diagnosis and management of hepatocellular carcinoma that are continuously updated by the Saudi Association for the Study of Liver Diseases and Transplantation (SASLT) [48]. SASLT recommended that management of HCC should occur in a tertiary center which can offer multidisciplinary expertise [48]. It has adopted the American Association for the Study of Liver Disease (AASLD) guidelines for the management of HCC. AASLD has produced a viable algorithm for the management of HCC [51]. The management of HCC is dependent on the number of factors, including tumor stage and size. It is also dependent on the biochemical liver function and the general performance of the patient. The Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer staging is an adopted prognostic model in Saudi Arabia [48].

Orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT) is considered the most effective method for HCC treatment, as the entire tumor tissue is removed and replaced with more functional tissue [52]. Although this option is available in Saudi Arabia, the shortage of organs for transplantation in the country limits the transplantation opportunities for many HCC cases. In addition, the country lacks cadaveric organ donors due to religious and cultural issues. Liver transplantation from living people has increasingly grown in the country in the last few years, but its role in HCC treatment is beyond the targeted plan [53]. Therefore, more efforts need to be made, especially to encourage donations from cadavers.

Hepatic resection (HR) is another curative option for patients with HCC without cirrhosis or portal hypertension. A small retrospective study found that HR offers 60% survival benefit [54]. HR remains a major surgical intervention and is only offered in tertiary centers. There is no existing database for patients who underwent HR, reflecting its rarity in practice.

Ablation is one of the therapeutic options for HCC. Two of the most widely used ablation interventions in Saudi Arabia are percutaneous ethanol injection (PEI) and radiofrequency ablation (RFA). Both of them are available in tertiary centers in the country, but not in the centers of small cities and private hospitals. In addition, highly trained specialists are available in all hospitals, but the main obstacle is late referral of the HCC cases [54, 55].

Transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) is potentially dependent on the vascular invasion of HCC. TACE is available in tertiary hospitals in Saudi Arabia. In this procedure, the catheter is connected to the artery that supplies the tumor, and a chemotherapeutic agent is injected. This allows a high concentration of chemotherapy agent to reach the tumor site. One hospital reported the radiological response of TACE which was used in 15 patients with HCC. There was a response in 26%, partial response in 13%, and no change in 33%. In addition, a recent retrospective study of 39 HCC cases treated with TACE showed that the median overall survival was 20 months, median progression-free survival was 9 months, and progressive disease occurred in 54% of the cases [56]. Although TACE is available only in large hospitals in the country, there is a lack of trained specialists who can perform TACE in majority of the hospitals.

Until recently, systematic treatment has not shown any promising outcomes in the management of advanced cases of HCC. The Saudi guidelines for the management of HCC in advanced stages have recommended the use of sorafenib in patients with advanced HCC, which offers modest survival benefits [48]. One study assessed the effectiveness of sorafenib for patients with HCC in Saudi Arabia [57]. The retrospective review included 212 HCC cases treated with sorafenib from 2007 to 2016 [57]. The median age was 68 years, and the patients with hepatitis C and hepatitis B were 44% and 30%, respectively. Although most of the patients were in the advanced stage of HCC, and the doses were reduced, the drug showed effective outcomes compared to the other studies in terms of safety and survival rates. Recent developments in systemic treatment of advanced HCC using a combination of atezolizumab immunotherapy and bevacizumab have shown better survival benefits compared to sorafenib [58]. However, access to new immunotherapy in Saudi Arabia is still very limited to some tertiary cancer centers.

7 An Overview of HCC-Related Research in Saudi Arabia

There have been noticeable recent advances in HCC-related research in Saudi Arabia. The studies primarily focused on understanding the basic

molecular pathogenesis of the disease, studying the risk factors, validating new biomarkers, and conducting epidemiological studies. Although a few studies were designed to test the current therapeutic and diagnostic protocols for HCC in the country, most of them were retrospective in nature. In this chapter, some HCC-related research in Saudi Arabia will be highlighted.

7.1 HCC-Related Research on Risk Factors

HBV and HCV are among the main risk factors of HCC development in Saudi Arabia. Studies in the country have been conducted to understand the epidemiology and phylogenetic origin of the virus. Among these studies is a recent study conducted by Al-Qahtani et al. which included 319 HBV cases [59]. They showed that genotype D is the most dominant among the infected patients, and subgenotype D1 represented more than 90% [59]. A previous study in Jeddah included only 15 patients with HBV and showed that half of the cases had viruses with genotype D1, representing more than 70% of the genotype D. The remaining patients had HBV with the C genotype [60]. In the southern region of Saudi Arabia, HBV genotyping was conducted in 160 positive cases. Genotype D was found in 84% of the patients, followed by genotypes A and E with 11% and 4%, respectively [61]. Regarding HCV, the most common genotype of HCV is genotype 4. Genotype 4 accounted for 60%, while genotype 1 accounted for only 25% of the samples obtained from more than 600 HCV cases in Riyadh. Genotypes 2 and 4 were high in females, while genotypes 1 and 3 were high in males [62]. Though previous studies have shown the predominance of HBV and HCV genotypes in Saudi Arabia, further studies should identify the correlation between these genotypes and susceptibility to HCC treatment and development.

Genetic variations or mutations of the virus and the host play a role in the development, progression, and therapeutic outcomes of HCC [63]. In Saudi Arabia, several studies have been conducted in order to understand the implications of
the genomic diversity of the virus and the host on the clinical outcomes of HCC. An example of this is that a study in the country showed that genomic mutations of HBV/D1 were significantly linked to HCC development in Saudi patients [64]. Another study also showed that single nucleotide polymorphism SNP in mir30a of HBV was associated with a high susceptibility to cirrhosis and HCC development [65]. Moreover, another study reported that genomic screening of HBV showed viral mutations in F24Y, E64D, E77Q, A80I/T/V, L116I, and E180A from a Saudis-infected population that correlated with cirrhosis and HCC progression [66]. In addition, another study including Saudi patients showed that several mutations in the HBx gene of HBV were associated with progressive clinical stages of HCC [67]. Genetic diversity of HCV and its implication of HCC outcomes have been established in couple of documented studies conducted in Saudi population. A study revealed that the genetic variation in the DEPDC5 gene significantly influenced HCC progression in the HCV-infected Saudi population [68]. In addition, Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) is an important immune player against the virus; 563 HCVinfected Saudis were screened for eight TLR3 SNPs, and rs5743314 was found to be highly linked to cirrhosis and HCC development [69]. Moreover, genetic variants of PARK2 have been shown to play a role in the development of HCC in HCV-infected patients in Saudi Arabia [70].

A retrospective study in Saudi Arabia was conducted to elucidate possible clinical and pathological differences between HCC cases caused by HCV and HBV. Infected patients with HBV were mainly male and younger age compared to HCV-infected patients. In addition, HCC patients previously infected with HCV presented with advanced cirrhosis. When making the preliminary diagnosis, HCC patients who contracted HBV did not fulfill the Milan criteria for liver transplant compared with patients with HCV-related HCC [30]. This significant difference shows the need for a different screening policy, but the treatment outcome and survival rate of HCC were not influenced by the type of the virus.

7.2 HCC Diagnosis-Related Research

There has been some work on validating HCC diagnosis using established diagnostic methods in Saudi Arabia. In addition, work has also been extended to discover approaches for diagnosing HCC in a noninvasive way. A previous study by a research group in Saudi Arabia on HCC proposed a technique to scan blood and urine samples using fluorescence emission spectra for the differentiation of various liver disorders, including HCC. It has been proposed that this method has a detection accuracy of 80%; however, no validation studies have been conducted to confirm this [71]. In addition, testing for new biomarkers of HCC in the Saudi population has been reported. Golgi protein-73 (GP-73) and prothrombin induced by vitamin K absence-II (PIVKA-II) showed high accuracy in detecting HCC compared to AFP [72]. A later study also confirmed the accuracy of GP-73 in the early diagnosis of Saudis with HCC compared to cirrhotic and healthy controls [73].

Serum alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) is a protein that is found highly in fetal blood and at a lower concentration in healthy adults. AFP is not a sensitive test for surveillance of HCC and has a poor positive predictive value [74]. The ability of AFP to be used as a marker of HCC diagnosis is controversial. A systematic review showed that it has a poor sensitivity for HCC screening at any level [75]. However, a recent meta-analysis concluded that AFP had a good accuracy for HCC diagnosis, and increasing the threshold levels to 400 ng/ mL is strongly indicative of HCC, particularly in the context of an isolated nodule >2 cm in diameter [76]. In a multicenter study, AFP was used to diagnose HCC in 206 cases, 199 patients with cirrhosis, and 197 patients with hepatitis [28]. At the best AFP cutoff value, the sensitivity of HCV, HBV, and nonviral HCC was 73%, 65%, and 59%. At the same cutoff, the specificity was 36%, 30%, and 29% for HCV, HBV, and nonviral HCC, respectively. In addition, the study showed that similar sensitivity levels of 39%, 35%, and 32% and specificity levels of 96%, 98%, and 98% were achieved at cutoff levels of 102, 200, and 400 ng/mL, respectively. The positive likelihood ratios of AFP in the study were 2.8, 3.3, 9.9, 23.8, and 21.2 at >11.7, >20, >102, >200, and >400 ng/mL, respectively. The study summarized that in patients with cirrhosis, AFP had a very poor screening and diagnostic ability for HCC [28]. Nevertheless, the continuously rising AFP on serial measurements should prompt a vigorous and thorough radiological investigation.

Clinically, the diagnosis of HCC is based on multimodalities, which include clinical, biochemical, pathological, and radiological factors. Radiological investigations and biopsy should be recommended for patients with changing symptoms and/or increasing AFP levels. The Saudi Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of HCC recommend that development of a nodule with an abnormal texture in the liver of high-risk patients should prompt referral to a tertiary center [48]. Liver ultrasonography is recommended as the first modality of radiological diagnosis. It is cheap, easy, and quick to perform. However, it remains operator dependent. King Abdulaziz Medical City, Ministry of National Guard Health Affairs, has reported a case series of 235 patients. The most common radiological presentation was a single nodule measuring less than 5 cm [24]. Another case series of 363 patients from the College of Medicine, King Saud University, suggested that 55% of the patients had large multinodular tumors radiologically [6].

The Saudi Association of Gastroenterology has adopted the AASLD guidelines which recommend the use of a dynamic triphasic computed tomography scan or liver magnetic resonance imaging as confirmatory diagnostic tools. For lesions measuring 1-2 cm, two imaging modalities showed the "classical appearance of HCC" without a need for liver biopsy (if ALP >200 U/L) [51]. For lesions > 2 cm without high AFP levels, if two imaging modalities show the "classical appearance of HCC," biopsy is not required. However, if the lesion does not show the "classical appearance of HCC," biopsy is warranted. Sometimes, with lesions smaller than 1 cm, it can be very challenging to differentiate them from regenerative nodules. It is recommended that the imaging modalities are repeated at 3-month intervals.

7.3 HCC Treatment-Related Research

Compared with other tumors, the treatment of HCC is not well studied, and there are fewer randomized controlled trials to test various interventions and treatments. Surgical interventions are the most effective curative treatments. There are only four centers in Saudi Arabia where liver transplant is offered, three in Riyadh and one in Dammam [55]. In 2017, it was reported that about 2000 liver transplant operations were performed in Saudi Arabia. King Faisal Specialist Hospital and Research Centre (KFSH&RC) has performed 703 liver transplant operations. HCC accounts for approximately 25% of these patients [55]. KFSH&RC reported that downstaging strategies using drug-eluting bead chemoembolization did not improve overall survival before liver transplantation [77].

The lack of cadaver donors remains a global issue including Saudi Arabia. The liver donor transplant program started in 2001 to alleviate liver organ shortages [78]. The rational of liver transplant is to treat HCC as well as underlying problems of cirrhosis. Milan Criteria has been adapted to select those patients who are suitable for transplant [55]. Saudi Centre of Organ transplant is responsible for distributing organs equally between different hospitals in Saudi Arabia. Thus, the system is center- based regardless of the geographic location of the donors [53]. However, there is a problem with the donation system in Saudi Arabia, which could be a potential area of future research. Half of the donated livers were rejected due to a suboptimal donor management. Registration of brain death in Saudi Arabia is not robust enough; only 60% of brain death is documented [53]. An increase in the morbid obesity in Saudi Arabia has been one of the contraindications of the liver donation. It has been reported that out of 629 potential donors, only 87 became actual solid organ donors. This gives a conversion rate of 14% which away below developed nations which is 60%. To overcome organs shortages, KFSH&RC introduced split liver transplant. ABO-incompatible living donor liver transplant (LDLT) has also been initiated at KFSH&RC.

Radioembolization with yttrium-90 (Y90) microspheres is an optional treatment for HCC patients. This therapy has the advantage of being more specific to tumors compared to external radiation therapy. A retrospective study in Saudi Arabia of 28 HCC patients who received Y90 treatment showed MELD scores of 8.5 and 12 before and after the therapy, respectively [79]. Another recent retrospective study to evaluate the local efficacy and tolerability of Y90 therapy in 30 HCC patients in the country demonstrated similar findings with other studies having the same tolerability [80].A phase II trial of chronic daily VP-16 (etoposide) administration in unresectable HCC was performed at KFSH&RC between 1989 and 1991. VP-16 was administered at a dose of 50 mg/m² daily p.o. for 21 days with 1 week off treatment. Etoposide has failed to show any activity in HCC [81].

8 Conclusion

In Saudi Arabia, HCC is the sixth and twelfth most common cancer in men and women, respectively. Hepatitis B and C are considered the main factors of HCC development in the country. A lack of robust screening program for early HCC detection in Saudi Arabia augments its mortality. For those patients whose life expectancy is very short, access to quality palliative care remain suboptimal. Regarding HCC-related research, to our knowledge, there is no oncology center in Saudi Arabia that has active clinical trials for HCC patients. Management of patients with HCC at specialist centers will facilitate designs and execution of clinical trials. It will also facilitate the inclusion of patients in international clinical trials of novel agents.

Acknowledgments We would like to thank Dr. Salvador Macip from the University of Leicester for critically reading the chapter.

References

 Ferlay J, Colombet M, Soerjomataram I, Mathers C, Parkin DM, Piñeros M, et al. Estimating the global cancer incidence and mortality in 2018: GLOBOCAN sources and methods. Int J Cancer. 2019;144(8):1941–53.

- Parkin Maxwell FB, Ferlay J, Pisani P. Estimating the world cancer burden: globocan 2000. Inte J Cancer. 2001;94:153–6.
- McGlynn KA, Petrick JL, London WT. Global epidemiology of hepatocellular carcinoma: an emphasis on demographic and regional variability. Clin Liver Dis. 2015;19(2):223–38.
- SHC. Cancer Incidence Report Saudi Arabia 2015. Saudi Health Council; 2018.
- Alghamdi IG, Alghamdi MS. The incidence rate of liver cancer in Saudi Arabia: an observational descriptive epidemiological analysis of data from the Saudi Cancer registry (2004–2014). Cancer Manag Res. 2020;12:1101–11.
- Alswat KA, Sanai FM, Altuwaijri M, Albenmousa A, Almadi M, Al-Hamoudi WK, et al. Clinical characteristics of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma in a middle eastern population. Hepat Mon. 2013;13(5):e7612.
- Akinyemiju T, Abera S, Ahmed M, Alam N, Alemayohu MA, Allen C, et al. The burden of primary liver Cancer and underlying etiologies from 1990 to 2015 at the global, regional, and national level: results from the global burden of disease study 2015. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(12):1683–91.
- Al-Faleh FZ, Ayoola EA, Arif M, Ramia S, Al-Rashed R, Al-Jeffry M, et al. Seroepidemiology of hepatitis B virus infection in Saudi Arabian children: a baseline survey for mass vaccination against hepatitis B. J Infect. 1992;24(2):197–206.
- Al-Faleh FZ, Al-Jeffri M, Ramia S, Al-Rashed R, Arif M, Rezeig M, et al. Seroepidemiology of hepatitis B virus infection in Saudi children 8 years after a mass hepatitis B vaccination programme. J Infect. 1999;38(3):167–70.
- Plummer M, de Martel C, Vignat J, Ferlay J, Bray F, Franceschi S. Global burden of cancers attributable to infections in 2012: a synthetic analysis. The Lancet Global Health. 2016;4(9):e609–e16.
- Schweitzer A, Horn J, Mikolajczyk RT, Krause G, Ott JJ. Estimations of worldwide prevalence of chronic hepatitis B virus infection: a systematic review of data published between 1965 and 2013. Lancet. 2015;386(10003):1546–55.
- Al Humayed SM, El-Mekki AA, Mahfouz AA. Hepatitis B virus infection in Aseer Region, south-western Saudi Arabia: a call for an immediate action against a preventable disease. Public Health. 2017;146:24–8.
- Alrowaily MA, Abolfotouh MA, Ferwanah MS. Hepatitis B virus sero-prevalence among pregnant females in Saudi Arabia. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2008;14(2):70–2.
- 14. El Beltagy KE, Al Balawi IA, Almuneef M, Memish ZA. Prevalence of hepatitis B virus markers among blood donors in a tertiary hospital in Tabuk, northwestern Saudi Arabia. Int J Infect Dis. 2008;12(5):495–9.
- Alfaleh F, Alshehri S, Alansari S, Aljeffri M, Almazrou Y, Shaffi A, et al. Long-term protection of hepatitis B vaccine 18 years after vaccination. J Infect. 2008;57(5):404–9.

- Al-Faleh FZ. Changing pattern of hepatitis viral infection in Saudi Arabia in the last two decades. Ann Saudi Med. 2003;23(6):367–71.
- Zampino R, Boemio A, Sagnelli C, Alessio L, Adinolfi LE, Sagnelli E, et al. Hepatitis B virus burden in developing countries. World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21(42):11941–53.
- Aljumah AA, Babatin M, Hashim A, Abaalkhail F, Bassil N, Safwat M, et al. Hepatitis B care pathway in Saudi Arabia: current situation, gaps and actions. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2019;25(2):73–80.
- Alswaidi FM, Memish ZA, Al-Hakeem RF, Atlam SA. Saudi Arabian expatriate worker fitnessscreening programme: a review of 14 years of data. East Mediterr Health J. 2013;19(7):664–70.
- Di Bisceglie AM. Hepatitis B and hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology (Baltimore, Md). 2009;49(5 Suppl):S56-60.
- 21. Systematic Observatory Liver Diseases Registry [Internet]. 2020 [cited 10 July 2020]. Available from: http://www.solid-registry.com/home.html.
- Alavian SM, Haghbin H. Relative Importance of Hepatitis B and C Viruses in Hepatocellular Carcinoma in EMRO Countries and the Middle East: a Systematic Review. Hepat Mon. 2016;16(3):e35106.
- 23. Aljumah AA, Kuriry H, AlZunaitan M, Al Ghobain M, Al Muaikeel M, Al Olayan A, et al. Clinical presentation, risk factors, and treatment modalities of hepatocellular carcinoma: a single tertiary care center experience. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2016;2016:1989045.
- Khan G, Hashim MJ. Burden of virus-associated liver cancer in the Arab world, 1990–2010. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2015;16(1):265–70.
- 25. Sanai FM, Alghamdi H, Alswat KA, Babatin MA, Ismail MH, Alhamoudi WK, et al. Greater prevalence of comorbidities with increasing age: cross-sectional analysis of chronic hepatitis B patients in Saudi Arabia. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2019;25(3):194–200.
- Abdo AA, Sanai FM, Al-Faleh FZ. Epidemiology of viral hepatitis in Saudi Arabia: are we off the hook? Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2012;18(6):349–57.
- 27. Alswaidi FM, O'Brien SJ. Is there a need to include HIV, HBV and HCV viruses in the Saudi premarital screening program on the basis of their prevalence and transmission risk factors? J Epidemiol Community Health. 2010;64(11):989–97.
- Sanai FM, Sobki S, Bzeizi KI, Shaikh SA, Alswat K, Al-Hamoudi W, et al. Assessment of alpha-fetoprotein in the diagnosis of hepatocellular carcinoma in Middle Eastern patients. Dig Dis Sci. 2010;55(12):3568–75.
- Fakeeh M, Zaki AM. Hepatitis C: prevalence and common genotypes among ethnic groups in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1999;61(6):889–92.
- Aljumah AA, Kuriry H, Faisal N, Alghamdi H. Clinicopathologic characteristics and outcomes of hepatocellular carcinoma associated with chronic hepatitis B versus hepatitis C infection. Ann Saudi Med. 2018;38(5):358–65.

- Altraif I. Can hepatitis C virus be eliminated by 2030? Saudi Arabia as an example. Saudi Med J. 2018;39(8):842–5.
- Benvegnù L, Gios M, Boccato S, Alberti A. Natural history of compensated viral cirrhosis: a prospective study on the incidence and hierarchy of major complications. Gut. 2004;53(5):744–9.
- 33. Fattovich G, Pantalena M, Zagni I, Realdi G, Schalm SW, Christensen E. Effect of hepatitis B and C virus infections on the natural history of compensated cirrhosis: a cohort study of 297 patients. Am J Gastroenterol. 2002;97(11):2886–95.
- Di MA. Therapy of digestive disorders: A companion to sleisenger and Fordtran's gastrointestinal and liver disease. Gastroenterology. 2000;118(6):1275–6.
- Ali N. Aflatoxins in rice: Worldwide occurrence and public health perspectives. Toxicol Rep. 2019;6:1188–97.
- 36. Kucukcakan B, Hayrulai-Musliu Z. Challenging role of dietary Aflatoxin B1 exposure and hepatitis B infection on risk of hepatocellular carcinoma. Open Access Maced J Med Sci. 2015;3(2):363–9.
- 37. Chawanthayatham S, Valentine CC 3rd, Fedeles BI, Fox EJ, Loeb LA, Levine SS, et al. Mutational spectra of aflatoxin B(1) in vivo establish biomarkers of exposure for human hepatocellular carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2017;114(15):E3101–e9.
- Farag R, AlAyobi D, Kwon HJ, El-Ansary A. Relationship between Aflatoxin B1 exposure and etiology of liver disease in Saudi Arabian patients. J Pure Appl Microbiol. 2018;12:1147–53.
- Elzupir AO, Abdulkhair BY. Health risk from aflatoxins in processed meat products in Riyadh, KSA. Toxicon. 2020;181:1–5.
- Møller H, Mellemgaard A, Lindvig K, Olsen JH. Obesity and cancer risk: a Danish record-linkage study. Eur J Cancer. 1994;30a(3):344–50.
- Ghouri YA, Mian I, Rowe JH. Review of hepatocellular carcinoma: epidemiology, etiology, and carcinogenesis. J Carcinogen. 2017;16:1.
- 42. Wang CS, Yao WJ, Chang TT, Wang ST, Chou P. The impact of type 2 diabetes on the development of hepatocellular carcinoma in different viral hepatitis statuses. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2009;18(7):2054–60.
- 43. Alswat K, Aljumah AA, Sanai FM, Abaalkhail F, Alghamdi M, Al Hamoudi WK, et al. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease burden - Saudi Arabia and United Arab Emirates, 2017–2030. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2018;24(4):211–9.
- 44. IDF. IDF MENA: International Diabetes Federation; 2020 [Available from: https://www.idf.org/ournetwork/regions-members/middle-east-and-northafrica/members/46-saudi-arabia.html.
- 45. Lieber CS. Alcohol and the liver: 1994 update. Gastroenterology. 1994;106(4):1085–105.
- SHC. Council SH, editor. Cancer Incidence Report Saudi Arabia 2015. KSA: National Health Information Center. p. 2015.

- Madani TA. Hepatitis C virus infections reported over 11 years of surveillance in Saudi Arabia. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2009;103(2):132–6.
- 48. Abdo AA, Hassanain M, AlJumah A, Al Olayan A, Sanai FM, Alsuhaibani HA, et al. Saudi guidelines for the diagnosis and management of hepatocellular carcinoma: technical review and practice guidelines. Ann Saudi Med. 2012;32(2):174–99.
- 49. Ashraf SJ, Arya SC, El-Sayed M, Sahay R, Parande CM, Tajuddin MR, et al. A profile of primary hepatocellular carcinoma patients in the Gizan Area of Saudi Arabia. Cancer. 1986;58(9):2163–8.
- Kingston M, Ali MA, Lewall D. Hepatic tumors in Saudi Arabia. A practical approach to diagnosis. Cancer. 1985;55(7):1579–85.
- Bruix J, Sherman M. Management of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 2005;42(5):1208–36.
- Befeler AS, di Bisceglie AM. Hepatocellular carcinoma: Diagnosis and treatment. Gastroenterology. 2002;122(6):1609–19.
- 53. Al Sebayel M, Abaalkhail F, Al Abbad S, AlBahili H, Elsiesy H, Aleid M, et al. Liver transplantation in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Liver Transpl. 2017;23(10):1312–7.
- 54. Al-Raddadi A, Jameel M, Al-Zulfi A, Al-Shammari W, Hussein W, Robles E, et al. The overall survival rate for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma who underwent hepatic resection or radiofrequency ablation procedure for curative intent. J Nat Sci Med. 2019;2(2):90–4.
- 55. Abdo AA, Karim HAA, Fuhaid TA, Sanai FM, Kabbani M, Jumah AA, et al. Saudi gastroenterology association guidelines for the diagnosis and management of hepatocellular carcinoma: summary of recommendations. Annal Saudi Med. 2006;26(4):261–5.
- 56. Helmi H, Alharthi F, Madkhali A, Alsaif F, Alshanifi A, Hussein W, et al. Outcome of transarterial chemoembolization in patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. J Nat Sci Med. 2020;3(2):115–20.
- 57. Alshammari K, Olayan AA, Alkhodair Y, Mohammad AH, Ul-Hassan R, Najeely OA, et al. Predictors of sorafenib efficacy in treated patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: a tertiary cancer center experience. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(15_suppl):e15604-e.
- Finn RS, Qin S, Ikeda M, Galle PR, Ducreux M, Kim T-Y, et al. Atezolizumab plus Bevacizumab in unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. New England J Med. 2020;382(20):1894–905.
- 59. Al-Qahtani AA, Pourkarim MR, Trovão NS, Vergote V, Li G, Thijssen M, et al. Molecular epidemiology, phylogenetic analysis and genotype distribution of hepatitis B virus in Saudi Arabia: predominance of genotype D1. Infect Genet Evol. 2020;77:104051.
- 60. El Hadad S, Alakilli S, Rabah S, Sabir J. Sequence analysis of sub-genotype D hepatitis B surface antigens isolated from Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. Saudi J Biol Sci. 2018;25(4):838–47.
- Asaad AM, Al-Ayed MSZ, Aleraky M, Qureshi MA. Hepatitis B virus genotyping in chronic hepatitis

B patients in southwestern Saudi Arabia. Brazilian J Infect Dis. 2015;19(5):525–8.

- 62. Bawazir A, AlGusheri F, Jradi H, AlBalwi M, Abdel-Gader AG. Hepatitis C virus genotypes in Saudi Arabia: a future prediction and laboratory profile. Virol J. 2017;14(1):208.
- 63. El-Serag HB. Epidemiology of viral hepatitis and hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2012;142(6):1264–73.e1.
- 64. Khan A, Al Balwi MA, Tanaka Y, Hajeer A, Sanai FM, Al Abdulkarim I, et al. Novel point mutations and mutational complexes in the enhancer II, core promoter and precore regions of hepatitis B virus genotype D1 associated with hepatocellular carcinoma in Saudi Arabia. Int J Cancer. 2013;133(12):2864–71.
- 65. Al-Qahtani AA, Al-Anazi MR, Nazir N, Wani K, Abdo AA, Sanai FM, et al. Association of single nucleotide polymorphisms in microRNAs with susceptibility to hepatitis B virus infection and HBVrelated liver complications: a study in a Saudi Arabian population. J Viral Hepat. 2017;24(12):1132–42.
- 66. Al-Qahtani AA, Al-Anazi MR, Nazir N, Abdo AA, Sanai FM, Al-Hamoudi WK, et al. The correlation between hepatitis B virus precore/core mutations and the progression of severe liver disease. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2018;8:355.
- 67. Al-Qahtani AA, Al-Anazi MR, Nazir N, Ghai R, Abdo AA, Sanai FM, et al. Hepatitis B virus (HBV) X gene mutations and their association with liver disease progression in HBV-infected patients. Oncotarget. 2017;8(62):105115–25.
- 68. Al-Anazi MR, Matou-Nasri S, Abdo AA, Sanai FM, Khan MQ, Albenmousa A, et al. Variations in DEPDC5 gene and its association with chronic hepatitis C virus infection in Saudi Arabia. BMC Infect Dis. 2014;14:632.
- Al-Anazi MR, Matou-Nasri S, Abdo AA, Sanai FM, Alkahtani S, Alarifi S, et al. Association of tolllike receptor 3 single-nucleotide polymorphisms and hepatitis C virus infection. J Immunol Res. 2017;2017:1590653.
- Al-Qahtani AA, Al-Anazi MR, Al-Zoghaibi FA, Abdo AA, Sanai FM, Al-Hamoudi WK, et al. PARK2 polymorphisms predict disease progression in patients infected with hepatitis C virus. Ann Hepatol. 2016;15(6):824–33.
- AlSalhi M, Al Mehmadi AM, Abdo AA, Prasad S, Masilamani V. Diagnosis of liver cancer and cirrhosis by the fluorescence spectra of blood and urine. Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2012;11(4):345–51.
- 72. Ismail MM, Morsi HK, Abdulateef NA, Noaman MK, Abou El-Ella GA. Evaluation of prothrombin induced by vitamin K absence, macrophage migration inhibitory factor and Golgi protein-73 versus alpha fetoprotein for hepatocellular carcinoma diagnosis and surveillance. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 2017;77(3):175–83.
- 73. Farag RMA, Al Ayobi D, Alsaleh KA, Kwon HJ, A EL-A, Dawoud EA. Studying the impact of golgi protein 73 serving as a Candidate biomarker

in early diagnosis for hepatocellular carcinoma among Saudi patients. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2019;20(1):215–220.

- 74. Daniele B, Bencivenga A, Megna AS, Tinessa V. Alpha-fetoprotein and ultrasonography screening for hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2004;127(5 Suppl 1):S108–12.
- 75. Gupta S, Bent S, Kohlwes J. Test characteristics of alpha-fetoprotein for detecting hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with hepatitis C. A systematic review and critical analysis. Ann Intern Med. 2003;139(1):46–50.
- 76. Zhang J, Chen G, Zhang P, Zhang J, Li X, Gan D, et al. The threshold of alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) for the diagnosis of hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2020;15(2):e0228857.
- 77. Al Sebayel MI, Elsiesy H, Al-Hamoudi W, Alabbad S, ElSheikh Y, Elbeshbeshy H, et al. Effect of downstaging and bridging of hepatocellular carcinoma on Survival following liver transplant: a single cen-

ter experience. Exp Clin Transplant. 2017;15(Suppl 2):7–11.

- Allam N, Khalaf H, Fagih M, Al-Sebayel M. Liver transplant for hepatocellular carcinoma: experience in a Saudi population. Exp Clin Transplant. 2008;6(1):14–24.
- 79. Abaalkhail F, Al-Hamoudi W, Alsebayel M, Alsuhaibani H, Kamel Y, Khalaf H, et al. Safety and efficacy of yttrium90 microspheres for the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma: a single center experience. J Hepatol. 2011;54
- 80. Al Omran B, Hamour N. Local experience in Saudi Arabia of selective internal radiation therapy with yttrium-90 microspheres for the treatment of unresectable liver tumours. J Radiother Pract. 2019;18(4):365–8.
- Wierzbicki R, Ezzat A, Abdel-Warith A, Ayoub A, Kagevi I, Fadda M, et al. Phase II trial of chronic daily VP-16 administration in unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Ann Oncol. 1994;5(5):466–7.



Hepatitis C-Induced Hepatocellular Carcinoma in the Middle East

Said A. Al-Busafi and Khalid AlNaamani

1 Introduction

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) is a hepatotropic virus that belongs to the *Flaviviridae* family, discovered in 1989. It is a small, enveloped, positive-stranded RNA virus [1]. The virus has seven genotypes based on variations in the nucleotide sequence by >30% and 67 subtypes based on variations at the nucleotide sequence by less than 15% [2].

HCV is well-known to cause acute and chronic hepatitis. More than half of chronic liver disease around the globe is attributed to HCV [3]. Chronic viral hepatitis causes high mortality, and currently, they ranked the 7th leading cause of mortality around the world, with close to 50% of these deaths due to chronic hepatitis C (CHC) [4]. In 2013, 626,000 compensated cirrhosis, 16,100 hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) cases, and 33,000 liver-related deaths were attributed to CHC. The number of deaths related to HCV complications has increased to around 399,000 deaths in 2015 [5].

Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Medicine, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, Sultan Qaboos University, Alkhoudh, Muscat, Sultanate of Oman e-mail: busafis@squ.edu.om

K. AlNaamani

Internal Medicine, Armed Forces Hospital, Alkhoudh, Muscat, Sultanate of Oman

Based on the World Health Organization (WHO) reports in 2017, the estimated global number of patients with CHC was 71 million people [6]. Around one-third of these patients will progress to advanced fibrosis and cirrhosis, and close to 5% per year of those cirrhotic patients will develop HCC [5]. Not all patients infected with HCV will develop chronic hepatitis; up to 35% will clear the virus spontaneously, and the remaining 65% will progress to CHC, defined as persistent HCV RNA in the blood for more than 6 months [7]. Several studies have looked at factors associated with spontaneous clearance of acute HCV and identified age at acquiring the infection, female gender, ethnicity, and coinfection with other viruses such as HIV to be the most important factors [8-10]. Thomas et al. showed that the HCV clearance rate in nonblack is higher with an odds ratio of 5 [8]. These ethnic differences in HCV clearance could be partly explained by the immune system response to different insults.

Genome-wide association (GWA) studies showed that HCV spontaneous clearance and treatment response are related to patients' genetic variations [11–14]. Different single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the IL28B gene in chromosome 19 coding for type III interferon INF- λ 3, as well as other SNPs in different chromosomes, were associated with HCV treatment response as well as HCV spontaneous clearance [15–17].

S. A. Al-Busafi (🖂)

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 B. I. Carr (ed.), *Liver Cancer in the Middle East*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78737-0_17

There is marked variation in the natural history of CHC, ranging from minimal liver inflammation to progressive liver fibrosis and the development of complications such as decompensated cirrhosis and HCC [9, 18]. The natural history of CHC is affected by many factors, which can be divided into host-related factors such as age at acquiring HCV infection, coinfection with other viruses such as hepatitis B virus (HBV), human immune deficiency virus (HIV), presence of metabolic syndrome especially diabetes and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), and concomitant alcohol abuse and to a less extent viral factors such as viral load and genotype [9, 18–22].

Despite the progression of CHC to advanced fibrosis, only a minority of CHC patients will develop HCC [23]. This progression is due to the complex interaction between HCV, the patient, and environmental factors that promote carcinogenesis. The mechanism of oncogenicity in HCV is different from HBV, where the viral DNA is integrated into the host chromosomal DNA. HCV is a cytopathic virus that replicates within the liver cell cytoplasm, promoting hepatocyte proliferation and inducing cellular inflammation. It also leads to mitochondrial damage and induces the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). The induced inflammation and ROS production cause genomic mutations and instability, which is the nidus for the development of HCC [24].

HCC accounts for more than 85% of primary liver cancer (LC) [25]. In most cases, HCC develops on a background of liver cirrhosis except in chronic hepatitis B (CHB), where HCC can develop in non-cirrhotic liver. Liver cirrhosis due to chronic viral hepatitis is the leading risk factor for the development of HCC [26].

The risk of HCC is increased 15–20-fold in patients infected with CHC. Patients with liver cirrhosis due to CHC are at risk of developing complications such as decompensated cirrhosis at a rate of 3–6% per annum and development of HCC at 1–5% per annum [23].

Despite the availability of direct-acting antiviral agents (DAAs), HCV and its related complications will remain a significant global health issue in the coming years. This could be attributed to many newly discovered cases, a high number of unrecognized HCV-infected cases, and access to the new DAA [27].

2 HCV Epidemiology in ME

The Middle East (ME) is a transcontinental region that includes 18 countries from Asia and Africa (Fig. 1). The majority of those countries (13 out of 18) are part of the Arab world. The term "Middle East" may have originated in the 1850s in the British India Office. However, in 1902 the American naval strategist used the term the Middle East and it since then became widely known [28]. The ME has a total population of 371 million based on World Bank data in 2010.

The region demonstrates a wide range of anti-HCV and viremic prevalences and diversity in HCV genotype distributions. WHO estimates that there are at least 21.3 million HCV carriers in the Eastern Mediterranean countries, close to the number of carriers estimated in the Americas and Europe combined [29]. Country-level anti-HCV prevalence is classified into low (<1.5%), moderate (1.5–3.5%), and high (>3.5%) levels [29].

The reported prevalence of HCV in ME is affected by multiple factors. The reported prevalence in certain countries such as the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC), a political and economic alliance of six Middle Eastern countries-Saudi Arabia, Kuwait, the United Arab Emirates, Qatar, Bahrain, and Oman-is affected by the population demography of those countries. More than one-third of the population of the GCC countries are migrants. Based on 2015 population statistics, the number of temporary worker immigrants in certain countries such as Qatar and UAE was more than 80% [30, 31]. Modeling prevalence demonstrated a 10% increase in HCV prevalence since 2007 in Qatar and UAE due to foreign workforce from endemic countries [30, 31]. Therefore, any epidemiological data that does not differentiate between nationals and temporary worker migrants will be affected by the HCV epidemiology profiles of the migrants' countries of origin.



Fig. 1 Countries that constitute the ME

The prevalence data from other Middle Eastern countries such as Turkey, Egypt, Iraq, and Jordan are less affected by immigration. However, most studies looking at HCV prevalence from ME used non-homogenous populations such as blood donors, hemodialysis patients, and multi-transfused patients. Those groups of patients do not represent the entire country population, and in fact, they are a high-risk population for HCV infection. In addition to that, older studies used anti-HCV as a marker of infection. The characteristic performance of anti-HCV testing using first- and second-generation EIA was not optimal [32].

The prevalence of HCV infection in Middle Eastern countries varies geographically. A low prevalence of HCV (<1.5%) was reported in Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Iran, and UAE. At the same time, Iraq, Lebanon, Saudi Arabia, Turkey, and Syria had moderate prevalence (1.5–3.5%) and a high majority (>3.5%) in Egypt and Yemen. Table 1 showed the prevalence of HCV and the

most common genotype among Middle Eastern countries [33–39].

Egypt is considered to have the highest prevalence of HCV in the world. Based on the Egyptian Demographic Health Survey (EDHS) that was conducted in 2008 on a large country representative sample, the prevalence of HCV among the age group 15–59-year-old was found to be 14.7%, 10% of those found to have chronic infection and genotype 4 was found in 90% of the patients [40]. In another large Egyptian Health Issues Survey (EHIS) conducted in 2015, including the younger age group, the seroprevalence of HCV was found to be 6.3% among the age group 0-59 years old. The investigators reported a significant reduction of 32% and 29% in HCV antibody- and HCV RNA-positive people [41]. The reported prevalence of HCV in certain Middle Eastern countries varies between different regions within the same country. In a population-based study in Iran by Merat et al., the prevalence of HCV in Iran was 0.3% in Tehran, 1.6% in Hormozgan, and 1.0%

			Common
Country	Population	Prevalence	genotype
Afghanistan	32,527,000	0.5%	Genotype 3
Bahrain	1,377,000	1.2%	Genotype 1
Egypt	91,508,000	6.3%	Genotype 4
Iran	79,109,000	0.2%	Genotype 1
Iraq	36,423,000	0.2%	Genotype 4
Jordan	7,595,000	0.3%	Genotype 1
Kuwait	3,892,000	0.8%	Genotype 4
Lebanon	5,851,000	0.2%	Genotype 1
Oman	4,491,000	0.4%	Genotype 1
Palestinian	4,668,000	2.2%	Genotype 4
Qatar	2,235,000	1.6%	Genotype 4
Saudi Arabia	31,540,000	0.3%	Genotype 4
Syria	18,502,000	3.0%	Genotype 4
Turkey	84,181,300	0.6%	Genotype 1
United Arab	9,157,000	1.3%	Genotype 1
Emirates			
Yemen	29,710,300	0.8%	Genotype 4
Cyprus	1,189,000	0.46%	Genotype 1 and 4

 Table 1
 Prevalence of HCV and the most common genotype among Middle Eastern countries

in the Golestan provinces [42]. Other studies reported a prevalence of 15.6% in Fars, 44.3% in Kerman, 29.6% in Zahedan, 59.1% in Hamadan, 71.3% in Gilan, and 76.7% in the northwest of Iran, representing an overall prevalence rate of almost 50% [43]. Similar findings were also reported by different researchers from Saudi Arabia with different HCV prevalence in different regions of Saudi Arabia [44].

Looking at risk factors for HCV transmission, reports from different Middle Eastern countries showed that medical practice especially before the era of blood and blood product screening such as blood or blood product transfusion in cases of thalassemia or hemophilia, hemodialysis, hospital instrumentation, and invasive procedures played a significant role in HCV transmission [45]. Alnaamani et al. showed that 41% of multi-transfused thalassemia patients from Oman were positive for anti-HCV. The majority of those patients were transfused before 1990 [46]. Age and level of education were also associated with HCV infection in certain Middle Eastern countries such as Yemen and Syria [47, 48]. Other risk factors for HCV transmission, such as intravenous drug abuse, piercing, and tat-

tooing, as well as a risky sexual practice, contributed further to the spread of HCV among Middle Eastern countries [49]. Perinatal transmission from HCV-infected mothers to their newborn babies played a less important role as the risk of transmission is less than 5% unless the mother is coinfected with HIV. Intravenous drug abuse (IVDA) was found to be a major risk factor for HCV transmission in many Middle Eastern countries, including but not limited to Egypt, Lebanon, Oman, Palestine, Saudi Arabia, and Syria. Certain community groups such as prisoners and female sex workers are at increased risk of acquiring HCV infections, especially HIV-positive prisoners. The prevalence of anti-HCV among female sex workers in Lebanon, Libya, and Syria was higher than the general population [49, 50].

The majority of patients with positive anti-HCV in ME are chronically infected with HCV. The overall pooled mean viremic rate (positive HCV RNA) is 67.6% (95% CI, 64.9–70.3%). This figure is similar to that found in large population-based and nationally representative surveys [51]. Studies looking at the viremic rate at certain Middle Eastern countries reported the viremic rate to be 51.6% in Saudi Arabia and approximately 70% in Egypt and the UAE [5].

2.1 HCV Genotype and Subtype

HCV has 7 genotypes and 67 sub-genotypes based on variations at the nucleotide sequence by >30% and less than 15%, respectively [52]. There are several methods used to determine HCV genotypes; all of the methods use direct sequencing of certain regions of the HCV genome mainly (NS5, core, E1, and 5' UTR regions) using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) in combination with the phylogenetic analysis [53–56].

The distribution of HCV genotype varies between different regions of the world. HCV genotype 1 is the most prevalent worldwide representing 49.1%, followed by genotype 3 (17.9%), 4 (16.8%), and 2 (11%). The differences in HCV worldwide distribution are attributed to ancient world trade and human migration [57]. Genotype 4 is the most common in the ME, accounting for 71% of all HCV-infected patients, followed by genotype 1, since most HCV-infected patients are from Egypt, where 90% of infected people have genotype 4 (Table 1) [58].

Analysis of HCV reports from ME showed that there are two main patterns of HCV genotype distribution. The first pattern represents most Arab countries where genotype 4 is the most common genotype except Jordan, Oman, Lebanon, Bahrain, and UAE, where genotype 1 is the most common [59]. Al-Busafi et al. reported the most common genotype in Oman to be genotype 1, representing 44%, followed by genotype 3, representing 35% [50]. The second pattern represents non-Arab countries (Turkey and Iran), where genotype 1 is the most common [59]. In Iran, genotype 1a is predominant for HCV, followed by genotype 3a and 1b, in addition to mixed genotypes [60]. Similar findings were reported from Turkey, where genotype 1b is the most common genotype representing >70% of HCV-infected people, followed by 1a. This HCV genotype distribution pattern in Turkey is similar to that reported from Eastern and Southern European countries [61].

3 Epidemiology of HCC in the ME

With an incidence of one million LC cases in 2016, LC is ranked as the seventh most common cancer worldwide. The majority of LC (75%) are HCC, followed by cholangiocarcinoma in 1–20% of cases [25]. HCC represents a leading cause of cancer-related mortality. More than 800,000 patients died in 2016 due to HCC. This high number of death ranked HCC as the fourth dead-liest cancer [62]. Despite recent marked improvements in treatment modalities, the prognosis for HCC patients remains poor, with an average 5-year survival rate of approximately 5–6% [63]. Unfortunately, this is mainly attributable to a lack of access to medical facilities in many underdeveloped countries [64].

HCC is more common among males than females. The gender-specific age-adjusted incident rate (AAIR) ratio ranges from 1.3 to 3.6 worldwide. In high prevalence regions, the incidence of HCC rises after the age of 20 and peaks at 50 years of age [65].

There is marked variation in the prevalence of HCC in different parts of the world, with more than two-thirds of cases reported from East and South Asia as well as sub-Saharan Africa [66]. This is mainly due to differences in the prevalence of viral hepatitis, particularly hepatitis B and C, the predominant causes of liver cirrhosis, a known risk factor for HCC [67, 68]. The introduction of hepatitis B vaccination schedules in many countries has led to a marked reduction in HCC cases, with improvements in medical facilities and the designated screening programs similarly expected to help increase the detection and, therefore, reduce the incidence of HCC in these regions [69, 70].

The estimated risk of developing HCC in patients with CHC is 15-20 times higher than healthy persons, and this risk is further increased if CHC patients progressed to cirrhosis [71]. The age-standardized incidence rate (ASIR) of HCC in the Eastern Mediterranean countries based on the Global Burden Disease (GBD) study (2015) was 8.1 per 100,000 men and 4.7 per 100,000 in women [72]. The incidence and mortality of HCC in the Middle Eastern countries have increased based on the GBD 2015 [72]. However, such data should be interpreted cautiously. We have to keep in mind that cancer registries are incomplete in most Middle Eastern countries, and therefore the true incidence of HCC is underestimated. The absence of infrastructure and widespread medical facilities in countries affected by wars such as Iraq and Afghanistan will decrease the number of diagnosed cases as well as reported cases. Higher incidence rate and mortality related to HCC in other Middle Eastern countries could be attributed partly to improved healthcare facilities in certain countries as GCC; therefore, more cases are diagnosed and reported.

Cancer registry reports from certain Middle Eastern countries such as Iran, Iraq, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Bahrain, and Lebanon showed a lower incidence rate of HCC than high incidence countries in Southeast Asia and sub-Saharan Africa. The exception is Egypt, where the incidence of HCC is considered high, most likely due to the high prevalence of HCV.

HCC is ranked the fourth most common cancer in Egypt and the second cause of cancerrelated mortality in both genders [72]. The highest age-standardized incidence rate (ASIR) and age-standardized mortality rate (ASMR) of LC were observed in Egypt and Qatar in 1990 and 2017. There was a rise by close to 12% in the ASIR of LC in ME from 1990 to 2017. On the other hand, there was a decline in ASIR of LC in certain Middle Eastern countries such as Yemen, Lebanon, Oman, Syria, Turkey, Afghanistan, Bahrain, Iraq, and Qatar from 1990 to 2017 [73]. This decline in ASIR could be due to improvement in the health system in certain countries such as Oman, Bahrain, Qatar, and Turkey and underreporting in certain countries due to many factors such as wars in Yemen, Syria, and Afghanistan [73]. Based on the Saudi Cancer Registry (SCR) reported in 2014, LC was ranked the sixth most common cancer in Saudi men and the ninth in Saudi women [74]. The ASIR for LC was 4.5 per 100,000 populations, and the ASMR was 4.2 per 100,000 populations based on 2018 data from the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). The ASIR of LC in Saudi Arabia and Kuwait was a bit higher compared to other GCC countries. The reported ASIR per 100,000 populations for Bahrain was 3.4, Qatar 4.1, United Arab Emirates 4.2, and for Oman 4.4 [75]. Alghamdi IG et al. looked at all the documented cases of LC from different regions of Saudi Arabia between 2004 and 2014 and reported 300 patients (9.1%) per year. Old age, mean age of 75 years old, Saudi males were commonly affected [76]. Al-Naamani et al. reported the characteristics of HCC among 284 patients from Oman and showed the mean age of presentation was 61.02 ± 11.41 years. Most of the patients (67.6%) were male. The majority had liver cirrhosis (79.9%), with the most common etiologies being CHC (46.5%) and CHB (43.2%) [77]. The highest ASIR and ASMR of LC among both genders were reported from Egypt at 49 and 3.8 per 100,000 populations, respectively [78].

HCC is not common in certain countries such as Lebanon, ranking 14th among both males and

females with an ASIR of 3.5 and 2.2 per 100,000, in both males and females, respectively [79]. Different studies from Iran reported different incidence rates from other regions of Iran. This discrepancy in the incidence rate is most likely related to the prevalence of various risk factors and the accuracy of diagnosis and registration of cancer in different regions [80, 81]. In a metaanalysis by Hassanipour et al., LC's incidence rate among Iranian men and women was 1.66 and 1.2 per 100,000 populations, respectively. This incidence rate is lower when compared to Asian countries [82]. The Turkish ministry of health report in 2003 showed the incidence of HCC was 0.83 per 100,000 populations. There was no difference in the annual incidence of HCC in Turkey between 2000 and 2003 [83]. Based on the Turkish multicenter study of 222 patients with HCC, Alacacioglu et al. showed that the median age of HCC patients was 62 + 11.3 years. The majority of the patients (76.9%) were males with liver cirrhosis (74.2%) [84].

4 Risk Factors of HCC in ME

The main challenge still present in ME is the high prevalence of chronic viral hepatitis. Therefore, prevention of infection with hepatitis B and hepatitis C is the key to reduce the burden of viral hepatitis complications such as HCC in ME. The major risk factors for HCC are the presence of cirrhosis due to any etiology and HBV infection. Most HCC arises on the cirrhotic liver [85–87].

The marked improvement in the management of liver cirrhosis and screening for HCC over the last few decades has increased liver cirrhosis patients' survival and therefore increased the chance of development of HCC [88–90]. However, screening and diagnosis of early-stage HCC may lead to better treatment outcomes [91].

Other risk factors, such as aflatoxin B exposure, are important in certain parts of the world, especially Asia and Africa [92]. Liver cirrhosis due to hepatitis C and NASH are common risk factors for the development of HCC in the developed world [93, 94]. Studies and reports from ME showed marked variation in the etiology of HCC. Chronic viral hepatitis is still the most common etiology of liver cirrhosis and HCC in the ME.

The ASIR of HBV-related HCC in ME decreased markedly from 1990 before the era of HBV vaccination to 2017; however, despite the marked reduction in HBV infection incidence, it remains the second common cause of HCC in ME. This is most likely due to the complications of HBV-infected people before the era of vaccination [73]. HBV-related liver cirrhosis is the most common etiology of HCC in Lebanon and Turkey, followed by HCV and alcohol-related cirrhosis, respectively.

CHB is associated with higher risks for HCC [95]. There is a closer relationship between HBV infection and the development of HCC. CHB patients can develop HCC at any stage of their disease; however, most develop HCC after reaching cirrhosis [96]. The risk of developing HCC is 100-fold higher for patients infected with HBV compared to those who are not infected [96]. Previous studies demonstrated that male gender, old age, high serum HBV DNA, pre-core and core promoter mutations, and the presence of cirrhosis are risk factors for the development of HCC among CHB patients [97–99].

The majority of Middle Eastern countries have introduced HBV vaccination, reaching 90% coverage before the age of 1 year. Unfortunately, this is not complemented by highly viremic pregnant women's treatment neither administration of hepatitis B immunoglobulin to babies of HBV-infected mothers. Moreover, the rate of HBV diagnosis in ME is low (6%); besides, only 2% of HBV treatment-eligible patients were treated [100]. All of the above obstacles will reduce HBV elimination activities in Middle Eastern countries.

CHB patients coinfected with HDV are at higher risk of acceleration to cirrhosis and, therefore, developing HCC [101]. Coinfection with HDV leads to accelerated fibrosis and cirrhosis in more than 70% of cases [102]. The reported prevalence of hepatitis D virus (HDV) among CHB patients in Jordan was 23% [103]. The prevalence of HDV among patients with HCC differs between different Middle Eastern countries. The reported prevalence in Jordan was 67%; however, patients with HDV coinfection were older than those with HBV mono-infection [103]. The reported prevalence of HDV in Turkey ranges from 18.8% to 23.0% of HBsAg-positive HCC [104, 105]. These findings suggest an association between HDV and HCC.

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is becoming the leading cause of cirrhosis and HCC worldwide. The world prevalence of NAFLD is estimated at around 25% [106]. The prevalence of NAFLD in ME is approximately 30%, which is considered one of the world's highest prevalence [106]. Despite the limitations of the studies quoted by Younnosi et al., the high prevalence of DM, obesity, and metabolic syndrome is reported in multiple publications [107]. GCC states reported the highest prevalence of obesity in the world among the young age population. This population will most likely carry their obesity and their associated NAFLD into adulthood and develop complications such as liver cirrhosis and HCC [108]. NASH-related HCC had the highest ASIR in ME, and the development of HCC on the non-cirrhotic liver was also described in patients with NASH [109].

For a long time, CHC is the most common cause of HCC in ME, followed by CHB. Chronic viral hepatitis accounted for approximately 70% of all HCC in ME [6]. Studies looking at the epidemiology of HCC in ME reported that the majority (70%) of patients with HCC from Egypt, which has the highest prevalence of HCV worldwide, were found to have markers for HCV infection [110, 111]. Similarly, more than one-third (39.5%) of HCC patients from Saudi Arabia were found to be positive for anti-HCV [34, 76]. The pathogenesis of HCV-induced HCC will be discussed later in this chapter.

The mortality related to HCC in ME is declining in the young population, most likely due to HBV vaccination and the high cure rate of HCV associated with DAA treatment [100]. Thus, future trends in HCC in Middle Eastern countries are expected to come down and to have a favorable outcome than other parts of the world, such as East Asia and Africa [112].

4.1 Risk Factors of HCC Among HCV-Infected Patients

The incidence rate of HCC related to CHC in the ME has increased by 16% over 17 years, from 1990 to 2017 [73]. The interaction between CHC and the host immune system is complex. This interaction involves multiple factors leading to the development and growth of HCC. The vast majority of patients with CHC develop HCC on a background of cirrhosis. However, approximately 15% of CHC patients who develop HCC have no cirrhosis [113–116].

Multiple host and, to a lesser extent, viral factors play roles in developing liver cirrhosis and HCC. Host factors such as chronic excessive alcohol consumption, NASH, and coinfection with HBV and HIV play major roles in accelerating liver fibrosis [98]. Poynard et al. showed that patients with CHC who consume more than 50 g of alcohol daily had a 34% higher rate of progression to advanced fibrosis compared to non-drinkers regardless of the age and duration of infection [9]. Similar findings were reported by researchers from Japan who showed that patients with HCV who consume more than 65 g of alcohol daily for more than 5 years have RR, 3.04; 95% CI, 1.31-7.09; and P < 0.01 of developing HCC [117, 118]. Further evidence of the additive risk of development of HCC in patients with HCV who consume a large amount of alcohol for many years was shown in the Dionysos study by Donato et al. from Italy [71].

NASH is a common risk factor for the development of HCC among CHC patients. There is a complex relationship between NASH and CHC. CHC, especially genotype 3, is known to induce fatty liver through the direct cytopathic mechanism, and NASH tends to accelerate liver fibrosis progression in patients with CHC [119]. The prevalence of fatty liver among patients with CHC varies from 40% to 80% [120]. However, the reported prevalence of NASH among CHC patients is much lower, around 4–10% [121–124]. Bedossa et al. showed that patients with CHC and NASH tend to have advanced fibrosis compared to patients with CHC alone. A higher grade of fibrosis and cirrhosis will predispose CHC to the risk of HCC [123].

HBV is a carcinogenic virus. Patients with CHB are at risk of developing HCC at any stage of their liver fibrosis. CHC coinfected with CHB tends to have a higher incidence of HCC of 6.4% as compared with an incidence of 2% for CHB alone and 3.7% for HCV infection alone [125]. Zampino et al. evaluated the development of HCC among patients with viral hepatitis. They found that 14% of HCV coinfected with HBV developed HCC compared to 2% and 4% among HBV and HCV mono-infection, respectively [126]. A similar synergistic effect was reported by Bevegnu et al., who showed 36% of HCV coinfected with HBV patients developed HCC compared to only 6% of CHC patients and 11% of CHB patients [127]. This additive risk of development of HCC in coinfected patients was also demonstrated in Asian studies. Oh et al. reported a hazard ratio of 115 for developing HCC in coinfection, 17 in HBV mono-infection, and 10.4 in HCV mono-infection [128]. Certain factors such as alcohol consumption, genetic factors, and NASH presence could contribute to the higher risk of development of HCC in HBV/ HCV coinfected patients [71, 129, 130].

HIV is common among CHC patients. Almost one-quarter of HIV patients are coinfected with HCV [131]. Liver disease is a major cause of non-AIDS-related deaths, accounting for 16% of mortality among HIV-infected patients [132]. The introduction of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) in the mid-1990s to treat HIV has markedly changed the natural history of HIV infection. The improvement in the survival of HIV patients led to a significant reduction in diseases related to the human immunodeficiency syndrome. Prior studies demonstrated accelerated liver injury in HIV mono-infection and HIV coinfected with HCV [133, 134]. Puoti et al. looked at an Italian cohort of 41 HIV patients who developed HCC and demonstrated an unfavorable association between HIV/HCV coinfection and HCC behavior (infiltrating tumors and/ extra-nodal metastasis at presentation or (OR = 11.8; P < 0.001). HIV infection was independently associated with poor survival (hazard

ratio, 1.63; P = 0.015) [135]. Similar findings were reported by Beretta et al. in 2011, who demonstrated a shorter survival rate among young patients coinfected with HIV and HCV who develop HCC [136].

Most of the studies mentioned above were observational studies with a small number of patients, and there was no adjustment for other risk factors such as alcohol intake and the presence of NASH. In addition to that, these studies were performed before the era of DAA, where a significant number of patients were not treated for HCV using interferon-based therapy. The above findings were not demonstrated by Marcon et al., who looked at 399 Brazilian patients with HIV coinfected with HCV and compared them to 405 monoinfected with HBV or HCV. One-third of HIV-negative patients developed liver cirrhosis compared to 16.5% of coinfected (P < 0.001). HCC was diagnosed in 10 HIV-coinfected patients compared to 26 monoinfected with HBV or HCV [137].

One of the crucial factors for the development of HCC in patients with CHC is type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM-2). DM-2 is characterized by hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia, and insulin resistance. DM-2 is becoming a major cause of morbidity and mortality around the globe. The prevalence of DM-2 in ME has increased enormously over the last few decades. DM-2 has been found to increase the risk of different types of malignancies, such as breast, endometrial, renal, and GI cancers such as colon, pancreatic, and liver cancers [138–142]. DM-2 may induce liver fibrosis and HCC through different mechanisms, including hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia, insulin resistance, and activation of insulin-like growth factor (IGF) signaling pathways. These mechanisms are known to have proliferative effects such as insulin and insulin-like growth factor 1 and oncogenic effects such as hyperglycemia [143]. In addition to that, DM-2 also predisposes patients to NASH, which may progress to cirrhosis in up to 5% of cases [144]. Rousseau et al. looked at the 3107 male cancer cases and 509 population controls, used information on diabetes and several covariates collected by interview, and found that the risk of HCC was increased among people with diabetes and adjusted OR was 3.1 (95% CI: 1.1, 8.8) [145]. Similar findings were reported by El-Serag et al., who performed a meta-analysis of 13 cohort studies and 13 case-control studies and found that DM is associated with an approximately 2.5fold increased risk of HCC [146]. The risk of developing HCC is significant in the presence of other HCC risk factors, such as chronic viral hepatitis, high alcohol consumption, and liver cirrhosis.

5 Pathogenesis of HCV-Induced HCC

The exact mechanisms of development of HCC in patients with CHC are unknown despite the establishment of the relationship between CHC and the formation of HCC [147, 148]. Chronic viral hepatitis is the leading cause of HCC. HCV has become an important risk factor for HCC in regions with intermediate-incidence areas such as the ME [73]. More than half of HCV-infected patients will develop cirrhosis, and 14.4% are predicted to develop HCC [149]. Different mechanisms of HCC development have been postulated to explain the causal relationship between HCC and HCV. Since the discovery of HCV in 1989, multiple studies using animal models revealed that HCV changes many cell signaling pathways involved in cell proliferation, migration, and transformation. Many of these changes will ultimately lead to chronic inflammation and fibrosis. The interaction between the host, the virus, and other additive mechanisms leads to the development of HCC (Fig. 2).

5.1 Viral-Related Mechanism

An extensive network of tubules and flattened sacs within the hepatocyte cytosol called the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) plays an essential role in lipids and protein biosynthesis, therefore maintaining hepatocyte function in the liver. CHC infection poses significant stress on the ER through alterations of protein synthesis, degrada-



Fig. 2 Interaction between viral, host, and other additive mechanisms

tion, or folding. CHC infection, especially genotype 3, is associated with fatty liver. The accumulation of fatty acids and cholesterol within the infected hepatocyte may inhibit protein degradation, adding more stress to the ER. Due to these reasons, the stressed ER can activate specific signaling pathways leading to inflammation, cellular injury, fibrosis, and cirrhosis [150–152]. In addition to the stress imposed by CHC on ER, continuous viral replication increases hepatocyte's DNA damage, genomic instability, and ultimately death of hepatocytes through different forms such as apoptosis, necrosis, and autophagy [153].

Autophagy is the process by which the cells remove misfolded or aggregated proteins and clear damaged organelles and eliminate intracellular pathogens. Autophagy is essential for maintaining the cellular source of energy during extreme cellular stress. Uncontrolled autophagy has been linked to the development of HCC [154].

The stress produced by HCV infection is maintained and amplified by certain inflammatory cytokines and interferon (IFN). Infected liver cells respond to continuous stress imposed by CHC through unfolded protein response, antioxidant response, and induction of integrated stress response that enhances the transcription of many genes required for survival [155]. Analysis of whole-exome sequencing of HCV-related HCC tumors demonstrated downregulation of many suppressor genes, mutations in cancer driver genes, and genomic instability in the majority of cases [156, 157].

5.2 Host-Related Mechanisms

The innate and adaptive immune responses are both activated during HCV infection. Activation of both responses leads to the recruitment of many inflammatory cells. Production of interferons (IFNs) and certain cytokines by the immune system during HCV infection is a characteristic of early host immune responses [158]. HCV develops different mechanisms that impair the cytotoxic and immunoregulatory activities of immune cells to avoid early host immune responses and develop chronic infection [159].

CHC infection is characterized by immunemediated inflammation with the production of chemokines, metabolites, and growth factors that promotes liver regeneration and fibrosis. The repeated cycles of liver cell death and regeneration could drive the formation of HCC [160, 161].

5.3 Additive Mechanisms

More than one etiology of liver cirrhosis can be found in the same patients leading to accelerated fibrosis, cirrhosis, and finally development of HCC. Coinfection with hepatitis B doubles the risk of development of HCC compared to each virus alone [162]. Similarly, patients with HCV and HIV coinfection are at higher risk of developing liver cirrhosis and HCC [163].

Components of metabolic syndrome such as obesity, type 2 diabetes, and associated NASH have been found to accelerate HCV-induced liver cirrhosis and HCC [164, 165].

The mechanisms involved in the HCV-induced HCC are similar to other etiologies leading to liver fibrosis, cirrhosis, and HCC. ER stress leads to chronic inflammation, cell death and regeneration, fibrosis, and the development of HCC. Activation of oncogenes and loss of tumor suppressor can play some role in the development of HCC; however, the development of HCC post-HCV eradication is not fully explained by the previously mentioned mechanisms.

Multiple studies demonstrated different immune-related changes post-HCV treatment using interferon-free therapy. A rapid decline in HCV RNA leads to memory re-differentiation and reduced lymphocyte activation, restoration of HCV-specific CD8+ T cell function, modulation, and normalization of NK cell function [166–168]. These changes lead to loss of immune response to neoplastic cells and therefore HCC recurrence after DAA treatment.

6 Strategies to Prevent HCV-Induced HCC

Many patients with HCC are asymptomatic when tumors are at an early stage. Therefore, unfortunately, the majority are diagnosed at advanced stages, which is associated with a dismal prognosis [169]. One study from KSA showed that most of the patients were diagnosed at an advanced stage (53% had cancer of the Liver Italian Program score (CLIP) of 4-6 (advanced stage), and 55% had large multinodular tumors) [170]. A similar finding was shown in other country-specific reports from Qatar [171] and Oman [77]. Despite advancements in the treatment modalities of different types of cancers, HCC is considered a highly refractory cancer to therapeutic interventions [172]. It is well-known that prevention and early detection are the most rational and effective ways to substantially impact cancerrelated outcomes rather than starting treatment at an advanced stage [173]. This highly supports the importance of considering prevention and early detection of HCC in high-risk patients [172]. Like any other preventive diseases or cancers, HCC prevention constitutes three levels of interventions (Table 2). The primary prevention focuses on preventing and eliminating exposure to HCC-related risk factors at an early stage using lifestyle and dietary changes, vaccination (under research), and avoiding exposure to environmental factors or carcinogens in an etiology-specific manner. Next is secondary prevention, which focuses on early detection or chemoprevention of
 Table 2
 Levels of prevention against HCV-related HCC

Level	Description	Examples
Primary prevention	Prevention of new HCV infection	Screening blood products Universal precautions to prevent blood contamination in healthcare settings Education programs for high-risk patients Treatment of HCV- infected patients
	Prevention of fibrosis progression to cirrhosis	Treatment of HCV- infected patients Modifications of other related factors (i.e., treatment of HBV, HIV, lifestyle modifications in NASH)
Secondary prevention	Prevention of progression of cirrhosis or regression of cirrhosis Early detection of HCC to improve treatment outcomes	Treatment of HCV- infected patients Chemoprevention HCC screening (liver ultrasonography with/ without alpha-fetoprotein)
Tertiary prevention	Prevention of tumor progression or recurrence after curative treatment	Antiviral therapy for HCV Locoregional therapies Chemoprevention Close monitoring

Modified from Hoshida et al. [174]

HCC in high-risk patients. Lastly, tertiary prevention focuses on the prevention of the progression or recurrence of HCC [174].

6.1 Primary Prevention

Primary prevention of HCV-related HCC includes prevention of new HCV infection either through vaccination (under research) or prevention of transmission. Although research efforts are still ongoing, unlike HBV infection, vaccines for HCV infection are currently unavailable. The development of an effective HCV vaccine is challenged by several viral factors, including the lack of a neutralizing antibody and the diversity of the viral genome [175, 176]. Therefore, the primary prevention against HCV transmission depends mainly on universal precautions, especially through contaminated blood or blood product transfusion, sterilization of medical instruments, and intravenous injection use (Table 2).

As we mentioned earlier, several reports from different Middle Eastern countries showed that healthcare-related exposures were most frequently reported, followed by exposure to intravenous drug use [177]. Blood and blood product transfusion, hemodialysis, surgical and other invasive medical procedures, dental practice, and medical injections were identified as key healthcare-related exposures [177]. The other important primary prevention method is eradicating HCV infection using antiviral therapies. Effective treatment of HCV is associated with preventing transmission of the virus as well as preventing progression to advanced fibrosis/cirrhosis and development of HCC [178]. Apart from Egypt, most Middle Eastern countries have not yet implemented a national HCV screening program [179]. In 2018, the Egyptian Government initiated a national HCV screening campaign, and all those with confirmed HCV infection are enrolled in government-subsidized treatment program using DAA regimen [180]. In Saudi Arabia, premarital screening for HCV is mandatory for all nationals [181]. However, one pooled analysis of 2500 prevalence measures, including 49 million tests, in the MENA region showed that the population risk of HCV exposure depends on whether the type of epidemic is generalized (like Egypt and Pakistan) or concentrated (like the rest of the countries). This study demonstrated that major gains could be achieved through targeted, cost-effective screening programs that factor in the epidemic type and are tailored to each country [182].

6.2 Secondary Prevention

Secondary prevention of HCV-related HCC aims at preventing HCC development in high-risk patients through direct anti-HCV therapy, treatment of additive factors such as HBV and HIV, lifestyle modifications in NASH patients, and elimination of alcohol intake. Over the last decades, there were several trials, including phase III trials, on chemoprevention therapies targeting inflammation, fibrogenesis, and carcinogenesis. Unfortunately, these trials have demonstrated limited efficacy and utility of those therapies [183–185]. In addition, conducting clinical trials of those identified candidate chemopreventive agents, such as statins, anti-diabetic drugs, aspirin, and dietary agents such as coffee, vitamin E, and fish oil, is limited by the long duration of cancer development that requires long-term, costly studies [176]. Thus, welldesigned, prospective, population-based cohort studies might overcome those obstacles and provide the best evidence for the chemo-preventive effectiveness.

The eradication of HCV in patients using anti-HCV treatment lowers but does not eliminate HCC risk in already established advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis [172, 176, 186–190]. More data from IFN-based therapy demonstrated a beneficent long-term clinical effect in patients who achieve SVR, including a reduction in the risk of HCC [191–194]. One recent large population study from Canada included more than 8000 patients treated with older IFN-based therapy between 1990 and 2013 and showed that SVR prevents HCC. However, those with cirrhosis and age \geq 50 years remain at higher HCC risk and will require continued monitoring for HCC [186]. Furthermore, different studies using posttherapy liver biopsy have observed that HCV eradication can lead to long-term histological regression of the grade of fibrosis or reduction in the rate of fibrosis progression in more than 50% of the patients [193, 195, 196]. Although we can believe that the same will happen in patients treated with DAA therapy, more studies have to be demonstrated [197]. A recent real-world cohort study from Portugal showed DAAinduced SVR is associated with a low risk (but does not prevent) HCC occurrence or disease progression [189]. In the same study, using post-SVR transient elastography to assess fibrosis improvement, there was an improvement in liver stiffness after SVR. This improvement may result from a decrease in necro-inflammatory activity after SVR, which may lead to overestimation of fibrosis regression [198–200], a fact that has also been demonstrated by matched elastography-biopsy comparison [201].

Regarding patients with fibrosis stage 4 (F4), those with an "early regression" (decrease in hepatic stiffness \geq 30% 24 weeks after the end of therapy) had higher baseline elastography values, which supports the role of inflammatory activity reduction in this context [202]. Another recent study using the FIB-4 index also showed that achieving SVR post-DAA therapy is associated with decreased fibrosis progression in more than half of the patients [203]. Different studies showed that SVR might lead to sustained progressive improvement in the degree of portal hypertension and, probably, in the degree of liver fibrosis through either direct (reduction in hepatic venous pressure gradient (HVPG)) or indirect measurement (improvement in platelet counts) [199, 200, 204].

Secondary prevention also includes early detection of HCC and therefore increasing the likelihood of curative treatment. Screening using "one-size-fits-all" approach, i.e., regular а 6-monthly ultrasound with or without a-fetoprotein (AFP), in populations with HCC risk is recommended by all current international societies [205–207], including the Saudi Gastroenterology Association [208]. A series of studies and reports indicate that HCC screening is cost-effective and associated with improved early tumor detection, curative treatment rates, and overall survival when available to more than 34% of patients at risk [209-211]. HCC screening is practically challenging to implement in clinical practice as only one in five patients received surveillance before HCC diagnosis (low application rate of <20%) [172, 212, 213]. The low utilization rate of HCC screening was not shown to be related to patient adherence, as one study showed only 3% of patients with HCC failed to complete surveillance despite orders [213]. Provider-related factors, including failure to recognize liver disease or cirrhosis, failure to order screening tests, and time constraints, were identified as more influential factors compared to patient adherence [213, 214]. HCC surveillance was more likely among patients seen by hepatologists compared to nonspecialists (odds ratio of 6.1) [213]. Populationbased interventions such as mailed outreach invitations could improve the surveillance rate to approximately 45% [215]. With the currently available resources, the large number of the target population is another limitation, given that cirrhosis is estimated to affect around 1-2% of the world population [216]. The extent of HCC risk for emerging populations, such as NAFLD without cirrhosis and HCV patients post-sustained virologic response (SVR), is yet to be determined. The most proper screening methods and surveillance internals for these populations will need to be clearly defined [212]. All of the above issues highlight the limitations of the current one-size-fits-all HCC surveillance strategy, which assumes a similar risk of HCC across all patients with the same clinical condition (e.g., HCV-related cirrhosis). This strategy may result in an over- or underestimation of HCC risk for each patient [217, 218]. Thus, a more precise determination of individual HCC risk is critical for implementing practical and feasible HCC screening and to enable optimal allocation of the limited resources, as detailed below.

6.3 Tertiary Prevention

The tertiary prevention aims to prevent HCC progression or recurrence after curative therapy of initial HCC, such as surgical resection, ablative treatment, or liver transplantation. However, despite the advances in surgical techniques and ablation technologies, the 5-year survival rate and recurrence rate are around 50% and 70%, respectively [219, 220]. The incidence of postcurative therapy HCC recurrence in cirrhosis is approximately three times more frequent than the first HCC. Therefore, it is vital to identify effective tertiary prevention interventions rather than secondary prevention [221].

HCC recurrence post-curative therapy has been classified as early (within 2 years of curative treatment) or late (>2 years after curative treatment) [222–224]. Early recurrence has been attributed to undetected micrometastasis and is associated with both tumor and surgical factors, such as large tumor size, macroscopic vascular invasion, multinodularity, and close resection margins. On the other hand, late recurrence has been attributed to de novo second primary tumor development and is associated with host factors, such as background liver diseases, hepatitis virus load, and cirrhosis status.

To date, similar to secondary prevention, adjuvant chemoprevention therapies have not proven effective as tertiary prevention [224–226]. Although several early studies, including randomized control trials, explored the potential benefit of vitamin K2, retinoid, different systemic chemotherapy agents, and lately sorafenib, none of the studies reported successful [226].

Like primary and secondary prevention, tertiary prevention could also theoretically be achieved through anti-HCV therapies. One may expect that effective anti-HCV therapies may only reduce late HCC recurrence, as demonstrated by the Italian randomized control trial using adjuvant IFN- α therapy in HCV-related HCC [224]. However, IFN- α plus ribavirin therapy also reduced early recurrence within 1 year in another Taiwanese nationwide cohort study [227]. In another randomized control trial performed in Japan, 49 patients with HCV-related HCC were administered IFN- α therapy after complete ethanol ablation. Among the treated patients, 14 (29%) demonstrated SVR. Compared with the 25 patients who did not receive adjuvant IFN- α therapy, the rates of first recurrence were similar, but the rates of second and third recurrence were lower in those receiving adjuvant IFN- α treatment [225]. Therefore, IFN-based therapy has been shown to improve outcomes following curative HCC therapy.

Whether the high rates of SVR achieved with DAA regimens have a beneficial or deleterious effect on the risk of recurrence following resection or ablation of HCC has been debated, following the publication of a large number of generally small-scale, retrospective studies with contradictory results [228–237]. Systematic review and meta-analysis of Waziry et al. in 2017, including 13,875 patients to assess HCC occurrence (26 studies) and recurrence (15 studies) post-IFN therapy versus DAA-based SVR, found

no evidence to support the higher rate of occurrence and recurrence of HCC post-DAA compared to IFN therapy [238]. In addition, a retrospective US cohort study including 797 patients with HCV-related HCC who achieved a complete response to resection, local ablation, transarterial chemo- or radio-embolization, or radiation therapy has shown that DAA therapy was associated with a significant reduction in the overall risk of death [239]. Therefore, there are no conclusive data that DAA therapy is associated with increased or decreased risk, differential time to recurrence, or aggressiveness of recurrent HCC in patients with a complete response to HCC therapy. Thus, DAA therapy should not be withheld from such patients. According to the recent EASL guidelines, DAA therapy can conveniently be deferred 4-6 months in patients without cirrhosis or with compensated, Child-Pugh A, cirrhosis to consolidate treatment and confirm a response to HCC therapy in patients treated with curative intent [240].

Treatment of patients awaiting or post-liver transplantation (LT) has also been controversial. The impact of DAA on delisting for HCC progression or recurrent HCC post-LT has not been well characterized. In a retrospective cohort study of 149 LT candidates with HCV infection and HCC at a single center, patients treated with DAAs for their HCV infection had a lower risk of waitlist dropout due to tumor progression or death compared to the patients who had not been treated [228]. Post-LT treatment of HCV was reported to be cost-effective in patients with HCC [241]. In patients with HCC, without cirrhosis, or with compensated cirrhosis, with an indication for LT, pre- or post-LT antiviral treatment indications are similar to those in patients who do not have HCC [240, 241]. In patients with HCC awaiting liver transplantation with an HCV infection in centers with long waiting times, HCV treatment should be initiated before liver transplantation to facilitate locoregional therapies to reduce waiting list dropouts due to tumor progression.

7 HCC Risk Prediction Models

HCC risk scores are used to enable precise HCC risk prediction. Such scores could identify a subgroup of individuals at high risk, maximizing the cost-effectiveness of screening tools and concentrating the efforts and resources, especially in resources-limited countries [172], in other words, applying HCC risk scores to those who are most likely to benefit from prevention and early detection, i.e., individual personalized risk-based HCC screening [172].

HCV-related HCC is previously discussed in this chapter. The risk of developing HCV-related HCC was shown in different studies to be significantly associated with the presence of cirrhosis, older age, male gender, excessive alcohol consumption [117, 118], coinfection with HBV [125–127, 129] and HIV [131–136], presence of obesity [164, 242, 243], diabetes status [139, 141, 143, 144, 146], and NASH [119–124].

Other epidemiologic and clinical studies have reported more demographic, clinical, lifestyle, genetic, and pharmacological factors that further affect or modify the likelihood of HCC [212]. The combination of different readily available clinical risk factors has been evaluated by various trials to develop HCC risk-predictive scores. However, their performance is somewhat limited, and they are yet to be adopted in clinical practice (Table 3) [212]. Molecular biomarkers have also been actively explored like AFP "a-fetoprotein," AFP-13, and DCP "des gammacarboxy prothrombin," and some of them were combined with the clinical scoring systems to improve their HCC risk prediction [172, 244]. While the promise of these candidate molecular biomarkers is clear, some significant challenges and obstacles limit their clinical translation, like assay development and implementation and regulatory approval.

8 Antiviral Therapy and HCC

Before 2011, IFN-based therapy, with or without concomitant ribavirin, was the mainstay of treatment for those infected with HCV, with success rates ranging between 5% and 50%, depending on the genotype, stage of liver disease, and duration of therapy [259–261]. The addition of ribavirin improved outcomes but was poorly tolerated by most patients due to severe adverse effects. The management of HCV has transformed over the past decade, with SVR rates above 90% following the introduction of an IFN-free DAAbased regimen even in patients with cirrhosis [262–264].

Before using DAAs, IFN-based regimens were used in specific subgroups of patients, with significant histopathological improvements seen following successful treatment. Nowadays, it is harder to assess post-SVR histopathological changes as we are no longer required to perform pre-treatment biopsies as we were within the IFN era. However, when evaluating histopathology within 2 years of treatment, though there is a suggestion of fibrosis regression, persistent inflammatory activity has been observed despite the absence of the virus [265]. IFN-based therapies have shown that SVR is consistently associated with gradual regression of fibrosis and lower risk of HCC in retrospective studies [266, 267].

One of the goals of achieving SVR is a reduction in the incidence rate of HCC. Studies from the era of IFN-based therapy demonstrated clearly that attaining SVR was associated with a lower rate of development of HCC in 0.5–1% per year [186–188]. There was an increasing number of reports in 2016 describing a higher incidence rate of HCC post-DAA compared to old treatment with interferon-based therapy [229, 230, 268, 269]. However, one has to keep in mind that most of these studies were observational studies, including a small number of patients, with a short period of follow-up and no control arm. In addition to that and with the high safety profile of DAA compared to interferon, older patients with cirrhosis and other risk factors for HCC that were not eligible for treatment with IFN were included in most of those observational studies using DAA. The meta-analysis by Morgan et al. in 2013, including 30 observational studies, of which 18 studies had adjusted effect estimates, found that SVR after HCV therapy at any stage of fibrosis was associated with reduced risk for

			Race/			
Risk models	Study design	No. subjects	ethnicity	Cirrhosis	Variables	Validation
Singal et al. [245]	Prospective- retrospective, cohort	442 + 1050 ^a	White, black, Hispanic	$100\% + 41\%^{a}$	23 clinical variables	External
REVEAL- HCV [246]	Prospective- retrospective, cohort	1095 + 572ª	Asian	1.4% + 7.0%ª	Age, ALT, AST/ALT, HCV RNA, cirrhosis, HCV genotype	External
Ganne- Carrie et al. [247]	Prospective- retrospective, cohort	720 + 360 ^a	n.a.	100%	Age, past alcohol abuse, platelet, GGT, SVR	Internal
Lok et al. [248]	Prospective- retrospective, cohort	1005	White, black, Hispanic	40% (Ishak 5/6)	Age, race, platelet, ALP, esophageal varices, smoking	No
El-Serag et al. [249]	Retrospective, cohort	5586 + 5760 ^a	White, black	100%	AFP, ALT, platelet, age	Internal
Motosugi et al. [250]	Retrospective, case-control	66:66 ^b	Asian	n.a.	LSM by MRE	
Chang et al. [251]	Retrospective, cohort	1252 + 627ª	Asian	45% (F3/4)	Age, sex, platelet, AFP, advanced fibrosis, HCV genotype 1b, SVR	Internal
Ikeda et al. [252]	Retrospective, cohort	1056	Asian	10%	Age, AST, platelet before IFN treatment	No
scoreHCC [253]	Retrospective, cohort	871	Asian	30%	Age, AFP, platelet, advanced fibrosis	No
Wang et al. [254]	Retrospective, case-control	21:355 ^b	Asian	33.8% (F3/4)	LSM, advanced fibrosis, diabetes	No
ADRESS- HCC [255]	Retrospective, cohort	17,124 + 17,808 ^a	White, Hispanic	100%	Age, diabetes, race, etiology, sex, Child-Pugh score	External
Velazquez et al. [256]	Prospective, cohort	295 + 168ª	n.a.	100%	Age, HCV, prothrombin time, platelet	Internal
VFMAP [257]	Retrospective, cohort	1808	Asian	13%	LSM, fast plasma glucose, sex, age, AFP	No

Table 3 Clinical risk prediction models for HCV-related HCC

n.a. not available/applicable. "*Prospective-retrospective*" indicates the retrospective analysis of prospectively collected cohort in the past [258]. *ADRESS-HCC* age, diabetes, race, etiology of cirrhosis, sex, and severity of liver dysfunction-HCC, *AFP* a-fetoprotein, *ALP* alkaline phosphatase, *ALT* alanine aminotransferase, *AST* aspartate aminotransferase, *CPA* collagen proportionate area, *GGT* c-glutamyltransferase, *HbA1c* glycated hemoglobin, type A1c, *HCC* hepatocellular carcinoma, *HCV* hepatitis C virus, *IFN* interferon, *LSM* liver stiffness measurement, *MRE* magnetic resonance elastography, *REVEAL-HCV* Risk Evaluation of Viral Load Elevation and Associated Liver Disease/Cancer in HCV, *SVR* sustained virologic response, *VFMAP* virtual touch quantification, fast plasma glucose, sex, age, and AFP arraining + validation

^bCase-control

HCC (relative risk for all, 0.24 [95% CI, 0.18 to 0.31]) [270]. The second systematic review and meta-analysis of Waziry et al. in 2017, including a total of 13,875 patients to assess HCC occurrence (26 studies) and recurrence (15 studies) post-IFN therapy versus DAA-based SVR, found no evidence to support the higher rate of occurrence and recurrence of HCC post-DAA com-

pared to IFN therapy [238]. A third and recent 2019 meta-analysis by Rutledge et al. includes 138 studies with many patients (n = 177,512) looking at the development of HCC post-DAA compared to those of IFN-treated and untreated populations. This study also showed no evidence of increased HCC in patients who achieved SVR by DAAs than those treated with IFN [271].

Multiple other studies and meta-analyses showed similar evidence to the above-quoted studies. Therefore, achieving SVR will reduce the risk of HCC development but will not eliminate it. Patients with advanced fibrosis and liver cirrhosis will be at risk of developing HCC, and continuous surveillance for early HCC detection is highly recommended.

8.1 Post-SVR Surveillance

HCC recurrence is exceptionally high, reaching up to 70% after 5 years of resection. HCC can occur even quite 10 years after SVR. The 1-4% yearly incidence of HCC post-SVR is higher than other cancers [176]. Therefore, prevention of HCC development in patients with liver cirrhosis could represent the foremost effective way of improving patient survival [174]. Retrospective evaluation of patients who developed HCC post-SVR showed several HCCassociated risk factors, most of which are similar to the risk factors in patients with active HCV infection. The foremost important risk factor for HCC development post-SVR is the presence of advanced liver fibrosis [252]. Other important risk factors that might lead to the development of HCC post-SVR are old age, high alcohol intake, coinfection with HBV or HIV, and the presence of metabolic syndrome [272]. Viral factors resulting in irreversible changes in cellular signaling due to epigenetic activation or imprinting continue to drive carcinogenesis even after achieving SVR [273, 274]. Hassany et al. from Egypt prospectively have analyzed the occurrence of HCC in patients with liver cirrhosis who have achieved an SVR after IFN-free treatment with no history of HCC, and they have found that the HCC occurrence rate is 6.3% within the first 2 years [275]. Due to the continuous risk of HCC formation among patients with liver cirrhosis despite SVR, a regular, twice-yearly screening using ultrasound abdomen is highly suggested by all international guidelines, including the Saudi Association for the Study of Liver Diseases and Transplantation [276-279].

Management of HCV in Patients with HCC

9

9.1 DAAs in HCV-Related HCC

The use of DAAs has improved the disease outcomes among HCV-infected patients with SVR rates surpassing 95%. Nonetheless, recent studies on the efficacy of DAAs in patients with HCC demonstrated lower SVR rates at 60-90% than those without HCC [280, 281]. This might be explained by different possible mechanisms [280, 282–284]. For example, it has been proposed that there is a suboptimal penetration of DAAs to the HCV-infected tumor cells due to altered morphology and the nature of the tumor blood supply, which is, for the most part, the hepatic arterial branches when compared to the portal venous system [283]. However, the data to assess the efficacy of DAAs among the HCC cohort is limited because the initial DAA studies have excluded patients with HCC [285]. Other factors such as the DAA treatment regimens (e.g., SOF/ RBV) used or inadequate duration of therapy may explain the suboptimal result report among patients with HCC. Hence, further trials are needed to evaluate SVR rates in this cohort of patients with the new generation of DAAs, prolonged duration of therapy, and treatment combinations.

10 HCV Treatment Considerations Based on HCC Therapy

10.1 DAAs and Locoregional Therapies

Locoregional therapies (LRTs) (e.g., percutaneous radiofrequency ablation, microwave thermal ablation, and ethanol injection) are used as curative interventions in the early stages of HCC and as palliative interventions (e.g., Transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) and Transarterial radioembolization (TARE)) in the intermediate to advanced-stage HCC [206]. There is limited evidence on the best HCV treatment approach in patients with HCC that is amenable to LRT, and more research is required. Based on the little available evidence, several important points may be considered when deciding whether or not to treat those patients with DAAs and when. Initially, since LRTs are mainly used in patients with wellcompensated liver disease, achieving SVR may significantly improve the liver function in those with decompensated liver disease and increase the eligibility for LRT [286]. Besides, as we referenced above, since SVR rates are decreased in patients with HCC, it is preferred in those with compensated liver disease to treat the HCC with LRTs before treating with DAA therapy [281, 287, 288].

10.2 DAAs and Liver Transplantation

There is much speculation regarding timing and the likely effect of HCV treatment in patients with HCC, especially in those under consideration for liver transplantation [283]. Based on the available data, there are undoubtedly several advantages and disadvantages of treating HCV before or after liver transplantation for HCC, which ought to be considered on an individual basis (Table 4) [282, 283, 285].

10.3 DAAs and Systemic Therapies

There are few available studies on using the DAAs in HCV patients with advanced HCC on

systemic therapies. Sorafenib, an oral multikinase inhibitor, was the first breakthrough tartherapy used to treat advanced geted HCC. Although sorafenib's impact on median overall survival does not extend life expectancy beyond 1 year, it is yet to be superseded a decade after the landmark SHARP trial [205, 206, 289]. Sorafenib was shown in vitro to effectively block HCV replication through different mechanisms [290–293], which has not yet been demonstrated in human studies [289, 294]. One study has shown that HCV infection is predictive of a more significant overall survival benefit with sorafenib than other liver disease causes [295]. Another interesting study by Kawaoka et al. has reported that HCV eradication before sorafenib treatment for HCV-related advanced HCC could improve the median time to treatment failure, post-progression survival, and overall survival [296]. However, a recent single-center study by Lin et al. has shown that untreated HCV patients, i.e., no DAA group, were more likely to have advanced-stage HCC and more likely to be treated with sorafenib [234]. A study by Beste et al. showed a remarkably lower rate of SVR in patients treated with sorafenib (59%) compared to patients who underwent surgical resection (78.9%) [284]. The favorable response to DAA therapy in the post-resection group could be explained by the inactive nature of HCC in this group who are more likely to have compensated liver disease.

Newer drugs like lenvatinib, a multi-kinase inhibitor, in the first-line and regorafenib, cabo-

	Advantages	Disadvantages
HCV treatment	May improve liver function	Improved liver function may affect list priority in
pre-transplantation	Prevention of recurrence	deceased donor liver transplantation (the majority of
	post-transplantation	Middle Eastern countries use liver donor liver
	Prevention of post-transplant	transplantation)
	complications such as fibrosing	Lower SVR rates
	cholestatic hepatitis	Possible resistance-associated variants
	May prevent the need for	HCV- positive donors less favorable post-SVR
	transplantation	Speculative DAA associated with HCC recurrence
HCV treatment	Improved SVR rates	Worsening of pre-transplant liver function
post-transplantation	HCV-positive donors considered	Fibrosing cholestatic HCV post-transplant (<5%)
	with improved wait times	
	No concern for DAA and HCC	
	recurrence	

Table 4 Advantages and disadvantages of treating HCV before or after liver transplantation for HCC

zantinib (both multi-kinase inhibitors), and ramucirumab (an anti-VEGF mAb) within the second-line are incorporated into new guidelines [205, 206] and are started to be used in practice; however, the evidence about their potential interactions with DAA agents is still minimal. Although two small studies have shown no adverse effects of combining DAAs with sorafenib, either in terms of SVR rate or antineoplastic effect, more well-designed studies are required to assess the interaction between targeted DAAs and systemic therapies [297, 298].

10.4 Timing of HCV Treatment in Advanced HCC

As previously discussed, the timing of HCV treatment when considering curative options has been the source of some debate. The decreased efficacy of DAAs seen in the context of HCC offers a compelling argument for treating HCV after treatment of the tumor. In advanced HCC, the possibility of a cure is marginal, and then delaying HCV treatment is not practical. In patients where life expectancy is significantly limited, the risk/benefit ratio of treating HCV must be considered. The AASLD guidelines recommend palliative measures in patients with limited life expectancy within 12 months as those patients are unlikely to benefit from HCV eradication [205]. This includes patients with decompensated liver disease and advanced HCC. HCV eradication is the preferred option for those with a better prognosis before initiating sorafenib treatment in advanced HCC patients. This approach has better outcomes, including better overall survival, as mentioned above [296]. Therefore, the decision concerning the management of concomitant HCV and advanced HCC should be made on a case-bycase basis, considering the overall prognosis and potential benefit.

Advanced stages of HCC occur commonly and with increasing frequency in developing countries, including Middle Eastern countries, where it is also associated with a bad prognosis. This increasing burden of HCC could be explained by different factors, including the absence of exiting HCC screening programs, delayed presentation, delayed referral to a specialist, the limited number of specialists, and the limited treatment options offered in most countries [299]. Therefore, the timing of HCV treatment in advanced stages in resource-limited countries will also be factored into the presence of the different treatment options for HCC and the availability of DAA therapy, among other factors.

11 HCV Elimination in the ME: Opportunities and Challenges

HCV is one of the main etiological factors of HCC worldwide, and hence an effective control of this infection may reduce the disease burden of HCC. In October 2003, a national viral hepatitis therapy program was launched in Taiwan. This program has been shown to significantly reduce the burden of end-stage liver disease [300]. A total of 157,570 patients with CHB and 61,823 patients with CHC were treated with antiviral therapy from 2004 to 2011. There was a 22% reduction in mortality from chronic liver diseases and cirrhosis, a 24% reduction in HCC mortality, and a 14% reduction in HCC incidence in 2008– 2011 compared with the 4 years before launching the program, 2000–2003 [300].

In 2015, only 20% of HCV infections were diagnosed globally, and only 7% of CHC eligible patients were treated [301]. In 2016, the 69th World Health Assembly endorsed the Global Health Sector Strategy (GHSS) for the elimination of viral hepatitis worldwide by 2030 [302]. This was followed by the WHO global service coverage targets using five key interventions in prevention and treatment to eliminate viral hepatitis as public health threats by 2030. The WHO target is a 90% reduction in the incidence of chronic HBV and HCV infections and a 65% reduction in mortality by 2030 (Table 5) [302]. Implementation of this strategy would prevent 7.1 million deaths globally between 2015 and 2030 [301].

	Target area	Baseline 2015	2020 targets	2030 targets
Impact targets leading to	Incidence: new cases of chronic HBV and HCV infections	6 and 10 million infections	30% reduction	90% reduction (900,000 infections)
elimination	Mortality: HBV and HCV deaths	1.46 million deaths	10% reduction	65% reduction (500,000 deaths)
Service	Prevention			
coverage targets	Three-dose HBV vaccine for infants (coverage %)	81%	90%	90%
	Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HBV: HBV birth dose vaccination or other approaches (coverage %)	38%	50%	90%
	Blood safety: donations screened with quality assurance	89%	95%	100%
	Safe injections: percentage of injections administered with safety-engineered devices in and out of health facilities	5%	50%	90%
	Harm reduction: number of sterile syringes provided per person who injects drugs per year (coverage%)	20	200 (50% coverage)	300 (75% coverage)
	Treatment			
	HBV and HCV diagnosis	<5% of chronic hepatitis infections diagnosed	30%	90%
	HBV and HCV treatment	<1% receiving treatment	5 million people will be receiving the HBV treatment	80% of eligible persons with chronic HBV infection treated
		<1% receiving treatment	3 million people have received HCV treatment	80% of eligible persons with CHC infection treated

 Table 5
 WHO's targets for the elimination of viral hepatitis [302]

Abbreviations: HBV hepatitis B virus, HCV hepatitis C virus

The estimated incidence of acute HCV in ME based on the dataset used for the WHO 2017 Global Hepatitis Report [301] provided by the Center for Disease Analysis (CDA) Foundation's Polaris Observatory is 18.5 per 100,000 patients. As of 2015, only around 20% of HCV infections in the ME were diagnosed, and less than 10% of those diagnosed patients were treated (Fig. 3). Meanwhile, the estimated daily death due to HCV is more than 14 deaths, with nearly 7000 patients progressing to decompensated cirrhosis or HCC every year [179]. To achieve the WHO elimination 2030 targets (90% diagnosed and 80% treated), almost 100,000 people would need to be diagnosed and treated each year from 2016 to 2030 [179]. Therefore, more efforts are urgently required to achieve the goals for eliminating viral hepatitis and HCC in the ME.

Each country of the ME region should have its elimination plans and strategies tailored to meet its need to achieve high efficacy and cost-effectiveness of HCV eradication [303]. There are difcharacteristics ferent country-based ME concerning HCV epidemiology, clinical practice, healthcare system, availability, and accessibility of diagnostic and treatment methods. For example, the screening of patients with CHC is considered appropriate only for high-risk rather than the general population in Saudi Arabia, where the prevalence of the viral infection is low in the general population [181]. Also, the simple aspartate aminotransferase-to-platelet ratio index (APRI) Fig. 3 Hepatitis C

ME in 2015. HCV

hepatitis C virus

cascade of care in the





279

is considered as an alternative noninvasive test to assess the presence of cirrhosis in resource-limited countries. In contrast, transient elastography may be the preferred method in areas where they are available, and the cost is not a major constraint. Clinical guidelines for prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of CHC have been published by many national and international organizations, including the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases [276], Asian Pacific Association for the Study of the Liver [304], and European Association for the Study of the Liver [277]. WHO has also published the guidelines with specific recommendations for low-income and middle-income countries [305].

There are different approaches to WHO's targets for viral hepatitis elimination across the ME [179]. These include steps such as the establishment of local strategies for viral hepatitis elimination, the building of databases, implementation of screening programs, starting awareness campaigns, and micro-elimination programs in selected high-risk groups such as hemodialysis patients, patients with thalassemia and sickle cell disease, and intravenous drug users and prisoners.

Certain Middle Eastern countries such as Qatar and Egypt are becoming role models to achieve the WHO's hepatitis C elimination goals by 2030 [306, 307]. Qatar, which is considered one of the low HCV prevalence countries, started a national program for HCV control and elimination in December 2014. This program's main

goal was to prioritize and proactively manage HCV with the ultimate aim of viral hepatitis elimination by 2030. The program was based on four main pillars: primary prevention, early detection, clinical management, and continuous monitoring [307]. It was accompanied by a strong political will toward universal access to viral hepatitis-related services for all nationals and nonnationals. Important outcomes of this program were the improvement of HCV information systems, epidemiological surveillance, and patient registration. In 2016, a follow-up screening campaign was conducted, which included 7665 participants (21% were Qataris). The prevalence showed a reduction from 2% to 0.82% among the total population and from 0.8% to 0.2% among Qataris [307].

Egypt is considered at the top of the countries with the highest prevalence of HCV infection worldwide [306]. The economic burden of HCV in Egypt in 2015 was estimated to be 3.81 billion. This is expected to increase exponentially as HCV-infected individuals progress to more advanced diseases, i.e., decompensated cirrhosis, HCC, and liver-related mortality [306]. In response to this major issue, through its National Committee for the Control of Viral Hepatitis (NCCVH), Egypt started a national treatment program for Egyptian HCV-infected patients in 2007. Mass HCV treatment program had started using IFN-based therapy between 2007 and 2014 and then shifted to DAA therapy from 2014 to date. By September 2018, about 2.5 million patients had been tested and treated with different combinations of DAAs [180]. In October 2018, the Egyptian Ministry of Health began a national population-based screening program. By September 2019, around 52 million adult individuals will be screened after excluding those treated or tested before [180]. The NCCVH anticipates that 2.5-3.0 million newly diagnosed HCV individuals will be eligible for free treatment. Therefore, Egypt has taken a great step toward HCV elimination. The Egypt HCV elimination strategy is considered a care model for other high HCV prevalence countries to use in their battle against HCV [180].

Despite this progress, and with only 10 years to go until the 2030 deadline is reached, more commitment from most Middle Eastern countries is required to achieve HCV elimination. The diagnosis and treatment of HCV infection are still not up to the ME region level to be considered on track for elimination. As per a report from the CDA foundation, no Middle Eastern countries in 2017 were considered "on track" for achieving the WHO elimination targets. However, after 2017, most countries started to treat all HCV patients regardless of their fibrosis stage, which is an essential step toward improving patient access to treatment. Furthermore, there are ongoing efforts to implement national strategies in some countries, like Saudi Arabia, Qatar, the United Arab Emirates, and Kuwait.

There are significant barriers to HCV elimination in ME. These barriers vary between the countries of the ME and need to be addressed to achieve HCV elimination. A major gap in response to the epidemic remains the lack of reliable prevalence data in many countries and regions, including Middle Eastern countries [6]. The availability of those accurate and verifiable HCV prevalence data for the region and each country allows the establishment of better elimination strategies. These strategies must be tailored to the population's needs and allow easy monitor of progress and impact of interventions.

Moreover, budget limitations and low HCV awareness among the general population are major challenges for HCV elimination in low- to middle-income countries like Egypt [306]. The HCV diagnosis rates depend on the cost of the investigations and HCV awareness among the general population [306]. In many countries worldwide, including Middle Eastern countries, most known HCV cases have been treated and cured, and there are no more new HCV patients to treat [308]. Most of the cases in many Middle Eastern countries, including Saudi Arabia, are unfortunately still undiagnosed. Therefore, there is an urgent need for a screening program to increase diagnosed patients [181]. Diagnostic resources, including the capacity to process large volumes of screening tests and the availability of confirmatory tests, remain obstacles for elimination in many countries globally. In several Middle Eastern countries, including Egypt, Saudi Arabia, and Oman, access to affordable low-cost generic DAAs has been supported and successfully incorporated within their national treatment plans [179, 181, 306, 309].

Furthermore, challenges for successful implementation still exist even when elimination strategies have been established within national healthcare plans. In most countries, HCV treatment is provided by specialists, which may increase the waiting list and decrease treatment access for many patients. This was justified in the IFN-based therapy era when the treatment was associated with long therapy duration, severe adverse effects, and low cure rates. However, the current therapies are easy to prescribe and administer and of short period with almost few if any side effects and high cure rates. Many studies have shown that general practitioners can successfully treat most patients without compromising SVR [310, 311].

HCV elimination has been proven to be highly cost-effective and cost-saving across various health settings [312]. The WHO 2030 deadline for eliminating HCV, which has been deemed ambitious by many, is achievable, provided strong global support and commitment. The Middle Eastern countries need more expanded efforts to increase screening, diagnosis, and treatment. These efforts must be matched with firm political intention, sustainable funding, improved linkage to care and access to cheap high effective generic DAAs, raising awareness, eliminating stigma, and improved point-of-care access to include general practitioners [313, 314]. Perhaps then the region can get firmly on track toward HCV elimination.

After 5 years of progress and assessment, the recent CDA foundation 2020 report on tracking countries' progress toward WHO global targets has raised concerns about the limitations of the existing targets [315]. These impact targets compare a country's progress relative to its 2015 baseline when most countries did not have existing hepatitis epidemiology data. These targets also penalize those countries that started their programs before 2015 and those with a young population or a low HCV prevalence. Therefore, the Polaris Observatory collaborators have proposed that WHO simplify the exiting hepatitis elimina-

tion targets and change to absolute targets, shown in Table 6 [315]. They also recommend allowing countries to achieve these targets with their service coverage initiatives that will have the maximum impact. Using this proposed model, more countries are expected to achieve all the new targets relative to the existing ones (Table 7).

12 Projection of Future HCV-Related HCC Trends in ME

The projections of the future burden of HCVrelated HCC can inform prevention strategies aimed toward reducing HCC occurrence. With the ambitious WHO 2030 elimination targets, in

Primary				
objective	Reduce the incidence		Reduce mortality	
2030 target	Reduce HCV new chronic cases to ≤5 per 100,000 (excluding the new cases from immigration)	Reduce HBsAg prevalence among 1-year-olds to ≤0.1%	Reduce HBV and HCV mortality to ≤5 per 100,000	Demonstrate HBV and HCV year-to-year decrease in new HCV- and HBV-related HCC cases
Measure options	Conduct two national surveys (minimum 1 year apart) and estimate incidence between the two by age group	Conduct HBsAg surveys in 1-year-olds in multiple regions in the country and maintain prophylaxis measures	Establish/use the national registry for HCC, decompensated cirrhosis linked to patient and death registries attributed cause, and adjust for underreporting	Establish/use the national registry for HCC, decompensated cirrhosis linked to patient and death registries attributed cause, and adjust for underreporting
	Conduct two surveys (minimum 1 year apart) in high-risk groups accounting for >80% of new infections and estimate incidence rate	Conduct HBsAg surveys among 1-year-olds in high prevalence regions/ populations and maintain prophylaxis measures	Establish/use the national HCC registry. Estimate annual decompensated cirrhosis to HCC incident ratio in ≥1 major center. Use HCC and cirrhosis survival studies to estimate overall mortality by year	Establish/use the national HCC registry. Estimate annual decompensated cirrhosis to HCC incident ratio in ≥1 major center. Use HCC and cirrhosis survival studies to estimate overall mortality by year
	Use modeling to estimate incidence	Use modeling that considers the impact of prophylaxis to estimate the incidence and maintain prophylaxis measures	Use modeling to estimate HBV- and HCV-related HCC and cirrhosis mortality	Use modeling to estimate HBV- and HCV-related HCC and cirrhosis mortality over time

 Table 6
 Simplified hepatitis elimination targets using absolute targets [315]

Abbreviations: *HBsAg* HBV surface antigen, *HBV* hepatitis B virus, *HCC* hepatocellular carcinoma, *HCV* hepatitis C virus

Middle Eastern countries reaching the existing WHO elimination targets by 2030						
HBV 90%	HBV ≤0.1%	HBV 65%reduction	Countries	HCV 90%	HCV 65%	Countries
reduction in incidence	prevalence among	mortality	meeting all HBV targets	reduction in incidence	reduction in mortality	meeting all HCV targets
	5-year-olds				·	- C
None	Egypt	None	None	Egypt	Egypt	Egypt
	Iran					
	Kuwait					
	Lebanon					
	Oman					
	Qatar					
	Saudi Arabia					
	Turkey					
	UAE					
Middle Easte	rn countries read	ching the absolute HBV	and HCV elir	nination targets b	oy 2030	
HBV _0.1% HBsAg		HBV reduces	Countries	HCV reduces	HCV reduces	Countries
prevalence among		mortality to ≤ 5 per	meeting all	new chronic	mortality to ≤ 5	meeting all
1-year-olds		100,000 and	HBV targets	infections to	per 100,000 and	HCV targets
		decreases in new		≤5 per	decreases in new	
		HCC cases		100,000	HCC cases	-
Egypt		None	None	Egypt	Egypt	Egypt
Iran				Saudi Arabia	Turkey	Turkey
Kuwait				Turkey		
Lebanon						
Oman						
Qatar						
Saudi Arabia						
Turkey						
UAE						

 Table 7
 Comparison between existing WHO elimination targets and the recently proposed absolute targets by 2030
 [315]

Note: Blue countries/regions—those not achieving the absolute targets for a similar category in Table 4; only countries/ regions analyzed by Polaris Observatory are listed; *UAE* United Arab Emirates, *UK* United Kingdom

most countries, the incidence and prevalence of HCV case are expected to decrease due to a combination of a prevalent aging population, availability of treatment, and a reduction in risk factors secondary to improvements in the safety of blood products and harm reduction programs for injection drug users [316, 317]. However, the morbidity and mortality attributable to HCV are expected to increase as the current infected population progresses to advanced stages of liver fibrosis. In most countries, the increased disease burden will likely not be controlled without significant changes in the overall treatment paradigm, including increases in screening, diagnosis, and treatment. This suggests that countries should assess different strategies to help decide how to manage the expected increase in their HCVrelated disease burden, including HCC.

13 Future Research Needs

There are significant needs for more epidemiologic and clinical research on HCC worldwide. In the DAA treatment era, HCV-related HCC remains a major health problem in the coming one to two decades. The development of a vaccine remains an essential target for achieving global control and eradication of HCV. There is also a critical need for more basic research on carcinogenesis in CHC and identifying more risk factors, i.e., viral, cellular, immune, and hostgenetic factors that add to the development of HCC. Identification of the steps leading to the progression of CHC infection to cancer would help develop means of prevention, early detection, and treatment. Focusing on ME, more population-based studies are needed to understand

the current and future contribution of HCV to HCC in the region. These studies should examine known and suspected risk factors and collect appropriate biologic samples to assess HCC markers that help early detection of HCC. Such studies could additionally provide essential data on the risk factors for the progression of CHC to HCC. The relationship between HCV and other conditions like obesity, diabetes, and NAFLD needs further research, particularly given the high prevalence of these conditions in the region and the large number of HCC cases in which no specific risk factor can be identified. Post-SVR HCC is an important emerging issue, with pressing unmet needs for the clinical strategy of early tumor detection and intervention and identifying HCC molecular mechanisms for therapeutic target and biomarker discovery. Long-term clinical trials on the impact of post-DAA SVR on HCC development and recurrence are also required.

References

- Kaito M, Watanabe S, Tsukiyama-Kohara K, Yamaguchi K, Kobayashi Y, Konishi M, et al. Hepatitis C virus particle detected by immunoelectron microscopic study. J Gen Virol [Internet]. 1994;75(7):1755–60. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1099/0022-1317-75-7-1755.
- Smith DB, Bukh J, Kuiken C, Muerhoff AS, Rice CM, Stapleton JT, et al. Expanded classification of hepatitis C virus into 7 genotypes and 67 subtypes: updated criteria and genotype assignment web resource. Hepatology [Internet]. 2014;59(1):318– 27. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/24115039.
- Shepard CW, Finelli L, Alter MJ. Global epidemiology of hepatitis C virus infection. Lancet Infect Dis [Internet]. 2005;5(9):558–67. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/s1473-3099(05)70216-4.
- Stanaway JD, Flaxman AD, Naghavi M, Fitzmaurice C, Vos T, Abubakar I, et al. The global burden of viral hepatitis from 1990 to 2013: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet. 2016;388(10049):1081–8.
- Gower E, Estes C, Blach S, Razavi-Shearer K, Razavi H. Global epidemiology and genotype distribution of the hepatitis C virus infection. J Hepatol [Internet]. 2014;61(1):S45–57. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2014.07.027.
- Blach S, Zeuzem S, Manns M, Altraif I, Duberg AS, Muljono DH, et al. Global prevalence and genotype distribution of hepatitis C virus infection in 2015:

a modelling study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017.

- Alter MJ, Margolis HS, Krawczynski K, Judson FN, Mares A, Alexander WJ, et al. The Natural History of Community-Acquired Hepatitis C in the United States. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 1992;327(27):1899– 905. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1056/ nejm199212313272702.
- Thomas DL, Astemborski J, Rai RM, Anania FA, Schaeffer M, Galai N, et al. The Natural History of Hepatitis C Virus Infection. JAMA [Internet]. 2000;284(4). Available from: https://doi. org/10.1001/jama.284.4.450.
- Poynard T, Bedossa P, Opolon P. Natural history of liver fibrosis progression in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Lancet [Internet]. 1997;349(9055):825– 32. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0140-6736(96)07642-8.
- Eyster ME, Diamondstone LS, Lien JM, Ehmann WC, Quan S, Goedert JJ. Natural history of hepatitis c virus infection in multitransfused hemophiliacs: effect of coinfection with human immunodeficiency virus. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 1993.
- Ge D, Fellay J, Thompson AJ, Simon JS, Shianna KV, Urban TJ, et al. Genetic variation in IL28B predicts hepatitis C treatment-induced viral clearance. Nature [Internet]. 2009;461(7262):399–401. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08309
- Suppiah V, Moldovan M, Ahlenstiel G, Berg T, Weltman M, Abate ML, et al. IL28B is associated with response to chronic hepatitis C interferon-α and ribavirin therapy. Nat Genet [Internet]. 2009;41(10):1100–4. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1038/ng.447.
- Tanaka Y, Nishida N, Sugiyama M, Kurosaki M, Matsuura K, Sakamoto N, et al. Genome-wide association of IL28B with response to pegylated interferon-α and ribavirin therapy for chronic hepatitis C. Nat Genet. 2009.
- Rauch A, Kutalik Z, Descombes P, Cai T, Di Iulio J, Mueller T, et al. Genetic variation in IL28B is associated with chronic hepatitis C and treatment failure: a genome-wide association study. Gastroenterology [Internet]. 2010;138(4):1338–1345.e7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2009.12.056.
- Thomas DL, Thio CL, Martin MP, Qi Y, Ge D, O'Huigin C, et al. Genetic variation in IL28B and spontaneous clearance of hepatitis C virus. Nature [Internet]. 2009;461(7265):798–801. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19759533.
- Pearson TA. How to interpret a genome-wide association study. JAMA [Internet]. 2008;299(11):1335. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1001/ jama.299.11.1335.
- Thompson AJ, Muir AJ, Sulkowski MS, Ge D, Fellay J, Shianna KV, et al. Interleukin-28B polymorphism improves viral kinetics and is the strongest pretreatment predictor of sustained virologic... [Internet]. SciVee. SciVee, Inc; 2010. Available from: https:// doi.org/10.4016/19518.01.

- Poynard T, Ratziu V, Benmanov Y, Di Martino V, Bedossa P, Opolon P. Fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C: detection and significance. Semin Liver Dis [Internet]. 2000;20(01):47–56. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2000-9258.
- Alter HJ, Seeff LB. Recovery, persistence, and sequelae in hepatitis C virus infection: a perspective on long-term outcome. Semin Liver Dis [Internet]. 2000;20(01):17–36. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1055/s-2000-9505.
- Coppola N, Zampino R, Bellini G, Macera M, Marrone A, Pisaturo M, et al. Association between a polymorphism in cannabinoid receptor 2 and severe necroinflammation in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol [Internet]. 2014;12(2):334–40. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cgh.2013.05.008.
- 21. Coppola N, Rosa Z, Cirillo G, Stanzione M, Macera M, Boemio A, et al. TM6SF2 E167K variant is associated with severe steatosis in chronic hepatitis C, regardless of PNPLA3 polymorphism. Liver Int [Internet]. 2015;35(8):1959–63. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/liv.12781.
- El-Serag HB. Hepatocellular carcinoma and hepatitis C in the United States. Hepatology [Internet]. 2002;36(5B):s74–83. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1053/jhep.2002.36807.
- El-Serag HB. Epidemiology of viral hepatitis and hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology [Internet]. 2012;142(6):1264–1273.e1. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2011.12.061.
- Ringelhan M, McKeating JA, Protzer U. Viral hepatitis and liver cancer. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci [Internet]. 2017;372(1732):20160274. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/28893941.
- Chuang S-C, La Vecchia C, Boffetta P. Liver cancer: descriptive epidemiology and risk factors other than HBV and HCV infection. Cancer Lett [Internet]. 2009;286(1):9–14. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.canlet.2008.10.040.
- Llovet JM, Burroughs A, Bruix J. Hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet [Internet]. 2003;362(9399):1907– 17. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0140-6736(03)14964-1.
- Razavi H, Elkhoury AC, Elbasha E, Estes C, Pasini K, Poynard T, et al. Chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) disease burden and cost in the United States. Hepatology [Internet]. 2013/05/06. 2013;57(6):2164–70. Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23280550.
- Koppes CR. Captain Mahan, General Gordon, and the origins of the term 'Middle East.'. Middle East Stud [Internet]. 1976;12(1):95–8. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/00263207608700307.
- Mohd Hanafiah K, Groeger J, Flaxman AD, Wiersma ST. Global epidemiology of hepatitis C virus infection: new estimates of age-specific antibody to HCV seroprevalence. Hepatology [Internet].

2013;57(4):1333–42. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1002/hep.26141.

- GLMM Gulf Labour Markets and Migration [Internet]. [cited 2020 Oct 30]. Available from: https://gulfmigration.org/.
- 31. de Bel-Air F. Demography, migration, and labour market in Qatar Gulf Labour Markets and Migration ExpLaNatory NotE MIGRATION POLICY CENTRE Demography, Migration, and Labour Market in Qatar [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2020 Oct 30]. Available from: https://cadmus.eui.eu// handle/1814/32431.
- 32. Abdel-Hamid M, El-Daly M, El-Kafrawy S, Mikhail N, Strickland GT, Fix AD. Comparison of secondand third-generation enzyme immunoassays for detecting antibodies to hepatitis C virus. J Clin Microbiol [Internet]. 2002;40(5):1656–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11980937.
- 33. Irani-Hakime N, Tamim H, Samaha H, Almawi WY. Prevalence of antibodies against hepatitis C virus among blood donors in Lebanon, 1997-2000. Clin Lab Haematol [Internet]. 2001;23(5):317–23. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2257.2001.00409.x.
- 34. Araj GF, Kfoury-Baz EE, Barada KA, Nassif RE, Alami SY. Hepatitis C virus: prevalence in Lebanese blood donors and brief overview of the disease. J Med Liban. 1995;43(1):11–6.
- 35. Fakeeh M, Zaki AM. Hepatitis C: prevalence and common genotypes among ethnic groups in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. Am J Trop Med Hyg [Internet]. 1999;61(6):889–92. Available from: https://doi. org/10.4269/ajtmh.1999.61.889.
- 36. El Guneid AM, Gunaid AA, O'Neill AM, Zureikat NI, Coleman JC, Murray-Lyon IM. Prevalence of hepatitis B, C, and D virus markers in yemeni patients with chronic liver disease. J Med Virol [Internet]. 1993;40(4):330–3. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.1890400413.
- 37. Ezzat S, Abdel-Hamid M, Abdel-Latif Eissa S, Mokhtar N, Albert Labib N, El-Ghorory L, et al. Associations of pesticides, HCV, HBV, and hepatocellular carcinoma in Egypt. Int J Hyg Environ Health [Internet]. 2005;208(5):329–39. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2005.04.003.
- Ghavanini AA, Sabri MR. Hepatitis B surface antigen and anti-hepatitis C antibodies among blood donors in the Islamic Republic of Iran. East Mediterr Health J. 2000;6(5–6):1114–6.
- Alavian SM, Gholami B, Masarrat S. Hepatitis C risk factors in Iranian volunteer blood donors: a casecontrol study. J Gastroenterol Hepatol [Internet]. 2002;17(10):1092–7. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1046/j.1440-1746.2002.02843.x.
- El-Zanaty Ann Way F. Egypt Demographic and Health Survey 2008 [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2020 Oct 30]. Available from: http://www.measuredhs.com.
- Ministry of Health and Population [Egypt], El-Zanaty and Associates [Egypt], and ICF International. Egypt Health Issues Survey 2015. Cairo, Egypt and

Rockville, Maryland, USA: Ministry of Health and Population and ICF International. 2015. Available from: https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/FR313/ FR313.pdf.

- 42. Merat S, Rezvan H, Nouraie M, Jafari E, Abolghasemi H, Radmard AR, et al. Seroprevalence of hepatitis C virus: the first population-based study from Iran. Int J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2010;14:e113–6. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2009.11.032.
- 43. Smolle E, Zöhrer E, Bettermann K, Haybaeck J. Viral hepatitis induces hepatocellular cancer: what can we learn from epidemiology comparing iran and worldwide findings? Hepat Mon [Internet]. 2012/10/30. 2012;12(10 HCC):e7879. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23233866.
- 44. Madani T. Hepatitis C virus infections reported in Saudi Arabia over 11 years of surveillance. Ann Saudi Med [Internet]. 2007;27(3):191. Available from: https://doi.org/10.4103/0256-4947.51500.
- 45. Mahmud S, Kouyoumjian SP, Al Kanaani Z, Chemaitelly H, Abu-Raddad LJ, Mahmud S, et al. Individual-level key associations and modes of exposure for hepatitis C virus infection in the Middle East and North Africa: a systematic synthesis. Ann Epidemiol. 2018;28(7):452–61.
- 46. Al-Naamani K, Al-Zakwani I, Al-Sinani S, Wasim F, Daar S. Prevalence of hepatitis C among multi-transfused thalassaemic patients in Oman single centre experience. Sultan Qaboos Univ Med J. 2015;15(1):e46–51.
- 47. Gasim GI, Murad IA, Adam I. Hepatitis B and C virus infections among pregnant women in Arab and African countries. J Infect Dev Ctries [Internet]. 2013;7(08):566–78. Available from: https://doi. org/10.3855/jidc.3243.
- 48. Sievert W, Altraif I, Razavi HA, Abdo A, Ahmed EA, AlOmair A, et al. A systematic review of hepatitis C virus epidemiology in Asia. Australia and Egypt Liver Int [Internet]. 2011;31:61–80. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1478-3231.2011.02540.x.
- 49. Chaabna K, Cheema S, Abraham A, Alrouh H, Lowenfels AB, Maisonneuve P, et al. Systematic overview of hepatitis C infection in the Middle East and North Africa. World J Gastroenterol [Internet]. 2018;24(27):3038–54. Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30038471.
- Al-Busafi SA, Al-Shuaili H, Omar H, Al-Zuhaibi H, Jeyaseelan L, Al-Naamani K. Epidemiology of chronic hepatitis C infections at a tertiary care centre in Oman. Sultan Qaboos Univ Med J [Internet]. 2018/01/10. 2017;17(4):e404–10. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29372081.
- 51. Harfouche M, Chemaitelly H, Kouyoumjian SP, Mahmud S, Chaabna K, Al-Kanaani Z, et al. Hepatitis C virus viremic rate in the Middle East and North Africa: systematic synthesis, meta-analyses, and meta-regressions. PLoS One [Internet]. 2017;12(10):1–22. Available from: https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29088252.

- Anderson JC, Simonetti J, Fisher DG, Williams J, Yamamura Y, Rodriguez N, et al. Comparison of different HCV viral load and genotyping assays. J Clin Virol [Internet]. 2003;28(1):27–37. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/s1386-6532(02)00235-4.
- 53. Bullock GC, Bruns DE, Haverstick DM. Hepatitis C genotype determination by melting curve analysis with a single set of fluorescence resonance energy transfer probes. Clin Chem [Internet]. 2002;48(12):2147–54. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1093/clinchem/48.12.2147.
- Zein NN. Clinical significance of hepatitis C virus genotypes. Clin Microbiol Rev [Internet]. 2000;13(2):223–35. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1128/cmr.13.2.223.
- 55. Simmonds P, Mellor J, Sakuldamrongpanich T, Nuchaprayoon C, Tanprasert S, Holmes EC, et al. Evolutionary analysis of variants of hepatitis C virus found in South-East Asia: comparison with classifications based upon sequence similarity. J Gen Virol [Internet]. 1996;77(12):3013–24. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-77-12-3013.
- 56. Simmonds P, Alberti A, Alter HJ, Bonino F, Bradley DW, Brechot C, et al. A proposed system for the nomenclature of hepatitis C viral genotypes. Hepatology [Internet]. 1994;19(5):1321–4. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.1840190538.
- 57. Markov PV, van de Laar TJ, Thomas XV, Aronson SJ, Weegink CJ, van den Berk GE, et al. Colonial history and contemporary transmission shape the genetic diversity of hepatitis C virus genotype 2 in Amsterdam. J Virol [Internet]. 2012/05/09. 2012;86(14):7677–87. Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22573865.
- Ramia S, Eid-Fares J. Distribution of hepatitis C virus genotypes in the Middle East. Int J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2006;10(4):272–7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2005.07.008.
- Mahmud S, Al-Kanaani Z, Chemaitelly H, Chaabna K, Kouyoumjian SP, Abu-Raddad LJ. Hepatitis C virus genotypes in the Middle East and North Africa: distribution, diversity, and patterns. J Med Virol [Internet]. 2017/09/12. 2018;90(1):131–41. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/28842995.
- 60. Keyvani H, Alizadeh AHM, Alavian SM, Ranjbar M, Hatami S. Distribution frequency of hepatitis C virus genotypes in 2231 patients in Iran. Hepatol Res [Internet]. 2007;37(2):101–3. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1872-034x.2007.00015.x.
- 61. Ghaderi-Zefrehi H, Gholami-Fesharaki M, Sharafi H, Sadeghi F, Alavian SM. The distribution of hepatitis C virus genotypes in middle eastern countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepat Mon [Internet]. 2016;16(9):e40357. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27826320.
- 62. Mohammadian M, Bakeshei KA, Salehiniya H, Allah Bakeshei F, Mohammadian-Hafshejani A. Geographical distribution of incidence and mortality of breast cancer and their association with

Human Development Index in Europe. Biomed Res Ther [Internet]. 2018;5(4):2174–86. Available from: https://doi.org/10.15419/bmrat.v5i4.431.

- 63. Khalaf N, Ying J, Mittal S, Temple S, Kanwal F, Davila J, et al. Natural history of untreated hepatocellular carcinoma in a US cohort and the role of cancer surveillance. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol [Internet]. 2017;15(2):273–281.e1. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2016.07.033.
- 64. Fitzmaurice C, Akinyemiju TF, Al Lami FH, Alam T, Alizadeh-Navaei R, Allen C, et al. Global, regional, and national cancer incidence, mortality, years of life lost, years lived with disability, and disabilityadjusted life-years for 29 cancer groups, 1990 to 2016 a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study global burden o. JAMA Oncol. 2018;4(11):1553–68.
- 65. Fitzmaurice C, Abate D, Abbasi N, Abbastabar H, Abd-Allah F, Abdel-Rahman O, et al. Global, regional, and national cancer incidence, mortality, years of life lost, years lived with disability, and disability-Adjusted life-years for 29 cancer groups, 1990 to 2017: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study. JAMA Oncol. 2019;5(12):1749–68.
- 66. Yuen M-F, Hou J-L, Chutaputti A. Hepatocellular carcinoma in the Asia pacific region. J Gastroenterol Hepatol [Internet]. 2009;24(3):346–53. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1440-1746.2009.05784.x.
- Yang JD, Roberts LR. Hepatocellular carcinoma: a global view. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol [Internet]. 2010/07/13. 2010;7(8):448–58. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20628345.
- Gurtsevitch VE. Human oncogenic viruses: hepatitis B and hepatitis C viruses and their role in hepatocarcinogenesis. Biochemist [Internet]. 2008;73(5):504– 13. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1134/ s0006297908050039.
- 69. Chang M-H, Chen C-J, Lai M-S, Hsu H-M, Wu T-C, Kong M-S, et al. Universal hepatitis B vaccination in Taiwan and the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in children. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 1997;336(26):1855–9. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1056/nejm199706263362602.
- Chang M-H. Prevention of hepatocellular carcinoma by universal vaccination against hepatitis B virus: the effect and problems. Clin Cancer Res [Internet]. 2005;11(21):7953–7. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-05-1095.
- Donato F. Alcohol and hepatocellular carcinoma: the effect of lifetime intake and hepatitis virus infections in men and women. Am J Epidemiol [Internet]. 2002;155(4):323–31. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1093/aje/155.4.323.
- 72. Fitzmaurice C, Akinyemiju T, Abera S, Ahmed M, Alam N, Alemayohu MA, et al. The burden of primary liver cancer and underlying etiologies from 1990 to 2015 at the global, regional, and national

level results from the global burden of disease study 2015. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(12):1683–91.

- 73. Sharafi H, Alavian SM. The rising threat of hepatocellular carcinoma in the Middle East and North Africa region: results from Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Clin Liver Dis [Internet]. 2019 Jan 29 [cited 2020 Oct 25];14(6):219–23. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ cld.890.
- Saudi Cancer Registry. Cancer incidence report in Saudi Arabia [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2020 Oct 30]. Available from: https://nhic.gov.sa/eServices/ Documents/2014.pdf.
- GLOBOCAN (IARC). Global cancer observatory: section of cancer information [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2020 Oct 30]. Available from: https://gco.iarc.fr/.
- 76. Alghamdi IG, Alghamdi MS. The incidence rate of liver cancer in Saudi Arabia: an observational descriptive epidemiological analysis of data from the Saudi Cancer Registry (2004-2014). Cancer Manag Res [Internet]. 2020;12:1101–11. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32104090.
- Al-Naamani K, Al-Hashami Z, Al-Siyabi O, Al-Moundri M, Al-Bahrani B, Al-Sinani S, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma in oman an analysis of 284 cases. Sultan Qaboos Univ Med J [Internet]. 2020 Aug 1 [cited 2020 Oct 26];20(3):e316– 22. Available from: https://doi.org/10.18295/ squmj.2020.20.03.011.
- Dimitroulis D, Damaskos C, Valsami S, Davakis S, Garmpis N, Spartalis E, et al. From diagnosis to treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma: an epidemic problem for both developed and developing world. World J Gastroenterol [Internet]. 2017;23(29):5282–94. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28839428.
- 79. Yaghi C, Sharara A-I, Rassam P, Moucari R, Honein K, BouJaoude J, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma in Lebanon: etiology and prognostic factors associated with short-term survival. World J Gastroenterol [Internet]. 2006;12(22):3575–80. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16773714.
- Khodabandehloo M, Roshani D. Prevalence of hepatitis C virus genotypes in Iranian patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepat Mon [Internet]. 2014;14(12):e22915. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25685164.
- Alavian SM, Hajarizadeh B, Ahmadzad-Asl M, Kabir A, Bagheri-Lankarani K. Hepatitis B virus infection in Iran: a systematic review. Hepat Mon. 2008.
- Hassanipour S, Mohammadzadeh M, Mansour-Ghanaei F, Fathalipour M, Joukar F, Salehiniya H, et al. The incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in Iran from 1996 to 2016: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastrointest Cancer [Internet]. 2019;50(2):193–200. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s12029-019-00207-y.
- Bogan E, Yalcin S, Koca D, Olmez A. Clinicopathological characteristics of hepatocel-

lular carcinoma in Turkey. Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev [Internet]. 2012;13(6):2985–90. Available from: https://doi.org/10.7314/apjcp.2012.13.6.2985.

- 84. Alacacioglu A, Somali I, Simsek I, Astarcioglu I, Ozkan M, Camci C, et al. Epidemiology and survival of hepatocellular carcinoma in Turkey: outcome of multicenter study. Jpn J Clin Oncol [Internet]. 2008;38(10):683–8. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1093/jjco/hyn082.
- Colombo M, de Franchis R, Del Ninno E, Sangiovanni A, De Fazio C, Tommasini M, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma in Italian patients with cirrhosis. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 1991;325(10):675– 80. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1056/ nejm199109053251002.
- La Vecchia C, Negri E, d'Oro LC, Franceschi S. Liver cirrhosis and the risk of primary liver cancer. Eur J Cancer Prev [Internet]. 1998;7(4):315–20. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1097/00008469-199808000-00007.
- Randi G, Altieri A, Gallus S, Franceschi S, Negri E, Talamini R, et al. History of cirrhosis and risk of digestive tract neoplasms. Ann Oncol [Internet]. 2005;16(9):1551–5. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdi266.
- Zatoński WA, Sulkowska U, Mańczuk M, Rehm J, Boffetta P, Lowenfels AB, et al. Liver cirrhosis mortality in Europe, with special attention to Central and Eastern Europe. Eur Addict Res [Internet]. 2010;16(4):193–201. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1159/000317248.
- Bosetti C, Levi F, Lucchini F, Zatonski WA, Negri E, La Vecchia C. Worldwide mortality from cirrhosis: an update to 2002. J Hepatol [Internet]. 2007;46(5):827–39. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2007.01.025.
- Sangiovanni A, Del Ninno E, Fasani P, De Fazio C, Ronchi G, Romeo R, et al. Increased survival of cirrhotic patients with a hepatocellular carcinoma detected during surveillance☆. Gastroenterology [Internet]. 2004;126(4):1005–14. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2003.12.049.
- Ryerson AB, Eheman CR, Altekruse SF, Ward JW, Jemal A, Sherman RL, et al. Annual report to the nation on the status of cancer, 1975-2012, featuring the increasing incidence of liver cancer. Cancer [Internet]. 2016/03/09. 2016;122(9):1312–37. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/26959385.
- 92. Lunn RM, Zhang YJ, Wang LY, Chen CJ, Lee PH, Lee CS, et al. p53 mutations, chronic hepatitis B virus infection, and aflatoxin exposure in hepatocellular carcinoma in Taiwan. Cancer Res [Internet]. 1997 Aug 15 [cited 2020 Oct 30];57(16):3471–7. Available from: https://europepmc.org/article/ med/9270015.
- de Martel C, Maucort-Boulch D, Plummer M, Franceschi S. World-wide relative contribution of hepatitis B and C viruses in hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology [Internet]. 2015;62(4):1190–

200. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/26146815.

- Ascha MS, Hanouneh IA, Lopez R, Tamimi TA-R, Feldstein AF, Zein NN. The incidence and risk factors of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology [Internet]. 2010;51(6):1972–8. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1002/hep.23527.
- Herbst DA, Reddy KR. Risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin liver Dis [Internet]. 2013;1(6):180–2. Available from: https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31186882.
- Petruzziello A. Epidemiology of Hepatitis B Virus (HBV) and Hepatitis C Virus (HCV) related hepatocellular carcinoma. Open Virol J [Internet]. 2018;12:26–32. Available from: https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29541276.
- 97. Chen C-H, Lee C-M, Lu S-N, Changchien C-S, Eng H-L, Huang C-M, et al. Clinical significance of hepatitis B virus (HBV) genotypes and precore and core promoter mutations affecting HBV e antigen expression in Taiwan. J Clin Microbiol [Internet]. 2005;43(12):6000–6. Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16333089.
- Fattovich G, Stroffolini T, Zagni I, Donato F. Hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhosis: incidence and risk factors. Gastroenterology [Internet]. 2004;127(5):S35–50. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2004.09.014.
- 99. Chen C-JJ, Yang HI, Su J, Jen CL, You SL, Lu SN, et al. Risk of hepatocellular carcinoma across a biological gradient of serum hepatitis B virus DNA level. JAMA [Internet]. 2006 Apr 1 [cited 2020 Oct 30];295(1):65. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.295.1.65.
- 100. Razavi-Shearer D, Razavi H. Global prevalence of hepatitis B virus infection and prevention of motherto-child transmission – Authors' reply. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol [Internet]. 2018;3(9):599. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/ s2468-1253(18)30199-7.
- 101. Puigvehí M, Moctezuma-Velázquez C, Villanueva A, Llovet JM. The oncogenic role of hepatitis delta virus in hepatocellular carcinoma. JHEP Rep Innov Hepatol [Internet]. 2019;1(2):120–30. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/32039360.
- 102. Smedile A, Verme G, Cargnel A, Dentico P, Opolon P, Vergani D, et al. Influence of delta infection on severity of hepatitis B. Lancet [Internet]. 1982;320(8305):945–7. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1016/s0140-6736(82)90156-8.
- 103. Toukan AU, Abu-El-Rub OA, Abu-Laban SA, Tarawneh MS, Kamal MF, Hadler SC, et al. The epidemiology and clinical outcome of hepatitis D virus (delta) infection in Jordan. Hepatology [Internet]. 1987;7(6):1340–5. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1002/hep.1840070627.
- 104. Uzunalimoğlu Ö, Yurdaydin C, Çetinkaya H, Bozkaya H, Şahin T, Çolakoğlu S, et al. Risk factors

for hepatocellular carcinoma in turkey. Dig Dis Sci [Internet]. 2001 [cited 2020 Oct 30];46(5):1022–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/11341644/.

- 105. Değertekin H, Yalçin K, Yakut M. The prevalence of hepatitis delta virus infection in acute and chronic liver diseases in Turkey: an analysis of clinical studies. Turk J Gastroenterol. 2006;17(1):25–34.
- 106. Younossi ZM, Koenig AB, Abdelatif D, Fazel Y, Henry L, Wymer M. Global epidemiology of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease-Meta-analytic assessment of prevalence, incidence, and outcomes. Hepatology [Internet]. 2016;64(1):73–84. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.28431.
- 107. Ahmed MH, Noor SK, Bushara SO, Husain NE, Elmadhoun WM, Ginawi IA, et al. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in Africa and Middle East: an attempt to predict the present and future implications on the healthcare system. Gastroenterol Res [Internet]. 2017/10/26. 2017;10(5):271–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29118867.
- 108. Al Hammadi H, Reilly J. Prevalence of obesity among school-age children and adolescents in the Gulf cooperation council (GCC) states: a systematic review. BMC Obes [Internet]. 2019;6:3. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30637108.
- 109. Gawrieh S, Dakhoul L, Miller E, Scanga A, de Lemos A, Kettler C, et al. Characteristics, aetiologies and trends of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients without cirrhosis: a United States multicentre study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther [Internet]. 2019;50(7):809–21. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1111/apt.15464.
- 110. Miyakawa Y, Iino S. Toward prevention of hepatocellular carcinoma developing in chronic hepatitis C. J Gastroenterol Hepatol [Internet]. 2001;16(7):711–4. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1046/j.1440-1746.2001.02543.x.
- 111. Rahman E-ZA. Prevalence and epidemiological features of hepatocellular carcinoma in Egypt—a single center experience. Hepatol Res [Internet]. 2001;19(2):170–9. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1016/s1386-6346(00)00105-4.
- 112. Hesamizadeh K, Sharafi H, Rezaee-Zavareh MS, Behnava B, Alavian SM. Next steps toward eradication of hepatitis C in the era of direct acting antivirals. Hepat Mon [Internet]. 2016;16(4):e37089. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27275164.
- 113. El-Serag HB. Hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2011;365(12):1118–27. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmra1001683.
- 114. Bralet M-P, Régimbeau J-M, Pineau P, Dubois S, Loas G, Degos F, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma occurring in nonfibrotic liver: epidemiologic and histopathologic analysis of 80 French cases. Hepatology [Internet]. 2000;32(2):200–4. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1053/jhep.2000.9033.
- 115. Bullock RE, Zaitoun AM, Aithal GP, Ryder SD, Beckingham IJ, Lobo DN. Association of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis without significant fibrosis

with hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol [Internet]. 2004;41(4):685–6. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jhep.2004.05.008.

- 116. Desai A, Sandhu S, Lai J-P, Sandhu DS. Hepatocellular carcinoma in non-cirrhotic liver: a comprehensive review. World J Hepatol [Internet]. 2019;11(1):1–18. Available from: https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30705715.
- 117. Kubo S, Kinoshita H, Hirohashi K, Tanaka H, Tsukamoto T, Shuto T, et al. High malignancy of hepatocellular carcinoma in alcoholic patients with hepatitis C virus. Surgery [Internet]. 1997;121(4):425–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/s0039-6060(97)90313-5.
- 118. Aizawa Y, Shibamoto Y, Takagi I, Zeniya M, Toda G. Analysis of factors affecting the appearance of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Cancer [Internet]. 2000;89(1):53–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0142(20000701)89:1%3C53::aid-cncr8%3E3.0.co.
- 119. Vidali M, Tripodi M-F, Ivaldi A, Zampino R, Occhino G, Restivo L, et al. Interplay between oxidative stress and hepatic steatosis in the progression of chronic hepatitis C. J Hepatol [Internet]. 2008;48(3):399–406. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jhep.2007.10.011.
- 120. Asselah T, Rubbia-Brandt L, Marcellin P, Negro F. Steatosis in chronic hepatitis C: why does it really matter? Gut [Internet]. 2006;55(1):123–30. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16344578.
- 121. Ong JP, Younossi ZM, Speer C, Olano A, Gramlich T, Boparai N. Chronic hepatitis C and superimposed nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Liver [Internet]. 2001;21(4):266–71. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1034/j.1600-0676.2001.021004266.x.
- 122. Brunt EM, Ramrakhiani S, Cordes BG, Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Janney CG, Bacon BR, et al. Concurrence of histologic features of steatohepatitis with other forms of chronic liver disease. Mod Pathol [Internet]. 2003;16(1):49–56. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1097/01.mp.0000042420.21088. c7.
- 123. Bedossa P, Moucari R, Chelbi E, Asselah T, Paradis V, Vidaud M, et al. Evidence for a role of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis in hepatitis C: a prospective study. Hepatology [Internet]. 2007;46(2):380–7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.21711.
- 124. Liu CJ, Jeng YM, Chen PJ, Lai MY, Yang HC, Huang WL, et al. Influence of metabolic syndrome, viral genotype and antiviral therapy on superimposed fatty liver disease in chronic hepatitis C. Antivir Ther. 2005;10(3):405–15.
- 125. Chiaramonte M, Stroffolini T, Vian A, Stazi MA, Floreani A, Lorenzoni U, et al. Rate of incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with compensated viral cirrhosis. Cancer [Internet]. 1999;85(10):2132–7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1097-0142(19990515)85:10%3C2132::aid-cncr6%3E3.0.co.
- 126. Zampino R, Pisaturo MA, Cirillo G, Marrone A, Macera M, Rinaldi L, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma in chronic HBV-HCV co-infection is correlated to fibrosis and disease duration. Ann Hepatol [Internet]. 2015;14(1):75–82. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/s1665-2681(19)30803-8
- 127. Benvegnù L, Fattovich G, Noventa F, Tremolada F, Chemello L, Cecchetto A, et al. Concurrent hepatitis B and C virus infection and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhosis. A prospective study. Cancer [Internet]. 1994;74(9):2442–8. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0142(19941101)74:9%3C2442::aidcncr2820740909%3E3.0.co.
- 128. Oh J-K, Shin H-R, Lim MK, Cho H, Kim D-I, Jee Y, et al. Multiplicative synergistic risk of hepatocellular carcinoma development among hepatitis B and C co-infected subjects in HBV endemic area: a community-based cohort study. BMC Cancer [Internet]. 2012;12:452. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/23039099.
- 129. Konstantinou D, Deutsch M. The spectrum of HBV/HCV coinfection: epidemiology, clinical characteristics, viral interactions and management [Internet]. Ann Gastroenterol. Hellenic Society of Gastroenterology; 2015 [cited 2020 Oct 30];28:221– 8. Available from: www.annalsgastro.gr.
- Ikeda K, Saitoh S, Suzuki Y, Kobayashi M, Tsubota A, Koida I, et al. Disease progression and hepatocellular carcinogenesis in patients with chronic viral hepatitis: a prospective observation of 2215 patients. J Hepatol [Internet]. 1998;28(6):930– 8. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0168-8278(98)80339-5.
- 131. Soriano V, Vispo E, Fernandez-Montero JV, Labarga P, Barreiro P. Update on HIV/HCV coinfection. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep [Internet]. 2013;10(3):226–34. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1007/s11904-013-0169-5.
- Price JC, Thio CL. Liver disease in the HIV-infected individual. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol [Internet]. 2010/09/17. 2010;8(12):1002–12. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20851211.
- 133. Tien PC, Kotler DP, Overton ET, Lewis CE, Rimland D, Bacchetti P, et al. Regional adipose tissue and elevations in serum aminotransferases in HIV-infected individuals. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr [Internet]. 2008;48(2):169–76. Available from: https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18285711.
- Antonello VS, Kliemann DA, Rigel Santos B, Tovo CV. HAART and liver: is it safe? J Infect Dev Ctries [Internet]. 2014;8(11):1444–50. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3855/jidc.5012.
- 135. Puoti M, Bruno R, Soriano V, Donato F, Gaeta GB, Quinzan GP, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma in HIV-infected patients. AIDS [Internet]. 2004;18(17):2285–93. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1097/00002030-200411190-00009.
- 136. Berretta M, Garlassi E, Cacopardo B, Cappellani A, Guaraldi G, Cocchi S, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma in HIV-infected patients: check early, treat hard.

Oncologist [Internet] 2011/08/25. 2011;16(9):1258– 69. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/21868692.

- 137. Marcon PDS, Tovo CV, Kliemann DA, Fisch P, de Mattos AA. Incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with chronic liver disease due to hepatitis B or C and coinfected with the human immunodeficiency virus: a retrospective cohort study. World J Gastroenterol [Internet]. 2018;24(5):613– 22. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/29434450.
- 138. Chen H-F, Liu M-D, Chen P, Chen L-H, Chang Y-H, Wen P-C, et al. Risks of breast and endometrial cancer in women with diabetes: a population-based cohort study. PLoS One [Internet]. 2013;8(6):e67420. Available from: https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23826297.
- 139. Chen L, Li H, Gu L, Ma X, Li X, Gao Y, et al. The impact of diabetes mellitus on renal cell carcinoma prognosis: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. Medicine (Baltimore) [Internet]. 2015;94(26):e1055. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/26131819.
- 140. Guraya SY. Association of type 2 diabetes mellitus and the risk of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis and systematic review. World J Gastroenterol [Internet]. 2015;21(19):6026–31. Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26019469.
- 141. Adami H-O, McLaughlin J, Ekbom A, Berne C, Silverman D, Hacker D, et al. Cancer risk in patients with diabetes mellitus. Cancer Causes Control [Internet]. 1991;2(5):307–14. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00051670.
- 142. Lawson DH, Gray JM, McKillop C, Clarke J, Lee FD, Patrick RS. Diabetes mellitus and primary hepatocellular carcinoma. Q J Med [Internet]. 1986 [cited 2020 Oct 30];61(1):945–55. Available from: https:// doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.qjmed.a068053.
- 143. Giovannucci E, Harlan DM, Archer MC, Bergenstal RM, Gapstur SM, Habel LA, et al. Diabetes and cancer: a consensus report. Diabetes Care [Internet]. 2010;33(7):1674–85. Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20587728.
- 144. Bhatt HB, Smith RJ. Fatty liver disease in diabetes mellitus. Hepatobiliary Surg Nutr. 2015.
- 145. Rousseau M-C, Parent M-É, Pollak MN, Siemiatycki J. Diabetes mellitus and cancer risk in a population-based case-control study among men from Montreal, Canada. Int J Cancer [Internet]. 2005;118(8):2105–9. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1002/ijc.21600.
- 146. El–Serag HB, Hampel H, Javadi F. The association between diabetes and hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review of epidemiologic evidence. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol [Internet]. 2006;4(3):369– 80. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cgh.2005.12.007.
- 147. Vescovo T, Refolo G, Vitagliano G, Fimia GM, Piacentini M. Molecular mechanisms of hepatitis C virus–induced hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin

Microbiol Infect [Internet]. 2016;22(10):853– 61. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cmi.2016.07.019.

- 148. Mitchell JK, Lemon SM, McGivern DR. How do persistent infections with hepatitis C virus cause liver cancer? Curr Opin Virol [Internet]. 2015/09/29. 2015;14:101–8. Available from: https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26426687.
- 149. Rein DB, Wittenborn JS, Weinbaum CM, Sabin M, Smith BD, Lesesne SB. Forecasting the morbidity and mortality associated with prevalent cases of pre-cirrhotic chronic hepatitis C in the United States☆☆☆. Dig Liver Dis [Internet]. 2011;43(1):66–72. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dld.2010.05.006.
- Wang M, Kaufman RJ. Protein misfolding in the endoplasmic reticulum as a conduit to human disease. Nature [Internet]. 2016;529(7586):326–35. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/nature17041.
- 151. Green DR, Galluzzi L, Kroemer G. Cell biology. Metabolic control of cell death. Science [Internet]. 2014;345(6203):1250256. Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25237106.
- 152. Hofmann S, Krajewski M, Scherer C, Scholz V, Mordhorst V, Truschow P, et al. Complex lipid metabolic remodeling is required for efficient hepatitis C virus replication. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids [Internet]. 2018;1863(9):1041– 56. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbalip.2018.06.002.
- Kubes P, Mehal WZ. Sterile inflammation in the liver. Gastroenterology [Internet]. 2012;143(5):1158– 72. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1053/j. gastro.2012.09.008.
- 154. Glick D, Barth S, Macleod KF. Autophagy: cellular and molecular mechanisms. J Pathol [Internet]. 2010;221(1):3–12. Available from: https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20225336.
- 155. Dash S, Aydin Y, Wu T. Integrated stress response in hepatitis C promotes Nrf2-related chaperone-mediated autophagy: a novel mechanism for host-microbe survival and HCC development in liver cirrhosis. Semin Cell Dev Biol [Internet]. 2019/08/08. 2020;101:20–35. Available from: https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31386899.
- 156. Tornesello ML, Buonaguro L, Izzo F, Buonaguro FM. Molecular alterations in hepatocellular carcinoma associated with hepatitis B and hepatitis C infections. Oncotarget [Internet]. 2016;7(18):25087–102. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26943571.
- 157. Schulze K, Imbeaud S, Letouzé E, Alexandrov LB, Calderaro J, Rebouissou S, et al. Exome sequencing of hepatocellular carcinomas identifies new mutational signatures and potential therapeutic targets. Nat Genet [Internet]. 2015/03/30. 2015;47(5):505– 11. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/25822088.
- 158. Shuai Z, Leung MW, He X, Zhang W, Yang G, Leung PS, et al. Adaptive immunity in the liver. Cell Mol

Immunol [Internet]. 2016/03/21. 2016;13(3):354– 68. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/26996069.

- 159. Park S-HH, Rehermann B. Immune responses to HCV and other hepatitis viruses. Immunity [Internet]. 2014;40(1):13–24. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24439265.
- 160. Eming SA, Wynn TA, Martin P. Inflammation and metabolism in tissue repair and regeneration. Science (80-) [Internet]. 2017;356(6342):1026–30. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1126/science. aam7928.
- 161. Koyama Y, Brenner DA. Liver inflammation and fibrosis. J Clin Invest [Internet]. 2017/01/03. 2017;127(1):55–64. Available from: https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28045404.
- 162. Kruse RL, Kramer JR, Tyson GL, Duan Z, Chen L, El-Serag HB, et al. Clinical outcomes of hepatitis B virus coinfection in a United States cohort of hepatitis C virus-infected patients. Hepatology [Internet]. 2014/10/29. 2014;60(6):1871–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25065513.
- 163. Gjærde LI, Shepherd L, Jablonowska E, Lazzarin A, Rougemont M, Darling K, et al. Trends in incidences and risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma and other liver events in HIV and hepatitis C virus-coinfected individuals from 2001 to 2014: a multi-cohort study. Clin Infect Dis [Internet]. 2016/06/15. 2016;63(6):821–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27307505.
- 164. Dyson J, Jaques B, Chattopadyhay D, Lochan R, Graham J, Das D, et al. Hepatocellular cancer: the impact of obesity, type 2 diabetes and a multidisciplinary team. J Hepatol [Internet]. 2014;60(1):110– 7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhep.2013.08.011.
- 165. Rao H, Wu E, Fu S, Yang M, Feng B, Lin A, et al. The higher prevalence of truncal obesity and diabetes in American than Chinese patients with chronic hepatitis C might contribute to more rapid progression to advanced liver disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther [Internet]. 2017;46(8):731–40. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.14273.
- 166. Burchill MA, Golden-Mason L, Wind-Rotolo M, Rosen HR. Memory re-differentiation and reduced lymphocyte activation in chronic HCV-infected patients receiving direct-acting antivirals. J Viral Hepat [Internet]. 2015;22(12):983–91. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/jvh.12465.
- Martin B, Hennecke N, Lohmann V, Kayser A, Neumann-Haefelin C, Kukolj G, et al. Restoration of HCV-specific CD8+ T cell function by interferonfree therapy. J Hepatol [Internet]. 2014;61(3):538– 43. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhep.2014.05.043.
- 168. Serti E, Chepa-Lotrea X, Kim YJ, Keane M, Fryzek N, Liang TJ, et al. Successful interferon-free therapy of chronic hepatitis C virus infection normalizes natural killer cell function. Gastroenterology [Internet]. 2015/03/06. 2015;149(1):190–200.

e2. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/25754160.

- 169. Llovet JM, Brú C, Bruix J. Prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma: the BCLC staging classification. Semin Liver Dis. 1999;19(3):329–38.
- 170. Alswat KA, Sanai FM, Altuwaijri M, Albenmousa A, Almadi M, Al-Hamoudi WK, et al. Clinical characteristics of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma in a middle eastern population. Hepat Mon [Internet]. 2013 May [cited 2020 Oct 26];13(5). Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC3732662/.
- 171. Rasul KI, Al-Azawi SH, Chandra P, Abou-Alfa GK, Knuth A. Status of hepatocellular carcinoma in Gulf region. Chinese Clin Oncol [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2020 Oct 26];2(4):2–7. Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25841921/.
- 172. Fujiwara N, Friedman SL, Goossens N, Hoshida Y. Risk factors and prevention of hepatocellular carcinoma in the era of precision medicine. J Hepatol [Internet]. 2018;68(3):526–49. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2017.09.016.
- 173. Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N, Velculescu VE, Zhou S, Diaz LA, Kinzler KW. Cancer genome landscapes [Internet]. Science. American Association for the Advancement of Science; 2013 [cited 2020 Oct 6];340:1546–58. Available from: http://science.sciencemag.org/.
- 174. Hoshida Y, Fuchs BC, Tanabe KK. Prevention of hepatocellular carcinoma: potential targets, experimental models, and clinical challenges. Curr Cancer Drug Targets [Internet]. 2013 Jan 4 [cited 2020 Nov 26];12(9):1129–59. Available from: https://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3776581/.
- 175. Bishayee A, Thoppil RJ, Waghray A, Kruse JA, Novotny NA, Darvesh AS. Dietary phytochemicals in the chemoprevention and treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma: in vivo evidence, molecular targets, and clinical relevance. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 2013.
- 176. Hoshida Y, Fuchs BC, Bardeesy N, Baumert TF, Chung RT, et al. Pathogenesis and prevention of hepatitis C virus-induced hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol [Internet]. 2018;61(1):S79–90. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2017.09.016.
- 177. Mahmud S, Kouyoumjian SP, Al Kanaani Z, Chemaitelly H, Abu-Raddad LJ. Individual-level key associations and modes of exposure for hepatitis C virus infection in the Middle East and North Africa: a systematic synthesis. Ann Epidemiol. 2018;28(7):452–61.
- 178. Emre DB. Current prevention approaches for hepatocellular carcinoma. J Cancer Prev Curr Res. 2016;4(1):1–3.
- 179. Blach S, Sanai FM. HCV burden and barriers to elimination in the Middle East. Clin Liver Dis. 2019;14(6):224–7.
- 180. Esmat G, El-Sayed MH, Hassany M, Doss W, Waked I. One step closer to elimination of hepatitis C in Egypt [Internet]. The Lancet Gastroenterol

Hepatol. Elsevier Ltd; 2018 [cited 2020 Oct 25];3:665. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/30215356/.

- 181. Altraif I. Can hepatitis c virus be eliminated by 2030? Saudi arabia as an example. Saudi Med J [Internet]. 2018 Aug 1 [cited 2020 Oct 26];39(8):842–5. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC6194989/.
- 182. Chemaitelly H, Mahmud S, Kouyoumjian SP, Al-Kanaani Z, Hermez JG, Abu-Raddad LJ. Who to test for hepatitis C virus in the Middle East and North Africa?: pooled analyses of 2,500 prevalence measures, including 49 million tests. Hepatol Commun [Internet]. 2019 Mar 23 [cited 2020 Oct 25];3(3):325–39. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/hep4.1310.
- 183. Di Bisceglie AM, Shiffman ML, Everson GT, Lindsay KL, Everhart JE, Wright EC, et al. Prolonged therapy of advanced chronic hepatitis C with low-dose peginterferon. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(23):2429–41.
- 184. Bruix J, Poynard T, Colombo M, Schiff E, Burak K, Heathcote EJL, et al. Maintenance therapy with peginterferon Alfa-2b does not prevent hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhotic patients with chronic hepatitis C. Gastroenterology. 2011;140(7):1990–9.
- 185. Okita K, Izumi N, Matsui O, Tanaka K, Kaneko S, Moriwaki H, et al. Peretinoin after curative therapy of hepatitis C-related hepatocellular carcinoma: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study. J Gastroenterol. 2015;50(2):191–202.
- 186. Janjua NZ, Chong M, Kuo M, Woods R, Wong J, Yoshida EM, et al. Long-term effect of sustained virological response on hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with hepatitis C in Canada. J Hepatol. 2017;66(3):504–13.
- 187. Brown JL. Interferon therapy reduces the risk for hepatocellular carcinoma. Gut. 2000;47(5):610–1.
- 188. Imai Y, Tamura S, Tanaka H, Hiramatsu N, Kiso S, Doi Y, et al. Reduced risk of hepatocellular carcinoma after interferon therapy in aged patients with chronic hepatitis C is limited to sustained virological responders. J Viral Hepat. 2010;17(3):185–91.
- 189. Pereira Guedes T, Fragoso P, Lemos C, Garrido M, Silva J, Falcão D, et al. Long-term follow-up of advanced liver disease after sustained virological response to treatment of hepatitis C with direct-acting antivirals: outcomes from a Real-World Portuguese Cohort. GE - Port J Gastroenterol [Internet]. 2020 Apr 1 [cited 2020 Dec 26];27(3):149–59. Available from: https://www.karger.com/Article/ FullText/503074.
- 190. Kozbial K, Moser S, Al-Zoairy R, Schwarzer R, Datz C, Stauber R, et al. Follow-up of sustained virological responders with hepatitis C and advanced liver disease after interferon/ribavirin-free treatment. Liver Int [Internet]. 2018 Jun 1 [cited 2020 Dec 26];38(6):1028–35. Available from: http://doi.wiley. com/10.1111/liv.13629.

- 191. Innes HA, Mcdonald SA, Dillon JF, Allen S, Hayes PC, Goldberg D, et al. Toward a more complete understanding of the association between a hepatitis C sustained viral response and cause-specific outcomes. Hepatology [Internet]. 2015 Aug 1 [cited 2020 Dec 26];62(2):355–64. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25716707/.
- 192. Hsu CS, Huang CJ, Kao JH, Lin HH, Chao YC, Fan YC, et al. Interferon-based therapy decreases risks of hepatocellular carcinoma and complications of cirrhosis in chronic hepatitis C patients. PLoS One [Internet]. 2013 Jul 23 [cited 2020 Dec 26];8(7). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23894660/.
- 193. Mallet V, Gilgenkrantz H, Serpaggi J, Verkarre V, Vallet-Pichard A, Fontaine H, et al. Brief communication: the relationship of regression of cirrhosis to outcome in chronic hepatitis C. Ann Intern Med [Internet]. 2008 Sep 16 [cited 2020 Dec 26];149(6):399–403. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18794559/.
- 194. Hsu C-S, Huang C-J, Kao J-H, Lin HH, Chao Y-C, Fan Y-C, et al. Interferon-based therapy decreases risks of hepatocellular carcinoma and complications of cirrhosis in chronic hepatitis C patients. Polis MA, editor. PLoS One [Internet]. 2013 Jul 23 [cited 2020 Dec 26];8(7):e70458. Available from: https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0070458.
- 195. Poynard T, McHutchison J, Manns M, Trepo C, Lindsay K, Goodman Z, et al. Impact of pegylated interferon alfa-2b and ribavirin on liver fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Gastroenterology [Internet]. 2002 [cited 2020 Dec 26];122(5):1303– 13. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/11984517/.
- 196. D'Ambrosio R, Aghemo A, Rumi MG, Ronchi G, Donato MF, Paradis V, et al. A morphometric and immunohistochemical study to assess the benefit of a sustained virological response in hepatitis C virus patients with cirrhosis. Hepatology [Internet]. 2012 Aug [cited 2020 Dec 26];56(2):532–43. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22271347/.
- 197. Velosa J. Why is viral eradication so important in patients with HCV-related cirrhosis? [Internet]. Antivir Ther. International Medical Press Ltd; 2017 [cited 2020 Dec 26];22:1–12. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27553973/.
- 198. Bruno G, Saracino A, Fabrizio C, Scudeller L, Milella M, Angarano G. Rapid improvement in liver fibrosis in HCV-infected patients with or without HIV infection and DAA-induced SVR: a "turningoff" effect of liver inflammation? [Internet]. J Viral Hepat. Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 2017 [cited 2020 Dec 26];24:174–5. Available from: https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27862657/.
- 199. Knop V, Hoppe D, Welzel T, Vermehren J, Herrmann E, Vermehren A, et al. Regression of fibrosis and portal hypertension in HCVassociated cirrhosis and sustained virologic response after interferon-free antiviral therapy.

J Viral Hepat [Internet]. 2016 Dec 1 [cited 2020 Dec 26];23(12):994–1002. Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27500382/.

- 200. Chekuri S, Nickerson J, Bichoupan K, Sefcik R, Doobay K, Chang S, et al. Liver stiffness decreases rapidly in response to successful hepatitis C treatment and then plateaus. PLoS One [Internet]. 2016 Jul 1 [cited 2020 Dec 26];11(7). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27442255/.
- 201. Pockros P, Crissien-Martinez AM, Frenette C, Skillin C, Bao F, Du E, et al. Degree of liver fibrosis regression predicted by transient elastography after cure of chronic hepatitis C with direct acting antivirals is overestimated but confirmed by liver biopsy. J Hepatol [Internet]. 2017 Jan 1 [cited 2020 Dec 26];66(1):S108. Available from: http://www.journal-of-hepatology.eu/article/S0168827817304750/ fulltext.
- 202. Salmon D, Sogni P, Gilbert C, Bani-Sadr F, Rosenthal E, Poizot-Martin I, et al. Regression of liver stiffness after sustained hepatitis C virus (HCV) virological responses among HIV/HCV-coinfected patients. AIDS [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2020 Dec 26];29(14):1821–30. Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26372388/.
- 203. Ghoneim S, Butt MU, Trujillo S, Asaad I. FIB-4 regression with direct-acting antiviral therapy in patients with hepatitis C infection: a safetynet hospital experience. Front Med [Internet]. 2020 Jul 22 [cited 2020 Dec 26];7:359. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/ fmed.2020.00359/full.
- 204. Lens S, Baiges A, Alvarado-Tapias E, LLop E, Martinez J, Fortea JI, et al. Clinical outcome and hemodynamic changes following HCV eradication with oral antiviral therapy in patients with clinically significant portal hypertension. J Hepatol [Internet]. 2020 Dec 1 [cited 2021 Mar 12];73(6):1415–24. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/32535060/.
- 205. Heimbach JK, Kulik LM, Finn RS, Sirlin CB, Abecassis MM, Roberts LR, et al. AASLD guidelines for the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 2018;67(1):358–80.
- 206. Galle PR, Forner A, Llovet JM, Mazzaferro V, Piscaglia F, Raoul JL, et al. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: management of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2018;69(1):182–236.
- 207. Omata M, Cheng AL, Kokudo N, Kudo M, Lee JM, Jia J, et al. Asia–Pacific clinical practice guidelines on the management of hepatocellular carcinoma: a 2017 update. Hepatol Int. 2017;11(4):317–70.
- 208. Abdo A, Al Abdul Karim H, Al Fuhaid T, Sanai F, Kabbani M, Al Jumah A, et al. Saudi gastroenterology association guidelines for the diagnosis and management of hepatocellular carcinoma: summary of recommendations. Saudi J Gastroenterol [Internet]. 2007 Jan 1 [cited 2020 Oct 25];13(1):45. Available from: http://www.saudijgastro.com/text. asp?2007/13/1/45/30467.

- 209. Singal AG, Pillai A, Tiro J. Early detection, curative treatment, and survival rates for hepatocellular carcinoma surveillance in patients with cirrhosis: a meta-analysis. PLoS Med. 2014;11(4):e1001624.
- 210. Mittal S, Kanwal F, Ying J, Chung R, Sada YH, Temple S, et al. Effectiveness of surveillance for hepatocellular carcinoma in clinical practice: a United States cohort. J Hepatol. 2016;65(6):1148–54.
- 211. Singal AG, Mittal S, Yerokun OA, Ahn C, Marrero JA, Yopp AC, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma screening associated with early tumor detection and improved survival among patients with cirrhosis in the US. Am J Med. 2017;130(9):1099–1106.e1.
- 212. Singal AG, El-Serag HB. Hepatocellular carcinoma from epidemiology to prevention: translating knowledge into practice. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. W.B. Saunders. 2015;13:2140–51.
- 213. Singal AG, Yopp AC, Gupta S, Skinner CS, Halm EA, Okolo E, et al. Failure rates in the hepatocellular carcinoma surveillance process. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2012;5(9):1124–30.
- 214. Dalton-Fitzgerald E, Tiro J, Kandunoori P, Halm EA, Yopp A, Singal AG. Practice patterns and attitudes of primary care providers and barriers to surveillance of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with Cirrhosis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2015;13(4):791–8.e1.
- 215. Singal AG, Tiro JA, Marrero JA, McCallister K, Mejias C, Adamson B, et al. Mailed outreach program increases ultrasound screening of patients with cirrhosis for hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2017;152(3):608–615.e4.
- 216. Naghavi M, Wang H, Lozano R, Davis A, Liang X, Zhou M, et al. Global, regional, and national age-sex specific all-cause and cause-specific mortality for 240 causes of death, 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet. 2015;385(9963):117–71.
- 217. Goossens N, Bian CB, Hoshida Y. Tailored algorithms for hepatocellular carcinoma surveillance: is one-size-fits-all strategy outdated? Curr Hepatol Rep. 2017;16(1):64–71.
- 218. Atiq O, Tiro J, Yopp AC, Muffler A, Marrero JA, Parikh ND, et al. An assessment of benefits and harms of hepatocellular carcinoma surveillance in patients with cirrhosis. Hepatology. 2017;65(4):1196–205.
- Llovet JM, Schwartz M, Mazzaferro V. Resection and liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma. Semin Liver Dis. 2005.
- 220. Poon RTP, Fan ST, Lo CM, Liu CL, Ng IOL, Wong J. Long-term prognosis after resection of hepatocellular carcinoma associated with hepatitis B-related cirrhosis. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18(5):1094–101.
- 221. Ikeda K, Arase Y, Kobayashi M, Saitoh S, Someya T, Hosaka T, et al. Significance of multicentric cancer recurrence after potentially curative ablation of hepatocellular carcinoma: a long term cohort study of 892 patients with viral cirrhosis. J Gastroenterol. 2003;38(9):865–76.
- 222. Imamura H, Matsuyama Y, Tanaka E, Ohkubo T, Hasegawa K, Miyagawa S, et al. Risk factors con-

tributing to early and late phase intrahepatic recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma after hepatectomy. J Hepatol. 2003;38(2):200–7.

- 223. Wu JC, Huang YH, Chau GY, Su CW, Lai CR, Lee PC, et al. Risk factors for early and late recurrence in hepatitis B-related hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2009;51(5):890–7.
- 224. Mazzaferro V, Romito R, Schiavo M, Mariani L, Camerini T, Bhoori S, et al. Prevention of hepatocellular carcinoma recurrence with alpha-interferon after liver resection in HCV cirrhosis. Hepatology. 2006;44(6):1543–54.
- 225. Shiratori Y, Shiina S, Teratani T, Imamura M, Obi S, Sato S, et al. Interferon therapy after tumor ablation improves prognosis in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma associated with hepatitis C virus. Ann Intern Med. 2003;138(4):299–306.
- 226. Lu LC, Cheng AL, Poon RTP. Recent advances in the prevention of hepatocellular carcinoma recurrence. Semin Liver Dis. 2014;34(4):427–34.
- 227. Hsu YC, Ho HJ, Wu MS, Lin JT, Wu CY. Postoperative peg-interferon plus ribavirin is associated with reduced recurrence of hepatitis C virusrelated hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 2013;58(1):150–7.
- 228. Huang AC, Mehta N, Dodge JL, Yao FY, Terrault NA. Direct-acting antivirals do not increase the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma recurrence after localregional therapy or liver transplant waitlist dropout. Hepatology. 2018;68(2):449–61.
- 229. Conti F, Buonfiglioli F, Scuteri A, Crespi C, Bolondi L, Caraceni P, et al. Early occurrence and recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma in HCV-related cirrhosis treated with direct-acting antivirals. J Hepatol. 2016.
- 230. Reig M, Mariño Z, Perelló C, Iñarrairaegui M, Ribeiro A, Lens S, et al. Unexpected high rate of early tumor recurrence in patients with HCV-related HCC undergoing interferon-free therapy. J Hepatol. 2016.
- 231. Kozbial K, Moser S, Schwarzer R, Laferl H, Al-Zoairy R, Stauber R, et al. Unexpected high incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhotic patients with sustained virologic response following interferon-free direct-acting antiviral treatment. J Hepatol. 2016.
- 232. Sanduzzi-Zamparelli M, Boix L, Leal C, Reig M. Hepatocellular carcinoma recurrence in HCV patients treated with direct antiviral agents. Viruses. 2019.
- 233. Nagata H, Nakagawa M, Asahina Y, Sato A, Asano Y, Tsunoda T, et al. Effect of interferon-based and -free therapy on early occurrence and recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma in chronic hepatitis C. J Hepatol. 2017.
- 234. Lin WC, Lin YS, Chang CW, Chang CW, Wang TE, Wang HY, et al. Impact of direct-acting antiviral therapy for hepatitis C-related hepatocellular carcinoma. PLoS One [Internet]. 2020 May 1 [cited 2020 Nov 24];15(5). Available from: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7244104/.

- 235. Nishibatake Kinoshita M, Minami T, Tateishi R, Wake T, Nakagomi R, Fujiwara N, et al. Impact of direct-acting antivirals on early recurrence of HCV-related HCC: comparison with interferonbased therapy. J Hepatol. 2019.
- 236. Singer AW, Reddy KR, Telep LE, Osinusi AO, Brainard DM, Buti M, et al. Direct-acting antiviral treatment for hepatitis C virus infection and risk of incident liver cancer: a retrospective cohort study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2018.
- 237. Cabibbo G, Petta S, Calvaruso V, Cacciola I, Cannavò MR, Madonia S, et al. Is early recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma in HCV cirrhotic patients affected by treatment with direct-acting antivirals? A prospective multicentre study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2017.
- 238. Waziry R, Hajarizadeh B, Grebely J, Amin J, Law M, Danta M, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma risk following direct-acting antiviral HCV therapy: a systematic review, meta-analyses, and meta-regression. J Hepatol. 2017.
- 239. Singal AG, Rich NE, Mehta N, Branch AD, Pillai A, Hoteit M, et al. Direct-acting antiviral therapy for hepatitis C virus infection is associated with increased survival in patients with a history of hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2019.
- 240. EASL recommendations on treatment of Hepatitis C 2020 - EASL-The Home of Hepatology. [Internet]. [cited 2021 Feb 12]. Available from: https://easl.eu/ publication/easl-recommendations-on-treatment-ofhepatitis-c-2020/.
- 241. Cortesi PA, Belli LS, Facchetti R, Mazzarelli C, Perricone G, De Nicola S, et al. The optimal timing of hepatitis C therapy in liver transplant-eligible patients: cost-effectiveness analysis of new opportunities. J Viral Hepat. 2018.
- 242. Ohki T, Tateishi R, Sato T, Masuzaki R, Imamura J, Goto T, et al. Obesity is an independent risk factor for hepatocellular carcinoma development in chronic hepatitis C patients. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol [Internet]. 2008 Apr 1 [cited 2020 Nov 2];6(4):459–64. Available from: http://www.cgh-journal.org/article/S1542356508001249/fulltext.
- 243. Suceveanu A-I, Mazilu L, Gheorghe A-D, Pantea Stoian A, Voinea F, Suceveanu A-P. Metabolic risk factors in hepatocellular carcinoma. In: Liver cancer [Internet]. IntechOpen; 2018. [cited 2020 Nov 2]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.5772/ intechopen.80527.
- 244. Tateishi R, Yoshida H, Matsuyama Y, Mine N, Kondo Y, Omata M. Diagnostic accuracy of tumor markers for hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review. Hepatol Int. 2008.
- 245. Singal AG, Mukherjee A, Elmunzer JB, Higgins PDR, Lok AS, Zhu J, et al. Machine learning algorithms outperform conventional regression models in predicting development of hepatocellular carcinoma. Am J Gastroenterol [Internet]. 2013 Nov [cited 2020

Oct 23];108(11):1723–30. Available from: http:// journals.lww.com/00000434-201311000-00010.

- 246. Lee M-H, Lu S-N, Yuan Y, Yang H-I, Jen C-L, You S-L, et al. Development and validation of a clinical scoring system for predicting risk of HCC in asymptomatic individuals seropositive for anti-HCV antibodies. Villa E, editor. PLoS One [Internet]. 2014 May 6 [cited 2020 Oct 23];9(5):e94760. Available from: https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0094760.
- 247. Ganne-Carrié N, Layese R, Bourcier V, Cagnot C, Marcellin P, Guyader D, et al. Nomogram for individualized prediction of hepatocellular carcinoma occurrence in hepatitis C virus cirrhosis (ANRS CO12 CirVir). Hepatology [Internet]. 2016 Oct 1 [cited 2020 Oct 23];64(4):1136–47. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/hep.28702.
- 248. Lok AS, Seeff LB, Morgan TR, di Bisceglie AM, Sterling RK, Curto TM, et al. Incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma and associated risk factors in hepatitis C-related advanced liver disease. Gastroenterology. 2009;136(1):138–48.
- 249. El-Serag HB, Kanwal F, Davila JA, Kramer J, Richardson P. A new laboratory-based algorithm to predict development of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with hepatitis C and cirrhosis. Gastroenterology [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2020 Oct 23];146(5). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/24462733/.
- 250. Motosugi U, Ichikawa T, Koshiishi T, Sano K, Morisaka H, Ichikawa S, et al. Liver stiffness measured by magnetic resonance elastography as a risk factor for hepatocellular carcinoma: a preliminary case-control study. Eur Radiol [Internet]. 2013 Jan 20 [cited 2020 Oct 23];23(1):156–62. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/ s00330-012-2571-6.
- 251. Chang KC, Wu YY, Hung CH, Lu SN, Lee CM, Chiu KW, et al. Clinical-guide risk prediction of hepatocellular carcinoma development in chronic hepatitis C patients after interferon-based therapy. Br J Cancer [Internet]. 2013 Oct 29 [cited 2020 Oct 23];109(9):2481–8. Available from: www.bjcancer. com.
- 252. Ikeda M, Fujiyama S, Tanaka M, Sata M, Ide T, Yatsuhashi H, et al. Risk factors for development of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with chronic hepatitis C after sustained response to interferon. J Gastroenterol [Internet]. 2005 Feb [cited 2020 Oct 17];40(2):148–56. Available from: https://link. springer.com/article/10.1007/s00535-004-1519-2.
- 253. Chang KC, Hung CH, Lu SN, Wang JH, Lee CM, Chen CH, et al. A novel predictive score for hepatocellular carcinoma development in patients with chronic hepatitis C after sustained response to pegylated interferon and ribavirin combination therapy. J Antimicrob Chemother [Internet]. 2012 Nov 1 [cited 2020 Oct 23];67(11):2766–72.

Available from: https://academic.oup.com/jac/ article/67/11/2766/708112.

- 254. Wang J-H, Yen Y-H, Yao C-C, Hung C-H, Chen C-H, Hu T-H, et al. Liver stiffness-based score in hepatoma risk assessment for chronic hepatitis C patients after successful antiviral therapy. Liver Int [Internet]. 2016 Dec 1 [cited 2020 Oct 23];36(12):1793–9. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/ liv.13179.
- 255. Flemming JA, Yang JD, Vittinghoff E, Kim WR, Terrault NA. Risk prediction of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with cirrhosis: the ADRESS-HCC risk model. Cancer [Internet]. 2014 Nov 15 [cited 2020 Oct 23];120(22):3485–93. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/cncr.28832.
- 256. Velázquez RF, Rodríguez M, Navascués CA, Linares A, Pérez R, Sotorríos NG, et al. Prospective analysis of risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with liver cirrhosis. Hepatology. 2003;37(3):520–7.
- 257. Aoki T, Iijima H, Tada T, Kumada T, Nishimura T, Nakano C, et al. Prediction of development of hepatocellular carcinoma using a new scoring system involving virtual touch quantification in patients with chronic liver diseases. J Gastroenterol [Internet]. 2017 Jan 1 [cited 2020 Oct 23];52(1):104–12. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00535-016-1228-7.
- 258. Simon RM, Paik S, Hayes DF. Use of archived specimens in evaluation of prognostic and predictive biomarkers [Internet]. J Natl Cancer Inst. Oxford Academic; 2009 [cited 2020 Oct 23];101:1446–52. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/jnci/ article/101/21/1446/964215.
- 259. Mchutchison JG, Gordon SC, Schiff ER, Shiffman ML, Lee WM, Rustgi VK, et al. Interferon alfa-2b alone or in combination with ribavirin as initial treatment for chronic hepatitis C. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 1998 Nov 19 [cited 2020 Oct 16];339(21):1485–92. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9819446/.
- 260. Manns MP, Wedemeyer H, Cornberg M. Treating viral hepatitis C: efficacy, side effects, and complications [Internet]. Gut. Gut; 2006 [cited 2020 Oct 16];55:1350–9. Available from: https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16905701/.
- 261. Hsu CS, Chao YC, Lin HH, Chen DS, Kao JH. Systematic review: impact of interferon-based therapy on HCV-related hepatocellular carcinoma [Internet]. Sci Rep. Nature Publishing Group; 2015 [cited 2020 Oct 16];5. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25963067/.
- 262. Kohli A, Shaffer A, Sherman A, Kottilil S. Treatment of hepatitis C a systematic review [Internet]. JAMA -Journal of the American Medical Association. American Medical Association; 2014 [cited 2020 Oct 16];312:631–40. Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25117132/.

- 263. Schmidt WN, Nelson DR, Pawlotsky JM, Sherman KE, Thomas DL, Chung RT. Direct-acting antiviral agents and the path to interferon independence. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. W.B. Saunders. 2014;12:728–37.
- 264. Poordad F, Hezode C, Trinh R, Kowdley KV, Zeuzem S, Agarwal K, et al. ABT-450/r–ombitasvir and dasabuvir with ribavirin for hepatitis C with cirrhosis. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2014 May 22 [cited 2020 Oct 10];370(21):1973–82. Available from: http://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMoa1402869.
- 265. Putra J, Schiano T, Fiel MI. Histological assessment of the liver explant in transplanted HCV-patients achieving sustained virologic response with directacting antiviral agents Running Title: Histologic assessment of HCV patients with SVR. 2017.
- 266. Van Der Meer AJ, Veldt BJ, Feld JJ, Wedemeyer H, Dufour JF, Lammert F, et al. Association between sustained virological response and all-cause mortality among patients with chronic hepatitis C and advanced hepatic fibrosis. JAMA - J Am Med Assoc [Internet]. 2012 Dec 26 [cited 2020 Oct 10];308(24):2584–93. Available from: https://jamanetwork.com/.
- 267. Shiratori Y, Imazeki F, Moriyama M, Yano M, Arakawa Y, Yokosuka O, et al. Histologic improvement of fibrosis in patients with hepatitis C who have sustained response to interferon therapy. Ann Intern Med. 2000;132(7):517–24.
- 268. Yang JD, Aqel BA, Pungpapong S, Gores GJ, Roberts LR, Leise MD. Direct acting antiviral therapy and tumor recurrence after liver transplantation for hepatitis C-associated hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2016.
- 269. Pol S. Lack of evidence of an effect of Direct Acting Antivirals on the recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. jhep.2016.05.045.
- 270. Morgan RL, Baack B, Smith BD, Yartel A, Pitasi M, Falck-Ytter Y. Eradication of hepatitis C virus infection and the development of hepatocellular carcinoma: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Ann Intern Med. 2013.
- 271. Rutledge SM, Zheng H, Li DK, Chung RT. No evidence for higher rates of hepatocellular carcinoma after direct-acting antiviral treatment: a meta-analysis. Hepatoma Res. 2019.
- 272. Meringer H, Shibolet O, Deutsch L. Hepatocellular carcinoma in the post-hepatitis C virus era: should we change the paradigm? World J Gastroenterol. 2019;25(29):3929–40.
- 273. El-Shamy A, Eng FJ, Doyle EH, Klepper AL, Sun X, Sangiovanni A, et al. A cell culture system for distinguishing hepatitis C viruses with and without liver cancer-related mutations in the viral core gene. J Hepatol. 2015.
- 274. Akuta N, Suzuki F, Hirakawa M, Kawamura Y, Sezaki H, Suzuki Y, et al. Amino acid substitutions

in hepatitis C virus core region predict hepatocarcinogenesis following eradication of HCV RNA by antiviral therapy. J Med Virol. 2011.

- 275. Hassany SM, Hassan W, Abo-Alam HS, Khalaf M, Nafeh AM, Nasr-Eldin E, et al. Direct-acting antiviral drugs and occurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma: unjust or oppressed. Infect Drug Resist [Internet]. 2020 Jun 18 [cited 2020 Nov 21];13:1873–80. Available from: https://www.dovepress.com/direct-acting-antiviral-drugs-and-occurrence-of-hepatocellular-carcino-peer-reviewed-article-IDR.
- AASLD/IDSA HCV guidance: recommendations for testing, managing, and treating hepatitis C. Clin Liver Dis. 2018.
- 277. Pawlotsky JM, Negro F, Aghemo A, Berenguer M, Dalgard O, Dusheiko G, et al. EASL recommendations on treatment of hepatitis C 2018. J Hepatol. 2018.
- 278. Alfaleh FZ, Alghamdi AS, Alghamdi H, Alqutub A, Alswat K, Altraif I, et al. SASLT practice guidelines: management of hepatitis C virus infection. Saudi J Gastroenterol [Internet]. 2012 Sep [cited 2020 Nov 21];18(Suppl 1):S1. Available from: https://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3713589/.
- 279. Kanda T, Lau GKK, Wei L, Moriyama M, Yu ML, Chuang WL, et al. APASL HCV guidelines of virus-eradicated patients by DAA on how to monitor HCC occurrence and HBV reactivation. Hepatol Int [Internet]. 2019 Nov 1 [cited 2020 Nov 21];13(6):649–61. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31541423/.
- 280. Kushner T, Dieterich D, Saberi B. Direct-acting antiviral treatment for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma [Internet]. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2018 [cited 2020 Oct 17];34:132–9. Available from: https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29517502/.
- 281. Radhakrishnan K, Di Bisceglie AM, Reddy KR, Lim JK, Levitsky J, Kuo A, et al. Impact of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and tumor treatment on sustained virologic response (SVR) rates with direct-acting antiviral (DAA) therapy for hepatitis C: HCV-target results. Hepatology. 2017.
- Prenner SB, Kulik L. Hepatocellular carcinoma in the wait-listed patient with hepatitis C virus. Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2018.
- 283. Saberi B, Dadabhai AS, Durand CM, Philosophe B, Cameron AM, Sulkowski MS, et al. Challenges in treatment of hepatitis C among patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology [Internet]. 2017 Aug 1 [cited 2020 Oct 17];66(2):661–3. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/hep.29126.
- 284. Beste LA, Green PK, Berry K, Kogut MJ, Allison SK, Ioannou GN. Effectiveness of hepatitis C antiviral treatment in a USA cohort of veteran patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2017.
- 285. Harrod E, Moctezuma-Velazquez C, Gurakar A, Ala A, Dieterich D, Saberi B. Management of concomi-

tant hepatocellular carcinoma and chronic hepatitis C: a review. Hepatoma Res. 2019;2019

- 286. Pascasio JM, Vinaixa C, Ferrer MT, Colmenero J, Rubin A, Castells L, et al. Clinical outcomes of patients undergoing antiviral therapy while awaiting liver transplantation. J Hepatol. 2017.
- 287. Prenner SB, VanWagner LB, Flamm SL, Salem R, Lewandowski RJ, Kulik L. Hepatocellular carcinoma decreases the chance of successful hepatitis C virus therapy with direct-acting antivirals. J Hepatol. 2017.
- 288. Persico M, Aglitti A, Aghemo A, Rendina M, Lleo A, Ciancio A, et al. High efficacy of direct-acting anti-viral agents in hepatitis C virus-infected cirrhotic patients with successfully treated hepatocellular carcinoma. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2018.
- Llovet JM, Ricci S, Mazzaferro V, Hilgard P, Gane E, Blanc JF, et al. Sorafenib in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2008.
- 290. Himmelsbach K, Sauter D, Baumert TF, Ludwig L, Blum HE, Hildt E. New aspects of an anti-tumour drug: sorafenib efficiently inhibits HCV replication. Gut. 2009.
- 291. Descamps V, Helle F, Louandre C, Martin E, Brochot E, Izquierdo L, et al. The kinase-inhibitor sorafenib inhibits multiple steps of the Hepatitis C Virus infectious cycle in vitro. Antivir Res. 2015.
- 292. Zona L, Lupberger J, Sidahmed-Adrar N, Thumann C, Harris HJ, Barnes A, et al. HRas signal transduction promotes hepatitis C virus cell entry by triggering assembly of the host tetraspanin receptor complex. Cell Host Microbe. 2013.
- 293. Menzel N, Fischl W, Hueging K, Bankwitz D, Frentzen A, Haid S, et al. MAP-kinase regulated cytosolic phospholipase A2 activity is essential for production of infectious Hepatitis C virus particles. PLoS Pathog. 2012.
- 294. Cabrera R, Limaye AR, Horne P, Mills R, Soldevila-Pico C, Clark V, et al. The anti-viral effect of sorafenib in hepatitis C-related hepatocellular carcinoma. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2013.
- 295. Bruix J, Cheng AL, Meinhardt G, Nakajima K, De Sanctis Y, Llovet J. Prognostic factors and predictors of sorafenib benefit in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: analysis of two phase III studies. J Hepatol. 2017.
- 296. Kawaoka T, Aikata H, Teraoka Y, Inagaki Y, Honda F, Hatooka M, et al. Impact of hepatitis C virus eradication on the clinical outcome of patients with hepatitis C virus-related advanced hepatocellular carcinoma treated with sorafenib. Oncologia [Internet]. 2017 May 1 [cited 2020 Nov 24];92(6):335–46. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28245484/.
- 297. Revuelta-Herrero JL, Giménez-Manzorro A, Matilla-Peña A, Herranz-Alonso A, Sanjurjo-Sáez M. Concomitant use of sorafenib with ombitasvir/ paritaprevir/ritonavir and dasabuvir: effectiveness and safety in clinical practice. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2018.

- 298. Munir B, Ahmed B, Kiran S, Jalal F, Zahoor MK, Shehzadi S, et al. Sorafenib tosylate, Ribavirin and Sofosbuvir combination therapy for HCV virus infected patients with decompensated liver cancer. Pak J Pharm Sci [Internet]. 2017 Nov 1 [cited 2020 Nov 24];30(6):2383–7. Available from: https://europepmc.org/article/med/29188773.
- 299. Kew MC. Hepatocellular carcinoma in developing countries: prevention, diagnosis and treatment. World J Hepatol [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2020 Nov 26];4(3):99–104. Available from: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3321496/.
- 300. Chiang CJ, Yang YW, Chen J De, You SL, Yang HI, Lee MH, et al. Significant reduction in end-stage liver diseases burden through the national viral hepatitis therapy program in Taiwan. Hepatology. 2015.
- 301. WHO | Global hepatitis report, 2017 [Internet]. [cited 2020 Oct 18]. Available from: https:// www.who.int/hepatitis/publications/ global-hepatitis-report2017/en/.
- 302. World Health Organization [WHO]. Global health sector strategy on viral hepatitis 2016–2021: towards ending viral hepatitis. Global Hepatitis Programme Department of HIV/AIDS. 2016.
- 303. Chen CJ. Global elimination of viral hepatitis and hepatocellular carcinoma: opportunities and challenges. Gut. 2018;67(4):595–8.
- 304. Omata M, Kanda T, Wei L, Yu ML, Chuang WL, Ibrahim A, et al. APASL consensus statements and recommendation on treatment of hepatitis C. Hepatol Int. 2016.
- 305. WHO. Guidelines for the care and treatment of persons diagnosed with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. WHO; 2018.
- 306. Omran D, Alboraie M, Zayed RA, Wifi M-N, Naguib M, Eltabbakh M, et al. Towards hepatitis C virus elimination: Egyptian experience, achievements and limitations. World J Gastroenterol [Internet]. 2018;24(38):4330–40. Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30344418.
- 307. Derbala M, Abd Farag E, Al-Romaihi H, Al Kaabi S, Al-Thani M, El Sayed E, et al. An overview of the hepatitis C control plan in Qatar. East Mediterr Health J [Internet]. 2019;25(5):362–5. Available from: https://doi.org/10.26719/emhj.18.046.
- Freeman JAD, Hill A. The use of generic medications for hepatitis C. Liver Int. 2016.

- 309. Al-Busafi SA, Omar H. Towards supporting greater and lower cost access to direct acting antiviral treatment for hepatitis C for all patients. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2017.
- 310. Wade AJ, McCormack A, Roder C, McDonald K, Davies M, Scott N, et al. Aiming for elimination: outcomes of a consultation pathway supporting regional general practitioners to prescribe directacting antiviral therapy for hepatitis C. J Viral Hepat. 2018.
- 311. Kattakuzhy S, Gross C, Emmanuel B, Teferi G, Jenkins V, Silk R, et al. Expansion of treatment for hepatitis C virus infection by task shifting to community-based nonspecialist providers a nonrandomized clinical trial. Ann Intern Med. 2017.
- 312. WHO | Global health sector strategy on viral hepatitis 2016–2021. WHO [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2020 Nov 6]; Available from: http://www.who.int/ hepatitis/strategy2016-2021/ghss-hep/en/.
- 313. Maaroufi A, Vince A, Himatt SM, Mohamed R, Fung J, Opare-Sem O, et al. Historical epidemiology of hepatitis C virus in select countries—volume 4. J Viral Hepat. 2017;24(June):8–24.
- 314. Chen DS, Hamoudi W, Mustapha B, Layden J, Nersesov A, Reic T, et al. Strategies to manage hepatitis C virus infection disease burden—Volume 4. J Viral Hepat. 2017.
- 315. Razavi H, Blach S, Razavi-Shearer D, Abaalkhail F, Abbas Z, Abdallah A, et al. The case for simplifying and using absolute targets for viral hepatitis elimination goals. J Viral Hepat [Internet]. 2020 Nov 4 [cited 2020 Nov 6];jvh.13412. Available from: https:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/jvh.13412.
- 316. Sibley A, Han KH, Abourached A, Lesmana LA, Makara M, Jafri W, et al. The present and future disease burden of hepatitis C virus infections with today's treatment paradigm - volume 3. J Viral Hepat [Internet]. 2015 Dec 1 [cited 2020 Nov 13];22:21– 41. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/ jvh.12476.
- 317. Chan HLY, Chen CJ, Omede O, Al Qamish J, Al Naamani K, Bane A, et al. The present and future disease burden of hepatitis C virus infections with today's treatment paradigm: volume 4. J Viral Hepat [Internet]. 2017 Nov 1 [cited 2020 Nov 13];24:25–43. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/jvh.12760.



Hepatocellular Carcinoma in the Middle East: An Overview

Sanaa Kamal

Abbreviations

ALD	Alcoholic liver disease
ASIR	Age-standardized incidence rate
ASMR	Age-standardized mortality rate.
H.H.	Hereditary hemochromatosis
HBV	Hepatitis B virus
HCC	Hepatocellular carcinoma
HCV	Hepatitis C virus
IARC	International Agency for Research on
	Cancer
MENA	the Middle East and North Africa
NAFLD	Non-alcoholic liver disease
NASH	Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis
SEER	Surveillance Epidemiology and End
	Results database

1 Introduction

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is the most frequent primary liver malignancy and is the fifth most common cancer in men and is the seventh among women. The number of new HCC cases in 2018 was 841,080, and this represents 4.7% of all new cancer cases [1]. The incidence of HCC varies according to the geographic region, the prevalence of risk factors specific for HCC, and the

Ain Shams Faculty of Medicine, Cairo, Egypt e-mail: sanaakamal@ainshamsmedicine.net

accessibility to therapeutic options for such factors. The incidence rates vary between 5.1 per 100,000 person-years in Europe and 17.7 per 100,000 person-years in Eastern Asia [2]. The incidence rates of HCC peak at about the age of 50 years [3, 4]. The prevalence of HCC is exceptionally high in East/Southeast Asia, Egypt, several African countries and, historically, in southern Europe [3, 4]. HCC is the third cause of cancer death worldwide, resulting in 781,631 deaths in 2018 [2, 5, 6].

Epidemiological differences and etiologic factors of HCC vary across countries and geographic regions. Chronic hepatitis B- and d C-related cirrhosis are responsible for approximately 80% of all liver cancer deaths in developed and developing countries [3, 5, 6]. Other risk factors such as high alcohol consumption, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) associated with obesity and diabetes and cholestatic liver diseases such as primary biliary cholangitis are increasingly emerging as contributors in the evolution of HCC in Western countries [3, 5]. Hereditary hemochromatosis and hepatic iron overload states secondary to hemoglobinopathies can increase the risk of the development of HCC [7, 8]. Less common risk factors for HCC include inherited disorders: glycogen storage disease and alpha-1-antitrypsin deficiency [9, 10]. Aflatoxins are metabolic products of the fungi Aspergillus flavus and Aspergillus parasiticus that develop in maize, oilseeds, and dried

S. Kamal (🖂)

fruits. Aflatoxins are associated with HCC, and the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) has recognized them as human carcinogens. In tropical and subtropical developing countries, exposure to high concentrations of aflatoxins causes acute hepatitis [11, 12]. Chronic exposure to aflatoxins results in genotoxicity, mutagenicity, and immunotoxicity [12].

2 Epidemiology of Hepatocellular Carcinoma in the MENA Region

The Middle East is a flexible geographic term that does not have a specific standardized definition. A more inclusive definition is the term, Middle East and North Africa (MENA), which includes Egypt, Libya, Tunisia, Algeria, Morocco, Syria, Lebanon, Jordan, Saudi Arabia, United Arab Emirates, Kuwait, Bahrain, Qatar, Oman, Iraq, Yemen, Sudan, Palestinian territories and Israel, Turkey, and Iran. MENA is a densely populated region with a total population of 456,707,404 in 2019-2020, which accounts for approximately 7% of the world's population. The MENA region comprises various ethnic groups, including Arabs, Persians, Turks, Kurds, Berbers, Jews, and Armenians, who follow Islam, Christianity, or Judaism. The countries in the MENA region have diverse economies. Highincome countries with strong economies in the region include Saudi Arabia, United Arab Emirates, Kuwait, Turkey, and Iran, where vast oil reserves, industry, and tourism stimulate economic growth. Other countries, such as Yemen, Sudan, Syria, and Libya, have suffered from prolonged periods of wars and civil unrest, which adversely affected economic development and devastated healthcare infrastructure [13].

2.1 Incidence of HCC in the MENA Region

Hepatocellular carcinoma represents a public health problem and an economic burden in several MENA countries due to the high prevalence of HBV and HCV infection in the region, limited HCC screening, and paucity of preventive measures and therapeutic interventions in some countries. The incidence of HCC has changed over time, not only across MENA countries but also within individual countries, due to variations in environmental exposures, lifestyle patterns, screening procedures, and risk factor management efficacy. HCC burden also differs between high-income countries (HICs), low-income countries (LICs), and lower-middle-income countries (LMICs). Overall, the 2018 HCC incidence rates have not shown a significant decline in MENA countries despite improved HBV and HCV preventive and management strategies [1, 2] (Table 1).

As in other world regions, HCC is predominant among males (Fig. 1). In 2018, the number of new HCC cases in the MENA region was 37,184 (25,699 males and 11,485 females) with a cumulative risk of 2.18%, and the reported deaths were 36,601 (25,267 males and 11,334 females) with a cumulative risk of 2.16% [1, 2] (Table 1). Comparing the overall liver cancer age-standardized incidence rates (ASIR) data in the MENA region from 1990 to 2018 revealed a rise from 5.12 per 100,000 individuals to 5.83 per 100,000 in 2018, significantly lower than the incidence rates in Southeast Asia (17.5) [14, 15]. However, breaking down the results according to the incidence rates in individual MENA countries revealed three patterns, namely, countries that showed increased incidence rates over time, countries with stable incidence, and countries with decreased HCC incidence rates (Fig. 2). Egypt has exceptionally and persistently high incidence and HCC-related mortality rates, making liver cancer rank the first malignancy in Egypt [1, 16-18]. Although Egypt launched an ambitious nationwide program to treat all HCV patients with DAAs, the incidence of HCC is still high. Active treatment resulted in reductions of new hepatitis C virus infections. However, HCC still emerges due to the aging of cirrhotic patients infected with HCV several years ago and the extensive HCC screening programs that contribute to more diagnosis of HCC cases [17–19]. However, sev-

		Number of new HCC cases				Deaths Mortality rank				
	Total		Cum.				Cum.			Number of prevalent
Country	population	Number	risk	Rank ^a	(%) ^b	Number	risk	Rank	(%)°	cases (5-year)
Egypt	102,334,403	25,399	3.8	1	19.7	25,084	3.77	1	29.4	19,361
Saudi Arabia	33,554,333	905	0.55	9	3.7	852	0.52	4	8.1	701
Iran	82,011,737	3492	0.48	11	3.2	3439	0.48	7	6.2	2671
Sudan	41,511,523	942	0.43	7	3.7	906	0.43	5	5.3	830
Turkey	81,916,866	4362	0.52	15	2.1	4307	0.52	9	3.7	3127
Qatar	2,694,843	42	0.45	11	3.3	40	0.44	6	6	32
UAE	9,541,612	97	0.47	15	2.1	96	0.45	8	4.6	82
Yemen	28,915,286	620	0.51	7	4.7	595	0.51	5	6.5	535
Bahrain	1,566,994	30	0.37	12	2.9	22	0.29	12	3.6	108
Syria	18,284,423	380	0.34	18	1.6	380	0.29	18	1.4	514
Lebanon	6,093,510	227	0.38	18	1.3	216	0.37	11	2.4	163
Jordan	9,903,798	188	0.31	16	1.7	178	0.30	10	3.1	142
Iraq	39,339,754	539	0.32	12	2.1	538	0.32	7	3.7	443
Kuwait	4,197,129	121	0.6	8	3.4	114	0.6	4	6.9	90
Oman	4,829,946	117	0.51	10	3.5	111	0.5	5	6.6	98
Libya	6,470,857	191	0.54	12	3.0	147	0.44	7	4.4	148
Tunisia	11,659,175	355	0.29	12	2.2	356	0.30	11	3.5	317
Algeria	42,008,056	563	0.17	21	1.1	544	0.16	17	1.8	486
Morocco	36,191,813	428	0.14	24	0.81	411	0.13	18	1.2	524
Israel	8,452,843	336	0.28	17	1.3	397	0.35	11	3.2	253

 Table 1
 Hepatocellular carcinoma new cases, mortality, 5-year prevalent cases in MENA countries (2018)

^aRank with respect to other cancers

^bPercentage from all cancers

°Percentage from all cancer deaths



Fig. 1 Incidence of HCC in males and females in some MENA countries



Fig. 2 HCC incidence trends 1990–2018 in MENA countries

eral reports from Egypt demonstrated de novo emergence or recurrence of HCC in HCV patients treated with DAAs [20, 21]. Further studies are required to characterize the magnitude and explanation of HCC occurrence in these patients.

In Israel, the age-standardized HCC incidence rates rose gradually from 1.93 and 1.22 for Israelis and Arab men in 2000 to 3.13 and 3.63 for Israelis and Arab men in 2018 [1, 22]. The Islamic Republic of Iran, Libya, UAE, and Algeria had moderately increasing trends over time [1, 14]. The HCC incidence rates in Saudi Arabia, Kuwait, Bahrain, Oman, and Tunisia have not shown significant changes [1, 14]. In Turkey, the HCC incidence rates decreased from 4.2 to 3.5 per 100,000 individuals between 1990 and 2018, suggesting adequate control of risk factors of HCC [1, 14, 23]. Epidemiologic data in 2018 [1, 14] demonstrated HCC decline in Yemen, Syria, and Sudan (Fig. 1). However, one should be cautious in interpreting this decline that might result from underreporting rather than an actual HCC case decrease. For years, the three countries have been suffering from civil unrest and conflicts that damaged the healthcare infrastructure.

2.2 Mortality due to HCC in the MENA Region

Overall survival of patients with HCC varies substantially across the MENA countries. Mortality data in the MENA region showed increasing HCCrelated mortality trends in MENA countries, confirming the poor outcome of HCC in MENA countries (Table 1). The ASMR per 100,000 individuals was 5.31 and 5.94 in 1990 and 2018, respectively [1, 2, 14, 15]. The highest ASMR is reported from Egypt, with 25,084 deaths and cumulative risk of 3.77%. In Egypt, the HCC ASMR increased from 13.79 in 1990 to 20.47 in 2018. HCC ranked the first cause of mortalityrelated cancer and was responsible for 9.1% of allcause mortality in Egypt [1, 2, 14, 15, 18-20]. HCC was the fourth cause of cancer-related mortality in KSA and Kuwait and the fifth in Sudan, Oman, Libya and Yemen, respectively, respectively [2, 14, 15] (Table 1).

3 Risk Factors of Hepatocellular Carcinoma in the MENA Region

As in various world regions, hepatocellular carcinoma in the MENA region has several risk factors, including cirrhosis caused by chronic viral hepatitis, alcohol consumption, NAFLD, male gender, exposure to hepatotoxins such as aflatoxin ingestion, exposure to inorganic arsenic and some chemicals, and metabolic factors such as iron overload states and obesity and exogenous (oral contraceptive pill) or endogenous hormones [24]. The attributable population fraction (PAF) of risk factors for HCC varies in different MENA countries.

3.1 Chronic Hepatitis B and C Infections

The MENA region includes some of the countries most affected by viral hepatitis worldwide, and the burden of HCC in a given country parallels the prevalence of HBV or HCV. Various socioeconomic factors and treatment policies contribute to the high incidence of HBV and HCV infections. The MENA region demonstrates diversity in hepatitis B and C genotype distributions and transmission modes of both viruses [25, 26]. Hepatitis C- and hepatitis B-related cirrhosis and chronic hepatitis B are responsible for 80% of HCC cases [27].

3.1.1 Hepatitis B Infections in MENA Countries

Chronic HBV is a significant risk factor for hepatocellular carcinoma worldwide. Patients with chronic hepatitis B have a 25–40% lifetime risk of developing. Chronic hepatitis B results in ongoing inflammation that may progress to liver fibrosis and cirrhosis, which is an essential risk for HCC. HBV can also cause HCC in the absence of cirrhosis by integrating HBV DNA into the host genome, inducing genomic instability, and direct insertional mutagenesis of diverse cancer-related genes. Several factors increase HCC risk among patients with chronic HBV, such as male sex, older age, higher levels of HBV viremia, HBeAg positivity, HBV genotype D, longer duration of infection, coinfection with HCV, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), or hepatitis D virus [28, 29].

The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that the prevalence of chronic HBV infection in the MENA region ranges from low intermediate (2-4%) in most MENA countries to high intermediate (5–7%) in Sudan. The HBV prevalence rate is 5.1% in Yemen, 3.6% in Algeria, and 3.5% in Kuwait [26]. In Saudi Arabia, a cross-sectional study on 74,662 Saudis recruited from the general Saudi population showed that the prevalence rate of HBV was 1.3%, which is lower than older studies that estimated the prevalence to be 3.2% [30]. Chronic HBV infection is the risk factor for HCC in Iran, Saudi Arabia, Lebanon, UAE, Oman, Qatar, Turkey, and Israel [1, 25, 26, 28, 30] (Fig. 3). HBV genotype is also crucial in determining the risk for HCC since HBV genotype D patients carry a higher risk for HCC than patients with genotype A. HBV genotype D is the prevalent genotype in Turkey, Iran, Saudi Arabia, UAE, and Bahrain [3, 25, 31-33].

Most MENA countries implemented nationwide obligatory HBV vaccination, and about 68% of the countries achieved the target, which is HBV immunization of 80% of the newborns [34, 35]. HBV vaccination resulted in the decline of new HBV cases. However, the armed conflicts and unstable political conditions in Yemen, Syria, Libya, and Sudan hindered adequate HBV immunization in these countries.

3.1.2 Hepatitis C Infections in MENA Countries

Globally, the World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that in 2017, there were 1.75 million new HCV infections in the world (23.7 new HCV infections per 100,000 people) and 71 million people suffer from chronic HCV infection, with a significant number of these developing cirrhosis or hepatocellular carcinoma [27]. Despite the availability of safe, effective direct-acting antiviral therapies for chronic HCV, successfully eradicating HCV from several MENA countries is



The Risk factors of HCC in different MENA Countries

Fig. 3 Risk factors for HCC in MENA countries

challenged by limited testing and diagnosis, barriers for effective treatment of chronic HCV, late presentation, and poor compliance to therapies [36, 37].

HCV-related cirrhosis was by a significant risk factor for HCC in Egypt, Sudan, Libya, Syria, Iraq, Yemen, Algeria, Bahrain, Jordan, Kuwait, Morocco, and Tunisia. Chronic HBV infection is the risk factor for HCC in Iran, Saudi Arabia, Lebanon, UAE, Oman, Qatar, Turkey, and Israel [15–18] (Fig. 3).

The modes of HCV transmission also vary among high-income and middle-income countries and low-income countries, particularly those devastated by armed conflicts, civil war, or political instabilities such as Yemen, Syria, Libya, Iraq, Sudan, and the Palestinian territories. In lowincome countries and countries with political instability and poor health infrastructure, HCV transmission frequently results from inadequate infection control policies, unsafe injections, and exposure to infected blood and blood products in healthcare and community settings.

Injection drug use (IDU) and sharing drug injection equipment. In some MENA countries (Egypt and Sudan), specific traditional practices such as circumcision, home deliveries, and scarification contribute to HCV transmission [26, 38].

The current escalation of immigration from or through the MENA countries particularly in Libya, Morocco, and Algeria towards northwestern countries due to economic, social, or political reasons or civil wars or natural disasters contributed to the elevation of HBV and HCV infections since immigrants often originate from countries with a high burden of viral hepatitis. The overall prevalence of HCV in African immigrants was 7.6% though it varied according to the immigrants' origin, ranging from 5.7% to 10.0% [39]. Therefore a suitable strategy has to be taken to deal with this emerging situation.

Thus, implementing strategies to reduce HCV transmission and adopting programs for early diagnosis and treatment of hepatitis C infections are critical for reducing the burden of HCV-related liver diseases, such as decompensated cirrhosis and HCC in patients with HCV infection.

3.2 Non-alcoholic Liver Disease (NAFLD) and HCC in the MENA Region

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is a significant cause of chronic liver disease world-wide. NAFLD is defined as the liver's fatty infil-

tration in the absence of alcohol abuse or other causes of hepatic steatosis [40]. The spectrum of NAFLD encompasses steatosis, steatohepatitis, and fibrosis to cirrhosis. According to the extent of steatosis and liver injury hepatic histology, the categories of NAFLD include non-alcoholic fatty liver (NAFL) and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) [40, 41].

Reports have associated HCC with NAFLD, obesity, and impaired glucose tolerance, suggesting that NAFLD was a major underlying cause of HCC. Overnutrition and sedentary life contribute to obesity, which may directly predispose HCC and promote glucose intolerance and chronic liver disease, which represent and additional HCC risk [42, 43]. In a study that followed 195 cirrhotic NASH patients for 4 years, 25 patients developed HCC at the end of the study with a cumulative incidence of 2.6% [44]. A US-based population study of 4406 HCC patients showed that 59% of HCC cases were related to NAFLD, compared to 22% associated with HCV and 12% in association with ALD [45].

NAFLD's burden in the MENA region is unclear due to the scarcity of studies from the region. NAFLD prevalence in Kuwait, Saudi

Arabia, south of Iran, and north of Iran was 33.3%, 16.6%, 21.5%, and 43.8%, respectively [46, 47]. In Sudan, a study showed a 20% NAFLD prevalence among the studied group [48]. NAFLD prevalence in Egypt ranges from 16% to 50% among pediatric and adult populations, respectively [49–51]. The prevalence of NAFLD in Turkey is between 48.3% and 60.1% [52] (Fig. 4). NAFLD is closely related to the high prevalence of diabetes mellitus type 2 and obesity in MENA countries, particularly oil-producing countries, due to reduced physical activity, unhealthy diet, and aging. The Middle East and North African countries are countries with a high prevalence of type 2 diabetes. The prevalence of type 2 diabetes is 21.1%, 20.2%, 20.2%, 20.0%, 19.9%, 19.2%, 19.1%, and 16.5% in Kuwait, Lebanon, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Bahrain, UAE, Sudan, and Turkey, respectively [53, 54].

To date, studies investigating the role of NAFLD, obesity, and metabolic syndromes as risk factors for HCC in the MENA region are lacking. However, a study from Egypt reported that 33% of patients with chronic HCV had associated type II diabetes mellitus (D.M.). Cirrhosis was more prevalent among diabetic HCV cases,



and the fibrosis score was higher in diabetic HCV patients than in nondiabetic HCV cases. Given the progressive rise of NAFLD and the expected decline in viral hepatitis in the MENA region, it is critical to conduct epidemiological studies to assess the potential contribution of NAFLD, obesity, and diabetes in the evolution of HCC in these countries.

3.3 Alcohol Consumption as a Risk Factor for HCC in MENA

Heavy alcohol consumption and alcoholic liver disease are not significant risk factors for HCC in MENA countries, given that Islam, the predominant religion in MENA nations, prohibits alcohol drinking. However, MENA countries embrace a population of different ethnic backgrounds and religious beliefs. Studies from some MENA countries showed that alcohol contributed to a percentage of HCC (Figs. 3 and 5).

3.4 Aflatoxins and Chemicals as Risk Factors for HCC in the MENA Region

Aflatoxins are toxic and carcinogenic chemicals produced primarily by the fungi Aspergillus flavus and Aspergillus parasiticus and infect crops such as maize, peanuts, and nuts. Aflatoxins are Group 1 human carcinogens and potent hepatocarcinogens. Exposure to high doses of aflatoxins causes acute hepatitis, while chronic exposure causes HCC [11]. Aflatoxin exposure synergizes with chronic hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection to increase HCC in countries and populations with both risk factors. High aflatoxin exposure and HBV are prevalent in many parts of the developing world, particularly in Asia and Africa [55, 56]. The population-attributable risk of aflatoxins to HCC in the MENA region is unclear due to the rarity of such studies.

Egypt has a high prevalence of HCC, which is mostly due to HCV-related cirrhosis. However, the widespread use of pesticides and contamination of some cereals by aflatoxin B1 in rural areas



Fig. 5 The contribution of alcohol as a risk factor for HCC in some MENA countries

contribute partly to the burden of HCC in this country, in which agriculture is an important occupation of Egyptians [57–59]. Dietary aflatoxin exposure in Egypt is 7–57 ng/kg bw/day, which is relatively high [60]. Co-occurrence of aflatoxin and HCV in the Egyptian population has been shown in various epidemiological studies to be common [58, 59]. The interactions between HCV and aflatoxin and the role of both factors on the evolution and high prevalence of HCC in Egypt are intriguing and warrant further studies.

3.5 Iron Overload States as Risk Factors for HCC in the MENA Region

Hereditary hemochromatosis (H.H.) is the most common autosomal recessive disorder with a prevalence of 1 in 300 to 500 individuals. H.H. types 2, 3, and 4 are seen worldwide. In contrast, Type 1 form is mostly seen in Caucasian people of northern European descent. H.H. is characterized by an increased intestinal iron absorption, resulting in a progressive iron accumulation in the liver, heart, and pancreas, leading to progressive dysfunction [61]. HCC is a long-term complication of H.H. Patients with genetic hemochromatosis are 23 times more likely to have HCC than healthy individuals [62]. In a Swiss cohort, HCC occurred in 9% of all H.H. patients [63]. The prevalence of H.H. in the MENA region is unknown. No data is available on H.H.'s potential role as a risk factor for HCC in MENA countries.

Thalassemia is an inherited disease with worldwide distribution. However, the burden of β -thalassemia is exceptionally high in the MENA region, particularly Iran, Lebanon, Syria, Egypt, KSA, UAE, and North Africa. Consanguinity in several MENA countries contributes to its high prevalence in the region. Hemoglobinopathies, particularly thalassemia, are associated with iron overload due to repeated blood transfusion, which is the principal treatment of thalassemia patients. Several studies showed an increase in the incidence of HCC in patients with thalassemia.

semias, mainly in Italy and Greece [64]. A study showed that HCC was the most frequent malignancy in 3652 Greek thalassemic patients diagnosed between 1985 and 2018. An Egyptian study showed that patients with acute HCV and thalassemia have low rates of spontaneous resolution of HCV infection, and the majority develop chronic HCV, accelerated hepatic fibrosis, cirrhosis, and HCC in thalassemia patients with chronic HCV. Thus, HCV prevention and early treatment are critical for the prevention of HCC in this population [65].

4 Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Selected MENA Countries

4.1 Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Yemen

Yemen has been in armed conflict and political instability since 2015 and is suffering the worst humanitarian crisis in the world. The war has devastated the economy, destroyed the healthcare infrastructure, and resulted in severe food and clean water shortage. Yemen is considered the poorest country in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA), where 80% of the population are "at-risk" of hunger and disease. The COVID-19 crisis in 2020 further deteriorated the socioeconomic conditions and devastated the public infrastructure. Thus, updated data about the incidence and prevalence of liver cancer in Yemen are scarce, given the ongoing and political war instability.

In 2018, 620 new cases were reported from Yemen and 595 mortalities with a cumulative risk of 0.51%. The age-adjusted death rate is 3.18 per 100,000 population. HCC is the seventh frequent cancer in Yemen and represents the fifth cause of cancer-related mortalities [1, 14, 66]. An 8-year survey (2001–2008) showed that HCC is more prevalent in Yemeni men, mostly farmers, with an age range of 26–75 years (mean 53.5 \pm 13.9 years). The overall mortality rate within 6 months of hospital admission was 24.3%. Chronic hepatitis B virus infection (48.2%) and hepatitis C virus infection (38.2%) were the most frequently identified risk factors among Yemeni patients with HCC. Qat chewing and smoking were not statistically significant risk factors.

4.2 HCC in Libya

Libya is the second-largest country in North Africa. Libya used to be the wealthiest country in North Africa, a significant oil producer country with a small population. However, the ongoing political conflict and the weak security conditions have taken a severe toll on the Libyan economy. oil production, and healthcare infrastructure. The Libyan economy has been seriously affected by the intensifying conflict, which suffocates economic activity, the oil fields' closure, the decreasing oil, and the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. These factors resulted in a significant deterioration of health services, a rise in communicable and non-communicable diseases, and poor outcomes of all cancers. In the absence of a strong government and the security gap, Libya became a transit point for illegal immigration towards Northern European countries and a final destination for African illegal immigrants.

According to the latest WHO data published in 2018, HCC deaths in Libya reached 228 or 0.73% of total deaths. The age-adjusted death rate is 6.13 per 100,000 population [2, 14]. A study conducted in Banighazi showed that HCC represented 5% of cancers in this region and ranked 12th [67].

Chronic HBV and HCV infection are an important risk factor for HCC in Libya [2]. A national study conducted in Libya showed that HCV was most prevalent among intravenous drug users (7.4%), followed by thalassemia patients receiving repeated blood transfusion (2.7%) and those who had a surgical operation (2.3%) or hospital admission (1.9%). Genotype 1 was the most frequent among all regions (19.7–40.5%), reaching the highest value in the Tripoli region, followed by genotype 4, which was more

prevalent in the South (49.3%) and West (40.0%) regions. Genotype 3 was higher in Tripoli (21.3%) and East (15.9%) regions, while genotype 2 was common in North (23.6%) and South (22.5%) regions [68–70].

4.3 HCC in Syria

Syria's health system has been severely disrupted since the eruption of armed conflict in 2011. More than 50% of the country's public hospitals are not functioning. Up to 70% of the health workforce has fled Syria resulting in severe shortages in health facilities and qualified health personnel and failure of healthcare services and disruption of vaccination programs. Preventable diseases, particularly measles and HBV, reappeared in Syria due to the drop of vaccination coverage from 95% in 2010 to less than 40% in 2013 [71]. A retrospective study conducted between April 2014 and December 2015 on 171 Syrian refugee children aged between 0 and 18 years showed that about 5% were HBsAg and anti-HBc total positive and anti-HBs negative. HBV genotype D was the predominant type [72–74].

According to 2018 data [1], 380 new HCC cases occurred in Syria. The age-adjusted death rate is 5.25 per 100,000 of population or 0.39% of total deaths. In Syria, HCV, HBV, and alcohol contributed to 32, 14, and 19% of HCC cases, respectively [75].

References

- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, Bray F. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2021;71(3):209-49. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33538338/.
- Ferlay J, Ervik M, Lam F, Colombet M, Mery L, Piñeros M, et al. GLOBOCAN 2018, global and regional estimates of the incidence and mortality for 36 cancers global cancer observatory: cancer today. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2018. Available online at: https://gco.iarc.fr/today. Accessed 1 Oct 2020.

- Petrick JL, McGlynn KA. The changing epidemiology of primary liver cancer. Curr Epidemiol Rep. 2019;6:104–11.
- Thrift AP, El-Serag HB, Kanwal F. Global epidemiology and burden of HCV infection and HCVrelated disease. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;14(2):122.
- Kulik L, El-Serag HB. Epidemiology and management of hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2019;156:477–91.
- Fracanzani AL, Conte D, Fraquelli M, Taioli E, Mattioli M, Losco A, Fargion S. Increased cancer risk in a cohort of 230 patients with hereditary hemochromatosis in comparison to matched control patients with non-iron-related chronic liver disease. Hepatology. 2001;33:647–51.
- Borgna-Pignatti C, Garani MC, Forni GL, Cappellini MD, Cassinerio E, Fidone C, Spadola V, Maggio A, Restivo Pantalone G, Piga A, Longo F, Gamberini MR, Ricchi P, Costantini S, D'Ascola D, Cianciulli P, Lai ME, Carta MP, Ciancio A, Cavalli P, Putti MC, Barella S, Amendola G, Campisi S, Capra M, Caruso V, Colletta G, Volpato S. Hepatocellular carcinoma in thalassaemia: an update of the Italian Registry. Br J Haematol. 2014;167:121–6.
- Papadopoulos N, Kountouras D, Malagari K, Tampaki M, Theochari M. Koskinas characteristics and prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma in multi-transfused patients with β-thalassemia. Experience of a single tertiary center. J Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis. 2020;12(1):e2020013.
- Regenboog M, van Dussen L, Verheij J, Weinreb NJ, Santosa D, Vom Dahl S, Häussinger D, Müller MN, Canbay A, Rigoldi M, Piperno A, Dinur T, Zimran A, Mistry PK, Salah KY, Belmatoug N, Kuter DJ, Hollak CEM. Hepatocellular carcinoma in Gaucher disease: an international case series. J Inherit Metab Dis. 2018;41(5):819–27.
- Rudnick DA, Perlmutter DH. Alpha-1-antitrypsin deficiency: a new paradigm for hepatocellular carcinoma in genetic liver disease. Hepatology. 2005;42(3):514–21.
- Kew MC. Aflatoxins as a cause of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gastrointestin Liver Dis. 2013;22(3):305–10.
- 12. Zhang W, He H, Zang M, Wu Q, Zhao H, Lu LL, Ma P, Zheng H, Wang N, Zhang Y, He S, Chen X, Wu Z, Wang X, Cai J, Liu Z, Sun Z, Zeng YX, Qu C, Jiao Y. Genetic features of aflatoxin-associated hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2017;153(1):249–262.e2.
- Population trends and challenges in the Middle East and North Africa. (Internet) available at https://www. prb.org/populationtrendsandchallengesinthemiddleeastandnorthafrica/. Accessed 4 Oct 2020.
- National Cancer Institute; Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results Program (SEER) Liver cancer. (Internet) available at: https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/livibd.html. Accessed 1 Oct 2020.
- 15. National Cancer Institute; Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results Program (SEER) Liver and

Intrahepatic Bile Duct Cancer, CSR 1975-2015: (Internet) available at https://seer.cancer.gov/archive/ csr/1975_2015/results_merged/sect_14_liver_bile. pdf. Accessed 1 Oct 2020.

- WHO International Agency for Research in Cancer (IARC). Liver cancer in Egypt. (Internet) available at: https://gco.iarc.fr/today/data/factsheets/ populations/818-egypt-fact-sheets.pdf. Accessed 5 Oct 2020.
- 17. Lehman EM, Wilson ML. Epidemiology of hepatitis viruses among hepatocellular carcinoma cases and healthy people in Egypt: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Cancer. 2009;124(3):690–7.
- 18. Talaat M, Afifi S, Reaves EJ, Abu Elsood H, El-Gohary A, Refaey S, Hammad R, Abdel Fadeel M, Kandeel A. Evidence of sustained reductions in the relative risk of acute hepatitis B and C virus infections, and the increasing burden of hepatitis a virus infection in Egypt: comparison of sentinel acute viral hepatitis surveillance results, 2001-17. BMC Infect Dis. 2019;19(1):159.
- Rashed WM, Kandeil MAM, Mahmoud MO, Ezzat S. Hepatocellular Carcinoma (HCC) in Egypt: a comprehensive overview. J Egypt Natl Canc Inst. 2020;32(1):5.
- 20. EL Kassas M, Funk A, Salaheldin M, Shimhawa Y, ElTabakh M, et al. Increased recurrence rates of hepatocellular carcinoma after DAA therapy in a hepatitis C-infected Egyptian cohort: a comparative analysis. J Viral Hepat. 2018;25(6):623–30.
- Abdelaziz AO, Nabil MM, Abdelmaksoud AH, Shousha HI, Cordie AA, Hassan EM, Omran DA, Leithy R, Elbaz TM. De-novo versus recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma following direct-acting antiviral therapy for hepatitis C virus. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;30(1):39–43.
- Liver Cancer Incidence Tables 2013. (Internet) available at: www.health.gov.il/PublicationsFiles/ICR/ Liver2013_1.xls. Accessed 5 Oct 2020.
- 23. Ekinci O, Baran B, Ormeci A, Soyer OM, Gokturk S, Evirgen S, et al. Current state and clinical outcome in Turkish patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Hepatol. 2018;10(1):51–61.
- El-Serag HB. Hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(12):1118–27.
- 25. Specialist Panel on Chronic Hepatitis B in the Middle East. A review of chronic hepatitis B epidemiology and management issues in selected countries in the Middle East. Viral Hepatol. 2012;19(1):9–22.
- Global hepatitis report, 2017. (Internet) available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/globalhepatitis-report-2017. Accessed 5 Oct 2020.
- 27. Chaabna K, Cheema S, Abraham A, Alrouh H, Lowenfels AB, Maisonneuve P, Mamtani R. Systematic overview of hepatitis C infection in the Middle East and North Africa. World J Gastroenterol. 2018;24(27):3038–54.
- 28. Venook AP, Papandreou C, Furuse J, de Guevara LL. The incidence and epidemiology of hepatocel-

lular carcinoma: a global and regional perspective. Oncologist. 2010;15:5–13.

- Guerrieri F, Belloni L, Pediconi N, Levrero M. Molecular mechanisms of HBV-associated hepatocarcinogenesis. Semin Liver Dis. 2013;33:147–56.
- Aljumah AA, Babatin M, Hashim A, Abaalkhail F, Bassil N, Safwat M, Sanai FM. Hepatitis B care pathway in Saudi Arabia: current situation, gaps and actions. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2019;25(2):73–80.
- 31. Ozdemir FT, Duman D, Ertem D, Avşar E, Eren F, Ozdoğan O, Kalayci C, Aslan N, Bozdayi AM, Tözün N. Determination of hepatitis B genotypes in patients with chronic hepatitis B virus infection in Turkey. Turk J Gastroenterol. 2005;16(4):183–7.
- 32. Abdo AA, Al-Jarallah BM, Sanai FM, Hersi AS, Al-Swat K, Azzam NA, Al-Dukhayil M, Al-Maarik A, Al-Faleh FZ. Hepatitis B genotypes: relation to clinical outcome in patients with chronic hepatitis B in Saudi Arabia. World J Gastroenterol. 2006;12(43):7019–24.
- 33. Janahi EM, Ilyas Z, Al-Othman S, Darwish A, Sanad SJ, Almusaifer B, Al-Mannai M, Golbahar J, Perna S. Hepatitis B virus genotypes in the Kingdom of Bahrain: prevalence, gender distribution and impact on hepatic biomarkers. Medicina (Kaunas). 2019;55(10):622.
- 34. WHO. Regional action plan for the implementation of the global health sector strategy on viral hepatitis 2017–2021; 2017. Available from: http:// apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/258729. Accessed: 12/10/2020.
- 35. Akyıldız M, Ahiskli E, Zeybel M, Yurdadin C. Regional epidemiology, burden, and management of hepatitis B virus in the Middle East. Clin Liver Dis. 2019;14(6):212–4.
- Blach S, Sanai FM. HCV Burden and Barriers to Elimination in the Middle East. Clin Liver Dis (Hoboken). 2020;14(6):224–7.
- World Health Organization. Global health sector strategy on viral hepatitis, 2016-2021 towards ending viral hepatitis. Geneva: WHO; 2016.
- 38. Mahmud S, Kouyoumjian SP, Al Kanaani Z, et al. Individual-level key associations and modes of exposure for hepatitis C virus infection in the Middle East and North Africa: a systematic synthesis. Ann Epidemiol. 2018;28:452–61.
- ECDC. Assessing the burden of key infectious diseases affecting migrant populations in the EU/EEA. http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Publications/ assessing-burden-disease-migrant-populations.pdf. Accessed 8/10/2020.
- 40. Chalasani N, Younossi Z, Lavine JE, Charlton M, Cusi K, Rinella M, Harrison SA, Brunt EM, Sanyal AJ. The diagnosis and management of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: practice guidance from the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatology. 2018;67:328–57.
- 41. Wong VW, Wong GL, Choi PC, Chan AW, Li MK, Chan HY, Chim AM, Yu J, Sung JJ, Chan HL. Disease progression of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a prospective study with paired liver biopsies at 3 years. Gut. 2010;59:969–74.

- Golabi P, Rhea L, Henry L, Younossi ZM. Hepatocellular carcinoma and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatol Int. 2019;13(6):688–94.
- Reeves HL, Zaki MY, Day CP. Hepatocellular carcinoma in obesity, type 2 diabetes, and NAFLD. Dig Dis Sci. 2016;61(5):1234–45.
- 44. Ascha MS, Hanouneh IA, Lopez R, et al. The incidence and risk factors of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology. 2010;51:1972–8.
- 45. Sanyal A, Poklepovic A, Moyneur E, et al. Population-based risk factors and resource utilization for HCC: U.S. perspective. Curr Med Res Opin. 2010;26:2183–91.
- 46. Ramezani-Binabaj M, Motalebi M, Karimi-Sari H, Rezaee-Zavareh MS, Alavian SM. Are women with polycystic ovarian syndrome at a high risk of nonalcoholic Fatty liver disease; a meta-analysis. Hepat Mon. 2014;14(11):e23235. https://doi.org/10.5812/ hepatmon.23235.
- 47. Sohrabpour A, Rezvan H, Amini-Kafiabad S, Dayhim M, Merat S, Pourshams A. Prevalence of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis in Iran: a population based study. Middle East J Dig Dis. 2010;2(1):14–9.
- 48. Almobarak AO, Barakat S, Khalifa MH, Elhoweris MH, Elhassan TM, Ahmed MH. Non alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) in a Sudanese population: what is the prevalence and risk factors? Arab J Gastroenterol. 2014;15(1):12–5.
- 49. Ahmed AM, Hassan MS, Abd-Elsayed A, Hassan H, Hasanain AF, Helmy A. Insulin resistance, steatosis, and fibrosis in Egyptian patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2011;17(4):245–51.
- El-Koofy NM, El-Karaksy HM, Mandour IM, Anwar GM, El-Raziky MS, El-Hennawy AM. Genetic polymorphisms in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in obese Egyptian children. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2011;17(4):265–70.
- el-Karaksy HM, el-Koofy NM, Anwar GM, el-Mougy FM, el-Hennawy A, Fahmy ME. Predictors of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in obese and overweight Egyptian children: single center study. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2011;17(1):40–6.
- Yılmaz Y, Kanı HT, Demirtaş CÖ, Kaya E, Sapmaz AF, Qutranji L, et al. Growing burden of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in Turkey: a single-center experience. Turk J Gastroenterol. 2019;30(10):892–8.
- Boutayeb A, Lamlili ENM, Boutayeb W, Maamri A, Ziyyat A, Ramdani N. The rise of diabetes prevalence in the Arab region. Open J Epidemiol. 2012;2:55–60.
- 54. Beyhan S, Yildiz O, Kalaca T, Gedik S, Dinccag D, et al. Twelve-year trends in the prevalence and risk factors of diabetes and prediabetes in Turkish adults. Eur J Epidemiol. 2013;28(2):169–80.
- 55. Williams JH, Phillips TD, Jolly PE, Stiles JK, Jolly CM, Aggarwal D. Human aflatoxicosis in developing countries: a review of toxicology, exposure, potential health consequences, and interventions. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004;80(5):1106–22.

- Umer RE, Kuijsten A, Kadaru AMY, Kok FJ, Idris MO, Khidir IME, et al. Population-attributable risk of dietary aflatoxins and hepatitis B virus infection with respect to hepatocellular carcinoma. Nutr Cancer. 2004;48(1):15–21.
- 57. Ezzat S, Abdel-Hamid M, Eissa SA, Mokhtar N, Labib NA, El-Ghorory L, Mikhail NN, Abdel-Hamid A, Hifnawy T, Strickland GT, Loffredo CA. Associations of pesticides, HCV, HBV, and hepatocellular carcinoma in Egypt. Int J Hyg Environ Health. 2005;208:329–39.
- Abdel-Wahab M, Mostafa M, Sabry M, El-Farrash M, Yousef T. Aflatoxins as a risk factor for hepatocellular carcinoma in Egypt, mansoura gastroenterology center study. Hepato-Gastroenterology. 2008;55:1754–9.
- 59. Soliman AS, Hung C-W, Tsodikov A, Seifeldin IA, Ramadan M, Al-Gamal D, Schiefelbein EL, Thummalapally P, Dey S, Ismail K. Epidemiologic risk factors of hepatocellular carcinoma in a rural region of Egypt. Hepatol Int. 2010;4:681–90.
- Liu Y, Chang CH, Marsh GM, Wu F. Population attributable risk of aflatoxin-related liver cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Cancer. 2012;48:2125–36.
- 61. Elmberg M, Hultcrantz R, Ekbom A, et al. Cancer risk in patients with hereditary hemochromatosis and in their first-degree relatives. Gastroenterology. 2003;125:1733–41.
- 62. Yamauchi R, Takata K, Shinagawa K, Tanaka T, Fukuda F, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma arising in a non-cirrhotic liver with secondary hemochromatosis. Intern Med. 2019;58(5):661–5.
- 63. Nowak A, Giger RS, Krayenbuehl P-A. Higher age at diagnosis of hemochromatosis is the strongest predictor of the occurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma in the Swiss hemochromatosis cohort: a prospective longitudinal observational study. Medicine (Baltimore). 2018;97(42):e12886.
- 64. Kourakli A, Diamantidis MD, Skafidas ME, Delicou S, Pantelidou D, Fragodimitri C, Vlachaki E, Lafioniatis S, Petropoulou F, Eftychiadis E, Kapsali E, Kalpaka A, Zissis C, Koutsouka F, Vasileiadi A, Goula A, Giasari P, Katsatou M, Lafiatis I, Klironomos E, Kaiafas P, Kyriacopoulou D, Lazaris V, Maragkos K, Fotiou P, Chalkia P, Schiza V, Kattamis A, Symeonidis A. Hepatitis C virus infection, but not hepatic iron overload is the dominant risk factor for

the manifestation of hepatocellular carcinoma among Greek thalassemic patients. Blood. 2018;132:2347.

- 65. Kamal S, Abdulhakam S, Ghoraba D, Mohsen MA, Hassan H, Abdel Sallam A, Nabeigh. The course of hepatitis C infection and response to anti-viral therapy in patients with thalassemia major and hepatitis C infection: a longitudinal, prospective study. Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis. 2019;11(1):e2019060.
- 66. Jawass MA, Al-Ezzi JI, Bin Gouth HS, Bahwal SA, Bamatraf FF, Ba'amer AA. Pattern of malignancies in children <15 years of age reported in Hadhramout Cancer Registry, Yemen between 2002 and 2014. Saudi Med J. 2016;37(5):513–20.
- Bodalal Z, Azzuz R, Bendardaf R. Cancers in Eastern Libya: first results from Benghazi Medical Center. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20(20):6293–301.
- 68. Daw MA, Shabash A, El-Bouzedi A, Dau A, in association with the Libyan Study Group of Hepatitis & HIV. Seroprevalence of HBV, HCV & HIV coinfection and risk factors analysis in Tripoli-Libya. PLoS One. 2014;9(6):e98793.
- 69. Daw MA, El-Bouzedi A. Prevalence of hepatitis B and hepatitis C infection in Libya: results from a national population based survey. BMC Infect Dis. 2014;14:17.
- Daw A, El-Bouzedi A, Ahmed MO, Dau AA, Agnan MM, Drah AM. Geographic integration of hepatitis C virus: a global threat. World J Virol. 2016;5(4):170–82.
- Mahjour J. WHO warns of increased risk of disease epidemics in Syria and in neighbouring countries. http://www.emro.who.int/press-releases/2013/ disease-epidemics-syria.html.
- Bashour H, Muhjazi G. Hepatitis B and C in the Syrian Arab Republic: a review. East Mediterr Health J. 2016;22(4):267–73.
- Yazaji W, Habbal W, Monem F. Seropositivity of hepatitis B and C among Syrian multitransfused patients. Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis. 2016;8(1):e2016046.
- 74. Antaki N, Haffar S, Ali DS, et al. High prevalence of HBV genotype D in Syria and the clinical characteristics of hepatitis B e antigen-negative chronic hepatitis B. Epidemiol Infect. 2010;138(1):40–4.
- Yapali S, Tozun N. Epidemiology and viral risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma in the Eastern Mediterranean countries. Hepatoma Res. 2018;4(6):24.



Current HCC Clinical and Research in Egypt

Wafaa M. Rashed

1 Incidence and Risk Factors

1.1 Incidence

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is the most common form of primary liver cancer. Egypt is the most populous country in the Middle East and the 14th most populous country in the world. The health authority in Egypt considers HCC as the most important health problem due to its increased incidence by twofold over a decade [1]. Using the incidence data of GLOBOCAN 2018 collected from Aswan, Damietta, and Minia cancer registries in Egypt, liver cancer showed high incidence (19.7% of the total cancer cases) and high cancer-related mortality (32.35% of the total cancer deaths) [2, 3]. This increased incidence of HCC in Egypt may be attributed to advancements in screening and diagnostic tools, as well as increased survival rate among cirrhotic patients, providing more time for HCC progression. This is in addition to increased incidence and complications of hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection, one of the most important risk factors for HCC in Egypt.

Research Department-Children's Cancer Hospital Egypt (CCHE), Cairo, Egypt e-mail: waffa.rashed@57357.org

In global and Egyptian populations, HCC incidence shows gender variation. It represents the second and the sixth most common cancer in men and women, respectively [4]. Biological and environmental reasons play key roles in this gender variation. Biological reasons are attributed to sex hormones [5] as well as the difference in epigenetic and immune response, but an Egyptian study showed no clear relation between sex hormones levels and HCC [6]. The environmental reasons for HCC gender variation may be attributed to higher rate of men exposure to liver carcinogens (e.g., occupational exposure to chemical compounds, tobacco smoking, and alcohol) as well as other infectious risk factors especially hepatitis viral infection (both hepatitis B virus "HBV" and HCV) [7, 8].

In Egypt, as urban residents have better access to medical facilities, higher HCC incidence among urban population was detected, while HCC incidence among rural residents is undercounted [4, 9].

1.2 Risk Factors

Both HBV and HCV represent the major infectious risk factors for HCC in Egypt. Variability in the frequency of both HBV- and HCV-associated HCC in Egyptian patients is due to the variability in and the selectivity of the population studied (geographic region) as well as inconsistent viral testing methods used (Table 1).

W. M. Rashed (🖂)

	Reference	[10]	[11]	[12]	[13]	[14]	[15]	[16]	[2]	[17]	[18]	[19]	[20]
	Notes (bilharziasis infection/treatment/ residency/other notes)	Tartar emetic injection detected in 66.9% of the patients. 75% of patients came from rural area	Patients was from rural area.	More than 97% of patients came from around the Nile River. Bilharziasis was prevalent in 71.4% of patients	Patients were from rural area	1	1	Anti-Schistosoma IgG was detected in 21.2% of cases	Patients were from rural area. 79.38% of HCC patients have anti-schistosomal antibodies	Among Egyptian women, multiple pregnancies increased the HCV-related risk for HCC	63.5% of HCC cases are from rural area	About 28% of HCC patients came from urban area	1
	HCV/HBV co-infection, N(%)	35 (2.67)	1	45 (11.2)	29 (10.32)	12 (37.5)	I	I	I	I	1	1	28 (40)
0	HCV Ab, N(%)	1199 (91.32)	132 (89.2)	260 (64.4)	186 (66.19)	22 (68.8)	31 (51.66)	25 (75.8)	1366 (79.38)	107 (81.1)	204 (86.44)	99/131 (76)	20 (30)
	HBsAg, N(%)	33 (2.51)	I	70 (17.5)	26 (9.25)	15 (46.9)	19 (31.66)	5 (15.2)	47 (3.26)	85 (64.4)	18 (7.62)	95/129 (74)	15 (21.4)
	Total study subjects/age	1313/ range = 21->80 years.	148/range = $18-81$ years	403/range = 18–80 years	281/mean = 53.7 years	32/range = 42 – 72 years	- /09	33/mean = 55.2 years	1440/-	132 (females)/ mean = 52.2 years	236/mean = 54.1 years	131/range = $18-80$ years	70/-
	Study period	Jan. 2009 to Dec. 2011	Dec. 2007 to Jan. 2009	1993 to 1999	Mar. 2009 to Feb. 2012	I	I	Jul. 1995 to Jan. 1996	Jan. 2005 to Jan. 2015	1999–2009	I	I	1
	Institution	Ain Shams University nospitals	Fanta Cancer center and the Gharbiah Cancer society	National Cancer Institute, Cairo University	Tanta University hospitals	National Liver Institute, Menoufia university	National Liver institute, Menoufia Iniversity	National Cancer Institute, Cairo University	Fropical medicine Department in Tanta University Hospital	National Cancer Institute, Cairo University	National Cancer Institute, Cairo University	National Cancer Institute, Cairo University	National Cancer Institute, Cairo University

Table 1 Summary of studies reported the frequency of HBV and/or HCV infection among HCC Egyptian patients

HBsAg hepatitis B surface antigen, HCV Ab hepatitis C virus antibody

1.2.1 Hepatitis B Virus (HBV)

Prevalence in Egypt

Between 1980 and 2007, HBV prevalence in Egypt was reported to be 6.7% among the general population and 25.9% among HCC patients [21]. In 2009, there was a decline in the seroprevalence of HBV among the general population, from 2.3% to 0.9% [22]. A cross-sectional analysis of the Egypt Health Issues Survey (EHIS) 2015 gathered from men and women aged 15-59 (15,777 samples) showed a decline in the HBV infection among general population (1.4%) [23]. The discovery of the HBV vaccine in the 1980s [24] and the application of universal infantile hepatitis B vaccination in 1992 were the main reason for this marked decline [25, 26]. Similar to the decline of HBV in the general population, a single-center study reported a decline in HBV among HCCinfected patients from 38.6% to 20.5% as a comparison between two consecutive period time (1993–1997) and (1998–2002), respectively [1]. Another single-center study reported that the percentage of HBV among HCC-infected patients over 10 years (2005–2015) was 3.2% [7].

Globally and in Egypt, transmission of HBV infection is mixed (horizontal and vertical) [8]. According to EHIS 2015 analysis, the most powerful driver of HBV infection in Egypt is sharing a household with a HBV-infected person [23].

HBV Genotype in Egypt

HBV genotypes are associated with differences in geographical distribution, clinical outcome, and the response to the antiviral treatment. Generally, there are eight genotypes [A–H] of HBV. In 2011, HBV genotype D (HBV/D) has been reported to be the most prevalent among Egyptians which is close to that in other Mediterranean countries [27]. Another study showed the presence of HBV genotype E among Egyptian healthcare workers [28].

1.2.2 Hepatitis C Virus (HCV)

Prevalence in Egypt

Egypt represents one of the top global burden with HCV. The annual rate of HCV-associated

HCC is 3.36% [29, 30]. The prevalent HCV infection was caused by a large national treatment campaign of intravenous anti-schistosomal injections (tartar emetic) between the 1950s and 1980s. The target population of this treatment campaign was children and young adults with an average of nine injections/patient, which was reduced to six after 1975. This mass campaign led to increased HCV transmission due to poor sterilization technique, multiple injections over a time period, as well as a major mistake of reusing equipment. Until the 1990s, HCV infection was not known in medical sciences. So, absence of clinical symptoms in nearly 80% of HCV-infected patients treated in this campaign complicated the issue [29, 31–33]. The HCV seroprevalence detected in 1996, 2008, and 2015 by DHS (the Demographic Health Survey) was >40%, 14.7%, and 10%, respectively. This decline in the percentage of HCV seroprevalence between these time points was attributed to the aging of patients infected in the national campaign for schistosomiasis treatment 50 years ago [29].

In addition to the parental anti-schistosomal treatment, there are other risk factors for HCV transmission inside healthcare settings (e.g., blood transfusion) and outside healthcare setting (e.g., sharing personal equipment at home and also during circumcision performed by local healers and barbers in rural areas) [34, 35].

HCV Genotype in Egypt

Out of the seven HCV genotypes, genotype 4 is the most prevalent HCV infection in Egypt, and it represents 92.5% [36–39].

1.2.3 Chemical Compounds

Chemical compounds are an environmental (noninfectious) risk factor for HCC. The occupational activities of many individuals include exposure to a variety of chemical compounds. The liver plays the principal role in the processes of detoxification, metabolism, and excretion. Consequently, HCC can be the result of the adverse effects of many chemical compounds (both organic and inorganic). In Egypt, about one fourth of the population work in agriculture, raising their risk for HCC due to pesticide exposure [8]. Using carbamate and organophosphate compounds in agriculture is an additive HCC risk factor among rural males in addition to other well-documented risk factors (HBV and HCV) [18]. A study in the mid-delta area showed that both pesticides and fertilizers (phosphate and ammonium sulfate) were suggested to be independent HCC risk factors among residents [4].

1.2.4 Aflatoxin B1 (AFB1)

Aflatoxins are toxic metabolites of certain fungi (*Aspergillus flavus* and *A. parasiticum*) and have a well-documented role as a potent hepatocarcinogen. During both cultivation and storage post-harvest, they contaminate food commodities, especially in countries with hot and humid climates. In an Egyptian case-control study, HCC patients had a significant high percent of serum aflatoxin compared to the controls and a two-fold increased risk [40].

Many studies were done to identify the aflatoxin level in food products (local and imported samples) in different Egyptian governorates. Samples were positive for aflatoxins. Both the area of collection and the season of the year are two important factors affecting the aflatoxin level in these samples [40].

The most toxic naturally occurring aflatoxin is aflatoxin B1 (AFB1) that is classified as a group 1 human carcinogen according to the International Agency of Research on Cancer [41]. It has mutagenic effect due to single-base substitution in codon 249 of tumor suppressor p53 gene. This point mutation has been detected in many Egyptian patients with AFB1-associated HCC [42]. In a case-control study, the prevalence of AFB1 was detected in 17% of HCC cases compared to 9.4% of controls. Also, there was a significant high level of AFB1 in HCC patients with both multiple lesions and tumor size >5 cm [43]. Aflatoxinalbumin (AF-alb) adduct is a validated biomarker of aflatoxin exposure. In a pilot study on 46 Egyptian HCC patients, the prevalence of AF-alb adduct was detected in 67.4% of HCC cases [44].

1.2.5 Other HCC Risk Factors

Limited numbers of epidemiological studies investigated the prevalence and association of other global HCC risk factors [8] among Egyptian patients. Family history is one of HCC risk factors, and a single study that included 103 HCC Egyptian patients reported that 21.4% of patients have a family history (1st- and 2nd-degree relatives) of HCC [45]. Also, diabetes is another HCC risk factor. Out of the five studies that showed the prevalence of diabetes among HCC Egyptian patients [4, 7, 45–47], only Ziada et al.'s study confirmed that type 2 diabetes raises HCC risk by two- to three fold [45]. For tobacco smoking, its association with HCC risk among Egyptian patients showed conflicting results [4, 45, 48].

2 Screening and Surveillance

In 2011, the Egyptian Society of Liver Cancer (ESLC) published the Egyptian Guidelines for management of HCC. It recommends for high-risk patients a screening every 4 months using both abdominal ultrasonography (US) and α -fetoprotein (AFP).

High-risk patients include:

- 1. All cirrhotic hepatitis patients with HBV infection, HCV infection, NASH, alcoholic cirrhosis, and genetic hemochromatosis.
- 2. Non-cirrhotic patients with HBV infection (carrier)

The recommended routine screening helps in the discovery of HCC in 33–50% of patients [49, 50], while symptomatic presentation accounted for the rest. Though an Egyptian study documented the effect of HCC surveillance in doubling the chances for the available curative options [51], but till now, there is no HCC surveillance program implemented in Egypt.

3 Diagnosis and Treatment

3.1 Diagnosis

In Egypt, there are many local factors that may affect disease presentation. Although there are seven types of HCC treatment centers [8], their geographical distribution all over Egypt should be reassessed based on the difference of HCC patients' flow from different Egyptian governorates. Also, both the socioeconomic status of the HCC Egyptian patients and the lack of uniform health insurance that cover all Egyptians are additional factors affecting the disease presentation. As such, HCC patients could present with advanced disease due to the unavailability of complementary high-quality diagnostic tools that ensure standard and equal level of care among Egyptians in all Egyptian governorates.

Abdominal pain and jaundice represent the most common clinical presentations of HCC patient [49]. These clinical presentations are different from that in Western and Asian reports and indicate advanced disease stage which is accountable for accelerated liver function deterioration and poor survival outcome. In addition, fatigue, ascites, and, less frequently, cough and encephalopathy are clinical presentations in untreated HCC patients [52].

According to the Egyptian Guidelines for HCC, the diagnosis of HCC is based on tumor size, AFP level, and the triphasic spiral CT scan abdomen or a dynamic contrast MRI \geq 1.5 tesla, whenever recommended.

Both chest/pelvis CT with contrast and bone scan are done for screening HCC metastasis if there is clinical suspicion or symptomatic patient.

3.2 Treatment

An accurate HCC staging at initial diagnosis would be helpful for both determination of the treatment options and the overall disease prognosis. A study that included 2000 HCC Egyptian patients (between January 2010 and December 2012) was done to compare four different staging systems for predicting prognosis and survival. The Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer (BCLC) staging system was the most optimum prognostic system in HCC Egyptian patients, while the Cancer of the Liver Italian Program (CLIP) score is the best in HCC patients not amenable for treatment [50].

There are two therapeutic modalities in HCC: curative treatment and tumor control treatment. Curative treatment includes surgical options [*sur*-

gical resection and liver transplantation] as well as ablative electrochemical therapies [radiofrequency ablation (RFA), microwave ablation (MWA), and percutaneous ethanol injection (PEI)]. The tumor control treatment includes non-ablative treatment [catheter-based embolic therapies and non-catheter-based therapy] and systemic therapies.

Low percentage of patients were diagnosed at an early stage (19.4–32.4%) and were candidates for curative treatment [1, 53]. All curative treatment modalities are available for HCC Egyptian patients [49, 54–56]. For liver transplantation, 19 Egyptian medical centers are currently licensed to perform liver transplantation partially funded by Egyptian government. Between August 2001 and August 2019, HCC cases represent 27% of the total number of living donor liver transplantation (LDLT): 4225 LDLT (personal communication). Most of the patients who received curative treatment showed significantly high survival [49]. This finding sheds light on the importance of early detection of HCC through screening and surveillance of high-risk patients implemented by the Egyptian MOH.

For non-curative treatment, transarterial chemo-embolization (TACE) is the most common tumor control treatment for HCC patients [49, 54, 55]. Also, systemic single or combined cytotoxic chemotherapy drugs are used under Egyptian national insurance as tumor control option. Molecular targeted therapies and immune checkpoint inhibitors are other systemic therapies available in the Egyptian market (cabozanlenvatinib, sorafenib, regorafenib, tinib, nivolumab, pembrolizumab, ramucirumab) [40], but they are expensive therapies whose usage is limited to patients who can afford the cost as they are not available under Egyptian national insurance.

The overall survival of HCC Egyptian patients was reported to be nearly 80% at 6 months, nearly 55% at 1 year, and nearly 20% at 2 years [49, 53]. The median overall survival of untreated HCC patients is 2.3 months [52].

In addition to the most common prognostic factors reported, there are other local factors associated with poor prognosis of HCC among Egyptians. It includes the lack of the state of the art in treatment for HCC covering all Egyptian patients (e.g., lack of health insurance that allows access to treatment, limited certain therapeutic modalities available for HCC patients, and limited resources or access to proper treatment especially molecular targeting therapies and immune checkpoints inhibitors).

4 Preventive Strategy for HCC

The Egyptian Ministry of Health and Population (MOHP) has a critical role in the HCC prevention through primary prevention (early prevention of HCC risk factors) and secondary prevention (treatment of risk factors at an early stage). The most successful strategy to reduce HBV incidence was the compulsory application of Egyptian infantile HBV vaccination program in 1992 [25, 26]. Also, Egyptian MOH exerted great efforts in HCV eradication. In 2006, the Egyptian Ministry of Health (MOH) established the National Committee for Control of Viral Hepatitis (NCCVH). NCCVH put the national treatment strategy for controlling HCV infection. To facilitate application of this strategy, a national network was established between specialized centers in HCV treatment. The main challenge was the high cost of the antiviral medication that should be provided for free or at reduced price to attract HCV-infected patients. In 2014 and with the introduction of direct-acting antivirals (DAAs), NCCVH succeeded to get DAAs at reduced cost after negotiation with manufacturing companies. After 3 years and with local production of DAA generics, the total number of HCV-infected patients treated under this program was more than 2 million patients [38, 57, 58].

In early 2018, a successful nationwide HCV screening and treatment program was launched by Egyptian MOH. Out of 49.6 million persons screened over a period of 7 months, 2.2 million HCV-seropositive persons were identified and referred for treatment in a government-subsidized treatment program. The total cost of this national program including screening, evaluation, and treatment was \$207.1 million [58].

A major threat to the preventive strategies for both HBV and HCV is the instability in the Mediterranean region, due to wars and the Arab Spring, and the resulting immigration to Egypt. This immigration represents a challenge that may affect the epidemiological trends of HBV- and HCV-related HCC. Screening for immigrants is the most convenient solution for this challenge [8].

HCC risk factor prevention health program is another approach for HCC prevention and is highly recommended by the World Gastroenterology Organisation's global guidelines [59]. As well-trained healthcare provider has a vital role to identify patients at risk and refer them for screening and surveillance [60]. Also, two Egyptian studies used education-based intervention program showed promising results among the rural population (high risk) [61, 62].

5 General Overview of HCC-Related Research

On PubMed, the total number of publications about HCC in Egypt is 544 articles [63]. Many Egyptian studies identified some molecular abnormalities in HCC [64, 65]. In the era of advanced technology in molecular biology, other molecular abnormalities can be identified in a wide-scale survey of HCC Egyptian patients. This is highly required for implementation of personalized therapy concept and for improvement of the overall survival of HCC patients. Research biobank can help in the availability of HCC biological specimens for this objective.

5.1 Research Biobank

Research biobank is the organized collection and storage of human biological material for research purposes. It is considered invaluable resource for many types of medical research (e.g., genomic research, proteomics research, precision medicine). The introduction of research biobank concept is recent in Egypt, and its establishment requires both training and funding. That is why there are currently only eight research institutions in Egypt housing biobank repositories. There are continuous efforts in other centers to establish additional repositories. All of these research biobanks are disease-oriented. A tangible research outcome of these biobanks especially in HCC research is not yet attained.

5.2 Clinical Trials

In Egypt, the concept of clinical trials was challenged over many years ago due to the lack of public awareness. That is why the overall number of HCC clinical trials registered on clinicaltrials. gov is low (ten interventional clinical trials). Except for one, all of these clinical trials are phase III. It is predictable that the public awareness about the importance of clinical trials was elevated after the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. Also, on August 24, 2020, the Egyptian parliament as the legislative branch approved a national law to regulate clinical medical research in Egypt and the higher authority attestation on it was done on December 23, 2020. A change in the overall status of clinical trials in Egypt is expected.

The overall status of HCC research requires a focused attention especially in the era of precision medicine. The presence of a national HCC research program with well-determined strategy and goals will optimize resource allocation which is highly important in a low-income country like Egypt. In addition, it will identify gaps in knowledge and optimize collaboration between HCC Egyptian centers and peer international HCC institutions. Government health administration plays a pivotal role in this critical issue.

Acknowledgments The author would like to thank James B. Massengill (Department of Ophthalmology and Visual Science, Havener Eye Institute, Ohio State University) for help with critical reading and English editing of this chapter. The author would like to thank both Prof. Dr. Ibrahim Marwan (Department of Hepatobiliary Surgery, National Liver Institute, Menoufeya University, Menoufeya, Egypt) and Prof. Dr. Khaled E. Amer (Department of Hepatobiliary Surgery, International Medical Center, Cairo, Egypt) in providing data of the total number of liver transplantation done in Egypt.

References

- El-Zayadi AR, Badran HM, Barakat EMF, Attia MED, Shawky S, Mohamed MK, Selim O, Saed A. Hepatocellular carcinoma in Egypt: a single center study over a decade. World J Gastroenterol. 2005;11:5193–8.
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68:394–424.
- Ferlay J, Ervik M, Lam F, Colombet M, Mery L, Piñeros M, Znaor A, Soerjomataram IBF. Global Cancer observatory Cancer today. In: Lyon, France: International agency for research on cancer; 2018. https://gco.iarc.fr/today. Accessed 17 Aug 2020.
- Omar A, Abou-Alfa GK, Khairy A, Omar H. Risk factors for developing hepatocellular carcinoma in Egypt. Chin Clin Oncol. 2013; https://doi.org/10.3978/j. issn.2304-3865.2013.11.07.
- Kanda T, Jiang X, Yokosuka O. Androgen receptor signaling in hepatocellular carcinoma and pancreatic cancers. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20:9229–36.
- El Mahdy KT, Abd Elfatah Badr E, Mohamed Emara M, Ahmed Samy Kohla M, Gamal Saad Michael G. Relation between sex hormones and hepatocellular carcinoma. Andrologia. 2016;48:948–55.
- Abd-Elsalam S, Elwan N, Soliman H, et al. Epidemiology of liver cancer in Nile delta over a decade: a single-center study. South Asian J Cancer. 2018;7:24.
- Rashed WM, Kandeil MAM, Mahmoud MO, Ezzat S. Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in Egypt: a comprehensive overview. J Egypt Natl Canc Inst. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1186/s43046-020-0016-x.
- Lehman EM, Soliman AS, Ismail K, Hablas A, Seifeldin IA, Ramadan M, El-Hamzawy H, Shoushtari CS, Wilson ML. Patterns of hepatocellular carcinoma incidence in Egypt from a population-based cancer registry. Hepatol Res. 2008;38:465–73.
- Shaker MK, Abdella HM, Khalifa MO, Dorry AKE. Epidemiological characteristics of hepatocellular carcinoma in Egypt: a retrospective analysis of 1313 cases. Liver Int. 2013;33:1601–6.
- Schiefelbein E, Zekri AR, Newton DW, Soliman GA, Banerjee M, Hung CHW, Seifeldin IA, Lo ACH, Soliman AS. Hepatitis C virus and other risk factors in hepatocellular carcinoma. Acta Virol. 2012;56:235–40.
- Mohamed N, Elzawahry H, Mokbtar N, Faisal SGEN. Review of epidemiologic and clinicopathologic features of 403 hepatocellular carcinoma patients. Natl J Cancer Inst. 2000;12:87–93.
- El Azm ARA, Yousef M, Salah R, Mayah W, Tawfeek S, Ghorabah H, Mansour N. Serum anti-P53 antibodies and alpha-fetoprotein in patients with non-B non-C hepatocellular carcinoma. Springerplus. 2013;2:1–6.
- Montaser LM, Abbas OM, Saltah AMWI. Circulating AFP mRNA as a possible Indicator of Hematogenous

spread of HCC cells: a possible association with HBV infection. J Egypt Natl Canc Inst. 2007;19:48–60.

- Abd El-Moneim E, Younis FA, Allam N, Gameel KOM. Gene deletion of glutathione S-transferase M1 and T1 and risk factors of hepatocellular carcinoma in Egyptian patients. Egypt J Immunol. 2008;15:125–34.
- Hassan MM, Zaghloul AS, El-Serag HB, Soliman O, Patt YZ, Chappell CL, Beasley RP, Hwang LY. The role of hepatitis C in hepatocellular carcinoma: a case control study among egyptian patients. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2001;33:123–6.
- Amr S, Iarocci EA, Nasr GR, Saleh D, Blancato J, Shetty K, Loffredo CA. Multiple pregnancies, hepatitis C, and risk for hepatocellular carcinoma in Egyptian women. BMC Cancer. 2014; https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2407-14-893.
- Ezzat S, Abdel-Hamid M, Abdel-Latif Eissa S, et al. Associations of pesticides, HCV, HBV, and hepatocellular carcinoma in Egypt. Int J Hyg Environ Health. 2005;208:329–39.
- Yates SC, Hafez M, Beld M, Lukashov VV, Hassan Z, Carboni G, Khaled H, McMorrow M, Attia M, Goudsmit J. Hepatocellular carcinoma in Egyptians with and without a history of hepatitis B virus infection: association with hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection but not with HCV RNA level. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1999;60:714–20.
- Darwish MA, Isaa SA, Aziz AM, Darwish NMSA. Hepatitis C and B viruses, and their association with hepatocellular carcinoma in Egypt-PubMed. J Egypt Public Health Assoc. 1993;68:1–9.
- Madihi S, Syed H, Lazar F, Zyad A, Benani A. A systematic review of the current hepatitis B viral infection and hepatocellular carcinoma situation in Mediterranean countries. Biomed Res Int. 2020;2020:7027169.
- Ismail AM, Ziada HN, Sheashaa HA, Shehab El-Din AB. Decline of viral hepatitis prevalence among asymptomatic Egyptian blood donors: a glimmer of hope. Eur J Intern Med. 2009;20:490–3.
- Ismail SA, Cuadros DF, Benova L. Hepatitis B in Egypt: a cross-sectional analysis of prevalence and risk factors for active infection from a nationwide survey. Liver Int. 2017;37:1814–22.
- Schilsky RL, Nass S, Le Beau MM, Benz EJ. Progress in Cancer research, prevention, and care. N Engl J Med. 2020;383:897–900.
- Salama II, Sami SM, Said ZNA, et al. Effectiveness of hepatitis B virus vaccination program in Egypt: multicenter national project. World J Hepatol. 2015;7:2418–26.
- 26. El Sherbini A, Mohsen SA, Seleem Z, Ghany AA, Moneib A, Abaza AH. Hepatitis B virus among schoolchildren in an endemic area in Egypt over a decade: impact of hepatitis B vaccine. Am J Infect Control. 2006;34:600–2.
- Khaled IAEA, Mahmoud OM, Saleh AF, Bioumie EE. Prevalence of HBV genotypes among Egyptian hepatitis patients. Mol Biol Rep. 2011;38:4353–7.

- Elmaghloub R, Elbahrawy A, El Didamony G, et al. Hepatitis B virus genotype E infection among Egyptian health care workers. J Translat Inter Med. 2017;5:100–5.
- Omran D, Alboraie M, Zayed RA, et al. Towards hepatitis C virus elimination: Egyptian experience, achievements and limitations. World J Gastroenterol. 2018;24:4330–40.
- Alazawi W, Cunningham M, Dearden J, Foster GR. Systematic review: outcome of compensated cirrhosis due to chronic hepatitis C infection. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2010;32:344–55.
- Frank C, Mohamed MK, Strickland GT, et al. The role of parenteral antischistosomal therapy in the spread of hepatitis C virus in Egypt. Lancet. 2000;355:887–91.
- 32. Elgharably A, Gomaa AI, Crossey MME, Norsworthy PJ, Waked I, Taylor-Robinson SD. Hepatitis C in Egypt - past, present, and future. Inter J General Med. 2017;10:1–6.
- 33. Rao MR, Naficy AB, Darwish MA, Darwish NM, Schisterman E, Clemens JD, Edelman R. Further evidence for association of hepatitis C infection with parenteral schistosomiasis treatment in Egypt. BMC Infect Dis. 2002; https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-2-29.
- 34. Razavi H, Waked I, Sarrazin C, et al. The present and future disease burden of hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection with today's treatment paradigm. J Viral Hepat. 2014;21:34–59.
- 35. Yahia M. Global health: a uniquely Egyptian epidemic. Nature. 2011; https://doi.org/10.1038/474S12a.
- Simmonds P, Bukh J, Combet C, et al. Consensus proposals for a unified system of nomenclature of hepatitis C virus genotypes. Hepatology. 2005;42:962–73.
- Blach S, Zeuzem S, Manns M, et al. Global prevalence and genotype distribution of hepatitis C virus infection in 2015: a modelling study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;2:161–76.
- Kouyoumjian SP, Chemaitelly H, Abu-Raddad LJ. Characterizing hepatitis C virus epidemiology in Egypt: systematic reviews, meta-analyses, and metaregressions. Sci Rep. 2018; https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-017-17936-4.
- 39. Smith DB, Bukh J, Kuiken C, Muerhoff AS, Rice CM, Stapleton JT, Simmonds P. Expanded classification of hepatitis C virus into 7 genotypes and 67 subtypes: updated criteria and genotype assignment web resource. Hepatology. 2014;59:318–27.
- 40. Anwar WA, Khaled HM, Amra HA, El-Nezami H, Loffredo CA. Changing pattern of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and its risk factors in Egypt: possibilities for prevention. Mutat Res Rev Mutat Res. 2008;659:176–84.
- 41. IARC Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. Some traditional herbal medicines, some mycotoxins, naphthalene and styrene. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum. 2002;82:1–556.
- 42. El-Kafrawy SA, Abdel-Hamid M, El-Daly M, Nada O, Ismail A, Ezzat S, Abdel-Latif S, Abdel-Hamid A,

Shields PG, Loffredo C. P53 mutations in hepatocellular carcinoma patients in Egypt. Int J Hyg Environ Health. 2005;208:263–70.

- Rahman El-Zayadi A, Abaza H, Shawky S, Mohamed MK, Selim OE, Badran HM. Prevalence and epidemiological features of hepatocellular carcinoma in Egypt - a single center experience. Hepatol Res. 2001;19:170–9.
- 44. Turner PC, Loffredo C, El Kafrawy S, Ezzat S, Eissa SAL, El Daly M, Nada O, Abdel-Hamid M. Pilot survey of aflatoxin–albumin adducts in sera from Egypt. Food Additives and Contaminants - Part A Chemistry, Analysis, Control, Exposure and Risk Assessment. 2008;25:583–7.
- 45. Ziada DH, El Sadany S, Soliman H, Abd-Elsalam S, Salama M, Hawash N, Selim A, Hamisa M, Elsabagh HM. Prevalence of hepatocellular carcinoma in chronic hepatitis C patients in Mid Delta, Egypt: a single center study. J Egypt Natl Canc Inst. 2016;28:257–62.
- 46. Morsy KH, Mahmoud Saif-Al-Islam EMI. Hepatocellular carcinoma in upper Egypt: a retrospective study. ARC J Hepatol Gastroenterol. 2018;3:8–17.
- Bakir AS, A-EZA. Is diabetes mellitus a risk factor for hepatocellular carcinoma in Egyptian patients. J Am Sci. 2012;8:353–8.
- Abou El Azm AR, Yousef M, Mansour N, Awad A, El Dardiry S, Abdel Aziz I. New insights on non-B non-C hepatocellular carcinoma in mid Delta region, Egypt. J Gastrointest Cancer. 2014;45:276–83.
- Redwan A. Hepatocellular carcinoma from diagnosis to treatment: 15 years of challenges and modification of resection strategies. The Egyptian Journal of Surgery. 2016;35:421.
- Gomaa AI, Hashim MS, Waked I. Comparing staging systems for predicting prognosis and survival in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma in Egypt. PLoS One. 2014; https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0090929.
- El-Zayadi AR, Badran HM, Shawky S, Emara S, El-Bareedy A, Sobhi M. Effect of surveillance for hepatocellular carcinoma on tumor staging and treatment decisions in Egyptian patients. Hepatol Int. 2010;4:500–6.
- 52. Salem SE, Zeeneldin A, Darwish A, El-Gammal M, Hussein M, Saadeldin M. Untreated hepatocellular carcinoma in Egypt: outcome and prognostic factors. J Hepatocellul Carcinoma. 2015;2:3.
- 53. Abdelaziz AO, Elbaz TM, Shousha HI, Ibrahim MM, El-Shazli MAR, Abdelmaksoud AH, Aziz OA, Zaki HA, Elattar IA, Nabeel MM. Survival and prognostic factors for hepatocellular carcinoma: an Egyptian multidisciplinary clinic experience. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2014;15:3915–20.

- 54. Waziry R, Gomaa A, Waked I, Dore GJ. Determinants of survival following hepatocellular carcinoma in Egyptian patients with untreated chronic HCV infection in the pre-DAA era. Arab J Gastroenterol. 2018;19:26–32.
- 55. Abdelaziz AO, Shousha HI, Abdelmaksoud AH, Saad Y, Elbaz TM, Soliman ZA, Salah A, Lithy R, Ahmed M, Nabil MM. A new prognostic score can predict survival after hepatocellular carcinoma treatment in a cohort of 1302 Egyptian hepatocellular carcinoma patients. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;30:514–9.
- Amer KE, Marwan I. Living donor liver transplantation in Egypt. Hepatobil Surg Nutrit. 2016;5:98.
- 57. El Kassas M, Alboraie M, Omran D, et al. An account of the real-life hepatitis C management in a single specialized viral hepatitis treatment Centre in Egypt: results of treating 7042 patients with 7 different direct acting antiviral regimens. Exp Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;12:1265–72.
- Waked I, Esmat G, Elsharkawy A, et al. Screening and treatment program to eliminate hepatitis C in Egypt. N Engl J Med. 2020;382:1166–74.
- Ferenci P, Fried M, Labrecque D, et al. World gastroenterology organisation guideline. Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC): a global perspective. J Gastrointestinal Liver Dis JGLD. 2010;19:311–7.
- Hassany SM, Moustafa EFA, El Taher M, Abdeltwab AA, Blum HE. Screening for hepatocellular carcinoma by Egyptian physicians. World J Gastrointestinal Oncol. 2015;7:161–71.
- Yehia SA, Morad WS, Hendy OM, Dorgham LS. Effect of health education intervention on hepatocellular carcinoma risk factor prevention in Menoufia governorate, Egypt. Egyptian Liver J. 2020;10:1–8.
- 62. Saleh DA, Amr S, Jillson IA, Wang JH, Crowell N, Loffredo CA. Preventing hepatocellular carcinoma in Egypt: results of a pilot health education intervention study. BMC Res Notes. 2015;8:384.
- Alboraie M, Youssef N, Sherief AF, et al. Egyptian liver library: an indexed database for liver disease evidence in Egypt. Arab J Gastroenterol. 2019;20:109–13.
- 64. Elwan N, Salem ML, Kobtan A, El-Kalla F, Mansour L, Yousef M, Al-Sabbagh A, Zidan A-AA, Abd-Elsalam S. High numbers of myeloid derived suppressor cells in peripheral blood and ascitic fluid of cirrhotic and HCC patients. Immunol Investig. 2018;47:169–80.
- 65. El-Gebaly F, Abou-saif S, Elkadeem M, Helmy A, Abd-Elsalam S, Yousef M, Elkhouly RA, Amer IF, El-Demerdash T. Study of serum soluble programmed death ligand 1 as a prognostic factor in hepatocellular carcinoma in Egyptian patients. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 2019; https://doi.org/10.2174/156800961966 6190718141647.



Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Turkey: A Review of Disease Epidemiology and Treatment Outcomes

Oya M. Andacoglu, Ramazan Donmez, and Yaman Tokat

1 Introduction

Globally 841,000 new liver malignancies were reported according to the World Health Organization (WHO) data representing 4% of all new cancers worldwide in 2018 [1]. Overall 8.2% of cancer deaths were due to liver malignancy [1]. According to the most recent Turkish Ministry of Health Cancer Statistics data, total of 440,810 malignancies were reported in Turkey between 2012 and 2016 [2, 3]. Of these, 5794 were liver malignancy, representing 1.3% of all malignancies in Turkey between those years, much less proportion compared to the global data [2, 3]. According to WHO reports, liver malignancy is the 17th most common malignancy in Turkey. Herein we summarize available literature on hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) demographics and available disease features and therapeutic outcomes described in Turkey.

2 Methods

We performed a literture review in MEDLINE with key words "HCC, Turkey" "HCC, outcomes, Turkey" "liver resection, HCC, Turkey" "Liver transplant, HCC, Turkey".

3 Results

A large Turkish HCC review was reported by Can et al., and they reviewed a total of 963 patients diagnosed with HCC in their study [4]. The distribution of the patients by provinces is as follows: 181 from Ankara (capital city), 40 from Diyarbakir, 185 from Izmir, 103 from Van, 16 from Malatya, 100 from Antalya, 50 from Isparta, 13 from Sivas, 98 from Istanbul, 50 from Bolu, 83 from Kayseri, 25 from Elazig, and 20 from Gaziantep. This is quite homogeneous sampling except that the north of the country was not represented. They reported that 205 (21%) of the 963 patients were women, with a male/female predominance of 4.8:1 and a median age of 61 years. The etiologic risk factors for HCC were hepatitis B in 555 patients (57.6%), 453 (81%) in men and 102 (19%) in women, again with male predominance, hepatitis C in 159 (16.5%), (14.9% and 22.4%, with a higher incidence in women), and chronic alcohol abuse (more than 10 years) in 137 (14.2%) (16.8% and 4.9%, higher in males). The Child-Pugh score paralleled with advanced disease stage and also a high level of AFP. They also

O. M. Andacoglu · Y. Tokat (⊠) International Liver Center, Istanbul, Turkey

R. Donmez Yeditepe University, Istanbul, Turkey

investigated tumor stage between genders. There were 193 (20%) patients at Stage I, 248 (25.8%) at Stage II, 261 (27.1%) at Stage III, and 261 (27.1%) at Stage IV with more than half of patients being in advanced stage. Of the women, 44 (21.5%) had Stage I disease, 54 (26.3%) had Stage II disease, 51 (24.9%) had Stage III disease, and 56 (27.3%) had Stage IV disease. Of the men, 149 (19.7%) had Stage I disease, 194 (25.6%) had Stage II disease, 210 (27.7%) had Stage III disease, and 205 (27%) had Stage IV disease. No difference was found between men and women, in terms of tumor stage classification (p: 0.855). They also could not find association between tumor stage and disease etiology [4]. They also reported that 67.3% of the patients had high AFP levels (>20 ng/dL), and high AFP level was parallel to advanced-stage disease (p = 0.037) [4]. They concluded the viral etiology (hepatitis B and hepatitis C infections) in the Turkish population is the most common etiology in HCC development, followed by alcohol abuse [4]. The Child-Pugh classification and AFP levels were found to be prognostic factors in Turkish HCC patients [4]. There was no survival data in this report. It should also be noted that distribution of the patients reported here is not reflective of actual population data, for instance, Istanbul is the largest city of Turkey, representing almost 20% of the entire population; therefore, we could comment that there is some selection bias in this report.

Another report by Akkiz et al. reviewed a large cohort of HCC patients (n = 1332) from several collaborating Turkish institutions [5]. They reviewed baseline features and tumor parameters such as maximum tumor diameter (MTD), portal vein thrombosis (PVT), and α -fetoprotein (AFP) levels. The predominant etiological factor was HBV (60.86%), followed by HCV (20.72%). The mean maximum tumor diameter was 5.89 cm, with approximately onethird of patients having tumors 6.5 cm. The mean AFP level was 5686.54 IU/mL; 42.13% of patients had normal AFP laboratory values, and 41.97% of patients had AFP values >100 IU/ mL. The mean albumin was low at 3.09 g/dL, and the mean total bilirubin was elevated at 2.96 mg/ dL. A comparison of patients with and without PVT showed significantly larger tumors; greater multifocality, blood AFP, and C-reactive protein levels; and, interestingly, lower HDL levels in the patients with PVT [5]. They also evaluated the distribution of HCC features based on cities. They included six cities, mostly southeast area of Turkey and the capital city with the following estimated populations: Ankara 5.5 M, Adana 2.2 M, Diyarbakir 1.6 M, Hatay 1.6 M, Mardin 890 K, and Mersin 1 M. This is not a homogeneous representation of the country given there are 84 cities in the entire country, and their population did not include Istanbul, with 15.5 M population, and third largest city Izmir 4.3 M. Despite the limitations, it is worthwhile to review their data: Highest mean MTD was higher in Mersin, whereas Ankara and Hatay had lowest MTD (7.0 cm vs. 5.03 and 5.33 cm, respectively). Mersin had 40.74% incidence of PVT, and Hatay had lowest incidence of PVT (20.69%) consistent with MTD finding. Multifocality was highest in Diyarbakir (53.49%) and lowest in Mersin (17.02% of patients). Mean AFP levels were highest in Mersin (10,109 ng/mL) and lowest in Mardin and Ankara (2885 and 3254 ng/mL, respectively). There were also large regional differences in underlying liver disease. Cirrhosis was present in 88.29% of patients in Diyarbakir but only in 62.92% of the patients in Hatay. HBV was the most common etiology with 73.95% in Diyarbakir, but the HBV rate was 40.24% in Hatay. HCV incidence was highest in Hatay (30.49%) and lowest in Diyarbakir and Mardin (8.37% and 7.81%, respectively). HDV was found in 17.13% of the patients in Diyarbakir but <10% elsewhere [5]. One of the shortcomings of this review is that they do not mention the differences of early diagnostics, differences to access to medical care, and social cultural and even religious barriers to seek professional medical care, which are known to be quite different among different regions in Turkey, despite the universal and socialized healthcare.

Alacacioglu et al. reviewed 221 patients with HCC from 5 hospitals in Turkey [6]. They reported that 44.4% of the entire cohort had HBV (98 patients, 5 had alcohol abuse and 2 had hepatitis D also) followed by HCV (47 patients;

curative treatments; therefore, there seems to be a selection bias in this report. They highlighted that

due to the lack of national HCC screening pro-

gram in Turkey, patients are diagnosed at

advanced stages [6]. This holds true as of 2020.

21.3%) (five of them also had alcohol abuse) as the underlying cause of HCC (6). Other etiologies were as follows: hepatitis B and C coinfection (11 patients; 5%), chronic alcohol abuse (more than 10 years) (13 patients; 5.9%), and cryptogenic cirrhosis (nine patients; 4.1%). No etiologic cause could be identified in 43 patients (19.5%). The single nodule was the dominant tumor pattern (153 patients, 69.2%) [6]. The most common tumor diameter was <5 cm in 100 (45.2%) patients. Extrahepatic metastasis (lung, bone, and adrenal gland) was present in 12 (5%)patients. Stage IV tumor according to TNM classification was present in 58 (26%) patients. The HCC patients with HBV had mostly Stage III and IV disease (41.8% and 26.5%, respectively), whereas HCC patients with HCV had shown mostly similar distributions according to disease stage (Stage I, 12.8%; Stage II, 29.8%; Stage III, 27%; Stage IV, 29.7%). The AFP levels were >400 ng/dl in 48 (21.7%) patients, which was considered as diagnostic for HCC. Only 31 (14%) patients received surgical therapy (resection, liver transplantation). One hundred and ninety (86%) patients received palliative therapy or no therapy. The overall survival (OS) was 14 months. Patients aged <60 years and female gender had longer survival compared with those aged >60 years and male gender (median OS: 15 vs. 12.6 months, P = 0.619 and 17.6 vs. 11.7 months, P = 0.057, respectively). The OS of patients with cirrhosis and nonviral hepatitis was shorter with respect to those with no cirrhosis and nonviral hepatitis (median OS: 13.9 versus 19.1 months, P = 0.286 and 10.7 versus 15.3 months, P = 0.797) although none showed statistical significance [6]. The OS of the individuals with normal AFP levels was also longer than that with high AFP levels. They concluded that the viral etiologies (hepatitis B and C infections) in Turkish population are the top two leading etiologies of HCC development [6]. The Child-Pugh classification, AFP levels, TNM classification, female gender, and treatment status were prognostic factors in HCC patients, whereas viral disease versus other etiologies had similar OS [6]. Quarter of the patients were Stage IV, and the vast majority of the patients (>80%) had non-

Similar to above report, Dogan et al. reported clinicopathologic characteristics and risk factors for HCC in Turkey [7]. They retrospectively reviewed 98 HCC patients between 2004 and 2011. Median age was 61 (range, 16 to 82). Majority (80.6%) was male, and number 1 etiology was HBV (60.2%) followed by HCV (15.3%) and alcohol-related liver disease (15.3%). Seventy-two (73.5%) were at advanced stage, and 54 (55.1%) had elevated serum alphafetoprotein (AFP). Median OS was 7.0 months (range 0-145 mo), and median OS was significantly longer in female patients (p < 0.024). Median OS was significantly lower in HBV patients compared to other etiologies (p < 0.016) [7]. Distribution of TNM stages was as follows: Stage I was 10.2%, Stage II was 13%, Stage III was 57.8%, and Stage IV was 12.3%. In other words, 73.5% of the patients were diagnosed at advanced stage (Stages III and IV) consistent with former reports. Only nine patients (9.2%) had undergone surgery. Chemoembolization is performed in 14 (14.3%) patients. Twenty (20.4%) patients had cisplatin, interferon, adriamycin, and 5-fluorouracil combination chemotherapy protocol, eight (8.2%) patients had single agent adriamycin, five (5.1%) had 5FU and folinic acid, four (4.1%) patients had UFT, and six (6.1%) patients had been treated with tyrosine inhibitor sorafenib [7]. They reported no statistically significant difference between treatment type for median OS [7]; however, there was no adjustment for tumor stage or the degree of liver disease; therefore, it is difficult to compare outcomes based on treatment type alone.

They concluded that HCC is a highly lethal tumor and generally diagnosed in advanced stage (Stages III and IV) in Turkey [7]. As a consequence, very few patients underwent definitive surgical treatment in this cohort [7]. Leading causes were HBV, HCV, and alcohol consumption in descending order, similar to other reports [4–7].

We found one report regarding the molecular features of HCC in Turkey. Ozdemir et al. investigated prevalence of codon 249 mutation of p53 in HCC, cirrhosis, and chronic hepatitis B (CHB) patients [8]. This mutation is induced by aflatoxins, products of *Aspergillus flavus*, which could be seen in potential food contamination. They reported that the codon 249 mutation of p53 is found in one out of 50 HCC (2%) patients. They concluded although codon 249 mutation of p53 is rare, it does exist in HCC patients in Turkey [8].

4 HBV and HCV in Turkey

According to the WHO, Turkey has intermediate (2–8%) endemicity for HBV [1, 2]. A report by Ozkan stated that the estimated number of HBV carriers in Turkey is about 3.3 million, with an overall HBV prevalence of 4.57%; thus, both prevention and therapy of HBV-infected patients are urgent medical need of Turkey [9]. He stated that even a very conservative assessment means that 10% of the carriers would need treatment, which means that 330,000 chronic HBV cases would be eligible for treatment in Turkey alone [9].

There was no leading cause of HBV being endemic in Turkey; however, the Ministry of Health report listed below groups as high-risk groups for HBV infection in Turkey. Some known examples are:

- Healthcare workers.
- Hemodialysis patients.
- Vertical and horizontal transmission within family.
- Substance abusers.
- Multiple sexual partners/sexual habits.

According to a study carried out by TURKHEP in 2010, hepatitis B virus carriage (HBSag+) is 4% in Turkey (TURKHEP, 2010). In the same study, the hepatitis C virus carriers in Turkey (anti-HCV+) were reported to be 0.95% [10]. In 1998, the universal infant immunization program changed the HBV epidemiology in Turkey and has become mandatory at birth since 2003 and is covered by the universal healthcare. This has resulted in an apparent trend towards reduced disease levels. However, prevalence of HBV infection is still high in adolescent and young adults. We will likely continue to see ongoing decrease in the following decades. Igde et al. reviewed a total of 101,648 patients of all ages at a tertiary level hospital in Samsun, at the north coast of Turkey, between 2014 and 2016. HBsAg and anti-HB seropositivity was found to be 4% and 38.3%, respectively [11]. They concluded that catch-up immunization programs, education, and follow-up policies in addition to routine infant immunization are needed to further decrease the HBV infection rates in Turkey [11].

Aygen et al. reviewed the Turk-Hepatitis Registry (HEP-NET) Project data, which included real-life cohort of hepatitis patients from 15 centers in Turkey [12]. In the project, 10,165 hepatitis patients from 10 different hospitals were evaluated. According to the results, HBV/HCV coinfection was detected in 99 patients. The mean age of the cases was 40.9 + 21.7 years; 56.6% of them were males and 43.4% were females. The most important risk factor was hemodialysis (25%) in this group followed by dental therapy, surgical procedure, and blood transfusion [12, 13].

Tozun et al. reviewed participants from urban and rural areas of the predetermined 23 EUROSTAT NUTS 2 region (n = 5460) (mean (SD) age, 40.8 (14.7) years) [14]. They reported that the seropositivity rates for hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg), anti-HCV, anti-HBs, and anti-HBc total were 4.0%, 1.0%, 31.9%, and 30.6%, respectively [14]. Among HBsAg-positive cases, 94.5% were anti-HBe positive, 70.2% were HBV-DNA-positive, and 2.8% were anti-HDV total positive; 99.1% of HBV infections were of genotype D. Close contact with a hepatitis patient (OR 3.24; 95% CI 2.25–4.66; *p* < 0.001), living in the southeastern region (OR 2.74; 95% CI 1.7-4.45; *p* < 0.001), male gender (OR 1.77; 95% CI 1.28-2.46; p < 0.001), married status (OR 1.62; 95% CI 1.02–2.57; p = 0.038), education less than high school (OR 1.53; 95% CI 1.04-2.26; p = 0.03), orodental interventions (OR 1.54; 95%) CI 1.01–2.35; p = 0.047), and a history of nondisposable syringe use (OR 1.4; 95% CI 1.01– 1.96; p = 0.045) were significant determinants of HBsAg positivity. Age ≥ 50 years (OR 2; 95% CI 1.09–4.3; p = 0.026) was the only significant predictor of anti-HCV positivity. Study revealed an HBsAg positivity in 4% and anti-HCV positivity in 1% of the adult population, and at least onethird of the population has been exposed to HBV infection in Turkey [14].

5 Comparison of HCC Treatment Modalities

Akcam et al. compared outcomes of patients who underwent liver resection (n = 38) vs. OLT (n = 28) for localized HCC [15]. A total of 66 patients (with a median age of 62) who met the study criteria were analyzed. Postoperative complications (13.2% vs. 28.6%, P = 0.45) and perioperative mortality rates (7.9% vs. 10.7%, P = 0.2) were similar. While Child-Pugh Class A patients were more prevalent in the resection group (78.9% vs. 7.1%, P = 0.0001), the rate of patients who met the Milan criteria was higher in the OLT group (89.3% vs. 34.25, P = 0.0001) [15]. Recurrence rates were 36.8% in the resection group and 3.6% in the OLT group at the end of the median follow-up period (32 vs. 39 months, respectively). The HCC-related mortality rate was significantly higher in the resection group (39.5% vs. 10.7%, P = 0.034). However, a subgroup analysis of patients who met the Milan criteria revealed similar rates of recurrence and HCC-related mortality (15.4% vs. 8%, P = 0.63). Based on logistic regression analysis, number of tumors (P = 0.034; odds ratio, 2.1) and "resection"-type surgery (P = 0.008; odds ratio, 20.2) were independently associated with recurrence [15].

Gokcan et al. retrospectively analyzed 12-year data of 115 patients with biopsy-proven HCC [16]. Most patients had cirrhosis due to hepatitis virus infection. Median follow-up time was 17 months (1 month–9.5 years) after the diagnosis of HCC. The nodule was single in 43 (37.4%) patients, there were 2–3 nodules in 30 (26.1%), and there were >3 or diffuse nodules in 42

(36.5%) patients. Distribution of treatment modalities was as follows: 23 (20%) patients had liver transplantation, 15 (13%) had HCC resection, 12 patients (10.4%) had radiofrequency ablation (RFA), 26 patients (22.6%) had transarterial chemoembolization (TACE), 2 (1.7%) had alcohol ablation, and 37 patients (32.2%) had no treatment. Tumor sizes of nine patients (39.1%) in the transplanted group exceeded the Milan criteria. Mean survival was 72 ± 6.9 , 78.8 ± 12.5 , 19.5 ± 2.8 , 20.6 ± 4.2 , and 16.0 ± 5.9 months in those that received transplantation, resection, RFA, TACE, and no treatment, respectively (p < 0.001) [16]. Survival was significantly worse in patients >63 years old (p = 0.001), with serum albumin level ≤ 3.4 g/dL (p = 0.01), and with diffuse HCC (p < 0.001). They concluded survival was significantly better in patients who underwent liver transplantation or surgical resection [16].

6 Outcomes of Liver Transplantation for HCC in Turkey

Liver transplantation (LT) is the only curative treatment for HCC in patients with underlying chronic liver disease. Living donor liver transplantation (LDLT) is more common in Turkey compared to deceased donor liver transplantation (DDLT). According to the Ministry of Health reports, there were a total of 7423 liver transplants performed in Turkey in the last 5 years (2015–2019), of which 5456 (73.5%) were LDLT and 1967 (26.4%) were DDLT [17]. In this section, we summarized relevant studies about the outcomes of LT in HCC patients in Turkey.

Regarding living donation, there is no scientific report as to why the rates are so high; however, based on our observations, we could hypothesize that this is multifactorial: (1) lack of a robust deceased donor system, (2) close family ties, and (3) cultural and religious beliefs and perceptions. In other words, we do not know if living donation rates would remain the same in the event of having a robust and uniform deceased donor organization across the country. This could
be another area of research and quality improvement project for Turkey.

Balci et al. examined the outcomes of patients who received LDLT for HCC comparing the impact of up-to-seven criteria and Asan criteria (AC) with Milan criteria (MC) [18]. Between July 2004 and July 2009, of the 175 consecutive LDLT cases, there were 45 consecutive patients with HCC. Forty patients who completed 12-month follow-up were enrolled. In search for the highest number of expansion, they selected AC as the extended criteria. Patients were divided into having tumors within MC, beyond MC within AC, and beyond criteria (BC) groups. With a median follow-up of 46 months, overall 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival was -90%, -81%, and -70%, respectively. In patients within AC, estimated mean survival was 49.8 vs. 40.5 months for BC group (P = 0.2). Disease-free survival was significantly higher in patients within AC compared with BC group: 48.0 vs. 38.6 months (P = 0.04). Preoperative AFP level >400 and poor tumor differentiation were factors adversely effecting recipient survival. On multivariate analysis, the differentiation presence of poor tumor (P = 0.018 RR: 2.48) was the only independent predictor of survival [18]. They concluded that extension of tumor size and number to AC is feasible, without significantly compromising outcomes; however, the presence of poor tumor differentiation was associated with worse outcomes after LDLT [18].

Ince et al. reported 215 patients who underwent predominantly live donor liver transplant for HCC at their institute in Malatya over 12 years [19]. There were 152 patients within and 63 patients beyond Milan criteria. Patients beyond Milan criteria were divided into two groups according to presence or absence of tumor recurrence. Recurrence-associated factors were analyzed. These factors were then applied to the total cohort for survival analysis. They identified four factors, using multivariate analysis, that were significantly associated with tumor recurrence. These were maximum tumor diameter, degree of tumor differentiation, and serum AFP and GGT levels. A model that included all four of these factors was constructed, the "Malatya criteria." Using these Malatya criteria, they estimated disease-free survival and cumulative survival, for patients within and beyond these criteria, and found statistically significant differences with improved survival in patients within Malatya criteria. Survival of the patients within the newly defined Malatya criteria compared favorably with beyond Milan extended criteria and highlighted the usefulness of serum AFP and GGT levels in decision-making [19].

A single-center study by Unek et al. assessed the validity of the Milan and University of California San Francisco (UCSF) criteria and examined the long-term outcome of LT in Turkish patients with HCC in Turkey [20]. They reviewed cases between 1998 and 2009, and 56 of 356 OLTs were performed for HCC. Based on explant pathology, patients were categorized into three groups: Milan + (n = 34), Milan -/ UCSF + (n = 7), and UCSF- (n = 14). Median follow-up period was 39.5 (1–124) months. The 5-year overall survival rates in the Milan +, Milan -/UCSF +, and UCSF groups were 87.7%, 53.6%, and 33.3%, respectively (P < 0.001). Within these groups, tumor recurrence was determined in 5.8%, 14.3%, and 40% of patients, respectively (P < 0.011). Additionally, the presence of microvascular invasion within the explanted liver had a negative effect on the 5-year disease-free survival (74.7% vs. 46.7%, P < 0.044). They concluded the Milan criteria are reliable in the selection of suitable candidates for OLT for the treatment of HCC [20]. They commented that UCSF criteria can be safely utilized for LDLT [20].

Yaprak et al. performed a clinicopathological analysis of risk factors that affected survival after LT [21]. Out of 389 LTs performed from 2004 to 2010, 102 were for HCC patients. Data were collected retrospectively. Variables were as follows: age, gender, preoperative alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) levels, Child-Pugh and MELD scores, prognostic staging criteria (Milan and UCSF), etiology, number of tumors, the largest tumor size, total tumor size, multifocality, intrahepatic portal vein tumor thrombosis, bilobar disease, and histological differentiation. One hundred and two patients were evaluated. The 5-year overall survival rate was 56.5%. According to the UCSF criteria, 63% of the patients were within and 37% were beyond UCSF (P = 0.03). Ten patients were excluded (one with fibrolamellary HCC and nine because of early postoperative death without HCC recurrence), and 92 patients were assessed. The mean age of the patients was 56.5 ± -6.9 years. Sixty-two patients underwent living donor liver transplantations. The mean follow-up time was 29.4+/-22.6 months. Fifteen patients (16.3%) died in the follow-up period due to HCC recurrence. Univariate analysis showed that AFP level, intrahepatic portal vein tumor thrombosis, histologic differentiation, and UCSF criteria were significant factors related to survival and tumor recurrence. The 5-year estimated overall survival rate was 62.2% in all patients. According to the UCSF criteria, the 5-year overall survival rate was 66.7% within and 52.7% beyond the criteria (P = 0.04). Multivariate analysis showed that AFP level and poor differentiation were independent factors [20]. They concluded prognostic criteria related to tumor biology (especially AFP level and histological differentiation) should be considered and poor differentiation and higher AFP levels are indicators of poor prognosis after LT [20].

Egeli et al. reviewed elderly HCC patients and LT outcomes [22]. The study reviewed 535 LT patients, of which 77 (14.4%) were over 60 years of age. The median follow-up period was 86.7 (1 to 247) months. The elderly group's survival rate was significantly lower than that of the younger group (P = 0.002). In elderly patients, survival rates of 1, 3, 5, and 10 years were 67.4%, 56.4%, 53.8%, and 46.1%, respectively [22]. They concluded appropriate selection in the preoperative stage provides successful survival results in elderly patients [22].

Polat et al. reviewed patients between 2011 and 2018, and 165 of 749 LTs for HCC cases performed at their center were evaluated retrospectively [23]. Survival, demographic characteristics and etiology, preoperative alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) level, Model for End-Stage Liver Disease (MELD) score, prognostic staging, and morphologic and histologic properties were evaluated.

As a result, 139 cases of 165 were living donor liver transplantation (LDLT). The mean age was 57.7 ± 7.3 years, the mean follow-up period was 27.8 ± 20 months, and 41 patients (24%) died before follow-up. Recurrence of HCC was detected in 23 (14%) cases. Overall survival was 85%, 71%, and 64% for 1, 3, and 5 years, respectively. The 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival within vs. beyond Milan criteria was 90%, 80%, and 76% vs. 75%, 66%, and 44%, respectively. In the University of California San Francisco criteria, it was 86%, 76%, and 70% vs. 76%, 60%, and 30% compared with 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival. While histopathological poor differentiation and AFP elevation affected the course negatively, they reported that good differentiation did not have a significant effect on survival. They concluded that poor differentiation, lymphovascular invasion, and an increased number of nodules significantly affected survival in both within and beyond cases [23].

7 Summary

In the light of these data, we can conclude that, despite national immunization program, HBV remains the leading cause of HCC in Turkey, followed by HCV, alcohol-related liver disease, NASH, and cryptogenic liver failure. Despite limited data, there are variations in the country, not only in terms of etiology of HCC but also distribution of stages of the disease. Depending on the series, 50% or more of the HCC patients present in advanced stage; therefore, minority of HCC cases undergo curative treatments or transplantation. Liver transplantation is widely performed in Turkey with a dominance of living donor liver transplantation. There is a significant data gap regarding national outcomes data in Turkey. Social and cultural differences may play a role in the access to medical care which also require further research. Lastly, the lack of national HCC screening programs and a national HCC database magnify the burden of HCC in Turkey. We do believe there could be several steps to be taken in order to construct such database:

- Create a Turkish National HCC Task Force Committee: The need of a national database and specific goals about HCC should be prepared by professional leaders, including but not limited to surgeons, hepatologists, oncologists, epidemiologists, and infectious disease experts to prepare a task force and present this to the Ministry of Health.
- 2. Seek government and private sources to finance such a national scale project.
- 3. Continuous growth of the task force by recruiting experts to take the ownership and to continue to lead the field in Turkey.

In the same context, multi-institutional collaborations would greatly enhance such goals and should be encouraged within each institute that delivers tertiary care for HCC.

As Turkey has universal healthcare, cost could be the main determinant of the decision-making process in healthcare. Therefore collegial work with the Ministry of Health would be a key factor of a national project. Also private sector attention could expedite such ideas by providing additional financial source.

As far as follow-up, every opportunity should be used for HBV/HCV and HCC screening. This could be done via several approaches:

- Continuous medical education for general practitioners: For instace, regardless of the cause of a medical visit for a patient, patients should be offeref to be checked for viral serology since HBV is still the leading cause of cirrhosis in Turkey.
- Supportive programs and initiatives directing both public and healthcare providers through the Ministry of Health.
- 3. Adding a "health curriculum" at different levels in school education, which should include but not limited to vaccinations, safe sexual practice. As mentioned above, a new Turkish National HCC Task Force would be a tremendous momentum to initiate such moves and create public and state and private attention.

While we are aware this is a huge undertaking, we believe such task force(s) would not only enhance national strategies to fight against a specific disease burden but also improve the patient care and outcomes in long term in Turkey.

References

- https://gco.iarc.fr/today/data/factsheets/cancers/11-Liver-fact-sheet.pdf.
- 2. https://hsgm.saglik.gov.tr/tr/kanser-istatistikleri.
- 3. https://hsgm.saglik.gov.tr/depo/birimler/kanser-db/ istatistik/Trkiye_Kanser_statistikleri_2016.pdf.
- Can A, Dogan E, Bayoglu IV, et al. Multicenter epidemiologic study on hepatocellular carcinoma in Turkey. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2014;15(6):2923–7. https://doi.org/10.7314/apjcp.2014.15.6.2923.
- Akkiz H, Carr BI, Yalçın KK, et al. Characteristics of hepatocellular carcinoma aggressiveness factors in Turkish patients. Oncology. 2018;94(2):116–24. https://doi.org/10.1159/000484564.
- Alacacioglu A, Somali I, Simsek I, et al. Epidemiology and survival of hepatocellular carcinoma in Turkey: outcome of multicenter study. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2008;38(10):683–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/jjco/ hyn082.
- Dogan E, Yalcin S, Koca D, Olmez A. Clinicopathological characteristics of hepatocellular carcinoma in Turkey. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2012;13(6):2985–90. https://doi.org/10.7314/ apjcp.2012.13.6.2985.
- Ozdemir FT, Tiftikci A, Sancak S, et al. The prevalence of the mutation in codon 249 of the P53 gene in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in Turkey. J Gastrointest Cancer. 2010;41(3):185–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12029-010-9140-5.
- Özkan H. Epidemiology of Chronic Hepatitis B in Turkey. Euroasian J Hepatogastroenterol. 2018;8(1):73–4.
- http://www.tasl.org.tr/02-01-201turk-karacigerarastirmalari-dernegi-ulusal-hepatit-sikligi-calismasiturkhep-2010.
- Igde FA, Taskin H, Igde M, Yazici Z, Atilla A. Where we are in the fight against Hepatitis B Infection; Trends in Hepatitis B virus seroprevalence in Black Sea Region of Turkey. Niger J Clin Pract. 2018;21(1):87–92.
- Aygen B, Celen MK, Koksal I, et al. The prevalence and epidemiological characteristics of hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus coinfection in Turkey. Turkiye Klinikleri J Med Sci. 2013;33(5):1245–9. https://doi.org/10.5336/medsci.2012-32319.
- 13. The Prevalence and Epidemiological Characteristics of Hepatitis B Virus and Hepatitis C Virus Coinfection in Turkey. Türkiye'de Hepatit B Virüs ve Hepatit C Virüs Koenfeksiyonu Prevalansı ve Epidemiyolojik Özellikleri. Bilgehan AYGEN, Mustafa Kemal ÇELEN, İftihar KÖKSAL, Selma TOSUN, Oğuz

KARABAY, Tansu YAMAZHAN, Orhan YILDIZ, Celal AYAZ, Fehmi TABAK Turkiye Klinikleri J Med Sci. 2013;33(5):1245–9. http://www.turkiyeklinikleri. com/article/en-the-prevalence-and-epidemiologicalcharacteristics-of-hepatitis-b-virus-and-hepatitis-cvirus-coinfection-in-turkey-65571.html.

- 14. Tozun N, Ozdogan O, Cakaloglu Y, et al. Seroprevalence of hepatitis B and C virus infections and risk factors in Turkey: a fieldwork TURHEP study. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2015;21(11):1020–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2015.06.028.
- Akcam AT, Saritas AG, Ulku A, Rencuzogullari A. Oncological outcomes of hepatic resection vs transplantation for localized hepatocellular carcinoma. Transplant Proc. 2019;51(4):1147–52. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2019.01.093.
- Gokcan H, Savaş N, Oztuna D, Moray G, Boyvat F, Haberal M. Predictors of survival in hepatocellular carcinoma patients. Ann Transplant. 2015;20:596– 603. Published 2015 Oct 6. https://doi.org/10.12659/ AOT.894878.
- 17. https://organkds.saglik.gov.tr/dss/PUBLIC/ Transplant_Liver.aspx.
- Balci D, Dayangac M, Yaprak O, et al. Living donor liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma: a single center analysis of outcomes and impact of different selection criteria. Transpl Int. 2011;24(11):1075–83. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-2277.2011.01311.x.

- Ince V, Akbulut S, Otan E, et al. Liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma: malatya experience and proposals for expanded criteria [published correction appears in J Gastrointest Cancer. 2020 Jul 8;]. J Gastrointest Cancer. 2020;51(3):998–1005. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12029-020-00424-w.
- Unek T, Karademir S, Arslan NC, et al. Comparison of Milan and UCSF criteria for liver transplantation to treat hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. 2011;17(37):4206–12. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg. v17.i37.4206.
- Yaprak O, Akyildiz M, Dayangac M, et al. AFP level and histologic differentiation predict the survival of patients with liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int. 2012;11(3):256–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s1499-3872(12)60157-x.
- 22. Egeli T, Unek T, Agalar C, et al. Survival outcomes after liver transplantation in elderly patients: a single-center retrospective analysis. Transplant Proc. 2019;51(4):1143–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. transproceed.2019.01.090.
- Polat KY, Acar S, Gencdal G, Yazar S, Kargi A, Donmez R, Aslan S, Kavlak ME, Arikan C, Akyildiz M. Hepatocellular carcinoma and liver transplantation: a single-center experience. Transplant Proc. 2020;52(1):259–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. transproceed.2019.10.029. Epub 2020 Jan 3.



Targeting c-Met and AXL Crosstalk for the Treatment of Hepatocellular Carcinoma

Yeliz Yılmaz, Tuğçe Batur, Peyda Korhan, Mehmet Öztürk, and Neşe Atabey

1 Introduction

Over the decades, successful strategies have led to significant improvement in prevention and treatment of cancer due to increased early diagnosis rates and the development of more effective therapeutics. According to cancer statistics, cancerrelated deaths have been continuously declining between 1990 and 2019 in the United States, and projection studies estimate less mortality in 2020

Y. Yılmaz · P. Korhan

Cancer Biology and Signaling Group, Basic and Translational Research Program, Izmir Biomedicine and Genome Center, Izmir, Turkey

T. Batur

Cancer Mechanism and Theranostics Group, Technological Research Program, Izmir Biomedicine and Genome Center, Izmir, Turkey

M. Öztürk

Cancer Mechanism and Theranostics Group, Technological Research Program, Izmir Biomedicine and Genome Center, Izmir, Turkey

Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Medicine, Izmir Tinaztepe University, Buca, Izmir, Turkey

N. Atabey (🖂)

Cancer Biology and Signaling Group, Basic and Translational Research Program, Izmir Biomedicine and Genome Center, Izmir, Turkey

Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Medicine, Izmir Tinaztepe University, Buca, Izmir, Turkey e-mail: nese.atabey@ibg.edu.tr [1]. A similar trend is expected to occur in most other countries including Turkey. However, the projections should be reevaluated due to COVID-19 pandemic which has caused delayed treatment and surgery and pause of activity in research labs and slowed clinical trials. Considering the rates before the global pandemic, long-term declines in the number of deaths related to lung, colorectal, prostate, and breast cancers resulted in an overall improvement in cancer mortality. Only a few cancers have increased incidence and mortality rates, and liver cancer is one of the outstanding.

1.1 Hepatocellular Carcinoma in the World and the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) Region

Worldwide, liver cancer ranks sixth in incidence (fifth in males) and fourth in cancer-related deaths (second in males) [2]. MENA region consists of many countries spreading in three continents in the Middle East and North Africa and is a highly populated part of the world with a population over 500 million. Turkey is considered as one of the countries in the MENA region. Based on GLOBOCAN 2018, in Turkey, liver cancer ranks the 15th of all cancers with 4362 new cases [2]. It also ranks ninth in mortality rates with 4307 deaths. Estimated number of deaths in Turkish female population in all ages is 1560 and ranks ninth, whereas in males the estimation is

Yeliz Yılmaz, Tuğçe Batur and Peyda Korhan contributed equally with all other contributors.

2747 and ranks 8th. Based on a report by Turkish Ministry of Health evaluating cancer statistics of Turkey in 2016, liver cancer incidence is higher in males; it ranks tenth in all age groups [3].

According to Global Burden of Disease (GBD) data of 1990–2019 from the Institute of Health Metrics and Evaluation, the age-standardized incidence, prevalence, and mortality rates of both sexes of liver cancer patients comparing MENA region and Turkey are given in Table 1. The data is extracted from and graphs are formed in GBD results tool [4]. Based on this evaluation, liver cancer incidence, prevalence, and mortality rates in Turkey are below the average of the MENA countries; however, all metrics are in rise since 1990 in both Turkey and the MENA region.

Primary liver cancer is the most common type of liver cancer and is classified into subtypes based on the origin of initiating cells: hepatocellular carcinoma, cholangiocarcinoma, hepatic

angiosarcoma, fibrolamellar carcinoma, and hepatoblastoma [5]. Among them, HCC alone accounts for 90% of primary liver cancer [6]. Risk factors for HCC development are mostly nonhereditary and include chronic hepatitis B virus (HBV) and hepatitis C virus (HCV) infections, aflatoxin exposure, excess alcohol consumption, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), obesity, and diabetes [7]. Chronic HBV and HCV infections have been by far the major etiological agents that result in HCC and still remain as the most important risk factors both globally and in the MENA region as well [8, 9]. Chronic hepatitis C infection is the major cause of HCC in the MENA region in which HCV infection is the underlying etiology of 70% of HCC in this area [10]. In Turkey, similarly, the most important risk factors for HCC development are hepatitis B and C infections. In contrast to overall situation in MENA region, HCC in Turkey is mostly due to

		Year	Value	Upper	Lower			
Incidence								
Number	North Africa and Middle East	1990	10734.18	11996.56	9445.18			
	North Africa and Middle East	2019	27545.69	33840.58	22112.90			
	Turkey	1990	1349.21	1640.10	1079.85			
	Turkey	2019	2767.82	3413.37	2204.34			
Rate	North Africa and Middle East	1990	3.11	3.48	2.74			
	North Africa and Middle East	2019	4.53	5.56	3.63			
	Turkey	1990	2.26	2.74	1.81			
	Turkey	2019	3.40	4.20	2.71			
Prevalence								
Number	North Africa and Middle East	1990	11683.90	13022.01	10302.00			
	North Africa and Middle East	2019	33485.32	40969.85	27179.33			
	Turkey	1990	1460.58	1773.30	1163.89			
	Turkey	2019	3750.23	4670.19	2959.21			
Rate	North Africa and Middle East	1990	3.39	3.77	2.99			
	North Africa and Middle East	2019	5.50	6.73	4.47			
	Turkey	1990	2.44	2.97	1.95			
	Turkey	2019	4.61	5.74	3.64			
Death								
Number	North Africa and Middle East	1990	10913.41	12227.10	9575.47			
	North Africa and Middle East	2019	26432.40	32610.87	21210.64			
	Turkey	1990	1376.97	1665.60	1104.03			
	Turkey	2019	2536.79	3120.69	2009.00			
Rate	North Africa and Middle East	1990	3.16	3.54	2.78			
	North Africa and Middle East	2019	4.34	5.36	3.48			
	Turkey	1990	2.30	2.79	1.85			
	Turkey	2019	3.12	3.84	2.47			

Table 1GBD data of age-standardized liver cancer incidence, prevalence, and mortality numbers and rates of Turkey,North Africa, and the Middle East



Fig. 1 c-Met structure and signaling in HCC. (a) The extracellular region of c-Met consists of semaphorin (Sema) domain, a cysteine-rich plexin-semaphorinintegrin (PSI) domain, and four immunoglobulin-plexintranscription (IPT) domains. Through the linkage of a transmembrane helix, the intracellular juxtamembrane region harboring Tyr1003 is connected to the extracellular domains. The tyrosine kinase domain, harboring Tyr1234– 35, serves the catalytic function and is flanked between juxtamembrane and docking regions. Multidocking sites Tyr1349 and Tyr1356 reside at the tail of the C-terminus and are elementary for recruiting adaptor proteins. (b) The dimerization of c-Met leads to transactivation of tyrosines

HBV infections with 57.6% (81% in males and 19% in females), while HCV infections account for 16.5% (14.9% in males and 22.4% in females) [11]. In the same etiological study, excess alcohol consumption was implicated in 14.2% (16.8% in males and 4.9% in females) of HCC patients. Age-standardized liver neoplasm mortality rates are on the rise (21.9% increase based on data of 2008–2014), and there is a growing positive correlation between obesity prevalence and liver malignancy in Turkey [12]. The contribution of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) to HCC is also increasing in the MENA countries; the rates increase from 8.64% to 10.94% between 1990 and 2017 [10]. In Turkey, the contribution of

1234–35 and hence autophosphorylation of Tyr1349 and Tyr1356. This initiates the downstream signaling through the interaction of proteins containing SH2, phosphotyrosine binding (PTB), and c-Met binding domains. Phosphorylation of Tyr1003 serves an autoinhibitory function. Main cascades activated downstream are PI3K/ Akt, Stat3, CDC42/Rac, and MAPK. Tumorigenesis associated mechanisms of proliferation, survival, and aggressive phenotype are associated with motility, portal invasion and drug resistance, which are initiated through the activation of these regulatory molecules at various stages contributing to the development and progression of HCC.

NASH also increased from 8.13% to 10.42% between 1990 and 2017. Due to successful antiviral therapies and preventive vaccination strategies, hepatitis-infected patient numbers are expected to drop significantly in the near future, leaving their place to NASH and obesity epidemic in the MENA region and globally [8–10].

HCC is diagnosed in late stages due to lack of early symptoms and early diagnostic tests and limited number of screening programs [13]. Since there is yet no treatment option reversing advanced stage HCC, treatment options for the lately diagnosed HCC patients are limited and the prognosis of the disease is poor. The Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer (BCLC) classification is a well-defined staging system to achieve the most suitable treatment option for HCC patients. Based on this algorithm analyzing nodule size and number, the presence of vascular invasion and extrahepatic metastasis, Child-Pugh score, and patient status, patients diagnosed in early stages of HCC are ideal candidates for ablation, resection, or transplantation and receive curative therapy where the median overall survival is more than 60 months and 5-year survival rates are 40–70% [14]. Child-Pugh score and alphafetoprotein (AFP) levels are important prognostic factors for HCC; advanced disease stage is correlated with high AFP levels and high Child-Pugh score [11]. The median overall survival for HCC patients in Turkey is 14 months and is parallel with low Child-Pugh score and AFP levels [15].

Most of the patients are diagnosed with unresectable HCC (at intermediate, advanced or terminal stage), who are eligible only to receive chemoembolization and sorafenib as a first-line treatment [14]. The overall survival rates are 20 months in the intermediate stage when patients receive chemoembolization and 10.7 months in the advanced stage where patients receive sorafenib [16, 17].

1.2 First- and Second-Line Therapeutics Approved by FDA for Use in Liver Cancer

Sorafenib is an oral multi-tyrosine kinase inhibitor and was approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2007 for patients with unresectable HCC, after reports of the SHARP trial showed that it increased the median overall survival (OS) rate of HCC patients to 10.7 months, 3 months longer than the placebo group [17]. Regorafenib, a covalently modified form of sorafenib, was approved by FDA in 2017 as second-line treatment in HCC after RESORCE trial, where it improved the median survival for 2.6 months compared to placebo [18]. Lenvatinib, another oral multikinase inhibitor, has gained the approval of FDA as a first-line treatment for unresectable HCC in 2018 based on the REFLECT trial [19]. Lately in 2020, the encouraging results of IMbrave150 trial showing better overall and progression-free survival outcomes when compared to sorafenib have led to the use of the combination of atezolizumab and bevacizumab for patients with unresectable or metastatic HCC tumors who have not received prior systemic therapy [20]. Other drugs received approval from FDA as second-line treatments in HCC care: (1) Small-molecule multi-target tyrosine kinase inhibitor cabozantinib which showed improved median overall survival and progression-free survival in CELESTIAL trial was approved in 2019 [21]. (2) Ramucirumab, a monoclonal antibody targeting vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 (VEGFR-2), was approved in 2019. The use of Ramucirumab showed improved OS of HCC patients with increased AFP levels in REACH-2 trial (the first positive phase 3 trial of biomarker-selected patient population with HCC) and was approved in 2019 [22]. (3) Based on KEYNOTE-224 phase 2 clinical trial, immune checkpoint inhibitor pembrolizumab was granted accelerated FDA approval in 2018 [23]. (4) Another immune checkpoint inhibitor nivolumab received accelerated approval from FDA in 2017, whereas the use of nivolumab in combination with another checkpoint inhibitor ipilimumab also gained FDA approval as second-line treatment in advanced HCC patients [24].

In patients with unresectable advanced stage or metastatic cholangiocarcinomas displaying fusion or rearrangement of fibroblast growth factor receptor2 (FGFR2), pemigatinib was approved in 2020 based on findings from FIGHT-202 trial [25]. Many if not all these drugs are also approved in Turkey.

Despite a high number of approved therapeutics, liver cancer patients still need new treatment options for longer survival. The family of receptor tyrosine kinases has pivotal roles in the development and progression of liver cancer. Accordingly, RTK targeting constitutes a major therapeutic option for HCC.

2 Receptor Tyrosine Kinase Pathways in Liver Cancer

Several RTK pathways are activated by genetic and/or epigenetic alterations during the course of liver cancer development and progression. These pathways contribute to proliferation and survival of tumor cells via activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) and mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling through (1) extracellular matrix (ECM) remodeling by expression and secretion of matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) 2 and 9; (2) persistent angiogenesis to induce the transformation of hepatic sinusoids enabling sinusoidal capillarization and epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and gain of plasticity through upregulation of mesenchymal markers and downregulation of epithelial markers; (3) alteration of intracellular cytoskeleton to gain more motile and invasive character via increasing focal adhesion kinase (FAK), RhoA, and Rac expressions and activations; and (4) reprogramming of the glucose and lipid metabolism through alterations in the levels of hexokinases, glucose transporters, fatty acid transporters, pyruvate kinases, etc. [26].

Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) activation is one of the earliest events to be reported in HCC development. EGFR overexpression and overactivation are common mechanisms observed in the development of HCC and are associated with drug resistance in patients who receive prior treatment [27–29]. VEGF and its RTK member receptor VEGFR are known to contribute to HCC as well. Supporting the hypervascular nature of HCC tumors, VEGF and VEGFR are highly expressed both in the tumor and the niche [30]. Immunohistochemical analysis of 107 HCC patients showed that VEGF-A, VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2, and VEGFR-3 were higher in peritumoral tissue whereas VEGF-C isoform was higher in the HCC tumors; further analysis also identified that VEGF and VEGFR expressions have a prognostic value in HCC [31]. Owing to the angiogenic potential of the VEGF pathway, its expression leads to the formation of new vessels, allowing the development of tumors and homing of tumor cells in metastatic sites [30]. It also aids extravasation and intravasation through alterations of cell-cell junctions that leads to changes in vascular permeability and also allows the tumor cells to penetrate into the liver niche [30].

Transforming growth factor receptor (TGFR) activation is also associated with HCC; in early development phase of the disease, its ligand TGF- β is considered as a tumor suppressor; however, on the contrary in advanced stages of HCC progression, it acts as a tumor promoter [32, 33]. The most well-recognized role of the activation of this pathway is the triggering of EMT-associated events. Wnt and b-catenin pathways are frequently altered in HCC [34, 35].

Moreover, RTK dysregulations on Wnt/β-catenin and Hippo pathways are common in HCC development and progression. The activated RTK members FGFR, EGFR, and tropomyosin receptor kinase A (TRKA) are shown to phosphorylate Wnt co-receptor LRP6 and also β -catenin and therefore activate the canonical Wnt signaling [36]. The interplay of Hippo pathway and RTKs is shown in many studies as well. When activated, many RTKs (including c-Met, RET, FGFR, etc.) are shown to directly or indirectly regulate the Hippo pathway in many cancer types, including HCC [37]. The crosstalk is present in both ways; the regulation of many RTKs is found to be affected by Yes-associated protein/transcriptional coactivator with PDZ-binding motif (YAP/TAZ) complex of Hippo pathway.

Considering the RTK family, hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) receptor c-Met and AXL belong to the family of RTKs and are the two receptors whose pivotal roles have been extensively studied lately in liver cancer.

2.1 c-Met and its Role in Liver Cancer Progression and Treatment Response

2.1.1 c-Met Signaling Pathway

c-Met is expressed in normal and malignant cells and is the only known receptor of HGF/Scatter Factor (SF). As a well-defined pleiotropic factor, HGF promotes diverse biological processes including scattering, differentiation, motility and invasion, proliferation, and survival through activating its receptor c-Met. Developmental phenotypes were investigated in conditional knockout mice, organ-specific deletion models, and overexpression studies since complete knockout of HGF or c-Met is embryonically lethal [38]. The phenotypes are found to be similar for both HGF and c-Met affecting the embryonic development of many organs including the liver, kidney, lung, pancreas, muscle, prostate, breast, bone marrow, and retina [38]. Regeneration capacity of liver, kidney, and gestational pancreatic β -cells is also found to be seriously impaired in many studies; these results highlight the essential and imperative function of c-Met activation in normal development of the organism [39–44].

c-Met is encoded from *MET* proto-oncogene located in 7q21–31 in humans [45]. The encoded product is a 170 kDa single chain precursor polypeptide which is then glycosylated and cleaved at amino acids 307–308 by proteases in the Golgi, resulting in N-terminal spanning 40 kDa α chain and C-terminal spanning 140 kDa β chain [46]. The disulfide linkage between α and β chains allows the receptor to form the mature monomer that is translocated to the membrane.

The extracellular structure of c-Met (Fig. 1a) constitutes (1) semaphorin (SEMA) domain in α chain and N-terminal of β chain interacting with the serine proteinase homology (SPH) domain of HGF with low affinity, (2) cysteine-rich plexin semaphorin integrin (PSI) domain, and (3) four immunoglobulin-plexin-transcription (IPT) domains which are immunoglobulin-like regions found in plexins and transcription factors responsible for interacting with HGF's N-terminal and first kringle domain with high affinity [47, 48]. The juxtamembrane domain of the receptor lies in the β chain, under the IPT subdomains, which is followed by the catalytic kinase domain and multidocking site.

When HGF is secreted by stromal cells or in an autocrine manner, the ligand is bound to c-Met monomers on the extracellular membrane, keeping them in close proximity and stabilizing homodimerization [49]. The dimerization triggers transphosphorylation of Y1234–25 on the kinase domain of each receptor revealing the kinasing potential for phosphorylation of Y1349 and Y1356 [48]. These autophosphorylation tyrosines serve as docking sites for adaptor proteins carrying src homology 2 (SH2) domains, including src homology region 2 domain-containing phosphatase-2 (SHP-2), son of sevenless (SOS), p85, signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), and grb2 associated binding protein 1 (Gab1) [50].

Downstream signaling is conveyed through three main paths (Fig. 1b):

- MAPK pathway: The interaction of Ras with the scaffold complex which may comprise Gab1-growth factor reduced-bound protein 2 (Grb2)-SOS-src homology 2 domain containing (SHC) allows Ras to be activated by guanosine triphosphate (GTP) loading [50]. Activated Ras recruits rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma (Raf) kinase, resulting in the sequential activation cascade of Raf-mitogen activated protein kinase kinase (MEK)mitogen activated kinase (Erk).
- <u>PI3K/protein kinase B (Akt) pathway:</u> The phosphorylation of phosphatidylinositol (4,5)-biphosphate-2 (PIP2) forms PIP3 which carries Akt to the membrane that leads to its phosphorylation on S473 and T308. The activated Akt is translocated to the nucleus where it controls many key molecules including mTOR, GSK3β, MDM2, and Myc to regulate cell survival and metabolism [51].
- <u>STAT3 pathway:</u> STAT3 can bind to active c-Met and becomes phosphorylated, followed by translocation to the nucleus. As a transcription factor, it is involved in expressional control of genes involved in mitochondrial activation, angiogenesis, and invasion [52].

The activation of these pathways has several biological consequences related to regeneration and wound healing in normal cells but aggressive behavior in tumor cells, such as proliferation, survival, motility, invasion, and alteration of cell metabolism. Therefore c-Met signaling is tightly controlled in cells. One mechanism is the regulation of c-Met inhibition through dephosphorylating the activatory tyrosines by phosphatases PP2A and PTP-1B [53]. Also an autoinhibitory loop is activated, when c-Met heterodimerizes, through the phosphorylation of Y975 and Y1003. The phosphorylation of these residues initiates

downregulation cascade involving E3 ubiquitin ligase that ubiquitinates and targets c-Met for degradation [54]. Despite the control mechanisms, c-Met overactivation is achieved through the steps of carcinogenesis. Canonical mechanisms involve HGF binding, whereas non-canonical mechanisms are ligand-independent and involve mutations in kinase domain rendering the receptor overactive, deteriorations in downregulation loop, and activation through crosstalk and heterodimerization with other receptors [55–59].

c-Met has been shown to interact with many cell surface molecules including integrins, mucins, plexins, CD44, caveolin-1, and other receptor tyrosine kinases [58, 60, 61]. Since RTKs share varying degrees of homology in their kinase domains, heterodimerization and transactivation are common [62]. Interaction of c-Met with epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is the most extensively studied in HCC, colorectal cancer, and lung cancer. These studies have shown that EGFR-c-Met activation leads to elevated motility, proliferation, survival, invasion, metastasis, and drug resistance in cancer cells [63–66]. Similarly, interaction with human epidermal growth factor receptor 2/3 (Her2/3) heterodimerization leads to increased PI3K/Akt signaling and hence aforementioned responses [66, 67]. Interaction with RON increases colony formation, whereas insulin-like growth factor receptor (IGFR) and RET lead to increased motility and invasion [66, 68, 69]. In the presence of HGF, activation of c-Met also results in heterodimer formation with insulin receptor (IR) and IR activation to transmit intracellular signals of insulin in diabetes [62].

2.1.2 c-Met Alterations in Cancer and HCC

It is not surprising that loss of regulation on such a potent pathway leads to tumor development and carcinogenesis in several tissues. Aberrant c-Met signaling due to c-Met/HGF overexpression or overactivation is found in liver, colorectal, thyroid, lung, gastric, ovarian, breast, head and neck, and renal tumors [70–80].

c-Met overexpression is a very common mechanism in cancer and could arise from

genetic alterations, most frequently occurring through MET gene amplification as observed in varying levels in renal, colorectal, lung, adenocortical, gastric, and HCC tumors [51]. Point mutations are not common as gene amplification except for hereditary or sporadic forms of papillary renal cell carcinoma and are very limited in non-small cell lung cancer and head and neck cancer [51, 81]. In a Turkish cohort, the sequencing of regions coding for non-kinase and kinase domains of c-Met identified no mutations in nonsmall cell lung cancer patients [81]. Guichard et al. have analyzed 125 HCC tumors by highresolution copy number and 24 HCC tumors by whole-genome sequencing and could not detect any activating point mutation regarding MET gene [82].

Another mechanism of overexpression is through cellular triggers inducing c-Met transcriptional overexpression including; HGF overexpression which upregulates MET expression and enzymes responsible for c-Met protein maturation, oncogene activation, loss of tumor suppressors, and loss of control by noncoding RNAs and environmental transcriptional regulators like hypoxia [83, 84].

Elevated c-Met expression is detected in 35-65% of breast cancer patients, 15-80% of renal cancer patients, 25-60% of pancreatic cancer patients, 35-70% of non-small cell lung cancer patients, and 35% of colorectal cancer patients [85–89]. In a cohort of advanced intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma, extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma, and gallbladder cancer patients, 34.1% of the patients have overexpressed c-Met protein [90]. A high expression level of c-Met, 76.7%, was also indicated in extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma patients who received curative resection and adjuvant chemoradiotherapy [91]. Also overexpressed c-Met positivity was detected in 45% of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma patients with an overexpression ratio of 11.7% and in 68.4% of extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma patients with a ratio of 16.2% [92]. c-Met overexpression is also common in HCC; an early study identified twoto tenfold increase in MET expression in half of the HCC patients who received surgical treatment [93]. Another study also identified 31.6% of patients with higher *MET* expression and 69.6% with higher c-Met protein level compared to peritumoral tissue [94]. c-Met overexpression in HCC is correlated positively with intrahepatic metastasis, recurrence and poor prognosis, portal vein invasion, and advanced tumor stage [95–97].

In studies concerning MENA countries, c-Met RNA and protein expression was found to be increased in papillary thyroid carcinoma (PTC) and associated with more aggressive character, advanced disease stage, and activated Akt in a cohort of 536 Middle Eastern PTC patients [98]. c-Met expression and activation were also identified in a Turkish HCC cohort and associated with motile, invasive, and mesenchymal character [61]. Also in both this study and our analysis of cancer dependency map (DepMap) portal regarding HCC cell lines, c-Met is determined to be associated with less differentiation (Table 2).

2.1.3 Targeting c-Met in Liver Cancer

c-Met is a valuable biomarker in predicting cancer prognosis and treatment outcome; its prognostic potential has been studied in many cancers including the liver. Aforementioned, high c-Met expression is common in HCC and is related to decreased survival of HCC patients [93–97]. Its prognostic value in patients who underwent surgery or received prior sorafenib treatment is discussed in many studies; one study has shown that HCC patients who received surgical treatment have high c-Met expression in larger tumors, also in patients with higher AFP levels, portal vein invasion, and higher tumor-node-metastasis stage [99]. Other studies also have shown that HCC patients who have high tumoral c-Met levels benefit more from systematic treatment [100].

Therefore several approaches are developed against c-Met targeting its constitutive signaling. One approach is to target its binding with HGF by using decoy c-Met or domains of c-Met

	HGF/c-Met		AXL/Gas6	
HCC cell lines	c-Met	HGF	AXL	Gas6
HEP3B217	High	Low	Low	Low
HEPG2	Moderate	Low	Moderate	Low
HLF	High	Low	High	High
HUH1	High	Low	Moderate	Low
HUH6	Moderate	Low	Low	High
HUH7	Moderate	Low	Low	Low
JHH1	High	Low	Low	Moderate
JHH2	High	Low	Moderate	High
JHH4	High	Moderate	High	High
JHH5	High	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate
JHH6	High	Low	High	High
JHH7	High	Low	Low	Low
LI7	High	Low	High	Moderate
NCIH684	High	Low	Low	Moderate
PLC/PRF/5	Moderate	Low	High	Low
SK-HEP-1	High	Low	High	High
SNU-182	Moderate	Low	High	High
SNU-387	High	Low	High	High
SNU-398	Low	High	Moderate	Moderate
SNU-423	High	Low	High	High
SNU-449	High	Low	High	Moderate
SNU-475	High	Moderate	High	Moderate
SNU-761	High	Low	High	Low
SNU-878	High	Low	High	Moderate
SNU-886	High	Moderate	High	High

Table 2 HGF/c-Met and Gas6/Axl expression levels in HCC cell lines from CCLE database

as antagonists, or through the use of antibodybased therapeutics that bind directly to HGF or c-Met, and compete or neutralize to prevent ligand-receptor interaction [85, 101]. Regarding HGF-based targeting, NK2, NK4, and uncleavable HGF are commonly used. Among them, NK4 (intramolecular fragment of HGF which contains the four kringle domains) is a more promising analog compared to NK2, and is used as a competitive antagonist targeting both c-Met activation and angiogenesis [102].

Another approach is developing selective or multi-targeting small-molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors against c-Met kinase activity. Crizotinib and cabozantinib are well-known agents that belong to the family of ATP binding competitors that suppress the activatory domain of c-Met [85]. Tivantinib is developed as an oral drug targeting tyrosine kinases independent of adenosine triphosphate (ATP). Tivantinib was previously developed as a selective c-Met inhibitor; however, further studies uncovered its off-target effects [103, 104]. Crizotinib is developed as an effective c-Met inhibitor, and initial findings record its selective effects on both c-Met and anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK), but further studies identified its role also on Recepteur d'Origine Nantais (RON) and ROS1 [105]. Cabozantinib is also a multi-target drug showing activity against several RTKs including c-Met, RET, AXL, VEGFR-2, c-Kit, and FLT3 [106]. Together with cabozantinib, tivantinib is used in a second-line treatment after sorafenib in HCC. In a phase II clinical study, HCC patients were recorded to benefit better from tivantinib as a second-line treatment when c-Met expression is higher in HCC tumors, compared to the placebo group [100]. Median OS, progression-free survival, and median time to progression were found to be increased in the same study. Also they have shown that independent of the treatment regimen, patients in the placebo group with higher c-Met tumoral expression had significantly lower survival when compared to placebo patients with low c-Met tumoral expression. Following this phase II study with tivantinib, METIV-HCC phase III trial started. Biopsy samples before and after sorafenib treatment of HCC patients were positive for c-Met, and sorafenib treatment again increased c-Met expression from 35% to 69% [107]. Lorenzato et al. and Renzo et al. have detected somatic c-Met mutations not in primary tumors but in metastatic cells; together these data stress the pivotal role of c-Met in metastatic clone selection and drug resistance [108, 109].

Although c-Met is a promising target for cancer treatment, clinical trials like METIV-HCC (with c-Met inhibitor tivantinib) failed to show significant improvement [107]. It is arguable that appropriate patient selection criteria might be one reason. Hughes and Siemann suggested that criteria should not be limited just to c-Met overexpression, tumor type, and MET amplification but rather c-Met activation [110]. Since noncanonical activation and sustained signaling of c-Met have a significant role in carcinogenesis even in the absence of overexpression, taking c-Met activation into consideration might allow better patient selection and better targeted therapy. Also it should be noted that the expression and activity of c-Met have a very fine balance during the development of HCC. Knockdown and total inactivation of c-Met was also related to tumorigenesis, keeping this balance is critical and might have a role in the outcome of treatments [111].

2.1.4 The Role of c-Met in Treatment Response in Liver Cancer

Overexpression and activation of c-Met have been extensively associated with acquired resistance to cancer therapeutics. Resistance against targeted monotherapies and systemic therapies against multikinases or radiotherapy was found to be acquired in association with elevated c-Met expression and activity [112–114].

As a first-line treatment, sorafenib has been the most extensively studied drug by means of treatment response in HCC. Mechanisms overcoming sorafenib response include alternative targeting of c-Met. Akt inhibitors, when used solo, were found to activate c-Met in sorafenibresistant HCC cells, but dual inhibition of both Akt and c-Met using respective inhibitors MK2206 and capmatinib was suggested as a second-line treatment alternative and shown to suppress sorafenib-resistant HCC cells both in vitro and in vivo [115]. Supportingly, HGF induction of sorafenib-treated HCC cells was shown to induce Akt-Erk-EGR1 expressions through c-Met activation to gain resistance against apoptosis and become more invasive [116]. This effect was reversed by inhibiting c-Met activation through the use of PHA-665752 and EGR1 silencing with targeted siRNA. Studies also show that in the tumor microenvironment, HGF secretion is directly related to drug resistance. Co-culture of hepatic stellate LX2 cells with HuH-7 cells led to secretion of HGF from LX2, and blockage of Akt was shown to overcome sorafenib resistance generated by HGF induction [117]. In addition, the role of tumor-associated M2 macrophages in sustaining Akt-Erk signaling downstream of c-Met through HGF secretion was shown to contribute to sorafenib resistance in HCC [118]. As a positive feedback loop, M2 macrophages accumulated in sorafenib-resistant tumors where HGF acts as a chemoattractant to the macrophages [118]. Recent cell culture data has also supported the role of autocrine HGF secretion in c-Met activation in sorafenib-resistant cells, rendering them more invasive and metastatic, which might be reversed with the use of specific c-Met inhibitor and HGF-neutralizing antibody [119]. The studies of exosomes also enlightened another mechanism of c-Met activation in tumor niche to induce sorafenib resistance; exosomes isolated from more invasive cells were found to be more efficient in developing resistance [120].

Receptor crosstalk and heterodimerization are usually attributed as a key factor in gaining resistance to RTK-targeted therapies. Drugs targeting multiple RTKs were also efficient in overcoming sorafenib resistance. One successful strategy is to target both c-Met and VEGFR2 by using cabozantinib, which also targets AXL and RET [121]. The role of cabozantinib was more evident in c-Met overactive HCC xenografts. Lenvatinib is the only other first-line drug for advanced HCC therapy, and resistance mechanisms are recently identified. Not surprisingly, c-Met was found to have a role. HGF stimulation was shown to reverse lenvatinib's anti-proliferative and anti-invasive effects on HCC cells, and c-Met inhibitor PHA-665752 rescues the effect of HGF [122].

2.2 AXL and its Role in Liver Cancer Progression and Treatment Response

2.2.1 AXL Signaling Pathway

The receptor tyrosine kinase AXL was first isolated as a transforming gene from two different chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) patients that progressed to blast crisis in 1988 [123]. Three years later, it was cloned from a CML patient, characterized and named as AXL derived from the Greek word "anexelekto" which means uncontrolled [124]. Concurrently nearly at the same time, it was cloned from a chronic myeloproliferative disorder patient by an independent group and named UFO addressing the unknown function [125]. Surprisingly, another group also cloned murine AXL and called it adhesionrelated kinase (Ark) again in the same year [126].

Gene AXL is located on human chromosome 19q13.1 and encodes 20 exons. 104 kDa fulllength protein is firstly translated and consequently glycosylated at six N-link glycosylation sites and forms approximately 140 kDa [127]. AXL protein consists of two immunoglobulinlike (Ig-like) domains and two fibronectin type III (FNIII) domains in the extracellular space of cells followed by a single pass transmembrane domain and conserved intracellular kinase domain [128] (Fig. 2a). Those domain structures are also found in receptor tyrosine kinases Tyro3 and Mer. They, altogether, form a subgroup of RTK named TAM family [129]. Gas6 (growth arrest-specific protein 6) is a common ligand for the TAM family [130]. However, it has the highest affinity for AXL [131]. Gas6 is a 75 kDa vitamin K-dependent protein consisting of a Gla domain, four EGF-like domains, and two LG-like domains, respectively [128]. It is mainly expressed by leukocytes, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, smooth muscle, and bone marrow cells [132]. Under normal conditions, Gas6 is



Neutrophi infiltration

Fig. 2 (a) Canonical AXL-GAS6 binding adapted from [190]. (b) Elucidated regulator molecules of AXL in HCC adapted from [176, 178, 181, 182, 184, 191]. (c) AXL sig-

naling pathways involved in tumor progression (I-II-III-IV) [167, 170, 187, 189]. AXL is proteolytically processed by ADAM10/17 as a sAXL (V) [192]

expressed only by Kupffer cells (macrophages) in the liver [133]. During regeneration or in development, Gas6 expression is observed in oval cells, biliary cells, and sinusoidal cells. Hepatic stellate cells express Gas6 during myofibroblastic change. AXL expresses in hepatic stellate cells and oval cells as well. Whether the interaction between Gas6 and AXL is in the paracrine or autocrine manner is unknown. However, they contribute to hepatic regeneration [134].

In canonical ligand-dependent activation of AXL, two Gas6 molecules are required to bind two AXL receptors for signal transduction [128]. Gas6 can only bind to AXL from its LG-like domain if the Gla domain of Gas6 binds to PtdSer of apoptotic cells [131, 135] (Fig. 2a). PtdSer normally confines the inner leaflet of the cell membrane. When cells undergo apoptosis, PtdSer "eat-me" signal flips out and is exposed on the outer leaflet. PtdSer becomes accessible for the binding of Gas6 [136]. Therefore, AXL and Gas6 interaction would then provide a bridge between apoptotic cells and macrophages for phagocytosis [137].

Receptor dimerization of AXL upon Gas6 binding firstly serves Y698, Y702, and Y703 phosphorylation and then Y779, Y821, and Y866 [138]. As a result of the phosphorylation, multiple pathways such as PI3K/Akt, RAS/MAPK, STAT3, NF- κ B, and PLC γ /PKC are activated. AXL/Gas6 signaling controls many pivotal cellular processes from cell survival/proliferation to cell motility [139, 140].

Nevertheless, several publications have appeared in recent years documenting ligandindependent activation of AXL. AXL signaling may be initiated by either homodimeric or heterodimeric activation. When AXL was highly overexpressed on the surface of the cell, spontaneous AXL-AXL homodimeric activation and autophosphorylation may occur. For instance, AXL ligand-independent homodimeric activation has been observed in vascular smooth muscle cells under hypoxia or during H₂O₂ treatment of metastatic human lung adenocarcinoma cells [141, 142]. AXL heterodimerizes with both TAM family and non-TAM family members such as FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 (FLT3), EFGR,

c-Met, and platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR) [143, 144]. Although the demonstration of Mer and AXL heterodimerization is still lacking, Tyro-3 and AXL form heterodimer in gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH)secreting neuronal cells in the absence of ligand [145]. AXL crosstalk with FLT3 in progenitor cell of NK cells [143]; EGFR in NSCLC and breast cancer [144, 146]; and c-Met, PDGFR [144], and Her2 [147] in breast cancer has been previously reported in the literature. Ligandindependent activation of AXL has also been observed in vascular endothelial cells through crosstalk with $\alpha\nu\beta3$ integrin as a result of shear stress [148].

Once AXL signaling starts, it has been revealed that AXL regulates many pivotal pathways related to cell survival, proliferation, invasion, migration, and dedifferentiation, cytokine production, apoptotic protection, EMT, and matrix adhesion [149].

2.2.2 The Role of Aberrant AXL Signaling in Cancer and HCC

AXL is found to be aberrantly expressed in many cancers including brain [150], esophageal [151], thyroid [152], head and neck [153], prostate [154], ovarian [155], gastric [156], colorectal [157], and breast cancer [158], lung adenocarcinoma [159], non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) [160], glioblastoma [161], mesothelioma [162], B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia [163], acute myeloid leukemia (AML) [164], CML [124], melanoma [165], and liver cancer [166]. Multiple studies demonstrated the aberrant expression of AXL in HCC tissues when compared to adjacent non-tumor tissues by both mRNA and immunohistochemistry analysis [167-169]. Supportively, AXL is also overexpressed in many HCC cell lines (Table 2). However, not all of the HCC cell lines (Table 2) and tissues exhibit AXL overexpression. Some HCC patients not at all have AXL positivity [168–170]. Nonetheless, it has been discovered that AXL positivity in the tumor is strongly correlated with a high recurrence rate and poor overall survival. Besides, the expression of AXL is also associated with vascular invasion, metastasis, and advanced tumor stage [168, 171]. Overexpression of AXL in human HCC cell lines shows enhanced cell growth, morphology change, migration, and invasiveness. AXL knockdown HCC cells via RNAi exhibit reduced cell growth [168], invasion capacity, and tumor size [167]. A study on mouse hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines has been demonstrated that AXL expression is also associated with fast proliferation rate, migration, invasion, anchorage- independent growth in vitro and peripheral lymph node metastasis transendothelial invasion in vivo experiments [171].

Although the exact overexpression mechanisms of AXL are unknown, (1) YAP (Yesassociated protein) through Hippo pathway, (2) microRNA mir34a, (3) cellular trafficking regulator RAB10, and (4) FDZ2 could be major regulators of aberrant AXL signaling in HCC (Fig. 2b).

Hippo is an important signaling pathway required for organ homeostasis and development regulated by extracellular matrix elasticity and cell shape [172]. In normal condition, cell-to-cell interaction generates actin polymerization that activates mammalian sterile 20-like kinase 1/2 (MST 1/2) and subsequently large tumor suppressor homolog 1/2 (LATS1/2). Activated LATS1/2 phosphorylates YAP resulting in its proteasomal degradation. However, the Hippo pathway is inhibited in cancer cells or in regeneration. Therefore, YAP molecule translocates to the nucleus, and complex with transcription factor TEAD. This complex turns on anti-apoptotic and cell proliferative genes [173] (Fig. 2b-I). Hippo pathway is also a significant regulative and tumor suppressor pathway in the liver. It controls liver tissue growth, regeneration, and carcinogenesis [173]. The downstream target YAP transgenic mouse displays a huge liver size. It harbors dysplastic hepatocytes [174]. Both transcript and protein levels of YAP increase in HCC tumor tissues. Its expression is correlated with tumor recurrence and poor survival rate in HCC [175]. Direct associations of AXL and YAP was analyzed since non-tumorigenic cell line MIHA forms AXL expressing tumors in nude mice after Yap1 overexpression. Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assay and luciferase reporter activity proved that AXL is under control of the TEAD-YAP complex [176] (Fig. 2b-I). A short while ago, $\alpha 2\beta 1$ integrin was added upstream of the Hippo pathway in HCC. When extracellular collagen and laminin bind to $\alpha 2\beta 1$ integrin of cells, MST1 activity is suppressed and YAP becomes free to translocate to the nucleus leading to transcription of YAP-targeted genes including AXL [177] (Fig. 2b-I).

Another upstream regulator of AXL has been discovered recently [178]. Ras-related GTP binding protein RAB10 that controls intracellular vesicle trafficking from endoplasmic reticulum to Golgi [179] is upregulated in HCC. Knockdown of RAB10 increases the expression level of genes related to the RTK signaling pathway including AXL. RAB10 expression is also associated with tumor invasion, migration, and metastasis [178]. However, further substantiates are demanded to test whether those oncogenic potential depends on AXL or other pathways (Fig. 2b-II).

Direct binding of mir-34a-5p (a strand of mir-34a) to 3'UTR of AXL was proved by both luciferase reporter assay and sequencing [180, 181]. Regulation of AXL is confirmed by both miRNA-34a-5p overexpression and miRNA-34a-5p inhibitor treatment [181] (Fig. 2b-III). miR-34a is activated by p53 and has a significant role in HCC development. miR-34 overexpression resulted in G1 arrest and a decrease in cell proliferation, invasion, and migration [182]. Its expression also has diminished in the hepatocarcinogenesis of rats induced by methyl deficiency [183]. miRNA-34a-5p expression negatively correlated with cancerous tissues [181].

Very recently, multiple kinobead/LC-MS to find EMT-responsible genes has revealed that FZD2 regulates AXL expression [184] (Fig. 2b-IV). FZD1 downstream molecule STAT3 silencing in HCC cells via RNAi leads to a decrease in AXL expression suggesting STAT3 may be found upstream of AXL as well. However, the same study also discovered that silencing of AXL impairs Y705 phosphorylation of STAT3 [184].

AXL is involved in various signaling pathways such as PI3K, MAPK, and TGF-β pathways due to its overexpression in HCC. In the PI3K/ Akt pathway, AXL activation causes signal transduction followed by PI3K, Akt, and PAK1 activation (Fig. 2c-I). In this context, the silencing of AXL by shRNA decreases both PI3K and its downstream molecules' (Akt and PAK1) expressions. The invasive and metastatic ability of cells also reduced with the downregulation of AXL [167]. Additionally, AXL signaling through MAPK pathways including RAS, RAF, MEK, and ERK subsequent phosphorylation, respectively, turns on gene expression of Slug. Therefore HCC cells undergo EMT and gain invasive property (Fig. 2c-II) [170]. Finally, it has been discovered that AXL is a critical mediator of the transition of the tumor suppressor role of the TGF- β pathway to the pro-oncogenic role. Under normal physiological conditions, TGF-B regulates the growth of hepatocytes by induction of apoptosis [185]. However, TGF- β has elevated expression in HCC. TGF-\beta1 levels are correlated with HCC progression and poor prognosis [186]. Consistently, microarray data of human HCC collection revealed two clusters of TGF-βdependent antitumorigenic and tumorigenic genes are upregulated [187]. Under normal physiological conditions, ligand binding to TGF-β receptors leads to receptor activation, and phosphorylation of Smad3 causes its nuclear translocation to open cell cycle arrest and apoptosis-inducing genes in hepatocytes. However, in HCC, AXL takes a role. Reichl et al. have shown that collaboration of AXL with the TGF- β pathway is implicated in tumor progression, TGF- β resistance, invasion, EMT, and migration [171]. Activated AXL physically interacts with 14-3-3z and non-canonically phosphorylates Smad3 at linker site resulting in nuclear translocation of Smad3L to turn on pro-oncogenic responsive genes including TGF-β1, PAI1, MMP9, and Snail [171, 187] (Fig. 2c-III). The secretion of TGF^{β1} suppresses immune surveillance in the tumor microenvironment and supports tumor progression [188]. Related to the contribution of AXL-TGF-ß signaling axis on tumor microenvironment, it has been recently discovered that CXCL5 expression is controlled by the crosstalk of AXL with TGF- β signaling.

Long-term treatment of TGF- β increases CXCL5 expression via AXL. AXL knockout cells by CRISPR-Cas9 impair CXCL5 activation as well. CXCL5 is known for its role in neutrophil migration (Fig. 2c-IV). Nevertheless, overall patient survival is short if the patient had CXCL5 expression. Neutrophil migration may be used to promote tumor microenvironment by AXL-TGF- β signaling as a conclusion [189].

2.2.3 AXL in Diagnosis and Treatment Response of HCC

As previously described, new diagnostic biomarkers are needed for diagnosis and prognosis of HCC [193]. Soluble AXL (sAXL) is proposed as a potential biomarker for early diagnosis and prognosis of HCC [194-196]. AXL can proteolytically be cleaved from its extracellular region by ADAM10/17. It is shed from cells and can be detected in serum as sAXL [Fig. 2C-V] [192]. Reichl et al. discovered that total protein levels of AXL in HCC cell lines are correlated with sAXL release [196]. Supportively, several cohort studies with HCC and cirrhosis and control samples from both China and Europe showed that the sAXL levels are elevated in both AFP-positive and AFP-negative HCC patients. sAXL was able to detect early stage of HCCs when AFP levels were low. The sensitivity of sAXL was higher than AFP for differentiating HCC patients from healthy controls. Moreover, a combination of AFP and sAXL could provide an increase in the accuracy, sensitivity, and specificity of HCC detection [194–196]. sAXL appears to be a highly specific marker for HCC since patients with breast, ovarian, and colorectal cancers displayed unchanged levels of sAXL [192]. Cholangiocarcinoma and liver adenoma patients also release low levels of sAXL, but patients with nonmalignant chronic liver disease did not show high sAXL level [195]. Moreover, sAXL levels increase in correlation with the stage and progression of HCC [192, 196]. For instance, more metastatic or invasive HCC tumors display higher amounts of sAXL compared to those with noninvasive or non-metastatic HCCs [196].

AXL expression is associated with resistance against different drugs including DNA-damaging

agents such as cisplatin in AML [164] and esophageal [142] and ovarian cancers [155], doxorubicin in NSCLC [197] and AML [164], docetaxel in prostate cancer [198] and RTK inhibitors such as lapatinib in breast cancer [199], imatinib in CML [200] and gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIST) [201], nilotinib in CML [202], sunitinib in renal cell carcinoma [203], afatinib in gastric cancer [156], osimertinib [204], erlotinib and gefitinib in NSCLC [205], as well as sorafenib in HCC [169]. Elevated phosphorylation of AXL has been observed in sorafenib-resistant HCC cells that exhibit more invasive and migratory phenotype. AXL knockdown in HCC cells increased their sensitivity to sorafenib. Such cells displayed impaired motility and invasive characters as well [169].

Several studies have ascertained that chemoresistance of tumors via AXL overexpression is regulated through long non-coding RNAs or microRNAs. For instance, long non-coding RNA DANCR is a mediator of cisplatin resistance by activating AXL/NF- κ B axis in glioma cells [206]. miR-34a-5p was shown to interact physically with the 3'UTR of AXL, and its expression decreases AXL-mediated cisplatin resistance in HCC cells [181]. Similarly, a decrease in AXL expression and drug transporter protein MDR1 by ectopic expression of miR-34a reverses chemoresistance against doxorubicin [207].

2.2.4 Targeting AXL Signaling in Liver Cancer

Since its identification, AXL has become an increasingly attractive target for anti-cancer therapies. Multiple AXL inhibitors have been under development [208]. Small-molecule inhibitors [209], anti-AXL mAbs [210, 211], nucleotide aptamers [212–214], and decoy receptors [215] have been developed as inhibitors of AXL signaling.

Concerning HCC, only small-molecule R428 (bemcentinib, BGB324) [216] and bosutinib [217] have been explored. R428 is a highly selective inhibitor of AXL. The preclinical efficacy of R428 was first shown in breast cancer, decreasing metastasis and angiogenesis in vivo and delaying invasion and migration in vitro. R428 also gives a synergistic response with cisplatin to inhibit liver micrometastasis [216]. R428 also blocks cell viability, leads to G1 cell cycle arrest, and disrupts colony formation in AXL-expressing HCC cells. Following R428 treatment, HCC cells exhibited diminished fluorodeoxyglucose 18 (18F-FDG) uptake in a time-dependent manner, as an indication of decreased tumor cell metabolism [169]. Bosutinib (SKI-606) which is known as an inhibitor of Src and Abl kinases in CML also inhibited AXL autophosphorylation in HCC cells [217]. Also, bosutinib decreased AXLdependent HCC invasion [170].

Metformin, an antidiabetic drug, interferes with hepatic gluconeogenesis [218]. Recently, it was shown to display anti-proliferative activity in solid tumors [219] including HCC [220] and cholangiocarcinoma (CCA) [221]. CCA originates from the bile duct in the liver and is the second most common primary liver cancer after HCC [5]. Metformin incrementally decreased proliferation of human CCA cell lines, and this effect was associated with inhibition of AXL phosphorylation [221]. Elevated AXL expression has been observed in metformin-resistant prostate cancer cell line [222].

As previously stated, cabozantinib is a nonspecific multikinase inhibitor that also targets AXL. It was approved by the European Medicines Agency (EMA) and FDA as a second-line treatment for advanced stage and sorafenib-resistant HCC patients [223].

3 Synergism of c-Met and AXL Pathways, Crosstalk, and Inhibition in HCC

As clearly outlined earlier in this chapter, HCC is a devastating malignancy for which current therapies do not offer satisfactory results. Although the multikinase inhibitor sorafenib has opened a window of hope to combat HCC, the overall outcomes are far from being satisfactory. One reason for extraordinary resistance of HCC to therapy is the high complexity of the disease.

The development of technologies that enable next-generation sequencing of DNA and RNA and

large-scale tumor molecular profiling has revolutionized the field of cancer precision medicine which is defined as "the use of therapeutics that are expected to confer benefit to a subset of patients whose cancer displays specific molecular or cellular features" [224]. The success of a personalized approach to HCC management is dependent on the availability of reliable biomarkers. Clearly, development of "multiple-biomarkers panels" to predict tumor response to drug or drug combinations while avoiding excess toxicity has brought predictive biomarkers to the center of cancer therapy. During the past few years, there has been great progress in the generation of big omic data across multiple modalities in HCC from primary to metastatic tumors, from bulk tissues to single cells, and from preclinical models to patients. These new developments will empower the identification of new clinically relevant biomarkers (reviewed in [209]). In particular, among these big datasets, gene expression data consistently provided the best predictive power compared to other genetic or epigenetic datasets [225]. In addition, computational findings obtained from independent datasets including tumor-derived cell lines and tumors showed that signaling pathways serve as robust and powerful biomarkers [226]. A management plan aims to target a list of HCC molecular features, such as gene expression signature and signaling networks, that can be used to complement conventional target-based approaches. Recalling the fact that HGF/c-Met and Gas6/AXL pathways are highly active in HCC and related to the resistance to sorafenib, co-targeting HGF/c-Met and Gas6/AXL signaling pathways may hold promise for the treatment of HCC.

4 Biological Significance of the Potential Bidirectional Crosstalk between HGF/c-Met and Gas6/AXL Signaling Pathways

As discussed earlier in the chapter, HCC is driven by cumulative changes in the hepatocyte genome and epigenome affecting cell signaling and behaviors, allowing cells to escape from cytotoxic or targeted therapies. In addition, the crosstalk between tumor cells and their surrounding microenvironment including cellular (such as fibroblasts, invading inflammatory cells, endothelial cells, hepatic stellate cells, pericytes, adipocytes) and non-cellular stroma components (such as extracellular matrix components and growth factors) modulates HCC biology by effects on cancer signaling pathways in tumor cells. In such a rich microenvironment, the crosstalks between pathways and feedback inhibition constitute a complex network of signal transduction that drives dynamic and adaptive cellular responses. HGF/c-Met and Gas6/AXL pathways are examples for such interactions as they enable bidirectional information exchange between microenvironment, regulating tumor growth, metastasis, and drug resistance.

Although the c-Met and AXL receptors are frequently upregulated and co-expressed during hepatocarcinogenesis, their crosstalk is yet to be established in HCC. However, success of the cabozantinib, an inhibitor of both c-Met and AXL, in previously treated patients and the co-expression of c-Met and AXL suggest that they interact with each other during hepatocarcinogenesis.

In general, the crosstalk between receptor tyrosine kinases and non-receptor kinases occurs in a ligand-dependent or ligand-independent manner. Particularly, growth factor receptors appear to be in relatively close proximity, so that they can form complexes upon stimulation by their cognate ligands [227] (Fig. 3). The c-Met receptor is often complexed with AXL on the plasma membrane of various cancer cells such as glioblastoma, melanoma, and breast cancer cells [116]. In these cancer models, HGF treatment induces activation of both c-Met and AXL and formation of highly polarized c-Met-AXL clusters on the plasma membrane [228]. HGF also induces both the expression and phosphorylation of AXL in a ligand-independent manner [228, 229]. HGF increases motility and invasion through stimulation of a rapid and dynamic cytoskeleton reorganization by activat-



Fig. 3 Scheme summarizing the potential mechanisms by which c-Met and AXL crosstalk drives resistance to tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI)

ing GTPase RAC1, a process requiring both c-Met and AXL kinase activities [228]. A positive association between c-Met and AXL in bladder cancer was also detected [229]. In this model, similar to the mechanism described above, c-Met activation increased the expression of AXL and transactivated AXL signaling through the MEK/ERK pathway [229]. In clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC) and HCC cells, Gas6/AXL signaling transactivates c-Met through Src kinase to maximize cellular invasion [230]. Similar interactions occur in NSCLC as HGF-dependent c-Met activation enhances the AXL activity, and AXL positively regulates c-Met activity without affecting c-Met expression [231]. Moreover, studies show that miR-34a that is downregulated in cancers, including breast and gastrointestinal cancers, suppresses both c-Met and AXL expressions, causing a reduction in cellular migration and invasion ability [191, 232–234].

Since c-Met and AXL share many common elements in their signaling pathways including Akt, MAPK, Src, and Rac1, it is clear that there are many opportunities for c-Met to transactivate AXL and vice versa to modulate signals in HCC. However, such studies are lacking, and it will be extremely useful to explore mechanisms of co-activation of c-Met and AXL in HCC.

5 Scientific Rationale for Targeting the Crosstalk between c-Met and AXL

It has been also well documented that aberrant regulation of crosstalk has been associated with intrinsic and acquired drug resistance. The crosstalk between c-Met and AXL has been proved to allow the interplay with each other in some pathological processes including drug resistance. For instance, crosstalk involving c-Met and Akt pathways [115] and PI3K/Akt and JAK-STAT pathways [235] and the activation of hypoxiainducible pathways [236, 237] are involved in the acquired resistance to sorafenib, the current first-line therapy for HCC. More recently, AXL and EMT pathways have been implicated in the development of acquired resistance to sorafenib [169]. Particularly, in tumors with high levels of EGFR, such as lung and triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC), c-Met and AXL dimerize with this receptor and initiate signaling that interferes

with the antitumor effects of anti-EGFR therapies. Promisingly, the treatment foretinib (a c-Met, AXL, Ron, Kdr, Flt-3, and Flt-4 inhibitor) in combination with lapatinib (a dual EGFR and HER2 inhibitor) effectively restored lapatinib sensitivity [199] and reduced Akt phosphorylation that led to cell cycle arrest and reduction of migration and invasion in TNBC cells [236]. In addition to the association with EGFR inhibitor resistance, the crosstalks of AXL and c-Met are essential for lung cancer metastasis in NSCLC [231, 238]. Moreover, targeting c-Met/AXL/FGFR crosstalk using S49076, an oral ATP-competitive inhibitor of c-Met, AXL, and FGFR1-3, improves the antitumor efficacy of radiotherapy in NSCLC [239]. In the first-in-human phase I study, S49076 demonstrated limited single-agent activity with a tolerable safety profile in patients with advanced solid tumors [240]. In this phase I study, S49076 was encouraged for combination therapies. Later, it was combined with gefitinib (EGFR inhibitor) in phase I clinical trials, in c-Met/AXL dysregulated NSCLC patients who have progressed on EGFR-targeted treatment [241]. Promisingly, this combination therapy was found to be well tolerated [241]. In addition, in TNBC, the crosstalks between EGFR/c-Met/AXL have been associated with a lack of response to ErbB family-targeted inhibitors [144]. In this model, EGFR signaling transactivates AXL which is colocalized with c-Met on the plasma membrane leading to transactivation of c-Met too [144]. A similar drug resistance mechanism was detected with imatinib therapy against c-kit/alpha-PDGFR in gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIST) which was reversed by targeting AXL/c-Met [242]. In a renal carcinoma (RCC) preclinical model, c-Met- and AXL-mediated resistance against sunitinib, anti-angiogenic therapy, induces EMT-associated gene expression changes that includes Snail and beta-catenin [243]. The use of Cabozantinib, a potent inhibitor of VEGFR, AXL and c-Met, was shown to inhibit both c-Met and AXL activations and promote pro-metastatic behaviour and angiogenesis [243]. The efficacy of cabozantinib was also tested in a phase II randomized controlled trial, ECOG-ACRIN 1512, in NSCLC [244]. The design of the trial was based on the feasibility of using cabozantinib alone or combined with erlotinib in patients with EGFR wild-type NSCLC [244]. The trial identified signals of clinically meaningful efficacy superior to that of erlotinib alone [244]. Later, cabozantinib has been approved for the use in the first- and second-line settings in patients with advanced RCC [245]. As mentioned earlier in this chapter, in a doubleblinded, randomized phase III trial that compared cabozantinib with placebo in previously treated patients with HCC, cabozantinib resulted in longer overall survival and progression-free survival than placebo [238]. Overall, cabozantinib inhibits multiple receptor tyrosine kinases that play roles in HCC pathogenesis and treatment resistance involving c-Met and AXL. However, resistance to cabozantinib is also common [246, 247]. Notably, in RCC preclinical model, sunitinib treatment linked to acquired cross-resistance to cabozantinib losing inhibitory effect on c-Met signaling and driving survival mechanism [247].

Targeting c-Met and AXL cooperativity in HCC is a rational approach given the known efficacy of cabozantinib that inhibits both c-Met and AXL activities. Co-targeting can be achieved through drug combinations or through the design and development of a single compound that is able to inhibit multiple oncoproteins, in this case c-Met and AXL. There are some non-selective tyrosine kinase inhibitors that inhibit both c-Met and AXL simultaneously. BMS-777607, a small molecular inhibitor of c-Met and AXL, significantly blocks the HGF-stimulated activation of c-Met signaling, including MEK-MAPK and PI3K-Akt pathways [248, 249]. In prostate cancer in vitro models, BMS-777607 treatment inhibited cell migration and invasion activated by HGF [249]. In a sarcoma rodent tumor model, BMS-777607 impaired angiogenesis and metastasis through blocking c-Met signaling [250]. Complete tumor stasis was achieved in the human gastric carcinoma xenograft model following oral administration without any obvious toxicity [248]. In a similar tumor model, BMS-777607 reduced AXL phosphorylation in the hypercellular tumor regions, in the migratory front of tumor cells, and in the vascular proliferative region within glioblastoma xenograft model [251]. Currently (2020) the maximum tolerated dose of BMS-777607 (ASLAN002) in subjects with advanced or metastatic solid tumors is under investigation (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01721148 and NCT00605618). Another dual-targeting inhibitor, NPS-1034, was used to prevent the crosstalk between AXL and c-Met under EGFR inhibition [238]. This is a newly developed drug (NPS-1034) that targets both c-Met and AXL and was tested in combination with EGFR inhibitors, gefitinib or erlotinib using gefitinib- or erlotinib-resistant cells [238]. This combinatorial treatment synergistically inhibited cell proliferation and induced apoptosis in resistant cells and also was found to be effective in xenograft mouse models of resistant cells [238]. Promisingly, phase I study with BPI-9016, a novel small-molecule inhibitor that simultaneously targets both c-Met and AXL, with NSCLC patients showed antitumor activity and favorable safety and pharmacokinetic profiles [252]. Additionally, merestinib (LY2801653) that inhibits c-Met, AXL, RON, MKNK1/2, and NRTK1/2/3 was shown to inhibit migration, invasion, and concomitant in vivo tumor growth through downregulation of c-Met signaling in preclinical models of tumors including AML, gastric cancer, and NCSLC [253, 254]. This compound is currently being investigated in patients with advanced or metastatic cancer (ClinsicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03027284, NCT01285037, NCT03125239, NCT03292536, and NCT02711553).

Overall, preclinical and clinical studies have revealed that the downregulation of c-Met and AXL signaling disrupts key steps in metastatic cascade and tumor growth (Table 3). This indicates that targeting c-Met and AXL may hold promise for the treatment of HCC, owning active c-Met and AXL signaling. Since pharmacodynamic readout of dual inhibitors such as NPS-1034, BPI9016, and BMS-777607 is encouraging, further investigation of them in combination therapies can be used with sorafenib to combat c-Met and AXL resistance and sensitize cells to sorafenib. Cautiously, the probability of efficacy would have to be balanced against likely toxicity. Thus new clinical studies with well-designed patient selection criteria, dose selection, and adverse event profile will potentially demonstrate benefit.

6 Future Perspective

As briefly reviewed earlier, HCC is one of the most lethal cancer types. Although the poor outcome is largely secondary to a high proportion of patients who are diagnosed with advanced disease, the prognosis of HCC is also influenced by the inherent biological aggressiveness and the high metastatic potential of this malignancy. Treatment options remain limited with little progress over the last decades. From 2007 to 2017, sorafenib remained the only systemic agent with proven clinical efficacy for advanced HCC patients. Since 2017, with the approval of several new agents, there have been improvements in the treatment landscape of advanced HCC. Among these agents, regorafenib, lenvatinib, and cabozantinib as the targeted therapies, nivolumab and pembrolizumab as the immune checkpoint inhibitors, and ramucirumab as the anti-angiogenic have been shown to be effective in patients with HCC. In addition to these agents, multiple new agents have been under investigation in the clinical trials. However, persistence of drug resistance remains a major challenge leading to decreased drug response and the recurrence of disease. The overall cause of drug resistance is complex due to high plasticity and adaptability of HCC and the dynamic interactions between tumor cells and the microenvironment. Thus a comprehensive understanding of tumor biology will lead to identification of new targets and relevant pathways serving as diagnostic, predictive, and prognostic biomarkers. Thanks to novel technologies and "-omics"based characterization efforts, the molecular profiling of HCC is evolving rapidly that can offer not only identification of multiple new targets but

		Cancer type			Toxicological	
Inhibitors	Targets	studied	Biological activities	Phase	profile	Reference
Foretinib	c-Met, AXL, Ron, Kdr, Flt-3, and Flt-4	TNBC, NSCLC	Inhibition of migration, invasion, growth, and metastasis	Preclinical	-	[198]
NPS-1034	c-Met, AXL	NSCLC	Inhibition of proliferation, induction of apoptosis	Preclinical	-	[238]
BPI9016	c-Met, AXL	NSCLC	Inhibition of tumor Phase I growth		Well tolerated	[252]
S49076	c-Met, AXL, FGFR1–3	NSCLC	Improvement of the antitumor activity of radiotherapy	Phase I	Well tolerated	[239]
		NSCLC	Improvement of the antitumor activity of gefitinib	Phase I	Well tolerated	[240]
Cabozantinib	c-Met, AXL, Kdr, TIE2, Flt3, c-kit	NSCLC, RCC	Longer overall survival	Phase II	Well tolerated	[246, 247]
		HCC	Longer overall survival and progression-free survival	Phase III	Well tolerated	[21]
BMS- 777607	c-Met, AXL	Prostate cancer	Inhibition of migration and invasion	Preclinical	-	[251]
		Sarcoma	Inhibition of angiogenesis and metastasis	bition of Preclinical iogenesis and astasis		[251]
		Gastric cancer	Tumor stasis	Preclinical	-	[251]
		Advanced or metastatic cancer		Phase I (under investigation)		[251]
Merestinib	c-Met, AXL, RON, MKNK1/2, and NRTK1/2/3	AML, gastric cancer, NCSLC	Inhibit migration, invasion, and tumor growth	Preclinical		[253, 254]

Table 3 Examples of inhibitors targeting c-Met and AXL

also identification of the subset of patients who might respond to particular combinatorial therapies. Since HCC is a systemic disease already at a time of diagnosis, management of HCC requires a moving and dynamic planning of therapy. Considering heterogeneity and multifocal nature of HCC, therapy planning can be started by multiregional sampling of a patient's tumors and combination of agents, with each agent targeted to the features of different sub-clones and microenvironmental compartments. Recalling the fact that acquired resistance to an initially effective therapy is a greater challenge in the management of HCC, leading to relapse of the disease and poor prognosis, addressing multifactorial drug resistance mechanisms is imperative to achieve better outcome for this disease. Especially, bypassing certain drug target signaling pathways through molecular crosstalks and feedback loops that gives cancer cells survival advantage is one of the common drug resistance mechanisms in the development of resistance. Regarding the fact that c-Met plays a central role in resistance to targeted therapies and the high degree of crosstalk between c-Met and other signaling molecules suggest that c-Met inhibition is unlikely to be effective as a monotherapy. Thus, identification of crosstalk partners of c-Met such as AXL involved in the tumorigenesis may be clinically relevant to HCC and provide important biomarkers for combinatorial therapies. Therefore, targeting the crosstalk between c-Met and AXL might be an important approach to enhance effectiveness of therapy.

References

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2020. CA Cancer J Clin. 2020;70:7–30. https://doi. org/10.3322/caac.21590.
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68:394–424. https://doi. org/10.3322/caac.21492.
- T.C. Saglık Bakanligi Halk Sagligi Genel Mudurlugu, Türkiye Kanser Istatistikleri. 2016. https://hsgm.saglik.gov.tr/tr/kanser-istatistikleri/ yillar/2016-yili-turkiye-kanser-i-statistikleri.html. Accessed 5 Oct 2020.
- Global Health Data Exchange. Global Burden of Disease Study 2019 Results. Seattle, WA: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation; 2020. 2020. Available at: http://ghdx.healthdata.org/gbd-resultstool. n.d. Accessed 10 Oct 2020.
- Ananthakrishnan A, Gogineni V, Saeian K. Epidemiology of Primary and Secondary Liver Cancers. Semin Interv Radiol. 2006;23:047–63. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2006-939841.
- Llovet JM, Zucman-Rossi J, Pikarsky E, Sangro B, Schwartz M, Sherman M, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma. Nat Rev Dis Prim. 2016;2:16018. https://doi. org/10.1038/nrdp.2016.18.
- Colombo M, Iavarone M. Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Evidence-Based Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 365, Wiley; 2010, p. 650–60. https://doi. org/10.1002/9781444314403.ch40.
- McGlynn KA, Petrick JL, El-Serag HB. Epidemiology of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Hepatology. 2020:hep.31288. https://doi. org/10.1002/hep.31288.
- Chiang CJ, Yang YW, You SL, Lai MS, Chen CJ. Thirty-year outcomes of the national hepatitis B immunization program in Taiwan. JAMA J Am Med Assoc. 2013;310:974–6. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2013.276701.
- Sharafi H, Alavian SM. The Rising Threat of Hepatocellular Carcinoma in the Middle East and North Africa Region: Results From Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Clin Liver Dis. 2019;14:219– 23. https://doi.org/10.1002/cld.890.
- Can A, Dogan E, Bayoglu IV, Tatli AM, Besiroglu M, Kocer M, et al. Multicenter epidemiologic study on hepatocellular carcinoma in Turkey. Asian

Pac J Cancer Prev. 2014;15:2923–7. https://doi. org/10.7314/APJCP.2014.15.6.2923.

- Seyda Seydel G, Kucukoglu O, Altinbas A, Oguz Demir O, Yilmaz S, Akkiz H, et al. Economic growth leads to increase of obesity and associated hepatocellular carcinoma in developing countries. Ann Hepatol. 2016;15:662–72. https://doi. org/10.5604/16652681.1212316.
- Ayoub WS, Steggerda J, Yang JD, Kuo A, Sundaram V, Lu SC. Current status of hepatocellular carcinoma detection: screening strategies and novel biomarkers. Ther Adv Med Oncol. 2019;11:175883591986912. https://doi.org/10.1177/1758835919869120.
- Llovet JM, Ducreux M, Lencioni R, Di Bisceglie AM, Galle PR, Dufour JF, et al. EASL-EORTC Clinical Practice Guidelines: Management of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2012;56:908–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2011.12.001.
- Alacacioglu A, Somali I, Simsek I, Astarcioglu I, Ozkan M, Camci C, et al. Epidemiology and survival of hepatocellular carcinoma in Turkey: Outcome of multicenter study. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2008;38:683–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/jjco/hyn082.
- Llovet JM, Bruix J. Systematic review of randomized trials for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: Chemoembolization improves survival. Hepatology. 2003;37:429–42. https://doi.org/10.1053/ jhep.2003.50047.
- Llovet JM, Ricci S, Mazzaferro V, Hilgard P, Gane E, Blanc JF, et al. Sorafenib in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2008;359:378–90. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0708857.
- Bruix J, Qin S, Merle P, Granito A, Huang YH, Bodoky G, et al. Regorafenib for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma who progressed on sorafenib treatment (RESORCE): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2017;389:56–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(16)32453-9.
- Kudo M, Finn RS, Qin S, Han KH, Ikeda K, Piscaglia F, et al. Lenvatinib versus sorafenib in first-line treatment of patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: a randomised phase 3 non-inferiority trial. Lancet 2018;391:1163–1173. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30207-1.
- Finn RS, Qin S, Ikeda M, Galle PR, Ducreux M, Kim TY, et al. Atezolizumab plus bevacizumab in unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2020;382:1894–905. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1915745.
- Abou-Alfa GK, Meyer T, Cheng AL, El-Khoueiry AB, Rimassa L, Ryoo BY, et al. Cabozantinib in patients with advanced and progressing hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2018;379:54–63. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1717002.
- 22. Zhu AX, Kang Y-K, Yen C-J, Finn RS, Galle PR, Llovet JM, et al. Ramucirumab after sorafenib in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma and increased α-fetoprotein concentrations (REACH-2): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled,

phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2019;20:282–96. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30937-9.

- 23. Zhu AX, Finn RS, Edeline J, Cattan S, Ogasawara S, Palmer D, et al. Pembrolizumab in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma previously treated with sorafenib (KEYNOTE-224): a non-randomised, open-label phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2018;19:940–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30351-6.
- El-Khoueiry AB, Sangro B, Yau T, Crocenzi TS, Kudo M, Hsu C, et al. Nivolumab in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (CheckMate 040): an open-label, non-comparative, phase 1/2 dose escalation and expansion trial. Lancet. 2017;389:2492–502. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(17)31046-2.
- Abou-Alfa GK, Sahai V, Hollebecque A, Vaccaro G, Melisi D, Al-Rajabi R, et al. Pemigatinib for previously treated, locally advanced or metastatic cholangiocarcinoma: a multicentre, open-label, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol. 2020;21:671–84. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30109-1.
- Yılmaz Y, Güneş A, Topel H, Atabey N. Signaling Pathways as Potential Therapeutic Targets in Hepatocarcinogenesis. J Gastrointest Cancer. 2017;48:225–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12029-017-9958-1.
- Philip PA, Mahoney MR, Allmer C, Thomas J, Pitot HC, Kim G, et al. Phase II study of Erlotinib (OSI-774) in patients with advanced hepatocellular cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:6657–63. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2005.14.696.
- Ikeda S, Tsigelny IF, Skjevik ÅA, Kono Y, Mendler M, Kuo A, et al. Next-Generation Sequencing of Circulating Tumor DNA Reveals Frequent Alterations in Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Oncologist. 2018;23:586–93. https:// doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.2017-0479.
- 29. Li R, Yanjiao G, Wubin H, Yue W, Jianhua H, Huachuan Z, et al. Secreted GRP78 activates EGFR-SRC-STAT3 signaling and confers the resistance to sorafenib in HCC cells. Oncotarget. 2017;8:19354– 64. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.15223.
- Arii S. Role of vascular endothelial growth factor on the invasive potential of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2004;41:333–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhep.2004.06.022.
- 31. Jia J-B, Zhuang P-Y, Sun H-C, Zhang J-B, Zhang W, Zhu X-D, et al. Protein expression profiling of vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptors identifies subclasses of hepatocellular carcinoma and predicts survival. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2009;135:847–54. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00432-008-0521-0.
- Senturk S, Mumcuoglu M, Gursoy-Yuzugullu O, Cingoz B, Akcali KC, Ozturk M. Transforming growth factor-beta induces senescence in hepatocellular carcinoma cells and inhibits tumor growth. Hepatology. 2010;52:966–74. https://doi. org/10.1002/hep.23769.

- 33. Mancarella S, Krol S, Crovace A, Leporatti S, Dituri F, Frusciante M, et al. Validation of Hepatocellular Carcinoma Experimental Models for TGF-β Promoting Tumor Progression. Cancers (Basel). 2019;11:1510. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11101510.
- 34. Cagatay T, Ozturk M. p53 mutation as a source of aberrant β-catenin accumulation in cancer cells. Oncogene. 2002;21:7971–80. https://doi. org/10.1038/sj.onc.1205919.
- 35. Yuzugullu H, Benhaj K, Ozturk N, Senturk S, Celik E, Toylu A, et al. Canonical Wnt signaling is antagonized by noncanonical Wnt5a in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Mol Cancer. 2009;8:90. https://doi. org/10.1186/1476-4598-8-90.
- 36. Krejci P, Aklian A, Kaucka M, Sevcikova E, Prochazkova J, Masek JK, et al. Receptor tyrosine kinases activate canonical WNT/β-catenin signaling via MAP kinase/LRP6 pathway and direct β-catenin phosphorylation. PLoS One. 2012;7 https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0035826.
- 37. Azad T, Rezaei R, Surendran A, Singaravelu R, Boulton S, Dave J, et al. Hippo signaling pathway as a central mediator of receptors tyrosine kinases (RTKS) in tumorigenesis. Cancers (Basel). 2020;12:1–22. https://doi.org/10.3390/ cancers12082042.
- Kato T. Biological roles of hepatocyte growth factor-Met signaling from genetically modified animals (Review). Biomed Reports. 2017;7:495–503. https:// doi.org/10.3892/br.2017.1001.
- Schmidt C, Bladt F, Goedecke S, Brinkmann V, Zschiesche W, Sharpe M, et al. Scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor is essential for liver development. Nature. 1995;373:699–702. https://doi. org/10.1038/373699a0.
- Uehara Y, Minowa O, Mori C, Shiota K, Kuno J, Noda T, et al. Placental defect and embryonic lethality in mice lacking hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor. Nature. 1995;373:702–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/373702a0.
- 41. Huh CG, Factor VM, Sánchez A, Uchida K, Conner EA, Thorgeirsson SS. Hepatocyte growth factor/cmet signaling pathway is required for efficient liver regeneration and repair. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101:4477–82. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0306068101.
- 42. Ma H, Saenko M, Opuko A, Togawa A, Soda K, Marlier A, et al. Deletion of the Met receptor in the collecting duct decreases renal repair following ureteral obstruction. Kidney Int. 2009;76:868–76. https://doi.org/10.1038/ki.2009.304.
- 43. Demirci C, Ernst S, Alvarez-Perez JC, Rosa T, Valle S, Shridhar V, et al. Loss of HGF/c-Met signaling in pancreatic β-cells leads to incomplete maternal β-cell adaptation and gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetes. 2012;61:1143–52. https://doi.org/10.2337/ db11-1154.
- 44. Alvarez-Perez JC, Ernst S, Demirci C, Casinelli GP, Mellado-Gil JMD, Rausell-Palamos F, et al. Hepatocyte Growth Factor/c-Met Signaling

Is Required for -Cell Regeneration. Diabetes. 2014;63:216–23. https://doi.org/10.2337/ db13-0333.

- 45. Liu Y. The human hepatocyte growth factor receptor gene: Complete structural organization and promoter characterization. Gene. 1998;215:159–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1119(98)00264-9.
- 46. Gherardi E, Youles ME, Miguel RN, Blundell TL, Iamele L, Gough J, et al. Functional map and domain structure of MET, the product of the c-met protooncogene and receptor for hepatocyte growth factor/ scatter factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2003;100:12039– 44. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2034936100.
- Kong-Beltran M, Stamos J, Wickramasinghe D. The Sema domain of Met is necessary for receptor dimerization and activation. Cancer Cell. 2004;6:75–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ccr.2004.06.013.
- Gherardi E, Sandin S, Petoukhov MV, Finch J, Youles ME, Ofverstedt L-G, et al. Structural basis of hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor and MET signalling. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2006;103:4046–51. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0509040103.
- 49. Deying W, Feng G, Shumei L, Hui Z, Ming L, Hongqing W. CAF-derived HGF promotes cell proliferation and drug resistance by up-regulating the c-Met/PI3K/Akt and GRP78 signalling in ovarian cancer cells. Biosci Rep. 2017;37 https://doi. org/10.1042/BSR20160470.
- Schaeper U, Gehring NH, Fuchs KP, Sachs M, Kempkes B, Birchmeier W. Coupling of Gab1 to c-Met, Grb2, and Shp2 mediates biological responses. J Cell Biol. 2000;149:1419–32. https:// doi.org/10.1083/jcb.149.7.1419.
- Garajová I, Giovannetti E, Biasco G, Peters GJ. c-Met as a target for personalized therapy. Transl Oncogenomics. 2015;2015:13–31. https://doi. org/10.4137/TOGOG.S30534.
- Zhang YW, Wang LM, Jove R, Vande Woude GF. Requirement of Stat3 signaling for HGF/SF-Met mediated tumorigenesis. Oncogene. 2002;21:217– 26. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1205004.
- Furcht CM, Buonato JM, Skuli N, Mathew LK, Muñoz Rojas AR, Simon MC, et al. Multivariate signaling regulation by SHP2 differentially controls proliferation and therapeutic response in glioma cells. J Cell Sci. 2014;127:3555–67. https://doi. org/10.1242/jcs.150862.
- 54. Peschard P, Fournier TM, Lamorte L, Naujokas MA, Band H, Langdon WY, et al. Mutation of the c-Cbl TKB domain binding site on the Met receptor tyrosine kinase converts it into a transforming protein. Mol Cell. 2001;8:995–1004. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1097-2765(01)00378-1.
- 55. Ozen E, Gozukizil A, Erdal E, Uren A, Bottaro DP, Atabey N. Heparin Inhibits Hepatocyte Growth Factor Induced Motility and Invasion of Hepatocellular Carcinoma Cells through Early Growth Response Protein 1. PLoS One. 2012;7:e42717. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0042717.

- 56. Korhan P, Erdal E, Kandemiş E, Cokaklı M, Nart D, Yılmaz F, et al. Reciprocal activating crosstalk between c-Met and caveolin 1 promotes invasive phenotype in hepatocellular carcinoma. PLoS One. 2014;9:e105278. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0105278.
- 57. İşcan E, Güneş A, Korhan P, Yılmaz Y, Erdal E, Atabey N. The regulatory role of heparin on c-Met signaling in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. J Cell Commun Signal. 2017;11:155–66. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12079-016-0368-0.
- Viticchiè G, Muller P. c-Met and Other Cell Surface Molecules: Interaction, Activation and Functional Consequences. Biomedicines. 2015;3:46–70. https:// doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines3010046.
- Goyal L, Muzumdar MD, Zhu AX. Targeting the HGF/c-MET pathway in hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19:2310–8. https://doi. org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-2791.
- Lai AZ, Abella JV, Park M. Crosstalk in Met receptor oncogenesis. Trends Cell Biol. 2009;19:542–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2009.07.002.
- 61. Bozkaya G, Korhan P, Çokaklı M, Erdal E, Sağol Ö, Karademir S, et al. Cooperative interaction of MUC1 with the HGF/c-Met pathway during hepatocarcinogenesis. Mol Cancer. 2012;11:64. https://doi. org/10.1186/1476-4598-11-64.
- 62. Fafalios A, Ma J, Tan X, Stoops J, Luo J, Defrances MC, et al. A hepatocyte growth factor receptor (Met)-insulin receptor hybrid governs hepatic glucose metabolism. Nat Med. 2011;17:1577–84. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2531.
- 63. Jo M, Stolz DB, Esplen JE, Dorko K, Michalopoulos GK, Strom SC. Cross-talk between Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor and c-Met Signal Pathways in Transformed Cells. J Biol Chem. 2000;275:8806– 11. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.275.12.8806.
- 64. Bonine-Summers AR, Aakre ME, Brown KA, Arteaga CL, Pietenpol JA, Moses HL, et al. Epidermal growth factor receptor plays a significant role in hepatocyte growth factor mediated biological responses in mammary epithelial cells. Cancer Biol Ther. 2007;6:561–70. https://doi.org/10.4161/ cbt.6.4.3851.
- 65. Turke AB, Zejnullahu K, Wu YL, Song Y, Dias-Santagata D, Lifshits E, et al. Preexistence and Clonal Selection of MET Amplification in EGFR Mutant NSCLC. Cancer Cell. 2010;17:77–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2009.11.022.
- 66. Tanizaki J, Okamoto I, Sakai K, Nakagawa K. Differential roles of trans-phosphorylated EGFR, HER2, HER3, and RET as heterodimerisation partners of MET in lung cancer with MET amplification. Br J Cancer. 2011;105:807–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2011.322.
- 67. Bachleitner-Hofmann T, Sun MY, Chen CT, Tang L, Song L, Zeng Z, et al. HER kinase activation confers resistance to MET tyrosine kinase inhibition in MET oncogene-addicted gastric cancer cells.

Mol Cancer Ther. 2008;7:3499–508. https://doi. org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-08-0374.

- Follenzi A, Bakovic S, Gual P, Stella MC, Longati P, Comoglio PM. Cross-talk between the protooncogenes Met and Ron. Oncogene. 2000;19:3041– 9. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1203620.
- 69. Bauer TW, Somcio RJ, Fan F, Liu W, Johnson M, Lesslie DP, et al. Regulatory role of c-Met in insulinlike growth factor-I receptor - Mediated migration and invasion of human pancreatic carcinoma cells. Mol Cancer Ther. 2006;5:1676–82. https://doi. org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-05-0175.
- Sierra JR, Tsao M-S. c-MET as a potential therapeutic target and biomarker in cancer. Ther Adv Med Oncol. 2011;3:S21–35. https://doi. org/10.1177/1758834011422557.
- 71. Daveau M, Scotte M, François A, Coulouarn C, Ros G, Tallet Y, et al. Hepatocyte growth factor, transforming growth factor α, and their receptors as combined markers of prognosis in hepatocellular carcinoma. Mol Carcinog. 2003;36:130–41. https:// doi.org/10.1002/mc.10103.
- 72. Ma PC, Tretiakova MS, MacKinnon AC, Ramnath N, Johnson C, Dietrich S, et al. Expression and mutational analysis of MET in human solid cancers. Genes Chromosom Cancer. 2008;47:1025–37. https://doi.org/10.1002/gcc.20604.
- Aune G, Lian A-M, Tingulstad S, Torp SH, Forsmo S, Reseland JE, et al. Increased circulating hepatocyte growth factor (HGF): A marker of epithelial ovarian cancer and an indicator of poor prognosis. Gynecol Oncol. 2011;121:402–6. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2010.12.355.
- 74. Tanimoto S, Fukumori T, El-Moula G, Shiirevnyamba A, Kinouchi S, Koizumi T, et al. Prognostic significance of serum hepatocyte growth factor in clear cell renal cell carcinoma: comparison with serum vascular endothelial growth factor. J Med Investig. 2008;55:106–11. https://doi.org/10.2152/ jmi.55.106.
- 75. Kammula US, Kuntz EJ, Francone TD, Zeng Z, Shia J, Landmann RG, et al. Molecular co-expression of the c-Met oncogene and hepatocyte growth factor in primary colon cancer predicts tumor stage and clinical outcome. Cancer Lett. 2007;248:219–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2006.07.007.
- 76. Nakajima M, Sawada H, Yamada Y, Watanabe A, Tatsumi M, Yamashita J, et al. The prognostic significance of amplification and overexpression of c- met and c-erb B-2 in human gastric carcinomas. Cancer. 1999;85:1894–902. https://doi.org/10.1002/ (SICI)1097-0142(19990501)85:9<1894::AID-CNCR3>3.0.CO;2-J.
- 77. Ramirez R, Hsu D, Patel A, Fenton, C, Dinauer C, Tuttle RM, et al. Over-expression of hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor (HGF/SF) and the HGF/SF receptor (cMET) are associated with a high risk of metastasis and recurrence for children and young adults with papillary thyroid carcinoma. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2000;53:635–44. https://doi. org/10.1046/j.1365-2265.2000.01124.x.

- Liu N, Furukawa T, Kobari M, Tsao MS. Comparative phenotypic studies of duct epithelial cell lines derived from normal human pancreas and pancreatic carcinoma. Am J Pathol. 1998;153:263–9. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10)65567-8.
- 79. Chau NG, Perez-Ordonez B, Zhang K, Pham N-A, Ho J, Zhang T, et al. The association between EGFR variant III, HPV, p16, c-MET, EGFR gene copy number and response to EGFR inhibitors in patients with recurrent or metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. Head Neck Oncol. 2011;3:11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1758-3284-3-11.
- Tsao MS, Liu N, Chen JR, Pappas J, Ho J, To C, et al. Differential expression of Met/hepatocyte growth factor receptor in subtypes of non-small cell lung cancers. Lung Cancer. 1998;20:1–16. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5002(98)00007-5.
- Gumustekin M, Kargi A, Bulut G, Gozukizil A, Ulukus C, Oztop I, et al. HGF/c-Met overexpressions, but not met mutation, correlates with progression of non-small cell lung cancer. Pathol Oncol Res. 2012;18:209–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12253-011-9430-7.
- 82. Guichard C, Amaddeo G, Imbeaud S, Ladeiro Y, Pelletier L, Maad I, Ben, et al. Integrated analysis of somatic mutations and focal copy-number changes identifies key genes and pathways in hepatocellular carcinoma. Nat Genet. 2012;44:694–8. https://doi. org/10.1038/ng.2256.
- Zhang YW, Vande Woude GF. HGF/SF-Met signaling in the control of branching morphogenesis and invasion. J. Cell. Biochem., vol. 88, J Cell Biochem; 2003, p. 408–17. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.10358.
- 84. Ghiso E, Giordano S. Targeting MET: why, where and how? Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2013;13:511–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coph.2013.05.018.
- Yao HP, Hudson R, Wang MH. Progress and challenge in development of biotherapeutics targeting MET receptor for treatment of advanced cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta - Rev Cancer. 1874;2020:188425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbcan.2020.188425.
- Ho-Yen CM, Jones JL, Kermorgant S. The clinical and functional significance of c-Met in breast cancer: A review. Breast Cancer Res. 2015;17 https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13058-015-0547-6.
- Salgia R. MET in lung cancer: Biomarker selection based on scientific rationale. Mol Cancer Ther. 2017;16:555–65. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-16-0472.
- Kim JH, Kim HS, Kim BJ, Lee J, Jang HJ. Prognostic value of c-Met overexpression in pancreatic adenocarcinoma: a meta-analysis. Oncotarget. 2017;8:73098– 104. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.20392.
- Kim JH, Kim BJ, Kim HS. Clinicopathological impacts of high c-Met expression in renal cell carcinoma: a meta-analysis and review. Oncotarget. 2017;8:75478–87. https://doi.org/10.18632/ oncotarget.20796.
- 90. Heo MH, Kim HK, Lee H, Kim KM, Lee J, Park SH, et al. The clinical impact of c-MET over-expression

in advanced biliary tract cancer (BTC). J Cancer. 2017;8:1395–9. https://doi.org/10.7150/jca.17898.

- 91. Park HJ, Kim K, Paik JH, Chie EK, Kim S, Jang JY, et al. Is c-Met oncoprotein expression an adverse prognosticator in extrahepatic bile duct cancer treated with curative resection followed by adjuvant chemoradiotherapy? Clin Transl Oncol. 2016;18:625–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12094-015-1409-5.
- Miyamoto M, Ojima H, Iwasaki M, Shimizu H, Kokubu A, Hiraoka N, et al. Prognostic significance of overexpression of c-Met oncoprotein in cholangiocarcinoma. Br J Cancer. 2011;105:131–8. https:// doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2011.199.
- Boix L, Rosa JL, Ventura F, Castells A, Bruix J, Rodés J, et al. c-met mRNA overexpression in human hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 1994;19:88– 91. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.1840190115.
- 94. Suzuki K, Hayashi N, Yamada Y, Yoshihara H, Miyamoto Y, Ito Y, et al. Expression of the c-met protooncogene in human hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 1994;20:1231–6. https://doi. org/10.1002/hep.1840200520.
- 95. Wu F, Wu L, Zheng S, Ding W, Teng L, Wang Z, et al. The clinical value of hepatocyte growth factor and its receptor-c-met for liver cancer patients with hepatectomy. Dig Liver Dis. 2006;38:490–7. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.dld.2006.03.007.
- 96. Ueki T, Fujimoto J, Suzuki T, Yamamoto H, Okamoto E. Expression of hepatocyte growth factor and its receptor c-met proto- oncogene in hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 1997;25:862–6. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.510250413.
- 97. Kondo S, Ojima H, Tsuda H, Hashimoto J, Morizane C, Ikeda M, et al. Clinical impact of c-Met expression and its gene amplification in hepatocellular carcinoma. Int J Clin Oncol. 2013;18:207–13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10147-011-0361-9.
- Siraj AK, Bavi P, Abubaker J, Jehan Z, Sultana M, Al-Dayel F, et al. Genome-wide expression analysis of Middle Eastern papillary thyroid cancer reveals c-MET as a novel target for cancer therapy. J Pathol. 2007;213:190–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/ path.2215.
- 99. Gong XY, Ma N, Xu HX, Chen F, Huang XH, Wang Q. Prognostic significance of c-Met, β-catenin and FAK in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma following surgery. Oncol Lett. 2018;15:3796–805. https://doi.org/10.3892/o1.2018.7733.
- 100. Santoro A, Rimassa L, Borbath I, Daniele B, Salvagni S, Van Laethem JL, et al. Tivantinib for second-line treatment of advanced hepatocellular carcinoma: A randomised, placebo-controlled phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14:55–63. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70490-4.
- 101. Bradley CA, Salto-Tellez M, Laurent-Puig P, Bardelli A, Rolfo C, Tabernero J, et al. Targeting c-MET in gastrointestinal tumours: rationale, opportunities and challenges. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2017;14:562– 76. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2017.40.
- Matsumoto K, Nakamura T. NK4 (HGF-antagonist/ angiogenesis inhibitor) in cancer biology and thera-

peutics. Cancer Sci. 2003;94:321–7. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1349-7006.2003.tb01440.x.

- 103. Munshi N, Jeay S, Li Y, Chen CR, France DS, Ashwell MA, et al. ARQ 197, a novel and selective inhibitor of the human c-Met receptor tyrosine kinase with antitumor activity. Mol Cancer Ther. 2010;9:1544–53. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-09-1173.
- 104. Calles A, Kwiatkowski N, Cammarata BK, Ercan D, Gray NS, Jänne PA. Tivantinib (ARQ 197) efficacy is independent of MET inhibition in non-small-cell lung cancer cell lines. Mol Oncol. 2015;9:260–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molonc.2014.08.011.
- 105. Prabhash K, Noronha V, Joshi A, Desai S, Sahu A. Crizotinib: A comprehensive review. South Asian J Cancer. 2013;2:91. https://doi. org/10.4103/2278-330x.110506.
- 106. Grüllich C. Cabozantinib: Multi-kinase Inhibitor of MET, AXL, RET, and VEGFR2. Recent Results Cancer Res. 2018;211:67–75. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-91442-8_5.
- 107. Rimassa L, Assenat E, Peck-Radosavljevic M, Pracht M, Zagonel V, Mathurin P, et al. Tivantinib for second-line treatment of MET-high, advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (METIV-HCC): a final analysis of a phase 3, randomised, placebo-controlled study. Lancet Oncol. 2018;19:682–93. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30146-3.
- 108. Lorenzato A, Olivero M, Patanè S, Rosso E, Oliaro A, Comoglio PM, et al. Novel Somatic Mutations of the MET Oncogene in Human Carcinoma Metastases Activating Cell Motility and Invasion. Cancer Res. 2002;62
- 109. Di Renzo MF, Olivero M, Martone T, Maffe A, Maggiora P, De Stefani A, et al. Somatic mutations of the MET oncogene are selected during metastatic spread of human HNSC carcinomas. Oncogene. 2000;19:1547–55. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.onc.1203455.
- 110. Hughes VS, Siemann DW. Failures in preclinical and clinical trials of c-Met inhibitors: Evaluation of pathway activity as a promising selection criterion. Oncotarget. 2019;10:184–97. https://doi. org/10.18632/oncotarget.26546.
- 111. Kroy DC, Schumacher F, Ramadori P, Hatting M, Bergheim I, Gassler N, et al. Hepatocyte specific deletion of c-Met leads to the development of severe non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in mice. J Hepatol. 2014;61:883–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhep.2014.05.019.
- 112. Vansteenkiste JF, Van De Kerkhove C, Wauters E, Van Mol P. Capmatinib for the treatment of nonsmall cell lung cancer. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2019;19:659–71. https://doi.org/10.1080/14737140. 2019.1643239.
- 113. De Bacco F, Luraghi P, Medico E, Reato G, Girolami F, Perera T, et al. Induction of MET by Ionizing Radiation and Its Role in Radioresistance and Invasive Growth of Cancer. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst. 2011;103:645–61. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/ djr093.

- 114. Sun S, Wang Z. Head neck squamous cell carcinoma c-Met+ cells display cancer stem cell properties and are responsible for cisplatin-resistance and metastasis. Int J Cancer. 2011;129:2337–48. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ijc.25927.
- 115. Han P, Li H, Jiang X, Zhai B, Tan G, Zhao D, et al. Dual inhibition of Akt and c-Met as a second-line therapy following acquired resistance to sorafenib in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Mol Oncol. 2017;11:320– 34. https://doi.org/10.1002/1878-0261.12039.
- 116. Xiang QF, Zhan MX, Li Y, Liang H, Hu C, Huang YM, et al. Activation of MET promotes resistance to sorafenib in hepatocellular carcinoma cells via the AKT/ERK1/2-EGR1 pathway. Artif Cells Nanomedicine Biotechnol. 2019;47:83–9. https:// doi.org/10.1080/21691401.2018.1543195.
- 117. Chen W, Wu J, Shi H, Wang Z, Zhang G, Cao Y, et al. Hepatic Stellate Cell Coculture Enables Sorafenib Resistance in Huh7 Cells through HGF/c-Met/Akt and Jak2/Stat3 Pathways. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:1–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/764981.
- 118. Dong N, Shi X, Wang S, Gao Y, Kuang Z, Xie Q, et al. M2 macrophages mediate sorafenib resistance by secreting HGF in a feed-forward manner in hepatocellular carcinoma. Br J Cancer. 2019;121:22–33. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41416-019-0482-x.
- 119. Firtina Karagonlar Z, Koc D, Iscan E, Erdal E, Atabey N. Elevated hepatocyte growth factor expression as an autocrine c-Met activation mechanism in acquired resistance to sorafenib in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Cancer Sci. 2016;107:407–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.12891.
- 120. Qu Z, Wu J, Wu J, Luo D, Jiang C, Ding Y. Exosomes derived from HCC cells induce sorafenib resistance in hepatocellular carcinoma both in vivo and in vitro. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2016;35:159. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13046-016-0430-z.
- 121. Xiang Q, Chen W, Ren M, Wang J, Zhang H, Deng DYB, et al. Cabozantinib Suppresses Tumor Growth and Metastasis in Hepatocellular Carcinoma by a Dual Blockade of VEGFR2 and MET. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20:2959–70. https://doi. org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-2620.
- 122. Fu R, Jiang S, Li J, Chen H, Zhang X. Activation of the HGF/c-MET axis promotes lenvatinib resistance in hepatocellular carcinoma cells with high c-MET expression. Med Oncol. 2020;37 https://doi. org/10.1007/s12032-020-01350-4.
- 123. Liu E, Hjelle B, Bishop JM. Transforming genes in chronic myelogenous leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1988;85:1952–6. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.85.6.1952.
- 124. O'Bryan JP, Frye RA, Cogswell PC, Neubauer A, Kitch B, Prokop C, et al. Axl, a Transforming Gene Isolated From Primary Human Myeloid Leukemia Cells, Encodes a Novel Receptor Tyrosine Kinase. Mol Cell Biol. 1991;11:5016–31. https://doi. org/10.1128/mcb.11.10.5016.

- 125. Janssen JWG, Schulz AS, Steenvoorden ACM, Schmidberger M, Strehl S, Ambros PF, et al. A novel putative tyrosine kinase receptor with oncogenic potential. Oncogene. 1991;6:2113–20.
- 126. Rescigno J, Mansukhani A, Basilico C. A putative receptor tyrosine kinase with unique structural topology. Oncogene. 1991;6:1909–13.
- 127. Brown M, Black JRM, Sharma R, Stebbing J, Pinato DJ. Gene of the month: Axl. J Clin Pathol. 2016;69:391–7. https://doi.org/10.1136/ jclinpath-2016-203629.
- 128. Sasaki T, Knyazev PG, Clout NJ, Cheburkin Y, Göhring W, Ullrich A, et al. Structural basis for Gas6-Axl signalling. EMBO J. 2006;25:80–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7600912.
- 129. Lee C-H, Chun T. Anti-Inflammatory Role of TAM Family of Receptor Tyrosine Kinases Via Modulating Macrophage Function. Mol Cell. 2019;42:1–7. https://doi.org/10.14348/molcells.2018.0419.
- 130. Laurance S, Lemarié CA, Blostein MD. Growth Arrest-Specific Gene 6 (gas6) and Vascular Hemostasis. Adv Nutr. 2012;3:196–203. https://doi. org/10.3945/an.111.001826.
- Nagata K, Ohashi K, Nakano T, Arita H, Zong C, Hanafusa H, et al. Identification of the Product of Growth Arrest-specific Gene 6 as a Common Ligand for Axl, Sky, and Mer Receptor Tyrosine Kinases. J Biol Chem. 1996;271:30022–7. https://doi. org/10.1074/jbc.271.47.30022.
- 132. Tjwa M, Bellido-Martin L, Lin Y, Lutgens E, Plaisance S, Bono F, et al. Gas6 promotes inflammation by enhancing interactions between endothelial cells, platelets, and leukocytes. Blood. 2008;111:4096–105. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2007-05-089565.
- 133. Lafdil F, Chobert MN, Couchie D, Brouillet A, Zafrani ES, Mavier P, et al. Induction of Gas6 protein in CCl 4 -induced rat liver injury and antiapoptotic effect on hepatic stellate cells. Hepatology. 2006;44:228–39. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.21237.
- 134. Couchie D, Lafdil F, Martin-Garcia N, Laperche Y, Zafrani ES, Mavier P. Expression and role of Gas6 protein and of its receptor Axl in hepatic regeneration from oval cells in the rat. Gastroenterology. 2005;129:1633–42. https://doi.org/10.1053/j. gastro.2005.08.004.
- 135. Meyer AS, Zweemer AJM, Lauffenburger DA. The AXL Receptor Is a Sensor of Ligand Spatial Heterogeneity. Cell Syst. 2015;1:25–36. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cels.2015.06.002.
- Ravichandran KS. Find-me and eat-me signals in apoptotic cell clearance: progress and conundrums. J Exp Med. 2010;207:1807–17. https://doi. org/10.1084/jem.20101157.
- 137. Myers KV, Amend SR, Pienta KJ. Targeting Tyro3, Axl and MerTK (TAM receptors): implications for macrophages in the tumor microenvironment. Mol Cancer. 2019;18:94. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12943-019-1022-2.

- 138. Lauter M, Weber A, Torka R. Targeting of the AXL receptor tyrosine kinase by small molecule inhibitor leads to AXL cell surface accumulation by impairing the ubiquitin-dependent receptor degradation. Cell Commun Signal. 2019;17:59. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12964-019-0377-8.
- 139. Scaltriti M, Elkabets M, Baselga J. Molecular Pathways: AXL, a Membrane Receptor Mediator of Resistance to Therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22:1313–7. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1458.
- 140. Zhang G, Wang M, Zhao H, Cui W. Function of Axl receptor tyrosine kinase in non-small cell lung cancer (Review). Oncol Lett. 2017; https://doi. org/10.3892/ol.2017.7694.
- 141. Konishi A, Aizawa T, Mohan A, Korshunov VA, Berk BC. Hydrogen peroxide activates the Gas6-Axl pathway in vascular smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem. 2004;279:28766–70. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M401977200.
- 142. Huang JS, Cho CY, Hong CC, Yan M De, Hsieh MC, Lay JD, et al. Oxidative stress enhances Axl-mediated cell migration through an Akt1/Rac1-dependent mechanism. vol. 65. Elsevier; 2013. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.09.011.
- 143. Park IK, Trotta R, Yu J, Caligiuri MA. Axl/Gas6 pathway positively regulates FLT3 activation in human natural killer cell development. Eur J Immunol. 2013;43:2750–5. https://doi.org/10.1002/ eji.201243116.
- 144. Meyer AS, Miller MA, Gertler FB, Lauffenburger DA. The Receptor AXL Diversifies EGFR Signaling and Limits the Response to EGFR-Targeted Inhibitors in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer Cells. Sci Signal. 2013;6:ra66–ra66. https://doi. org/10.1126/scisignal.2004155.
- 145. Pierce A, Bliesner B, Xu M, Nielsen-Preiss S, Lemke G, Tobet S, et al. Axl and Tyro3 Modulate Female Reproduction by Influencing Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Neuron Survival and Migration. Mol Endocrinol. 2008;22:2481–95. https://doi. org/10.1210/me.2008-0169.
- 146. Gusenbauer S, Vlaicu P, Ullrich A. HGF induces novel EGFR functions involved in resistance formation to tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Oncogene. 2013;32:3846– 56. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2012.396.
- 147. Goyette M-A, Duhamel S, Aubert L, Pelletier A, Savage P, Thibault M-P, et al. The Receptor Tyrosine Kinase AXL Is Required at Multiple Steps of the Metastatic Cascade during HER2-Positive Breast Cancer Progression. Cell Rep. 2018;23:1476–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.04.019.
- 148. Dimmeler S, Hermann C, Galle J, Zeiher AM. Upregulation of Superoxide Dismutase and Nitric Oxide Synthase Mediates the Apoptosis-Suppressive Effects of Shear Stress on Endothelial Cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1999;19:656– 64. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.19.3.656.

- 149. Axelrod H, Pienta KJ, Pienta K. Axl as a mediator of cellular growth and survival The TAM receptor tyrosine kinase family mediates the function of protein S and Gas6. Oncotarget. 2014;5
- 150. Vajkoczy P, Knyazev P, Kunkel A, Capelle H-H, Behrndt S, von Tengg-Kobligk H, et al. Dominantnegative inhibition of the Axl receptor tyrosine kinase suppresses brain tumor cell growth and invasion and prolongs survival. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2006;103:5799–804. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0510923103.
- 151. Hector A, Montgomery EA, Karikari C, Canto MI, Dunbar KB, Wang JS, et al. The Axl receptor tyrosine kinase is an adverse prognostic factor and a therapeutic target in esophageal adenocarcinoma. Cancer Biol Ther. 2010;10:1009–18. https://doi. org/10.4161/cbt.10.10.13248.
- 152. Avilla E, Guarino V, Visciano C, Liotti F, Svelto M, Krishnamoorthy G, et al. Activation of TYRO3/ AXL Tyrosine Kinase Receptors in Thyroid Cancer. Cancer Res. 2011;71:1792–804. https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2186.
- 153. Brand TM, Iida M, Stein AP, Corrigan KL, Braverman CM, Coan JP, et al. Correction: AXL Is a Logical Molecular Target in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2018;24:6099. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-18-3194.
- 154. Paccez JD, Vasques GJ, Correa RG, Vasconcellos JF, Duncan K, Gu X, et al. The receptor tyrosine kinase Axl is an essential regulator of prostate cancer proliferation and tumor growth and represents a new therapeutic target. Oncogene. 2013;32:689–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2012.89.
- 155. Chen P, Li Q, Yang Z. Axl and prostasin are biomarkers for prognosis of ovarian adenocarcinoma. Ann Diagn Pathol. 2013;17:425–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.anndiagpath.2013.01.005.
- 156. Wu C-W, Li AFY, Chi C-W, Lai C-H, Huang CL, Lo S-S, et al. Clinical significance of AXL kinase family in gastric cancer. Anticancer Res. 2002;22:1071–8.
- 157. Dunne PD, McArt DG, Blayney JK, Kalimutho M, Greer S, Wang T, et al. AXL Is a Key Regulator of Inherent and Chemotherapy-Induced Invasion and Predicts a Poor Clinical Outcome in Early-Stage Colon Cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20:164–75. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-1354.
- 158. Berclaz G, Altermatt HJ, Rohrbach V, Kieffer I, Dreher E, Andres A-C. Estrogen dependent expression of the receptor tyrosine kinase axl in normal and malignant human breast. Ann Oncol. 2001;12:819– 24. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1011126330233.
- 159. Shinh Y-S, Lai C-Y, Kao Y-R, Shiah S-G, Chu Y-W, Lee H-S, et al. Expression of Axl in Lung Adenocarcinoma and Correlation with Tumor Progression. Neoplasia. 2005;7:1058–64. https:// doi.org/10.1593/neo.05640.
- Wimmel A, Glitz D, Kraus A, Roeder J, Schuermann M. Axl receptor tyrosine kinase expression in human

lung cancer cell lines correlates with cellular adhesion. Eur J Cancer. 2001;37:2264–74. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0959-8049(01)00271-4.

- 161. Hutterer M, Knyazev P, Abate A, Reschke M, Maier H, Stefanova N, et al. Axl and Growth Arrest Specific Gene 6 Are Frequently Overexpressed in Human Gliomas and Predict Poor Prognosis in Patients with Glioblastoma Multiforme. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14:130–8. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-0862.
- 162. Pinato DJ, Mauri FA, Lloyd T, Vaira V, Casadio C, Boldorini RL, et al. The expression of Axl receptor tyrosine kinase influences the tumour phenotype and clinical outcome of patients with malignant pleural mesothelioma. Br J Cancer. 2013;108:621–8. https:// doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2013.9.
- 163. Ghosh AK, Secreto C, Boysen J, Sassoon T, Shanafelt TD, Mukhopadhyay D, et al. The novel receptor tyrosine kinase Axl is constitutively active in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia and acts as a docking site of nonreceptor kinases: implications for therapy. Blood. 2011;117:1928–37. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2010-09-305649.
- 164. Hong C-C, Lay J-D, Huang J-S, Cheng A-L, Tang J-L, Lin M-T, et al. Receptor tyrosine kinase AXL is induced by chemotherapy drugs and overexpression of AXL confers drug resistance in acute myeloid leukemia. Cancer Lett. 2008;268:314–24. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2008.04.017.
- 165. van Ginkel PR, Gee RL, Shearer RL, Subramanian L, Walker TM, Albert DM, et al. Expression of the Receptor Tyrosine Kinase Axl Promotes Ocular Melanoma Cell Survival. Cancer Res. 2004;64:128–34. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-0245.
- 166. Tsou AP, Wu KM, Tsen TY, Chi CW, Chiu JH, Lui WY, et al. Parallel hybridization analysis of multiple protein kinase genes: Identification of gene expression patterns characteristic of human hepatocellular carcinoma. Genomics. 1998;50:331–40. https://doi. org/10.1006/geno.1998.5338.
- 167. Xu J, Jia L, Ma H, Li Y, Ma Z, Zhao Y. Axl gene knockdown inhibits the metastasis properties of hepatocellular carcinoma via PI3K/Akt-PAK1 signal pathway. Tumor Biol. 2014;35:3809–17. https://doi. org/10.1007/s13277-013-1521-5.
- 168. Liu J, Wang K, Yan Z, Xia Y, Li J, Shi L, et al. Axl expression stratifies patients with poor prognosis after hepatectomy for hepatocellular carcinoma. PLoS One. 2016;11:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0154767.
- 169. Pinato DJ, Brown MW, Trousil S, Aboagye EO, Beaumont J, Zhang H, et al. Integrated analysis of multiple receptor tyrosine kinases identifies Axl as a therapeutic target and mediator of resistance to sorafenib in hepatocellular carcinoma. Br J Cancer. 2019;120:512–21. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41416-018-0373-6.
- 170. Lee HJ, Jeng YM, Chen YL, Chung L, Yuan RH. Gas6/Axl pathway promotes tumor invasion

through the transcriptional activation of slug in hepatocellular carcinoma. Carcinogenesis. 2014;35:769– 75. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgt372.

- 171. Reichl P, Dengler M, van Zijl F, Huber H, Führlinger G, Reichel C, et al. Axl activates autocrine transforming growth factor-β signaling in hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 2015;61:930–41. https:// doi.org/10.1002/hep.27492.
- 172. Yu F-X, Zhao B, Guan K-L. Hippo Pathway in Organ Size Control, Tissue Homeostasis, and Cancer. Cell. 2015;163:811–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2015.10.044.
- 173. Zhang S, Zhou D. Role of the transcriptional coactivators YAP/TAZ in liver cancer. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2019;61:64–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ceb.2019.07.006.
- 174. Camargo FD, Gokhale S, Johnnidis JB, Fu D, Bell GW, Jaenisch R, et al. YAP1 Increases Organ Size and Expands Undifferentiated Progenitor Cells. Curr Biol. 2007;17:2054–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cub.2007.10.039.
- 175. Xu MZ, Yao T-J, Lee NPY, Ng IOL, Chan Y-T, Zender L, et al. Yes-associated protein is an independent prognostic marker in hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer. 2009;115:4576–85. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cncr.24495.
- 176. Xu MZ, Chan SW, Liu AM, Wong KF, Fan ST, Chen J, et al. AXL receptor kinase is a mediator of YAPdependent oncogenic functions in hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncogene. 2011;30:1229–40. https:// doi.org/10.1038/onc.2010.504.
- 177. Wong K-F, Liu AM, Hong W, Xu Z, Luk JM. Integrin α2β1 inhibits MST1 kinase phosphorylation and activates Yes-associated protein oncogenic signaling in hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncotarget. 2016;7:77683–95. https://doi.org/10.18632/ oncotarget.12760.
- 178. Wang W, Jia W-D, Hu B, Pan Y-Y. RAB10 overexpression promotes tumor growth and indicates poor prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncotarget. 2017;8:26434–47. https://doi.org/10.18632/ oncotarget.15507.
- 179. He H, Dai F, Yu L, She X, Zhao Y, Jiang J, et al. Identification and Characterization of Nine Novel Human Small GTPases Showing Variable Expressions in Liver Cancer Tissues. Gene Expr. 2002;10:231–42. https://doi. org/10.3727/00000002783992406.
- 180. Córdova-Rivas S, Fraire-Soto I, Mercado-Casas Torres A, Servín-González L, Granados-López A, López-Hernández Y, et al. 5p and 3p Strands of miR-34 Family Members Have Differential Effects in Cell Proliferation, Migration, and Invasion in Cervical Cancer Cells. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20:545. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20030545.
- 181. X-Y LI, J-Y WEN, C-C JIA, T-T WANG, LI X, DONG M, et al. MicroRNA-34a-5p enhances sensitivity to chemotherapy by targeting AXL in hepatocellular carcinoma MHCC-97L cells. Oncol

Lett. 2015;10:2691-8. https://doi.org/10.3892/ ol.2015.3654.

- 182. Cheng J, Zhou L, Xie QF, Xie HY, Wei XY, Gao F, et al. The impact of miR-34a on protein output in hepatocellular carcinoma HepG2 cells. Proteomics. 2010;10:1557–72. https://doi.org/10.1002/ pmic.200900646.
- 183. Tryndyak VP, Ross SA, Beland FA, Pogribny IP. Down-regulation of the microRNAs miR-34a, miR-127, and miR-200b in rat liver during hepatocarcinogenesis induced by a methyl-deficient diet. Mol Carcinog 2009;48:479–487. https://doi. org/10.1002/mc.20484.
- 184. Golkowski M, Lau H-T, Chan M, Kenerson H, Vidadala VN, Shoemaker A, et al. Pharmacoproteomics Identifies Kinase Pathways that Drive the Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition and Drug Resistance in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Cell Syst. 2020;11:196–207.e7. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cels.2020.07.006.
- 185. Matsuzaki K, Seki T, Okazaki K. TGF-β signal shifting between tumor suppression and fibrocarcinogenesis in human chronic liver diseases. J Gastroenterol. 2014;49:971–81. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00535-013-0910-2.
- 186. Katz LH, Likhter M, Jogunoori W, Belkin M, Ohshiro K, Mishra L. TGF-β signaling in liver and gastrointestinal cancers. Cancer Lett. 2016;379:166– 72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2016.03.033.
- 187. Calvisi DF. When good transforming growth factor-β turns bad in hepatocellular carcinoma: Axl takes the stage. Hepatology. 2015;61:759–61. https://doi. org/10.1002/hep.27624.
- 188. Wang Y, Deng B, Tang W, Liu T, Shen X. TGF-β1 secreted by hepatocellular carcinoma induces the expression of the Foxp3 gene and suppresses antitumor immunity in the tumor microenvironment. Dig Dis Sci. 2013;58:1644–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10620-012-2550-4.
- 189. Haider C, Hnat J, Wagner R, Huber H, Timelthaler G, Grubinger M, et al. Transforming Growth Factor-β and Axl Induce CXCL5 and Neutrophil Recruitment in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Hepatology. 2019;69:222–36. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.30166.
- Morizono K, Chen ISY. Role of Phosphatidylserine Receptors in Enveloped Virus Infection. J Virol. 2014;88:4275–90. https://doi.org/10.1128/ JVI.03287-13.
- 191. Li N, Fu H, Tie Y, Hu Z, Kong W, Wu Y, et al. miR-34a inhibits migration and invasion by downregulation of c-Met expression in human hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Cancer Lett. 2009;275:44–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2008.09.035.
- 192. Miller MA, Sullivan RJ, Lauffenburger DA. Molecular Pathways: Receptor Ectodomain Shedding in Treatment, Resistance, and Monitoring of Cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2017;23:623–9. https:// doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0869.
- 193. Wang T, Zhang K-H. New Blood Biomarkers for the Diagnosis of AFP-Negative Hepatocellular

Carcinoma. Front Oncol. 2020;10 https://doi. org/10.3389/fonc.2020.01316.

- 194. Song X, Wu A, Ding Z, Liang S, Zhang C. Soluble Axl Is a Novel Diagnostic Biomarker of Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Chinese Patients with Chronic Hepatitis B Virus Infection. Cancer Res Treat. 2020;52:789– 97. https://doi.org/10.4143/crt.2019.749.
- 195. Dengler M, Staufer K, Huber H, Stauber R, Bantel H, Weiss KH, et al. Soluble Axl is an accurate biomarker of cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma development: Results from a large scale multicenter analysis. Oncotarget. 2017;8:46234–48. https://doi. org/10.18632/oncotarget.17598.
- 196. Reichl P, Fang M, Starlinger P, Staufer K, Nenutil R, Muller P, et al. Multicenter analysis of soluble Axl reveals diagnostic value for very early stage hepatocellular carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 2015;137:385–94. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29394.
- 197. Lay J-D, Hong C-C, Huang J-S, Yang Y-Y, Pao C-Y, Liu C-H, et al. Sulfasalazine Suppresses Drug Resistance and Invasiveness of Lung Adenocarcinoma Cells Expressing AXL. Cancer Res. 2007;67:3878–87. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3191.
- 198. Lin JZ, Wang ZJ, De W, Zheng M, Zhang XW, Wu HF, et al. Targeting AXL overcomes resistance to docetaxel therapy in advanced prostate cancer. Oncotarget. 2017;8:41064–77. https://doi. org/10.18632/oncotarget.17026.
- 199. Liu L, Greger J, Shi H, Liu Y, Greshock J, Annan R, et al. Novel mechanism of lapatinib resistance in HER2-positive breast tumor cells: Activation of AXL. Cancer Res. 2009;69:6871–8. https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4490.
- 200. Dufies M, Jacquel A, Belhacene N, Robert G, Cluzeau T, Luciano F, et al. Mechanisms of AXL overexpression and function in Imatinib-resistant chronic myeloid leukemia cells. Oncotarget. 2011;2:874–85. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.360.
- 201. Mahadevan D, Cooke L, Riley C, Swart R, Simons B, Della Croce K, et al. A novel tyrosine kinase switch is a mechanism of imatinib resistance in gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Oncogene. 2007;26:3909–19. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1210173.
- 202. Gioia R, Leroy C, Drullion C, Lagarde V, Etienne G, Dulucq S, et al. Quantitative phosphoproteomics revealed interplay between Syk and Lyn in the resistance to nilotinib in chronic myeloid leukemia cells. Blood. 2011;118:2211–21. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2010-10-313692.
- 203. Zhou L, Liu X, Sun M, Zhang X, German P, Bai S, et al. HHS Public Access. 2016;35:2687–97. https:// doi.org/10.1038/onc.2015.343.Targeting.
- 204. Taniguchi H, Yamada T, Wang R, Tanimura K, Adachi Y, Nishiyama A, et al. AXL confers intrinsic resistance to osimertinib and advances the emergence of tolerant cells. Nat Commun. 2019;10:2–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-08074-0.
- 205. Zhang Z, Lee JC, Lin L, Olivas V, Au V, LaFramboise T, et al. Activation of the AXL kinase causes resistance

to EGFR-targeted therapy in lung cancer. Nat Genet. 2012;44:852–60. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2330.

- 206. Ma Y, Zhou G, Li M, Hu D, Zhang L, Liu P, et al. Long noncoding RNA DANCR mediates cisplatin resistance in glioma cells via activating AXL/ PI3K/Akt/NF-κB signaling pathway. Neurochem Int. 2018;118:233–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuint.2018.03.011.
- 207. Zheng SZ, Sun P, Wang JP, Liu Y, Gong W, Liu J. MiR-34a overexpression enhances the inhibitory effect of doxorubicin on HepG2 cells. World J Gastroenterol. 2019;25:2752–62. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v25.i22.2752.
- Wu X, Liu X, Koul S, Lee CY, Zhang Z, Halmos B. AXL kinase as a novel target for cancer therapy. Oncotarget. 2014;5:9546–63. https://doi. org/10.18632/oncotarget.2542.
- 209. Zhu C, Wei Y, Wei X. AXL receptor tyrosine kinase as a promising anti-cancer approach: functions, molecular mechanisms and clinical applications. Mol Cancer. 2019;18:153. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12943-019-1090-3.
- 210. Ye X, Li Y, Stawicki S, Couto S, Eastham-Anderson J, Kallop D, et al. An anti-Axl monoclonal antibody attenuates xenograft tumor growth and enhances the effect of multiple anticancer therapies. Oncogene. 2010;29:5254–64. https://doi.org/10.1038/ onc.2010.268.
- 211. Leconet W, Chentouf M, du Manoir S, Chevalier C, Sirvent A, Aït-Arsa I, et al. Therapeutic Activity of Anti-AXL Antibody against Triple-Negative Breast Cancer Patient-Derived Xenografts and Metastasis. Clin Cancer Res. 2017;23:2806–16. https://doi. org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1316.
- 212. Quirico L, Orso F, Esposito CL, Bertone S, Coppo R, Conti L, et al. Axl-148b chimeric aptamers inhibit breast cancer and melanoma progression. Int J Biol Sci. 2020;16:1238–51. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.39768.
- 213. Kanlikilicer P, Ozpolat B, Aslan B, Bayraktar R, Gurbuz N, Rodriguez-Aguayo C, et al. Therapeutic Targeting of AXL Receptor Tyrosine Kinase Inhibits Tumor Growth and Intraperitoneal Metastasis in Ovarian Cancer Models. Mol Ther - Nucleic Acids. 2017;9:251–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. omtn.2017.06.023.
- 214. Cerchia L, Esposito CL, Camorani S, Rienzo A, Stasio L, Insabato L, et al. Targeting Axl with an highaffinity inhibitory aptamer. Mol Ther. 2012;20:2291– 303. https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2012.163.
- 215. Kariolis MS, Miao YR, Jones DS, Kapur S, Mathews II, Giaccia AJ, et al. An engineered Axl "decoy receptor" effectively silences the Gas6-Axl signaling axis. Nat Chem Biol. 2014;10:977–83. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.1636.
- 216. Holland SJ, Pan A, Franci C, Hu Y, Chang B, Li W, et al. R428, a Selective Small Molecule Inhibitor of Axl Kinase, Blocks Tumor Spread and Prolongs Survival in Models of Metastatic Breast

Cancer. Cancer Res. 2010;70:1544–54. https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2997.

- 217. Zhang Y-X, Knyazev PG, Cheburkin YV, Sharma K, Knyazev YP, Orfi L, et al. AXL Is a Potential Target for Therapeutic Intervention in Breast Cancer Progression. Cancer Res. 2008;68:1905–15. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-2661.
- An H, He L. Current understanding of metformin effect on the control of hyperglycemia in diabetes. J Endocrinol. 2016;228:R97–106. https://doi. org/10.1530/JOE-15-0447.
- 219. Saraei P, Asadi I, Kakar MA, Moradi-Kor N. The beneficial effects of metformin on cancer prevention and therapy: a comprehensive review of recent advances. Cancer Manag Res. 2019;11:3295–313. https://doi.org/10.2147/CMAR.S200059.
- 220. MIYOSHI H, KATO K, IWAMA H, MAEDA E, SAKAMOTO T, FUJITA K, et al. Effect of the antidiabetic drug metformin in hepatocellular carcinoma in vitro and in vivo. Int J Oncol. 2014;45:322–32. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2014.2419.
- 221. FUJIMORI T, KATO K, FUJIHARA S, IWAMA H, YAMASHITA T, KOBAYASHI K, et al. Antitumor effect of metformin on cholangiocarcinoma: In vitro and in vivo studies. Oncol Rep. 2015;34:2987–96. https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2015.4284.
- 222. Bansal N, Mishra PJ, Stein M, DiPaola RS, Bertino JR. Axl receptor tyrosine kinase is upregulated in metformin resistant prostate cancer cells. Oncotarget. 2015;6:15321–31. https://doi. org/10.18632/oncotarget.4148.
- 223. Personeni N, Rimassa L, Pressiani T, Smiroldo V, Santoro A. Cabozantinib for the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2019;19:847–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/14737140. 2019.1674141.
- 224. Yates LR, Seoane J, Le Tourneau C, Siu LL, Marais R, Michiels S, et al. The European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) Precision Medicine Glossary. Ann Oncol. 2018;29:30–5. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdx707.
- 225. Gönen M, Weir BA, Cowley GS, Vazquez F, Guan Y, Jaiswal A, et al. A Community Challenge for Inferring Genetic Predictors of Gene Essentialities through Analysis of a Functional Screen of Cancer Cell Lines. Cell Syst. 2017;5:485–497.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cels.2017.09.004.
- 226. Ben-Hamo R, Jacob Berger A, Gavert N, Miller M, Pines G, Oren R, et al. Predicting and affecting response to cancer therapy based on pathway-level biomarkers. Nat Commun. 2020;11:3296. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17090-y.
- 227. Chan P-C, Chen S-Y, Chen C-H, Chen H-C. Crosstalk between hepatocyte growth factor and integrin signaling pathways. J Biomed Sci. 2006;13:215–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11373-005-9061-7.
- 228. Li W, Xiong X, Abdalla A, Alejo S, Zhu L, Lu XF, et al. HGF-induced formation of the MET-AXL-ELMO2-DOCK180 complex promotes RAC1 activation, receptor clustering, and cancer cell migration

and invasion. J Biol Chem. 2018;293:15397–418. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA118.003063.

- 229. Yeh CY, Shin SM, Yeh HH, Wu TJ, Shin JW, Chang TY, et al. Transcriptional activation of the Axl and PDGFR-α by c-Met through a ras- and Src-independent mechanism in human bladder cancer. BMC Cancer. 2011;11:139. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2407-11-139.
- 230. Rankin EB, Fuh KC, Castellini L, Viswanathan K, Finger EC, Diep AN, et al. Direct regulation of GAS6/AXL signaling by HIF promotes renal metastasis through SRC and MET. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2014;111:13373–8. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1404848111.
- 231. Choi YJ, Kim JH, Rho JK, Kim JS, Choi CM, Kim WS, et al. AXL and MET receptor tyrosine kinases are essential for lung cancer metastasis. Oncol Rep. 2017;37:2201–8. https://doi.org/10.3892/ or.2017.5482.
- 232. Zhou L, Liu XD, Sun M, Zhang X, German P, Bai S, et al. 基因的改晋NIH Public Access. Cancer Res. 2017;8:1-9. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2014.371.
- 233. Kong J, Wang W. A Systemic Review on the Regulatory Roles of miR-34a in Gastrointestinal Cancer. Onco Targets Ther. 2020;13:2855–72. https://doi.org/10.2147/OTT.S234549.
- 234. Ren F-H, Yang H, He R, Lu J, Lin X, Liang H-W, et al. Analysis of microarrays of miR-34a and its identification of prospective target gene signature in hepatocellular carcinoma. BMC Cancer. 2018;18:12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-017-3941-x.
- 235. Lai SC, Su YT, Chi CC, Kuo YC, Lee KF, Wu YC, et al. DNMT3b/OCT4 expression confers sorafenib resistance and poor prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma through IL-6/STAT3 regulation. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2019;38:1–18. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13046-019-1442-2.
- 236. Liang Y, Zheng T, Song R, Wang J, Yin D, Wang L, et al. Hypoxia-mediated sorafenib resistance can be overcome by EF24 through Von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor-dependent HIF-1α inhibition in hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 2013;57:1847–57. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.26224.
- 237. Méndez-Blanco C, Fondevila F, García-Palomo A, González-Gallego J, Mauriz JL. Sorafenib resistance in hepatocarcinoma: role of hypoxia-inducible factors. Exp Mol Med. 2018;50:1–9. https://doi. org/10.1038/s12276-018-0159-1.
- 238. Rho JK, Choi YJ, Kim SY, Kim TW, Choi EK, Yoon SJ, et al. MET and AXL inhibitor NPS-1034 exerts efficacy against lung cancer cells resistant to EGFR kinase inhibitors because of MET or AXL activation. Cancer Res. 2014;74:253–62. https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1103.
- 239. Clemenson C, Chargari C, Liu W, Mondini M, Ferte C, Burbridge MF, et al. The MET/AXL/FGFR inhibitor S49076 impairs Aurora B activity and improves the antitumor efficacy of radiotherapy. Mol Cancer Ther. 2017;16:2107–19. https://doi. org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-0112.

- 240. Rodon J, Postel-Vinay S, Hollebecque A, Nuciforo P, Azaro A, Cattan V, et al. First-in-human phase I study of oral S49076, a unique MET/AXL/ FGFR inhibitor, in advanced solid tumours. Eur J Cancer. 2017;81:142–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejca.2017.05.007.
- 241. Viteri S, Chang G-C, Chiari R, Cho BC, Ciardiello F, Curigliano G, et al. Combination of the S49076 with gefitinib in NSCLC patients progressing on EGFR-TKI and harboring MET/AXL dysregulation. Ann Oncol. 2018;29:viii525. https://doi.org/10.1093/ annonc/mdy292.074.
- 242. Mahadevan D, Theiss N, Morales C, Stejskal AE, Cooke LS, Zhu M, et al. Novel receptor tyrosine kinase targeted combination therapies for imatinib-resistant gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIST). Oncotarget. 2015;6:1954–66. https://doi. org/10.18632/oncotarget.3021.
- 243. Zhou L, Liu XD, Sun M, Zhang X, German P, Bai S, et al. Targeting MET and AXL overcomes resistance to sunitinib therapy in renal cell carcinoma. Oncogene. 2016;35:2687–97. https://doi. org/10.1038/onc.2015.343.
- 244. Neal JW, Dahlberg SE, Wakelee HA, Aisner SC, Bowden M, Huang Y, et al. Erlotinib, cabozantinib, or erlotinib plus cabozantinib as secondline or third-line treatment of patients with EGFR wild-type advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (ECOG-ACRIN 1512): a randomised, controlled, open-label, multicentre, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17:1661–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1470-2045(16)30561-7.
- 245. Desai A, Small EJ. Treatment of advanced renal cell carcinoma patients with cabozantinib, an oral multityrosine kinase inhibitor of MET, AXL and VEGF receptors. Futur Oncol. 2019;15:2337–48. https:// doi.org/10.2217/fon-2019-0021.
- 246. Rathi N, Maughan BL, Agarwal N, Swami U. Mini-Review: Cabozantinib in the Treatment of Advanced Renal Cell Carcinoma and Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Cancer Manag Res. 2020;12:3741–9. https://doi.org/10.2147/CMAR.S202973.
- 247. Zaccagnino A, Vynnytska-Myronovska B, Stöckle M, Junker K. Cross-resistance to Cabozantinib in renal cell carcinoma second-line treatment? Eur Urol Suppl. 2019;18:e3105. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s1569-9056(19)33350-0.
- 248. Schroeder GM, An Y, Cai ZW, Chen XT, Clark C, Cornelius LAM, et al. Discovery of N-(4-(2-amino-3-chloropyridin-4-yloxy)-3fluorophenyl)-4- ethoxy-1-(4-fluorophenyl)-2-oxo-1,2-dihydropyridine-3-carboxamide (BMS-777607), a selective and orally efficacious inhibitor of the met kinase superfamily. J Med Chem. 2009;52:1251–4. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm801586s.
- 249. Dai Y, Siemann DW. BMS-777607, a smallmolecule Met kinase inhibitor, suppresses hepatocyte growth factor-stimulated prostate cancer metastatic phenotype in vitro. Mol Cancer Ther.

2010;9:1554–61. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-10-0359.

- 250. Dai Y, Bae K, Pampo C, Siemann DW. Impact of the small molecule Met inhibitor BMS-777607 on the metastatic process in a rodent tumor model with constitutive c-Met activation. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2012;29:253–61. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10585-011-9447-z.
- 251. Onken J, Torka R, Korsing S, Radke J, Krementeskaia I, Nieminen M, et al. Inhibiting receptor tyrosine kinase AXL with small molecule inhibitor BMS-777607 reduces glioblastoma growth, migration, and invasion in vitro and in vivo. Oncotarget. 2016;7:9876–89. https://doi.org/10.18632/ oncotarget.7130.
- 252. Hu X, Zheng X, Yang S, Wang L, Hao X, Cui X, et al. First-in-human phase i study of BPI-9016M, a

dual MET/Axl inhibitor, in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. J Hematol Oncol. 2020;13:1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-019-0834-2.

- 253. Yan SB, Peek VL, Ajamie R, Buchanan SG, Graff JR, Heidler SA, et al. LY2801653 is an orally bioavailable multi-kinase inhibitor with potent activity against MET, MST1R, and other oncoproteins, and displays anti-tumor activities in mouse xenograft models. Investig New Drugs. 2013;31:833–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10637-012-9912-9.
- 254. Wu W, Bi C, Credille KM, Manro JR, Peek VL, Donoho GP, et al. Inhibition of Tumor Growth and Metastasis in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer by LY2801653, an Inhibitor of Several Oncokinases, Including MET. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19:5699–710. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-1758.


Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Morocco

Younes Cherradi

HCC in Morocco: What's the Current Situation?

Morocco and the specific features of this tumor in Moroccan patients.

- 1 General Features.
 - 1.1 Incidence.
 - 1.2 Causes.
 - 1.3 HCC risk factors in Moroccan population.
 - Hepatic condition.
 - Risk of HCC development after antiviral therapy.
 - Emerging risk factors: obesity, diabetes, and lifestyle.
- 2 Commonest manifestations, diagnosis, treatments and local variations.
- 3 A general overview of HCC-related research in Morocco.

1 General Features

Management of HCC is of great interest in Morocco. The Declaration of Rabat for African fight against viral hepatitis and HCC, first issued in 2008, has been updated in 2011 and 2015 [1]. The last update in February 2015—in the context of the fifth African Middle East Congress on Digestive Oncology—focused on strategies to be implemented in order to reduce the incidence of HCC in African countries [1]. In this chapter, we present the epidemiological profile of HCC in

1.1 Incidence

Morocco is a country with low endemicity of HCC [2]. According to Global Cancer Observatory, Morocco and Nepal have the lowest estimated age-standardized incidence rates (ASIR) per 100,000 people for HCC (equally about 1.1) [2]. Also, the age-standardized mortality rates (ASMR) from liver cancer in both genders have been established as low in Moroccan population [2]. However, if it seems evident that Morocco is a country with low incidence of HCC, it's important to mention the increasing trends of this cancer's incidence and mortality rates in Morocco from 1990 to 2017 moving, respectively, from 1.6 to 1.74 and from 1.73 to 1.83 [3]. The low HCC incidence in Morocco is explained by the multifocal actions and strategies adopted by Moroccan health authorities in order to reduce risk factor incidence and prevent HCC development. Genetic hypotheses are also implicated.

1.2 Causes

Regarding etiological factors of HCC occurrence in Morocco, chronic hepatitis is the first incriminated pathogen. Chronic hepatitis C is the major causal agent of HCC in the country. Yapali et al.

Y. Cherradi (🖂)

Department of Medicine, Mohammed Vth Hospital-Sefrou, Sefrou, Morocco

reported chronic hepatitis C as a primary etiological factor for HCC occurrence in 36% of patients followed by chronic hepatitis B in 31% and alcohol in 14% [4]. Among 440 Moroccan patients with HCC in Ibn Sina Hospital during the period from 2001 to 2015, Essaid et al. confirmed the prominence of hepatitis C virus (HCV) and hepatitis B virus (HBV) as the leading causes of HCC in Morocco with, respectively, 69.7% and 15.2% [5]. Chronic alcoholic cirrhosis was reported as an etiology in only 0.9% of all patients' series. A study conducted in Marrakech University Hospital on 76 cases of HCC confirmed those findings with chronic hepatitis C as a causal agent in 18.5% of patients and chronic hepatitis B in 12.5% [6]. The same findings were confirmed in the Global Burden of Disease study in 1990 and 2017.

Chronic hepatitis B is the second cause of HCC in Morocco. The profile of HBV is characterized by a predominance of genotype D and negative HBe antigen [7]. Occult hepatitis B infection (OBI) is a frequent but underdiagnosed condition; it corresponds to the presence of HBV DNA in the liver of patients with negative HBs antigen (with HBV DNA detectable or not in the serum) [8]. In Moroccan patients with negative HBs antigen and cryptogenic cirrhosis, OBI should not be missed out. It was demonstrated that OBI was strongly associated with the severity of the underlying hepatopathy with HCC more frequent in case of association of chronic hepatitis C and OBI compared to OBI-positive cryptogenic patients [8]. The presence of OBI has been advanced as an independent risk factor for hepatocellular carcinoma development in Hepatitis C virus carriers suggesting a possible synergistic mechanism [8].

If aflatoxin B1 (AFB1) is incriminated in many sub-Saharan African countries as a potential causal agent of HCC, AFB1 levels in cereals are, apparently, two to three times lower in Morocco, and TP53 mutation seems exceptional [9]. In a study including 42 patients with HCC from Western North African (WNA) countries-with 35 patients from Morocco-, only one TP53 R249S mutation has been reported [9].

1.3 HCC Risk Factors in Moroccan Population

Hepatic Condition.

HCC is evidently related to liver hepatopathy with cirrhosis as a pre-cancerous condition. In a retrospective study conducted at Hassan II^d University Hospital among 148 cases of HCC, advanced Child-Pugh, elevated alpha-fetoprotein level (>400 ng/ml), the presence of metastases, and the invasion of the portal vein were recognized as bad prognosis factors in Moroccan population with liver cirrhosis[10].

 Risk Factors of HCC Development After Antiviral Therapy.

In the study published by Cherradi et al. and including 369 Moroccan patients previously treated for chronic hepatitis C, HCC occurred in 5% of all treated patients (n = 20). Advanced age (>50 year old) when HCV infection is diagnosed, severe fibrosis (F >2 according to the Metavir score), and the absence of sustained virological response (SVR) were strongly associated with the development of HCC in treated patients [11, 12]. HCC incidence was significantly less important in SVR patients' group with only 2.3% of patients who developed HCC versus 12.5% in nonresponder population [12] which confirms the evidence that achieving SVR have a mainly protective role against HCC development.

According to the same study, severe fibrosis was the unique significant predictive factor of HCC occurrence in the group of patients who achieved SVR. This is highlighting the continuous need for regular screening for HCC in patients treated for chronic hepatitis C even after achieving SVR, especially in case of advanced fibrosis. It's important to mention that patients considered for this study were all treated by pegylated interferon. No local data are available regarding direct-acting antiviral agents (DAAs).

• Emerging Risk Factors: Obesity, Diabetes, and Lifestyle.

Between 1960—when Mediterranean food model was still present—and 2021, Moroccan food and lifestyle have considerably changed leading to a significant elevation of obesity and diabetes prevalence over the last decades. The prevalence of obesity among the Moroccan adult population has significantly rose from 4.1% in 1984/1985 to 10.3% in 1998/1999 and 13.3% in 2000. Similarly, the trends of persons with overweight condition or obesity are increasing [13, 14].

In patients with HCC from Morocco and North African countries, diabetes has been clearly established as a risk factor for development of cirrhosis and primary liver cancer [15]. When present, diabetes increases eightfold the risk of HCC occurrence [15]. This is extremely important, especially when we know that 2.5 million (M) Moroccans are diabetic, 2.4 M are in prediabetes condition, and 10 M are overweight (including 63% of women and 16% of children) [14]. The contribution of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis in liver cancer incidence in Morocco has increased from 9.3 to 11.8% from 1990 to 2017 [3].

2 Commonest Manifestations, Diagnosis, and Treatments

2.1 Commonest Presentation of HCC:

In the Moroccan population, since maternal fetal transmission mode is rare, HCC is occurring in older patients, mainly on cirrhotic liver. According to the Firwana et al. series including 440 HCC, mean age at diagnosis was 63 years old [5]. It is similar in the Pratic et al. series where mean age was 59 years old [6]. Development of HCC seems to be prominent in male gender with a sex ratio of 1.7 in both Firwana et al. and Pratic et al. series [5, 6]. However, a study among 148 patients in Hassan IId University Hospital showed female predominance [10].

HCC is mainly occurring in patients with cirrhosis. In Morocco, diagnosis is usually made in the context of a screening strategy in patients with chronic hepatopathy. Clinical presentation at diagnosis is not specific. Main clinical complaint in Moroccan patients is abdominal pain as reported by Firwana et al. and Pratic et al. with, respectively, 25% and 75% [5, 6]. Among 440 considered patients, Sixty-one percent were asymptomatic at diagnosis, and HCC was diagnosed during regular ultrasonography screening in 38.5% of cases [5].

2.2 Screening: A Key Strategy in HCC Management:

In Morocco, with a great consciousness of the impact of screening on early tumor detection, eligibility for curative treatment, and patient overall survival, regular screening was adopted early as a mandatory part of the follow-up of patients with chronic liver condition. Screening strategy consists of periodical ultrasonography exam in the hand of expert every 6 months. Alpha-fetoprotein may be considered as prognostic factor but is not necessary in Moroccan gastroenterologists practice.

Khannoussi et al. compared screening findings and HCC prognosis during two consecutive periods: the first period between 1994 and 1998 with 225 diagnosed HCC and the second period between 2001 and 2007 including 270 cases of HCC [16]. In the first period, the screening consisted of both serum alpha-fetoprotein dosage and ultrasonography (US) examination every 3 to 6 months. In the second period, only ultrasonographic examination was regularly performed every 6 months. The implementation of US screening impacted evidently the HCC early diagnosis which moved from 18% between 1994 and 1998 to 54% between 2001 and 2007 [17]. Screening allowed the initiation of HCC treatment with curative intention in 41% of patients. Mean nodule size at diagnosis in regularly screened patients was 31 mm compared to 63 mm in the others [16]. US screening in cirrhotic patients allowed an early diagnosis of HCC with reduced size of tumors and better hepatic function (Child-Pugh score) offering more therapeutic options for patients. Thus, the place of screening as a major tool in the improvement of prognosis and management of HCC was

stated; biannual abdominal ultrasound examination was sufficient and most efficient with no need of alpha-fetoprotein.

2.3 A Preventive Approach

Many actions have been taken by Moroccan health authorities to reduce the incidence of HCC in Moroccan population and may explain the local low incidence of HCC:

- Screening for both hepatitis B and C is mandatory in blood transfusion centers in Morocco since 1995.
- HVB vaccination is systematic for all newborns since 1999.
- Hepatic ultrasound screening is mandatory in patients with chronic liver condition and is recommended by national scientific societies of gastroenterology.
- To decrease the risk of hepatitis B maternal fetal transmission mode, HBs antigen positivity screening is mandatory during pregnancy. Human hepatitis B immunoglobulin antibodies are now available in Morocco for the prevention of mother-to-child transmission in newborns in the case of a hepatitis B virus carrier-mother.
- Access to antiviral therapies has been improved, and DAAs are now easily available for patients with chronic hepatitis B and C. However, efforts are still needed for universal health coverage; Moroccan Government started in 2021 working on social security reform in order to allow equal access to health services and benefit from a basic social security.
- In 2019 and in order to reduce the impact of obesity and diabetes, as emerging risk factors of HCC development, Morocco was the first country in North Africa and the Middle East region to adopt taxation policies of beverages and sweetened products [14].
- The role of preventive approach regarding viral hepatitis-related HCC is present in Moroccan national plan 2020–2029 against cancer.

2.4 Treatment of HCC in Morocco

Except for hepatic transplantation, which is undoubtedly a cornerstone in the management of HCC, all other therapeutic options (alcoholization, radiofrequency ablation, chemoembolization, surgical resection, biotherapies) are available in Morocco. However, few data are published making difficult to establish a cartography of therapeutic strategies in Moroccan patients with HCC.

experience According to the of M. Benazzouz and R. Afifi at Ibn Sina University Hospital in Rabat with a large series including 440 HCC, treatment was curative in 41.5% of patients. As a result of screening, percutaneous approach was mainly possible (30%) with alcohol injection, radiofrequency ablation, and acetisation, respectively, in 17.9%, 9.7%, and 2.5% of patients [5]. Surgical resection was an option in 13% of cases, and only one patient benefited from liver transplantation [5]. Palliative and symptomatic treatments were considered, respectively, in 19.3% and 33.8% of patients [5]. Unpublished data from both experts reported total necrosis rate of 87%, 89% and 94%, respectively, after alcoholization of 164 HCC, acetisation of 45 HCC and radiofrequency of 27 HCC. Survival rate was, respectively, 47% at 5 years in patients who benefited from alcoholization, 66% at 3 years after acetisation and 87% at 2 years in patients treated by radiofrequency ablation.

Data from Mohammed Vth University Hospital in Marrakech are slightly different. Among 76 cases of HCC, curative treatment was only possible in 14.4% of patients (with radiofrequency ablation in seven patients, surgical resection for three patients, and liver transplantation in one case). Therapeutic approach was mainly palliative and symptomatic with, respectively, 26.3% and 52.6% of all patients [6].

For patients with advanced unresectable HCC in Morocco, trans-arterial chemoembolization (TACE) and sorafenib are available therapeutic options as palliative approach.

Regarding response to TACE, a study was conducted in Hassan II^d University Hospital in

Fez, Morocco, among 162 patients diagnosed with 225 unresectable HCC. Continuous complete response (CR) was obtained in 14 patients (8%). It was significantly associated with male gender, chronic hepatitis C as a causal agent, location in the segments VI and VII of the liver, and complete blush extinction on digital subtraction angiography [18]. Hepatic condition was also a major determinant in CR with Child-Pugh A, MELD score \leq 19, and BCLC B and C stages strongly correlated to CR [18].

Liver transplantation (LT) is a major issue in Morocco. Despite many legislative and technical improvements, too much efforts are still needed. Less than 30 liver transplants have been performed in Morocco with the first successful liver transplantation totally performed by a Moroccan team (Benkabbou et al.) in 2016 [19]. It is certain that the development of LT programs in Morocco will bring vital opportunities for Moroccan patients with HCC and meeting indications and will improve significantly quality of healthcare and survival rate for this category.

3 A General Overview of HCC-Related Research

Pineau et al. stated that genomic stability prevails in North African HCC and demonstrated that genetic presentation of HCC in WNA countries is mainly different from Egypt and other African countries hypothesizing that the low endemicity may be explained by the low prevalence of mutagenic (exceptional TP53 mutations) or cytotoxic (low consumption of alcohol) agents [9]. Many other researches investigated the genetic aspects of HCC in Morocco especially the p53 pathway recognized as the most important target for hepatic carcinogenesis aberrations. Akil et al. proposed that variants of the transcriptional coactivator genes (EP300 and PCAF) may influence HCC risk with an interesting association between the Val/Val genotype of the EP300 at codon 997 and Ser/Ser genotype of the PCAF at codon 386 and the risk to develop HCC in Moroccan population [20]. Rebbani et al. explored the potential implication of a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in the MDM2 (the murine double minute 2) in development of HCC. The GG genotype of SNP309 showed a significant association with a higher risk of HCC occurrence [21].

In a case-control study enrolling 74 HCC, Jadid et al. suggested the implication of the SOCs3 polymorphism in the modulation of HCC development by affecting mRNA expression in chronic HCV-infected patients [22]. SOCs3, the suppressor of cytokine signaling 3, is a potent regulator of cytokine signal transduction which is involved in negative control on JAK/STAT pathway [23]. Those findings are highlighting the specific molecular presentation of HCC in Morocco. Large pooled studies with multicentric recruitment are needed to explore more aspects of hepatocarcinogenesis pathways in the local population.

4 Conclusion

HCC in Morocco shows specific features. Due to genetic profile and a multifocal preventive approach, incidence is considerably low. Chronic hepatitis C is the major causal agent. A national register dedicated to HCC will help to collect all resources about this cancer and make all unpublished data available for researchers. More multicentric studies are needed to understand better all clinical, therapeutic, and molecular aspects of HCC in Moroccan patients. Also, there is a serious need to implement a national program for liver transplantation to optimize survival rate and act on cirrhosis as it's the precancerous condition.

References

- Amrani N. The declaration of Rabat: an update. Arab J Gastroenterol. 2017; VIII (1): 47–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ajg.2017.03.001.
- Rawla P, Sunkara T, Muralidharan P, Raj JP. Update in global trends and aetiology of hepatocellular carcinoma. Contemp Oncol (Pozn). 2018;22(3):141–50. https://doi.org/10.5114/wo.2018.78941.

- Sharafi H, Alavian SM. The rising threat of hepatocellular carcinoma in the Middle East and North Africa Region: results from global burden of disease study 2017. Clinical Liver Disease. 2019;XIV(6):219–23.
- Yapali S, Tozun N. Epidemiology and viral risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma in the Eastern Mediterranean countries. Hepatoma Res. 2018;4:24. https://doi.org/10.20517/2394-5079.2018.57.
- Firwana M, et al. Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Morocco. Clin Res Trials. 2017;III(1):1–3. https://doi. org/10.15761/CRT.1000167.
- Pratic F, et al. Le carcinome hépatocellulaire: profil épidémiologique, clinique et thérapeutique au CHU de Marrakech (à propos de 76 cas). Hegel. 2017;VII(3):195–200. https://doi. org/10.4267/2042/62694.
- Cherradi Y, et al. Response to pegylated interferon in hepatItis B patients with HBe Ag-negative: long-term results and predictors of sustained-off virological response. J Med Surg Res (JMSR). 2017;IV(1):417–21.
- Kitab B, et al. Occult HBV infection in Morocco: from chronic hepatitis to hepatocellular Carcinoma. Liver Int. 2014;34:144–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/liv.12482.
- Pineau, et al. Genomic stability prevails in North-African hepatocellular carcinomas. Digestive and Liver Disease. 2007;39:671–7. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.dld.2007.03.012.
- Lahmidani N, et al. Prognostic indicators in Hepatocellular Carcinoma (HCC) in a Moroccan population. J Cancer Sci Clin Ther. 2020;4(2):115–9.
- Cherradi Y, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma screening is indicated even after sustained virological response: Moroccan University Hospital Experience. J Med Surg Res (JMSR). 2016; III (1): 223–8. https://doi. org/10.46327/msrjg.1.00000000000064.
- Cherradi Y, et al. Predictors of developing Hepatocellular Carcinoma in treated HCV-Carriers in Morocco according to University Hospital Experience. ISRN Hepatol. 2012;2013:438306. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/438306.
- 13. Belkhadir J. Diabetes and the prospect of a national and global disaster. J Med Surg Res

(JMSR). 2015;I(3):77–8. https://doi.org/10.46327/ msrjg.1.00000000000020.

- Belkhadir J, et al. Taxation of beverages and sweetened products in Morocco: a major achievement and a model to follow in the MENA region. J Med Surg Res (JMSR). 2020;VII(2):817–20.
- Bahri O, et al. First multicenter study for risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma development in North Africa. World J Hepatol. 2011;III(1):24–30.
- Khannoussi W, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhotic patients: 13 years screening practice and impact on early detection. Arab J Gastroenterol. 2009;10:AB16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ajg.2009.07.023.
- Benazzouz M. Carcinome hépatocellulaire sur cirrhose post virale B et C au Maroc. Revue francophone des laboratoires. 2009;supplément au(416):31.
- Younes EH, et al. Study of predictive factors of complete response after chemoembolization for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma in 162 patients. Clin Exp Hepatol. 2020;6(4):313–20. https://doi. org/10.5114/ceh.2020.102169.
- Benkabbou A, et al. First case of successful liver transplantation performed by a Moroccan team. Arab J Gastroenterol. 2016;17(1):1–2. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ajg.2016.02.001.
- Akil A, et al. Associations of genetic variants in the transcriptional coactivators EP300 and PCAF with hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Epidemiol. 2012;36:e300–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2012.05.011.
- Rebbani K, et al. MDM2 285G>C and 344T>A gene variants and their association with hepatocellular carcinoma: a Moroccan case–control study. Infect Agents Cancer. 2014;9:11. https://doi. org/10.1186/1750-9378-9-11.
- 22. Jadid FZ, et al. Control of progression towards liver fibrosis and hepatocellular carcinoma by SOCS3 polymorphisms in chronic HCV-infected patients. Meegid -Infect Genetics Evolut. 2018;66:1–8. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2018.08.027.
- Lykke L, Carsten R. Suppressors of cytokine signaling. SOCS. 2002;110(12):833–44. https://doi. org/10.1034/j.1600-0463.2002.1101201.x.



Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Lebanon and Its Association with Thalassemia

Maher Malaeb, Ali T. Taher, and Ala I. Sharara

1 HCC in Lebanon

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is a relatively rare cancer in Lebanon. According to the national cancer registry data for the years 2005–2015, the crude incidence rate of liver cancer in Lebanon ranges from 2.2 to 3.7 (males) and 1.9 to 3.4 (females) per 100,000. Unpublished data from a major tertiary care center in Lebanon, the American University of Beirut Medical Center (AUBMC), reveal that 37 liver cancers were reported in 2018, making it the 18th most common type of cancer. The mean age was 62.6 years, predominantly males (62.2%). On histology, 11 out of 37 tumors (39.7%) were HCC. The reported number of HCC cases from AUBMC was 9, 6, and 12 in 2015, 2016, and 2017, respectively. Liver cancer rates have been rising in Lebanon. A study by Shamseddine et al. over a 5-year period from 2003 to 2008 showed the highest annual percent change of all cancers (13.6% in males and 18.3% in females) [1].

Divisions of Gastroenterology and Hematology-Oncology, Department of Internal Medicine, American University of Beirut Medical Center, Beirut, Lebanon e-mail: ala.sharara@aub.edu.lb

A. T. Taher

Yaghi et al. studied 92 patients in Lebanon diagnosed with HCC and collected from 3 large university medical centers over a 5-year period between 1998 and 2003. The average age was 60.5 ± 22.3 years, and the male/female ratio was 5.6:1. Viral hepatitis was the most common cause (83.7%) of the underlying liver disease, and hepatitis B infection was more common than hepatitis C infection (67.4% versus 19.6%). Other etiologies included alcoholic liver disease in 8.2% and other miscellaneous rare causes such as primary biliary cirrhosis, hemochromatosis, autoimmune hepatitis, and tyrosinemia [2]. HCC occurred in the background of liver cirrhosis in the majority of patients (91 of 92 patients). Child-Pugh class at time of HCC diagnosis was A (34.8%), B (39.3%), and C (25.8%), respectively. Model of end-stage liver disease (MELD) score was available in 79 patients, and the mean MELD score was 9.4 ± 7.6 [2]. HCC was diagnosed in 36.1% of patients within the first 2 years after the diagnosis of cirrhosis and in 72.4% within 5 years. In 42.4% of cases, the diagnosis was established during follow-up of cirrhosis with a mean follow-up period of 40 months. The average size of tumor nodules was 5.6 cm, and the number of nodules varied from single (46.1%) to two (15.7%) to three (5.6%), while 32.6% had diffuse HCC. Forty patients had less than three nodules <3 cm of diameter or a single tumor of less than 5 cm [2]. Portal vein thrombosis was present in 38.2% of the patients. Sixty-five percent of the patients were ineligible for curative resection based on the

M. Malaeb · A. I. Sharara (🖂)

Department of Internal Medicine, Hematology/ Oncology Division, American University of Beirut Medical Center, Beirut, Lebanon

presence of diffuse disease or tumor associated with portal vein thrombosis [2]. Overall survival was 44.8%, 32.8%, and 17.6% at 1, 2, and 3 years, respectively. The reported prognostic factors that were identified using univariate analysis included "age >55, bilirubin <3.2 mg/dL, HCC as the first manifestation of liver disease, eligibility for a curative treatment, International Normalized Ratio (INR) <2, MELD score >18, and the presence of portal vein thrombosis" [2]. The reported 6-month mortality was 38.8%, and the factors that were associated with survival beyond 6 months included "INR< 2, bilirubin <3.2 mg/dL, tumor <5 cm of diameter or 3 nodules of <3 cm of diameter without portal vein thrombosis, MELD score <16, lower Child-Pugh class, and the absence of portal vein thrombosis" [2].

2 HCC and Thalassemia

Thalassemia is a genetic disorder based on underlying molecular defects in the α -globin or β -globin gene clusters, which form the basis of the various inherited forms of α-thalassemias or β-thalassemias and the defective hemoglobin synthesis leading to ineffective erythropoiesis and anemia [3, 4]. Based on the transfusion requirements, patients are commonly classified into transfusion-dependent (TDT) for those who are not to survive without lifelong blood transfusions by producing sufficient hemoglobin and non-transfusion-dependent thalassemias (NTDT) [4]. Both populations are at increased risk of iron overload as the liver is the primary site of storage of excess iron [5]. Iron overload development in TDT patients is secondary to blood transfusion. In patients with NTDT, however, it is mainly due to increased intestinal absorption. Hepcidin levels are low; thus, the excess iron is absorbed into the system and released into the circulation causing preferential portal and hepatocyte iron loading. This ultimately results in an increase in free iron into the blood, which can lead to end-organ damage, such as endocrinopathies, cirrhosis, and malignancies [6].

Thalassemia patients used to die at an early age secondary to anemia and heart failure [7].

With the advent of wider and more correct use of iron-chelating agents as well as advancements in MRI technology for the assessment of iron overload in the liver and heart, the lifespan of thalassemia patients has increased [8]. Since the year 2000, the improved survival of thalassemia patients has increased the incidence of disease complications, which were less likely to develop [9, 10]. Among these complications, one of the most worrying in recent years is hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). The incidence of HCC in patients with thalassemia has been increasing with time [6]. Epidemiologic data based on an Italian registry reported a steady increase in the number of HCC cases in thalassemia patients in Italy from 8 in 1993–1997 to 31 in 2008–2012 [11]. Compared to the general population, most patients with thalassemia develop HCC at age <50 years, and there is no discernible difference in incidence between men and women in this group of patients [6].

Worldwide, the major risk factors for liver cancer are infection with the hepatitis B and C viruses [12], while the reported risk factors for HCC in thalassemia patients include iron overload and chronic hepatitis B and C [13]. Chronic viral hepatitis is a risk factor for HCC in patients with thalassemia [6]. Due to blood transfusions, many patients are or have been infected with HCV or HBV, namely, those born before 1990 or those born in countries where universal HBV vaccination and safe blood transfusion programs are still not completely applied [10]. Worldwide, 0.3-5.7% of thalassemia patients are HBsAg-positive [10]. The reported prevalence of anti-HCV antibodies in thalassemia patients ranges from 4.4% to 85.4% [11]. However, HCC has also been reported in non-transfused patients and in those who are HCV- and HBV-negative. Therefore, other risk factors, primarily iron overload, are involved in hepatocarcinogenesis in patients with thalassemia (Fig. 1) [10].

Hepcidin is a key regulator responsible for iron balance and functions by decreasing iron absorption from the gut and its release from the reticuloendothelial system [6]. Ineffective erythropoiesis along with the subsequent hemolytic anemia leads



Fig. 1 Different mechanisms related to HCC development in thalassemia patients. (FR free radicals, HBV hepatitis B virus, HCV hepatitis C virus, HCC hepatocellular carcinoma, HSC hepatic stellate cells, NTBI non-

transferrin-bound iron, ROS reactive oxygen species, TGF β transforming growth factor β). (Used with permission from Finianos et al. [13])

to an increase in the level of hepcidin and thereby results in an increase in iron absorption from the gut. In addition to the need for frequent transfusions to ameliorate the resulting anemia, this results in an iron overload state [13]. Free iron is believed to generate reactive oxygen species, which can cause peroxidation of membrane fatty acids and consequent formation of toxic byproducts that disrupt DNA and impair protein synthesis, thereby triggering malignant transformation through mutations in tumor suppressor genes (such as p53) and DNA repair genes [14]. Iron overload can also promote malignant transformation of the liver by accelerating the pathway from fibrosis to cirrhosis by activating stellate cells and the profibrogenic effects of lipid peroxidation [15]. It has also been suggested that iron overload may contribute to cancer formation by inducing immunologic aberrancies [6].

References

- 1. Shamseddine A, et al. Cancer trends in Lebanon: a review of incidence rates for the period of 2003-2008 and projections until 2018. Popul Health Metrics. 2014;12(1):4.
- Yaghi C, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma in Lebanon: etiology and prognostic factors associated with short-term survival. World J Gastroenterol. 2006;12(22):3575–80.
- Viprakasit V, Ekwattanakit S. Clinical classification, screening and diagnosis for thalassemia. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2018;32(2):193–211.
- Taher AT, Weatherall DJ, Cappellini MD. Thalassaemia. Lancet. 2018;391(10116):155–67.
- Taher AT, Cappellini MD. How I manage medical complications of β-thalassemia in adults. Blood. 2018;132(17):1781–91.
- Moukhadder HM, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma as an emerging morbidity in the thalassemia syndromes: a comprehensive review. Cancer. 2017;123(5):751–8.
- Mancuso A. Hepatocellular carcinoma in thalassemia: a critical review. World J Hepatol. 2010;2(5):171–4.

- Dessì C, et al. Thalassemia major between liver and heart: where we are now. Blood Cells Mol Dis. 2015;55(1):82–8.
- Modell B, et al. Improved survival of thalassaemia major in the UK and relation to T2* cardiovascular magnetic resonance. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2008;10(1):42.
- Marsella M, Ricchi P. Thalassemia and hepatocellular carcinoma: links and risks. J Blood Med. 2019;10:323–34.
- Borgna-Pignatti C, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma in thalassaemia: an update of the Italian Registry. Br J Haematol. 2014;167(1):121–6.

- Parkin DM, et al. Global cancer statistics, 2002. CA Cancer J Clin. 2005;55(2):74–108.
- Finianos A, Matar CF, Taher A. Hepatocellular carcinoma in β-thalassemia patients: review of the literature with molecular insight into liver carcinogenesis. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms19124070.
- Kew MC. Hepatic iron overload and hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Lett. 2009;286(1):38–43.
- Kowdley KV. Iron, hemochromatosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2004;127(5 Suppl 1):S79–86.



An Overview of Hepatocellular Carcinoma (HCC) in Lebanon: A Focus on Hepatitis B- and Thalassemia-Related HCC

Sally Temraz and Ali T. Taher

1 Epidemiology of HCC in Lebanon

Lebanon is a 10,452 sq.km. country on the Mediterranean Sea with an estimated population of four million inhabitants and a life expectancy of 80 years. Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is a relatively scarce cancer in Lebanon, ranking 18th among males and females with an age-adjusted incidence rate of 4.2 and 2.3 per 100,000 males and females, respectively. According to the latest WHO data published in 2018, there were 227 newly diagnosed liver cancer cases and 211 liver cancer-related deaths in Lebanon. The ageadjusted death rate is 2.29 per 100,000 of population making Lebanon #174 in the world. According to the Lebanese Ministry of Public Health, liver cancer cases increased from 84 cases for a population of 3.987 million in 2005 to 150 cases for a population of 4.597 million in 2016 for both genders [1].

2 Risk Factors of HCC in Lebanon

Although many culprits are found to cause this aggressive cancer, most cases arise from chronic

S. Temraz · A. T. Taher (🖂)

Department of Internal Medicine, Hematology/ Oncology Division, American University of Beirut Medical Center, Beirut, Lebanon e-mail: st29@aub.edu.lb; ataher@aub.edu.lb hepatitis B (HBV) and hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection; of these two viruses, HBV accounts for 80% of causes of viral hepatitis [2]. The remaining cases of HCC can be attributed to a profusion of other reasons such as aflatoxins in the diet, alcoholic and non-alcoholic fatty liver diseases, obesity, and some metabolic diseases such as hemochromatosis [3].

2.1 HBV and HCV Infections

Most HCC cases in Lebanon have hepatitis B virus (HBV)-related HCC, mainly through liver cirrhosis, accounting for nearly two thirds of patients [4, 5]. The prevalence of HBV in Lebanon is 1.74%. Figure 1 shows the distribution of HBV by region. The majority of cases (63%) are between 20 and 60 years [6]. HBV infection was recorded among 2.4% of prisoners, a relatively higher seroprevalence compared to the general Lebanese population [7]. On the other hand, among 204 men who have sex with men and female sex workers aged 18 years and above, the rate is much lower than the general population with only one testing positive for HBV (0.99%) [8]. HBV infections are characterized by HBV genotype D. In this regard, a study of 61 HBV carrier blood donors from Lebanon was performed. Genotype D was the only type detected, with the majority of the strains related to subgenotype D1 and few strains related to subgenotype D2 [9].



Fig. 1 The distribution of HBV cases (shown in red) and HCV cases (shown in green) among regions in Lebanon

Another risk factor includes HCV infection in 20% of patients [4, 5]. The prevalence of HCV in Lebanon is 0.21%. Figure 1 shows the distribution of HCV by region. HCV genotype 1 is most common (50%) followed by genotype 4 (33%)

and genotype 3 (17%). Most cases of HCV infection (71%) occur in those older than 40 years [6].

Beirut, despite the overpopulation, has the least prevalence of hepatitis B (0.73%), mainly because of a higher socioeconomic status. On the

other hand, higher rates are found in Nabatieh and the South mainly due to vaccination program failure because of lack of education and inefficient awareness campaigns [10, 11]. The modes of transmission of HBV in Lebanon are predominantly horizontal, resulting from the exposure of abraded skin, cuts, minor open wounds, or mucosal surfaces to blood or body fluids containing HBV from the afflicted subjects [12]. Of note, the HBV and HCV carrier state in Lebanese blood donors is 1–2% and 0.1– 0.6%, respectively [13–15].

2.2 Alcoholic and Non-alcoholic Liver Disease

Alcohol abuse is responsible for 8% of HCC cases in Lebanon. According to the Lebanese Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol (LESA), 11.2% of Lebanese adults experienced alcohol use disorders in the prior 12 months (abuse, 6.2%; dependence, 5%) in 2011 [16]. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) represents the hepatic manifestation of metabolic syndrome which is based on obesity and insulin resistance. Epidemiologic data clearly demonstrates that NAFLD and obesity-related disorders are significant risk factors for tumor development in HCC [17]. A recent study evaluating the nutritional profile and the dietary patterns of Lebanese NAFLD patients demonstrated that 40% of cases belonged to the high fruit group as compared to 30% following a high meat and fast food dietary pattern. Both groups increased the odds of NAFLD by fourfold [18]. National studies from Lebanon report increasing rates of overweight and obesity that is more evident in females and consistent with the growing epidemic of obesity worldwide [19, 20].

2.3 Aflatoxin Contamination

Aflatoxins are food-borne secondary fungal metabolites that are hepatotoxic, hepatocarcinogenic, and mutagenic. Aflatoxin M1 (AFM1) has been recently classified by the International

Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) as a class 1 carcinogen after several studies demonstrated the increased risks for HCC in individuals exposed to it. AFM1 presents a threat to public health since it tends to linger in milk and dairy, and many studies proved its capacity to remain intact and relatively stable after heat treatment such as pasteurization or ultra-high temperature treatment [21]. In Lebanon, milk and dairy are recognized for their high nutritional value, and they are consumed by the majority of people from different regions and ages. Milk is also used as a major ingredient in the manufacturing of a wide array of Lebanese food especially dairy, pastries, and sweets. A recent study from Lebanon reported on the occurrence of AFM1 from 868 collected samples of raw cows' milk, pasteurized and UHT cows' milk, and dairy products. Results showed contamination in raw milk, pasteurized and UHT milk, and dairy products at a range of 0.011-0.440 µg/L, 0.013-0.219 µg/L, and 0.015-7.350 µg/L, respectively, with 28%, 54.5%, and 45.5%, respectively, of samples with AFM1 above maximum tolerable limit set by the European Commission [22]. AFM1 consumption was shown to be associated with 0.0041 additional cancer cases per 100,000 persons per year [22].

3 Surveillance, Prevention, and Management of HCC in Lebanon

Government strategies to address the burden of HCC include surveillance, prevention, and management of the disease. As part of surveillance, the government has initiated the National Cancer Registry since 2004, the behavioral risk factors for non-communicable diseases in Lebanon, and the National Hepatitis Epidemiological Program for Hepatitis B and Hepatitis C. As part of prevention, several public health interventions have been implemented since 1994 which have led to the decrease in the prevalence of HBV cases in Lebanon. These include HBV vaccination of newborns since 1998, the mandatory premarital screening implemented by the Lebanese government since 1994, educational and awareness campaigns regarding the disease, and screening and vaccinating high-risk groups. The decrease in prevalence of HCV from 0.7% to 0.21% in Lebanon is mainly due to efficient awareness campaigns and most importantly to the instauration of national guidelines for the treatment of HCV. Moreover, accurate blood testing for HCV in blood banks using ELISA technique as well as systematic screening of drug abusers in rehabilitation centers may have also played a role. As part of managing the disease, the government restructured cost sharing and insurance design in all institutions; these included fast-tracked, higher reimbursement rate and risksharing agreements for oncology and immunology products by the National Social Security Fund (NSSF), the creation of a national health technology assessment (HTA) unit by the Ministry of Public Health (MOPH), yearly tender BIDs by MOPH, cost-effectiveness local studies for oncology and immunology, and cost-sharing agreements by MOPH. Lately, National Management Guidelines of the disease were set by a national experts group established by the MOPH and the WHO.

4 Diagnosis and Treatment of HCC

The diagnosis of HCC can be difficult and often requires the use of one or more imaging modalities. Ideally, tumors should be detected when they are ≤ 2 cm in size so that all treatment options can be offered. However, HCC is frequently diagnosed at a late stage because it is usually asymptomatic. Nonspecific symptoms associated with advanced stage of HCC may include jaundice, anorexia, weight loss, fatigue, and upper abdominal pain. Most commonly implemented diagnostic strategies in Lebanon involve the use of multiphasic liver protocol CT with IV contrast or multiphasic contrast-enhanced MRI in conjunction with the serum biomarker alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) to determine the perfusion characteristics, extent and the number of lesions, vascular anatomy, and extrahepatic disease.

Surgical resection, liver transplantation, and ablation offer a potential for cure for HCC patients; however, only 20% of patients are suitable for primary surgical management at the time of diagnosis [23]. Liver transplant rates remain low in Lebanon mainly because of the sensitivity of the Arab culture towards the issue of possible loss of dignity of the dying process through organ procurement. This obstacle continues to hinder the progress in transplants in the region and has led to living-related liver transplants as an alternative source of organs for transplant. Patient survival in Lebanon following liver transplant was 76% at 1, 5, and 10 years [24]. The remaining 80% cases of HCC are diagnosed at advanced stages when curative treatments become nonfeasible [25]. The prognosis of HCC patients is dismal with a 5-year survival rate less than 5%, a median overall survival of 1 year [26], and a 5-year recurrence rate of nearly 80% [27]. Thus, patients with advanced HCC are offered nonsurgical approaches such as chemotherapy, targeted therapy, immunotherapy, transhepatic chemoembolization (TACE), RT, or percutaneous ethanol injection (PEI) [28–31].

5 HBV-Related Hepatocarcinogenesis

Both indirect and direct mechanisms are involved in HCC oncogenesis by HBV. HCC-promoting HBV factors include chronic inflammation, HBV integration, HBV mutations, epigenetic mechanisms, and HBV-encoded oncoproteins (e.g., HBx) (Fig. 2).

5.1 Chronic Inflammation

Following HBV infection, a robust T-cell immune response is stimulated to combat the infection. This results in hepatocyte necrosis, inflammation, and consequently regeneration, to compensate for lost hepatocytes [32]. Thus, failure by the immune system to clear HBV results in sustained



Fig. 2 HBV infection may develop to chronic hepatitis and progress to HCC, or to liver cirrhosis and subsequently HCC. Molecular mechanisms of HBV-related HCC involve (1) chronic inflammation; (2) epigenetic fac-

cycles of necrosis-inflammation-regeneration. Immune-mediated liver injury is often associated with elevated ALT levels, and elevations in tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and interleukin (IL)-1 β levels are often observed in the sera of HBV-infected patients [33]. Additionally, long-lasting hepatic inflammation caused by host immune responses during chronic HBV infection can promote liver fibrosis, cirrhosis, and HCC progression due to accelerated hepatocyte turnover rates and the accumulation of mutations [34].

5.2 HBV Integration

The HBV genome is found integrated in the host genome in nearly 80–90% of HBV-associated liver tumors and in around 30% of non-HCC liver tissue adjacent to HCC [35], and this integration appears prior to the occurrence of HCC [36]. Mechanisms by which the integration of HBV DNA could contribute to hepatocarcinogenesis include host DNA alterations at several cancerrelevant genes including cyclin A, telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT), platelet-derived growth factor receptor-beta (PDGFRB), mitogenactivated protein kinase 1 (MAPK1), and others [37, 38].

tors that confer cell growth advantage; (3) integration of HBV DNA into the host genome and activation of host genes controlling cell proliferation; and (4) direct promotion of cell proliferation by viral proteins (mainly HBx)

TERT is located on chromosome 5p and is directly associated with HBV genome integration in the TERT locus [39]. HBx functions as a transcriptional activator and suppressor and has effects on hepatocellular apoptosis [40]. HBx proteins may upregulate the transcriptional activation of human telomerase transcriptase [41]. Cis-activation of human TERT mRNA by HBx gene may also play a role in hepatocarcinogenesis [42].

5.3 HBV Mutations

Recent studies observed that single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of genes including GSTM1 (Glutathione S-Transferase Mu1), GSTT1 (Glutathione S-Transferase Theta1), STAT4 (Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 4), TPTE2 (Transmembrane Phosphoinositide 3-Phosphatase and Tensin Homolog 2), DCL1 (CD302 Molecule), KIF1B (Kinesin Family Member 1B), and PGD (Phosphogluconate Dehydrogenase) are associated with increased risk of HBV-mediated HCC [43]. Moreover, mutations in the tumor suppressor p53 (TP53), WNT pathway (APC, AXIN1, CTNNB1), and epigenetic enzymes (ARID1A,

ARID2, MLL4) have also been reported in HBVmediated HCC [43, 44].

5.4 Epigenetic Mechanisms

Epigenetic modifications are heritable changes in gene expression that do not result from changes in the genomic sequence. These could be attributed to DNA modifications (methylation of cytosine residues generating 5-methylcytosine, oxidation of 5-methylcytosine to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine), histone modifications (methylation, acetylation, phosphorylation, and ubiquitination of N-terminal of histone tails), nucleosome restructuring by ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complexes, and altered expression of long non-coding RNAs (lncRNA) and microRNAs (miRNAs) [45].

Several miRNAs involved in the Toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling pathway play a critical role in innate immunity against HBV infection [46]. For instance, miR-145 and miR-148a target TLR3; miR-200b, miR-200c, miR148a, miR-455, and let-7-family members target TLR4; let-7b and miR-155 target TLR7; and miR-148a targets TLR9, and all of which are involved in HBV infection [46, 47].

5.5 HBV-Encoded Oncoproteins

The HBV genome encodes at least four proteins [HBsAg, a core protein (splice variant: HBeAg), a DNA polymerase, and the HBx protein] that are translated from mRNAs transcribed from HBV covalently closed circular DNA and/or from HBV genome sequences integrated into the host genome [48].

A truncated mutant of HBsAg increases HBVrelated tumorigenesis through the downregulated expression of transforming growth factor (TGF) BI associated with the TGF β -SMAD pathway [49]. Furthermore, HBsAg enhances the IL-6– STAT3 pathway, thereby increasing the HBsAgmediated malignant potential of HBV-associated HCC [50]. HBeAg is associated with the host immune response and cytokine production, both of which play roles in HBV-associated HCC [51].

Overexpression of the HBV polymerase due to core gene deletion enhances HCC cell growth by inhibiting miR-100 [52]. Results of a recent study revealed that transgenic mice expressing the reverse transcriptase domain of HBV polymerase in their livers developed early cirrhosis with steatosis by 18 months of age, with 10% subsequently developing HCC [53].

The viral regulatory protein HBx contributes critically to HBV replication and is thought to be closely related to HBV oncogenicity [54]. HBx transactivates binding sites for the transcription factors AP-1 and NF- κ B [55], activates the p53-RB and β -catenin pathways [56, 57], and is involved in chromatin remodeling [58] and transcriptional modulation in hepatocarcinogenesis [59].

6 Thalassemia-Related Hepatocarcinogenesis

Thalassemia is a genetically transmitted, quantitative disorder of hemoglobin. It is divided into two main categories, transfusion-dependent thalassemia (TDT)—patients who are not capable of producing sufficient hemoglobin to survive without blood transfusions—or non-transfusiondependent thalassemia (NTDT). Patients with β -thalassemia intermedia, hemoglobin H disease, and mild-to-moderate forms of hemoglobin E/ β -thalassemia often fall under the classification of NTDT, whereas patients with β -thalassemia major and severe forms of hemoglobin E/ β -thalassemia are classified as having TDT [60].

HCC is a major life-threatening cancer that is becoming more frequently identified in thalassemia patients mainly because of the increased life span of these patients which previously had limited survival [61, 62]. The incidence of HCC among thalassemia major patients was 2% during a 1-year observation period, which is almost the same as the risk of HCC in the general population [63]. Most patients with thalassemia develop HCC at age <50 years, and there is no noticeable difference in incidence between men and women in this



Fig. 3 Different mechanism related to HCC development in thalassemia patients. FR free radicals; HBV hepatitis B virus, HCV hepatitis C virus, HCC hepatocellular carcinoma, HSC hepatic stellate cells, NTBI non-transferrin-

bound iron, ROS reactive oxygen species, TGF β transforming growth factor β . (Adapted from Taher A, 2018)

group of patients [63, 64]. The two mainly established risk factors for the development of HCC in thalassemia include iron overload and viral hepatitis with or without cirrhosis [61, 62] (Fig. 3).

6.1 Iron Overload

In TDT patients, iron overload is secondary to regular transfusions, while in NTDT patients, it develops from increased intestinal absorption and increased release of recycled iron from the reticuloendothelial system (due to the suppression of hepcidin synthesis in the liver) [65]. One mechanism by which free iron is believed to trigger malignant transformation is through the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which causes peroxidation of membrane fatty acids and

subsequent formation of toxic byproducts that impair protein synthesis and disrupt DNA, leading to mutations in tumor suppressor genes (such as p53) and DNA repair genes [66]. Iron overload may also promote malignant transformation in the liver through the acceleration of fibrosis to cirrhosis by activation of stellate cells and through the profibrogenic effects of lipid peroxidation [67]. Cases of HCC in NTDT, hepatitis C-negative patients who have significant iron overload have been reported, which further highlight the role of iron overload as a definite risk factor for HCC [68, 69]. Thus, screening thalassemia patients using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)-based liver iron concentration (LIC) measurement and liver ultrasound is strongly recommended for early detection of iron overload and HCC, respectively [68].

6.2 HCV/Cirrhosis

Chronic viral infection related to blood transfusions is another risk factor for HCC in thalassemia patients. Of the HCC in thalassemia reported in the literature, 88% are infected with HCV (either as HCV Ab or HCV RNA) [64]. HCV-mediated carcinogenesis is either directly related to the virus or to complications of HCV hepatic infection like fibrosis and cirrhosis. HCV genes seem to induce the production of transforming growth factor β and consequently activating hepatic stellate cells that are responsible for hepatic fibrosis [70]. It is important to mention that chronic hepatitis C and liver iron overload have been proposed to work in synergy to increase the HCC risk, which is reflected by the fact that hepatic iron is often increased in patients who have chronic HCV infection secondary to an HCV-induced decrease in serum hepcidin levels [71, 72].

7 Secondary and Tertiary Prevention of HBV- or HCV-Related HCC

In chronic HBV carriers, the risk of HCC is higher in those with certain host factors such as older age, male gender, African origin, the presence of cirrhosis, chronic hepatic necroinflammation, alcohol use, coinfection with chronic HCV or HIV, metabolic syndrome, and genetic polymorphisms or viral factors such as HBV DNA levels and presence of specific viral mutations. HBV DNA level can be reduced by antiviral drugs, thus rendering them the main treatment target for chronic HBV [73]. Two main classes of drugs control viral replication: interferon (IFN) and nucleos(t)ide analogs (NA). The use of NA specifically entecavir and tenofovir disoproxil decreases the HCC incidence rate [74] and is shown to be associated with regression of fibrosis and, to a lesser extent, reversal of cirrhosis [75, 76]. The use of IFN in chronic HBV was

also shown to reduce the risk of HCC in a selected subgroup of patients with early cirrhosis who responded to IFN compared with controls; however, the response rate in chronic HBV is disappointing and incurs numerous adverse effects [77, 78]. Specific to chronic HBV, in those who already developed HCC, tertiary prevention mainly involves initiation (if not given before the HCC) or continuation of antiviral therapy. The beneficial effects of NA are observed in patients who received curative liver resection for HCC [79] and also in patients receiving radiofrequency ablation [80]. However, there is not yet enough evidence showing the beneficial effect of NA in prevention of HCC recurrence. Also, the effect of NA on HCC in patients with inoperable HCC undergoing locoregional therapy is not well defined.

With the use of direct-acting antiviral (DAA) agents as anti-HCV therapy, HCV infection can be cured with a minimum of side effects. Antiviral therapy against HCV has a positive impact on the risk of development of HCC [81, 82] and has shown excellent rates of sustained virologic response (SVR). A few recent studies have raised concerns on the increased risk of HCC occurrence or recurrence after DAA therapy [83–86]. However, other studies support that treatment with DAAs is not associated with increased HCC risk compared to treatment with IFN or in DAAunexposed patients [87-90]. Although prospective trial is needed to clarify this controversy, surveillance for HCC occurrence or recurrence is required among patients with an SVR at risk of liver disease progression, irrespective of the antiviral agent used [91]. In patients without cancer, recent data highlight the potential consequences of delaying antiviral treatment on subsequent risk of HCC and support treatment of all patients with HCV before their progression to advanced fibrosis and cirrhosis, because progression to cirrhosis might be associated with substantial downstream costs related to the need for lifelong HCC surveillance and/or cancer care for those who develop HCC [87].

8 Conclusions

Although HCC rates in Lebanon are relatively low compared to other regions of the world, they are on the rise. It is anticipated that the increased incidence in the future will be more related to nonviral causes such as obesity, aflatoxin contamination, and alcohol abuse and less to viral causes as HCV and HBV infection rates have been decreasing as a result of efficient governmental strategies undertaken to control the virus. Finally, thalassemia patients are also emerging to be at high risk of developing HCC which has not been previously an issue as the survival rates of thalassemia patients were low and HCC did not pose an issue beforehand. Now, the emergence of HCC as a pressing morbidity in thalassemia suggests the need for structured HCC screening programs. Moreover, the development of HCC can be avoided by preventing or treating the HCC risk factors, namely, chronic viral hepatitis and iron overload. Although little data has been published on HCC treatment in thalassemia, the following modalities have been proven both safe and effective in selected patients with thalassemia: (1) surgical resection, (2) chemoembolization, and (3) simultaneous percutaneous radiofrequency thermoablation and ethanol injection [62].

References

- Adib SM, Daniel MJ. Ministry of Public Health National Cancer Registry Cancer in Lebanon 2003. National Cancer Registry. 2006.
- Perz JF, Armstrong GL, Farrington LA, Hutin YJ, Bell BP. The contributions of hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infections to cirrhosis and primary liver cancer worldwide. J Hepatol. 2006;45(4):529–38.
- McGlynn KA, London WT. The global epidemiology of hepatocellular carcinoma: present and future. Clin Liver Dis. 2011;15(2):223–43.
- Yaghi C, Sharara A-I, Rassam P, Moucari R, Honein K, BouJaoude J, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma in Lebanon: Etiology and prognostic factors associated with short-term survival. World J Gastroenterol. 2006;12(22):3575–80.
- Yaghi C, Sayegh R, Fayad N, Honein K, Bou Jaoude J, Khouri K. [Cirrhosis and renal failure: the influence of creatinine value on prognosis]. J Med Liban. 2003;51(1):15–23.

- Abou Rached A, Abou Kheir S, Saba J, Ammar W. Epidemiology of hepatitis B and hepatitis C in Lebanon. Arab J Gastroenterol. 2016;17(1):29–33.
- Mahfoud Z, Kassak K, Kreidieh K, Shamra S, Ramia S. Prevalence of antibodies to human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis B and hepatitis C and risk factors in prisoners in Lebanon. J Infect Dev Ctries. 2010;4(3):144–9.
- Kassak K, Mahfoud Z, Kreidieh K, Shamra S, Afifi R, Ramia S. Hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infections among female sex workers and men who have sex with men in Lebanon: prevalence, risk behaviour and immune status. Sex Health. 2011;8(2):229–33.
- El Chaar M, El Jisr T, Allain J-P. Hepatitis B virus DNA splicing in Lebanese blood donors and genotype A to E strains: implications for hepatitis B virus DNA quantification and infectivity. J Clin Microbiol. 2012;50(10):3159–67.
- Kalaajieh WK, Dennaoui MS, Chbani-Rima A. Epidemiology of acute hepatitis B infection in Lebanon. Med Mal Infect. 2002;32(7):382–6.
- Baddoura R, Haddad C, Germanos M. Hepatitis B and C seroprevalence in the Lebanese population. East Mediterr Health J. 2002;8(1):150–6.
- Madihi S, Syed H, Lazar F, Zyad A, Benani A. A systematic review of the current hepatitis B viral infection and hepatocellular carcinoma situation in Mediterranean countries. Biomed Res Int. 2020;2020:7027169-.
- Irani-Hakime N, Tamim H, Samaha H, Almawi WY. Prevalence of antibodies against hepatitis C virus among blood donors in Lebanon, 1997-2000. Clin Lab Haematol. 2001;23(5):317–23.
- Nabulsi MM, El Saleeby CM, Araj GF. The current status of hepatitis B in Lebanon. J Med Liban. 2003;51(2):64–70.
- Araj GF, Kfoury-Baz EE, Barada KA, Nassif RE, Alami SY. Hepatitis C virus: prevalence in Lebanese blood donors and brief overview of the disease. J Med Liban. 1995;43(1):11–6.
- 16. Yazbek JC, Haddad R, Bou Khalil R, Hlais S, Rizk GA, Rohayem J, et al. Prevalence and correlates of alcohol abuse and dependence in Lebanon: results from the Lebanese Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol (LESA). J Addict Dis. 2014;33(3):221–33.
- 17. Seydel GS, Kucukoglu O, Altinbas A, Demir OO, Yilmaz S, Akkiz H, et al. Economic growth leads to increase of obesity and associated hepatocellular carcinoma in developing countries. Ann Hepatol. 2016;15(5):662–72.
- Fakhoury-Sayegh N, Younes H, Heraoui GNHA, Sayegh R. Nutritional profile and dietary patterns of Lebanese non-alcoholic fatty liver disease patients: a case-control study. Nutrients. 2017;9(11):1245.
- Sibai AM, Hwalla N, Adra N, Rahal B. Prevalence and covariates of obesity in Lebanon: findings from the first epidemiological study. Obes Res. 2003;11(11):1353–61.
- Nasreddine L, Naja F, Chamieh MC, Adra N, Sibai A-M, Hwalla N. Trends in overweight and obesity in

Lebanon: evidence from two national cross-sectional surveys (1997 and 2009). BMC Public Health. 2012;12:798-.

- Flores-Flores ME, Lizarraga E, de Cerain AL, González-Peñas E. Presence of mycotoxins in animal milk: a review. Food Control. 2015;53:163–76.
- 22. Daou R, Afif C, Joubrane K, Khabbaz LR, Maroun R, Ismail A, et al. Occurrence of aflatoxin M1 in raw, pasteurized, UHT cows' milk, and dairy products in Lebanon. Food Control. 2020;111:107055.
- EASL-EORTC clinical practice guidelines: management of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2012;56(4):908–43.
- Faraj W, Haydar A, Nounou GE, Naaj AA, Khoury G, Jabbour S, et al. Update on liver transplants in Lebanon. Prog Transplant. 2015;25(3):271–5.
- El-Serag HB, Rudolph KL. Hepatocellular carcinoma: epidemiology and molecular carcinogenesis. Gastroenterology. 2007;132(7):2557–76.
- Frenette C, Gish R. Targeted systemic therapies for hepatocellular carcinoma: clinical perspectives, challenges and implications. World J Gastroenterol. 2012;18(6):498–506.
- Lencioni R. Loco-regional treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 2010;52(2):762–73.
- Llovet JM, Bruix J. Systematic review of randomized trials for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: chemoembolization improves survival. Hepatology. 2003;37(2):429–42.
- Torimura T, Iwamoto H, Nakamura T, Koga H, Ueno T, Kerbel RS, et al. Metronomic chemotherapy: possible clinical application in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. Transl Oncol. 2013;6(5):511–9.
- 30. Giorgio A, Di Sarno A, De Stefano G, Scognamiglio U, Farella N, Mariniello A, et al. Percutaneous radiofrequency ablation of hepatocellular carcinoma compared to percutaneous ethanol injection in treatment of cirrhotic patients: an Italian randomized controlled trial. Anticancer Res. 2011;31(6):2291–5.
- Breous E, Thimme R. Potential of immunotherapy for hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2011;54(4):830–4.
- Block TM, Mehta AS, Fimmel CJ, Jordan R. Molecular viral oncology of hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncogene. 2003;22(33):5093–107.
- 33. Wu S, Kanda T, Nakamoto S, Jiang X, Nakamura M, Sasaki R, et al. Cooperative effects of hepatitis B virus and TNF may play important roles in the activation of metabolic pathways through the activation of NF-κB. Int J Mol Med. 2016;38(2):475–81.
- Xie Y. Hepatitis B Virus-Associated Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2017;1018:11–21.
- 35. Sung W-K, Zheng H, Li S, Chen R, Liu X, Li Y, et al. Genome-wide survey of recurrent HBV integration in hepatocellular carcinoma. Nat Genet. 2012;44(7):765–9.

- Wang M, Xi D, Ning Q. Virus-induced hepatocellular carcinoma with special emphasis on HBV. Hepatol Int. 2017;11(2):171–80.
- Tokino T, Tamura H, Hori N, Matsubara K. Chromosome deletions associated with hepatitis B virus integration. Virology. 1991;185(2):879–82.
- Murakami Y, Saigo K, Takashima H, Minami M, Okanoue T, Brechot C, et al. Large scaled analysis of hepatitis B virus (HBV) DNA integration in HBV related hepatocellular carcinomas. Gut. 2005;54(8):1162–8.
- 39. Tokino T, Fukushige S, Nakamura T, Nagaya T, Murotsu T, Shiga K, et al. Chromosomal translocation and inverted duplication associated with integrated hepatitis B virus in hepatocellular carcinomas. J Virol. 1987;61(12):3848–54.
- 40. Liu H, Shi W, Luan F, Xu S, Yang F, Sun W, et al. Hepatitis B virus X protein upregulates transcriptional activation of human telomerase reverse transcriptase. Virus Genes. 2010;40(2):174–82.
- 41. Zou S-Q, Qu Z-L, Li Z-F, Wang X. Hepatitis B virus X gene induces human telomerase reverse transcriptase mRNA expression in cultured normal human cholangiocytes. World J Gastroenterol. 2004;10(15):2259.
- 42. Kojima H, Kaita KD, Xu Z, Ou JH, Gong Y, Zhang M, et al. The absence of up-regulation of telomerase activity during regeneration after partial hepatectomy in hepatitis B virus X gene transgenic mice. J Hepatol. 2003;39(2):262–8.
- Zucman-Rossi J, Villanueva A, Nault J-C, Llovet JM. Genetic landscape and biomarkers of hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2015;149(5):1226– 39. e4.
- 44. Knudsen ES, Gopal P, Singal AG. The changing landscape of hepatocellular carcinoma: etiology, genetics, and therapy. Am J Pathol. 2014;184(3):574–83.
- Mani SKK, Andrisani O. Hepatitis B virus-associated hepatocellular carcinoma and hepatic cancer stem cells. Genes (Basel). 2018;9(3):137.
- 46. Jiang X, Kanda T, Wu S, Nakamura M, Miyamura T, Nakamoto S, et al. Regulation of microRNA by hepatitis B virus infection and their possible association with control of innate immunity. World J Gastroenterol: WJG. 2014;20(23):7197.
- 47. Sarkar N, Panigrahi R, Pal A, Biswas A, Singh S, Kar S, et al. Expression of microRNA-155 correlates positively with the expression of Toll-like receptor 7 and modulates hepatitis B virus via C/EBP-β in hepatocytes. J Viral Hepat. 2015;22(10):817–27.
- Hadziyannis E, Laras A. Viral biomarkers in chronic HBeAg negative HBV infection. Genes. 2018;9(10):469.
- 49. Wang M-L, Wu D-B, Tao Y-C, Chen L-L, Liu C-P, Chen E-Q, et al. The truncated mutant HBsAg expression increases the tumorigenesis of hepatitis B virus by regulating TGF-β/Smad signaling pathway. Virol J. 2018;15(1):1–7.

- 50. Song J, Zhang X, Ge Q, Yuan C, Chu L, Liang HF, et al. CRISPR/Cas9-mediated knockout of HBsAg inhibits proliferation and tumorigenicity of HBV-positive hepatocellular carcinoma cells. J Cell Biochem. 2018;119(10):8419–31.
- 51. Wu S, Kanda T, Imazeki F, Nakamoto S, Tanaka T, Arai M, et al. Hepatitis B virus e antigen physically associates with receptor-interacting serine/threonine protein kinase 2 and regulates IL-6 gene expression. J Infect Dis. 2012;206(3):415–20.
- 52. Huang Y-H, Tseng Y-H, Lin W-R, Hung G, Chen T-C, Wang T-H, et al. HBV polymerase overexpression due to large core gene deletion enhances hepatoma cell growth by binding inhibition of microRNA-100. Oncotarget. 2016;7(8):9448.
- 53. Chung HJ, Chen X, Yu Y, Lee HK, Song CH, Choe H, et al. A critical role of hepatitis B virus polymerase in cirrhosis, hepatocellular carcinoma, and steatosis. FEBS Open Bio. 2018;8(1):130–45.
- Lucifora J, Arzberger S, Durantel D, Belloni L, Strubin M, Levrero M, et al. Hepatitis B virus X protein is essential to initiate and maintain virus replication after infection. J Hepatol. 2011;55(5):996–1003.
- Kekulé AS, Lauer U, Weiss L, Luber B, Hofschneider PH. Hepatitis B virus transactivator HBx uses a tumour promoter signalling pathway. Nature. 1993;361(6414):742–5.
- 56. Choi BH, Choi M, Jeon HY, Rho HM. Hepatitis B viral X protein overcomes inhibition of E2F1 activity by pRb on the human Rb gene promoter. DNA Cell Biol. 2001;20(2):75–80.
- Staib F, Perwez Hussain S, Hofseth LJ, Wang XW, Harris CC. TP53 and liver carcinogenesis. Hum Mutat. 2003;21(3):201–16.
- 58. Luo L, Chen S, Gong Q, Luo N, Lei Y, Guo J, et al. Hepatitis B virus X protein modulates remodelling of minichromosomes related to hepatitis B virus replication in HepG2 cells. Int J Mol Med. 2013;31(1):197–204.
- 59. Swarnalatha M, Singh AK, Kumar V. Promoter occupancy of MLL1 histone methyltransferase seems to specify the proliferative and apoptotic functions of E2F1 in a tumour microenvironment. J Cell Sci. 2013;126(20):4636–46.
- Taher AT, Weatherall DJ, Cappellini MD. Thalassaemia. Lancet. 2018;391(10116):155–67.
- 61. Finianos A, Matar CF, Taher A. Hepatocellular carcinoma in β-thalassemia patients: review of the literature with molecular insight into liver carcinogenesis. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(12):4070.
- Moukhadder HM, Halawi R, Cappellini MD, Taher AT. Hepatocellular carcinoma as an emerging morbidity in the thalassemia syndromes: a comprehensive review. Cancer. 2017;123(5):751–8.
- Mancuso A, Sciarrino E, Concetta Renda M, Maggio A. A prospective study of hepatocellular carcinoma incidence in thalassemia. Hemoglobin. 2006;30(1):119–24.
- 64. Borgna-Pignatti C, Garani MC, Forni GL, Cappellini MD, Cassinerio E, Fidone C, et al.

Hepatocellular carcinoma in thalassaemia: an update of the Italian registry. Br J Haematol. 2014;167(1):121–6.

- 65. Hodroj MH, Bou-Fakhredin R, Nour-Eldine W, Noureldine HA, Noureldine MHA, Taher AT. Thalassemia and malignancy: an emerging concern? Blood Rev. 2019;37:100585.
- 66. Kew MC. Hepatic iron overload and hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Lett. 2009;286(1):38–43.
- Kowdley KV. Iron, hemochromatosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2004;127(5):S79–86.
- 68. Moukhadder HM, Roumi JE, Bou-Fakhredin R, Taher AT. Hepatocellular carcinoma in a β-thalassemia intermedia patient: yet another case in the expanding epidemic. Hemoglobin. 2018;42(1):58–60.
- 69. Maakaron JE, Cappellini MD, Graziadei G, Ayache JB, Taher AT. Hepatocellular carcinoma in hepatitis-negative patients with thalassemia intermedia: a closer look at the role of siderosis. Ann Hepatol. 2013;12(1):142–6.
- Schulze-Krebs A, Preimel D, Popov Y, Bartenschlager R, Lohmann V, Pinzani M, et al. Hepatitis C virusreplicating hepatocytes induce fibrogenic activation of hepatic stellate cells. Gastroenterology. 2005;129(1):246–58.
- Girelli D, Pasino M, Goodnough JB, Nemeth E, Guido M, Castagna A, et al. Reduced serum hepcidin levels in patients with chronic hepatitis C. J Hepatol. 2009;51(5):845–52.
- 72. Angelucci E, Muretto P, Nicolucci A, Baronciani D, Erer B, Gaziev J, et al. Effects of iron overload and hepatitis C virus positivity in determining progression of liver fibrosis in thalassemia following bone marrow transplantation. Blood. 2002;100(1):17–21.
- Mak L-Y, Cruz-Ramón V, Chinchilla-López P, Torres HA, LoConte NK, Rice JP, et al. Global epidemiology, prevention, and management of hepatocellular carcinoma. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book. 2018;38:262–79.
- Papatheodoridis GV, Idilman R, Dalekos GN, Buti M, Chi H, van Boemmel F, et al. The risk of hepatocellular carcinoma decreases after the first 5 years of entecavir or tenofovir in Caucasians with chronic hepatitis B. Hepatology. 2017;66(5):1444–53.
- 75. Marcellin P, Gane E, Buti M, Afdhal N, Sievert W, Jacobson IM, et al. Regression of cirrhosis during treatment with tenofovir disoproxil fumarate for chronic hepatitis B: a 5-year open-label follow-up study. Lancet. 2013;381(9865):468–75.
- 76. Chang TT, Liaw YF, Wu SS, Schiff E, Han KH, Lai CL, et al. Long-term entecavir therapy results in the reversal of fibrosis/cirrhosis and continued histological improvement in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Hepatology. 2010;52(3):886–93.
- Sung JJ, Tsoi KK, Wong VW, Li KC, Chan HL. Metaanalysis: treatment of hepatitis B infection reduces risk of hepatocellular carcinoma. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2008;28(9):1067–77.

- Lai CL, Yuen MF. Prevention of hepatitis B virusrelated hepatocellular carcinoma with antiviral therapy. Hepatology. 2013;57(1):399–408.
- 79. Wu CY, Chen YJ, Ho HJ, Hsu YC, Kuo KN, Wu MS, et al. Association between nucleoside analogues and risk of hepatitis B virus–related hepatocellular carcinoma recurrence following liver resection. JAMA. 2012;308(18):1906–14.
- Lee TY, Lin JT, Zeng YS, Chen YJ, Wu MS, Wu CY. Association between nucleos(t)ide analog and tumor recurrence in hepatitis B virus-related hepatocellular carcinoma after radiofrequency ablation. Hepatology. 2016;63(5):1517–27.
- 81. Ryerson AB, Eheman CR, Altekruse SF, Ward JW, Jemal A, Sherman RL, et al. Annual Report to the Nation on the Status of Cancer, 1975-2012, featuring the increasing incidence of liver cancer. Cancer. 2016;122(9):1312–37.
- 82. Morgan RL, Baack B, Smith BD, Yartel A, Pitasi M, Falck-Ytter Y. Eradication of hepatitis C virus infection and the development of hepatocellular carcinoma: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Ann Intern Med. 2013;158(5 Pt 1):329–37.
- Reig M, Mariño Z, Perelló C, Iñarrairaegui M, Ribeiro A, Lens S, et al. Unexpected high rate of early tumor recurrence in patients with HCV-related HCC undergoing interferon-free therapy. J Hepatol. 2016;65(4):719–26.
- Conti F, Buonfiglioli F, Scuteri A, Crespi C, Bolondi L, Caraceni P, et al. Early occurrence and recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma in HCV-related cirrhosis treated with direct-acting antivirals. J Hepatol. 2016;65(4):727–33.

- 85. Ravi S, Axley P, Jones D, Kodali S, Simpson H, McGuire BM, et al. Unusually high rates of hepatocellular carcinoma after treatment with direct-acting antiviral therapy for hepatitis C related cirrhosis. Gastroenterology. 2017;152(4):911–2.
- Ioannou GN, Green PK, Berry K. HCV eradication induced by direct-acting antiviral agents reduces the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2017;S0168-8278(17):32273-0.
- 87. Kanwal F, Kramer J, Asch SM, Chayanupatkul M, Cao Y, El-Serag HB. Risk of hepatocellular cancer in HCV patients treated with direct-acting antiviral agents. Gastroenterology. 2017;153(4):996–1005.e1.
- Waziry R, Hajarizadeh B, Grebely J, Amin J, Law M, Danta M, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma risk following direct-acting antiviral HCV therapy: a systematic review, meta-analyses, and meta-regression. J Hepatol. 2017;67(6):1204–12.
- 89. Cabibbo G, Petta S, Calvaruso V, Cacciola I, Cannavò MR, Madonia S, et al. Is early recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma in HCV cirrhotic patients affected by treatment with direct-acting antivirals? A prospective multicentre study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2017;46(7):688–95.
- Torres HA, Vauthey JN, Economides MP, Mahale P, Kaseb A. Hepatocellular carcinoma recurrence after treatment with direct-acting antivirals: first, do no harm by withdrawing treatment. J Hepatol. 2016;65(4):862–4.
- Torres HA, Shigle TL, Hammoudi N, Link JT, Samaniego F, Kaseb A, et al. The oncologic burden of hepatitis C virus infection: a clinical perspective. CA Cancer J Clin. 2017;67(5):411–31.



Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Pakistan: An Update

Abu Bakar Hafeez Bhatti

1 Introduction

Cancer remains a leading cause of death worldwide. There were 18.1 million new cases and 9.5 million cancer-related deaths worldwide in the year 2018. By 2040, the number of cancer-related deaths is expected to rise to 16.4 million [1]. Liver cancer is the fifth most common cancer in men and the ninth most common cancer in women. In 2018, there were over 840,000 new cases of liver cancer in the world [2]. Pakistan is one of the eight countries in South Asia (Fig. 1).

Based on the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) data, the estimated population of Pakistan is 212, 228, 286 and the under-five mortality rate is 67.2 per 1000 live births [3]. It is the fifth largest country in the world population wise, but lags behind in various important determinants of health care when compared with neighboring countries [4, 5].

There is a steady increase in the incidence of liver cancer in Pakistan [6, 7]. Between 85% and 90% of the liver cancer originates from the hepatocytes. Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in Pakistan represents a unique challenge in a number of ways. In the absence of a functional national cancer registry, our inferences are based on results from hospital-based registries. Hepatitis C virus infection is the most common risk factor for HCC, which is in contrast with some of the other countries in the Asia Pacific region, where hepatitis B infection is endemic. Moreover, there is very limited data on natural history of non-hepatitis C and B HCC [8]. Consequentially, applicability of established guidelines remains questionable, yet we need to reach a national consensus on HCC management. Well-known risk factors for HCC include viral infections, alcohol consumption, autoimmune and hereditary disorders, diabetes, and obesity [9–11].

Based on available data, age-standardized rate for HCC in Pakistan is 7.6 per 100,000 persons per year for males and 2.8 for females [12, 13]. In this chapter, we have attempted to review the epidemiology of HCC in Pakistan, with special focus on surveillance and diagnostic and treatment strategies more relevant to developing countries.

2 Risk Factors for HCC

2.1 Hepatitis C and B Virus Infection

To date, hepatitis C virus (HCV) and hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection is the most common risk factor for progression to liver cirrhosis and HCC in Pakistan. Most patients present in the fifth decade of life [14–16]. Pakistan is one of the few

A. B. H. Bhatti (🖂)

Department of Hepato-Pancreatico-Biliary Surgery and Liver Transplantation, Shifa International Hospital, Islamabad, Pakistan

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 B. I. Carr (ed.), *Liver Cancer in the Middle East*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78737-0_25



Fig. 1 Political map of Pakistan (www.surveyofpakistan.gov.pk)

countries in the world with >3% anti-HCV antibody positivity [17–19]. Approximately 58% patients have HCV, while 25% have HBV infection [20]. However, HCV antibody positivity can vary from 24% to 72.5%, while hepatitis B surface antigen positivity ranges between 13.1% and 51.2% [21–23]. This reported variability stems from patchy nature of available information, high prevalence of HCV and HBV in certain pockets of the country, and lack of national cancer surveillance programs [8].

Factors implicated in the spread of HCV infection include rural population, illiteracy, unscreened blood products, use of unsterilized instruments for shaving, misuse of injectables, and minor surgical procedures particularly circumcision [24]. In fact it has been shown that the risk of HCV transmission is increased when circumcision is performed by barbers and not in the hospital setting [25, 26]. Up to 48% barbers

might use unsterilized blades for shaving. This behavior might be replicated when performing circumcision [27]. In addition, distinct phytogenetic clustering of HCV in Pakistan has also been implicated in exponential spread of HCV [28]. All these factors might account for high prevalence of HCV and not HBV in our country.

2.2 HIV Coinfection

In HIV-positive patients, HCV or HBV coinfection leads to accelerated progression to cirrhosis and HCC. A significant number of HIV-positive patients might have HCV or HBV coinfection. Sexual promiscuity and blood transfusions are the major risk factors [29]. HCV and HBV coinfection in HIV patients is a growing problem in Pakistan but remains underreported. The available data are predominantly based on high-risk groups like prisoners. These studies have shown an alarming rate of >50% coinfection in HIVpositive patients [30, 31]. Reasons for the high coinfection rate include illegal drug use, homosexuality, etc. The impact of HCV or HBV infection in HIV-positive Pakistani patients largely remains unknown.

2.3 Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease

The risk of HCC is increased two to four times in patients with diabetes mellitus (DM). Studies from the West and Asia have confirmed these findings [32, 33]. DM not only accelerates liver fibrosis and development of HCC, but contributes to poor outcomes. Moreover, after curative treatment, risk of recurrence is also increased in the presence of DM [34]. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is a common problem in DM. NAFLD is associated with presence of fat in the liver after exclusion of other contributory factors like alcohol and certain drugs. It ranges from simple steatosis to fibrosis, cirrhosis, and HCC [35]. NAFLD is a growing problem in the world including Asia and Pakistan. This is due to modernization and urbanization associated with increasing wealth, sedentary lifestyle, and dietary changes predisposing to obesity [36]. Chronic liver disease due to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) may soon be the most common reason for liver transplantation in the world [37]. Fatty liver disease has reached epidemic proportion in Pakistan but still remains unnoticed [38–40].

2.4 Aflatoxin-Mediated HCC

Aflatoxins are difuranceoumarin derivatives of *Aspergillus flavus* and *Aspergillus parasiticus*. These fungi contaminate crops in warm, humid climates both during the growth and the storage phase [41]. Aflatoxin B_1 (AFB1) is the most potent hepatocarcinogen and is found in contaminated human food stuff [42]. AFB1 is known to have a synergistic effect and increases the risk of HCC development many folds in the presence of HBV infection [43].

It is estimated that about 45 million of the world's population is exposed to aflatoxins. There are various types of aflatoxins, and AFB1 is the most important in terms of clinical impact. In high-income countries, due to strict governmental regulations, effective screening ensures that food stuff exposed to aflatoxin does not reach consumers and is safely discarded. Regulations to control dietary exposure to AFB1 are either non-existent or difficult to implement in lowincome countries. Thus infected food stuff can gain entry into the consumer markets. Least, they are consumed by the family members, friends, and neighbors of the farmers growing these crops which leads to spread of infection [41]. In fact, it has been shown that more than 50% of cornbased products and 18.3% rice products in Pakistan might have AFB1 contamination [44].

3 Screening and Diagnosis for HCC

Since HCC has a median subclinical period of 3.2 years, screening with early detection has a substantial impact on outcomes [45, 46]. Although ultrasound is highly sensitive in detecting HCC, its ability is limited in obese and cirrhotic patients [47]. Significant differences in regional guidelines on HCC screening and diagnosis exist. The American Association for the Study of Liver Disease (AASLD) recommends 6 monthly ultrasound (US) with or without AFP in high-risk patients [48]. The Asian Pacific Association for the Study of the Liver (APASL) recommends US and AFP, while the European Association for the Study of the Liver (EASL) recommends US alone [49, 50].

For lesions >1 cm in size, diagnostic criteria for HCC rely on dynamic imaging of the liver with CT or MRI scan. In most cases, a lesion with arterial enhancement and venous washout is typical for HCC. In patients with atypical liver lesions, biopsy can be performed to establish diagnosis. There is considerable controversy with regard to diagnosis and management of lesions <1 cm in size [47, 51, 52].

Majority of high-risk patients do not undergo screening in Pakistan. There is a large variation in

terms of choice of investigations and time duration between them [53]. In the presence of cirrhosis, it is difficult to detect early HCC. Less than 10% patients are diagnosed with HCC on screening in Pakistan, and that perhaps explains the late presentation and poor prognosis in the majority [20, 21]. Less than 2% patients are diagnosed with HCC on CT findings alone in Pakistan. A combination of CT, AFP, and histopathology is used in most patients [21]. HCC is >5 cm in more than 40% patients, \geq 50% patients have >1 tumor nodule, while majority have advanced liver failure at the time of presentation [22].

To summarize, patients with HCC generally have advanced disease at presentation and only are eligible for definitive treatment. In the absence of nationally accepted guidelines for diagnosis of HCC, majority of patients end up undergoing an array of expensive investigations for establishing a diagnosis.

4 HCC Treatments

HCC has a poor prognosis even in developed countries, and 5-year survival is only 10%. Survival is even worse in developing countries, and mortality is roughly equivalent to incidence rates [54, 55]. Tumor characteristics (size, multi-

nodularity, and vascular invasion), underlying liver function (Child-Pugh score), and performance status (Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Performance Status) play an important role in survival [56, 57].

Global trends in HCC treatment are not uniform and do not adhere to the most widely applied Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer (BCLC) staging algorithm. These trends are dictated by availability of treatment facilities and technical skills. Treatment may vary for the same stage across different regions. Transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) is the most frequently used first treatment in North America, Europe, China, and South Korea, percutaneous ethanol injection (PEI) and radiofrequency ablation (RFA) in Japan, and resection in Taiwan (Fig. 2) [58].

Liver resection and liver transplantation Surgery remains the most effective treatment for patients with HCC. In carefully selected patients, liver resection and transplantation can achieve 5-year overall survival of 40% and 70%, respectively [59–61]. In majority of cases, HCC develops on a background of cirrhosis, and liver resection is not always feasible due to underlying liver failure. Liver transplantation (LT) not only removes the HCC but also removes the failing liver.



Fig. 2 (a) First recorded HCC treatment by country and region. (b) BCLC stage, *Liver Int.* 2015 Sep; 35(9): 2155–2166. https://doi.org/10.1111/liv.12818

Very few centers in Pakistan offer the full spectrum of liver resections and transplant services. The field of LT and liver surgery is rapidly evolving nationally. The last decade has proven to be much more promising in terms of development of HCC treatment facilities in the country. At present, there are two well-established transplant centers and at least five facilities where major liver resections are possible. The most experienced transplant program in Islamabad is nearing 1000 living donor liver transplants, while a government-funded transplant program in Sindh province is providing care to patients who cannot afford this treatment [62, 63]. Considering the burden of HCC and cirrhosis in Pakistan, there is an urgent need to develop more treatment facilities in the country. Unfortunately, since health care in Pakistan is predominantly out of pocket, it is imperative that government support for transplantation becomes more effective. In addition, a strong system of insurance coverage needs to be developed to bear the cost of expensive treatments [64].

Local ablative therapies Percutaneous ethanol ablation (PEA), RFA, and microwave ablation (MWA) are the various ablative treatment options. Access to these treatments is limited to few centers in the major cities. In order to improve waiting times and ease of access to these treatments, their availability should be ensured in smaller cities. In particular, relatively cheaper options like PEA deserve more attention. PEA was the first treatment option that became available, while RFA was introduced in the year 1999. RFA is believed to be superior in terms of clinical response and overall survival. However, this superiority has only been demonstrated in Asian studies. It is believed that there is substantial risk of bias in these studies [65]. PEA remains a cheaper yet effective treatment for HCC. In terms of cost-effectiveness, a single session of PEA costs 300 US dollars, while other ablative treatments can cost up to 1500 US dollars. PEA needs to be reintroduced into clinical practice, and its widespread availability should be made possible on national level.

Chemo and radio embolization Transarterial radioembolization is currently not available in Pakistan. Much like other HCC treatments, TACE and TAE are available only in major cities. Most patients do not have access to these facilities and, as a result, do not receive treatment for HCC. Moreover, a single TACE session can cost up to 1500 US dollars.

Systemic therapy In 2007, a tyrosine kinase inhibitor, sorafenib, became the first Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved systemic treatment for HCC. The drug confers only modest benefit in overall survival and comes with significant side effects. Other multikinase inhibitors like lenvatinib and regorafenib might have superior clinical efficacy and have recently been approved [66]. Sorafenib is the standard of care for patients with advanced HCC in Pakistan. Newer multikinase inhibitors are pending access to Pakistani markets. They remain very expensive with limited clinical benefit. At present, a month's course of sorafenib might cost around 1000 US dollars. There is a need to develop local or regional alternatives that are easily available and affordable. Moreover, these products need to be regularized so that ease of access is ensured in far-flung parts of the country. On the other hand, certain herbal compounds have shown moderate activity against HCC in the laboratory. There is a need to explore these cost-effective options for HCC treatment. A specific plant derivative Berberis lycium has shown moderate activity in G2 phase of HCC growth [67]. These alternatives might become useful options for treatment or palliation for HCC.

5 Prevention and Screening

The most effective method for HCC control is via prevention and screening. Various potential issues in HCC care and their solutions have been summarized in Table 1.

HBV and HCV The recent decline in HBVrelated infection, cirrhosis, and HCC in Pakistan can be attributed to effective implementation of

Issues	Potential solutions
Incidence and prevalence of	Implementation of
hepatitis C and hepatitis B	national screening
are unknown	program
Lack of awareness	Public education via
regarding risk factors	audiovisual dissemination
Low screening rate	regarding risk factor
High prevalence of diabetes	prevention
and obesity	Maintenance of healthy
Aflatoxin control	lifestyle and exercise
Iv drug abuse	Strict implementation of
HIV coinfaction	control policios
III v connection	Mandatory disposal of
	used syringes
	Identification of high-risk
	behaviors
	Policies to prevent
	circumcision in
	community
	Identification of high-risk
	population
Insufficient HPB/liver	Development of
transplant, palliative care,	infrastructure with
and cancer centers	collaboration of public
Enormous demand and	and private sector
supply gap	Easy access to cheaper
	options like ethanol
	ablation for smaller HCC
	easy access to local or
	regional alternatives to
	systemic therapies for
	HCC
Shortage of technical skills	Acquire technical skills
e	via national and
	international exposure
	and collaboration
Controversial aspects of	Collective
HCC management	decision-making
Knowledge gap	Online tumor boards
	Personalized care for
	individual patients
Low remission rates for	Access to new treatments
nepatitis C	at affordable price
	market access to local or
	cost-effective options
Scattered cancer	National cancer registry
registriestrue cancer	rational cancel registry
incidence and prevalence	
unknown	

 Table 1
 Major problems in HCC control in Pakistan and their potential solutions

Modified from: Hafeez Bhatti et al. [8]

HBV vaccination programs across the country. Nevertheless there are certain pockets with very high prevalence of HBV infection. This is due to complete lack of awareness and availability of HBV vaccination. Outreach programs need to be developed to ensure safe and effective delivery of vaccination in such high-risk areas and education of native population [68]. On the contrary, HCV infection continues to be a growing menace, and more than half of the HCC in Pakistan is secondary to HCV infection. With the availability of more effective anti-HCV medications, the future might appear promising as far as HCV-related HCC is concerned. However, HCV eradication at present remains a mere dream than reality. It has been shown that massive efforts and support are required to achieve this goal and HCV elimination does not appear likely until 2030 unless major incentives are given by the government [69]. There is a need to promote locally manufactured products for HCV treatment. Moreover, high-risk behaviors associated with spread of HCV and HBV infection need to be discouraged by media campaigns and strict legal actions. Use of contaminated syringes should be discouraged, while disposable or sterilized instrumentation for dental procedures, circumcision, shaving, etc. should be promoted.

5.1 NAFLD

Diet and lifestyle might play an important role in development of HCC. Recent evidence suggests that adhering to healthy diet including fruits, vegetables. and fibers might protect from HCC. Healthy lifestyle including exercise helps overcome detrimental effects of energy-rich diet consumption and reduces cancer-related mortality [70]. A large meta-analysis has suggested that coffee intake might be linked with reduced risk of HCC [71]. Similar effects might also been seen with fish and vitamin E intake. On the contrary, tobacco has been strongly associated with development of HCC, and its use needs to be discouraged.

5.2 Aflatoxin-Related HCC

Several methods have been implied to control spread of aflatoxins in the community. These include development of resistant cultivars, chemical and physical control, and biological control [72].

- By altering the agricultural practices in areas with high dietary AFB1 intake. For example, a change to a rice-based diet led to a significant decrease in AFB1 ingestion in China [43]. However, changes in dietary practices in lowincome countries might face criticism due to resource limitations and the inability of government to come up with alternative options supporting both the nutritional and economic needs of the community.
- 2. Pre-harvest prevention can be achieved with adequate irrigation and spraying of fungicides [43, 73, 74].
- Post-harvest prevention can be achieved effectively by simple measures like sun drying on cloth rather than earth, hand sorting to remove crops with molds, and improved storage practices avoiding warm moist environments. However, such efforts require governmental involvement with provision of storage facilities to farmers in low-income countries [43, 72–74].
- 4. Perhaps the most effective method of AFB1control is biological. In biological control, non-toxigenic strains of aspergillus are developed, which can then replace the toxigenic types at the time of crop colonization [72].

HCC is a growing problem in Pakistan. Although treatment of HCC is challenging, its occurrence at large remains preventable with simple measures. Our population remains unaware of simple changes in behavior and practices that might significantly reduce its incidence. There is a need to develop policies and ensure their strict implementation at national level pertaining to prevention, surveillance, and access to various treatments in order to reduce HCC in Pakistan.

References

- https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/understanding/ statistics.
- https://www.wcrf.org/dietandcancer/cancer-trends/ liver-cancer-statistics.
- 3. https://data.unicef.org/country/pak/.
- 4. https://worldpopulationreview.com/countries.
- Nishtar S, Boerma T, Amjad S, Alam AY, Khalid F, ul Haq I, Mirza YA. Pakistan's health system: performance and prospects after the 18th Constitutional Amendment. Lancet. 2013;381(9884):2193–206.
- Badar F, Mahmood S. Hospital-based cancer profile at the Shaukat Khanum Memorial Cancer Hospital and Research Centre, Lahore, Pakistan. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2015;25(4):259–63.
- Pervez S, Jabbar AA, Haider G, Ashraf S, Qureshi MA, Lateef F, Bashir I, Zaidi M, Khurshid M, Quraishy MS, Siddiqi T, Rizwan U, Saqib MAN, Memon MA, Alam E, Qureshi H. Karachi cancer registry (KCR): age-standardized incidence rate by agegroup and gender in a mega city of Pakistan. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2020;21(11):3251–8.
- Hafeez Bhatti AB, Dar FS, Waheed A, Shafique K, Sultan F, Shah NH. Hepatocellular carcinoma in Pakistan: national trends and global perspective. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2016;2016:5942306.
- 9. Calle EE, Teras LR, Thun MJ. Obesity and mortality. N Engl J Med. 2005;353(20):2197–9.
- Welzel TM, Graubard BI, Quraishi S, Zeuzem S, Davila JA, El-Serag HB, McGlynn KA. Populationattributable fractions of risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States. Am J Gastroenterol. 2013;108(8):1314–21.
- El-Serag HB, Hampel H, Javadi F. The association between diabetes and hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review of epidemiologic evidence. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2006;4(3):369–80.
- Bhurgri Y, Bhurgri A, Hassan SH, Zaidi SH, Rahim A, Sankaranarayanan R, Parkin DM. Cancer incidence in Karachi, Pakistan: first results from Karachi Cancer Registry. Int J Cancer. 2000;85(3):325–9.
- Bhurgri Y, Pervez S, Kayani N, Bhurgri A, Usman A, Bashir I, Ahmed R, Hasan SH, Khurshid MH. Cancer profile of Larkana, Pakistan (2000-2002). Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2006;7(4):518–21.
- 14. Chohan AR, Umar M, Khar B, et al. Demographic features of hepatocellular carcinoma: a study of 30 cases. JRMC. 2001;5(2):81–3.
- Butt AK, Khan AA, Alam A, Ahmad S, Shah SW, Shafqat F, Naqvi AB. Hepatocellular carcinoma: analysis of 76 cases. J Pak Med Assoc. 1998;48(7):197–201.
- Gill ML, Atiq M, Sattar S, Khokhar N. Treatment outcomes with long acting octreotide in inoperable hepatocellular carcinoma: a local experience and review of literature. J Pak Med Assoc. 2005;55(4):135–8.
- 17. Al Kanaani Z, Mahmud S, Kouyoumjian SP, Abu-Raddad LJ. The epidemiology of hepatitis C virus in

Pakistan: systematic review and meta-analyses. R Soc Open Sci. 2018;5(4):180257.

- Alavian SM, Haghbin H. Relative importance of hepatitis B and C viruses in hepatocellular carcinoma in EMRO countries and the Middle East: a systematic review. Hepat Mon. 2016;16(3):e35106.
- Khan A, Tanaka Y, Azam Z, Abbas Z, Kurbanov F, Saleem U, Hamid S, Jafri W, Mizokami M. Epidemic spread of hepatitis C virus genotype 3a and relation to high incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in Pakistan. J Med Virol. 2009;81(7):1189–97. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jmv.21466.
- Butt AS, Abbas Z, Jafri W. Hepatocellular carcinoma in Pakistan: where do we stand? Hepat Mon. 2012;12(10 HCC):e6023.
- 21. Butt AS, Hamid S, Wadalawala AA, Ghufran M, Javed AA, Farooq O, Ahmed B, Ul Haq T, Jafri W. Hepatocellular carcinoma in Native South Asian Pakistani population; trends, clinico-pathological characteristics & differences in viral marker negative & viral-hepatocellular carcinoma. BMC Res Notes. 2013;6:137.
- Yusuf MA, Badar F, Meerza F, Khokhar RA, Ali FA, Sarwar S, Faruqui ZS. Survival from hepatocellular carcinoma at a cancer hospital in Pakistan. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2007;8(2):272–4. PMID: 17696722.
- 23. Abbas Z, Siddiqui AU, Luck NH, Hassan M, Mirza R, Naqvi A, Rizvi AH. Prognostic factors of survival in patients with non-resectable hepatocellular carcinoma: hepatitis C versus miscellaneous etiology. J Pak Med Assoc. 2008;58(11):602–7.
- Abbas Z, Jeswani NL, Kakepoto GN, Islam M, Mehdi K, Jafri W. Prevalence and mode of spread of hepatitis B and C in rural Sindh, Pakistan. Trop Gastroenterol. 2008;29(4):210–6. PMID: 19323090.
- 25. Seerat I, Mushtaq H, Rafiq M, Nadir A. Frequency and associated risk factors of hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infections in children at a hepatitis prevention and treatment clinic in Lahore, Pakistan. Cureus. 2020;12(5):e7926.
- Aziz S, Khanani R, Noorulain W, Rajper J. Frequency of hepatitis B and C in rural and periurban Sindh. J Pak Med Assoc. 2010;60(10):853–7.
- Wazir MS, Mehmood S, Ahmed A, Jadoon HR. Awareness among barbers about health hazards associated with their profession. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad. 2008;20(2):35–8. PMID: 19385454.
- 28. Khan A, Tanaka Y, Azam Z, Abbas Z, Kurbanov F, Saleem U, Hamid S, Jafri W, Mizokami M. Epidemic spread of hepatitis C virus genotype 3a and relation to high incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in Pakistan. J Med Virol. 2009;81(7):1189–97.
- 29. Chandra N, Joshi N, Raju YS, Kumar A, Teja VD. Hepatitis B and/or C co-infection in HIV infected patients: a study in a tertiary care centre from South India. Indian J Med Res. 2013;138(6):950–4.
- Nafees M, Qasim A, Ghazala Jafferi G, Anwar MS, Muazzam M. HIV infection, HIV/HCV and HIV/ HBV co-infections among jail inmates of Lahore. Pak J Med Sci. 2011;27(4):837–41.

- Safdar S, Mehmood A, Abbas SA. Prevalence of HIV/ AIDS among jail inmates in Sindh. J Pak Med Assoc. 2009;59(2):111–2.
- 32. Davila JA, Morgan RO, Shaib Y, McGlynn KA, El-Serag HB. Diabetes increases the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States: a population based case control study. Gut. 2005;54(4):533–9.
- 33. Ohishi W, Fujiwara S, Cologne JB, Suzuki G, Akahoshi M, Nishi N, Takahashi I, Chayama K. Risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma in a Japanese population: a nested case-control study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2008;17(4):846–54.
- El-Serag HB. Hepatocellular carcinoma: recent trends in the United States. Gastroenterology. 2004;127(5 Suppl 1):S27–34.
- 35. Chalasani N, Younossi Z, Lavine JE, Diehl AM, Brunt EM, Cusi K, Charlton M, Sanyal AJ, American Gastroenterological Association, American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases, American College of Gastroenterology. The diagnosis and management of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: practice guideline by the American Gastroenterological Association, American Association for the Diseases, Study of Liver and American College of Gastroenterology. Gastroenterology. 2012;142(7):1592-609.
- Fan JG, Kim SU, Wong VW. New trends on obesity and NAFLD in Asia. J Hepatol. 2017;67(4):862–73.
- Mikolasevic I, Filipec-Kanizaj T, Mijic M, Jakopcic I, Milic S, Hrstic I, Sobocan N, Stimac D, Burra P. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and liver transplantation - where do we stand? World J Gastroenterol. 2018;24(14):1491–506.
- 38. Shah AS, Khan S, Rahim H, Chishti KA, Khan AG. Prevalence of non alcoholic fatty liver and non alcoholic steatohepatitis in Peshawar Cantonment, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Pakistan. Pak J Pharm Sci. 2018;31(1):193–8.
- 39. Parkash O, Hamid S. Are we ready for a new epidemic of under recognized liver disease in South Asia especially in Pakistan? Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Pak Med Assoc. 2013;63(1):95–9.
- Pati GK, Singh SP. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in South Asia. Euroasian J Hepatogastroenterol. 2016;6(2):154–62.
- Kew MC. Hepatocellular carcinoma in developing countries: prevention, diagnosis and treatment. World J Hepatol. 2012;4(3):99–104.
- 42. Wild CP, Gong YY. Mycotoxins and human disease: a largely ignored global health issue. Carcinogenesis. 2010;31(1):71–82.
- Kew MC. Synergistic interaction between aflatoxin B1 and hepatitis B virus in hepatocarcinogenesis. Liver Int. 2003;23:405–9.
- Firdous S, Ashfaq A, Khan SJ, Khan N. Aflatoxins in corn and rice sold in Lahore, Pakistan. Food Addit Contam Part B Surveill. 2014;7(2):95–8.
- 45. Barbara L, Benzi G, Gaiani S, Fusconi F, Zironi G, Siringo S, Rigamonti A, Barbara C, Grigioni W, Mazziotti A, et al. Natural history of small untreated

hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhosis: a multivariate analysis of prognostic factors of tumor growth rate and patient survival. Hepatology. 1992;16(1):132–7.

- 46. Sheu JC, Sung JL, Chen DS, Yang PM, Lai MY, Lee CS, Hsu HC, Chuang CN, Yang PC, Wang TH, et al. Growth rate of asymptomatic hepatocellular carcinoma and its clinical implications. Gastroenterology. 1985;89(2):259–66.
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN), NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology: hepatobiliary cancers. Version 2013, NCCN, Fort Washington, 2013.
- Heimbach JK, Kulik LM, Finn RS, Sirlin CB, Abecassis MM, Roberts LR, Zhu AX, Murad MH, Marrero JA. AASLD guidelines for the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 2018;67(1):358–80.
- Omata M, Cheng AL, Kokudo N, et al. Asia–Pacific clinical practice guidelines on the management of hepatocellular carcinoma: a 2017 update. Hepatol Int. 2017;11(4):317–70.
- European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL clinical practice guidelines: management of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2018;69(1):182–236.
- 51. European Association for the Study of the Liver, European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer. EASL-EORTC clinical practice guidelines: management of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2012;56(4):908–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhep.2011.12.001.
- Parikh P, Malhotra H, Jelic S, ESMO Guidelines Working Group. Hepatocellular carcinoma: ESMO clinical recommendations for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2008;19 Suppl 2:ii27–8.
- Phulpoto JA, Shah IA, Bhatti Z. Prevalence of hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhotic patients of Northern Sindh attending liver clinics at Ghulam Mohammad Mahar Medical College Hospitals Sukkur and Khairpur. JLUMHS. 2012;11(1):29–33.
- McGlynn KA, London WT. The global epidemiology of hepatocellular carcinoma: present and future. Clin Liver Dis. 2011;15(2):223–43.
- 55. Okuda K, Ohtsuki T, Obata H, Tomimatsu M, Okazaki N, Hasegawa H, Nakajima Y, Ohnishi K. Natural history of hepatocellular carcinoma and prognosis in relation to treatment. Study of 850 patients. Cancer. 1985;56(4):918–28.
- 56. Llovet JM, Bustamante J, Castells A, Vilana R, Ayuso Mdel C, Sala M, Brú C, Rodés J, Bruix J. Natural history of untreated nonsurgical hepatocellular carcinoma: rationale for the design and evaluation of therapeutic trials. Hepatology. 1999;29(1):62–7.
- 57. Cabibbo G, Enea M, Attanasio M, Bruix J, Craxì A, Cammà C. A meta-analysis of survival rates of untreated patients in randomized clinical trials of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 2010;51(4):1274–83.
- Park JW, Chen M, Colombo M, Roberts LR, Schwartz M, Chen PJ, Kudo M, Johnson P, Wagner S, Orsini LS, Sherman M. Global patterns of hepatocellular

carcinoma management from diagnosis to death: the BRIDGE study. Liver Int. 2015;35(9):2155–66.

- 59. Mazzaferro V, Regalia E, Doci R, Andreola S, Pulvirenti A, Bozzetti F, Montalto F, Ammatuna M, Morabito A, Gennari L. Liver transplantation for the treatment of small hepatocellular carcinomas in patients with cirrhosis. N Engl J Med. 1996;334(11):693–9.
- 60. Yao FY, Ferrell L, Bass NM, Watson JJ, Bacchetti P, Venook A, Ascher NL, Roberts JP. Liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma: expansion of the tumor size limits does not adversely impact survival. Hepatology. 2001;33(6):1394–403.
- Wu FH, Shen CH, Luo SC, et al. Liver resection for hepatocellular carcinoma in oldest old patients. World J Surg Oncol. 2019;17:1.
- 62. Bhatti ABH, Qureshi AI, Tahir R, et al. When to call it off: defining transplant candidacy limits in liver donor liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma. BMC Cancer. 2020;20:754.
- Bhatti ABH, Jafri RZ, Khan NA. Best achievable results need territorial familiarity: impact of living donor liver transplant experience on outcomes after pancreaticodoudenectomy. Ann Med Surg (Lond). 2020;55:213–8.
- 64. Hafeez Bhatti AB, Saud Dar F. Living donor liver transplantation in Pakistan. Transplantation. 2017;101(7):1507–8.; Latif A, Bangash TA, Naz S, Naseer F, Butt AK. Experience of 100 living donor liver transplants in Shaikh Zayed hospital, Lahore, Pakistan. Proceeding SZPGMI. 2017;31(1):31–8.
- 65. Yang B, Zan RY, Wang SY, Li XL, Wei ML, Guo WH, You X, Li J, Liao ZY. Radiofrequency ablation versus percutaneous ethanol injection for hepatocellular carcinoma: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. World J Surg Oncol. 2015;13:96.
- Boland P, Wu J. Systemic therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma: beyond sorafenib. Chin Clin Oncol. 2018;7(5):50.
- 67. Mustafa K, Mohamed H, Shah AM, Yu S, Akhlaq M, Xiao H, Li S, Naz T, Nosheen S, Bai X, Song Y. In vitro anticancer potential of Berberis lycium Royle extracts against human hepatocarcinoma (HepG2) cells. Biomed Res Int. 2020;14(2020):8256809.
- Jafri W, Kamran M. Hepatocellular carcinoma in Asia: a challenging situation. Euroasian J Hepatogastroenterol. 2019;9(1):27–33.
- 69. Lim AG, Walker JG, Mafirakureva N, Khalid GG, Qureshi H, Mahmood H, Trickey A, Fraser H, Aslam K, Falq G, Fortas C, Zahid H, Naveed A, Auat R, Saeed Q, Davies CF, Mukandavire C, Glass N, Maman D, Martin NK, Hickman M, May MT, Hamid S, Loarec A, Averhoff F, Vickerman P. Effects and cost of different strategies to eliminate hepatitis C virus transmission in Pakistan: a modelling analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2020;8(3):e440–50.
- Mandair DS, Rossi RE, Pericleous M, Whyand T, Caplin M. The impact of diet and nutrition in the prevention and progression of hepatocellular carcinoma. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2014;8(4):369–82.

- Sang LX, Chang B, Li XH, Jiang M. Consumption of coffee associated with reduced risk of liver cancer: a meta-analysis. BMC Gastroenterol. 2013;13:34.
- 72. Bajwa BE, Bhatti H, Ahmad T, Sohail M. Potential of biological control of aflatoxins causing organisms in rice and maize value chains in Pakistan. J Agric Environ Sci. 2017;6(2):108–13.
- Turner PC, Sylla A, Gong YY, Diallo MS, Sutcliffe AE, Hall AJ, Wild CP. Reduction in exposure to carcinogenic aflatoxins by post harvest intervention measures in west Africa: a community-based intervention study. Lancet. 2005;365:1950–6.
- Sudakin DL. Dietary aflatoxin exposure and chemoprevention of cancer: a clinical review. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol. 2003;41:195–204.

Part IV

The Future



Future Directions

Brian I. Carr

The Middle East comprises a range of countries with huge differences in income per capita, national wealth and its distribution, and hygiene and its practices: the ultra-wealthy and the ultrapoor. The causes of HCC and especially the cofactors are hugely varied. Some countries, such as Egypt, have a very high percent of HCV-based HCC, while others, such as Turkey, have a high percentage HBV-based HCC. Many countries in addition are joining the western epidemic of obesity. Some suggestions for improving our services to HCC patients follow.

1. Tumor registries need to be taken seriously.

We cannot properly allocate resources and improve the quality of our services, without accurately knowing the size of the problem and what help is needed and where. Many major hospitals do not seem to have systematic data collection and often individually – collected databases are like silos and not shared. Quite often, there is no salary allocation for the support staff that are needed to collect the HCC patient data and enter it into a hospital-based system.

2. National neonatal HBV vaccination programs.

Some countries have been very forwardlooking and diligent with this. Others, less so. Yet, HBV is a preventable major cause of HCC, when neonatal vaccination is used. The widespread national adoption of cheap neonatal HBV vaccination, to be included with other neonatal vaccines, will have major long-term benefits.

- 3. Obesity is an increasing problem in the modern Middle East, as it is in so much of the western world. Since it is a modern epidemic and the cause of so much chronic illness, an educational program in schools and the workplace, similar to that used for smoking cessation, is also likely to yield long-term societal benefits, especially since obesity-associated chronic liver disease (NAFLD, NASH) is a fast-rising cause of HCC, just as near-universal HBV vaccination is resulting in a decrease in HBV-based HCC.
- 4. Increase in the use of surveillance. A large number of our newly diagnosed HCC cases occur when the symptoms of advanced disease lead to a physician visit. The diagnosed HCC at this time is often too advanced for treatments with curative intent. Yet, many of the factors that lead to HCC development are well-recognized and include cirrhosis from any cause, chronic HBV with or without cirrhosis, HBV plus HCV, and the combinations of chronic hepatitis with chronic alcohol consumption. Such at-risk patients are often known to the medical system and need to have 6-monthly surveillance ultrasound examinations. This will lead to an increased proportion

B. I. Carr (🖂)

Translational HCC Research, Liver Transplantation Institute, Inonu University, Malatya, Turkey

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 B. I. Carr (ed.), *Liver Cancer in the Middle East*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78737-0_26

of patients being diagnosed with earlier and hence more treatable HCCs.

5. We need better biomarkers.

AFP is a time-honored and useful HCC biomarker in the 50% of cases in which it is elevated. However, there is evidence that currently available biomarker panels are more sensitive for diagnosis. These include GALAD score, a combination of gender, age, AFP-L3%, AFP, and DCP. AFP, AFP-L3, and DCP kits are sold with all three assays together. GALAD seems especially useful in detecting small obesity-associated HCCs. Although there are several new candidate serum biomarkers being evaluated, such as proteomic, glycomic, and genetic markers that have gone through early stages of biomarker validation for the early detection of HCC, these markers still need to be validated in well-curated cohorts. It is expected that glypican-3, osteopontin (a secreted phosphoprotein), C-reactive protein (CRP), Golgi protein-73, soluble Axl (sAxl, a transforming receptor tyrosine kinase member of the tumor-associated macrophage family), circulating microRNAs, and methylated DNA (epigenetic) markers in cell-free circulating DNA are likely to become clinically validated in the near future.

- 6. We need serum, plasma, and tissue biobanks. As discussed in #6 above, there is a huge amount of biodiscovery being conducted in worldwide laboratories for early diagnosis of HCC. However, once a suitable candidate biomarker is identified, it needs to be validated using blood or tissues from patients with confirmed HCC diagnosis and preferably with known etiology. Otherwise it can take years for basic research workers to evaluate marker candidates. These repositories are especially important now that new TKIs and ICIs get FDA approval, but only with use of companion molecular tests of the drug targets. Thus, HCC biorepositories are an investment in the future of our subject.
- 7. Inhibition of horizontal transmission of hepatitis B or C.

Although the screening of blood transfusion donors has been a well-learned lesson, many areas for transmission exist in daily life that could be reduced by popular education. This is especially true in personal service industries, such as barber shops where razors and knives can be used for multiple customers, with associated micro-abrasions and transmission of blood-borne hepatitis (and other) viruses. Similar concerns involve village-level circumcisions by barbers or local practitioners of circumcision, as well as for female genital mutilation, and 25% of the worldwide cases occur in the Middle East and North Africa.

8. More liver transplant centers are needed.

Since liver transplantation is the only curative treatment for both HCC and the underlying diseased liver, it will be important to develop more centers with liver transplantation in the region. Since the surgical skills are already available in a few specialist centers in the Middle East, this should be an achievable goal.

9. Middle East-focused clinical trials are needed. The SHARP phase III trial of sorafenib versus placebo gave results for OS of 10.7 months in the sorafenib arm and 7.9 months in the placebo arm. Most patients were from Europe. The Asia-Pacific trial with identical design gave OS as 6.6 months in the sorafenib arm versus 4.2 months in the placebo arm. Thus, Asian patient survival on sorafenib was worse than European survival on placebo. This incredible difference highlights the fact that patients with the same disease, but in different peoples, can have quite different results with the same drug. There is far too little information on cancer drug tolerance and tumor responses in the peoples of the Middle East. Given that the population of the Middle East of about 250 million people is equivalent to that of the USA, this sizeable potential market should deserve the attention of international pharmaceutical companies, with respect to clinical trials of new HCC drugs. Numbers of HCC cases may be similar, being 13/100,000 in Egypt and Qatar and 5/100,000 in MENA and Turkey, as against approximately 13.6 and 4.7/100,000 in the USA for males and females, respectively. Having comparable numbers of HCC cases, the Middle East represents a sizeable market for new HCC drugs, which should be drawn to the attention of the manufacturers. Especially doing trials of the new immune checkpoint inhibitors (IHIs) should make these new agents available to many of our patients. Given the size of our populations, this same argument speaks to the merits of tasting biomarkers for earlier diagnosis in our peoples.

Further Reading

 Best J, Bechmann LP, Sowa J-P, Sydor S, Dechene A, et al. GALAD score detects early hepatocellular carcinoma in an international cohort of patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;18:728–35.

- Beudeker BJB, Boonstra A. Circulating biomarkers for early detection of hepatocellular carcinoma. Ther Adv Gastroenterol. 2020;13:1756284820931734. PMID: 32647536.
- 3. Cancer Stat Facts: Liver and Intrahepatic Bile Duct Cancer. Epidemiology and end results program. https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/livibd.html.
- Sharafi H, Alavian SM. The rising threat of hepatocellular carcinoma in the Middle East and North Africa region: results from global burden of disease study 2017. Clin Liver Dis. 2019;14:219–23.
- Wang T, Zhang K-H. New blood biomarkers for the diagnosis of AFP-negative hepatocellular carcinoma. Front Oncol. 2020;10:1316.


The Need for Region-Wide HCC Collaborations

Brian I. Carr

Each medical center in each town of each country does its best to treat its cancer patients, including those with HCC. We all depend upon a certain flow of ideas and activity. This can be expressed as:

- Prevention: hepatitis, alcohol, dietary contaminants, obesity
- Surveillance for early diagnosis: 6-monthly ultrasounds, biomarkers
- Evaluation of diagnosed patients: multispecialty tumor board
- Treatment selection or sequencing of choices: definite or other therapies

Each of these has limitations and needs for improvement. Several suggestions follow, on what can be better achieved by collaboration than by individual practitioners.

1. Transnational HCC Patient Clinical Database In order to estimate the size of the HCC problem and to quantitate the resources that will be needed, some confidence is needed in an assessment of the number of annual new cases.

Furthermore, most clinical analyses of HCC patient subsets or prognostic factors suffer from insufficient power due to small patient numbers. A big step forward will be the ability to analyze combined patient information on several thousand patients.

2. Shared National Databases to Identify Geographic Hotspots

A key to identifying unusual environmental determinants of disease is to compare incidence rates in differing geographical locations. Some areas may be HCV or aflatoxin B_1 hotspots. Since many countries in the Middle East are amalgams of various tribes and ethnicities, some with different sensitivity to various HCC causes, the study of shared national database comparisons will be helpful in this regard.

3. Middle Eastern HCC Biobank

The rapidly increasing identification of signatures in serum, circulating plasma, and HCC tissues that can identify both HCC subsets and prognostic features requires a prospectively gathered specimen biobank or repository, with an associated spreadsheet of the clinical features of the de-identified patients associated with each specimen, including demographics, underlying hepatic disease, and radiologically identified determinants of tumor biology: maximum tumor size, number of tumor nodules, presence and extent of portal vein thrombosis, as well as results of standard blood count, liver function tests, serum alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) levels, and hepatitis testing.

B. I. Carr (🖂)

Translational HCC Research, Liver Transplantation Institute, Inonu University, Malatya, Turkey

4. Public Health Teaching on Public and Private Sanitary Practices

It is clear that much but not all HBV transmission is vertical, via the maternalfetal route. However, other HBV and all HCV transmission is through the horizontal round, via transfusion of contaminated blood or its products, nonmedical drug administration parenterally, or other methods of exposure to human blood or secretions, such as in the personal care professions, including hairdressers, tattoos, acupuncture, and medical or dental procedures. Public health education and perhaps inspection of the premises of these practitioners to ensure use of proper sterilization techniques or adoption of singleuse and disposable needles and razors would be protective from horizontal viral transmission in daily life.

5. Transnational HCC Conferences to Foster Education, Collaboration, and Surveillance

The support by governments, ministries of health, and local authorities of transnational HCC meetings to disseminate techniques on limiting virus transmission, surveillance, new treatments, and approaches and multi-institutional clinical trials would seem to be effective ways of improving professional knowledge and encouraging collaborations.

6. Transnational Clinical Trials: Access to New Drugs and Clinical Trial Experience

As explained in the chapter on New Directions, we cannot assume that the results of a clinical trial with a new drug that are applicable to one ethnic group are necessarily either safe or effective in all other ethnic groups. Many drug activating and detoxifying enzyme levels can be different among different groups of people. It would seem reasonable the new classes of drugs that are approved elsewhere should first be subject to confirmatory clinical trials in our region, before being given approval for use in our region. By use of transnational protocols, such trials can rapidly accrue the required patient numbers. 7. Fabrication of Biosimilar Drugs for Expensive New Drugs

Local fabrication will address the availability of otherwise expensive drugs for ordinary citizens. India provides an example of a country that has several pharmaceutical companies, some of them now major corporations, that have focused on the production or synthesis of biosimilar drugs that sell at a fraction of the cost of those produced by pharmaceutical giants in the USA and Europe. This would bring new business and income to our region and make new drugs available to both governments and individuals at a lower cost than if imported.

- 8. Identification of Barriers to Early Diagnosis Too many of our newly diagnosed HCC patients are diagnosed at an advanced stage when they cannot benefit from putatively curative therapies. The answer is to diagnose their tumors earlier. This requires knowing who is at risk and screening them. Screening ultrasonography is cheap and easy and does not need referral to major hospitals. Implementation of more aggressive screening, perhaps with the newer portable and handheld ultrasound machines, might be a simple and practical means of increasing the numbers of patients who get diagnosed at earlier and thus treatable HCC stages. Perhaps a decrease in platelet count in patients at risk might be a useful prompt for surveillance ultrasonography.
- 9. Quality of Life Issues

How well are we serving our patients' needs?

As physicians and surgeons, we tend to focus on objective measures of disease extent or response to our treatments. As patient families attest, an HCC patient is much more than the product of scans and blood tests. The whole patient needs to be considered, from symptoms (pain, nausea, weight change, ascites, mobility) to hope, fear, anxiety, depression, self-image, and interactions with family and caregivers. As medical professionals, we are not always sensitive or

pro-active with respect to the psychological and emotional needs of our patients and usually do not have the time in our busy clinics to deal with them. Yet they are often foremost in the minds of our patients. The quality of their lives is often intricately linked to their minds and emotions. A first step in helping them is for us to be aware of and be able to quantify these issues. In this respect, several validated quality of life questionnaires or tools have been made available and can be downloaded from the Web without cost. Examples are CDC Health related quality of life (HRQOL) questionnaire; WHO Quality of Life Instrument; Global Quality of Life Scale; EORTC QLQ-C30, and the FACT-G (Factual Assessment of Cancer Therapy, FACT) score, among others. Translations of any one of these into Arabic, Turkish, and Iranian languages should serve a large percentage of our patients.

A questionnaire needs to be given to each patient at various intervals during his or her disease course and then evaluated. The difference from all other testing in medicine is that the result is based on the opinion of the patient and not the service professional. We actually get the opinion of the patient this way. Too few such studies are done in our region, so it is difficult to discern what our patients are actually thinking and feeling about their disease course and the treatments that we offer.

10. Unmet Needs for HCC Therapy

- Prevention of obesity; anti-inflammatory agents
- Biomarkers for patients with low-AFP HCC
- Effective PVT therapy
- Post-resection adjuvant therapies: HBV treatments, anti-inflammatories
- Downstaging for transplantation
- Expansion of transplant centers

There are several identifiable unmet needs in the subject of HCC studies, most of which require collaborative multi-institutional studies to advance. As always, the most important is HCC prevention. While the uses and benefits of HBV vaccination are widely acknowledged, other preventative causes remain. In Sect. 4 above, the need for improvement in sanitary behavior is mentioned. In addition however, as HBV rates are falling, obesity rates are climbing and are a predisposing factor for HCC. This can only be approached at a national or local government level through education and counselling.

Furthermore, it is increasingly clear that inflammation is an important part of the hepatocarcinogenic process. As mentioned in chapter "Biological Aspects of HCC", epidemiologic studies have suggested that antiinflammatory agents can decrease the incidence of several cancer types, including HCC. Perhaps a clinical trial in this region of aspirin or NSAIDs in people at risk for HCC might be useful and point the way to another preventive action.

One of our clinically common and frustrating experiences is that in the 50% or more of HCC patients who do not have elevated serum AFP levels, we do not have another clinical biomarker to guide response to therapy, only expensive scans. Both serum CRP or GGT levels have been suggested to be useful as disease activity monitors in this situation, but new and sensitive biomarkers are still needed. In this regard, it has recently been shown that HCCs evolve during the course of the disease process in individual patients. Thus, the baseline biopsy may not reflect the same level of tumor aggressiveness as 6-12 months later. Some form of noninvasive biopsy is therefore needed that can be repeated safely. An obvious candidate is the so-called liquid biopsy, based upon measurement in a sample of peripheral blood of circulating HCC cells or cell fragments or circulating HCC cell DNA. Some epigenetics test (DNA methylation) kits have already been approved for some other cancer types for this purpose. It would be ideal for following HCC during the course of a patient's disease process.

vein thrombosis (PVT), which has been

reported in 30-40% of HCC patients and is a

major negative prognostic factor. Some form

of new systemic agent or radiation or the

combination is needed, and recent reports of

combining TARE and SBRT look encourag-

recurrence rates after technically resectable

HCC. Only ¹³¹I-lipiodol has so far been

Another major issue is the high HCC

ing, but need to be prospectively validated.

recurrences. Perhaps the new ICIs or antiinflammatory therapies could be useful in the adjuvant setting, especially since the causative (virus) factor is still present. In this respect, some tertiary HBV therapy results look encouraging.

Finally, once HCC is present, the only therapy that removes both the tumor and the inflammatory background is liver transplantation. Greater effort at downstaging the tumor mass pre-transplant and expansion of liver transplant availability are still needed. Both aims are fully accomplishable in our region.

HCC in the Middle East

Brian I. Carr

The Middle East comprises a heterogeneous collection of mainly Muslim and Arab countries. In some discussions, nearby countries have also been included, such as those central Asian republics neighboring Iran and those north African countries to the west of Egypt and stretching to the Atlantic. A flexible and inclusive view is taken in this book. The differences in liver cancer or hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) causes, incidence, and clinical characteristics among the countries of this region provide an amazing opportunity to examine the influences of geography, crops, and diet on the one hand, ethnicity on the other hand, and local behavior on the yet other hand. Most countries, to an outsider to the Middle East, might appear homogeneous. Yet they tend to be ethnically diverse, such as Arabs and Africans in Egypt, Berbers and Arabs in Morocco, Turks and Kurds in Turkey, and Persians, Azeris, and Kurds in Iran.

HCC incidence ranges 20-fold across countries, from 22.0 to 1.5 per 100,000 males (females usually have lower incidence) in Egypt versus Iran, respectively. In East Asia, where HCC is most frequent, the major causes are chronic hepatitis B or hepatitis C, Aflatoxin B₁ contamination of stored and unrefrigerated grains and nuts, alcoholism, and increasingly, obesity. The countries of the Middle East are predominantly Muslim, so alcoholism has not been a major factor; nor is Aflatoxin B₁ contamination of farm products. However, hepatitis B is a major issue, with differing incidence and genotypes in the various countries. Similarly, hepatitis C is also a major issue. Furthermore, some areas have popu-

lations with combination hepatitis B and C or hepatitis B and D. As in the West and Asia, increasing prosperity has been accompanied by increases in obesity, another HCC risk factor. Several countries also have high rates of inherited metabolic liver diseases, likely due to consanguineous marriages. The availability of expensive but effective new anti-hepatitis drugs is hugely variable, as is the availability of interventional radiology for administering chemoembolization, or the considerable infrastructure and support that is needed for potentially curative liver transplantation. There is also wide variation on the concept of brain death, to enable cadaveric organ donation, and on the feasibility of live organ donation for unrelated recipient patients.

There has been massive social change in the region during the past 20 years, both positive and negative. Thus, there has been large upward social mobility in some areas such as Saudi Arabia and the Gulf Emirates (peace and wealth) and in Oman and Morocco (peace) and downward mobility in other areas such as Yemen (war and starvation), Syria (war and population displacement), and Libya (war). The central Asian countries (Turkmenistan, Azerbaijan, Uzbekistan) have by and large prospered. These social changes have been associated with changes in medical needs and availability.

The book is divided into several sections. Firstly, a general description of HCC, its causes and incidence and frequent modes of presentation. The 5 largest countries by population are Egypt, Turkey, Iran, Iraq and Saudi Arabia. The incidence of HCC is highest in Egypt and Saudi Arabia and is low in Turkey and Iran. These countries are considered in separate chapters to evaluate their relative risks and country-specific HCC considerations. Since prevention is the key to long-term survival for most cancers, including HCC, separate chapters are written for hepatitis B, hepatitis C, and other HCC causes. Likewise, the best long-term survival seems to be for liver transplantation as a treatment modality (both cancer and diseased organ are removed), and this merited its own chapter, including the ethics, procurement, donor and technical considerations.

The reader of this book will gain insights into the societies and their mores in a politically very important part of the world, in so far as these considerations help us understand a critically important cancer. The understanding of the different causes of HCC in the most populous countries will inform the approaches needed to the allimportant prevention and early diagnosis strategies. An appreciation of the different treatment modalities, their uses and limitations, availability, and costs will help inform rational treatment provision and selection. The possibilities of country-wide or region-wide centers of excellence in HCC management is also considered.

For governments needing to plan social and medical services for their peoples and for international aid agencies needing to prioritize donations and projects, a knowledge of the causes, epidemiology, and treatments of HCC, the second highest cause of death from cancer worldwide, is likely to prove useful. It is with these aims that the current book has been written.

Index

A

Ablation, 242 Acetic acid, 118 Adipose tissue dysfunction, 74-76 AFB1-albumin, 39 AFB1-related HCC agricultural products, 37 biological samples from Egypt, 38 chronic HBV-infected patients, 42 commercial baby foods, 40 concentrations vs. urban residents, 39 corn samples from Egypt, 37 dried fig samples, 41 dried fruits, 41 foodstuff and biological samples, 40 GRP samples, 41 human milk and sera, 42 meat and meat products, 38 organic spice samples, 41 samples from Egypt, 37 spices, 41 Aflatoxin(s), 17-19, 34, 35, 37, 238, 306, 307, 377, 389.393 Aflatoxin B1 (AFB1), 34-37, 249, 316, 366 Age standardized death rate (ASDR), 47, 48 Age-adjusted incident rate (AAIR) ratio, 31 Alcohol, 20, 45, 105, 238 Alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH) isoforms, 44 Alcohol induced liver carcinogenesis, 45 Alcohol related hepatocarcinogenesis, 47-50 Alcoholism, 111 Alkaline phosphatase (ALP), 40 Alpha fetoprotein (AFP), 8, 15, 114, 116, 240, 252, 403 Alpha-1-antitrypsin deficiency, 14 Anti-hepatitis therapy, 9 Antiviral therapy, 273 Arab World, 205 Arsenic, 53 Aspergillus flavus, 37

Aspergillus parasiticus, 38 Atezolizumab, 121, 191 Autophagy–related (ATG) proteins, 86 AXL signaling pathway, 337, 342, 344–346

B

Barcelona clinic liver cancer (BCLC), 129, 390 staging system, 115, 116
Bevacizumab, 121
Bile duct complications, 163
Biobank, 403
Biomarkers, 240, 400, 401
Biopsy, 241
Biorepositories, 400
Body mass index (BMI), 68

С

Cabozantinib, 7, 121, 243 Cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), 84 Chemical compounds, 315 Chemodeoxycholic acid (CDCA), 86 Cholic acid. 86 Choline-deficient and amino acid defined (CDAA) diets, 80 Chronic arsenic exposure, 53 Chronic hepatitis, 365 Chronic hepatitis B (CHB), 91 Chronic inflammation, 378 Chronic liver disease, 32 Chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML), 342 Cigarette smoking, 21, 50, 51 Circulating tumor cells (CTC), 9, 119 Circulating tumor DNA (ctDNA), 9, 119 Cirrhosis, 112, 247, 248, 252 c-Met, 340, 341 Computerized tomography, 240 Contrast-enhanced abdominal ultrasound (US), 114

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 B. I. Carr (ed.), *Liver Cancer in the Middle East*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78737-0 Conventional transarterial chemotherapy (cTACE), 174, 175, 178-181 Copper overload disease, 14 Cost effective therapies cirrhotic liver, 129 liver transplantation advanced colorectal liver metastasis, 128 anatomical resection, 129 BCLC, 129 cirrhotic and non-cirrhotic livers, 130 hepatectomy, 128 metastatic disease, 129 micro- and macrovascular invasion, 130 multinodularity, 128 non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, 127 portal vein embolization, 128 satellite nodules, 130 treatment option, 127 MWA, 131-133 PEI, 130, 131 RFA. 131 C-reactive protein (CRP), 9 Cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs), 7 Cyprus, 212 Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4), 7

D

Database, 403 Deceased donor liver transplantation (DDLT), 205 Deoxycholic acid (DCA), 86 Des-gamma carboxy prothrombin (DCP), 8, 117 Dietary contaminants, 403 Direct acting antiviral agents (DAAs), 20, 123, 224, 260, 265, 382 Dysbiosis, 85

E

Egypt, 207 Eksternal radiotherapy, 160, 161 Empirical methods, 144 Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, 81 Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP), 106 Environmental hepatocarcinogenesis human carcinogens, 33 in middle east AFB1-related HCC (see AFB1-related HCC) aflatoxins, 34, 35, 37 alcohol consumption, 44 alcohol induced liver carcinogenesis, 45 alcohol related hepatocarcinogenesis, 47-50 arsenic and liver cancer, 54-56 biotransformation of ethanol, 44-46 decrease and control aflatoxin exposure, 43-44 decrease and control alcohol intake, 50 decrease and control tobacco, 52 phosphatidyl ethanol, 45 smoking and liver cancer, 51-52

VCM, 56 vinyl chloride and liver cancer, 56 risk factors, 32 Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), 337 Ethanol, 45 External beam radiotherapy (EBRT), 120

F

Fabrication, 404 Fatty acid ethyl esters (FAEEs), 45 Fibroblast growth factor receptor2 (FGFR2), 336 Food and drug administration (FDA), 336 Food marketing, 72

G

Genome-wide association (GWA), 259 Geographic hotspots, 403 Glasgow index, 9 Glass microspheres, 141, 144 Global burden of disease (GBD), 190, 334 Glypican-3, 8, 117 Ground red pepper (GRP), 41

H

HBV-encoded oncoproteins, 380 HCV-mediated cirrhosis, 112 Health related quality of life (HRQOL), 405 Heavy metals, 53 Hemochromatosis, 238 Hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy (HAIC), 120 Hepatic lipid accumulation, 77 Hepatic resection (HR), 118, 250 Hepatitis B virus (HBV), 15-17, 31, 111, 247, 248, 315, 334, 387, 400 Bahrain, 96 Iran, 95 Iraq, 94 Israel, 95 Jordan, 95 Kuwait, 96 Lebanon, 94 Oman, 96 Oatar, 95 Saudi Arabia, 93 Syria, 94 Turkey, 92, 93 United Arab Emirates, 95 Yemen, 93 Hepatitis C virus (HCV), 15, 19, 20, 91, 111, 248, 259, 260, 315, 334, 387, 400 additive mechanisms, 268, 269 Middle east elimination, 277-281 epidemiology, 260-262 genotype, 262 host related mechanisms, 268 management, 275

primary prevention, 269, 270 risk factors, 266, 267 secondary prevention, 270, 271 subtype, 263 tertiary prevention, 271, 272 treatment, 275-277 viral related mechanism, 268 Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), 137, 171, 181, 207, 223, 224, 229, 237, 263, 264, 269, 299, 300, 313, 327, 399-401, 403-406 activity, 143 aflatoxin B1, 316 AFP, 8 anatomy, 146-148 antiviral therapy, 273 autophagy and, 86-87 AXL pathways, 348, 351, 352 BCLC staging, 116 bile acid signaling, 85-86 biological characteristics of, 3 chemical compounds, 315, 316 chronic inflammation, 5 cirrhosis grade, 116 clinical biomarkers, 116-117 clinical context, 8-9 clinical risk factors, 111-112 clinical trials, 319 c-Met. 348-351 conventional transarterial chemotherapy, 174, 175 crosstalk, 347, 348 curative intent, 117-118 diagnosis, 114-115, 232, 239-241, 317 dose, 143 emerging risk factors, 238 empirical methods, 144 environmental risk factors, 237, 238 epidemiology, 32, 112-113 external radiotherapy, 160, 161 Gas6/AXL pathways, 348, 349 genotypes, 230, 231 glass microspheres, 141 growth rates, 5 hepatitis B virus, 315 hepatitis C virus, 315 hepatitis therapy, 123-124 ¹⁶⁶Ho emits, 142 ICIs, 7 immune and inflammatory mediators, 6 incidence, 229, 230 infections, 230 inhibition. 348 intestinal microbiota, 85-86 intra-arterial chemotherapy, 171, 172 Lebanon, 371-373, 375, 377-379, 381, 382 lipiodol, 143 liquid biopsy, 9-10 liver transplantation, 118 management, 118-119, 190-192 manifestations, 238, 239 mapping angiography, 149, 150

MENA alcohol consumption, 306 epidemiology, 300, 302 Libya, 308 non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, 304, 305 risk factors, 303, 304 Syria, 308 Yemen, 307 microenvironment, 6 microspheres, 139, 140 Middle east, 333, 334 modifiers of NAFLD, 84-87 non-cellular components, 6 non-infections, 231, 232 North Africa, 336 Okuda classification, 116 Pakistan, 387-389, 391-393 partition method, 145 patient selection, 150 PEI, 118 **PET/CT. 146** platelets and HCC growth, 6-7 prevention, 233 primary, 113 secondary, 113, 114 strategy, 318 tertiary, 114 primary drug resistance, 3 PVT therapy, 120 radioembolization, 137, 139 radiologic follow up, 164 radionuclides, 139, 140 radiotherapy adverse events, 197 epidemiology, 190 immune response, 194 immunotherapy, 195 proton therapy, 193 radiation toxicity, 195, 197 risk factors, 190 stereotactic body radiotherapy, 193 TACE, 193 3D-CRT and IMRT, 192 regional cancer chemotherapy, 5 **REILD**, 164 188Re-Lipiodol, 142 research biobank, 318 resin microspheres, 142 risk factors, 3, 4, 264, 265, 313, 314 risk prediction models, 273 Saudi Arabia clinical manifestations, 250 geographical, 249 management, 250, 251 research, 251-254 risk factors, 248, 249 screening, 114, 316 shunt reduction, 150 sorafenib, 122 staging systems for, 115-116

Kuwait, 212, 237, 238, 242, 244

L

surveillance, 316 systemic/regional therapies, 122-123 TACE, 119-120 **TARE**, 120 TKI drugs, 7 transarterial chemoembolizations, 173 transarterial embolization, 172, 173 treatment, 121-122, 233, 317 tumor angiogenesis, 6 tumor microenvironment systems, 6 tumor microenvironmental mediators, 6 Turkey, 326, 327 UAE clinical features of, 105-106 demographics of, 101 epidemiology of liver cancer in, 101-102 healthcare system, 106 policy recommendations, 107 risk factors for, 103-105 vascular characteristics, 4 90Y microspheres, 140 Hereditary hemochromatosis (HH), 307 High fat diet (HFD), 81 Horizontal transmission, 400 Human carcinogens, 33 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine (8-OHdG), 35 Hyperlipidemia, 78 Hypertension, 78

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) (cont.)

I

IARC classifications, 33 Immune checkpoint inhibitor (ICI), 7, 224, 225, 406 Immune checkpoint proteins, 7 Immunotherapy, 195 Incidence, 229, 230 Indocyanine green (ICG), 223 Indocyanine green clearance (ICG) test, 128 Inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), 83 Inflammatory immune response, 87 Intensity modulated radiotherapy (IMRT), 120 International migrants, 92, 93 Intra-arterial chemotherapy (IAC), 171, 172 Iran, 212, 213 IRAQ, 212 Israel, 209

J

Jordan, 211

K

Kirsten rat sarcoma 2 viral oncogene homolog (KRAS) gene, 31 Kupffer cells (KCs), 75 Lebanon, HCC, 371, 372, 375 aflatoxins, 377 alcohol abuse, 377 chronic inflammation, 379 cirrhosis, 382 diagnosis, 378 epigenetic modifications, 380 HBV integration, 379 hepatitis B, 375 hepatitis C, 376 iron overload, 381 management, 377 mutations, 379 non-alcoholic liver disease, 377 prevention, 378 secondary prevention, 382 tertiary prevention, 382 thalassemia, 372, 373, 380 transfusion-dependent, 372 treatment, 378 Lenvatinib, 7, 121, 191, 242 Libya, 308 LiMAx®, 128 Lipiodol, 143 Liquid biopsy, 9, 241, 242 Lithocholic acid (LCA), 86 Live donor liver transplantation (LDLT), 118 Liver cancer age-standardized mortality of, 14 alpha-1-antitrypsin deficiency, 14 AXL, 340, 342, 344-347 c-Met, 335, 337-342 etiologic agents aflatoxin, 17-19 alcohol, 20 emergent risk factors, 22 liquid biopsy opportunities, 22-23 nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, 22 cigarette smoke, 21 estrogen-progestogen, 21 HBV, 16, 17 HCV, 19, 20 liver fluke, 21 promethean liver, 15 radioactive substances, 21 vinyl chloride exposure, 20 fatal disease, 13 FDA, first and second line therapeutics, 336 human epidemiologic findings, 14 RTK pathways, 337 Liver parenchyma, 3 Liver transplantation (LT), 118, 190, 368, 369 middle east, 201

Arab world, 205, 206 cyprus, 212 egypt, 207, 208 historical perspective, 202, 203 iran, 212, 213 israel, 209 lebanon, 210, 211 organ donation, 203–205 Qatar, 211 Saudi Arabia, 206, 207 syria, 211 turkey, 213–217 UAE, 210 Living donor liver transplantation (LDLT), 205, 208 Locoregional therapies (LRT), 191, 275

М

Macrophages, 76 Magnetic resonance imaging, 240 MAPK pathway, 338 Mapping angiography, 149 Maximum diameter (MTD), 324 Maximum tolerable limit (MTL), 39 Medical internal radiation dose (MIRD), 144 Membrane-bound tyrosine kinase receptors, 7 Metabolic syndrome, 78 Microbial-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs), 85 Microvascular invasion (MVI), 132 Microwave ablation (MWA), 118, 131-133 Middle East, 229, 231 Middle east and north africa (MENA), 300, 302, 307 Middle East Research Cooperation (MERC), 55 Milan criteria, 129 Model for end-stage liver disease (MELD), 128, 207 Morocco, HCC, 365 cau, 366 diagnosis, 367 incidence, 365 preventive approach, 368 risk factors, 366, 367 screening, 367 treatment, 368, 369 MUP-uPA mice, 81 MUP-uPA transgene, 81 Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), 86

Ν

NAFLD-related cirrhosis, 85 NAFLD-related HCC, 77 Neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio (NLR), 9 Nivolumab, 192, 243 Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), 22, 68, 71, 105, 112, 249, 304, 334, 389 Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), 22, 112 Noncommunicable diseases (NCDs), 68

0

Obesity, 399, 403 adipose tissue dysfunction, 74-76 economic burden of, 69 epidemiology of, 69-71 fundamental cause of, 68 molecular mechanisms of chronic liver disease, 78 early age obesity, 79 metabolic syndrome, 77 NAFLD fibrosis, 77 NAFLD/NASH models, 81 NAFLD-related HCC, 77 obesity and insulin resistance, 79 oxidative DNA damage, 83 PAT proteins, 79 STAT-1 and STAT-3 signaling, 79 **TAMs**, 84 tumor microenvironment, 83 URI-IL-17A pathway, 83 vital metabolic secretory and excretory functions, 81 risk factors for, 71-74 Occult hepatitis B infection (OBI), 366 Oman, 212 Organ donation, 203, 205, 207 Orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT), 250 Oxidative DNA damage, 83

Р

Pakistan, HCC, 387 aflatoxins, 389 diagnosis, 389, 390 nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, 389 prevention, 391, 392 risk factors, 388 screening, 389, 392 treatments, 390, 391 Papillary thyroid carcinoma (PTC), 340 Partial hepatectomy, 190 Pembrolizumab, 243 Percutaneous ethanol injection (PEI), 118, 130, 131, 224-225 Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), 84 Platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR), 121 Platelet-lymphocyte ratio (PLR), 9 Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), 50 Portal venous invasion, 4 Portal vein thrombosis (PVT), 117, 119, 324, 406 Post radioembolization syndrome, 164 Primary liver cancer, 197 Programmed cell death protein-1, 7 Promethean liver, 15 Protein induced by vitamin K absence (PIVKA-2), 117 Proton therapy, 193, 194

Q

Qatar, 211

R

Radiation cholecystitis, 162 Radiation induced lung disease, 162 Radioembolization, 139, 146, 149, 151, 153 Radioembolization induced liver disease (REILD), 163, 164 Radiofrequency ablation (RFA), 118, 131 Radiotherapy techniques, 192–195, 197 Ramucirumab, 7, 121, 243 Receptor tyrosine kinase pathways (RTK), 337 REFLECT trial, 122 Regorafenib, 7, 121, 243 Resin microspheres, 141, 142 Reye-like syndrome, 37

\mathbf{S}

Sanitary practice education, 404 Saudi Arabia, 206 Saudi Center of Organ Transplantation (SCOT), 206 Screening, 313, 316 Short oligonucleotide mass analysis (SOMA), 23 Signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) pathway, 75 Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), 84, 369 Sorafenib, 7, 120–122, 191, 242, 336 STAT3 pathway, 338 Steatohepatitis-induced hepatocarcinogenesis, 82 Stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT), 120, 192, 193 Sterol regulatory element-binding proteins (SREBP), 82 Surveillance, 316, 399 Syria, 211, 308

Т

T cell protein tyrosin phosphatase (TCPTP), 79 Thalassemia, 372 Therapeutic intervention, 179 T lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4), 7–8 Toll-like receptor (TLR)-4 receptors, 75 Trans-arterial chemoembolization (TACE), 4, 106, 119–120, 132, 137, 139, 153, 164, 171, 173, 178, 180–182, 242, 250, 251 drug-eluting beads, 176–178 patient selection, 174 Transarterial chemoembolization with drug-eluting beads (DEB-TACE), 176, 177 Transarterial radioembolization (TARE), 120, 137, 143, 146, 151, 153, 160-162 Transforming growth factor beta (TGFB), 84 Transforming growth factor receptor (TGFR), 337 Transfusion-dependent (TDT), 372 Tropomyosin receptor kinase A (TRKA), 337 Tumor associated neutrophils (TANs), 84 Tumor board, 223 Tumor microenvironment, 83 Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), 84 Turkey, HCC, 213, 215-217, 323, 329 liver transplantation, 327-329 results, 323-326 Turkish foodstuffs, 42 Type 2 diabetes mellitus, 78 Tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs), 7, 406

U

Ultrasound, 240 United Arab Emirates (UAE), 209, 210 United States Agency for International Development (USAID), 55

V

Vaccination, 399 Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), 84, 191 Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 (VEGFR-2), 121 Very-low density lipoprotein (VLDL), 81 Vinyl chloride and liver cancer, 56 Vinyl chloride exposure, 20 Vinyl chloride monomer (VCM), 56 Vitamin K, 8 Volatile organic compounds (VOCs), 56

W

Wilson's disease, 32 World health organization (WHO), 164, 303 Worsen liver function, 3

Y

Yemen, 307